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PREFACE.

THIS WORK has extended to such a length that it would

be impossible to include the Aberdeenshire Frasers in one

volume, even if it were considered desirable to give here

an account of that family. There is, however, no need

for this, Lord Saltoun having, only a few years ago,

published three handsome volumes giving the history

and genealogies of his own family—the Frasers of Philorth

and their branches. But there never has been any full

account of the Frasers of Lovat and the several families

descended from that stock.

The Historical Account of the Family of Fraser by the

late John Anderson, published in 1825, although written

for a special purpose and in the interest of the Lovat family,

contains much valuable information, and it has to some
extent been taken advantage of in the preparation of this

work. It does not, however, deal with any of the branches

beyond the briefest reference, and is not a genealogical

work at all except as regards the main line of the family.

And even in that it cannot always be implicitly relied upon.

This work is not only historical and genealogical but is

chronogically arranged from beginning to end, the minor

families being dealt with in the order in which they branched

off from the main stem, except those of illegitimate origin,

which come in later. Then follow the Frasers of Dun-
balloch and Phopachy, two families who were always closely
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allied to the House of Lovat although not descended from it.

Perhaps the leading feature of the book, apart from the

genealogies of the various branch families, is the long

account given in it of Lord Simon of the 'Forty-five, which

occupies about one-third of the whole, and is believed to be

far the most detailed and accurate record of his extraordinary

life which has yet appeared, thanks not a little to his own
letters, printed by Sir William Fraser, K.C.B., Edinburgh,

for the first time in his Chiefs of Grant, and to other

sources of information previously not available, all duly

acknowledged in the proper place in the body of the work.

I am indebted to Mr Charles Fraser-Mackintosh of

Drummond more than I can tell. He has placed freely

at my disposal his rich treasures of Fraser MSS.—bound

volumes, family correspondence, papers, and documents of

every description. I also draw largely on his articles on

the Frasers of Guisachan and Foyers, published in the

Transactions of the Gaelic Society of Inverness.

Many other kind friends, to whom I must tender my
acknowledgments without mentioning their several names,

have also assisted by the use of valuable family papers

and genealogical information. Indeed, except in the case

of two or three individuals, I have received every aid

and encouragement from the ladies and gentlemen of or

connected with the Clan that I could expect or desire in

the preparation and completion of the work.

I have again to thank my son, Mr Hector Rose Mac-

kenzie, solicitor, Inverness, for the full and carefully prepared

Index which appropriately completes the volume.

A.M.

Park House, Inverness,

March, i8g6.
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ORIGIN.

It is admitted on all hands that the Frasers, unlike any

of the other clans of which the author has yet written,

except the Chisholms, is not of Celtic but Norman origin.

On this point Skene, the greatest authority on the sub-

ject, writes
—" Of the Norman origin of the family of the

Frasers it is impossible for a moment to entertain any

doubt. They appear during the first few generations

uniformly in that quarter of Scotland which is south of

the Firths of Forth and Clyde ; and they possessed at a

very early period extensive estates in the counties of East

Lothian and Tweeddale : besides this, the name of Frisale,

which is its ancient form, appears in the Roll of Battle

Abbey, thus placing the Norman character of their origin

beyond a doubt. Down to the reign of Robert the Bruce

the Frasers appear to have remained in the southern

counties, but during his reign they began to spread north-

ward, penetrating into Mearns and Aberdeenshire, and

finally into Inverness-shire." This quotation is from Dr

Skene's earlier work, The Highlanders of Scotland, vol. ii.,

pp. 312-313, and as certain critics who differ from his

conclusions regarding the origin of most of the other

clans had been saying that he had changed his views, it

may be well to give an extract on the point from his

latest and greatest work, Celtic Scotland. While adhering

throughout in the latter to the origin of the clans as laid

down by him in his earlier work, he says in a footnote,

vol. iii., p. 365
—

" In the main the author has seen little

reason to alter the distribution of the clans in an earlier

X
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work, The Highlanders of Scotland, published in 1837,

to which the reader is referred for their detailed history."

It may also be stated in this connection that while Celtic

Scotland was in the press it was circulated by the same
critics that its learned author had found cause to alter his

opinion, and that the change would be declared and made
in his forthcoming work. We at the time wrote Dr Skene

asking if this was the case. The reply was a distinct

denial, adding that the more he studied the origin of the

various clans the more satisfied he became as to the

soundness and accuracy of the opinions formed in his

earlier years, expressed in the work already quoted, and

given to the world in 1837.

Mr John Anderson in his Historical Account of the

Family of Frisel or Fraser, published in 1825, says that

" The origin of the family of Fraser—as it is clothed in

all the wildness and extravagance of legend by their own
chroniclers—must be held to be fabulous and unworthy

of regard ; and our investigations ought accordingly to

commence at a point where facts, not theory, may guide

to the research." He then continues—" We first recognise

the Frisels in the array of those adventurers who accom-

panied the Norman William to the English shores. The
precise aera when they extended northwards is not so well

defined. By some, the reign of William the Lion has

been fixed upon as the epoch of their appearance in Scot-

tish annals ; whilst other authors have ascended to the times

of Malcolm, sirnamed Ceanmore, when Anglo-Saxon and

Norman colonists transferred their allegiance to a Celtic

Prince." Mr Anderson holds that the former supposition

is wrong, " for," he says, " we behold the Frasers a race

of some importance during the prior sway of David I.,"

to whose reign can be traced the chief influx of Norman
settlers into Scotland.

There is no doubt that the Frasers appeared among the

earliest of these settlers. In a passage from the " Scotcz

Chronica" preserved by Leland, it is stated that "the

nobles of Scotland came no nearer than Peebles to meet
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with their king-

. Wherefore he took with him many of

the younger sons of the noble men of England that bore

him good will, and gave them lands in Scotland off them

that were rebels to him." The following are the names of

the distinguished men that he brought with him—"Balliol,

Breuse, Soully, Mowbray, Saintclere, Hoy, Gifford, Ram-
sey, Byssey, Berkeley, Boys, Walenge, Montgomery, Gurly,

Vaulx, Colville, Fraser, Grame, and dyverse other." This

reference is to William the Lion's return from his imprison-

ment in England in 1174, but there is no doubt that long

before that date the Frasers settled in the south of Scot-

land, although some other nobleman of the name may
have accompanied the king on this occasion from his

captivity in the southern kingdom.

Their first settlement was in East Lothian. From there,

in the twelfth and thirteenth centuries, they found their

way to Tweeddale and subsequently to Aberdeen, Kin-

cardine, and Inverness shires. It is stated by the early

family chroniclers that John, the eldest of three brothers

—John, Alexander, and Francis—who attended the Court

of Malcolm Ceanmore, founded the House of Fraser,

Lords of Oliver Castle, he having married Eupham Sloan,

the heiress of Tweeddale, in which district that stronghold

was situated. Another of the brothers, Alexander, pro-

ceeded beyond the Forth and settled on lands at Inver-

keithing. These he left to his descendants, who possessed

them for many generations after him.

The first of the name found in written records is

—

Gilbert De Fraser, who is witness to a charter of

Cospatrick to the monks of Coldstream in 1109, during

the reign of Alexander I. He held the lands of Hales

in East Lothian under the Earl of Dunbar at the same

time that he possessed large estates in Tweeddale and

Lothian. This Gilbert had three sons

—

1. Oliver Fraser, who succeeded his father.

2. Udard Fraser, who married with issue—a son Adam,
and settled at Drumelzier in Peebleshire.

3. Another son, who rose to eminence in the reign of
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Alexander II. He married and left issue—three sons,

Simon of Keth, Bernard, who ultimately carried on the

family succession, and Nessius, who is repeatedly on record.

4. Maria, who married Ness of Fortun, in East Lothian,

and had for her portion a part of North Hales, which her

nephew, Bernard Fraser, son of Gilbert's third son, claimed

as his heritage—a claim which she acknowledged during

her widowhood in the Court of their superior lord, the

Earl of Dunbar, and to which he afterwards succeeded.

Gilbert was succeeded by his eldest son,

Oliver Fraser, who flourished contemporaneously with

Joceline, Bishop of Glasgow, 1175-1199. He built and

gave its name to Oliver Castle, and died without issue near

the close of the twelfth century, when he was succeeded

by his nephew,

Adam Fraser, son of Udard, second son of Gilbert

Fraser, who also inherited his father's estates of Drumelzier,

in Peebleshire. Adam married with issue, at least one

son

—

LaurentCE FRASER, who succeeded his father, and con-

firmed the charters granted by his grandfather Udard. He
is on record as a witness to a charter by Patrick, Earl of

Dunbar, of the ward of East Nisbet to the monks of

Coldingham about 1261. He is also mentioned as " Laur-

entius Fraser, dominus de Drumulzier," possessor of the

lands of Mackerston. He married, with issue

—

LAURENCE Fraser, who succeeded his father in Drum-

elzier, and flourished during the Wars of Succession. He
married, with issue, two daughters

—

1. The eldest, who married into the family of Tweedie, to

whom she carried the estate of Drumelzier, and had issue.

2. A daughter, who married Dougal MacDougall, to

whom, in the reign of David II., she carried the estate

of Mackerston, which she afterwards resigned in favour

of her son, Fergus MacDougall, who has a charter of the

same lands from Robert II., dated the 3rd of May, 1343.

Laurence having died without male issue, Gilbert Fraser's

third son, who married and had issue—one son, Simon



ORIGIN. 5

Fraser of Keth, in East Lothian, who flourished" in the

reign of David I.—must now be reverted to. In the

reign of Malcolm IV. Gilbert granted the Church of Keth,

with certain lands and the right of pasturage, to the

monks of Kelso. The grant is subsequently confirmed by

Malcolm and his successors. His grandson Simon's name

appears again in 1184, during the reign of William the Lion,

in a charter to the monks of Coldingham. This Simon,

the son of Gilbert's third son, married and had issue—an

only daughter, Eda, who married Hugh de Lorens ; for

before 1165, "Hugo de Lorens et Eda uxor ejus filia

et haeres Symonis Fraser " is found making a grant of

the Church of Keth. to the Abbacy of Kelso. Of this

marriage there was issue—an only daughter, also named

Eda, who married Hervey, son of Philip Keith, the King's

Mareschal, to whom she carried the lands of Keth-Symon,

so named from his grandfather, Simon Fraser. The male

line having again failed in the descendants of Simon Fraser

of Keth, we must go back to Bernard, second son of

Gilbert's third son, who, as already seen, came into pos-

session of Oliver Castle and lands in the reign of David I.

Bernard, as previously stated, succeeded to the estate

of North Hales on the death of his aunt Maria, wife of

Ness of Fortun, but the Frasers were subsequently suc-

ceeded in these lands, first, by the Gourlays, and next by

the Hepburns. Bernard was the head of the family during

the reigns of William the Lion and Alexander II., and

his name often appears on record as a witness to charters

granted by Alexander to the monks of Newbottle and

other religious communities. Originally a mere vassal,

he soon raised himself to the position of tenant in chief

of the King. He also acquired Oliver Castle, the prin-

cipal stronghold and the lands of the family, although not

at that time its eldest male representative, and transmitted

them to his descendants. He gave a mortification in favour

of the monks of Newbottle for the salvation of his own soul

and the souls of his predecessors, witnessed by King Alex*

ander himself, by his Chancellor William Bondington, his
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own brother Nessius, and other men of note. In 1234 he

was appointed Sheriff of Stirling, an office of very great

honour and influence which continued hereditary for many
generations in his family. He accompanied William the

Lion to meet King John of England at York, and was

one of the Magnates, or Barons, of the Kingdom of Scot-

land who swore to the peace agreed on between Alexander

II. and Henry III. of England, through the mediation

of Otho, the Cardinal Legate, at York, in 1237, on which

occasion they subjected themselves and the King to the

jurisdiction of the Pope, if they should afterwards depart

from the oath then made by them. He witnessed a charter

by the same monarch ten years later in 1247, and is said

to have died in 1250, "an aged and respectable person";

but that date is undoubtedly wrong, for he is witness to

a charter of the Church of Foghou granted by William,

son of Patrick Earl of Dunbar, in favour of the Monks of

Kelso, as late as 1258.

Bernard, who was a very prominent personage during the

reign of Alexander II., married Mary Ogilvie, daughter of

Gilchrist, Thane of Angus, by his wife, Marjory,* daughter

of Prince Henry of Scotland, the King's son, and sister of

King Malcolm IV. and William the Lion, with issue

—

1. Sir Gilbert, his heir and successor.

2. Fenella, said to have married Sir Colin Mor Camp-

bell of Lochow.

3. Helen, who became a Nun and died in the Priory

of Coldingham.

He was succeeded by his only son,

SIR GILBERT Fraser of Oliver Castle, "Vicecomes de

Traquair," who flourished during the reign of Alexander

III. He is believed to have been the second holder of

the name of the Sheriffship of Traquair. An important

lawsuit between William, Bishop of Glasgow, who held

* Marjory's eldest sister is said to have married Conan, Duke of Brittany,

from which the House of Bourbon is descended, and another elder sister to

have married Florence, Earl of Holland, from whom the Imperial House

of Austria
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that see from 1233 to 1 258, and a lady named Mariota,

was transmitted by the King's precept to and tried before

Sir Gilbert " tunc Vicecomes de Travquair," the result of

which was that Mariota resigned her claim to the lands

in question "in curia vicecomitatu de Travquair." He is

witness to a charter by Eugine, son of Amabill, in which

he resigns his mansion of Stobo to Bishop William of

Glasgow, and as Sheriff of Traquair he witnesses a charter

by Christiana, granting certain lands to the Church of St.

Mary, during the reign of King Alexander III.

Sir Gilbert was married, but his wife's name has not

come down to us, with issue

—

1. Sir Simon, his heir and successor.

2. Sir Andrew Fraser of Caithness, and Sheriff of Stir-

ling in 1291 and 1293, who on the failure of the male

line of his eldest brother carried on the male representation

of the family, and became the progenitor of the Frasers

of Lovat.

3. William Fraser, Bishop of St. Andrews and Chan-

cellor of Scotland in the reign of Alexander III. Of this

prelate, consecrated at Rome by Pope Nicholas III., " 14th,

Kal. Januarij, anno 1280," Anderson says that he was one

of the Lords of the Regency chosen by the States during

the nonage of the infant Queen Margaret. As one of the

Regents, he was appointed to treat with the Norwegian

plenipotentiaries on the young Queen's affairs. He ren-

dered homage to Edward I. on the death of the Princess

in 1 29 1 and was created by that King one of the Guardians

of Scotland, but he soon threw off the yoke, and " became

a bright ornament of his country in her struggle for inde-

pendence." While in favour with Edward, he was granted

by that King the marriage of a widow, " nob Amabille

que fuit uxor Petri de Morthington defuncti," on the 20th

Jannary, 1291-2, " Habend absg. dispagatone ita gd. ille

cui debet maritari nob, et regno Scotie fidelis existat."

Within a month after the accession of John Baliol, Bishop

Fraser joined several other powerful men in a complaint

against the English king for withdrawing causes out of
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Scotland, contrary to his Majesty's engagements and pre-

vious promises. A citizen of Berwick had appealed from

the adjudication of Baliol's officers for administering justice

in Scotland. Baliol opposed this mockery of his authority
;

but the haughty reply of Edward silenced opposition, and

left nothing to the timid puppet and vassal King of Scot-

land but ready compliance and assent. In spite of this

check Bishop Fraser "continued his patriotic career un-

daunted." At his request the great Sir William Wallace

turned all the English out of their church benefices in

Scotland. Whatever truth may be in the assertion, that

the invasion of the northern Kingdom by Edward and the

terrible miseries "thereby entailed in Scotland, were the

offspring of the Bishop's insinuations, it is certain he now
made ample amends for his past faults. Yet it may not

be improper to hazard the conjecture," continues the same

writer, "that the letter addressed by him to Edward, 7th

October, 1290, was rather the offspring of an earnest desire

for the prevention of civil war than the crafty policy of a

disloyal citizen bent on the overthrow of his country. The

epistle may breathe the language of a courtier ; but it is

to be hoped a speedy and successful termination to Baliol's

pretensions and the removal of intestine discord were

the motives for an act so pregnant with danger. The

Scottish statesmen had yet to be made acquainted with

the crafty temper and ambitious policy of Edward." Ac-

cording to Wintoun it was to this prelate that the Bishops

of St. Andrews owed their privilege of coining money
;

Fraser having obtained for them this liberty from Alexander

III. in 1283. Bishop Fraser was one of the Commissioners

who, in 1295, negotiated the fatal alliance by Baliol with

Philip, King of the French, by which the latter agreed to

give Baliol his niece, the eldest daughter of Charles, Count

of Anjou, in marriage for his son and heir, the other Com-
missioners being Matthew, Bishop of Dunkeld, Sir John

de Soulis, and Sir Ingram de Umfraville. Whilst Bishop

Fraser was thus in his later years engaged in promoting

the welfare of Scotland, he was seized with a fatal illness,
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and he died without witnessing- the ultimate triumph of

measures which had been to some extent entered upon

by his advice and continued by his counsel. " Worn out,

from continued exertions, he retired to France, where grief

for the disasters of his country put a period to his life at

Arteville on the 13th September, 1297. His body was

buried in the church of the Friars Predicants in Paris,

but his heart, enclosed in a rich box, was brought to

Scotland by his successor, Bishop Lamberton, and en-

tombed in the wall of the Cathedral Church of St. Andrews,

near the tomb of Bishop Gameline. His seal, the fraises

on which connect him with the Tweeddale stock, may be

seen in Anderson's Collection." Diplomata, plate 100.*

Sir Gilbert Fraser was succeeded by his eldest son, Sir

Simon Fraser the elder. This

Sir Simon Fraser is said to have accompanied

King Alexander II. in a pilgrimage to Iona, when a

young man, before that monarch's death, which took place

in the island of Kerrera, near Oban, on the 8th of July,

1249, while on an expedition against the Thane of Argyle,

who had refused to make homage for his Hebridean

territories. Sir Simon was one of those who conveyed

the King's remains, without ever leaving them, and attended

the funeral in Melrose Abbey. He was present and a

witness to the coronation of Alexander III. shortly after.

He was one of the nobles who went as Commissioners to

renew the ancient League with France, and who conveyed

from thence Mary, King Alexander III.'s second Queen,

to whom he was married at Roxburgh in 1259. He was

held in high esteem by the King's mother as well as by

that monarch himself, who had conferred upon him the

honour of knighthood, and the High Sheriffship of Tweed-

dale, a position which, according to Chalmers, he held from

1263 to 1266. Alexander III. issues a precept dated the

* Anderson's Historical Account of the Family of Fraser, pp. 12-14,

following the MS. of 1749, in the Advocates' Library, which in its turn is

largely based on the Wardlaw Manuscript written more than a century

earlier, in 1666.
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25th of July, 1264, commanding him to pay annually, out

of the mill of Peebles, half a chalder of oatmeal to the

hospital of Soltre. He is witness to a charter by the same

King, dated at Traquair on the 12th of December in the

same year, and to a deed in favour of the monks of Kelso

in 1266. In the reign of Alexander III., Sir Simon

granted to the monks of Melrose the lands of Kingledoors,

the Chapel of St. Cuthbert, and the lands of Hop-Carskine.

He appends his seal, as " Dominus " Simon Fraser, to a

charter by Hugh Crawford, granting the lands of Draffan

to the monks of Kelso in 1271, and witnesses a charter

to the monks of Coldingham by the Earl of Dunbar in

1279. He possessed the ancient heritage of his family

—

the lands and stronghold of Oliver Castle, Needpath, and

other estates in Tweeddale—and his name appears among

the Barons of Scotland, " Barones regni Scotise," by whom
Alexander III., on the death of his only son, had the

succession of his granddaughter Margaret, the Maid of

Norway, daughter of his only daughter Margaret of Scot-

land, to the throne solemnly acknowledged, on the 5th

of February, 1283. He was also one of the great Barons

who, in 1289, in name of the people of Scotland, and in

conjunction with the guardians and prelates of the King-

dom, wrote a letter to Edward I. regarding the proposed

marriage of the same Princess to his son, Prince Edward

of England ; and in the following year he sat in the

Parliament held at Birmingham. He supported the claims

of Baliol to the Scottish throne until they were basely

surrendered by that traitor himself to the English King,

and Sir Simon, along with his brothers, William, Arch-

bishop of St. Andrews, and Sir Andrew Fraser, and his

nephew, Sir Richard Fraser, were four of the arbiters

named by Baliol to determine the rights of the various

competitors to the Scottish Crown, on the 5th of June,

1291. On the 12th of the same month, Sir Simon, accord-

ing to Rymer, swore fealty to the English King at Norham,

and on the 23rd of July, immediately following, he went

through a similar ceremony at the monastery of Lindores,
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under the designation of " nobilis vir Simon de Freshele."

Among the others of the name who swore fealty was

Richard Fraser, described in Ragman's Roll as " del comte

de Dumfries," who was no doubt Sir Simon's nephew. On
the 18th of August, 1291, a precept is issued in his favour

by Edward I. as Keeper of the forest of Selkirk, enjoining

him to deliver to William Fraser, Bishop of St. Andrew's,

30 harts ; to Robert, Bishop of Glasgow, 20 harts and 60

oaks ; to Adam, Bishop of Caithness and Chancellor of

Scotland, 10 harts ; to James, Steward of Scotland, 20

harts ; to Patrick Dunbar, Earl of March, 10 harts ; to

William Sinclair, 6 ; to Brian, Preceptor to the Knights

Templars of Scotland, 2 harts and four oaks; and varying

numbers to different other persons.

Sir Simon, according to one authority, is said to have

married, first, Grizzle, daughter of the Thane of Galloway,

by whom he had two daughters, while the Advocates'

Library MS. says that he married Anne Flava. He is

elsewhere correctly said to have married, as his second

wife, a lady named Mary, with issue—an only son, gener-

ally designated Sir SlMON " FlLlUS," to distinguish him

from his father, who was usually called Sir SlMON
"Pater." The latter died in 1291 ; for on the 15th of

January, 1291-92, Edward I. is found granting to William,

son of John Cumine or Comyn, the keeping, during his

pleasure, of the forests of Traquair and Selkirk in the same

manner as Simon Fraser, "who died in autumn, 1291, held

the same." On the 22nd of April, 1294, the feudal casualty

of "the marriage of Mary, widow of Simon Frizel deceased,

qui de corona Scoti termit incapite," is granted by Edward

I. to Richard Seward. Sir Simon, Pater, was succeeded

by his only son

—

Sir Simon Fraser " Filius," who was highly dis-

tinguished during the life of his father. " He was not

inferior to his noble father in virtue, honour, conduct, and

bravery, and though by his father's settlement on the

children of the first marriage he was denuded of the far

greater part of his paternal estate in the south, he was in
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possession of a considerable estate and great following- in

the north ; and there are authentic documents to prove

that he was in possession of some part of his paternal

estate in the south ; for Ilk Dominus Simon Frascr, filius

quondam Domini Simon Fraser, milites, ratifies and con-

firms his father Sir Simon's donation to the monks of

Melrose ; adding further to them by a new deed of his

own free ish of entry for their cattle, through certain lands

he had from Laurence Fraser, Laird of Drumelzier, to

which deed there were, besides other witnesses, his own
cousin Andrew Fraser, miles. He grants likewise to the

same monastery a road to their carriages through his lands

of Hoprew, to which his cousin, Sir Andrew Fraser before

mentioned, is also a witness." He "is one of those

glorious patriots whose memory is so highly extolled by

our historians, both ancient and modern." " When King

Edward the First subdued the Kingdom in 1296 Sir

Simon behaved as became a true patriot on that occasion
;

for we find he was one of those true-hearted Scotsmen

whom King Edward, not daring to trust at home, thought

fit to carry along with him to England, where he con-

tinued close prisoner for eight months, and was not

liberated till June, 1297, when he and his cousin, Sir

Richard Fraser, did, in imitation of all others in the same

circumstances, submit to the conqueror and acknowledge

him their Sovereign Lord, and promise upon having

obtained permission to return to Scotland that they should

stay no longer there than was necessary to equip them-

selves in order to attend that monarch in his designed

expedition against France ; and that, if they failed in this

they declared themselves willing that their persons, wives,

families, and all they had in the world should be at his

mercy. But it is certain they did fail ; nor did any Scots-

man in these days believe that forced obligations were

binding in conscience ; on the contrary, the best of them

were the foremost to break through these oaths they

thought more sinful to keep than to take. Sir Simon was

one of those noble patriots, who, upon his return to



ORIGIN. 13

Scotland, joined the Guardian, Sir William Wallace, when

he gave so many illustrious proofs of his zeal for his

country and his loyalty to his king, and withal of his

own merits and parts, that when that renowned hero, in

a full assembly of the nobles at Perth, laid down his

double commission of General of the army and Guardian

of the Kingdom—as Sir John Cumine of Badenoch,

Wallace's greatest enemy, was chosen Guardian, because

of his near relation to the Crown—so Sir Simon Fraser

was thought fittest, after Wallace, to command the Scots

army, and accordingly was chosen General by the Guardian

and the States. He had been always a faithful adherent

of Sir William Wallace, nor could the Guardian have a

more fitter or more proper colleague ; witness the ever

memorable victory gained at Roslin on the 25th of Feb-

ruary, 1 302- 1 303, over Ralph Comfray, King Edward's

Treasurer, and one of the chief commanders of his armies,"

where at the head of the Scots army, he defeated and

routed three fresh bodies of English, which outnumbered

them by nearly three to one, in succession in one day,

making this glorious victory and the valour of his country-

men the talk and admiration of all Europe, if not of the

civilised world.* He is described by all the ancient his-

torians as "the glory and ornament of his country."

Fordun calls him "Simon Fraser bellicosus omne praeditas,"

while Wintoun says that he was " manly, stout, bold, and

wight," and Buchanan who, by a slip of the pen in one

place calls him "John," speaks of him as "the most

powerful man in all Tweeddale." Sir Walter Scott calls

him " the flower of chivalry," and Chalmers says of him

that he was one of the most distinguished statesmen and

gallant soldiers during a struggle when it required all

the wisdom and all the valour of Scotland to preserve her

national independence, while no one gives credit to Sir

John Cumming for any specially distinguished bravery.

Sir Simon appears on record on the ]2th of May,

1292, when Edward I. directs a precept to Master Alan

* MS. In the Advocates' Library.
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of Dumfries, Chancellor of Scotland, commanding- him

to issue letters under the Great Seal, discharging- Simon

Fraser of a hundred merks as the relief due by him for

all his lands held of the English King in Scotland. On
the 3rd of September, 1296, the same King addresses a

mandate to all the Sheriffs in Scotland ordering them to

restore various sub-tenants to their possessions. Among
them is one to the Sheriff of Lanark, in favour of Richard

Horseley, described as a tenant of Simon Frezel. Ander-

son, following closely the authority already quoted, says

in reference to Sir Simon's release and return to Scotland

in 1297, that "on the 28th of May of that year he engaged

to serve King Edward in his wars against France, pro-

mising to return to Scotland and equip himself for the

expedition. His family was left at the tyrant's mercy,

if he failed, and his cousin, Richard Fraser, became a

party for his performance. The desire of liberty most

probably influenced him to a concession so inconsistent

with his principles. Whether Sir Simon did implement

his engagement is uncertain ; but on the 21st of August,

1297, we find him restored to the enjoyment of his estates,

to be held at the King's pleasure ; and on the 4th of

October in the twenty-sixth year of Edward's reign (1298)

a command is issued for his attendance at the Scottish

Wars." On the 25th of November, 1298, Edward, dating

from Newcastle, addresses the following order to his

"beloved Simon Fraser, greeting"

—

"Whereas we have charged our beloved and faithful John de

Kingstone, our Constable at the Castle of Edinburgh and Sheriff

of the same place to make a raid, which he cannot do with his

own Company without having more sufficient aid, and we take it

much to heart that this expedition be made safely, well, and effec-

tually, we recommend and pray, and charge you, strictly enjoining

you that whensoever the said Constable shall let you know, or

shall command you, leaving all else without delay and all

kind of excuse, you come to him with twenty armed horses,

doing whatever he shall enjoin you upon our part. For be it

known to you that we are very anxious that the said expedition

should succeed well. And to do this fail not in any manner

in which you are bound to us, and as you love our honour,"
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On the 1st of December following, Sir Simon is ordered

to join Sir Walter de Huntercumbe " and spy out all the

news about the Scots enemy " and send it to Sir John

de Kingstone, Constable of Edinburgh Castle, by Sunday

next, and they are to get word back regarding a foray

for which Fraser is commanded to supply twenty horses.

On the 27th of March, 1299, Edward finally restores to

Sir Simon Fraser all his lands and tenements in Scotland

which had been forfeited on account of his own and his

father's " rebellion " against the English King.*

But notwithstanding this Sir Simon, like so many more

of his countrymen, considered the concessions extracted

from him by force as in no way imperative ; and, soon

after his return to Scotland, he repaired to the Guardian,

Sir William Wallace. A truce having been concluded at

Dumfries, on the 30th of October, 1300, by the mediation

of France, between Edward and the Scots, notification of

it was made to Sir Simon Fraser " Guardiano Forestae

de Selscirk." He had already proved himself too danger-

ous an adversary to be entrusted with power, and about

a year afterwards, the battle of Roslin having been fought

in the meantime, Sir Aymer de Valance, who subsequently

for a time succeeded Sir Simon in his paternal inheritance,

is found occupying the wardenship of Selkirk forest, from

which Fraser had apparently been removed.

The following account of the famous Battle of Roslin,

at which the Scots so greatly distinguished themselves, is

taken from the Fraser manuscript in the Advocates'

Library :

—

The truce subsisting between the two nations was broken

by the English on the 25th of February, 1302-3. John
de Segrave, Edward's "Governor of Scotland," suddenly

marched from Berwick towards Edinburgh, with an army
of 20,000 men, chiefly consisting of cavalry, commanded
by some of Edward's best and oldest leaders. Among
these were Segrave's brothers, very gallant knights, and

* Historical Documents Relating to Scotland, Vol. II., pp. 336-337;

339-340 ; and 369.



l6 HISTORY OF THE FRASERS.

Robert de Neville, a noble baron, who had been engaged

with Edward in his Welsh wars. Segrave's instructions

were cruel and severe—to put down, even to refusing

quarter, if necessary, to all " breakers of King Edward's

peace "—to make Scotland a waste, and to root out all

her defenders. Meeting with no opposition on his march

northward, Segrave had separated his army into three

divisions, for the convenience of forage, and the more

effectually to ravage the country ; and on the 23rd of

February he advanced to Roslin, near Edinburgh, where

each division encamped on its own ground, without estab-

lishing any communication with the others. The first

division was led by Segrave himself; the second, probably

by Ralph de Manton, who, in virtue of his office as Pay-

master, was called Ralph the Cofferer ; and the third by

Neville. Early on the morning of the 24th of February,

Segrave and his soldiers were slumbering in their tents

in careless security, when a boy rushed in and called out

that the enemy was upon them ! The news proved true.

Sir Simon Fraser and Sir John Comyn, hearing of the

approach of the English, had hastily collected a small

but chosen army of about 8000 horse, and making a forced

march during the night from Biggar, attacked the first

division of the enemy in their encampment at break

of day.

Never was surprise more complete or effective than

that which befel the English camp on Roslin moor—that

camp containing nearly 10,000 men, the best of the in-

vading army. Sir John de Segrave did the part of a

brave leader, and strove to hold his men together and in

order, but in vain. He himself, after receiving a severe

wound, was made prisoner, and the seizure of their

leader being soon bruited about among the confused

English, the battle became a rout, and the rout was

followed by flight, and for a short space by hot pursuit.

There were taken prisoners sixteen knights and thirty

esquires, the brother and son of Segrave were seized in

bed, and a large number of common soldiers made captive.



ORIGIN. 17

The Scots had begun to collect the booty and calculate

the ransom, congratulating each other on their victory,

when they were surprised to perceive the second division

of the English approaching. A cruel but necessary order

was given to slay the prisoners, and this having been done,

they moved stoutly forward and attacked the enemy, who

after an obstinate defence, were put to flight with great

slaughter—the high patriotic spirit again prevailing over

the mere lust of plunder, for by these feelings were the

combatants really animated respectively. The men of the

North a second time worsted their Southron adver-

saries, and drove them finally from the field of Roslin.

But this new success was bought at the cost of severe

and heavy losses, though the detriment to the vanquished

far overbalanced that sustained by the conquerors. The
capture of Ralph the Cofferer, a rich booty, and many
prisoners were the fruits of this second conflict, and we
may well suppose that the Scots, content with the glories

of a double victory, would willingly have enjoyed relaxation

from their labours. But they were not destined to be so

fortunate : a third marvel was yet to succeed on that day,

as if to make it for ever memorable in the warlike annals

of Scotland. While the Scotsmen were unbuckling their

armour, the third division of the English army, led by

Sir Robert Neville, was seen approaching in the distance

in "sad array," reinforced also by the fugitives of the

other divisions, and a third battle had to be fought betwixt

the morn and the eve on the Moor of Roslin.

Sir Simon Fraser and Sir John Comyn now indeed

felt some alarm lest the spirits of the Scots should sink

under their unparalleled exertions ; for, worn out and

weary with their night work and two successive conflicts,

weak and hungered with long fasting, numbers of their

companions lying slain or sorely wounded, groaning and

bleeding to death, it was no wonder that they were some-

what dismayed as they saw a third English army, more

numerous than either of the other two with whom they

had already on that day made "twice right hard assay."

2
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The little Scots army thought of an immediate retreat,

but this probably the close proximity of Neville's division

rendered impossible. Their leaders ran through the field

and beseeched them, for their country's wrongs, to meet

this last attack with stout hearts. Sir Simon Fraser ad-

dressed his army in a bold and encouraging tone—and as

Wintoun nobly adds, " what need for more ? " The spirits

of the Scots were stirred up afresh by his bold and con-

fident address, and after again resorting to the same horrid

but necessary policy of putting their prisoners to death,

they armed the followers of the camp with the captured

armour, and advanced to meet the English attack, when an

obstinate conflict began and was fought with such energy

that few had leisure to yield or prisoners to make. At

length, Sir Robert Neville fell covered with wounds. This

did not immediately determine the issue, but it threw

the English at once into partial confusion, cheered on

their foes, and the determined bravery of the Scots finally

led to the third rout witnessed by Roslin Moor on that

eventful 24th of February, 1303—a day without its like in

the past, and beyond the chance of being equalled in

the future

!

There occurred in this battle, a striking, but cruel

trail of national animosity. Ralph the Cofferer had been

taken prisoner by Sir Simon Fraser, and this Paymaster

of Edward, like many of the Bishops and ecclesiastics of

those fierce times, preferred the coat of mail to the sur-

plice. On the order being given to slay the prisoners,

Sir Ralph interceded with Sir Simon Fraser for his life,

and promised a large ransom, observing that he was a

priest. " This laced hauberk is no priestly habit," observed

Fraser, " where is thine albe, or thy hood ? Often have

you robbed us of our lawful dues, and done us grievous

harm. It is now our turn to scan up the account and

exact the payment. For all the priests of Rome, thou

shalt have thy doom, as thou has served in deed."

Saying this he first struck off the hands of the unhappy

priest, as being polluted with the wages of iniquity,
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and then with one blow, severed his head from his body.

The last Southern army fled in even greater disorder

than the two preceding-

ones, leaving camp equipage and

all behind, and thus did from eight to ten thousand Scots,

for the numbers are variously recorded, vanquish and

disperse successively under brave and skilful leadership,

three armies amounting in all to nearly 30,000 men. The
remains of the English army fled to Edward in England,

and the Scots after reposing from their fatigues, collected

and divided the booty, which was exceedingly rich, both

in armour and in prisoners, and returned home with

honour—" Ilk ane hame wyth honoure past," says old

Wintoun.

The circumstances under which the action was fought

have been minutely detailed by the Scottish historians, who
have with pardonable vanity, exulted in the daring prowess

of their countrymen. Much as it contributed to rouse

the energies of the nation at large, it was of material

importance in impressing a lofty estimate of Scottish valour

upon the other States of Europe, now to be convinced

that the contest was one of no mean interest, but upon the

contrary, presented the august spectacle of a people com-

bating for political existence. Sir Simon Fraser's conduct

on the occasion is spoken of in high terms by our ancient

historians. Fordun in his Seoto-chro7iieon, says that Sir

Simon was not only the main instrument in gaining this

remarkable battle, but in keeping Sir John Comyn to

his duty as Guardian, during the four years of his ad-

ministration. The Scots were everywhere ecstatic with

delight at the issue of the battle of Roslin, and everywhere

rose in numbers to the assistance of their victorious

countrymen. All the fortresses yet held by Edward's

forces were taken and garrisoned by their lawful masters.

The English King was indeed once more completely de-

prived of all footing in Scotland. This great success was

mainly owing to the continued labours of Sir Simon Fraser

and his associates during the remainder of the year 1303 ;

during which time, as the old chroniclers state, and recent
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discoveries confirm, Wallace had gone to France to secure

the friendship of King- Philip.

Incensed at the successful opposition to his arms at

Roslin, Edward, on the 25th of February, 1303, at the

head of a large army crossed the Border, and entered

Scotland in the following- May, having reached Roxburgh

on the 17th of that month, Edinburgh on the 4th of

June; crossed the Spey on the 25th of July and lay "at

the manor of Rapenach " in Moray ; at Elgin on the 26th
;

at Rothes, on the 29th, from which he sent Sir John de

Cantelow and Sir John Hastings "to search the district

of Badenagh"; and at Kildrummie Castle, in Mar, on

his way south on the 31st of July, where he remained

until the 1st of August following.* His army, with his

principal officers at its head however carried the war into

the north Highlands, where they reduced the Castles of

Urquhart in Glenurquhart, and Dounie in the Aird. To
reduce Castle Dounie, it was necessary as in the case of

Urquhart, to lay "a regular siege, and, by throwing stones

by capultas, from trenches still to be seen at 700 yards

distance," by which means it was taken, demolished, and

dismantled. " The remains of the Dune or Celtic forti-

fication are still visible, and all its ditches and covered

ways exhibit a curious specimen of ancient fortification.

The country people have a romantic tradition of it, handed

down from father to son, and the names of some places

about preserve the memory of its surrender ; as for instance,

the hollow to the east of Beaufort, where the army halted,

is called in the language of the country, Lagnaloncart,

that is the 'hollow of the baggage.' "f This is quoted by

Anderson, who adds that Beaufort as well as its subsidiary

fortalice of Lovat, were at that time forts belonging to the

Crown, of which the Fentons and Grahams were governors,

and continued to be so even after the Bisset lands on which

* Journal of the movements of King Edward in Scotland, given at length

in the original French, wiih an English translation in the Historical Done
ments Relating to Scotland, Vol. II. pp. 25 to 32.

f MS. in the Advocates' Library. $1* .
6- f

*
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they were built had been granted to the Frasers. " They

appear," he says, " to have been held by Royal Constables

from the attainder of the Bissets in 1242 to the year 1367,

when Hugh Fraser does homage as laird of Lovat." The

first mention of the fort of Lovat occurs in the reign of

Alexander I., when that king, in 11 20, made an expedition

to the North and quelled an insurrection of the people of

Moray, who had revolted under the leadership of Angus,

their Maormor, and settled Constables in the Castles of

Elgin, Inverness, and Dingwall. " One Gilchrist Mc Kill-

weralicke was appointed Constable of the fort of Lovat,

and he is said to have surrounded it with a ditch, and built

the front tower. His descendants, Gilchrists or Graemes,

as they are called, continued in Lovat till the year 1 170,

when Tohn Bisset, a man of eminence at the Court of

William the Lion, married the King's own daughter, and

settled there under Royal authority. His second son, John,

succeeded him, and married Jean Haliburton, daughter of

the laird of Culbrynnie, anno 1206." Haliburton was one

of a set of small proprietors who held of and were known

as the Bisset's Barons, the chiefs of whom were Tomson,

Baron of Pharnua ; Corbet, Baron of Drumchardinny ; Mac-

Gillandrish, Baron of Moniack; Christie, Baron of Foyness
;

Haliburton, Baron of Culburnie ; and Fenton, Baron of

Eskadale. And there is no doubt that in those days tribes

of Mackays and Macraes inhabited the Clunes, Achryvaich,

Aberiachan, Kilfinnan, and Urquhart, as vassals of the

Bissets. The Macraes, or rather MacRas, as they were

then called, continued after the Frasers settled in the dis-

trict as their vassals in the same lands which they previously

occupied under the Bissets.

On the 9th of February, 1304, Cumming or Corny n and

his adherents entered into an arrangement with Edward at

Strathorde, in terms of which he capitulated, to save him-

self and his followers, while he traitorously sold his country

to the English usurper. But Sir Simon Fraser patriotically

held out and declined to submit, in consequence of which

he, along with Sir Thomas Boyes, was banished for three
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years not only from Great Britain and Ireland but even

from France. In the same year he was exempted from

Edward's Act of grace, and was fined in three years' rent

of all his estates. The following- are the conditions of

capitulation :

—

i. Thai all who submitted with the Guardian, John Cumming, should

neither be imprisoned nor disinherited, except Robert, Bishop of

Glasgow, Thomas. Stewart of Scotland, John Soules, David Graham,

Alexander Lindsay, Simon Fraser, Thomas Bois, and William Wallace.

All these were to be banished but the last-named, who
must submit himself wholly to the King's mercy, which,

as is well known, he scorned to do.

2. That the fines to be exacted for former faults should be regu-

lated by the King in his next Parliament.

3. That all the strongholds in the King's hands should remain

so and the charge of keeping them be defrayed by the owners.

4. That the prisoners on both sides be released.

Every man of influence in the Kingdom, except Sir

Simon Fraser, Sir William Wallace, and the band of

patriots who comprised the garrison of Stirling, followed

the example of Cumming. The traitors were pardoned

and indemnified by the English Parliament held at St.

Andrews, to which Edward summoned the Scottish Barons

who had again come under his allegiance. The patriots

were proclaimed outlaws and their estates forfeited, and

they ultimately sacrificed their noble lives in the undying

service of their country. The redoubted Sir William

Wallace continued most deservedly to be the idol of his

countrymen for the glorious part which he took in estab-

lishing the independence of his fatherland, but "if to him

be due the glory of being the first to awaken Scotland from

her ignominious slumber, his efforts were nobly seconded

by Sir Simon Fraser, who alone of the aristocracy was in-

disposed to view with envy the merit which called this hero

to command." The history of this sanguinary period of

Scottish history is sufficiently well known, and needs no

recapitulation here. The great Sir William Wallace was

shortly after the forfeiture of the patriots betrayed by the
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infamous Sir John Mentieth, then Sheriff of Dumbarton,

after which he was put to death with all the ignominy

which could be heaped upon the immortal hero, on the

23rd of August, 1305, "maintaining to the last the in-

trepidity of character which had so eminently distinguished

him." Another champion was, however, soon found in

the person of Robert the Bruce, who after many vicissitudes

of fortune and hairbreadth escapes was crowned King at

Scone Palace on the 27th of March, 1306. Among the

earliest of his friends and supporters, who were at first but

few among the aristocracy, was Sir Simon Fraser. On
the 24th of June following, Bruce was surprised and his

camp forced at Methven, near Perth, by the English army.

He fought with his wonted intrepidity and valour, but in

course of the fight he was thrice unhorsed. Sir Simon

Fraser, fighting with equal gallantry, was at his side, and

helped him to remount, but both were ultimately obliged

to withdraw before the overwhelming forces by which they

were so unexpectedly surrounded, and Bruce had to seek

shelter in the Island of Rathlin and other places in the

Western Isles. Sir Simon Fraser was taken prisoner by

David de Breghyn, handed over to the tender mercies of

Sir Aymer de Valance, conveyed in irons to London, and

executed on the 8th of September, 1306, under circum-

stances of the most cruel and horrible barbarity.

Some of the Scottish prisoners already in the Tower had

so much faith in Sir Simon's intrepidity and courage that

one of them, Sir Herbert de Norham, declared in the

hearing of their keepers, that the hero could not be taken,

and he felt so much assured of this that he consented to

lose his own head should the current report of Sir Simon's

capture turn out to be true. And he soon had to pay

the penalty ; for we are told that when soon after he saw

Sir Simon led out to execution he knew that his own fate

was sealed, and the same hour witnessed the cruel death of

the great patriot himself, Herbert de Norham, and Thomas
de Boyes, Sir Simon's armour-bearer. John, Earl of Atholl,

was also among the heroes put to death, as well as Robert
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Bruce's three brothers, Nigel, Thomas, and Alexander, his

brother-in-law, Sir Robert Seaton, Adam Wallace, brother

of Sir William, the Earl of Argyll, and several others.

But, according to the author of The Annals, "the sentence

executed on Sir Simon was far more severe than on the

others. He was kept in fetters while in the Tower, and

on the day of his execution he was dragged through the

streets as a traitor, hanged on a high gibbet as a thief, and

his head cut off as a murderer. Then his body, after being

twenty days in derision fixed to a wooden horse, was at

last consumed in a fire, and his head placed near that of

Sir William Wallace on the Bridge of London." Some
writers have said that Sir Simon accompanied Bruce to the

Hebrides and the North, but there seems to be no doubt

that he was captured at Methven, and soon after put to

death as here described. He was executed in the 49th

year of his age.

According to another and more detailed account Sir

Simon was carried to London attended by a strong guard

under Sir Thomas de Multon and Sir John Jose, with his

hands heavily ironed, his legs fettered under his horse's

belly ; and as he came in at Newgate and passed through

the city a garland of periwinkles was in mockery placed

upon his head. He was lodged in the Tower, and was

tried before Sir Thomas de Multon, Sir Ralph Sandwich,

and Sir John Abel, justices appointed to try the Scottish

knights. He was accused of being a traitor to King

Edward, but to this charge he disdained to reply. He
was condemned to suffer the death of a traitor, with all its

circumstances of refined cruelty. As he passed through

Cheapside from the Tower to London Bridge, crowned

with laurel in mockery, on his head a garland of the new

guise, and his executioners exulting as if on a joyful occa-

sion, his fate was pitied by the spectators. He was hanged,

cut down while still living and beheaded, his bowels torn

out and burnt, and his head fixed beside that of Wallace

on London Bridge. In death the heroes were not divided.

The trunk was hung in chains, and strictly guarded lest
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his friends should remove it. Superstition mingled its

horrors with that of a ferocious State policy, and the

citizens of London were taught to believe that demons were

seen ramping with iron crooks, running upon the gallows,

and horribly torturing the dead body. It is always painful

to think of mutilations of the human frame, but true it is

that the arms or hands of Sir Simon Fraser were sent to

Scotland to be placed on certain castle gates with the dread

label :
—" This is the relic of a traitor." So perished in his

fiftieth year the great Sir Simon Fraser. Renowned for

personal gallantry and high deeds of chivalry his fate is

dwelt upon at great length and with savage exultation by

the English historians.*

There is no doubt that the direct male line of the

Southern Frasers ended with Sir Simon, the Younger,

though there were several male descendants of collateral

and younger branches of the original family still in exis-

tence. All the authorities agree on this point. Anderson

following the Advocates' Library MS., says distinctly that

" Sir Simon left no son to revenge his wrongs, his two

daughters divided his extensive estates between them.

With him may be said to expire the direct male line of

the south country Frasers, though, it will be seen, they

still retained a partial interest in that quarter, after having

been undoubtedly the most conspicuous family in Peebles-

shire during the Scoto-Saxon period of our history, from

1097 to 1306. The ruins of the Castles of Oliver, Fruid,

Drumelzier, and Needpath attest their ancient greatness.

The Lord Simon de Friseil is the title by which Hollings-

hed addresses the great Chieftain of these important

territories. Sir Simon," he continues, "is said to have

married Mary, daughter of Bisset of Lovat, and thereby

have laid the foundation of the illustrious house of the

Lords Fraser of Lovat. This popular opinion is by no

means correct ; for Mary Bisset, daughter of Bisset of

Lovat, was married to Gregory le Grant, whose sons wit-

ness an agreement between John Bisset and Archibald,

* Advocates' Library MS,
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Bishop of Moray, on the 9th of September, 1258, about

the Church of Conway (Conventh) and lands of Erchless.

At this time Sir Simon was only tivo years old according

to a MS. of the Saltoun family (in Author's hands).

Besides, Sir John Bisset last of Lovat," the same writer

adds, "had no male heirs," and only three daughters, Mary,

Cecilia, and Elizabeth, who married, respectively, Mary, Sir

David de Graham " de Loveth," with issue—Patrick Graham
;

Cecilia, William Fenton of Beaufort ; and Elizabeth, Sir

Andrew de Boscho, " Dominus de Redcastle," with issue

—Maria de Boscho, Domina de Kilravock, who married

Hugh de Ross,* from whom the family of Rose of Kilra-

vock, and of which place, which she carried to her husband,

she has a charter from John Baliol in 1293.

Sir Simon's eldest daughter married Sir Hugh Hay of

Locherell, the male ancestor of the Lords of Yester and

the Earls and Marquises of Tweeddale, who in consequence

quartered the arms of the Frasers with their own paternal

bearings. In right of this marriage the Sheriffship of

Peebles, hereditary in the senior branch of the Frasers,

devolved upon the heads of the house of Yester, in whose

family it continued for many generations, until they lost

it in consequence of Lord Yester having permitted certain

prisoners to escape from the prison of Peebles. As a

punishment for this feudal delinquency and supposed

breach of trust James V. deprived the Yesters of this

important and responsible office, but even then he con-

ferred it on Lord Fleming, the representative of Sir Simon

Fraser's younger daughter and co-heir. Lord Yester,

however, raised an action in the Supreme Court, and after

full enquiry had been made, the grant to Lord Fleming

was annulled, and the Sheriffship was again conferred on

Lord Yester, who represented the elder sister, as part of

his ancient inheritance through the marriage of his ancestor

to Sir Simon Fraser's elder daughter. The estates and

interests of the family were subsequently sold to the head

of the noble house of Queensberry, and they are still held

* Kilravock Papers, p. 27.
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by his heir of entail, the Earl of Wemyss. Being- the nearest

heirs general of the old stock of the Frasers, the Lords

Yester bore the principal arms of that ancient family.

"The fraises in their escutcheons were placed in saltier,

or after the form of a Saint Andrew's Cross, just in the

very same way and the same colours as the Lords Lovat

are proved to have carried them, by Heraldic MS. in the

Advocates' Library and the authority of Nisbet's Heraldry.

Hence," says Anderson, " as the Frasers of Philorth did

not bear them after this method, and the Frasers of Lovat

did, the inference is clear that the latter were the senior

branch."*

Sir Simon's second and younger daughter married Sir

Patrick Fleming of Biggar, the direct male ancestor of the

Lords Fleming and Earls of Wigtoun, who, as already

stated, for a time held the Sheriffship of Peebles. Her
family also quartered the arms of the Frasers with their own.

The direct male representation of the two Sir Simons,

father and son, having failed, we must now revert to

Sir Andrew Fraser of Caithness and Sheriff of Stir-

ling, second son of Sir Gilbert Fraser of Oliver Castle,

and Sheriff of Traquair, immediate younger brother of Sir

Simon the Father, and paternal uncle of Sir Simon the

Younger, the " Great Sir Simon," whose line, as has just

been shown, ended on his own death in 1306 in two

daughters married respectively into the families of Yester,

now Tweeddale, and Fleming, subsequently represented by

the Earls of Wigtoun. Sir Andrew was the first of the

family who acquired property in the north of Scotland.

Previous to his time the Frasers had no connection what-

ever with the county of Inverness, where now for nearly

six centuries they have held extensive estates, wielded great

influence, and secured for themselves in many ways dis-

tinction and renown. Sir xA.ndrew seems only to have

possessed a comparatively small property in the south of

Scotland, part of which he gifted, as already stated, to the

Abbey of Kelso. But by marriage with a wealthy heiress,

* Historical Account of the Family of Fraser', footnote, p. 32.
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he acquired very extensive estates in the county of Caith-

ness—then and far on into the seventeenth century

comprised in the Sheriffdom of Inverness. That he held

vast possessions in that county is proved by a letter or

mandate from Edward I., addressed in 1296 to John de

Warren, Count of Surrey, in Sir Andrew's favour, from

which it is found that in that year Edward ordered

that noble Earl at the time his Warden of the Kingdom of

Scotland, to cause to be delivered to Sir Andrew Fresel or

Fraser, who was about to go into England beyond the

Trent, a hundred merks of the dowry of his wife in Caith-

ness for the maintenance of himself, his wife, and family,

and that all the lands and tenements wmich were of his

wife's dowry in that county should be restored to him for

the same purpose. The original document is in the follow-

ing terms :

—

" R. di et fi suo Johni de Warrena Comiti Suit, custodi regni

et terre sue Scoti salt. Quia de gra" n -

ra" speciali concessimus

Andre Fresel qui p" p" ceptu n'rm in Anglia p" stums" est ultro

Trentam et ibidem ad voluntatem n'ram p
1

ut ordinavimus moraturus

centum marcas p" cipiendas de exitibus terms et ten. que sunt de

dote uxoris sue in Catania ad sustentatcrem suam uxoris et familie

sue donee aliud inde duximus ordinand' ita quod si terre et ten' p" dta

valorem annua centum marcus non attingant de eo q"d inde defeurit

p' vos suppleatr vobis mandamus q'd p'fato Andr. p" dtas centu

marcus h.ere faciatis in forma p.dta. T. R. Apud Morpath primo

die Octobr."

From this it is clear that Sir Andrew Fraser acquired a

very extensive estate in Caithness in right of his wife,

yielding a large revenue for those days, and according to

the author of Critical Notes upon Ragman's Roll he was

about the same time known as " Dominus de Touch " in

Stirlingshire, a property, it seems, first conferred upon him

when appointed to the Sheriffdom of that county. It

afterwards came into possession of Sir Alexander Fraser,

his youngest son, of whom presently.

Sir Andrew was a very distinguished character in his

day, and he is repeatedly mentioned in the annals of the

period. "The first notice we have of him," according to
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Anderson, "is in June, 1291, when he swore allegiance to

Edward I. at Dunfermline, being designed nobilus vir

Dominus Andreas Fraser. Baliol nominated Sir Andrew

one of the umpires to decide the contest for the Crown,

5th June, 1 29 1 ; he was present when that pusillanimous

Prince did homage to Edward on the 26th of December,

1292. He was Sheriff of Stirling in 1291 and 1293, and

Dominus de Touch in the same county. By a mandate

of Edward I. on 3rd September, 1 296, Andrew Fraser's

lands in Fife, which he held of Ada de Valoynes, were

ordered to be restored to him. On the 25th of June,

1297, the same Prince bestowed upon him the manor of

Ughtrethrestrother (hodierne Struthers) in Fife. Animated

with the ardent zeal which distinguished the Scottish nobles,

Sir Andrew Fraser and his son are deservedly eulogised

for their valorous exploits, in defending against a cruel

and vindictive enemy the liberties of their native country.

Sir Andrew does not appear to have long survived Sir

Simon, his gallant nephew. We learn from the Chartulary

of Kelso, that he executed a mortification, with consent of

Beatrix, his wife, to that religious house, under the appel-

lation of Andreas Fraser, filius quondam Gilberti Fraser,

militis, of a caracute of land in Wester Gordon. Both

Chalmers and Crawford explicitly state that Sir Andrew
was the son of Gilbert Fraser, who was vicecomes of Tra-

quair. But the previous authority is conclusive of the fact

;

because there was no other Gilbert, except the Sheriff who
figured at the time. Sir Andrew, obviously as a relative,

is a witness also to deeds by Sir Simon, the grandson of

Gilbert. As in a subsequent document to the above in

the Chartulary of Kelso, and relative to it, in 1308, Sir

Andrew is styled 'of good memory, now deceased,' he may
have died about the latter period."* Sir Andrew must thus

have become the male representative and head of the

house of Fraser on the death of Sir Simon Fraser in 1306.

As has been already shown he married Beatrix, a wealthy

Caithness heiress, with issue

—

* Historical Account of the Frasers, pp. 33, 34.
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1. Simon, his heir and successor, and first of the Frasers

of Lovat.

2. Sir Alexander, a knight of " high reputation and great

natural endowments." He was Chamberlain of Scotland,

and along with his brother, Simon, was among the chief

men who repaired to the Royal Standard and took a dis-

tinguished part in the battle of Inverurie in 1308. After

the sieges of Forfar and Brechin, he accompanied King

Robert the Bruce to Argyleshire, with the view of recover-

ing that part of the West Highlands from his inveterate

enemies, the Cummings of Badenoch, and as a reward for

his distinguished services the King gave him his sister, the

Princess Mary, widow of Sir Nigel Campbell of Lochow,

in marriage. This must have occurred before 13 16, for

the first charter to Sir Alexander and Mary his spouse,

"our beloved sister," appears to have been granted in that

year, the tenth of her brother's reign, and there is a sub-

sequent entry of a charter in Robertson's Index to Sir Neil

Campbell, to Mary his wife, sister to the King, and to

their son John, apparently in the same year. Mary Bruce

died before the 22nd of September, 1324, for the King

granted to Sir Alexander a charter of six acres of arable

land in Achincairny, adjacent to "our manor of Kincar-

dine," to be held by him and his "heirs legitimately

procreated betwixt him and the deceased Mary Bruce, his

wife, our beloved sister." Sir Alexander was appointed

Chamberlain of Scotland in 1325, in which year he is found

issuing a precept in that capacity to the Aldermen and

Bailies of Roxburgh to pay twenty shillings per annum to

the canons of Dryburgh out of the farms of that town. He
is on record as one of the "Barones" in the second deed

for the settlement of the Crown in 13 18, and his name

appears in the famous letter addressed to the Pope by the

Scottish nobility, dated the 6th of April, 1320. He was

appointed to the Sheriffdom of Kincardine, an office which

must have been conferred upon him from his having

acquired a large estate in that county, the only property

which he seems to have inherited from his father as his
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appanage being- that of Touch, subsequently confirmed to

him by the King-. He was killed at the battle of Duplin

on the 3rd of August, 1332, without male issue, but he left

a daughter Margaret, who married William Keith, and had

issue—John Keith, who married a daughter of King Robert

II. by whom he had one son, Robert, whose daughter

married Alexander, first Earl of Huntly, on account of

which the Dukes of Gordon quartered the Fraser arms with

their own. In the 26th year of his reign, David II. con-

firmed a charter by William Keith and Margaret Fraser,

his wife,
"
neptis et heres bone memorie quondam Domini

Alexandri Fraser, milit." Sir Alexander's daughter inher-

ited all his estates and thus carried them into other families

of distinction. Some peerage writers and genealogists have

confounded this Sir Alexander with Alexander Fraser of

Cowie and Durris, undoubted progenitor of the Frasers of

Philorth, Lord Saltoun, but for this assumption there is no

foundation whatever, as will be fully shown when that

ancient and highly respectable family is dealt with in its

proper place later on.

3. Andrew, killed, apparently unmarried, with his

brothers Simon and James at the battle of Halidonhill

on the 22nd of July, 1333.

4. James, who married Margaret, the heiress of Fen-

draught. In a list of dispensations of marriage in favour

of persons within the prohibited degrees of consanguinity

by Pope John, XXII., found by M. de Marini in the

Archives of the Vatican, is one—" Dispensatio Jacobo

Fraser, Aberdonen, et Margaretae de Ferendraught," dated

1322. James was also killed, along with his two brothers,

at the battle of Halidonhill, without issue.

So far as to the origin of the Frasers. We shall now
proceed with an account of the principal family of the

name—the Frasers of Lovat.



THE FRASERS OF LOVAT.

I. SIMON FRASER,

Eldest son of Sir Andrew Fraser who died in 1308, about

two years after his distinguished and gallant cousin, the

" Great Sir Simon," was the first of the family who appears

to have inherited any lands in the county of Inverness.

We have already traced his father to the county of Caith-

ness, but how and when the son first became connected with

the vast estates inherited by his descendants in the Lovat

district is not recorded, and it has hitherto been found

impossible to fix any approximate date of the important

event. Simon first appears on record in 1 308, when he

joined Robert the Bruce at the battle which that immortal

hero fought with the Earl of Buchan that year at Inverurie.

His name is confused by Crawford and other writers,

including the author of The Annals, with his cousin german,

Sir Simon Filius, but Barbour mentions him explicitly

at this period, along with his younger brother, Sir Alex-

ander, whom he distinctly describes as "his brother." That

writer was contemporary, and as a rule he is very accurate

in his statements. And it is fortunate that what he says in

this instance is fully supported by authentic record, for

in an original charter of the reign of Robert I., preserved in

the Arbuthnot charter chest, the names of " Sir Alex-

ander Fraser, knight, and Simon Fraser, his brother," thus

specifically designated, appear as witnesses in the testing

clause. "The very fact indeed," says x'Vnderson, " of Simon

not being here called Knight, is of itself decisive, the Great

Sir Simon having, long before 1300, attained that degree

in chivalry, in an age when such an honour was held in the

highest estimation. Simon Fraser, therefore, the brother
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of the Chamberlain, and necessarily son of Sir Andrew
Fraser of Caithness and Touch, was quits a different person

from Sir Simon the Patriot, who was considerably his

senior, and had deceased before he began his career,

though certainly a man of note, and zealously attached,

like him, to the cause of Scottish freedom. He is men-

tioned in record from the period above stated down to 1333,

when, uniform in his politics, he closed a life of renown at

the battle of Halidonhill along with his brother Andrew,

evidently so designed after Sir Andrew their common
parent, and another brother of the name of James."

At a very early period Simon attached himself, like the

other leading members of his family, to the fortunes of

Robert the Bruce, and took a distinguished part with him
at Bannockburn and other memorable engagements against

the English invaders of his country. He also fought along

with David II. at the battle of Duplin, where his brother,

Sir Alexander Fraser was killed on the 3rd of August, 1332.

He was among those who refused to submit to Baliol after

that disastrous reverse to the national arms, and shortly

afterwards, he, along with Robert Keith, Alexander Lind-

say, and his own brother James, at the head of their

followers besieged and retook the town of Perth from the

enemy. On the 25th of December 1332, he surprised

Baliol at his paternal residence in Annandale, having along

with Archibald Douglas marched to Moffat at the head of

a thousand horse, suddenly attacked the Pretender's army,

and completely routed it, with the result that Baliol escaped

from the field, half naked, on horseback, without bridle or

saddle, while his younger and more valiant brother, the

gallant Henry was killed on the spot.

At the battle of Halidonhill, fought on the 22nd of July,

1333, where Simon Fraser and his two brothers, Andrew
and James, were in the van, the three heroes were slain

along with the flower of the Scottish nobility, among those

who fell on that fatal and disastrous day being Lord
Archibald Douglas, Hugh Earl of Ross, the Earls of Suther-

land, Carrick, Atholl, Lennox, and Menteith ; Sir Duncan

3
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Campbell, and many more of the best blood in Scotland.

Abercromby states that after the battle of Inverurie and

the sieges of Brechin and Forfar, Sir Alexander accom-

panied the King to Argyleshire, for the purpose of

recovering that district from the Cummings, and the author

of The Annals, who, however, confuses the great Sir Simon

with Simon his cousin all through, says that after Inverurie,

Simon and his friends " marched south with the King, and

was with him at the sieges of Forfar and Brechin. But his

Highness being, it seems, unwilling to lose men and time

in mere sieges, and desirous to make himself master of the

lands possessed by the Cummings and their allies, his

inveterate enemies, he marched straight to the shire of

Argyle where the Lord Lorn, a near relation of the Cum-
mings, endeavoured to obstruct his progress by posting

2000 men on a high mountain, over which it was necessary

the army should pass. But the King having got notice of

his design, sent a strong detachment under the command
of Sir James Douglas, Sir Alexander Fraser, and Sir Alex-

ander Grey, with orders to fetch a circuit about, and by

this means to get up the hill by ways the enemy had not

taken care to guard. The stratagem succeeded, and the

Highlanders found themselves charged both by that de-

tachment and the main body of the King's army. The
Master of Lorn, (afterwards) John Earl of Argyll, having

seen his men cut to pieces, fled and escaped by sea into

England ; so that his father was forced to give up both

his own person and his strong Castle of Dunstaffnage to the

King's person. Simon (the "Sir" is dropped) Fraser, after

this, served King Robert with great valour and fidelity in

all the lesser victories he obtained, and had the honour to

signalise his courage and conduct in the glorious battle of

Bannockburn." Later on, the same writer says that Bruce

rewarded Simon by bestowing upon him " many charters

of lands in the North, some of them upon his own resigna-

tion ; for we find that even before this, he had a great

interest in the Highlands, from the seasonable assistance

his father and he afforded the King when His Majesty
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retired to the North after the battle of Methven." And
he adds that "besides the lands he formerly possessed in

Inverness-shire, he was made Constable of the Fort of

Lovat, and the Constabulary of the Castle of Elgin was

bestowed by the King on Sir Patrick Graham, who was

Constable of Lovat, and even in Bisset's time designs

himself of Lovat, which I take to be the reason why Simon,

or his father, did not design themselves of Lovat before

this time," although, according to our author, they had

inherited it for a considerable period prior to that date.

He further adds that the King's bounty did not stop here,

but that as a distinguished mark of his Royal favour he

gave Simon his niece, Julia Ross, daughter of Hugh Earl

of Ross, by Matilda Bruce, the King's sister, in marriage.

Anderson, however, marries him to a Caithness heiress, and

after discussing the various pros and cons regarding his

position and parentage sums up in these words—" Simon

is on all hands admitted to be the immediate male ancestor

of the noble family of Lovat, styled in the Highlands, the

descendants of Simson, or Simon, their grand patronymic

after him, whose possessions in that quarter, from the most

remote period that can be discovered, always lay in the

Sheriffdom of Inverness, or in the Sheriffdoms adjoining.

They were the root of all the Frasers in that part of Scot-

land ; from no other stock did they take their origin."

Further, that they were the Chief of the name, and of the

old Frasers of the south, will still be more apparent from

what will be afterwards stated. Simon, like his father, also

formed a very honourable matrimonial connection, as was

extremely natural, with a lady in Inverness-shire. In 1325

there is a memorandum of complaint by Simon Fraser and

Margaret his wife lodged against the Sheriff of Inverness.

By the title of a missing charter, printed in Robertson's

Index, and dated in 1 330, he is proved to have married

Margaret, one of the heiresses of the earldom of Caithness,

and to have claimed either a part or the whole of that

earldom, which descended, however, to another co-heir.

In 1330 is also recorded "the complaint of Symon Fraser
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and of Margaret his wife, and one of the heirs of the Earl

of Caithness, concerning- the Earldom of Caithness," dated

at Kinross on the 4th of December in that year. And the

same authority adds, that Simon Fraser was the son of

Sir Andrew Fraser, but that it is uncertain on what ground

his wife claimed an interest in the earldom of Caithness.*

Skene is of the same opinion. " Simon Fraser," he says,

" was the first of the family of Lovat. By marriage with

Margaret, daughter of John, Earl of Orkney and Caithness,

he obtained a footing in the North. On the death of

Magnus, the last earl of his time, he unsuccessfully con-

tested the succession with the Earl of Stratherne, but at

the same time he acquired the property of Lovat, which

descended to his wife through her mother, the daughter

and heiress of Graham of Lovat."f All the authorities

agree. that by this lady Simon had issue

—

1. Simon, his heir and successor.

2. Hugh, who succeeded his brother Simon.

3. James, who was knighted by Robert III. on the

occasion of his coronation, when James, along with his

uncle Alexander, attended. He was killed in the Anglo-

Scottish wars, unmarried.

4. Janet, of whom nothing is known.

Simon was slain, as already stated, at the battle of Hali-

donhill on the 22nd of July, 1333, and was succeeded by
his eldest son,

II. SIMON FRASER,

A minor, only ten or eleven years old when his father fell.

He fought at the siege of Perth in 1339 when a mere
youth of seventeen years and greatly distinguished himself

for one so young. The army was composed of four

divisions, one of which was commanded by William Earl

of Ross, under whom young Simon first took the field in

any national enterprise, and gave such signal proofs of his

* Origines Parochiales Scotia, vol. ii., part ii., p. 806.

t Highlanders of Scotland, vol. ii., p. 312.
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valour as justified his friends and followers in expecting

that he would prove worthy of his great ancestors. The

Scots afterwards proceeded south, laid siege to and captured

the Castle of Stirling. Continuing their victorious career,

they soon surrounded it, and on the 17th of April, 1341,

by a clever stratagem, in which Simon Fraser took a

leading part, took the Castle of Edinburgh. Buchanan

describes at some length the manner in which the famous

stronghold was captured, and the other historians of the

period give versions which, on the whole, vary but little.

The author of The Annals, who closely follows Buchanan,

gives the following account of the proceedings :

—

" One Walter Currie, a merchant, had a ship, laden with wine and

provisions, at Dundee. Sir William Douglas, Lord of Liddlesdale,

sent for him to come to the Forth with his ship ; and having com-

municated his design to William Bullock, an Englishman gained over

by Sir William Douglas to the Scots interest, Currie pretended to be

an Englishman, and brought some bottles of fine wine and other

small presents to the Governor of the Castle, and asked of him as a

favour that he might be allowed to deposit some of the rest of his

provisions there, as in a place of safety, and to let him know if he

or the garrison stood in need of anything, and that he would cheer-

fully supply them to the utmost of his power. The Governor ordered

him to bring some hogsheads of wine, and a quantity of biscuits, and

promised him access whenever he pleased, wishing him success.

Currie told him that he would come early in the morning for fear

of being discovered by the Scots. Douglas, and twelve chosen men,

whom he had picked out that night, having put on sailors' habits

above their armour, advanced towards the Castle, carrying the pro-

visions ; and having placed their friends in ambush, as near the

Castle as they could, they desired them to wait the signal. Sir

William Douglas and Simon Fraser, having advanced a little before

the rest, they ordered them to follow them at due distance. Douglas

and Fraser being admitted by the porter within the pallisades, or

outward rampart, and observing that the keys of the gate hung over

his arm, they immediately dispatched him, and without any noise

opened the gate to their friends, to whom, as they had agreed, they

gave the signal, blowing a horn. This alarmed both the garrison

and those that lay in ambush ; and while both parties ran to the gate,

the Scots threw down their burdens in the very entry of the gate,

to prevent the gate being shut before the Scots could climb up the

steep ascent they had to come up to the castle. After a sharp
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engagement, and great slaughter on both sides, the garrison sur-

rendered, having been all killed on the spot, except the Governor

and six men."

In December 1341 a truce of four months was arranged

between the Scots and the English, on condition that if

King David, then in France, did not return by the following

May, the former would submit to the latter. The Scottish

nobility thereupon, according to Froissart, living at the

time, sent four of themselves, including Sir Robert Vesey

and Simon Fraser, to inform the King of what they had

agreed upon, but David sailed from France before they

arrived, and landed with his Queen at Inverbervie, in the

Mearns, on the 2nd of July, 1342. Simon, who was a

great favourite and constant attendant at Court, accom-

panied the King to the disastrous battle of Durham, where

David was defeated and taken prisoner in 1346, and Simon

Fraser severely wounded. He, however, managed to escape

and find his way north to Lovat, where he recovered from

his wounds, but died soon after, unmarried, in February

1347, in the 25 th year of his age, was buried at Beauly,

and was succeeded by his next brother,

III. HUGH FRASER,

Of Lovat, the first of the family on record designed " of

Aird and Lovat," both places, as is well known, being

situated in the county of Inverness, and still possessed as

the principal estates of the family by Hugh's descendants.

He was served heir to his father in 1349, and in the Char-

tulary of Moray, under date of nth of September, 1367,

he is mentioned as Hugh " Dominus de Loveth et portion-

arius terrarum de Ard," doing homage to the Bishop of

Moray for his share of the half davoch lands of Kiltarlity

and Esser, and the fishings of the River Forn, now the

Beauly and Farrar. In the same year he witnesses a

charter by Walter Leslie, Dominus de Ross, concerning

certain rights which Eufemia de Sancto Claro had acquired

to the lands of Torry in Buchan and the lands of Brea,
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Druim, and Broom, within the Sheriffdom of Inverness.*

Hugh is said to have been indefatigable in his day

in helping to keep down the turbulent actions of the

northern tribes so characteristic of the times in which he

lived, and to have been appointed King's Lieutenant in

the Highlands. In this capacity he is said to have received

a commission and to have taken a prominent part in a

clan conflict fought in the Black Isle in 1372. In that

year a body of Maclennans from the west invaded the

eastern portion of Ross, and pillaged Tain and the Chanonry.

Returning westward they encamped for the night on the

ridge now called Drumderfit, between Munlochy and Kessock

Ferry. Hugh Fraser of Lovat, at the time King's Lieu-

tenant, having heard of their depredations resolved to

punish them. Collecting his men, he marched to their

encampment, and by the aid of the Provost and citizens

of Inverness who, in terms of a preconcerted plan, there

met him, he put every one of them to the sword, except

one individual who concealed himself unobserved under

a " Lopan," a primitive kind of cart, from which, according

to tradition, his descendants, who afterwards occupied the

farm of Druim-a-deur, or Drumderfit, for four hundred

years, derived the name of Loban, modernised into Logan.

The Frasers and Macraes, who then resided at Clunes in

the Aird, as vassals of the Frasers of Lovat, secured the

assistance of the citizens of Inverness under the following

circumstances. The Maclennans had sent word to the

Provost from their encampment that unless Inverness paid

a heavy ranson the invaders would cross the Firth, set

fire to the town, and put the inhabitants to the sword.

Provost Junor made a pretence of agreeing to their proposal,

and as an earnest of his intention and good faith, despatched

a large quantity of strong liquor to the camp. The Mac-
lennans being greatly fatigued and without provisions,

eagerly partook of the intoxicating fluid, and then fell

into a profound slumber. In the meantime the wily Provost

collected the stoutest and most warlike of the citizens,

* History of the Family of Times, p. 18.
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ferried them across Kessock during the night, and meeting

the Frasers and Macraes, who had just arrived as previously

agreed upon, joined them and at once attacked and slaugh-

tered every one in the camp, except the man already

named. The ridge is still thickly strewn over with cairns

to commemorate the dead, and it is to this day known as

" Druim-a-deur," anglicised Drumderfit, or the Ridge of

Tears.

Two years after, in 1374, Hugh is said to have taken

part, with two hundred of his vassals, at the battle of

" Bealach-nam-Brog," in the county of Ross, between the

Heights of Ferindonald and Lochbroom, full details of

which are given in Mackenzie's Histories of the Mackenzies

and of the Macdonalds.

Early in the following year the scattered remnant of the

tribes who had fought against Lovat at " Bealach-nam-

Brog," numbering about a hundred, gathered together

during Lovat's absence in the south in the forest of Coire-

Charbie, eight or nine miles above Beauly, and from there

made raids and pillaged the fertile lands on the lower

grounds, their main object being to seize Lovat's son

Alexander, who was then being educated and residing with

William Cumming, Prior of Beauly. Having received

intelligence of their hiding place, he gathered together a

number of his most resolute and daring fellows on both

sides of the river, and overtook them unawares at Ardna-

grask, killed many of them and pursued the survivors to

a place south of Beauly, still called " Blar-nan-Sgallag,"

where their leader and six of his men were slain. They
were buried under a cairn, to this day called "Carn-nan-

Sgallag," near Bearn-nan-Sgallag, or the Gap of the

Men-Servants, both so named from the fact that the

victory was mainly won by the assistance of Lovat's men-
servants, commonly called in Gaelic " Sgallags." The
remnant who escaped were followed for about a quarter

of a mile lo the west of Kilmorack Church, where seven

of them climbed up a thick tree that hung over a precipice

overlooking the river. One of the pursuers, observing the
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situation, with his battleaxe cut the branches on which the

unfortunate fellows rested, and they all fell into and

perished in the rushing stream below. The rock has ever

since been known as " Beum Earacais," or the Coup de

Grace.

When on the death of King David Bruce, who died in

Edinburgh Castle, without issue, on the 22nd of February,

1 37 1, his nephew, Robert Stewart, son of his sister Marjory

Bruce succeeded him, Hugh Fraser proceeded to Perth,

attended his coronation there on the 27th of March follow-

ing, and was a member of the Parliament which then

met in that city.

On the 16th of March, 1377, he resigned the lands of

Fayrlehope in the barony of Linton, or Linton-Rothrok,

as it was then called, in the county of Peebles, in favour

of Sir James Douglas, as will be seen from the following

original document preserved in the Douglas charter chest:

—

" Universis ad quorum notitiam presentes lettere pervenerint Adam
Forster salutem in Domino Sepiternam. Noveritis me de reverendo

domino meo domino Jacobo de Douglas domino de Dalkeith, pro

homagio et servitio meo quandam cartam recepisse bee verba precise

continens. Omnibus hanc cartam visuris vel audituris, Jacobus de

Douglas dominus de Dalkethe, Salutem. Sciatis nos dedisse con-

cessisse et hac presenti carta nostra confirmasse dilecto et fideli

nostro Ade Forster pro homagio et servitio suo nobis impenso et

impendendo totam terram de Fayrelehope cum pertinentiis infra

baroniam de Lyntonrothrok, in vicecomitatu de Peblis, que fuit

Hugonis Fraser Domini de Lovet."

Anderson argues that the fact of this Hugh Fraser,

Dominus de Lovat, being proved by this charter—though

resident in the north, "where the principal estates, like

those of his immediate ancestors lay"—to have inherited

land within the barony of Linton in Peebles-shire, con-

tiguous to Traquair, the seat of the ancient Frasers of the

South, and of their representative, Gilbert Fraser, Sheriff

of Traquair, is of great importance. " For," he says,

" combined with the circumstances formerly unfolded it is

clearly indicative of Hugh's descent from the latter, through

Sir Andrew, his son, who married the heiress in Caithness.
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By the custom of that age, as could be proved by many
contemporary instances, younger sons were always provided

in a portion of land of their father's inheritance." Having

given a particular instance, he states, " that such an arrange-

ment, at a period when money was scarce, was obviously

what might have been expected in parallel situations. By

parity of reason, therefore it may be presumed that Fay-

relehope descended to Hugh of Lovat as the heir of an

ancestor of the name of Fraser, who was a younger son of

the Sheriff of Traquair ; and of course, none so likely,

considering all that has been transmitted to us, as of the

son of the Sheriff of Traquair, who has been mentioned.

The general inference from all the facts seems unavoidably

to lead to this conclusion ; and whilst Hugh of Lovat is

thus proved to have held a portion of land as a descendant

of the principal family of Fraser, it has as yet fallen to the

lot of no other stock of the Frasers to be able to adduce

such a piece of evidence in support of any conceived claim

to the Chieftainship that they may imagine to be inherent

in them. Not only is this the undoubted fact, but it may
be further stated, as convincing and commanding argu-

ments, that the house of Lovat, when raised to the peerage,

were created, per excellentiam, Lords Fraser simply, though

the family afterwards added the name of their estate to the

title, and bore, in the 15th century, the very arms of the

Frasers of Peebles or Traquair, which the noble family of

Tweeddale, their eldest heirs of line, quartered with their

own ; namely, five fraises, placed after the form of a St.

Andrews Cross. We have seen that the chief of the Oliver

Castle branch was always styled, as designative of his

quality, 'The Fresel.' That the family of Lovat, therefore,

when ennobled, should retain the same characteristic, is

only to be accounted for by their succeeding to the prin-

cipal male representationship ; and in this respect, again

they are singular from every other family of the name of

Fraser. The allegation, too, of Nisbet, that the male

representative of the Frasers of Oliver Castle in Tweeddale

is said to have got great possessions in the North of Scot-
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land, which he and his successors enjoyed under the title

of Lord Fraser, leads obviously and directly to the same

result."*

Hugh appears to have been remiss in his payments of

the various rents under which he held from the Bishop of

Moray the Church lands which had formerly been possessed

by John Bisset, for on the 30th of November, 1384, an

agreement is entered into between Dominus de Lovat and

Alexander Bishop of Moray by which Fraser without any

further allegation of danger or war or any other cause,

on payment of ^20 by two instalments and fifty shillings

additional, is to be relieved from paying all back dues

for the annual rents of Kiltarlity, the Ess, or Moniack, or

the grain of the parish of Wardlaw, and he at the same

time promised to support the Bishop in his holdings,

particularly in that of the two Kinmylies, and agreed to

help him to recover that part of the annual rent of the

lands of Kiltarlity and the Ess which affected the portion

of a nobleman, William Fenton in the said lands, f His

name appears during the regency of Robert Duke of

Albany in a charter of confirmation to Peter de Striveleyne

and his son John, dated the 30th of March, 1410, of an

original charter by him dated the 30th March, 1407, of

the lands of Easter Brecky in the Barony of Kynnell,

Forfarshire, in which he is described as " Hugo Fraser

Dominus de Lovat et de Kynnell." That he was dead

before 14 10 is clear from the fact that he is referred to

in the charter of confirmation of that year as the quondam

Hugonis Fraser de Lovat, his designation of Kynnell having

apparently been dropped when he parted with the lands

situated in the barony of that name.

According to the MS. already quoted Hugh continued

to tread in the footsteps of his distinguished predecessors,

adhering firmly both to King David and his nephew and

successor King Robert. But the character he has of him,

he says, shows that "he was very unfit for a courtier. He
* Historical Account of the Family, pp. 47"49-

t Register of Moray, p. 195.
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was a man of great vivacity and sprightliness, full of courage

and resolution. He disdained mean complaisance, and

even in the King's presence he could maintain what he

spoke and speak what he thought right and just, however

dangerous and disagreeable. He had such an absolute

command of the passions and such an evenness of temper

that he was compared to the Caspian Sea that never ebbs

or flows."

Hugh Fraser married Isabell, daughter of Sir David

Wemyss of Wemyss, ancestor of the Earls of Wemyss,
with issue

—

i. Alexander, his heir and successor.

2. Hugh, who succeeded his brother Alexander.

3. John, progenitor of the Frasers of Knock, in the

county of Ayr, he having married the heiress to that pro-

perty, commonly known as Knockmiller, with issue.

4. Duncan, who married Elizabeth, daughter and heiress

of Archibald Dallas of Dallas, and became the ancestor

of a tribe of Frasers in Morayshire. With consent of her

husband Duncan Fraser, this lady, in 1428, disponed her

rights to the lands of Dallas to her uncle John Dallas of

Easter Foord, who was the heir-male of that family.

5. Margaret, who married John Hamilton of Bushernock,

ancestor to the Laird of Bardonie, Stirlingshire, the con-

tract of marriage in 1395 being ratified by charter from

Duncan Earl of Lennox.

6. Agnes, who married Lachlan Mackintosh, VIII. of

Mackintosh, Captain of Clan Chattan, with issue—one son,

Ferquhard, or Farquhar, who renounced the chiefship,*

but whose descendants are the heirs-male of the family,

and a daughter Margaret, who married Thomas Chisholm,

IX. of Chisholm, with issue—two sons, Alexander and

Wiland, both of whom succeeded one after the other to

the Chisholm estates.

7. Cecilia, who married Alexander Innes of Innes.

Hugh is said to have died at Lovat in 1397 anc^ to ^ave

been interred in Beauly " with great pomp." He, however,

* The Mackintoshes of Clan Chattan, pp. 13 1- 132.
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lived for several years after this date (see his charter to

Peter de Striveleyne in 1407). But he was undoubtedly

dead in 1410.

The author of the MS. in the Advocates' Library says

that "this noble person lived mostly in great peace and

happiness," esteemed and beloved by all his neighbours,

especially by the clergy, whom he esteemed and honoured.

They showed him the greatest marks of their regard while

he lived and " the only mark of their esteem they could

give him when he was dead. He died at Lovat in the

seventieth year of his age, and had the burial of a

Prince, especially so far as the clergy could contribute

towards it. The Bishop of Moray, Alexander Bar, and

Thomas Tulloch, Bishop of Ross, with all their dignities,

the Abbots of Kinloss and Fearn, the Priors of Pluscardine

and Beauly, with their Orders, attended the funeral, which

appeared like a procession of Churchmen, till the body

was interred within the Church of Beauly." His. lady is

said, on the same authority, to have survived him only for

six months.

He was succeeded by his eldest son,

IV. ALEXANDER FRASER,

Of Lovat, who was retoured during his father's life-time,

at Inverness, in 1398. He had been at Court for some
time but he preferred and led a life of retirement and

devotion. He was a great benefactor to the monastery

of Beauly, and built a steeple of carved oak which stood

upon its western pinnacle, placed a curious bell in it,

assisted in beautifying and adorning the church and clois-

ters and usually resided within the precincts. " It is a

pity," says the family annalist, "that he was not a church-

man, having often declared that he would rather serve at

God's Altar than be advanced to the greatest State prefer-

ments. He was a pattern of primitive piety and sanctity

to all around him." He devolved the care and management
of his estate on his brother and successor Hugh, long before

his own death. Notwithstanding his great piety and
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sanctity he had a natural son in his earlier years, generally

called "Rob Mac-a-Mhanaich "—Robert the Monk's son,

his Lordship being so called because of his solitary and

retired life with the Monks. This Robert was the pro-

genitor of one of the most numerous tribes of the Frasers,

known as " Sliochd Rob Mhic-a-Mhanaich," or the de-

scendants of Robert the son of the Monk.

In 1410, during this Alexander's life, Donald of the

Isles claimed the Earldom of Ross in right of his wife.

His first step was to proceed with an army to the county

of Ross, the inhabitants of which soon submitted and

admitted his claims. This naturally encouraged him, many

of the people joined him, and at the head of a large body

he marched in the direction of Beauly, where he halted

and drew them up, on the plains of Kilchrist, just opposite

the Castle of Lovat. From here he despatched a messenger

to Fraser to point out the injustice that was being done

to him by the Governor, and seeking his assistance in

asserting his just rights to the Earldom. But instead of"

agreeing to aid or encourage him Alexander did all that

he could to dissuade the Island chief from what appeared

to him to be his hopeless attempt, at the same time re-

presenting to him how improper and dangerous his pro-

posed proceedings might prove at such a juncture in the

history of Scotland, " when the young king was a prisoner

in England, the Kingdom under a regency, England ready

to break in upon the least intestine jars among ourselves,

and farther, that it was running a risk of losing his real

right to have recourse to the sword at that time." Donald,

incensed at this answer, advanced at once with his forces,

crossed the Beauly, and laid siege to Lovat. But the

attempt to take it by storm proved fruitless. It was suffi-

ciently strong to resist a mere passing army, and fearing

that, if he remained in its vicinity for any lengthened period,

some of the neighbouring clans might come to Lovat's

rescue, and considering also that by staying there he might

lose the best season of the year for his journey to Aberdeen

to meet the Governor, Donald raised the siege, and having
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pillaged the surrounding country, proceeded to Inverness.

On his arrival there he called upon the inhabitants to join

him, but they refused, whereupon he sacked the town, and

gave the greatest part of it to the flames, including the oak

bridge which then spanned the river, described as the finest

of its kind in Scotland. Donald then marched eastward,

swept through Moray and Banff into Aberdeenshire, where

he fought the famous battle of Harlaw, the details and

result of which are so well known as to require no recapi-

tulation here.

With the exception of his pursuit of the Maclvers,

Macleays, and the Macaulays, while Master of Lovat, the

remnant of those who opposed his father at " Bealach-nam-

Brog" and his slaughter of them at Ardnagrask, Blar-nan-

sgallag, and Kilmorack, already mentioned, Alexander does

not appear to have taken any prominent part in the feuds

and broils of his time. He died unmarried and was suc-

ceeded by his next brother,

V. HUGH, FIRST LORD FRASER.

He was served heir to his father in 141 5, and by his

marriage with the heiress of William Fenton of Beaufort,

son of Thomas of Dounie, he acquired a considerable

portion of the lands belonging to that family and to the

Bissets. He appears first on record as Lord "of the

Lovat" in an indenture, dated the 16th of September, 1416,

and entered into at Baky between William of Fenton, Lord

of that Ilk, and Hugh or Hutcheon Fresel, Lord of the

Lovat, on his marriage with Fenton's sister. The marriage

settlement is written in the old Scots language, and de-

scribes the parties thereto as " twa noble lordis and

knychtis." In terms of the contract the Lord of Lovat

is to take to wife Janet, sister to the Lord Fenton, who,

in consideration of the marriage, dispones to the Lord of

Lovat and the said Janet the lands of Guisachan, Comar
Kirkton, Mauld, Wester Eskadale, in Strathglass, within

the Barony of the Aird, and until the lands of Uchterach

are recovered, the two Buntaits in pledge, all in conjunct
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fee and to the heirs of the marriage. The Lord of Lovat

at the same time obliges himself to give Janet in name of

dowry the sum of twenty pounds out of the lordship of

Golsford, in the Sheriffdom of Nairn, and if there should

be any deficiency it is to be made up by Hugh Fraser

out of the lands of Dalcross, which the family seems to

have possessed even at that early date.* From the date

of the document it is clear that the Lord of Lovat

possessed that property, of which he is therein de-

signed, before his marriage, and that it was not brought

to him, as some writers have maintained, by his wife, as

heiress to her mother, one of the daughters and heiresses

of the Bissets. A charter of confirmation of the marriage

contract is granted on the 16th of September, in the 25th

year of the reign of James I.
—

" Sciatis nos quasd Inden-

turas facietas inter Vilielmum de Fenton de eodem et

Hugonem Fraser de Lovet, supra maritagium inter dictum

Hugonem et Janetam de Fenton," etc., from which it is

evident that Hugh Fraser, although commonly called Lord,

or rather Laird of the Lovat, was not at this early period

recognised by James I. as one of his Lords Barons.

The question has been repeatedly argued, What is the

real meaning of " dominus" the word used in the original,

and whether it is decisive as the mark or stamp of nobility,

or simply means laird or gentleman ? " If we go back,"

says Anderson, " to the latter ages of the Roman Empire,

we shall behold it given promiscuously to men of rank and

apparently sinking in esteem. From being the peculiar

attribute of princes it becomes the distinguishing character-

istic of the Crown vassal. 'It remembers me,' says Sir

George Mackenzie, 'of a custom in Scotland which is but

lately gone into desuetude ; and that is, that such as did

hold their lands of the King were called lairds—but such

as only held them of a subject, though large and their

superiors noble, were only called good men.' With us

* Register of the Great Seal, iii., No. 95. The document is printed at

length by Edmund Chisholm Batten as an appendix to his Priory of Beauty,

PP. 3°3-3°5-
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indeed the word dominies was of old applied to every land-

holder. Till the time of James I. (who succeeded his

father, Robert III., in 1406), we find no distinction between

the greater and the lesser barons. The Latin word applied

indiscriminately to either ; all were pares or peers in the

Courts of Justice, and the laird, as well as the lord, derived

a title from his landed estate. James reaped lessons of

wisdom in the school of adversity. He had marked the

peculiar excellency of the English constitution ; and he

resolved to impart its blessings to his own subjects. Im-

pressed with the importance of separating the peers from

the country gentlemen, and strengthening the third estate,

he drew a line of distinction between them by the creation

of Lords of Parliament, and separated these from the other

barons or lairds. Had he assigned peculiar privileges to

the representatives of the Commons, as Mr Pinkerton

observes, Scotland like her neighbour might have benefitted

by two Houses of Parliament. But the privilege of voting

was confined to the freeholders of the Crown ; the electors

shrunk from the expense attendant on the duty of a re-

presentative, or meanly followed their peers when they

might have legislated in a distinct assembly. The Act of

1587 completed the removal of barons by tenure, and the

introduction of Lords of Parliament without election. We
are thus to behold a new aera in the Scottish constitution,

and the verbum dignitatis henceforward applied to the

barons by creation. But the defective state of our records

leaves it a matter of uncertainty how these were constituted.

It is generally supposed that the King either created the

landed estate by a charter into a comitatus or dominium,
or in Parliament named the title by which the party en-

nobled was in future to be designed ; and the person having

been girt with a sword, was proclaimed by the heralds a

Lord of Parliament. The style of Lord Baron, as it was
conferred for services in war, or assistance in Council, was
certainly in its original character, a male fief, nor did its

feudal strictures vary till the reign of James VI., when
patents, having reference solely to a title of honour separate

4
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from any territorial grants, came into use. It was admitted

that in the family of Lovat there never was a patent; and

the question of their creation as Lords Baron must be

subject to the evidence of record." Dr Hill Burton agrees

with Anderson on this point. He says that the date when

the Frasers of Lovat " became lords of Parliament cannot

be assigned ; their dignity was held by tenure, not by writ,

and is found in existence in the middle of the fifteenth

century. Their wide estates, including- flat, fruitful land,

as well as those Highland districts in which the people

lived by plunder or the chase, give them a mixed character
;

and the Baron of Lovat was at one time a lord of Parlia-

ment, partaking in the counsels of the monarch ; at another

the mountain chief retired within his fastnesses, and was

more absolute and independent in Stratherrick than the

king at Holyrood."* Other authors, including Douglas,

Crawford, and Nisbet, agree that the actual date when the

family came to the Peerage is not known. They were

possibly promoted to that honour by James I. after 1430,

but there is no voucher to show that they were Peers of

Parliament until 1472, in the reign of James III.

In any event it is certain that at that date the family

were ranked among the Scottish nobility. On the 22nd

of June, 1605, a proclamation was made that "Dukes,

Marquesses, Earls, Lords, and Barons should show their

evidents to the effect that (we) know who is most worthy,

and every man to have his own place in Parliament, and

other proclamations, that they compear the first of Nov-

ember, their haill names being read out by the messenger."

In compliance with this order a decreet of ranking- of the

Scottish nobility, as authorised by James VI. was given

out, dated the 5th of March, 1606, narrating the citation

of the different nobles (Simon Lord Fraser of Lovat being

one of the number) and setting forth the order of pre-

cedence to be as therein shown in all time coming. In

this decreet Lord Lovat stands between Lords Oliphant

and Ogilvy—after the former and before the latter. Among
* Lives ofSimon Lord Lovat and Duncan Forbes of Citllodcn, p. 6.
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the vouchers tendered by Lord Lovat in proof of his

creation and precedency as a Lord of Parliament we find

this entry—" Lovat. Compeirit not Lord Lovat. Ex
Registro. Ane indentour maid in Englich, 3 Martij, 1426

[should be 14 16] betwixt two noble and myghtie lords,

Villiame Fenton, Lord of that ilk, on the ane pairt, and

Hew Fraser, Lord Lovat, on the other pairt, anent the

marriage of the said Lord Lovat with Janet Fenton, sister

of the said Villiame Lord Fenton
;
quilk indentour is con-

firmit be the king, 16th September, anno 1430, in Libro

Regist. Chartarum." This, however, does not prove that

he was a Lord of Parliament.

In 1422 the following curious contract of marriage was

entered into between Hugh and the Earl of Moray on

behalf of unborn children :

—

"At Elgin, the ninth day of the month of August, the year of

our Lord a thousand four hundred and twenty-two years, between a

noble lord and a mighty Thomas Dunbar, Earl of Moray, on the

one part, and a nobleman Hugh Fraser, Lord of Lovat, on the other

part, it is 'traitit, concordit, and impointit' in form and manner as

after follows, that is to say, that the said Lord Lovat is obliged and

by this letter obliges himself that his son and his heir will marry and

take to wife a daughter of the said Lord the Earl gotten or to be

gotten on Isobell of Innes ; and the daughter gotten between the

said Lord the Earl and Isobell of Innes, failing, as God forbid they

do, the said Lord of Lovat is obliged that his said son and his heir

shall marry and take to wife a daughter of the said Lord the Earl,

to be gotten between him and his spoused wife ; and this heir, the

son of the said Lord Lovat failing, as God forbid he do, but if he

leave a daughter heir or daughters heiresses, the said Lord Lovat, is

obliged, as before, to give that daughter his heir or his daughters

heiresses, to the said Lord the Earl's son, or son to be gotten between

him and his spoused wife ; and these heirs, male or female, sons or

daughters, of the said Lord Lovat, failing, as God forbid they do,

the said Lord Lovat is obliged and by these letters obliges himself,

that his heirs, whatsoever they be, shall hold and fulfil the treaty,

concordance, and impointment, now as before-written, to the said

Lord, the Earl of Moray ; for the which marriage, leally and truly

to be kept in form and manners as is before written, to the said

Lord the Earl, without fraud or guile, the said Lord the Earl has

given and granted to the said Lord Lovat, and to his heirs, the

barony of Abertarff, in blench farm, after the tenor of his charter
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purporting in itself, and the ward and the relief of umquhile William

of Fenlon, Lord of the Baky, and of Alexander of Chisholm, Lord

of Kinross, pertaining to the said Lord the Earl, within the Aird and

Strathglass, in the Sheriffdom of Inverness, within the Earldom of

Moray, after the tenor of the evidence made to the said Lord Lovat

thereupon, and fifty merks of the usual money of Scotland, after the

tenor of his obligation made thereupon. In witness of the which

thing
-

, the seals of the said Lord the Earl, and the said Lord Lovat,

interchangeably are to be put, the place, day, month, and year

before written."*

Mr Chisholm Batten, who prints the foregoing as one

of the Appendices to the Priory of Beauly, says that the

dominium utile of Abertarff must have belonged to the

Frasers before this, and that they probably derived it

from a daughter of Patrick Le Grant, Lord of Stratherrick.

When in 1423 it was agreed to liberate James I. from

his eighteen years' captivity in England a safe conduct

was granted to several of the Scottish nobility to cross the

Border and meet him at Durham, and among them is

found the name of " Hugo Fresale de Lovet," and when,

in 1424, that monarch returned from England with his

Queen, Lady Joanna Beaufort, daughter of the Duke of

Somerset, "Hugo Dominus de Lovat" was one of the

hostages given for his ransom. This shows that he was

a man of very high standing and importance—of the first

rank—among the Scottish aristocracy.

The disturbed state of the Highlands at this period is

well known, and need not here be gone into. But it may
be stated that Hugh of Lovat, "by his authority and

prudent conduct," not only protected his own vassals from

the encroachment of their neighbours, but what was as

difficult in those times—at peace among themselves. He
greatly improved the paternal estate by his marriage with

Janet, daughter of Thomas and sister of Lord William

Fenton. His piety afforded the means of building the

north work of the Church of Beauly and the Chapel of

the Holy Cross, and he obtained the privilege of a fair

to be held there on the 3rd of May annually, called Cross

* Spalding Club Miscellany, v. 256.
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Fair, which the family historian of 1749 speaks of as con-

tinuing
-

in his time. He likewise erected a famous cross

at Wellhouse, which was afterwards brought to Beauly, and

of which a portion at least still remains. He assisted the

King in his endeavours to secure tranquility and good

order on the occasion of and after his Majesty's visit to

Inverness in 1427, for which he was subsequently re-

warded by a grant from King James as Earl of Ross of

the lands of Golford, Kynobody and others, in the county of

Nairn, and the barony of Kinnell in the county of Forfar, the

charters to these lands being dated the 14th of September,

in the 25th year of the King's reign. Tn 143 1 Hugh was

appointed High Sheriff of Inverness-shire, which then, as

already pointed out, extended far beyond its present

bounds, including the more modern counties of Ross,

Cromarty, Sutherland, and Caithness. He is said to have

met the King at the Spey on his way to the North in that

year, on which occasion James appointed him to this high

and responsible office, and in the same year he is said, by

some authorities, to have been created a Lord of Parlia-

ment, but this has not been fully established.

He " had the satisfaction to see his son married with the

Earl of Murray's daughter, and was along with him at

Darnaway, where the marriage was solemnized with the

utmost magnificence ; for besides nobility and gentry, there

were present Robert Stratlock, Bishop of Caithness
;
James

Wood, Bishop of Ross and Columba ; Dunbar, Bishop of

Murray ; and the entertainment was no less splendid when
the Lady was brought to Lovat."*

Hugh, generally called first Lord Lovat, married, in

14.16, as already stated, Janet, daughter of Thomas and

sister of William Fenton, Lord of that Ilk, with issue

—

1. Thomas, who undoubtedly succeeded as Lord of

Lovat, but of whom none of the family historians, including

Anderson, has any notice.

2. Alexander, who died unmarried before his father.

His brother Hugh, afterwards third Lord Lovat, was,

* MS. in the Advocates' Library.
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on the 22nd of May, 1430, served heir to "his brother"

Alexander in a third of the barony of the Aird, and in the

barony of Abertarff, comprehending the lands of Strath-

errick, the third of Glenelg, the three Leys, Muccovy,

Balvraid, Lienach, the two Daltullichs, and Dalcross, the

whole extending- to 10 merks new extent, equal to 340

merks old extent, to which Alexander had been specially

served before the Sheriff of Inverness, and all held of the

Earl of Moray, ward and relief. These lands must have

been granted to Alexander during his father's and eldest

brother's lifetime, for both lived until 1440, ten years after

his lordship's third son Hugh, afterwards third Lord, was

served and retoured in them as heir of his deceased brother,

Alexander.

3. Hugh, who succeeded his eldest brother, Thomas, in

all his and his father's estates.

4. Elizabeth, who married William Leslie, fourth Baron

of Balquhain, from whom descended Count Leslie in Ger-

many, as well as the Leslies of Balquhain.

5. Euphemia, who married Sir Walter Innes of Innes.

At page 14, Family of Innes, it is said that " Sir Walter

was married to Euphame Fraser, daughter of Hugh of

Fraser, who was first Lord Lovat, which woman had been

formerly wife to the Captain of Clan Chattan or Laird of

Mackintosh," who would have been her cousin.

Hugh, the first Lord is said to have died at Lovat in

1440, in the 64th year of his age, and he was buried at

Beauly. His eldest son, Thomas, is on record on the 20th

of July in that year, as "Thomas Fraser, Lord of Lovat."

Lord Hugh was succeeded by his eldest son,

VI. THOMAS, LORD FRASER.

This Chief, as already stated, is not mentioned by Anderson,

or by any other of the family historians, but that he existed

is undoubted ; for in this capacity he signs as one of the

witnesses to a deed by Alexander of the Isles, Earl of

Ross, granting a charter on the resignation of "John de

Roos," VI. of Kilravock, of the lands of Kilravock and
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Geddes to " Hugh de Roos," John's second son. The deed

is dated the 20th of July, 1440, and it is witnessed at

Inverness, by "Thomas Fraser, Lord of Lovat," Lord

Walter Ogilvy, knight, William Leslie, Sheriff of Inverness,

Donald de Calder, and several other northern chiefs.* He is

also mentioned by Edmund Chisholm Batten in his Priory

of Beauty, pp. 97-98, who says that this "Thomas Fraser,

Lord of Lovat, probably eldest son of the marriage of 1416,

died before 1456, for the Chamberlain preceding William

of Cawdor in 1456 charges himself £143 of rents of. the

lands of the Aird, Strathglass, Abertarff, and Stratherrick

(Strathardock), then being in the hands of the Lord the

King, by the death of the late Thomas Fraser of the Lovat,

in the ward of the Earldom of Moray, from the same term,

with the tenandries ; and the bargain with the Earl of

Moray for a marriage of Hugh Fraser of Lovat's son with

Lord Moray's daughter, seems to have been carried out

with a second Hugh Fraser, probably a younger son of

Thomas, who succeeded, and who is mentioned on the

20th of May, 1455, as Huchone Fraser of the Lovate, as

if married to Janet, daughter of Elizabeth, Countess of

Moray." From this it is clear that Lord Thomas died

before 1456, probably without ever having made up titles.

For this reason, and because a change in the enumeration

of the subsequent Lords different from what they have

hitherto been numbered and referred to in other works

would produce a certain amount of difficulty and confusion,

it is not proposed to make any change, but still continue

to call his successor second Lord Lovat as hitherto. He
died apparently unmarried, for he was succeeded by his

only surviving brother,

VII. HUGH, SECOND LORD FRASER.

He had charters of certain lands, during his father and

brother's lifetime, in 1430, and as already shewn, he was

served heir to his brother Alexander in a large portion of

the family estates on the 2nd of May in that year—"Quod

* Invcrncssiana, pp. 11 1 and 116.
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Alexander de Lovet frater Hugonis Fraser de Lovet lator

presentium," etc., the words of the retour recited in the

charter of confirmation granted to him in the 25th year

of the reign of James I. Very little is known of his

history, but the family chronicler says that he was courted

and respected by his equals, loved by his inferiors, and

adored by his numerous vassals. The Macraes, he says,

in Lord Hugh's time, possessed the height of the Aird,

particularly the two Clunes, and "as they had always been

a brave people, so were his Guard de Corp " in all his

expeditions.

In his day, there was a tribe of the Forbeses in Glenstrath-

farrar, a peaceable and quiet people, "though surrounded

with bad neighbours against whose ravages and insults

Lord Hugh protected them ; and indeed not on'y he but

his successors were so far from imitating a custom too

common among Highland Clans, who, when they got a

footing in a country used all means to exterminate all the

former inhabitants, and they (the Lovats) have been always

the patrons and protectors of all that lived under them,

so that amid all the viccissitudes and changes that have

happened to that noble family, many of the posterity of

these people remain in that country to this time. But

this great man by his authority and prudent conduct not

only protected his vassals from the lawless encroachments

of their neighbours but kept them quiet and peaceable

among themselves at a time when many of their neighbours

were like beasts of prey devouring one another, while the

Government was so shattered by the feuds and animosities

of the great men that it was too weak to curb the licentious-

ness of these of less note." Of these feuds and animosities

our author gives several instances, but as they have no

necessary connection with the Frasers, and are already

well-known to the well-informed reader through other

sources it is needless to reproduce them here or make any

further reference to them.

He, like his father, as a reward for his loyalty, was

appointed High Sheriff for Inverness-shire in order to give
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him greater power and authority to keep the peace among-

his neighbours and vassals. Of this there can be no doubt,

for there is a charter in the public archives by John Hay
of Lochloy in favour of his son and heir apparent to which

the witnesses are " Hugo Fraser de Lovat, Vice-comes de

Inverness " and Johannes Nairn, de Cromdale, Vice-comes

de Elgin.

His father having made considerable additions to the

family estates by marriage with Lord Fenton's sister, and

by the acquisition of the lands of Abertarff and Stratherrick

by his agreement to marry his eldest son and heir to one

of the Earl of Moray's daughters, this Lord Hugh in 1430,

during his father's and brother's lifetime, takes out a charter

from James I. in which his Majesty designs himself King

of Scotland and Earl of Ross. The charter proceeds on

his father Lord Hugh's resignation of the lands of Golford

and others in the county of Nairn, which are hereafter to

be held of the King and his successors, Earls of Ross.

On the 25th of September in the same year, he has a

charter from the Crown of the lands of Kinnell in Forfar-

shire, also on his father's resignation, and another of the

barony of the Aird, the barony of Abertarff, with its per-

tinent of Stratherrick, of the third part of Glenelg, and of

other lands in the barony of Abertarff within the regality

of Moray.

He married when very young Lady Janet, daughter of

Thomas Dunbar, Earl of Moray, with issue

—

1. Thomas, who died young. He was Prior of Beauly

ad commendum.

2. Hugh, who became his father's heir and successor.

3. Alison or Giles, who according to some authorities,

died young, but according to others married Farquhar

Mackintosh XII. of Mackintosh, Captain of Clan Chattan,

and secondly, her cousin, Walter Innes of Innes.

4. Isabel, who married David Cumming of Earnside,

with issue.

Hugh, second Lord, died at Lovat in 1450, according

to the MS. in the Advocates' Library, aged 2i3> when
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he was succeeded by his second and eldest surviving
-

son,

VIII. HUGH, THIRD LORD FRASER.

He was retoured to his father in 1450 and was educated

at Court through the influence of his uncle, Alexander

Earl of Moray. When Hugh succeeded, James II.—whose

father was murdered in Perth in 1437—was only nineteen

years of age. During the subsequent disturbances in the

Highlands, Alexander, third Lord of the Isles, in 1429

besieged the Castle of Inverness and burnt the town to

ashes. Lord Lovat having opposed his passage through

his territories and compelled him to take a circuitous route,

the Island Lord determined to punish the Fraser chief.

With this object, Alexander, on setting out for Lochaber,

left a strong party in the neighbourhood of Inverness, to

make reprisals on Lovat and his tenantry. This force was

strengthened from day to day by new arrivals from the

west, until the leader became sufficiently emboldened to lay

siege to Lovat's castle, but the Frasers were too many for

him. His lordship assembled his Clan, and having sallied

out he attacked the Macdonalds near Lovat, " while the

country people having notice thereof, killed all that

straggled from the main body, and then attacked the Mac-

donalds at Fanellan, so that they were soon obliged not

only to raise the siege but to beat a retreat. Several

skirmishes occurred along the march, but on reaching the

moor of Caiplich, a few miles westward from Inverness, the

Macdonalds called a halt, stood at bay, and gave battle to

their followers, fighting with the determination and courage

of men driven to the last verge of despair. Their valour

was, however, unavailing. They were completely defeated

and routed by Lovat's vassals, and the memory of this

engagement, locally known as the " Battle of Mamsha,"

kept the Islemen for many a day unwilling to interfere

with the peace and tranquility of the Fraser country in

Inverness-shire. It was very generally agreed that it was

at this period—about 1455—that Hugh was made a Peer

of Parliament, mainly through the influence of his relative
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the Earl of Moray, and that he was the first of the family

who really attained to that dignity. Kinmylies, a part of

the Bishop's lands, was purchased by Lord Lovat from

Bishop William Tulloch in 1464.

He appears on record in 1471, when the "Lords Audi-

toris, on the 13th May that year, decern that Hew, Lord

Fraser, sail content and pay to Alexander Flemyng the

mailis of ze landis of Petquhyne, taken up and receivet be

him of twa yeiris and a half by-gone." On the 3rd of

March, 1472, an indenture is entered into between Hew,

Lord Fraser of the Lovet, and the whole town or burgh of

Nairn, whereby the latter oblige themselves, their heirs

and successors, to the said Hew, Lord Fraser of the Lovet,

in leal and true manrent and service, and he to them as a

good lord, maintainer, protector, and defender in all their

righteous causes and quarrels. In 1476, James III. granted

a charter ratifying a previous one by " Hugo Dominus

Fraser de Lovet ac Baro Baronie de Kynnell," to John

Striveling of some parts of Kinnell—the lands of Brakie

—

of which Lord Lovat was the superior, and the confirma-

tion of this charter, under the Great Seal, in which he is

similarly designed, is dated the 28th of February, 1480.

On the 13th of March, 1478, Hew Lord Fraser is ordained

to pay fifty merks Scots to William Wallace of Craigie and

Margaret Countess of Crawford, his spouse, as her terce

for the third of the lands of Strathrane, during her life.

There is a charter in Haddington's Collections dated 1480

in favour of Sir James Ogilvy of Airley of certain lands

which the King had apprised "a consanguineo nostro

Hugone Domino Fraser." He was present with James

III., along with the Earls of Atholl, Menteith, Crawford,

Rothes, Sutherland, and Caithness, and the Lords Forbes

and Ogilvie, when the King was defeated, fell from his

horse, and was slain by the Earl of Angus and his co-con-

spirators, near Stirling, on the nth of June, 1488, in the

35th year of his age. On the 16th of December, 1494,

"The Lord Auditors decree and deliver that Donald Mac-

Gillecallum (of Raasay) shall restore, content, and pay to
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Hew Lord Fresale of Lovat, four hundred cows, price of

the piece 20s ; thirty-six horses, price of the piece 26s 8d
;

ninety-six sheep, price of the piece 2s ; and for certain

goods that were spuilzied and taken from the said Hew and

his tenants out of the lands of the Aird and Easter Farnaway

by the said Donald and his complices, as was sufficiently

proved before the Lords ; and ordains that letters be written

to destrain him in his lands and goods therefore, and that

he was summoned to this action oftimes, called, and did

not compear." On the 20th of October, 1499, Andrew,

Bishop of Moray, presents Sir John Matheson to the chap-

lainry of St. John the Baptist, within the Parish Church of

Inverness, on the nomination of a noble Lord Hugh Fraser,

Lord of Lovat. He sent some of his followers to attack

the Macdonalds while retreating from the battle of Park,

fought in 1488, in Strathpeffer, where they were so com-

pletely defeated and routed by Kenneth a' Bhlair, VII. of

Kintail, who sent away his first wife, Margaret, daughter

of John, fourth Lord of the Isles, and took in her place

Lord Hugh's daughter Agnes. On the 1st of November,

1499, Hugh granted another charter, dated at Montrose, to

his cousin, George Striveling, which is confirmed by char-

ters under the Great Seal, dated the 22nd of October, 1526,

in which his lordship is described as "quondam Hugonus
Dominus de Lovat."

The author of the Advocates' Library MS. says that "this

noble Lord was the first of the family who was raised to the

dignity of the Peerage, for upon the forfeiture of the Earls

of Ross and Moray he came to hold of the Crown all those

parts of the estates that he formerly held of these two

great and potent families, and being without question by

far the greatest man in all the northern parts, either

considered with regard to the greatness and lustre of his

own family or the number of his vassals and dependants

as the head and chief of a numerous clan in the Highlands.

He had also himself a great stock of merit with the

sovereign, James III., for he had done considerable ser-

vice to the Crown in suppressing the depredations and
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insolencies done by the dependers of the Earl of Ross,

before that Earl's forfeiture, whereby the peace of the country

in these parts came to be fully secured, so that no trouble

did arise to the Government from that quarter." Repeating

the statement that this Lord Hugh was the first of the

Frasers of Lovat who had been raised to the Peerage, the

same writer proceeds to give the following interesting

information. The motives, he says, which induced the King

to raise Lord Hugh to this honour was the great service

he rendered to the Crown in suppressing the insolencies

and depredations of the Islanders and preserving the peace

of the country. " For though before this period we find

them in writs called Lord of the Lovat, yet this is no more

than what we now call Laird. These were not Lords of

Parliament or Barons or Banrents of our Sovereign Lord's

Parliament, as they were anciently called. Before the

time that King James I. returned from his captivity out

of England, all that held of the Crown in capite in libero

Baronia, be the extent less or more, were obliged to give

personal attendance at Parliaments and general Councils.

But King James I. endeavoured to make some alterations

in the constitution of Parliament, and seems to have been

inclined to model his Parliament here (in Scotland) accord-

ing to that what he observed in England. For that end

he got an Act passed in the year 1427 whereby he dispensed

with the attendance of the smaller barons, and then it

was that he erected the Lords of the Parliament as a

distinct branch of the Peerage. That is, he made choice

of certain Barons whom he adopted into the rank, quality,

order, and degree of Lords or Barons of Parliament, which

obliged them perpetually to give suit and personal attendance

in Parliament." He then describes the manner in which

these new Peers were created.

At the first Institution, he says, the Lords of Parliament

were not made by Letters Patent, as was the custom of

later times. But, from the Rolls of Parliament, their

creation appears to be made in this way—" The person

to be raised to the honour was introduced to the Parliament
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between two of the same rank and degree to which he

was advanced, clothed with a red and sometimes with a

purple robe or mantle, and girt with a sword. Then the

Sovereign named the title of honour which the investee

was in time coming to be designed by as a Lord of Parlia-

ment, in open Parliament, and the Heralds proclaimed

the titles by sound of trumpet without doors, and at the

market cross of the burgh in which the Parliament was

sitting. And when the proclamation was over the King girt

the person made noble with a sword and thereby invested him

in the honour, in this form and manner, as we have them

set down in the records of Parliament, 'which day our

Sovereign Lord the King made and constituted and caused

the Heralds to proclaim B Lord X a Baron Banrent and

Lord of Parliament, to be in all time coming designed

Lord X.'" This author continues—"The precise day and

year that this noble Lord, Hugh Lord Fraser of Lovat was

advanced to the honour of a Lord of Parliament is not

distinctly known. It is most probable he was nobilitated by

King James II., with whom he was in a high degree of favour,

as well as with his son and successor James III. But we
have no register of any Parliament in the reign of James II.

nor any older than the 7th year of King James III., anno

1467. And though a great many were in the reign of James

III. created and named Lords of Parliament, yet there is none

of them marked but the Lords Hume, the 2nd of August,

1473; the Lord of the Isles, the 20th of July, 1476; and

the Lords of Drummond, Sanquhar, Yester, and Ruthven

all on one day—the nth of January, 1487. Though the

Lord Lovat 's creation is not recorded in any of the registers,

yet we are demonstrably certain that he was a Lord Baron

and Peer and Lord Fraser of Lovat before any of the

above Lords. For by an original indenture still extant

betwixt him and the burgh of Nairn, the said burgh became

obliged to an honourable Lord, Hugh Lord Fraser, his

heirs, and successors, in leal and true manrent service, and

the said Hugh Lord Fraser of the Lovat binds and obliges

himself and his successors that he shall be to them a good
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Lord-maintainer, protector, and defender in all their right-

wise causes, quarrels, and actions. This indenture bears

date the 3rd of March, 1472 ; that is, according- to our

computation ac the time, the year 1473 ; for before the year

1600 we did not begin the year before the 25th of March,

as the English still continued to do till the year 1752.

Having a sufficient and authentic voucher that the Lord

Fraser of Lovat is in the degree and rank of a Lord of

Parliament as soon as the 3rd of March, 1473, and un-

doubtedly some time, though we know not how long,

before, it is evident he should take the precedency at least

before Lord Hume, before that family was raised to the

honour of the Earl of Hume. It appears from the records

of Parliament that Lord Hume was raised to that dignity

on the 3rd of August, 1473, in the person of Hume of that

Ilk. Now Lord Lovat being for certain a Lord of Parlia-

ment on the 3rd of March that same year, 1473, he must

of consequence have the precedency of the other Lord, who
was created five months after Hugh Lord Fraser of Lovat

is a Lord of Parliament. I have been told that Lord Hume
before he was an Earl, set up to have precedency of all

others of his own degree ;
that is, he pretended to be the

first Lord of all. But he was created Earl of Hume in

1605, a year before the establishing of the precedency of

the Peerage by the Decree of Ranking in j6o6. Being

sure that the Lord Fraser of Lovat was a Lord of Parlia-

ment in 1473, he must needs have the precedency of San-

quhar and Yester, who were not created till the year 1487.

Yet, in the Decree of Ranking, not only Sanquhar and

Yester, but Semple, Sinclair, Harris, Elphinston, Maxwell,

and Oliphant, are ranked before Lovat, who certainly ought

in equity and justice to be before them. As this indenture

with the town of Nairn is the foundation for establishing

the antiquity of the Peerage of the family, so it is an ex-

cellent voucher to show that this noble Lord was a person

of great power and consideration in the country, when
the whole community of a burgh give him their bond

of manrent, and of leal and true service, I have seen." he
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concludes, "many bonds of manrent granted to great men
from people of inferior rank and position, but I have never

seen, save in this instance only, the whole community of a

town becoming- bound in manrent to any great man what-

soever. Ever after this the constant and uniform title and

designation of this noble Lord was Lord Fraser of Lovat."

Hugh is said to have been knighted and to have had the

Order of the Thistle conferred upon him by James II.

His lordship much improved and beautified his seat of

Lovat by planting ash, plain, and elm trees round about it.

He introduced the best kind of fruit trees orocurable in

Scotland, and was the first to start the fine orchard there

which afterwards became so famous and unique in the

North. He received many favours from James III. which

he returned by his loyalty and gratitude, for no sooner did

he come to understand the distress the King was in "by a

strong combination of his rebellious subjects, than immedi-

ately and with all possible expedition he raised his numerous

clan, vassals, and dependers, and was on his march to meet

the King at Stirling, according to concert. But the rebels

were before hand with the loyal subjects, and to prevent

the conjunction of the Lord Lovat and other loyal subjects

from the North, who were coming to his assistance, they

forced the King to fight them at great disadvantage at

Bannockburn, where the King, having escaped out of the

battle, was crushed by a fall from his horse, and carried

into a mill at Bannockburn, where he was murdered in cold

blood by some desperate ruffians." Thus far from the

family MS. in the Advocates' Library. Anderson referring

to this same battle says, that the Earls of Atholl, Menteith,

Crawford, Rothes, Sutherland, and Caithness, the Lords

Forbes, Ogilvy, and Lovat, and the Laird of Grant, marched

to the King's assistance, but before these forces could join

him, he met the confederate peers, near Stirling, on the

nth June 1488, and was defeated. Falling from his horse,

he was slain, some say by the Lord Grey, and others by

Sir Andrew Borthwick, a priest, in the 29th year of his

reign and thirty-fifth of his age. This priest, according to
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other authorities, bent over the dying' King- under pretence

of discharging his holy office, and stabbed his unresisting

victim to the heart.

On the death of James III. his lordship adhered to his

son, the Duke of Rothesay, who, when he ascended his

father's throne, was only sixteen years of age. The family

MS. continues— " In this ticklish and difficult juncture, Lord

Lovat behaved as became a dutiful and loyal subject, for

as soon as he heard of the King's death, he submitted to

his lawful sovereign, the young King James IV., to whom
he knew his allegiance was as much owing as to the late

King while he was alive, and, therefore, immediately dis-

missed his followers and returned home. But he was not

present in the new Parliament that met soon thereafter ; for

he would not concur with them in condemning the late

proceedings and in declaring as they did, that the King had

died through his own default, and of the wicked Council

that were about him, and to whom he adhered. Though

Lord Lovat lived ten or eleven years after this, it does not

appear that he was concerned in the administration of

affairs, not so much on account of his advanced age as

because the Ministry, as it was now modelled, did not care

to have so great a man among them, and they were well

enough pleased that he came not into their Councils. This

made him prefer the innocence and pleasure of the country,

where he was a sort of King, to the noise and bustle of the

Court. George, second Earl of Huntly, knowing how
much it would contribute to his interest and that of his

family to be nearly connected with the family of Lovat,

proposed a match between Thomas, Master of Lovat, and

Margaret Gordon, the Earl's daughter, which was agreed

to; the contract was signed and the tocher, 200 merks, was

paid, and the marriage day was fixed, but the young lady

died the week in which she was to have been married.

The Earl of Huntly, however, resolved that he should not

lose such an advantageous alliance. Therefore, after his

daughter's death, he proposed that the Master of Lovat

should marry his niece, Janet Gordon, daughter of Sir

5
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Alexander Gordon of Achindown, usually called Master of

Huntly. As this lady was by far the prettiest of the two,

the proposal was readily gone into and the Earl became

bound to all the articles agreed upon in the event of his

daughter's marriage." The agreement thereupon entered into

is in the following terms, translated into modern English

—

" Be it known to all men by this present letter, us George Gordon,

Earl of Huntly, Lord of Badenoch, For as much as we delivered

two hundred merks Scots silver to one noble Lord Hugh, Lord

Fraser of the Lovat, for marriage that should have been completed

between Thomas Fraser, apparent heir to the said Hugh, Lord

Fraser of Lovat, and Margaret Gordon, our daughter ; and now

for the great love we have to the said Lord Lovat and the great

favour we have to our brother, Alexander Gordon of Auchindown,

and the completing of marriage betwixt the said Thomas, Master

of Lovat, and Janet Gordon, daughter to the said Alexander Gordon,

our brother foresaid, we quitclaim and discharge the said Hugh,

Lord Fraser, his heirs and executors and assignees, of the said

two hundred merks, together with all right and title of right we,

the said George Gordon, had, has, or may have to the land of

Stratherrick, with their pertinents, by and within the Sheriffdom

of Inverness, and especially we, the said George Earl of Huntly,

discharge and renounce all right and title of right we had, or have,

or may get from Pitfures or his heirs of the said lands of Stratherrick

for now and ever, together with the two hundred merks, as said is,

and to these our acquittance of the two hundred merks and renuncia-

tion of the lands of Stratherrick, with the pertinents of the same,

we have affixed our proper seal at Newark-upon-Spey, together with

the subscription of our hands the nth day of January, one thousand

four hundred (and) ninetieth and three years, before these witnesses,"

(Follow the names and his lordship's signature.)

His lordship's uncle, Alexander Dunbar Earl of Moray,

who was then in high favour with James II., took him to

Court when he was quite a young man, and had him

educated there, where " by the advice of the King and

the Earl he married Margaret Lyon, daughter of Lord

Glamis," Master of the Horse to the King, and ancestor of the

Earl of Strathmore. " She was a lady of a great deal of viva-

city and sprightliness, and of a heroic spirit," and was Maid

of Honour to the Queen. By her Lord Hugh had issue

—

I. Thomas, his heir and successor.
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2. Hugh, who was a great favourite with Tames IV. He
was slain during- his father's lifetime fighting with that brave

but unfortunate King on the fatal field of Flodden, on the

9th of September, 15 13, unmarried.

3. Alexander, progenitor of the families of Farraline,

Leadclune, and others, known as " Sliochd Ian Mhic
Alastair" from this Alexander and his son John, and of

whom in their proper order.

4. John, born in 1480, and educated at Oxford. He
subsequently studied in Paris and went to Italy, where

he joined the Order of St. Francis, of which "he became

a conspicuous ornament." He wrote a history of Henry

VIII. of England, "which contains a minute particular of

the proceedings in the divorce against his Queen." He was

appointed rector of Dingwall, and Dean of the Chapel

Royal of Restalrig, "clericum rotulor." He was one of

the King's Council in 1493, and one of the ambassadors

sent to England by James IV. to arrange for his marriage

to an English Princess.

5. Margaret, who died young.

6. Agnes, who as his second wife married Sir Kenneth

Mackenzie a' Bhlair, VII. of Kintail, who had sent away

his first wife Margaret, daughter of John, Lord of the Isles.

The courtship which preceded this union was rather curious.

It is described as follows :— It appears that Kenneth had no

great affection for Lady Margaret, for a few days after he

sent her away he went to Lord Lovat, accompanied by two

hundred of his followers, and besieged his house. Lovat

was naturally surprised at his conduct and demanded an

explanation, when he was informed by Kenneth that he

came to demand his daughter Agnes in marriage now that

he had no wife, having, as he told him, disposed of Lady

Margaret in the manner already stated. He insisted upon

an immediate and favourable answer to his suit, on which

condition he promised to be on strict terms of friendship

with the family ; but if his demand was refused he would

swear mortal enmity against Lovat and his house ; and, as

evidence of his intention in this respect, he pointed out to
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his lordship that he already had a party of his vassals

outside gathering- together the men, women, and goods

that were nearest in the vicinity, all of whom he declared

should "be made one fyne to evidence his resolution."

Lovat, who had no particularly friendly feelings towards

Macdonald of the Isles, was not at all indisposed to procure

Mackenzie's friendship on the terms proposed, and con-

sidering the exigencies and danger of his retainers, and

knowing full well the bold and determined character of the

man he had to deal with, he consented to the proposed

alliance, provided the young lady herself was favourable.

She fortunately proved submissive. Lord Lovat delivered

her up to her suitor, who immediately returned home with

her, and ever after they lived together as husband and

wife. The offspring of their union was, however, illegi-

timate. The Earl of Cromarty says that shortly before his

death he made penance for his irregular marriage and

procured a recommendation from Thomas Hay (his lady's

uncle), Bishop of Ross to Pope Alexander the Sixth, from

whom he procured a legitimation of all the children of the

marriage, dated at St. Peter, in 1491. Anderson also

says that "application was made to the Pope to sanction

the second marriage, which he did, anno 1491." Sir James

Dixon Mackenzie, however, says that he made a close

search in the Vatican and the Roman Libraries but was

unable to find trace of any such document of legiti-

mation.*

7. Janet, who as his first wife married Allan Mackintosh,

who lived at Baliherranach, Stratherrick, son of Malcolm

Mackintosh, X. of Mackintosh, and progenitor of the Mac-

kintoshes of Kyllachy, with issue. Her husband died in

1476.

Lord Hugh had also two illegitimate sons,

HUGH Fraser, called "Thomas Roy Mac a Mhaighistir,"

which designation indicates that he was begotten while his

lordship was Master of Lovat. He is said to have left

* History of the Mackenzie's, second edition (1894), pp. 87, 88, 102, 103,

and 104.
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"a numerous progeny." The other illegitimate son was

HUGH Fraser, progenitor of the Frasers of Foyers,

and "eighteen others in Stratherrick," where his father

gave him "a good patrimony." From a long residence in

France Hugh was bi-named " Uisdean Frangach," and his

posterity are designated " Sliochd Uisdean Fhrangaich " by

the Highlanders to this day. The history and genealogy

of the Foyers family will be given at length in its proper

place.

His lordship died in 1500, aged 74, at the Castle of

Lovat, "after witnessing the government of two Regents

and four Kings." He was interred with great pomp in the

Priory of Beauly among his ancestors, and was succeeded

by his eldest son,

IX. THOMAS, FOURTH LORD FRASER,

Said to have been then forty years of age. During his

father's life a charter was granted by Patrick Ogilvy of

Kilbrevock, confirming the sale of the lands of Phopachy

to Thomas Fraser, son and apparent heir of Hew Lord

Fraser, his heirs and assignees, dated the 21st of October,

1498, and on the 15th of June in the following year Henry
Douglas de Bartland grants him, as apparent heir of the

same Hugh Lord Lovat, the lands of Mortloth and others

by a precept from Chancery, directed to John Cuthbert of

Castlehill, Sheriff Depute of Inverness " and Bailiff for that

effect," in virtue of this precept, on the 27th of the same

month, in the usual form. On the nth of October he has

a charter from James IV. of the lands and barony of

Kinnell in Forfarshire, " which had recognosced by reason

that the deceased Hugh, Lord Fraser of Lovat, his father,

had disponed more than one half thereof without the King's

consent, who was the superior. On the 15 th of June,

1499, he purchased the lands of Bunchrew, Phopachy, and

Englishton from Henry Douglas of Batisland. On the

30th of April, 1 501, he has a precept of sasine from James
IV. for infefting him as nearest and lawful heir to his father

in the castle and lands of Lovat with their pertinents,
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namely, a third of the barony of Aird and Abertarff, Strath-

errick, a third part of Glenelg, and several other estates.

An instrument of sasine followed on this precept, dated the

1 2th of May immediately following. He was served heir

to his father ten days afterwards, on the 22nd of the same

month.

There is another charter, dated the 17th of November,

1501, by the same King, "delecto consanguineo Thomas
Domino Fraser de Lovat," etc., to his beloved cousin,

Thomas Lord Fraser of Lovat, and Dame Janet Gordon,

his spouse, and the longest liver of them, in conjunct fee,

and to their lawful heirs, whom failing, to the nearest and

lawful heirs of the said Thomas of the lands of Dalcross.

He was present along with almost the whole nobility of

Scotland in 1503 at the marriage of James IV. to Margaret,

daughter of the English King. At this time the Highland

chiefs, who acted quite independently of the central author-

ity, held their own Courts and had their own officers to

give effect to their decisions, and the Lords of Lovat were

in the habit of perambulating their estate, holding meetings

at various points, wherever necessary for the punishment

of evil doers, over whom they exercised the power of pit

and gallows. His lordship was appointed, along with the

Earls of Huntly, Crawford, and the Knight-Marshall,

Governors of the North of Scotland from the Tay to

Shetland.

On the 20th of January, 1504, Thomas Lord Fraser of

Lovat grants to Sir Nicolas Barron the chaplainry of St.

John the Baptist, within the Parish Church of Inverness,

with the consent of the burgesses of the town, and on his

own resignation he has a charter dated the 6th of May,

1509, of the lands of Dalcross and Kirkton, in favour of

himself and his second wife, Janet Gray, and to the longest

liver of them, in conjunct fee, during all the days of their

lives.

Andrew, Bishop of Moray, gives letters of presentation

to Sir John Auchleck of the chaplainry of St. Catherine,

within the Parish Church of Inverness, to which the
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witnesses are, among others, Thomas Lord Fraser of Lovat

and Alexander Fraser. He was witness to an instrument

of resignation of the earldom of Sutherland, made by

Alexander Sutherland, the Bastard, in presence of the

Sheriff of Inverness, in favour of his brother John and of

his sister, dated the 25th of July, 1509.

There is a charter of apprising in his favour of the lands

of Balacaranock, and another dated the 15th of October,

1509, by Henry Douglas of Kilbirny (Culburnie), to "ane

noble Lord, Thomas Fraser of Lovat, his heirs and

assignees, of the lands of Kilbirny, Castle of Bewley, and

others in the lordship of Beaufort," confirmed on the 12th

of January following. On the 14th of June, 15 1 1, he has a

charter of the two Moys, Ardranach, Inglishton, and others

lying in the lordship of Beaufort, from John Ogilvy, of

Laverocklaw, in his own favour, his heirs and assignees,

confirmed on the 31st of July.

When James IV. resolved to invade England in 15 13

and by open proclamation summoned all those able to bear

arms between 16 and 60 years of age to meet him at the

Burrough Muir, near Edinburgh, Lord Lovat raised his

clan and followers, and sent his brother at their head.

They joined the Royal standard at the appointed rendez-

vous, and marched with the King into England, when they

were nearly all slain on the fatal field of Flodden.

The few of the Scottish nobility who escaped from this

disastrous battle soon after met at Stirling, and crowned

the late King's infant son, only a year and five months old,

as James V. On that occasion the Earl of Sutherland,

Lord Lovat, and Lord Gordon, who were not at Flodden,

proceeded south and attended the coronation. The nobility

were unanimous, Lord Thomas Fraser among the rest, in

choosing the Queen-mother as Tutrix to the child King,

and as Regent of the Kingdom so long as she remained

unmarried. She, however, in less than a year, married the

Earl of Angus, when it was resolved to appoint another

Regent. Lord Lovat supported the claims of the Duke
of Albany.
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On the ist of June, 1 5 14, he has a charter on his own
resignation of the lands of Mavis and Mavisbank, a part of

the barony of Kinnell, in his own favour and in that of his

wife, Janet Gray, and to the heirs-male to be procreated

between them, whom failing to the nearest lawful heirs-male

of Thomas Lord Fraser.

He is said to have mainly resided at Kinmylies, near

Inverness, and to have been in the habit of holding court

and dispensing justice on the top of Tomnahurich, now a

well-known and unique cemetery in the neighbourhood of

that town, and the author of the Advocates' Library MS.
informs us that Lord Lovat's acts of administration at one

of these courts in 15 14, regulating the price of corn, cattle,

servants' fees, timber, clothes, and shoes, were in his day in

the possession of Mr Finlay Fraser, Provost of Inverness.

On the 15th of May, 15 18, James, Bishop of Moray, on

the presentation of the noble and potent Thomas, Lord

Fraser of Lovat, issued letters of induction in favour of Sir

John Scott to the chaplainry of St. John the Baptist,

within the Parish Church of Inverness.

In his lordship's time a fire broke out at his residence,

when his nephew, Roderick Mackenzie, first of the family

of Fairburn, and fourth son of Kenneth Mackenzie, VII.

of Kintail, by Agnes Fraser, then a big, ungainly, bare-

headed boy, on a visit to his uncle's house at Lovat, rushed

through the flames and carried out the family charter chest

and other valuables. For this great service Roderick con-

sidered himself amply rewarded by the gift from his lordship

of a bonnet and a pair of shoes !

Lord Thomas enlarged the famous Lovat orchard, and

further beautified the place by planting, building, and addi-

tional fortifications, and he dug a large draw well in the

middle of the courtyard.

In terms of a contract of marriage entered into between

Hugh Lord Lovat, father of Lord Thomas, and George

Earl of Huntly, he was engaged, as previously stated, to

marry Lady Margaret, the Earl's daughter, but that lady

having died before the marriage was solemnised, Thomas,
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in 1493, married Janet, daughter of Sir Alexander Gordon

of Auchindown and Midmar, in Aberdeenshire, niece of

the Earl, with issue

—

1. Hugh, his heir and successor.

2. William of " Tigh-a-Charsa," now modernised into

Teachors, progenitor of the families of Culbokie, Belladrum,

Little Struy, and several others, of whom in their order.

3. James of Foyness, who has charters as "brother

german " of Hugh Lord Lovat of the King's lands of

Drumdervale (Drumderfit) in the lordship of Ardmanacb,

county of Ross, dated the 7th of June, 1539, and another

to himself and his heirs male, of Kinkell-Clarsach, Culbokie,

Pitlundie, Dochcairn, and Davochpollo, dated the 25th of

October, 1542. He married and left an only daughter,

Agnes, who married John Glassich Mackenzie, II. of Gair-

loch, with issue—from whom the present lairds of Gairloch

and all the branches of that influential and prolific family.

She married as her second husband, Alexander Chisholm,

XIV. of Chisholm (not Thomas as stated in the History of
the Mackensies), with issue. But as the destination of her

father's lands in the county of Ross was to heirs-male,

she did not inherit them on his death ; for his nephew,

Hugh Fraser, II. of Guisachan, the son of his brother

William, is found served heir in special to his uncle, James
Fraser, of Foyness, in his Ross-shire lands, at Inverness, on

the 1st of July, 1556, and they subsequently became the

property of the Mackenzies. The Frasers of Foyness have

all died out in the male line. Alexander Chisholm of

Comar is a juryman in 1562 in the service of Hector

Mackenzie, III. of Gairloch, to his father, John Glassich

Mackenzie, II. of Gairloch, and in course of the procedure

it is mentioned that Alexander appeared on behalf of his

zvife, Agnes Fraser. Agnes died before the 1st of Feb-

ruary, 1575-76; for upon that date John Roy Mackenzie,

IV. of Gairloch, is served heir to his mother, Agnes Fraser.

Alexander Chisholm married as his second wife Janet,

widow of ^Eneas Macdonell, VIII. of Glengarry, and eldest

daughter of Kenneth Mackenzie, X. of Kintail, by his
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wife, Lady Elizabeth Stewart, daughter of John, second

Earl of Atholl.

The first Lady Lovat died in 1502, having only been

married for nine years.

4. Margaret, who married Hugh Mackay, "Aodh Ruadh

Mac Aoidh," ancestor of the Lords Reay.

His lordship married secondly Lady Janet, daughter of

Andrew, third Lord Gray, Lord Justice-General in the

reign of James IV., and widow of Alexander Blair of

Batthyock, with issue

—

5. Robert, who married Janet Gelly, heiress of Brakie,

county of Fife, with issue—from whom the Frasers of

Brakie. He was killed by the monks at the Water of Beauly.

6. Andrew, so-called after his grandfather, Lord Gray,

who "had the lands of Kirkhill as his patrimony," and was

known amongst his Gaelic-speaking countrymen as " Anndra

Ruadh a' Chnuic "—Red-haired Andrew of the Hill. He
was killed at Kinlochlochy, but left numerous descendants.

7. John, who married a daughter of Grant of Grant.

8. Thomas, who married Ann, daughter of Alexander

Macleod, VIII. of Harris and Dunvegan, with issue—a son

John, whose descendants are known as " Sliochd Ian Mhic

Thomais," or the descendants of John son of Thomas.

9. Janet, who married John Crichton of Strathaird and

Ruthven. In a charter to her, for her life, from John

Crichton of Ruthven, of Brightouns of Ruthven, and Roth-

vendenny, dated at Forfar on the 2nd of October, 1527,

she is described as Janet Fraser, daughter of the deceased

Thomas, Lord Fraser of Lovat. He was heir-male and

representative of Sir George Crichton of Blackness, who
was High-Admiral of Scotland in the reign of James II.

and was raised by that king to the dignity of Earl of

Caithness, a title which, however, did not descend to his

son, Crichton of Strathaird.

10. Isabella, who as his second wife married Allan Mac-

donald, known as "Alan MacRuari," fourth of Clanranald,

with issue—Ranald Gallda, who fell at Blar-nan-leine on the

15th of July, 1544, fought between the Frasers and the
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Macdonalds of Clanranald. She is said to have married

secondly, as his second wife, John Mor Grant, first of

Glenmoriston. After the death of Ranald GalJda she left

Moidart for her father's residence in the Aird. On her way

she encamped with her retinue at Torgyle in the Braes of

Glenmoriston, and sent a message to John Mor, then resid-

ing
-

at Tomintoul, craving- his protection. He at once

responded to the lady's request, and in the most gallant

fashion invited herself and her party to his residence, where,

after a week's festivities they were united in wedlock. The
regularity of the marriage was afterwards disputed, and

Grant of Ballindalloch succeeded in getting possession of

the estates in an action at law on this ground and obtained

a Crown charter of them in 1549, but in 1566, through the

influence of his uncle, Lord Lovat, and Campbell of

Cawdor, Patrick Grant, II. of Glenmoriston, had the lands

restored to him and received a Crown charter of them in

his own favour. *

His lordship had also an illegitimate son, begotten

between the dates of the death of his first wife and his

second marriage,

HUTCHEON BAN Fraser of Reelick, ancestor of the

Frasers of Reelick and Moniack, of whom under that head.

His second wife, Lady Janet Gray, after Lord Lovat's

death, married David Lindsay of Edzell, afterwards Earl

of Crawfurd, from 1541 until his death in 1558. There
are several charters on record in favour of David Earl of

Crawfurd and Dame Janet Gray, Lady Lovat, his spouse.

He died at Beaufort Castle on the 21st of October, 1524,

in the 64th year of his age, and was interred in the Priory

of Beauly, when he was succeeded by his eldest son,

X. HUGH, FIFTH LORD FRASER.

According to a retour dated at Inverness the 10th of

January, 1524-25, he was served nearest and lawful heir

to his father in the castle and lands of Lovat, with their

pertinents, which included the whole barony of Abertarff

* Grants of Glenmoriston.
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with its pertinents, namely, Stratherrick ; the third part of

Glenelg, Easter, Wester, and Mid Leys, Muckovie, Bal-

vraid, Achanach, the two Dultullichs, Dalcross, with its

pertinents, and Guisachan, Comernakill, Mauld, Meinzie,

Wester Eskadale, the two Buntaits, Culburnie, "cum monte

castre ejusdem nuncupat Beaufort," and many other lands

set forth in the retour, comprising the whole of the family

estates. On the 15th of March immediately succeeding a

precept of sasine and public instrument followed upon this

retour. On the 3rd of May, 1527, James V. confirmed to

Hugh Lord Fraser of Lovat a charter granted to his

lordship, his heirs and assignees, by Colin Earl of Argyll,

of the lands and barony of Kirkton and Inchberry. On
the 2nd of March, 1528, there is a charter in Hugh's favour

on the resignation of George Haliburton of Gask, of three-

fourths of the lands of Englishton and Kingsly (Kingillie)

"cum lie yairs et piscationibus," at the same time erecting

the lands named into a barony.

On the accession of Queen Mary, in 153 1, he was

appointed to the important office of Justiciar of the North.

On the 26th of April, 1532, he obtained a charter of con-

firmation of the feu of the lands of Kirkton of Kilmorack,

and the fishing of the water thereof called the Ess, which

had formerly been given to a potent and noble Lord,

Thomas Lord Fraser of Lovat. On the 7th of March,

1532-33, he has a charter of apprising of the lands of

Glenelg, and on the 31st of the same month he obtained

a decree of apprising for £800 Scots recovered by him,

and in defect of moveable goods, of the barony of Glenelg

against Alexander Macleod, VIII. of Dunvegan and Harris.

In 1535 the remaining two-thirds of the lands of Glenelg

were apprised in favour of Hugh, Lord Fraser of Lovat,

for the sum of 2400 merks Scots as part payment of ^4085

10s 8d contained in letters of the King, under reversion

to Alexander Macleod, on payment of these sums and

expenses within seven years. In 1536 James V. granted

to the same Hugh, Lord Lovat, the dues of the lands of

Glenelg, which were in the King's hands because of the
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non-entry of the heir of the deceased William Macleod.

On the 19th of July in the same year Lord Hugh has a

charter of the lands of the two Moys, and another, on his

own resignation, in favour of himself and his wife, Lady

Janet Ross, and the longest liver of them, in conjunct fee,

of the lands of Culburnie "cum monte vocat Beaufort."

On the 27th of August in the same year Archibald, Earl

of Argyll, grants him and the said Lady Janet Ross, his

spouse, a charter of the lands of Kirkton of Pharnua. On
the 20th of December following, he has one from John

Forbes of Pitsligo of the lands and village of Aigas, Easter

and Wester ; and another on his own resignation on the

14th of September, 1537, by James V. of the barony of

Kinnell. On the 13th of February, 1539-40, Lord Hugh
was infeft on the apprising of Glenelg, above mentioned,

in virtue of a charter under the Great Seal. Apparently

on the same day his lordship resigns these lands, and they

are thereupon reconveyed to Macleod of Dunvegan by a

charter from James V., dated the 13th of February,

1539-40, as above. This grant was, however, soon after,

for some reason or other, revoked.*

In the same year, Hugh, Lord Fraser of Lovat resigned

his castle and lands, and the baronies of Lovat, Strath-

errick, Aird, Abertarff, Erchless, otherwise Strathglass, and

Dalcross, the lands of Ardranach, Culburnie, the fourth of

Belladrum, and several others into the hands of James V.

at Linlithgow, whereupon the King, granted him a new
charter dated at the same place on the 26th of March,

1539-40, uniting and erecting all the lands and baronies

resigned by him into one free and entire barony to be

called in all time coming the barony of Lovat, in favour

of himself and the heirs-male of his body lawfully procreated

or to be procreated ; whom failing to his lawful and nearest

heirs-male whomsoever, carrying and wearing the arms,

crest, and sirname of Fraser, in fee, heritage, and free

barony for ever.

The author of the Advocates' Library MS. points out

* History ofthe Macleods, pp. 17, 23, and 24,
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that "though before this time parcels of the estate of the

family had at different times been taken to heirs whatsoever,

to serve the uses of the family in the settlement of younger

sons or second marriages, or the like, yet, now that the

lordship and barony of Lovat, which is one and the same

thing, being limited by charter to heirs-male, does at the

same time limit and settle the descent of the honours by

the Sovereign in the same channel of heirs which the

charter or patent points to." The same writer says that

Lord Lovat " was in a good degree of favour with King

James V.; for in the year 1540 he procures an Act of

Parliament dissolving from the Crown the lands of Beau-

fort, and changing the holding to a feu, and thereupon a

charter is expede under the Great Seal to Hugh, Lord

Fraser of Lovat and his heirs-male, which failing, to his

heirs female without a division," dated the 28th of July,

1542. His lordship was present in the Parliament of 1540.*

On the 13th of May, 1544, the Bishop of Moray grants

to Hugh Lord Fraser of Lovat, and failing him to Hugh
Fraser, son and apparent heir of the said lord, and his

heirs-male, a charter of the lands of Easter and Wester

Kinmylies, " Balnafare " (Ballifeary), Easter and Wester

Abriachan, " Kilquyman," the miln of Bught, and the

fishings of the River Ness known as the Freschot.

He fortified the Castle of Lovat with a strong double

oaken gate crossed with iron bars, and surrounded the

platform in front of the house with a ditch and rampart

of earth. He repaired the chapel, which had been nearly

destroyed by fire in his father's time, established Cross Fair

at Beauly, on the 3rd of May, and procured an Act of

Parliament for a weekly fair every Wednesday. Fairs were

then held at Glen Convinth, the fair of St. Mauritius in

Dounie, of All Saints in Kilmorack, and Michaelmaas at

Beauly. " Lord Lovat's retinue, on the occasions when

he rode to proclaim the fairs, were very numerous. On
one occasion he is said to have had in his train three Lords

and six Baronets, with all their followers, in full armour.

* Register and Rolls of Parliament for that year.
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Such parade was not without its use. The ferocity of the

clansmen required a curb, and order was rarely settled

without bloodshed."

Isabella Fraser, daughter of Thomas, fourth lord and

sister of Hugh fifth Lord Fraser of Lovat, married as his

second wife, as already stated, Allan MacRuari Macdonald,

IV. of Clanranald, by whom she had a son Ranald, known

from his having been brought up at Lovat by his Fraser

relatives, as Ranald Gallda. This Ranald, after the dis-

inheritance of Dugald MacRanald, VI. of Clanranald and

his sons, was undoubtedly the lawful heir-male of Clan-

ranald, but John Moydartach usurped his place as chief

of the clan and owner of the family estates, while Ranald

was absent with his Lovat relatives. Describing the event,

and referring to John Moydartach, Gregory says that " his

mental endowments, with his great physical prowess, made

him so popular that the circumstance of his illegitimacy was

ignored, and on the death of his father he was unanimously

elected by the clan to be their captain and chief—to the

exclusion of cousins and his uncle Ranald Gallda, any of

whom had legally a preferential claim. On the death of

Allaster (second son of Allan MacRuari), which took place

in 1530, his bastard son, John Moydartach, a man of un-

common talent and ability, was acknowledged by the whole

clan as their chief; and he even succeeded in procuring

charters to the estates. These he possessed without inter-

ruption, till, with other chiefs, he was apprehended by

James V. in the course of that King's voyage through the

Isles in 1540, and placed in prison. Lord Lovat and the

Frasers then bestirred themselves for the interest of their

kinsman, Ranald Gallda, and made such representations on

the subject, that the charters formerly granted to John

Moydartach were revoked, and the lands granted to Ranald

Gallda, as the heir of his father, Allan MacRuari. The
existence of prior legal heirs (the sons of Dougal) seems to

have been carefully concealed ; and, by the assistance of the

Frasers, Ranald was actually placed in possession of the

estate, which he held only so long as John Moydartach
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remained in prison ; but immediately on the return of that

chief to the Highlands he was joined by the whole of the

Clanranald, including the sons of Dougal, and again

acknowledged as their chief. Ranald, who had lost favour

with the clan by exhibiting a parsimonious disposition, was

expelled from Moidart, and forced to take refuge with Lord

Lovat, who once more prepared to assert the rights of his

kinsman. The Clanranald, however, did not wait to be

attacked, but, assisted by Ranald Macdonald Glas of

Keppoch and his tribe, and by the Clanchameron, under

their veteran leader, Ewin Allanson of Lochiel, they carried

the war into the enemy's country. They soon overran the

lands of Stratherrick and Abertarff, belonging to Lord

Lovat, the lands of Urquhart and Glenmoriston, belonging

to the Grants, and possessed themselves of the Castle of

Urquhart. They plundered indiscriminately the whole

district, and aimed at a permanent occupation of the

invaded territories. The Earl of Huntly was ultimately

sent against them with a large force, among whom we find

Lovat, the Laird of Grant, and Ranald Gallda at the head

of their respective clans. On the approach of this strong

force, the Highlanders of Clanranald retreated to their

mountain fastnesses, leaving Huntly and his followers to

penetrate through the country without any opposition.

Ranald Gallda was again, without opposition, put in pos-

session of Moydart, while the lands were at the same time

restored to those who were driven from them by Clanranald

and their allies. Huntly now returned with his followers,

accompanied, out of compliment, by Ranald Gallda. The

Clanranald kept a close watch upon their movements,

followed them at a distance, overtook them at Kinloch-

lochy, where the Battle of Blar-na-leine, to be presently

described, was fought on the 15th of July, 1544.

When Huntly arrived at the mouth of Glenspean in

Lochaber his forces separated. The Earl himself, Grant,

and the bulk of the army, proceeded on their way to Strath-

spey by the Braes of Lochaber and Badenoch, while Lord

Lovat, in spite of the repeated remonstrances of some of
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his friends on the rashness of his conduct, marched with

his own vassals, numbering- about four hundred men,

through the Great Glen as the more direct route, and also

because for a considerable distance he would be passing

through his own lands of Abertarff and Stratherrick. He
was joined by Ranald Gallda, who parted with Huntly at

Glenspean. The fears of those who had remonstrated with

Lord Lovat were soon realised. The Macdonalds, "who

had drawn together again upon receiving intelligence of

Huntly's intention to return home had kept a close watch

upon the movements of the Royal army, no sooner perceived

the separation of Lovat from the main body, than they

determined to intercept and cut him off. Accordingly,

Lovat, who marched by the south side of Loch Lochy,

was hardly out of reach of assistance from Huntly, when

he perceived a superior force of Highlanders marching

up the north side, in seven companies, with displayed

banners, and so far advanced as to leave no doubt of their

being able to intercept him at the head of the lake. On
this, Lovat, who perceived the danger of his position,

detached a portion of his force under a favourite vassal

named Bean Cleireach to occupy a pass in the hills at a

little distance, by which, in the event of the day turning

against him, he hoped to secure a retreat. With the rest

of his followers, who now numbered about three hundred,

a great portion of whom were gentlemen and well armed,

he moved forward to meet the enemy. The Clanranald

and their supporters were superior in number, amounting

probably to five hundred ; but of these many were of the

inferior sort, and ill supplied with arms. Just after the

commencement of the action, the Frasers were joined, to

the great grief of their leader, by the Master of Lovat, a

youth of much promise, lately returned from France, where

he had been for his education. He had been expressly

charged by his father not to join this expedition, and he

accordingly remained at home for some time after its

departure ; but, roused by the taunts of his stepmother,

who wished to get rid of him, the gallant youth chose

6
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twelve trusty followers, and set out in search of his father

and clan, whom he met at the head of Loch Lochy in time

to join in the fray. The contest began with the discharge

of arrows at a distance ; but when their shafts were spent,

both parties rushed to close combat, and, attacking each

other furiously with their two-handed swords and axes, a

dreadful slaughter ensued. Such was the heat of the

weather, it being the month of July, that the combatants

threw off their plaids, coats, and vests, and fought in their

shirts ; whence the battle received the name of ' Blar-na-

leine,' or The Field of Shirts. At length the Frasers,

after fighting with the greatest bravery, were obliged to

retire ; but, unfortunately, Bean Cleireach and his detach-

ment, having missed their way, were unable to render any

assistance to their clansmen, and the pass which they

should have occupied being seized by the Clanranald, the

Frasers thus hemmed in, were, after a desperate and un-

availing struggle, almost entirely cut to pieces."* So far

Gregory's version, somewhat abridged. That historian is

more generous to the character of Bean Cleireach than he

probably deserves. Mr Fraser-Mackintosh, however, is of

opinion that Bean acted a treacherous part throughout,

describes him as "a wretch," and says that he "had been

rewarded for his treachery by the Bailieship of Stratherrick
"

by the young lord, who immediately and directly benefitted

by the death of his father and eldest brother at Kinloch-

lochy.

The author of the manuscript in the Advocates' Library

gives a long account of the fight and the events which led

up to it, including the address supposed to have been

delivered by Lord Lovat to his followers just before the

battle, of so interesting a nature, though somewhat inac-

curate in certain unimportant details, that we make the

following extracts at the risk of some little repetition. The
writer says

—
" There was indeed a rancour of some standing

betwixt Lord Lovat and the Captain of Clanranald that

looked likely some time or other to break into a flame that

* Highlands and Isles, pp. 158-163.
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might occasion much bloodshed. The occasion and cause,

as it is still reported and handed down in the family by

uninterrupted tradition and likewise by those who have

committed it to writing
-

, was this
—"Lord Lovat had a sister

who was married to Clanranald, by whom he had only one

son, called by the Highlanders, Ranald Oig, young Ranald,

and because he was educated in Lovat they called him

Ranald Gallda, i.e. Lowland Ranald ; for while he was but

an infant, he, according to a custom that then and still

somewhat prevails in the Highlands, was taken by Lord

Lovat, his uncle, and educated with the Frasers, his

mother's relations. This design (to disinherit Ranald) could

not but be considered by Lord Lovat and his friends as a

very high indignity and affront on every gentleman of the

family, and the late depredations they had committed in

some parts of Lord Lovat's estate inflamed the resentment

to a degree that was not easy to be quenched. The

Regent, being resolved at anyrate to suppress those insol-

encies and depredations, gives a commission to the Earl

of Argyll to pursue them from the south, and at the same

time wrote to Lord Lovat that, in virtue of his commission

as the King's Lieutenant in these parts, he should convo-

cate the whole country and march at their head against

these lawless ravagers, till he met Argyll. George, Earl

of Huntly, was highly incensed at the honour King James

V. conferred on Lovat in making him his Lieutenant in

those parts, and was no less vexed that he exerted himself

with such activity that he kept all within his jurisdiction

so long in perfect tranquility, which Huntly looked on

as an eclipsing of him and rendering him insignificant.

And now, when the Regent and Council sent him their

orders to raise the neighbouring clans and march at their

head himself to join the Earl of Argyll, the Earl of Huntly

looked upon himself not only as eclipsed but highly

affronted, and therefore employed his emissaries among
the Macdonalds, and especially the Clanranalds, to seek

to cut off Lord Lovat." He then narrates the course of

events as already described and adds
—

" When Lord Lovat
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was on his way home at Letterfinlay, he was informed that

the Macdonalds were gathering- together to obstruct his

passage, upon which his brother-in-law, the Laird of Grant,

Mackintosh, and others advised him to alter his route and

march another way to disappoint these miscreants who
would lie in ambush for him, or if he intended to march

straight forward, they would convoy him to his own country.

It is probable this kind offer would have been accepted of,

but James Fraser of Foyness (his lordship's brother), a

headstrong, obstinate man, dissuaded his chief from it,

protesting it would be reckoned cowardice in Lord Lovat

and an indignity done to offer him a convoy ; that they

were able enough themselves for any that could pretend

to obstruct their passage. Upon this, all these chieftains

and their men took leave of him, and parted with him "

—

except his own kinsmen and vassals.

When Lord Lovat and the three hundred men who were

along with him, arrived at Laggan-acha-droma, near the

head of Loch Lochy, they observed the Macdonalds coming

down on the north side of the lake with seven banners

displayed at the head of as many battalions, consisting

altogether of between five and six hundred men, in order

to secure the pass at the end of the Loch. His lordship

at once called a Council of War, and having, after consulta-

tion, resolved to fight, he addressed his brave band as

follows :

—

" Gentlemen, you are my guard-de-corps, whom I have chosen

out of many to accompany me in this honourable expedition for the

services of my Sovereign. You are most of you my flesh and blood,

the offspring of those heroes who signalised themselves so often in

the defence of their country. Remember the honour of your noble

ancestors, of whom you are descended, some of whom will be for ever

on record as illustrious examples of Scotland's pristine bravery. The
several branches of our ancient family have upon all occasions dis-

tinguished themselves, and to this day never brought the least stain

upon the name they bear. The time is short to speak of each of them

in particular ; methinks I see them all alive in you, and that they

have transmitted their courage and bravery as well as their blood

and name to you. You are indeed but a handful to encounter yonder

formidable crew, but consider the difference in other respects. They
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are rebels, you are loyal subjects ; they outlaws, you are free subjects.

I go on before you. I will hazard my life with you and for you. I by

far prefer a noble death to an inglorious retreat, or anything that

sullies the glory of my house ; and are not you as much concerned

in its glory as I am? We have from others the character of men
of fortitude and resolution ; we carry our lives on the points of our

swords. Let us act as men. Fall on and refer the event to

Almighty God ; for the battle is the Lord's, who can save with few as

with many."

The manuscript account then proceeds— " He had scarcely

ended when the enemy came up close to them at the

end of Loch Lochy. Hereupon ensued a most fierce

and bloody conflict, fought more like tigers than men.

The Frasers threw aside not only their plaids, as has been

the common practice with the Highlanders, but threw off

their very short coats and vests, and engaged in their

shirts, with their two-handed swords and Dane-axes. This

conflict is still called by the country people Blar-an-lein,

i.e., the Battle of the Shirts. The fronts of both armies

engaged so closely without either side yielding or giving

way, that they were felled down on each side like trees in

a wood till room was made by these breaches on each side,

and at last all came to fight hand to fist. There were none

there but met with his match to encounter him ; many were

seen to fall, but none to fly ; they all fought for victory,

which still remained uncertain. There is one remarkable

passage which I cannot omit. I told you above that Lord

Lovat had with difficulty prevailed on his son, the Master,

to stay at home to take care of the country. He had been

one day hunting for his diversion in the forest of Corri-

charbie, and having taken home great plenty of venison,

his step-mother, Lady Lovat, told him with a sneer, that

it was fine amusement for young men to be chasing birds

and beasts, and then to sleep soundly in their beds, when
old men were fighting in the fields. This sarcasm touched

so sensibly this noble youth that instantly he takes a dozen

resolute fellows with him, and sets out resolving to find

his father and friends, and accordingly he joined them at

Loch Lochy, a little after the conflict began, and fell in
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where the battle was hottest. The first sight of him quite

dispirited and confounded his father. All was now at stake,

they fought in blood and gore, and when many of them

wearied with their two-handed swords and the heat, they

went into the loch in couples and struck each other with

their dirks. The Master acted like a hero, and each of the

men he brought with him was worth many. Lord Lovat

fought so gallantly, hewing down all that came in his way,

that his enemies called him a ' Chruaidh Choscar,' i.e., the

hardy slaughterer, and when they observed him to fall in

the field, it inspired the few that remained of the Clan-

ranald with fresh vigour, crying out with great joy 'thuit a

chruaidh choscar, thuit,' the hardy cutter is fallen, is fallen,

and as they cried they were knocked down, yea, even those

who lay as dead in the field when an enemy came by

would lay hold of a sword and endeavour to cut off a leg

or an arm. This they continued from noon till the darkness

surprised them, when very few from either side were left

alive, and the victory to this day uncertain. The Mac
Ranalds, as they were more numerous, so more of them fell

in proportion. It is certain that only four of the Frasers

came alive off the field, and not double that number of the

Mac Ranalds and their adherents. But the loss on the side

of the Frasers was incomparably more regretted ; for Lord

Lovat himself, and his eldest son, the Master of Lovat, and

300 gentlemen of his name were slain. So that there was

not one of the name of Fraser of the quality of a gentleman

that was come to the state of manhood left alive. I have

seen an account of the unhappy conflict by one who was

on the field in a few days after it happened and was affected

by the elegant, lively, and pathetic manner in which he

lamented Lord Lovat and his son's fall in the words of

David for Saul and Jonathan (2 Sam., i. 17 to 26). History

(so far as I heard) does not parallel this unhappy conflict,

which was remarkable in many respects. About 1000 men
were engaged, of which 12 did not come alive from the

field of battle. The Master of Lovat was the last who came

to the field of battle and was the first who was slain, which
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put his father into such a fury, that his death was revenged

by the destruction of many. There were 80 gentlemen of

estates who were killed on the spot, who all left their wives

pregnant, and every one of them brought forth a male

child, and each of these children arrived at the age of man,

so that the over-ruling providence of the wise Disposer of

all events did very signally at this time interpose in pre-

serving this family. The Macdonalds chose the flower of

their numerous clan, and yet were defeated in respect of

credit and conduct and the number killed. They acknow-

ledge in their poems made on this occasion that they

fought with gentlemen, whom they surprised unawares,

having no design to fight. ' Cha be clann ime a bh'ann

ach clann sgoltag cheann.' That is, they did not meet

with cowards but cleavers of heads. Fraser of Foyers

was the only gentleman who came alive out of the field of

battle. He was miserably mangled and wounded. But

being in life was carried by his foster-brother on his back

all the way home, for which he got free the crofts that he

then laboured, and his posterity enjoy it still (1749). When
the news of this unhappy conflict came to Lord Lovat's

country, all who stayed at home, men and women, went to

the field of battle, from whence they carried the bodies of

all their principal gentlemen. Andrew Roy of Kirkhill,

who was uncle (? brother) of Lord Lovat, was so like him

that in a mistake they carried his body instead of my lord's

till they came to Cilichuiman, where Lord Lovat's nurse

met them and found it was Andrew Roy, upon which they

buried him there, as they did most of the gentlemen they

brought out of the field of battle, and returned bringing

Lord Lovat's body with them, who with his son and Ronald

Gald were interred at Beauly. The inscription on his tomb

was legible till the year 1746, Hie jacet Hugo Dominus
Fraser de Lovat qui fortissime pugnans contra Reginalinos

occubuit July 17, 1544. Here lies Hugh, Lord Fraser of

Lovat, who fell fighting gallantly against the Clanranalds,

17 July, 1544." But the date of the battle was the 15th

not the 17th of July as stated in the foregoing inscription.
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Bishop Leslie, who was acquainted with the young-

Master of Lovat killed on this oceasion, says that he had

his education in the University of Paris under the best

masters, and that he would have proved an honour to his

country, as well as to his illustrious family, had he not

been cut off in the very blossom of his youth. The poet

Johnston compares the Frasers to the Fabii in a Latin

composition of which the following- is a translation :

—

A generous fire the noble Fabii warms,

The Fabii famed for virtue as for arms.

Great your renown, who, for your country's sake,

Your lives a solemn sacrifice did make.

Would we had fallen in our country's cause,

In support of its liberties and laws

From foreign foes : then history would tell

How brave we lived and how deplored we fell.

We fell three hundred Frasers in a day

Not unto men but ravenous wolves a prey.

Our fatal fall would meet with less regret

Were not our race extinct by our hard fate
;

From weeping matrons a new race shall spring,

That to our name will a new lustre bring.

The family history of Clanranald has the following re-

ference to Ranald Gallda's parsimoniousness, its discovery

by his clansmen, and its fatal and far-reaching effects

—" This interference of Lovat (already described at

length) could ill be brooked by the Macdonalds, and the

unlimited control which they observed the former to have

over his young friend, convinced the clan that what they

had heard of his effeminacy was but too true, for it was

circulated in the country that he was a boy, unfit for com-

mand or rule. A circumstance trifling in itself, tended to

strengthen this conviction. A day or two after Ranald's

arrival at Castletirrim, preparations were made for a feast

to be given to the clan on his succession. Many sheep

and cattle were slaughtered, and Ranald, observing a great

number of fires in the court of the castle, and the busy

faces of the cooks employed in dressing immense quantities

of victual, inquired the cause of such a scene, when he was
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informed that the ' feast of welcome ' was to be given on

that day in honour of his succession ; and, unused to the

sight of such feasts, and having no idea of such prepara-

tions, he unfortunately observed that 'a few hens might

do as well.' Such an observation was not lost upon the

clan ; they despised the man who could for a moment think

of departing from the ancient practice, and they were

confirmed in their belief of his weakness and want of spirit.

They rose in arms and expelled both him and Lovat from

the castle, and the feast which was prepared for them served

to commemorate the election of John, who was formally

declared chief of the clan." This is said to have occurred

on Ranald's first appearance at Castletirrim, who at the

desperate battle of Blar-nan-leine amply proved by his

heroism that whether the charge of parsimoniousness was

well founded or not, effeminacy had no seat in his soul

;

for it is admitted by friends and foes alike that no one exhi-

bited greater bravery and determination on that sanguinary

field than he.

There are several interesting facts and incidents given in

an article contributed to the Celtic Magazine, No. LXIII,

vol. VI., pp. 89-94, by the late Rev. Allan Sinclair, Ken-
more, who was intimately acquainted with the district, from

which we take the following :—John Moydartach, guessing

the route Lovat was likely to take on his way home,

marched down behind the range of mountains to the north

of Loch Lochy, and encamped on the night previous to

the battle in a glen among the hills immediately behind

the farm of Kilfinnan, near a small loch, called Lochan-

nam-bata, the Loch of the Staves. In the muddy margin

of this little loch, the Moydart men left their staves on the

morning of the battle, that by the number of unclaimed

ones they might ascertain their losses in the impending

struggle. Such is said to be the origin of the name. On
the morning of the day of battle, they encamped out of

sight at Lochan-nam-bata, till of a sudden they descended

like birds of prey from their eyry, on the morning of the

15th. This is probable, as it was John Moydartach's best
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policy to conceal his forces till Lovat was in a position in

which he could not decline battle against superior numbers.

John Moydartach's tactics proved successful. Just as Lovat

with his followers arrived at the east end of Loch Lochy,

he descended with his grim warriors from the hills right

opposite ; a movement, judging from the distance, which

could be performed in a very short time. Lovat was now
fully alive to the error he had committed, in not accepting

Huntly's proffered escort, but it was too late. He had

no alternative but to accept the chances of battle. Accord-

ingly he made the best disposition of his forces, by placing

the gentlemen of his little army, who were well armed, in

front, and the others in the rear. The day was unusually

hot. To ease themselves as much as possible, they pre-

pared for the conflict by stripping themselves of their upper

raiment—all but their shirts and kilts. Hence the name
Blarleine, or Blar-nan-leine, by which this battle is known

among the Highlanders. The fight began with a discharge

of arrows—the usual mode of Highland warfare in those

times—and when their arrows were expended, the struggle

was carried on hand to hand with the broadsword. From
the allusion to gunpowder, in the following lines, adapted

to a pibroch composed in commemoration of this action,

it is inferred that fire-arms must have been used—at least

to some extent :

—

Fhriseilich a chail chaoil,

Fhriseilich a chail chaoil,

Fhriseilich a chail chaoil,

Thugaibh am bruthach oirbh.

Chloinn Domhnuil an fhraoich,

Chloinn Domhnuil an fhraoich,

Chloinn Domhnuil an fhraoich,

Cuiribh na 'n siubhal iad.

Luaidhe chruinn ghorm,

Luaidhe chruinn ghorm,

Luaidhe chruinn ghorm,

'S fudar 'cur siubhal ri.

The battle was fought from mid-day till late in the after-

noon, and consisted latterly of isolated single combats.



X. HUGH, FIFTH LORD FRASER. 9

1

Both sides fought with determined courage, neither side

yielding until of the Frasers only four remained un-

wounded, and of the Clanranald eight. The others were

either dead or disabled.

Ranald Gallda was accounted the best swordsman of all

that fought in this well-contested field. Many of the foe

fell beneath his powerful weapon ; and it was more by

stratagem than by strength or skill that he was disabled

towards the close of the struggle. Two noted Moydart

warriors, father and son, fought under the banner of their

chief. The son, known by the sobriquet of " An Gille maol

dubh," while performing deeds of valour himself, had his

eye upon his aged sire, marking how, as foe after foe fell

beneath the weapon of Ranald Gallda, that warrior came

nearer and nearer to his father. The two at length joined

in deadly strife. The older combatant gave ground before

his more vigorous rival, on observing which the " Gille

maol dubh" exclaimed, "
'S beag orm ceum air ais an

t-seann duine," I like not the backward step of an old man.

The father replied, "A' bheil thusa 'n sin a Ghille mhaol

duibh, ma tha bi 'n so." Are you there, if so be here

;

whereupon the son stepped forward and took his father's

place at the moment when the latter had fallen mortally

wounded. For a time the contest was doubtful, but finding

himself overmatched by the skill and prowess of his

opponent, the "Gille maol dubh" exclaimed, " Cha bhi mi

'm brath foille 's tu, seall air do chulthaobh," I won't take

advantage of you, look behind you. Apprehending treachery,

Ranald instinctively turned round, and in the act of doing

so the Moydart man felled him to the ground. This

ended the fray.

Ranald Gallda dead as it was thought, John Moydartach

had nothing to fear from him ; nor the Frasers anything

further to contend for ; and the few that survived unscathed

on either side sullenly withdrew from what may be called

a drawn battle. Lovat, his eldest son the Master, and

Ranald Gallda, with eighty gentlemen of the Frasers,

besides hundreds of others of less note, had been slain.
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There is right opposite the battlefield of Dalruari, where

the present road curves westward towards the farm house

of Kilfinnan, a hillock, still known by the name of Cnocan-

oich-oich. Oich ! in Gaelic is expressive of pain. On this

hillock, at the time the battle was fought, there was a

hostelry, and a barn adjoining, into which many of the

wounded were carried to have the benefit of such medical

skill as was then available. Into this barn Ranald Gallda,

dangerously wounded, was with others carried. During

the night, the surviving Macdonalds indulged largely in

potations of " mountain dew," were jubilant over the dis-

comfiture of the Frasers, and boasted of their own individual

feats in arms. Ranald Gallda, who overheard their con-

versations, unwisely remarked "that there was one Mac-

donald who, had he been alive, might well have boasted

of his prowess ; and that had he himself been what he was that

morning, he would encounter them all single handed, rather

than that that one brave man had fallen that day beneath

his sword." This unguarded remark discovered who their

wounded prisoner was. Irritated by the taunt, they bribed

the leech who dressed the wound to thrust his needle into

his brain when dressing his head. Thus perished Ranald

Gallda by the hands of his own clan—a man whose capacity

as well as prowess deserved a better fate at their hands.

The loss sustained by the Frasers, great as it was, would

have been still more disastrous to the clan but for a re-

markable circumstance which is given upon the authority

both of Buchanan and Sir Robert Gordon, that the wives

of the slain Frasers—almost all of them—subsequently gave

birth to sons. This is repeated by more than one of the

clan historians. And while some margin may be allowed

for more or less exaggeration—if such there be—there is

no reason to doubt the substantial accuracy of the testimony

of all these men.

Another version differs from the foregoing in some of its

details and deserves a place here, though one hesitates to

believe the part attributed to the heroic John Moydartach

in the death scene of his brave relative Ranald Gallda.
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After giving at length the incidents which led up to the

battle, the same practically as those already detailed, the

chronicler proceeds :—Among the Macdonalds there was

an old man who had seven sons by his first wife, and one

by a second, who was still a youth. This person was him-

self a powerful and skilful swordsman, and his seven sons

were not inferior to. their stern and stalwart father, either

in strength or dexterity in the use of their weapons. The

Macdonalds had proceeded on their march with great

celerity, and some of them were outrun in the race ; but

when they mustered their numbers on the top of the hill

of North Laggan ere they descended into the plain, the

old man found that he was not only surrounded by his

seven sons by his first but also attended by a youth, the

only son of a second wife whom he passionately loved and

whom he could not think of leaving behind him in the

event of his fall in the battle bereaved of her only son. He
therefore tried all his power of persuasion, but in vain, to

induce the youth to return home. At length, determined

to try the effects of taunts, since other means had failed,

he exclaimed in accents of coarse severity, " I hate to see

in battle a beardless youth, escaped from the spoon-feeding

care of his mother
!

" The youth said nothing, but de-

scended into the field of battle by the side of his veteran

and powerful father.

The space on which this bloody clan battle was fought

did not exceed half a mile square, being bounded on the

one side by Lochlochy, on the other side by the bog
already mentioned, and on the other two sides by the

hills of Kinloch and Kilianan. This space is now partly

covered by the loch, which has been embanked at Gair-

lochy, and in this way deepened and thrown eastward, and

also by the Caledonian Canal ; but the two hillocks to which

the wounded and the dying are said to have crawled from

the field are still visible, the one on the south and the

other on the north side of the glen, but both are now
almost covered by the head of the loch. The one was

called Cnocan nan creiichd, and the other Cnocan oich-oich—

»
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names very appropriate for the stations of wounded men.

Ranald Gallda, young, powerful, and active, and a perfect

master of the science of swordmanship, was determined

to requite upon the loftiest crests in the Macdonald band

the insults and the contempt of which he had been the

object, and the now deliberate usurpation of his title, office,

and rights as chief of his clan by his uncle. Resolved

to bring the stern question between them to the arbitrement

of a personal conflict, he overlooked every meaner object

of vengeance, and made incredible exertions to meet him

in the battle ; but cool, wary, and skilful, John of Moydart,

surrounded by his leine-chrios, or shirt of mail, as the

body guard of a Highland chief has ever been called,

seemed to decline or to overlook his nephew's repeated

attempts to come into contact with him, and traversed the

field wherever his presence was needed—here restoring

order in his own ranks, there beating the enemy to the

ground. But not unscathed did this devoted band move

through the ranks of the enemy, though everywhere

attended by victory. The swords of Ranald Gallda and

his gallant relative, Lovat, who with his leine-chrios never

lost sight of his young, brave, and distinguished nephew

—

distinguished not less by his lofty and commanding stature,

than his irresistible sword—were cutting them to the

ground one by one, until of these gallant bands, composed

of the choice warriors of both clans, none were left but

Ranald Gallda and the old veteran formerly mentioned.

The old man saw four of his gigantic and brave sons cut

down before his eyes by Lovat and Ranald Gallda, while

he himself was compelled to stand fixed to the spot like

a chained lion, over the prostrate body of his chief, John

of Moydart, who had fallen severely wounded, to guard

it from further injury until removed from the field ; the

other three had fallen at an early period of the engagement.

The wounded chief having been carried away, the old man,

inflamed with feelings of the most deadly hate and revenge

against Ranald, now assailed him with terrible fury, but

finding himself baffled by the skilful swordmanship of
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his opponent, and feeling- his own inferiority, if not in

strength at least in quickness and agility of action, he

changed from the offensive to the defensive, and while

parrying the dexterous strokes and thrusts of his opponent,

was slowly giving ground, inch by inch, thus, in his politic

retreat, drawing his opponent towards the Macdonald side

of the field. At this moment, his youngest son, by his

second marriage (who had been separated from him, and

was running in great anxiety and distress over the now

comparatively silent and deserted field looking for his

father) made his appearance; and, either not comprehending

the motive of the retreating steps of the veteran, or still

remembering with some indignation the taunt of the

morning, exclaimed, " I hate the sight which meets my
eye, the backward step of an old man in battle ! " and he

instantly dashed in, sword and target in hand, between

his father and Ranald, calling out " Cothrum na Feinne"

—the equal combat of the Fingalians—being the usual

pledge in a fair field and no favour among-

the clans.

Though equal in courage to his opponent, yet the youth

was far his inferior in strength and skill in the use of his

weapon. This was evident to the old man at a glance, and

his feelings of hatred and revenge against Ranald being

now excited to madness by alarm for his young, gallant,

and only surviving son, a demon thought entered his heart,

and he called out, " I will not be a traitor to you, Ranald,

they are at you behind ! " Ranald, thrown off his guard,

in the impulse of the moment looked behind him, and was

instantly cut down by the old man, who raised a shout of

triumph that communicated the fall of Ranald to friends

and foes all over the field.

Lovat and Ranald Gallda now laid low, and but few,

indeed, of their chivalrous and gallant clan left, the sur-

vivors determined, if possible, to make good their retreat,

and draw off to the south-east corner of the field, where

they still formed a small band of brothers and kinsmen.

But the remnant of the Macdonalds, though in number

scarcely exceeding; their own, were excited and exasperated
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into fury by the resistance they had met and the loss

—

the irremediable loss—all and each of them had sustained

in kinsmen and brothers, dear and precious to their hearts,

on the fatal field of Blar-nan-leine. They, accordingly,

mustered all their strength on the opposite side of the field,

and prepared for a new, a last, and an exterminating assault

on the remnant of the Frasers, who, seeing that all further

resistance was aimless, if not hopeless, retired with pre-

cipitation through the great glen of Albyn towards their

now bereaved country and families ; but such was the

inveteracy and determination of the vengeful Macdonalds,

that they followed in hot pursuit, slaying all whom they

could overtake on the way for the distance of about ten

miles.

In the meantime the wounded Ranald Gallda was carried,

still alive, from the field, and laid on a bed in a hut by the

side of Cnocan oich-oich, while a wild, hair-brained per-

sonage, who was alternately the prophet and the leech of

the clan, after having examined the wound, proceeded to

report the state of the case to John of Moydart. "Will he

live?" enquired the chief, with a kindling eye and a husky

voice, casting a look of intelligence at the leech. " He
might live," replied the wretch, " but so small is his hold

of life that the point of the dealg (pin) which fastens your

plaid were sufficient to send him to eternity, for his brain

is laid open by the wound." The chief drew the dealg in

silence from his plaid, and handed it to the leech, who with

a fiendish smile on his thin and haggard face, instantly

entered the hut, where he found the old man and the youth,

his son, watching over the apparently unconscious chief,

and bathing his couch with their tears—a change of feeling

not uncharacteristic of the wild, passionate, but kind warm-

hearted Highland warrior of the olden time.

The leech approached the bed and tried, with a gentle

hand, to remove the dirk, a weapon which the young chief

loved, and which, somehow or other, he had contrived to

draw from its sheath as he was being carried from the

field ; but he found that the attempt was discovered, and
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that Ranald Gallda had still sufficient strength left to resist

him. The old man observed the attempt of the leech, and

the tightening- grasp of the chief on his dagger, and said

fiercely, " Why dost thou want to disarm his hand ? Can'st

thou not examine and bind up the wound without removing

the dirk?" "I like not," said the leech, "to exercise my
skill on armed men ; but if thou wilt remove the weapon,

I will do all I can to relieve him, although I fear there is

little chance of his recovery, the strongest arm of the Clan-

ranald having addressed his trenchant blade to his skull."

The old man groaning in the inmost core of his heart,

said, "Would that that arm had been in the grave ere it

aimed the accursed blow at his head ; but alas, alas, no man
need now fear the dirk of my heroic chief. Do thou ex-

amine the wound, and if you can'st but cure and set him

again on his feet, thou mayst ever count on an unfailing

friend in me, and every man who will adhere to me in

his defence."

The leech, in seeming compliance, made the old man
and his son draw back from the bed, and leaned over the

chief in the apparent examination of the wound. Ranald

gave a convulsive start ; the leech shrunk back in alarm,

but with the quickness of lightning, the wounded chiefs

dirk was buried in his heart ; and, with this last act of just

retribution, Ranald Gallda ceased to live.

The battle is said to have lasted twelve hours and to have

been the most sanguinary ever fought in the Highlands, not

less than from nine hundred to a thousand men having

been slain. The only gentleman of the name who survived

was William Fraser of Foyers, who owed his temporary

safety to his foster-brother, whose son received as a

reward a free grant of a croft long occupied by his de-

scendants. Foyers must have died a few days after, for

it is stated in the service of his son Hugh to Aberchalder,

expede at Inverness the 5th of October, 1563, that the

father died "in the month of July, 1544." He could thus

have only survived for fifteen days at most the day on

which the battle was fought. This is further to some exte'nt

7
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confirmed from the fact that Hugh, the son, obtained a

precept of Clare Constat on the 25th of April, 1545, for

infefting him as heir to his father William in the lands of

Foyers and Boleskine. He was carried on his back by
Norman Gow, one of his tenants, towards his home at

Foyers, as far as " Suidhe Chuimean," eight miles from

the battlefield, but Gow having an arrow in his side, found

himself exhausted and unable to proceed farther. Having

rested at that place, he pulled out the arrow, and soon

after died. His descendants were, however, very properly

rewarded for his devotion by the free gift of the land then

occupied by them, and continued to possess it for about

two hundred years after.

Lord Hugh was very fond of hunting, and in order to

indulge in that sport as much as possible, he resided chiefly

at Abertarff, now Fort-Augustus. He often travelled over

the various parts of his estates and was at great pains to

get his clansmen thoroughly well trained in the use of the

sword and the bow, the only arms in his time in use, so

that he and his people became a terror to all evildoers in

their neighbourhoods. He was in great favour with James

V., who gave him a Commission of Lieutenancy for the

preservation of the peace in the Highlands, especially in the

County of Inverness, which then included Ross, Sutherland,

and Caithness. He no sooner received this appointment

than he sent a herald amongst them to discharge all insur-

rections under pains of rebellion, and taking possession of

their lands and goods in the King's name. This tended

greatly to bring about tranquility—so far as his jurisdiction

extended, while during the same period other parts of the

Highlands were much infested with murderers and robbers,

some of whom he succeeded in capturing, and executing

at Inverness.

His lordship, who was born in 1489, was fifty-five years

of age when he died. He married, first, Anne, daughter

of John Grant of Grant, with issue

—

1. Hugh, sometimes called Simon, Master of Lovat, who

was killed along with his father at " Blar-nan-leine," on the
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15th of July, 1544, when only nineteen years of age, un-

married. He was a youth of singular promise, and in

accordance with the practice of the times in the case of

most young men of his rank, he was, as already seen,

educated in France.

2. Janet, who died young.

The first Lady Lovat only lived for a few years. She is

described as a lady of singular piety, well acquainted with

the Word of God, which made her openly profess the

Reformed religion when the Reformation was but dawning

and the few who professed it were violently persecuted

through the nation. She died at " Eilean Uirich," and was

interred in the Priory of Beauly.

His lordship married secondly Janet, daughter of Walter

Ross of Balnagown, county of Ross, with issue

—

3. Alexander, his heir and successor in the title and

estates.

4. Andrew, afterwards called William, progenitor of the

Frasers of Struy, of whom in their order.

5. Hugh, who died, unmarried, in his eighteenth year.

6. Agnes, sometimes called Ann, both names being really

the same. She, in 1541, married William Macleod, IX. of

Macleod, when James V., on the resignation of William's

father, granted him as heir apparent, on his marriage with

Agnes Fraser, daughter of Hugh Fraser, fifth Lord of

Lovat, the lands of Arrocardich, Scallasaigbeg, Scallasaig-

more, Knockfin, Pitalman, East Mill, Wester Mill, Lussaw,

Nachtane, Wester Corrary, and Inchkennel, in the lordship

of Glenelg, and in the same year the lands of Easter and

Wester Lynedale, as well as extensive lands in Bracadale,

Isle of Skye, were resigned by Alexander Macleod in the

same way and granted to his son William and Agnes Fraser

of Lovat. They had an only child, Mary, who married

Duncan Campbell of Castleswynie, younger of Auchin-

breck, with issue. Agnes Fraser, Macleod's widow, married

secondly on the 2nd of May, 1562, Alexander Bayne of

Tulloch, which is proved by a charter of confirmation of

the lands of Wester Loggie, dated the 3 1st of March, 1563,
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also with issue—two sons and two daughters, Alexander

Bayne of Loggie, John Bayne of Fearlin, Janet, who
married John Chisholm, XVI. of Chisholm,* and Marjory,

who died unmarried.

7. Margaret, who married Allan Macranald of the Leys,

with issue—a son, Alister. At Pharnaway on the 26th of

March, 1562, a contract of marriage is entered into between

Margaret Fraser, daughter of Dame Janet Ross, Lady

Lovat, with her mother's consent, on the one part, and

Allan Macdonald of the Leys on the other part. It is

conclusively established that Agnes and Margaret were

both daughters of the second marriage, for by the second

Lady Lovat's will, dated 1565, she especially bequeaths to

her daughters Agnes and Margaret " her clothing and

ornaments of her body," while of her tocher a balance

remained of £gi 6s 8d Scots due to Leys, and £66 13s

iod due to Tulloch.

Anderson, who does not mention Margaret, says that

a daughter, Catherine, married Rose of Kilravock, but

there is no trace of such a marriage in the Kilravock

Family Papers, published in 1848, although the wives of

all the members of the Kilravock family of the period

are given in that book.

Lord Hugh was succeeded by his eldest son by his

second wife, Janet Ross of Balnagowan,

XI. ALEXANDER, SIXTH LORD FRASER,

Who was served heir to his father on the 24th of October,

1544, and the 28th of April, 1553, at Inverness. He was

educated by the well-known Robert Reid, who in his person

united the important offices of Bishop of Orkney, Abbot

of Kinloss, and Prior of Beauly, where he had built a

* On the 13th of May, 1606, there is a charter of Erchless from Simon

Lord Lovat in favour of this John Chisholm and Janet Bayne, his spouse.

There is also a charier of alienation by the same Simon Lord Lovat to this

John Chisholm and his wife Janet Bayne, of the lands of Comar Kirkton,

dated the 14th of May, 1614, and a contract of wadset between his lordship

and the said John and Janet on the same date.

—

History of the Chisholms,

p. 51.
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mansion-house. He had under his charge for their educa-

tion, at the same time, Lord Alexander of Lovat, his

brother William, afterwards of Struy, and the sons of

Mackenzie of Kintail, Munro of Fowlis, Ross of Balna-

gowan, and of the Sheriff of Moray, and he kept a pleasure

barge for his and their use plying between Beauly and

Kinloss. On the 2nd of November, 1545, Patrick, Bishop

of Moray, on the gift of a noble lord, Alexander Fraser,

Lord of Lovat, and burgess of Inverness, and of the Bailies

and town of Inverness, presented Sir William Baldon to

the perpetual Chaplainry of St. John the Baptist, within

the parish of Inverness, the same having become vacant

by the death of Sir John Scott, Chaplain thereof. On the

26th of June, 1550, the same Chaplainry is presented by

the same Bishop, on the recommendation of Alexander

Lord Lovat, to Sir James Cuthbert, and his Lordship is

one of the witnesses to the presentation. In 1546 the Earl

of Huntly apprehended Ewen Allanson of Lochiel and

Ranald MacRanald Glas of Keppoch for being concerned

in the slaughter of Lord Lovat and the Frasers at Blar-

nan-leine. They were tried at Elgin, found guilty, and

beheaded and their heads exposed on the gates of the

town. Several of their followers were hanged, but John

Moydartach escaped without any punishment, and he

afterwards transmitted the estates of Clanranald to his de-

scendants.

On the 9th of August, 1550, there were issued in Lord

Alexander's favour letters of sasine of the lands of Easter

and Wester Kinmylies, Balifearry, Easter and Wester Abri-

achan, Kilchuiman, the Mill of Bught, and the fishings

of the River Ness called the Freschot, all of which had

been previously granted to his brother, the late Master

of Lovat, on the 13th of May, 1544.

There is a charter by Queen Mary, dated the 16th of

March, 1554, on the resignation of his Lordship, on which

sasine follows, dated the 8th, 9th, 16th, and 20th of Nov-

ember, 1555, in favour of Alexander Lord Lovat, and

Janet Campbell, his spouse, and the longest liver of them,

(•LIBRARY
NO/. rV
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in conjunct fee, and their heirs, upon the lands of the two

Dalaythies. The Queen Dowager, Mary of Guise, on

succeeding the Earl of Arran in the Regency in June,

l S5^M came North to hold an assize in Inverness, in

connection mainly with depredations committed in the

county of Sutherland by Y. Mackay, who was summoned
before the Queen Regent in the Highland Capital but

refused to attend. The Earl of Sutherland was thereupon

ordered against him, when Mackay was defeated at Borve

in Strathnaver, compelled to surrender, and sent as a

prisoner to Edinburgh Castle. During Her Majesty's

sojourn in Inverness, she received a visit from Lord Alex-

ander, attended by a large and imposing retinue, but the

number not being nearly so numerous, in consequence of

the slaughter at Kinlochlochy, she is said to have condoled

with him on the loss of his father and the gentlemen of his

clan at that place in so tender a manner that all present

were sensibly touched. Lady Lovat and the Lady Dowager

also waited upon the Queen Regent and paid their respects

at the same time, and on her departure his Lordship,

accompanied by two hundred of his armed vassals, con-

voyed her to the banks of the Spey, a compliment which

much pleased and flattered her, and for which she made
the most handsome acknowledgments.

The Dowager Lady Lovat, Janet Ross of Balnagowan,

appears to have been a very litigious woman. In the

Decrees of Council and Session, 1557, there is a contracted

litigation set forth between Dame Janet Ross, Lady Lovat,

and Alexander, Lord Fraser of Lovat, relative to her terce,

which fills more than ten pages, and gives a fine specifica-

tion of the Lovat estates at the time. In course of the

proceedings allusion is made to a decree arbitral in which

William Earl Marshall, John Lord Erskine, and George

Earl of Caithness, are named as the arbiters chosen by the

Lady Dowager, and the Reverend Father in God, Robert,

Bishop of Orkney, Donald, Abbot of Couper, and William

Murray of Tullibardine are chosen by Alexander Lord

Lovat for deciding upon the dispute between them. She
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even opposed the service of her own grandson, Lord Hugh,

as heir to his father Alexander on the 2nd of May, 1560.

In 1557, his Lordship, "who was much given to retire-

ment and a love of letters," was advised by his father-in-law,

Sir John Campbell of Cawdor, to make a visit to his estate

of Glenelg for the benefit of his health, and he agreed to

do so. They started together and, arriving there, spent

several days in fishing and hunting, after which they pro-

ceeded to Iona. Having paid their devotions there, they

returned to Glenelg, and travelled home by Abertarff and

Stratherrick. Instead of deriving any benefit from this

journey it seems to have proved too much for Alexander's

physical endurance. On his arrival at Dounie he fell into

a rapid consumption. In the beginning of summer he was

ordered by his medical advisers to remove from Castle

Dounie to the Island of Aigas "for a milk diet and free

air," where he died soon after in the same year, and was

buried in the Priory of Beauly. He is said to have been

"of so sweet and obliging a temper" as to be universally

beloved.

He married Janet, daughter of Sir John Campbell of

Cawdor, second son of the Earl of Argyll,* with issue

—

1. Hugh, his heir and successor.

2. Thomas of Knockie and Strichen, whose descendants

became heirs-male of the family on the death, in 18 15, of

the Hon. Colonel Archibald Campbell Fraser, without

surviving male issue.

3. James, progenitor of the family of Ardachy, of whom
in their proper place.

4. Anne, who married John Fraser of Dalcross, usually

* "Alexander, Lord Lovat, before 1555, married Janet, the daughter of

Sir John Campbell of Cawdor. Ten years before the battle of Kin-Lochy

(Blar-nan-Leine) she had contracted to marry the eldest grandson of Ewen
Cameron of Lochiel. Two years after the battle Ewen Cameron's head was

set over the gate of Elgin, after he was tried and beheaded for the slaughter

of Lord Lovat and his son. Somehow his grandson, though he became head

of the clan in 1552, missed the wife that had been provided for him, and she

became the wife of the son and brother of the avenged Lovats, and of the

heir of the house which had sustained so heavy a loss at Lochiel's hands."

—

Beauly Priory, p. 23.
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designed " Ian Mor Mac a Mhaighistir," a natural son of

" Big John son of the Master " of Lovat.

Lord Alexander died, as already stated, in December,

1557. His widow married Donald, son of Donald Gorm
Macdonald, a widower.

His Lordship was succeeded in the title and estates by

his eldest son,

XII. HUGH, SEVENTH LORD FRASER,

Who, then only fourteen years old, was served heir to his father

on the 2nd of May, 1560, before the Sheriff of Inverness,

in the barony of Kinmylies, which comprehended Balifearry,

Abriachan, Kilchuiman, and the Mill of Bught, with the

fishings on the River Ness known as the Freschot. In

the end of May, 1559, William Fraser of Struy, tutor-in-law

to his Lordship, made a tour through the different parts of

the estate to appoint chamberlains and Stewarts and for

the administration of justice among the tenants. Among
those appointed was John Fraser of Farraline, as Bailie

of Stratherrick. On the 22nd of May, 1 561, in an action

for aliment at the instance of Hugh Lord Fraser of Lovat,

George Earl of Huntly, and Alexander Fraser of Philorth,

Lord Hugh's tutors, against William Fraser of Struy, Dame
Janet Ross, his grandmother, and Dame Janet Campbell,

his mother, the Lords of Session pronounced an interlocutor

continuing the cause to the 22nd of June following.

When, in 1562, Queen Mary visited the Highlands,

William Fraser of Struy raised 500 of the pick of the

clan and met Her Majesty in Moray, from whence, headed

by their young chief, then about 16 years old, they con-

ducted her to Inverness, where she arrived on the nth
of September. By Huntly's order Captain Alexander

Gordon, then in charge of the Castle, closed the gates in

the Queen's face and refused to admit her, when she was

compelled to take up her quarters in a house in Bridge

Street, still standing in good preservation, and known to

this day as " Queen Mary's House." The town was utterly

defenceless, but to ensure her safety a small squadron
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entered the river. The Frasers, Mackenzies, Rosses, and

Munroes, in response to a proclamation issued by the

Queen, soon came to the rescue. The Castle was besieged,

and on the third day taken, when the governor, Alexander

Gordon, was hanged at the gate for his treasonable conduct.

Her Majesty slept in Inverness on the nights of the

nth, 12th, 13th, and 14th of September, and on the 15th,

on her return journey, at the Castle of Kilravock. She

slept at Darnaway Castle on the night of the 16th ; at

Spynie Castle, the seat of the Bishop of Moray, on the

17th and 1 8th ; at Cullen, Banff, and Gight, on the 19th,

20th, and 2 1st, arriving at Aberdeen on the 22nd. The

behaviour and loyalty of the Clan Fraser was naturally much

appreciated by the Queen, and gained great praise for their

young chief.

The Dowager Lady Lovat came in to Inverness to visit

Her Majesty, and recommend her youthful grandson, Lord

Lovat, who also came with the Tutor at the head of the

Frasers, to her protection.

Although informed that Huntly watched in order to

interrupt her in the woods on the banks of the Spey, under

the banner of Lord Lovat she advanced against him, crossed

the river, and returned at the head of 3000 men to Aber-

deen, accompanied by the Earls of Mar and Morton, the

Grants and the Forbeses, who met her at the River Spey.

The Tutor, his Lordship, and their clansmen returned home
much pleased with the reception accorded them by the

Queen. Huntly thereupon broke out into open rebellion,

and was soon after slain at the battle of Corrichie. William

Fraser of Struy, as Tutor of Lovat, was one of the jury

who sat on the inquest on that nobleman's body, and

pronounced over it the pains and penalties of treason against

his Queen and country.

In 1563 Lord Lovat started for Edinburgh on a visit

and to pay his respects to the King. On his way home
he visited Blair Castle, on the invitation of John, Earl of

Atholl, and is said to have fallen in love with the Earl's

daughter, whom he afterwards married. From this time he
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resided chiefly with his grandmother, Dame Janet Ross,

at Pharnaway, until her death there in 1565. Of her it

is said that she was greatly beloved and lamented. " She

had many suitors after her lord's death, but she would

never consent to marry any. Her greatest earthly concern

was the family of Lovat, the interest of which she greatly

advanced. She was a lady of noble spirit, active and

frugal." On the 16th of May, 1566, his Lordship, though

not of age, expede a special service as heir of Hugh, Lord

Fraser of Lovat, his grandfather, before the Sheriff of

Inverness, of the feu lands of Beaufort. He was again at

Court in 1567, by which time he must have changed his

political opinions, for he is found among those whose name

is signed to the Bond of Association which followed on

Queen Mary's resignation. Though he was not then quite

of age, he authorised his name to be attached to it, but

he is on the Queen's side again in 1568, after the battle

of Langside. In March, 1567, he had a sasine of Kinmylies

from the Bishop of Moray.

Being then twenty-one years of age he went again to

Edinburgh along with a select company of his friends. His

uncle, the Laird of Cawdor, then in that city, introduced

him at Court, where he soon became intimate with the

Regent James, Earl of Moray, who very quickly discovered

that the young Fraser chief was "a nobleman of great

spirit and genius, active and resolute." Among the other

acquaintances made on that occasion by his Lordship were

Sir Walter Reid, Prior of Beauly, and his lady. The prior

was a brother of Bishop Reid of Orkney, who was the great

friend and patron of Lord Alexander. Sir Walter was

subsequently of great service to Lord Lovat in connection

with his acquisition of the Priory lands.

This year he is a member of the Privy Council and

attends sittings on the 9th of May, on the 9th of July,

and on the 1st August.

Some time after he returned from Edinburgh his Lordship,

along with his uncle, Campbell of Cawdor, accompanied by

a suitable retinue of the young gentlemen of the clan, paid
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a visit to his mother in the Isle of Skye. Here he practised

at the bow and arrow until he became such an expert that

few equalled him, and in a little time after his return his

own people, following his example, became so proficient in

the same exercise that even a shepherd could not be met

with walking about without his bow and arrow. He insisted

that every parish should have their Bow Marks, and certain

days were set apart for the practice of archery, while he

periodically went round himself to see his vassals being

trained. He was a great wrestler, swimmer, and jumper,

and trained all his young men in these manly exercises.

Struy's tutory expired in 1567, when Lord Fraser and

his curators granted him an honourable discharge of all his

accounts at Lovat. His lordship was henceforth a constant

follower and supporter of the Regent Murray, who, during

his visit to Inverness in 1570, had every honour paid to

him by his Lordship and his vassals.

Lord Hugh was again present at sittings of the Privy

Council on the 1st of December, 1567, and on the 9th of

January following.

On the 20th of April, 1569, at a Convention at which

were present the Lord Regent, the Lords of the Privy

Council, and others of the nobility and faithful barons of the

realm, an open proclamation was issued commanding and

charging "all and sundry our sovereign lord's lieges and

subjects betwixt sixteen and sixty years and the fencible

persons in the Sheriffdoms of Inverness, Elgin, Cromarty,

and Nairn, to convene and meet George Earl of Caithness,

and Hugh Lord Fraser, lieutenants to our Sovereign Lord,

conjunctly and severally at Inverness, on the 1st of June"
in their most warlike manner, with thirty days' victuals and

provisions, and from thence to go forward with them or

either of them, and meet the Lord Regent at such time and

place as shall be appointed, to resist the invasion of his

Majesty's rebellious and disobedient subjects.

On the 3rd of May, 1569, Lord Hugh was specially

served in the lands of Kirkton and Inchberry, in the parish

of Kirkhill. In May 1570, the Regent proceeded north to
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Aberdeen, Elgin, and Inverness, with the view of securing

the peace in those parts and the surrounding- districts,

accompanied by two companies of soldiers and a great many
of his personal and political friends. Lord Lovat met him

at the head of two hundred men on the banks of the Spey

and conducted him through Moray, all the way to Inver-

ness, kept along with him during the whole time he was in

the Highlands, and convoyed him on his return march

south as far as the River Spey.

On the 3rd of June in the same year Lachlan Mackin-

tosh of Dunachton, in a petition asking pardon for past

offences, says
—

" I shall cause such persons of the Clan

Chattan as offended my Lord Lovat at the time of making

of our Sovereign Lord's proclamation make amends and

satisfaction to his Lordship therefor at my Lord Regent's

sight and commandment." On the 28th of July following

Lord Lovat attended a convention at Perth to arrange

matters for the quietness and common weal of the country,

and on the last day of the same month he was present and

voted for the divorce of Queen Mary from the Earl of

Bothwell. On the 15th of January, 1571-72, he became

surety for the appearance of Mr Donald Fraser, Archdeacon

of Ross, before the Council.

At the Reformation Lord Lovat, like many more of the

chiefs of those days, managed to obtain a share of the

revenues of the Catholic Church. His most important

acquisition in this respect was the Priory of Beauly and

the lands belonging to it. He also secured a tack for

nineteen years of the teind sheaves and another of the

parish and lands of Convinth. These leases were given

him by Sir Walter Reid, Abbot of Kinloss and Prior of

Beauly in 1 571 . Apprehensive that some other powerful

chief, with whom the Prior was on friendly terms, might

force that churchman by violent methods to give up pos-

session of his benefice, and fully realising how matters

would probably end, he placed himself and the ecclesias-

tical buildings under Lord Lovat's protection, and for doing

this the more effectually he made his Lordship heritable
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Bailie of the Priory by charter dated the 6th and 12th of

November, 1 57 r, confirmed under the Great Seal on the

14th of February following
-

. But by this the wily ecclesi-

astic, probably encouraged by his Lordship, did not consider

his interests sufficiently secure against other powerful men

who might attempt to secure an absolute gift of the benefice

from the Crown, and to prevent anything of this kind he

made over to Lord Hugh all the lands belonging to the

Priory, which then included the town and lands of Beauly,

Ardnagrask, Rhindouin, Inchrorie, Craigscorry, Platchaig,

Groam, Farley, with its forest and woods, Teachnuick, with

its pendicles of Ruilick and Greyfield, the lands of Urchany,

with the woods, the third part of Meikle Culmill, third part

of Easter Glenconvinth, fourth part of Fanblair, Annat,

Teafrish, the Mains of Beauly with the yards and orchards

belonging to the Priory, with the two mills of Teachnuick

and Beauly, and the whole fishing on the river from Cairncot

to the sea.

On the same days, the 6th and 12th of November, 1571,

and at the same places, there is another charter by the

same

—

"Walter, Abbot of Kinloss and Prior of the Monastery of Beauly

in favour of Hugh Lord Fraser of Lovat for certain great sums of

money, and for other reasonable causes, of the office of constable and

hereditary keeper of the palace and principal buildings of the mes-

suage in the Priory of Beauly, erected by the late Bishop of Orkney

and prior of the said monastery, on the east side of the church of

Beauly ; also of the office of hereditary bailie within the bounds of

the lands of the said priory, with the power of ministering justice, of

apprehending and punishing malefactors according to law, of holding

courts, etc., within the bounds of foresaid ; to be held of the granter

and his successors in feu and heritage for ever, rendering for the said

office of constable and keeper foresaid, two silver pennies in name of

blench farm at the feast of Pentecost, if asked ; and for the office of

bailliary twopence of the usual money of Scotland in name of blench

farm at the said feast, if asked."

Some time before the date of this charter Lord Hugh
appears to have lent the Abbot 4500 merks on the security

of the Beauly barony. In the same month his Lordship

advanced another sum of equal amount, and he was taken
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bound to complete the transaction carried out by the

charter by the payment of another 4500 merks at Whit-

sunday following its date ; failing- which it was only to be

held as security for the two sums previously advanced by

him to Abbot Walter. Both charters were confirmed under

the Great Seal on the 14th of February following

—

1571-72; and next month, on the 30th of April, dated

at Dundee, there is a

" Discharge by Walter Abbot of Kinloss and Prior of Beauly to

Hugh, Lord Fraser of Lovat, for 4500 merks contained in a reversion

made by the said Lord to the said Abbot for redemption of the lands,

mains, and fishings of Beauly and their pertinents, in case of non-

payment of the said sum before the feast of Whitsunday next, the

said 4500 merks being complete payment of 13,500 merks promised

by the said lord to the said abbot for the feu of the said lands, mains,

and fishings of Beauly."

Mr Edmund Chisholm Batten, to whom I am mainly

indebted for these details of the sale by the Prior to Lord

Lovat, says that his Lordship seems to have got some of

the money paid by him to the former in November 1571

on a wadset to the Countess of Crawford, Janet Campbell,

his maternal aunt, and some of the money paid in May,

1572, from David Wans, a Leith merchant, who took fifty-

six barrels of salmon full red and sweet at Lammas 1573,

from Lord Hugh, apparently as payment of interest for the

amount borrowed. In the same year as that in which he

made this purchase he parted with Rhindouin to Bayne of

Tulloch, and with the lands of Ardnagrask soon after, pro-

bably to obtain sufficient funds to pay the Prior.

Prior Reid having received his money, appointed a Mr
John Fraser as his successor in that office, and on the

8th of July, 1573, within a few months of receiving his

presentation, the new Prior executed a new charter of the

barony of Beauly in favour of Lord Hugh, and in June,

1575, a charter of the Dominical lands and of the salmon

fishings was also granted him, and sasine duly followed.

His Lordship was naturally anxious to get his charter

from the Prior confirmed by the Crown as soon as possible,

and he prepared to set out for Edinburgh in May following
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for that purpose, accompanied by his wife. But according

to the Wardlaw MS. he had to leave sooner than he

intended

—

" In the very interim of preparing and making ready for the

journey, a sudden disaster and indisposedness seized upon my lady,

so that she could not travel. He was loath to leave her, but she told

him she might recover, but occasions lost were irrecoverable. He
wondered what might be under this reply and ambiguous sentiment,

and asked seriously what she meant. She told him that Colin Mac-

kenzie of Kintail was still his competitor, and he might be too cunning

for him, as she feared that he and his party were contriving a plot

to apply to and prevail with the Regent, their relation, anent the right

of Beauly ; the Court was changeable, courtiers flexible, donations

and pactions alterable. He yields to her advice, and presently takes

horse, and, at Inverness, is informed that Colin of Kintail had taken

the start of him, and was gone on the journey south. Lovat, being

well acquaint with the road, cut short, and arrived by a day's journey

before him at Edinburgh, some saying they were a night in one and

the same lodging, or perhaps in one town on the way, unknown to one

another. But, be sure, Lord Lovat had his intelligence of the other's

motions, and made but short stay in any part till he came to his

journey's end ; and, in short, he secured his object and got his righ

of Beauly through the seals before Mackenzie came to Edinburgh.

The day after, they met in the open street, and the whole matter

came above board, and Kintail found himself outwitted."*

His Lordship was no doubt assisted in these transactions

by the Earl of Huntly, son of the Earl slain at Corrichie,

with whom, in the preceding year, Lord Lovat entered

into a solemn contract in terms of which the Earl " binds

and obliges himself to assist, fortify, and maintain the said

Hew, Lord Lovat, in all his honest, lawful actions and

causes, as he happens to have ado and requires the said

Earl thereto, and also shall at his uttermost labour and

procure the Abbot of Kinloss to give and set in feu farm

to the said Hew and his heirs all and whole the lands and

Mains of Beauly, with the salmon fishing thereof."

The author of the Wardlaw MS. supplies another im-

portant factor in this negotiation. He says that it was

by the influence of the Abbot's wife that he was induced

Priory ofBeauly, pp. 272-75.
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to grant the Priory, its lands and fishings to Lord Hugh,

with whom she was connected by marriage through his

Lordship's grandmother, Janet Ross of Balnagowan. "My
Lord Lovat," says the minister of Wardlaw, "takes occasion

by familiarity with Sir Walter's lady and broaches his

resolution to her of feuing the barony of Beauly ; she

assured him that his Lordship would be preferred to any

whomsoever in the bargain, and that she would secure

her husband of all importunities that might assault him on

that head ; she actually effected and guided him so that the

next time Lovat paid a visit to Sir Walter they came to

such an agreement that a minute of sale was drawn up

betwixt them and subscribed ; and John, Earl of Athole,

and Mr John Campbell of Calder were both witnesses to

the paper, so that all was out of doubt and hazard for the

future." This charter is also dated on the 6th and 12th of

November, 1 571, at Beauly and Petlathie respectively, and

it is subsequently confirmed by Act of Parliament in 1584.*

The disturbed state of society in the Highlands in 1573

may be gathered from the fact that the Earl of Sutherland

petitioned in that year to have himself served heir in Aberdeen

and not at Inverness, because he could not get a jury to sit

at the latter place, in consequence of the barons, such as

Colin Mackenzie of Kintail, Hugh Lord Lovat, Lachlan

Mackintosh of Dunachton, and Robert Munro of Fowlis

being at deadly feud among themselves.

The income of the Monastery of Beauly at the Reforma-

tion was £163 13s 4d in money; oats, 14 chalders, 2 bolls,

3 firlots, 3^ pecks ; marts, or cows, 10 ; sheep, 20 ; fowls,

21 dozen ; salmon, 2 lasts and 6 barrels.

In 1574 Hugh, Lord Fraser of Lovat, was appointed

Sheriff of Inverness and Constable of the Castle, whereupon

he marched at the head of two hundred men to take pos-

session of it, and place a garrison in it under Alexander

Fraser, who he appointed Captain of it. His Lordship, at

Edinburgh, on the 10th of March in the same year, entered

into a contract with Alexander Forbes of Pitsligo that the

* For its full text see Priory ofBecrnly, pp, 266-268.
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latter "shall infeft the said noble lord, his heirs lawfully

gotten or to be gotten, whom failing
-

, his nearest lawful

heirs whomsoever bearing the sirname and arms of Fraser,

by charter and sasine, in competent and due form, in the

lands of Easter and Wester Aigas, with the Isle, mill, and

forest thereof, called the forest of Browling." It is regis-

tered on the following day.

On the nth of March, 1574, there is another contract,

dated at Edinburgh, and registered next day, between Lord

Lovat and John Wardlaw, a burgess of Edinburgh, and

David Vans, residing in Leith, by which his Lordship under-

takes to infeft these men in the above-named lands of Aigas

in security of their cautionary engagement for him to the

said Alexander Forbes of Pitsligo for the sum of 2400

merks. On the same date, Hew Lord Fraser of Lovat and

the foresaid David Vans enter into a third contract on the

narrative "that forasmuch as the said Lord by his writings,

subscribed with his hand, at Beauly, 17th May, 1573, is

obliged to have delivered to the said David or his factors,

in his name, four lasts, eight barrels of salmon full red and

sweet at the feast of Lammas foresaid ; and also has sold

to the said David, in payment of salt received from him six

barrels salmon ; therefore, the said Lord obliges him to

pay to the said David, the said salmon, extending to five

lasts, two barrels, full red and sweet sufficient marked 'guid

and merchand wair.'"

His Lordship lived on good terms with all the neigh-

bouring clans, and the country for a time enjoyed the

blessings of profound tranquility and peace. " He was at

great pains to train up his men in the manly exercises of

swimming, arching, wrestling, jumping, and throwing the

bar ; and it is very remarkable that the year he was made
Governor of Inverness Castle, at a general rendezvous of

his men at Tomnahurich, near Inverness, in July, 1574,

he had 80 young gentlemen with him, much about his own
age, whose fathers had been killed in the field of Lochy,

precisely 30 years before that, and who had all been in

their mothers' bellies at that time, and by a wonderful

8
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Providence lived all to be men. It was at that time a

common custom to have general meetings of all the young
gentlemen in the shire, at Inverness, for tilting, riding,

fencing, dancing, putting the stone, and the above men-
tioned exercises, in each of which this young nobleman

excelled. He was incredibly nimble and acknowledged to

be the best rider in the North."* He attends a meeting

of the Privy Council as one of its members, held at Holy-

rood House on the 8th of July, 1574, and again on the

1 Oth of February, 1575-76.

At Holyrood House on the 24th of September, 1574, a

gift of the escheat of Sir Alexander Dunbar of Cumnocks,

John Chisholm of Crathos, and others, is made to Hugh
Lord Fraser of Lovat, Lachlan Mackintosh of Dunachton,

and their heirs and assignees.

Lord Hugh had been stopping Donald MacAngus of

Glengarry from carrying down wood and timber in boats

on Loch Ness where it passed through his Lordship's terri-

tories. Glengarry complained to the Privy Council, and at

a meeting of that body held at Dalkeith on the 10th of

March, 1575-76, at which Donald MacAngus appeared

personally, Lord Lovat in absence, his kin, friends, servants,

and dependants, and all who dwell on the banks or in the

neighbourhood of Loch Ness are charged to suffer and

permit the said Donald MacAngus of Glengarry and his

followers "to bring and carry wood and timber down the

said water of Loch Ness, to the said burgh of Inverness at

all times, as they shall think expedient" under pains of

rebellion, denunciation, and escheat of all their estates,

goods and gear.

On the 10th of April, 1575-76, Patrick, Lord Lindsay,

becomes security that Alexander Ross of Balnagowan shall

return by the 1st of June following a bond of Hugh Lord

Lovat, John Grant of Freuchie, Colin Mackenzie of Kintail,

and John Campbell of Caddell, in which they obliged

themselves to present the said Alexander Ross before the

Privy Council when so required under a penalty of £1000.

* MS, in the Advocates' Library.



XII. HUGH, SEVENTH LORD FRASER. 115

His lordship's mother, like his grandmother, appears to

have been a most litigious person. She was at law with

William Fraser of Struy, as Tutor, and others, for keeping

her out of her terce of Aigas ; and with all the tenants of

Dalcross.

Mr Fraser-Mackintosh, in No. VII. of his series of valu-

able articles, " Old Yet New," contributed to the Scottish

Highlander in 1894-95, says "that when Alexander died

his brother William, first of Struy, became Tutor to his

nephew Hugh Lord Lovat, and appears to have done his

best to make things agreeable for the two Dowagers. Dame
Janet Ross lived at Kirkton of Pharnaway with her children,

her son Alexander having built her there a comfortable

house, and the Tutor allowed Alexander's widow to keep

her court at Lovat. This did not last many years, for

Janet Campbell soon married for the second time, Donald

Gorm's son of Sleat, a widower. The following singular

narrative is taken from the MS. history and shows beyond

all doubt the masculine character of Janet Ross." He then

quotes from the Fraser MS., in the Advocates' Library, as

follows :

—

" In the end of May, 1559, the Tutor of Lovat made a tour through

the different parts of the estate to administer justice. He fixed John

Fraser of Farraline, Bailie of Stratherrick. He made an appointment

with the two Ladies Dowager to meet them at Kilichuiman, now
Fort-Augustus, where, having prepared everything for their reception,

they went up by boat on Loch-Ness. The Lady Dowager Janet Ross

expressed a great desire to see the field at Lochy, where her husband

was slain. Her son, the Tutor, immediately convocates 100 men of a

convoy, and attended his mother to the field. After their return, the

Tutor left the ladies in the Fort at Kilichuiman, and went himself to

Glenelg, where he settled affairs, and returned to the ladies, who all

arrived safe in the Aird in the month of September. The ladies sailed

down Loch-Ness, and the Tutor went by Stratherrick, the Leys, and

Dalcross to Inverness. There is a memorable event which happened

these ladies as they were sailing home by Loch-Ness, which I would

not mention, but that the country people firmly believe it still, and I

have seen them send six miles for the water of the lake to their cattle.

The story is—the ladies had ordered the bell of Kilichuiman to be

put in the boat to be set up in Glenconventh. When they were about

the middle of the lake they were overtaken with a violent tempest, so
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that they could neither sail nor row. One of the men (wiser it seems

than the rest) desired to throw out the bell into the loch, since they

could not carry it back. This was accordingly done, and presently

followed a calm, so that the ladies got safe to shore. From that time

the water of Loch-Ness, or according to others who are more wise,

the water below where the bell was cast became medicinal. Super-

stitious people call it wine, and send it from a great distance to their

cattle when they are sick."

Lord Hugh was notorious for his violent partisanship

against Queen Mary, and he is said to have been very-

severe with his own vassals and followers. It was his custom

to ride disguised through the country and mingle with his

people, when he took special notice of the character and

conduct of individuals. Coming one night to one of his

own shepherds' windows he saw him partaking plentifully of

good mutton for supper. " You answer for this to-morrow

John," exclaimed his Lordship through the aperture, and

instantly rode off. A shot was the reply, and so well was

it levelled that the arrow stuck in the tippet of Lord Hugh's

hunting cap. Next day the vassals were summoned to a

Court at Lovat, the shepherd among the rest. As he

approached the first object he saw was the cap with the

arrow sticking in it on the table. " Is that yours ? " asked

his Lordship. An undaunted answer in an instant staggered

him. "Think ye," replied the shepherd, "that I were a fit

person to guard your sheep-cot if I could not shoot ?"

" Aim better next time," was the lordly reply, while he

ordered the shepherd to receive one of the best yew bows in

Lovat, and to be allowed to go his way on that occasion.

His Lordship was a great promoter of the manly sports

and an expert bowman. Being, as already stated, the general

custom for all the nobility of the district to meet at

stated periods for tilting, fencing, riding, and such exercises.

At one of these rencontres, in the Chapel Yard at Inverness,

Lovat dismounted Grant of Grant and the Sheriff of Moray,

although both of them were famed for their strength and

skill. This, with some unrecorded taunt which followed

so irritated these gentlemen as to occasion sharp words

between them and his Lordship, accompanied by a threat
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of revenge, when Lovat replied that as he had already given

them a specimen of his tilting he would try the mettle of

their riding. Dashing the rowels into his steed he rode

through the River Ness, and made straight for the hill of

Clachnaharry, bidding them to pursue and keep a pace.

Here he leaped his horse over the ledge of a precipitous

rock, and invited his pursuers to follow him if they dared.

But they, terrified at the appearance of the place, judged

it wisest to desist. The impression, says our author, made

by his horse's shoes was visible for upwards of 60 years

after, as it was kept clean by a man who had an annual

pension for preserving it.

Towards the close of 1576 he went south to concert

measures with the Earl of Morton for tranquilising the

northern parts of the Kingdom, and he died at Towie, in

Mar, on his way back from Edinburgh on the 1st of

January, 1576-77, from inflammation of the lungs "though

there were many who hesitated not to avow their suspicions

of his having fallen a victim to poison, the execrable practice

of that unfortunate era." His body was carried north on

the 1 8th of January, accompanied by not fewer than two

thousand of his own clan, of the Grants, Mackintoshes, and

others, to Beauly, where he was interred in the Priory.

The author of the Advocates' Library MS. describes the

journey north, his death, and funeral in the following

terms :

—
" Having finished his business with the Regent,

he set out for the North, and intending to pay a visit to

the Lady Dowager of Mar, he kept his Christmas with her,

and the night after he had parted with her he was seized

with a pleuratic fever in Towie of Mar, which in two or

three days cut him off in the very prime of his age, the

first day of January, 1576-77, aged 29 years. He was a

nobleman of as consummate parts and abilities as any in the

nation. His untimely death, says a gentleman speaking of

him, defeated and broke the greatest design that ever any

Lord Lovat had attempted. He had agreed with the Laird

of Grant about the baronies of Urquhart and Glenmoriston,

and had he lived to come home was to have been put in
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possession of all the lands betwixt Chanonry and Beauly.

When the report of his death came to Lovat, William

Fraser of Struy, Tutor and uncle, ordered the whole name
of Fraser to meet him at Tomnahurich, near Inverness, and

out of them 800 or 900 men were chosen to march forward

from this rendezvous to carry his body from Towie to the

Aird. Thomas of Knockie, his brother, afterwards Laird

of Strichen, and Struy had the command of these men, and

under them were 24 gentlemen head of families as officers

to conduct them. The Laird of Fowlis sent 100 Munros,

well-appointed, to join them. They set out on the 7th of

January for Mar, through Strathspey, and on their march

were joined by several gentlemen of the Mackintoshes and

Grants, who accompanied them all the way. At Towie, all

the gentlemen of Mar, and the young Earl at their head

met them. They set out from Towie on the iSth of Jan-

uary, and the weather growing serene and fair beyond

expectation, they arrived with the body at Lovat on the

26th. There was never such a funeral seen in these parts

for grandeur and magnificence. There were upwards of

2000 men under arms that conveyed the body to Inverness,

besides all the nobility in the South. They arrived at

Lovat on the 1st of February, and his remains were laid

among the ashes of his noble ancestors before the great

altar in the Priory Church of Beauly. Alexander Fraser,

whom he had deputed under him as Captain of the Castle

at Inverness, upon the first report of his death, sighed out

the following distich in Gaelic, which is still remembered

and repeated in the country :

—

'S beag an ioghnadh mis' bhi bochd,

'S mor an lochd rinn oimsa Dia,

'S gun chailleadh an Tollaidh Mhar,

Mac Shimidh 's fhearr 'thainig riamh.

His Lordship married Lady Elizabeth Stewart, daughter

of John, fourth Earl of Atholl, Chancellor of Scotland, with

issue

—

1. Simon, his heir and successor.

2. Thomas, who died in his ninth year.
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3. Margaret, who married James dimming of Altyre, with

issue. Shaw (second edition) says that dimming had a

tocher with her of 3700 merks. She was infeft in the lands

of Relugas, which she had for a jointure, in 1602. Cul-

bokie, Strichen, and Belladrum are the witnesses. " She is

given to Altyre, sno pura virginitate—a phrase so often

repeated in the charter that it seems to have been looked

on, in the Aird, in those days, as something unusual."

4. Mary, who married Sir Hector Munro of Fowlis, with

issue.

Hugh had also a natural son,

Alexander, who married Janet, daughter of Fraser of

Moniack.

He lived in turns at Bunchrew, Kinmylies, and Dalcross.

His Lordship's widow, described by Robertson, the his-

orian, as "a woman intolerable in all the imperfections of

her sex," at the next Christmas married Robert, Earl of

Lennox and March, grand-uncle of James VI. The match,

says Anderson, appears to have been assumed as a mere

cloak to a criminal intrigue with Captain James Stewart,

afterwards Earl of Arran, and Lord Chancellor. She finally

divorced the Earl of March " for a reason," says the great

historian already quoted, "no modest woman will ever

plead," and married Captain Stewart, to whom she was with

child before her separation from her former husband. The
marriage, which was solemnised with great pomp, was

beheld by all ranks with the utmost horror. Two sons

were the fruit of this unhallowed union, the eldest of whom
was James Stewart of Killeith, afterwards Lord Ochiltree.

" If the outrage on public decency was great the grossest

abuse of their exalted station was manifested by Arran and

his abandoned wife." After running a career of violence

and ambition the Earl, her husband, was attacked, while

riding home through Symontown, near Douglas, accom-

panied by a servant or two, by Sir James Douglas of

Parkhead, nephew of the Regent Earl of Morton, in

revenge of Arran's vigorous procedure against his uncle,

and slain on the spot. Arran's head was cut off and carried
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on the point of a lance in a sort of triumph through the

country, and so little charity was shown to his headless body

that Calderwood, the ecclesiastical historian, says that before

it was buried it was exposed to dogs and swine. But his

death was afterwards avenged. In 1608 Sir James Douglas,

who slew him, was met by Captain William Stewart, Arran's

nephew, on the High Street of Edinburgh, when the latter,

drawing his sword, ran it through Sir James' body, who fell

down dead without uttering a word. Thus fell and thus

was avenged the Earl of Arran, a person, says Robertson,

" remarkable for all the vices which render a man formid-

able to his country, and a pernicious counsellor to his

prince, without one virtue to counterbalance these vices,

unless dexterity in conducting his own designs and an

enterprising courage may pass by the name." To such

straits was Arran reduced at one time that he was obliged

to come north to the Aird and live concealed in the

small island in Loch Bruiach, a few miles from Beaufort

Castle.

The following appears as a footnote at pages 399-400,

Vol. III., of the printed Records of the Privy Council,

regarding this Dowager Lady Lovat, and her second and

third husbands :

—

"This (6th of July, 1581) was the date of the Earl of Arran's

marriage to a woman who was to be celebrated henceforward in

connection with him in the affairs of Scotland. She was Elizabeth

Stewart, daughter of John, fourth Earl of Atholl, late Chancellor

of Scotland, and had been twice married already. Her first

husband, Hugh Fraser, sixth (? seventh) Lord Lovat, having died in

January, 1576-77, she had married the King's great-uncle, Robert

Stewart, Earl of Lennox; and it was she as 'Lady Levinex' or

' Madame de Lenox,' or ' Dame Elizabeth Stewart, Countess of

Lennox,' that had managed in January, 1579-80 that important trans-

action of the delivery of the documents of the Lennox Earldom to

the King's new French favourite, Lord Aubigny, which was the

necessary preliminary to the demission of the Earldom itself by her

husband in favour of his nephew. The demission having been com-

pleted in the following March when her husband ceased to be Earl

of Lennox, and became Earl of March instead, she had been known

since then— i.e. for about sixteen months—as the Countess of March.
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To be wife of the King's great-uncle, with whatever title, was a high

dignity ; but it did not suffice. She was young and very beautiful
;

her husband was old, and there had come on the scene one of more

kindred spirit, in the daring and magnificent James Stewart of

Ochiltree, Captain of the King's Guard, and since Earl of Arran.

The consequences had become public. At a time when March,

Arran, and Arran's father, Lord Ochiltree, were all sitting together

at the Council Board (sederunt of May the 30th, 1581) there was

a famous suit in progress by the Countess of March for divorce from

her husband, on the ground of his inability to be a husband. The
divorce had been obtained easily enough; and now, July 6th, 1581,

the Earl of Arran and she were legally married. She was then three

months gone with child. The circumstances caused great scandal

among the clergy and among the people generally, but at Court they

do not seem to have made much difference. Arran continued to sit

in Council as usual, and he and his new wife were at Court together.

The Earl of March seems to have gone into comparative retirement."

Lord Hugh died on the 1st of January, 1576-77, and

was succeeded by his eldest son,

XIII. SIMON, EIGHTH LORD FRASER,

Who was a minor in his fifth year when his father died.

The first important event in the affairs of the family at

this period was a dispute about the Tutorship during the

minority of the young Lord between his uncle, Thomas

Fraser of Knockie, and his granduncle, William Fraser

of Struy. There could have been no doubt that the uncle

as nearest of kin had the legal right to this important

position, but the granduncle pleaded that he had been

Tutor and guardian to Hugh, Lord Simon's father, and

that he had performed the responsible duties of the office

with credit to himself and advantage to the estate and clan.

Each had their supporters, and we have the following

account of the dispute and its settlement :—After the in-

terment of Hugh Lord Lovat, his brother Thomas, who
made his appearance at the head of 500 men, and the

principal gentlemen of the clan, met at Glascharn, near

Beaufort, to elect a Tutor to the young Lord, who was but

five years of age. Of these 300 were men in arms.

William Fraser of Struy, granduncle to the Lord Lovat,
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insisted that he had an undoubted right to the Tutory,

having" formerly executed that trust with fidelity and

approbation. Thomas, on the other hand, urged his claims

as nearest of kin, being uncle to the young nobleman. The
clansmen were split into factions, and it seemed as if the

dispute could only end by the sword, when the Rev.

Donald Fraser Dubh, the first Protestant minister of Ward-

law, now Kirkhill, dreading the consequences of an appeal

to arms, withdrew secretly from the meeting, and repaired

to Beaufort, where the Lady Dowager then resided. He
informed her of what had passed, and painting in forcible

and eloquent terms the folly and misery of such a contest

between members of the clan themselves, he besought her

to interpose her authority and urge upon Struy to waive

his pretensions, as otherwise a day more fatal to the Frasers

than even that of Kinlochlochy might ensue. To this

request her ladyship made an evasive reply
;

professions

of esteem for himself as a clergyman were liberally

bestowed, but propriety and a regard to her own dignity

forbade her going to the meeting, since neither of the

disputants had considered her worthy of being consulted

earlier in a matter in which she was so much interested,

"and whatever befel," she added, should the sword decide

it, "not a drop of Stewart blood would be spilt" in the

quarrel. The Rev. Donald Dubh, enraged and irritated at

this taunt, instantly unsheathed his dirk, and told her lady-

ship, in strong and decided terms, emphasised by the use

of a very unclerical adjective, that her Stewart blood would

be the first spilt did she for another moment continue to

refuse compliance with his request to write to Struy re-

questing him to yield to his nephew, who was Tutor-at-law,

for it was strongly suspected that he was acting against

Knockie at her ladyship's instigation. This brought about

the desired result. Fear extorted what entreaty failed in.

She wrote to Struy in the terms demanded of her ; he

gave up his claims ; and Knockie was unanimously elected

Tutor, a trust which he discharged so well as to be re-

membered, says the family chronicler, "in the memory of
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our fathers by the name of the Good Tutor of Lovat."

On the 23rd of March, 1576-77, John, Earl of Argyll,

becomes surety that Thomas should administer the office

of Tutor to the benefit of his ward, Simon Fraser, pupil,

son and heir of Hugh, Lord Lovat. The letters appointing

him seems to have been dated only three days earlier, for

this date is given in an action in which decree is granted

against him on the 6th of March, 1577-78, at the instance

of Elizabeth Stewart, Lady Lovat, and in which mention is

made of the testament of the late Hugh, Lord Fraser of

Lovat, dated at Elgin, the 1st of January, 1576-77, by

which his Lordship "constituted and ordained John, Earl of

Atholl, and Elizabeth Stewart, Tutors testamentors to his said

son Simon," this being the month in which Lord Hugh
died.

The next step which Knockie took on assuming office

was to appoint a Court of Regality at Beauly, where the

late Lord's patent under the Great Seal was read in

presence of all the friends of the family, and afterwards he

took the members of his Court along with him to settle

all the estate marches, particularly those of the Priory lands

to the north. He then held another meeting at Beauly

where Lord Lovat's right to all the lands in possession of

the Priory was acknowledged. The monks, sometime

before this, had, for some reason or other, been dispos-

sessed, but he allowed them to remain in the cells and

made provision for their maintenance for the rest of their

lives. Their Doctors of Divinity, assisted by Greyfriars and

Missionary priests, served the Church cure of Inverness, of

which Lord Lovat was the principal heritor, until about

1578, when the Tutor, having obtained the patronage of the

adjoining parish of Bona in his own person confirmed to

him under the Great Seal, had it annexed to the parish of

Inverness, and gave his concurrence to the authorities of

the town in appointing the Rev. Thomas Howieson, who
had been ordained as a Catholic clergyman, but had now
joined the Reformed faith and become the first Presbyterian

minister of Inverness.
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The Lord Regent and the Privy Council having been

informed that proclamations by the Earl of Argyll were

being made to convocate great numbers of men in a war-

like manner for the pursuit and invasion of Donald Mac
Angus of Glengarry, their Lordships issued letters dated

Holyrood House, the 19th of February, 1577-78, charging

Thomas Fraser of Knockie, Tutor of Lovat, Colin Mackenzie

of Kintail, John Grant of Freuchie, Lachlan Mackintosh of

Dunachton, Robert Munro of Fowlis, Alexander Ross of

Balnagowan, Ranald MacRanald of Keppoch, and Alex-

ander Chisholm of Strathglass, with their whole forces,

to get themselves into full readiness to "pass forward,

assist, succour, and defend the said Donald Mac Angus

of Glengarry, his friends and servants, their bounds, goods,

and gear, for the safety and defence thereof from the

invasion of whatsoever persons pursuing the same, as they

shall receive advertisement from the said Donald of the

imminent danger and invasion, and to remain so long as

the appearance of danger continues, under pains of tinsel

of life, lands, and goods."

About the same time a dispute arose between the Tutor

and Colin Mackenzie, XL of Kintail. There were no fixed

marches dividing the lands of the Priory of Beauly and the

neighbouring estates to the north of it. Mackenzie " having

his eye " upon the disputed lands, assembled his followers

and marched into the district with the intention of appro-

priating them to himself. The Tutor of Lovat learning this,

gathered his vassals at Beauly, determined that Kintail

should not obtain a footing in his neighbourhood. Munro

of Fowlis, a fast friend of Knockie, advanced to his assist-

ance as far as the banks of the river Conon, with 300 of his

followers. This formidable array alarmed Mackenzie, and

he entered on peaceful negotiations, whereupon such terms

were agreed to as were consistent with the Tutor's rights.

He then withdrew his men, and all the differences which

arose were soon forgotten. Mr Edmund Chisholm Batten

suggests that these terms included a condition that Lord

Lovat should marry Catherine, eldest daughter of Colin
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of Kintail, which he afterwards did when he was only

seventeen years old.*

A charter by the Abbot of Kinloss to Hugh Lord Fraser

of Lovat, his Lordship's father, of the lands of Ardnagrask,

was confirmed to Simon Lord Lovat " pupilli, filii et

haeredis diet, quondam Hugoni Domini Fraser de Lovat,

nunc in sua minore et tenera aetate," on the 10th of August,

1 579. This charter, along with the one granted to the

deceased Lord Hugh by Prior Walter Reid, and the sasines

following thereon to himself and his son Simon, now Lord

Lovat, were confirmed in 1584 by Act of Parliament, by

the King and Estates, reciting the good services rendered

by the deceased Lord Hugh, and his heir Lord Simon,

although the latter was at that date only twelve years old.

The services reported were however no doubt rendered by

his Tutor.

On the nth of March, 1579-80, there is a decree of the

Lords of Session ordering the registration of a bond by

Hugh, Lord Fraser of Lovat, to David Vans, Leith, dated

the 26th of April, 1572, and already referred to, which at

the first named date had been transferred to Simon, Lord

Fraser of Lovat, Hugh's son and heir, and to Thomas
Fraser of Knockie, his Tutor.

On the 4th of May, 1580, the Lords of Session pro-

nounce a decree at the instance of Simon, Lord Fraser

of Lovat, son and heir of the umquhile Hugh, Lord Fraser

of Lovat, and Thomas Fraser of Knockie, his Tutor, against

Donald Dubh Fraser, minister of Wardlaw, for the pro-

duction of certain tacks of teinds.

On the 10th of July, 1581, letters of Tutory are granted

under the Great Seal, by which James, Earl of Arran, Lord

Hamilton " is lawfully constituted Tutor dative by our

Sovereign Lord to Simon, Lord Fraser of Lovat, son and

heir of the umquhile Hew, Lord Fraser of Lovat, Anna
and Margaret Fraser, his daughters, pupils." This docu-

ment proves beyond a doubt that Hugh Lord Fraser of

Lovat left only one son and two daughters, notwithstanding

* The Priory ofBeauly, pp. 27S-79.
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the statement in Douglas's Peerage and Baronage that he

left a second daughter Elizabeth, for had there been any

other surviving children they would have been included

in the letters of Tutory.

On the 14th of July, 158 r, the Lords of Session pro-

nounce sentence at the instance of Dame Elizabeth Stewart,

Countess of Arran, widow of Hugh, Lord Fraser of Lovat,

and the Earl of Arran, her present husband, against

Thomas Fraser of Knockie, Tutor of Lovat, pretended

factor appointed by the Earl of March, her pretended

husband, ordering the Sheriff of Inverness to eject him

from her terce lands.

On the 1st and 2nd of March, 1582, a contract is made,

and registered on the second of these days, between Dame
Elizabeth Countess of Arran, relict of the late Hugh Lord

Fraser of Lovat, and James Earl of Arran, Lord Avon and

Hamilton, her spouse, for his interest, for themselves and

as taking burden for John MacRanald, in Caithnock, on

the one part, and an honourable man, Thomas Fraser of

Knockie, Tutor in law to Simon, now Lord Lovat on the

other part, which narrates
—"That so much as the said

umquhile Hugh, Lord Fraser of Lovat, in his latter will

and testament nominated and ordained the said Elizabeth,

Countess of Arran, his relict, tutrix testamentor to Simon,

now Lord Lovat, his son, by reason whereof the said lady

intromitted with the said Lord's living until the year of God

1578, since the which time, the said Thomas, as Tutor of

law to the said Simon Lord Lovat, has used the said office

of Tutory lawfully, and has intromitted with so much of the

said Simon Lord Lovat's living, as appertains to the said

Tutory, beginning at the year of our God, 1579, and con-

tinually since syne, as he does yet." Therefore it is agreed

that either of the parties shall ratify, as they then do,

the other party's right, " and intromission foresaid, and

shall never impugn nor call the same in question or doubt

in time coming ; nor shall the said noble lady pretend

further title to the said office of Tutory, neither testamentor

nor dative, nor in time coming, till the said Simon Lord
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Lovat, on his obtaining perfect years." Following- upon

this agreement a discharge, dated at Kinnell, the 4th and

registered on the 9th of March, 1582, is given by James

Earl of Arran, and by Elizabeth Countess of Arran, to

Thomas Fraser of Knockie, for the sum of £1130 6s 8d,

in full payment of 2500 merles which Thomas became

bound to pay as part of the stipulations made in the

contract.

At Edinburgh, on the 22nd of April, 1583, Thomas

Fraser of Knockie, Tutor of Lovat, enters into an agree-

ment with John Wardlaw, burgess of Edinburgh, David

Vans, and John Vans his son, both residing in Leith, to

sell—to Wardlaw the equal half, and to the Vanses the

other equal half of the victual, bear, meal, and salmon

following, etc.—ten chalders bear, six chalders, four bolls,

oatmeal, four lasts and one-half last salmon, good and

sufficient merchant ware, full red and sweet.

On the following day there is an obligation, dated at

Holyrood House, by Hucheon Fraser of Guisachan as

cautioner for William Fraser of Foyers, Andrew MacFinlay,

Vic Euir, Ago MacAndoy, and all others that he may stop

or let, and also by the said William Fraser of Foyers

as cautioner for the said Hucheon Fraser of Guisachan,

William, Alaster, and Hucheon Fraser, his three sons,

Andrew Kelloch, and all others that he may let or stop,

as follows—The foresaid persons and all others that may
stop or let, " shall desist and cease from the feu lands and

living pertaining to Simon, Lord Fraser of Lovat, woods,

fishing, and deer, and from cutting of the woods of Strath-

glass, molesting or troubling the waters of Forne, Kiltarlity,

and Kilmorack, and from slaying of any red or black fish

with spears, nets, or any other instruments, or raving or

taking them from 'Carynais' by any manner of ways ; from

hunting or slaying of the deer of Strathglass ; and last, they

shall assist the said Lord, his chamberlains, factors, and

servants in his name in brouking and uptaking of the duties

of the feu and blench lands and living, using the fishings,

wood, and deer, to his own use and commodity in all time
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coming'." The penalty for William Fraser of Foyers and

Hucheon Fraser of Guisachan is ^iooo each, toties guoties,

as the premises shall happen to be contravened ; and each

of them obliges himself and his heirs to warrant and relieve

the other of the premises and of all pain and danger that

they shall happen to sustain therethrough. Hucheon of

Guisachan signs his own name to this contract, but William

of Foyers with " my hand at the pen, led by Johnne Andro,

notar, at my command, as I can nocht write." There is

another cautionary bond in the same year by Hucheon

Fraser of Guisachan and others in favour of William Fraser

of Struy, several others, and of "all the said William

Fraser, men, tenants, and servants, and others that he may
let." William of Struy goes caution for William Mac-

Hucheon Roy, his household, and all others that he may
let, to the effect that all the parties shall observe the injunc-

tions of the former act of caution, dated the 23rd of April

preceding, concerning the feu lands, fishing, and deer

belonging to Simon Lord Fraser of Lovat. The penalty

for William Fraser of Struy is £1000 and for William

MacHucheon Roy, 500 merks.

On the 26th of April, 1585, an agreement which was

entered into at Beauly in November, 1575, between Hugh
Lord Fraser of Lovat, Simon's father, and Thomas Fraser

of Knockie respecting certain feu-duties which Thomas
undertook to pay from the lands of Farnlye and Urquhayne

is registered at the instance of Simon Lord Fraser of

Lovat, son and heir of the umquhile Hugh Lord Fraser

of Lovat, his father, and James Earl of Arran, John Earl

of Montrose, Sir John Maitland of Thirlestan, and Sir

Robert Melville of Murdo Cairny, his curators.

On the 10th of June in the same year George, Bishop

of Moray, with the consent of the Dean and Chapter of

the Cathedral Church of Moray, leased the great tithes of

Wardlaw to Simon Lord Fraser of Lovat for £40 a year

for his own life and that of any heir nominated by him,

for the life of the survivor, and for nineteen years after.

Alexander, Bishop of Moray, confirmed the lease in 160/,
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and in i6r7 the vicarage and small tithes of the same

parish were leased to the same Lord Simon for life and

his heirs-male for nineteen years at an annual rent of £4.

On the 20th of September, 1585, John Gordon of Pitlurg

becomes security in ,£1000 for Alexander Chisholm of

Comar that Simon, Lord Fraser of Lovat, his tenants and

servants, shall be scaithless of the said Alexander in their

bodies, lands, woods, fishings, steadings, and goods.

Mr Anderson says that although young Simon showed

no great inclination for letters, his uncle and Tutor, Thomas

Fraser of Knockie sent him to King's College, Aberdeen,

where he was placed under the care of Mr Rate, sub-Prin-

cipal, while his private studies were directed by Mr James

Spens, whom his Lordship styles his pedagogue. In a

little time he became so unruly as to compel the Regent

to intimate to his uncle that he could no longer take charge

of him. On learning this and becoming apprehensive of

his guardian's displeasure, Simon in July, 1586, fled to

Ireland with an Irish fellow student. " His flight threw

the Tutor into the greatest dilemma. The inquiries set on

foot met with no success, till about six months afterwards,

when he received a letter from his ward acquainting him

that he had a curiosity to see Ireland, where he was a

resident under the hospitable roof of the Earl of Antrim,

who used him as his own child." Knockie proceeded

without delay to the King, explained the situation, and

procured a letter from his Majesty commanding the Earl

to restore the runaway Lord to his friends. This was ulti-

mately done, for in June 1588, he returned home, having

been absent for nearly two years.

Mr Edmund Chisholm Batten says that "the person with

whom his Lordship was staying was Sorley Buy, who styled

himself Lord of the Route, and is named with Macangus
M'Onell of the Glens," as witnesses to the bond of inter-

diction executed by Lord Simon in 1587.*

Before Simon's return, however, and on discovering his

retreat, and apprehensive that he might be led into

* Priory of Beaitly, p. 277.

9
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measures injurious to his own and his kindred's interests,

the Tutor prevailed upon him to execute a deed, dated at

"Air and Glaimorne in Ireland, the 15th of September and

3rd October, 1587," and recorded on the 27th of the latter

month, in the following terms :

—

" Be it known to all men by these present letters, me, Simon, Lord

Fraser of Lovat, with express consent, assent, and advice of my
curators, underscribing, for eschewing of the craft and deceit of such

persons as, for their own profit, might twist or move me to dispone

any part of my lands and leasing, and for keeping thereof together

till such time as I may have sufficient experience of worldly affairs, to

be bound, and by the tenor thereof, binds and obliges me, that I shall

neither sell, annalzie, nor put away any of my lands, baronies, rooms

or possessions, nor make any assignations, resignations, nor renounce,

nor discharge any actions that may be competent, nor grant

tacks longer than five years, and that without diminution of the old

rental that was paid of before to me or my predecessors. In short

that I shall neither directly or indirectly do nor perform any deed

that may hurt me or my heirs anent our said living, or anywise

diminish the rental thereof, without the special advice, consent, and

assent of my honourable friends after nominated : To wit, James,

Lord Stewart, late Chancellor of this Realm ; Dame Elizabeth Stewart,

Lady Lovat, his spouse
;
James, Lord of Doune ; Thomas Kennedy

of Bargony ; Patrick Gordon in Auchindown ; Alexander Fraser of

Philorth ; Sir William Stewart of Coverston, Knight ; Thomas Fraser

of Knockie ; and William Fraser of Struy ; at least three of them

obtained thereto, the said James, Lord Stewart, Lord Chancellor,

or his said spouse, being always one of the three."

Among the witnesses to the deed are " Sorill M'Konell,

Lord of the Routt," and " MacAngus M'Onell of the Glenis,"

and it is signed " Symon, Lord Fraiser of Lovett," James,

Lord Chancellor, and others.

On the 10th of October, 1586, Lord Simon Fraser of

Lovat received charters of confirmation of Easter and

Wester Kinmylies and other lands in Inverness-shire as

great-grand child of Hugh Lord Lovat, granted by Patrick

Hepburn, Bishop of Moray, to his grandfather.

In the Roll of 1587, giving the names of landlords and

bailies "quhair broken men hes duelt and presentlie duellis,"

Lord Lovat and his Tutor are mentioned.

On the 3rd of August, 1588, Thomas Fraser of Knockie
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gives caution for Marjorie Fraser, Lady Ratie, John Fraser

of Creichie, and Alexander Fraser, his son, that they will

not molest Jonett Chrystesoun.

In a complaint by Lady Ross of Fowlis and four others

charged with "witchcraft and other forged and feigned

crimes" which came before the Privy Council at Edinburgh,

on the 4th of June, 1589, it is decided that in certain

eventualities, a commission shall be given to Thomas

Fraser of Knockie, Tutor of Lovat, John Urquhart of

Cadboll, Tutor of Cadboll, and Alexander Bayne of Tulloch,

or any two of them, to adminster justice "conforme to the

lawis of this realme." On the 4th of August, in the same

year, James Forbes of Corsindal as principal, and Thomas
Fraser of Knockie as his surety, grant caution that he will

not harm Marion Caddell, relict of Alexander Forbes of

Braidhauch, her bairns, tenants, or servants. On the 1st

of November, 1590, the Earls of Atholl and Moray, Lord

Lovat, John Grant of Freuchy, John Campbell of Calder,

Thomas Stewart of Grandtully, Patrick Grant of Rothie-

murchus, Sutherland of Duffus, and Archibald Grant of

Balintore, entered into an alliance offensive and defensive,

directed against the Earl of Huntly. On the 16th of

December following, Simon Lord Lovat is among the

chiefs of clans who are ordered to give caution for good

rule in their respective districts, the amount in his case

being £ 10,000.

In 1590, Simon Lord Fraser of Lovat was served heir

to his father and grandfather at Inverness, when the Tutor

submitted his accounts in such "good order that he obtained

the universal approbation of all present. He not only freed

all the mortgages on the estate, without a sixpence of debt,

but likewise added 5000 pounds Scots a year to it. Thus
Lord Lovat entered upon the possession of 80 davochs of

land without feu or mortgage, and (the rent) amounted at

that time to 40,000 merks Scots." It is therefore no wonder

that Thomas of Knockie should be long remembered as

the "Good Tutor" of Lovat. On the 9th of February,

1590-91, caution is again given by him as principal, and by
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John Grant of Freuchy as surety for his Lordship, for

another ;£io,000. On the 6th of March following-, Thomas

Fraser of Knockie is appointed a Commissioner from the

General Assembly of the Kirk.

On the 29th of August, 1592, Simon receives a charter

of the barony of Beauly as great-grandchild of Hugh Lord

Lovat, deceased.

Thomas Fraser of Knockie, on the 3rd of March, 1592-93,

becomes surety for 5000 merks that Alexander Fraser of

Philorth will not assist the Earls of Huntly and Errol, and

others guilty of the Jesuit and Spanish Conspiracy, and of

the murder of the Earl of Moray at Donniebristle.

On the 9th of the same month, Simon Lord Lovat is

appointed Councillor for the Earl of Atholl, His Majesty's

Lieutenant in the North, along with his Tutor, Thomas
Fraser of Knockie, John Grant of Freuchie, Colin Mac-

kenzie of Kintail, Lachlan Mackintosh of Dunachton,

George Ross of Balnagowan, and others for the following

purposes :— (1). To apprehend George Earl of Huntly,

William Earl of Angus, Francis Earl of Errol, Sir Patrick

Gordon of Achindoun, Sir James Chisholme of Dundorne,

"and all other Jesuits and seminary priests, and trafficking

papists, treasonable practisers against the estate of the true

religion presently professed within this realm, his Highness'

person, crown, and liberty of this country." (2). To appre-

hend and present to the King and Council or to the justice

for punishment, the persons following, all at the horn for

treasonable fire-raising and burning of the place of Donnie-

bristle and murder of James Earl of Moray. Then follows

the names, beginning with the Earl of Huntly and Sir

Patrick Gordon of Auchindoun, the remainder being a long

list almost entirely Gordons. (3). To repress, or apprehend

and try by assize, all thieves, sorners, masterful oppressors,

" hieland and lauland brokin men," and others within the

same bounds that may hereafter commit "murthour,

slauchter, fyre-rasing, thift and ressett of thift, revissing of

wemen, maisterfull reiff and oppressioun." (4). In case

the malefactors above-mentioned flee to houses of strength,



XIII. SIMON, EIGHTH LORD FRASER. 1 33

to charge the keepers of the same to render them, under

the pain of treason, "and they dissobeyand, to persevv and

assege the saidis houssis." (5). For the above purposes to

charge all the lieges within the said bounds to convocate

themselves in arms and follow the said Commissioner upon

such days and at such places as he shall appoint, under pain

of loss of life, lands, and goods. (6). To charge persons

at his discretion to appear before him and find caution for

their obedience, under the same penalty. (7). To charge

persons standing under deadly feud to give mutual assur-

ance, or find caution, for keeping the peace, under the same

penalty. (8). To charge the houses of the said conspirators

and their resetters to be rendered, under pain of treason.

(9). To make acts for keeping good rule in the country,

and for punishing the disobedient by death, warding,

banishment, or pecuniary penalties, according to the quality

of their offence.

The Commission is to continue until discharged by the

King, and to the effect that the Commissioner and his

deputes may "find their pains and troubles herein well

bestowed," his Majesty dispones to them the escheat goods

of all persons that may be convicted by them of reset of

the traitors or intercommuning with them, with power to

them, or those who may notify or discover the names of

such offenders, to intromit with the said escheat goods after

conviction, " and so much thereof to their own use to apply

as they shall think good, and the rest in whole or in part to

dispone to the said discoverers and notifiers," at the dis-

cretion always of the Commissioner, to whom his Highness

promises, moreover, to dispone the gift of half of the lands

of such offenders, " after the process and doom of forfeiture

has been pronounced and led against them." All previous

commissions of Lieutenancy and Justiciary within the said

bounds are discharged ; and the proclamation of the pre-

misses is ordered at the Market Crosses of the head burghs

of the respective shires, with commands to the lieges there,

to rise and assist the said Commissioner, whenever warned,

under pain of loss of life, lands and goods ; and finally, all
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licenses and exemptions granted to any of the inhabitants

within the bounds, "from raids, assizes, or in quests," are

withdrawn and declared null and void.

After the surrender of the Church lands to the Crown,

Lord Lovat, on the 15th of August, 1592, obtained a new
charter from the King of the lands and Priory of Beauly,

erecting it into a free barony called the barony of Beauly.

The charter, proceeding on his own resignation, is in favour

of his heirs-male and assignees whatsoever. Soon after this,

also on his own resignation, he receives a Crown charter

of the lands of Easter and Wester Aigas, and of the forest

of Browling, with the same destination as the preceding one.

In 1593, when the King came north in pursuit of the

Earls of Huntly, Angus, and Errol, known as "the Banished

Lords," Lovat, with several hundred of his friends and clan,

proceeded to Aberdeen to meet his Majesty, who formed

a very good opinion of him "as a nobleman inviolably

attached to the interest of the Crown, and the keeping up

the splendour of the Royal dignity, for he was a most

expensive man, and loved show greatly, and perceiving the

great number of his dependants and followers, considered

Lord Lovat as a great and useful subject, and so much
to be encouraged in the paths of loyalty that he and his

illustrious predecessors had ever trod in, and upon that

(the King) dropped some very kind expressions as if he

intended he should be the great man in the northern parts,

and to be set up to curb the insolence and outrage of any

other great man there. Some time after this, the Duke
of Lennox came North as the King's Lieutenant to pursue

the Popish rebel lords, who had fled to Strathnaver, and

being soon recalled to Court he left a deputation with

Lord Lovat, who managed this trust with such admirable

prudence and address that he gained the heart of Huntly

ever after, having been a principal instrument in the Con-

vention in reconciling these Lords to the King."*

On the 15th of June, 1594, Simon Lord Lovat is

appointed by the King one of the assessors of Justiciary

* MS. in the Advocates' Library.
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for the Sheriffdoms of Elgin, Forres, Nairn, Inverness, and

Cromarty. In the same year he gives security in the sum

of ^20,000 that he and all for whom he is answerable shall

keep the King's peace and good rule in the country.

He got into high favour with James VI., by whom he

was created a Lord of the Privy Council and we find him

attending sittings of that body on the 28th of October,

1594; the 9th of January, 1594-95; 5th of February,

1595-96; on the 27th of May, 1597; 2nd of July, 1606;

and on the 21st and 28th of May, 1607; on the 17th, 19th,

24th, and 26th of May, and on the 2nd, 7th, 14th, 16th,

2 1st, 23rd, 28th, and 30th of June ; on the 9th, 12th,

14th, and 21st of July; and 9th of August, all in 1608;

on the 1st, 6th, 8th, 13th, 26th, and 27th of June ; on the

4th, 6th, nth, 13th, 18th, 20th, 25th, and 27th of July;

on the 3rd, 4th, 8th, and 10th of August, all in 1609.

On the 7th of November, 1594, Simon Lord Lovat

makes oath as one of the barons of the North that he will

assist his Majesty's Lieutenant, with his advice and force

at all times and occasions, along with the chiefs of Mac-

kenzie, Grant, Mackintosh, and others, and on the same

date he is appointed a member of the Council of Ludovick

Duke of Lennox, at the time the King's Lieutenant in the

Highlands.

On the death of his maternal uncle, the Earl of Atholl,

this year, when on the failure of heirs-male that dignity

became extinct, Nisbet says that it was offered to Simon,

but that he declined the honour, as it would involve the

sinking of his own family honours of Lord Lovat ; where-

upon the title of Earl of Atholl was de novo conferred on

John Lord Innermeath, by charter under the Great Seal,

he being a Stewart and originally of the same stock as the

old Earls of Atholl.

The author of the Advocates' Library MS. writing on the

same subject says that "the King had an opportunity to

raise Lord Lovat to higher dignity and honour than the

family had hitherto enjoyed. For in the year 1594, John,

Earl of Atholl, Lord Lovat's uncle dying without male issue
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the dignity became extinct and at the disposal of the Crown.

It is well vouched that the King offered the honour and

title of Earl of Atholl to this noble Lord. When the offer

was first made to him he waived giving the King any

positive answer, till he should think upon it and advise with

his friends and relations what might the consequence of his

accepting this new honour be with respect to his own
hereditary dignity of Lord Lovat. After having deliberated

several months, he came back to Court and made his most

humble, thankful, and hearty acknowledgments to his

Majesty for the honour he intended to bestow upon him,

but declined accepting of the honour of Earl of Atholl,

which he conceived was an immerging of his title of Lord

Lovat if not a total sinking of it in the higher honour of

an Earl, and that he was fully satisfied with the title which

he and his ancestors had so long enjoyed by the favour and

bounty of the Crown, and hoped that he and his successors

should still continue that dutiful loyalty and firm adherence

to the Crown in all succeeding ages as his ancestors had

done so many preceding generations before him. To sup-

port this account it is certain that several months passed

betwixt the time of the Earl of Atholl's death, the Lord

Lovat's uncle, and the conferring the dignity of the Earl

of Atholl upon John Lord of Innermeath. For from un-

doubted vouchers and records we are certain that John, the

fifth and last Earl of the first Stewartine line of the Earls of

Atholl died at Perth on the 28th of August, 1594, and Lord

Innermeath was not of new created Earl of Atholl till the

6th of March, 1595, or according to the computation used

in Scotland till 1600, 1596, which is full more than a year

and a half that the matter was in agitation."

In 1595 his Lordship was called to Court by the King,

and in November of that year he was a member of the

Convention held at Dunfermline, where the proposal to

receive the banished Lords into favour was proposed and

discussed.

After his marriage Lord Lovat continued for some time

to reside at Court, and on his return to the North he was
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attended by the Tutor and the principal gentlemen of his

clan, as well as by the Lairds of Philorth, Muchal, and

Durris. "There was no dispute then about being- Chief,

for all the Frasers in Scotland acknowledged Lord Lovat

to be Chief." He loved show and " was very expensive in

building-, as well as in the economy of his family. He lived

in Beauly, which at that time excelled any house in the

North for convenience and accommodation. He repaired

Beaufort and Lovat. He built the house of Bunchrew and

the Castle of Dalcross from the foundation, and had a good

dwelling-house in Inverness." So says the family chron-

icler already quoted.

On the 4th of February, 1597, a serious disturbance took

place at Logie Riach, on the banks of the Conon, county

of Ross, in which the Frasers became interested, on the

occasion of the Candlemas market. The Fraser version of

the incident is as follows—John Macleod MacGillechallum,

brother to Macleod of Raasay, a bravo, who traversed the

country with a band of seven or eight ruffians, committing

every excess with impunity, and the countenance of certain

lairds equally vicious with himself, had laid hold of a shop-

man's wife and seized upon her husband's goods, when he

was beheld by John Bayne, brother of the Laird of Tulloch.

He, being touched with compassion, espoused the weaker

side, and commanded MacGillechallum to desist. From
words they fell to blows. John Bayne gave the ruffian

three mortal wounds, and killed two of his associates. His

only second in this arduous conflict was his foster-brother

Donald Fraser, Mac Alastair ; the uproar spread ; the Mac-

kenzies took the part of MacGillechallum ; the Munros

joined Bayne ; blows were dealt alike on friends and foes

;

numbers were slain, and the chase "or running fight" was

pursued down the Frith to Millachaich. Bayne and his

armour-bearer, retired unhurt to Beauly, where Lord Lovat

protected them and despatched Fraser of Phopachy with

an account of the affair to the King, then at Falkland,

whereupon an ample remission was sent to Bayne, and

his opponents ordered to be proceeded against as traitors.
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The following version of the affair, based on Sir Robert

Gordon's Earldom of Sutherland, Mackenzie family MSS.,
and the records of the Privy Council, is given in Mac-

kenzie's History of the Mackenzies—John MacGillechallum,

a brother of the Laird of Raasay, annoyed the people of

Torridon, which place at that time belonged to the Baynes

of Tulloch. He alleged that Tulloch, in whose house he

was fostered, had promised him these lands as a gift of

fosterage ; but Tulloch, whether he had made a previous

promise to MacGillechallum or not, left the lands of

Torridon to his own second son, Alexander Mor Mac
Dhonnchaidh Mhic Alastair, alias Bayne. He afterwards

obtained a decree against MacGhillechallum for interfering

with his lands and molesting the people, and on a Candle-

mas market, with a large following of armed men, made

up of most of the Baynes, and a considerable number of

Munros, he came to the market stance, at that time held

at Logie. John MacGillechallum, ignorant of Tulloch

"getting the laws against him," and in no fear of his life

or liberty, came to the market as usual, and while standing

buying some article at a chapman's stall, Alastair Mor and

his followers came up behind him unperceived, and, without

any warning, struck him on the head with a two-edged

sword, instantly killing him. A gentleman of the Clann

Mhurchaidh Riabhaich Mackenzies, Ian Mac Mhurchaidh

Mhic Uilleam, a very active and prompt man, was at the

time standing beside him, and he asked who dared to have

spilt Mackenzie blood in that dastardly manner. He had no

sooner said the words than he was run through the body

by one of the swords of the enemy ; and thus, without an

opportunity of drawing their weapons, fell two of the best

swordsmen in the North of Scotland. The alarm and the

news of their death immediately spread through the market.

"Tulloch Ard," the war cry of the Mackenzies, was instantly

raised ; whereupon the Baynes and the Munros took to

their heels—the Munros eastward to the Ferry of Fowlis,

and the Baynes northward to the hills, both followed by a

band of the infuriated Mackenzies, who slaughtered every
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one they overtook. Ian Dubh Mac Choinnich Mhic

Mhurchaidh, of the Clann Mhurchaidh Riabhaich, and

Ian Gallda Mac Fhionnla Dhuibh, two gentlemen of the

Mackenzies, the latter of whom was a Kintail man, were

on their way from Chanonry to the market when they

met in with a batch of the Munros flying- in confusion

and, learning- the cause to be the murder of their friends

at Logie market, they instantly pursued the fugitives, killing

no less than thirteen of them between Logie and the wood

of Millechaich. All the townships in the neighbourhood

of the market joined the Mackenzies in the pursuit, and

Alastair Mor Bayne of Tulloch only saved himself, after all

his men were killed, by taking shelter and hiding for a time

in a kiln-logie. Two of his followers, who managed to

escape from the market people, met with some Lewismen

on their way to the fair, who, noticing the Baynes flying

half naked, immediately stopped them, and insisted upon

their giving a proper account of themselves. This proving

unsatisfactory they came to high words, and from words

to blows, when the Lewismen attacked and killed them at

Ach-an-eilich, near Contin.

The Baynes and the Munros had good cause to regret

the cowardly conduct of their leaders on this occasion at

Logie market, for they lost no less than fifty able-bodied

men in return for the two gentlemen of the Clan Mac-

kenzie whom they had so basely murdered at the fair.

One lady of the Clan Munro lost her three brothers, on

whom she composed a lament, of which the following is

all we could obtain :

—

'S olc a' fhuair mi tus an Earraich,

'S na feill Bride 'chaidh thairis,

Chaill mi mo thriuir bhraithrean geala,

Taobh ri taobh a' sileadh fala.

'Se 'n dithis a rinn mo sharach',

Fear beag dubh a chlaidheamh laidir,

'S mac Fhionnla Dhuibh a Cinntaile

Deadh mhearlach nan adh 's nan aigeach.

When night came on, Alastair Mor Bayne escaped from

the kiln, and went to his uncle Lovat, who at once de-
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spatched James Fraser of Phopachy south with all speed,

to prevent information from the other side reaching the

King before he had an opportunity of relating his version

of the quarrel. His Majesty was at the time at Falkland,

and a messenger from Mackenzie reached him before

Alastair Mor, pursuing for the slaughter of Mackenzie's

kinsman. He got the ear of his Majesty and would have

been successful had not John Dubh Mac Choinnich Mhic

Mhurchaidh meanwhile taken the law into his own hands

by burning, in revenge, all Tulloch's cornyards and barns

at Lemlair, thus giving Bayne an opportunity of presenting

another and counter claim ; but the matter was ultimately

arranged by the King and Council obliging Kintail and

Tulloch mutually to subscribe a contract of agreement and

peaceful behaviour towards each other.*

On the 31st of January, 1602, attention is called by the

Privy Council to the various Acts of Parliament ordaining

wapinshawings over all parts of the Kingdom twice a year,

and to the fact that these and the proper armament of the

lieges having been "altogether neglected and misregarded

in the Highlands," it is ordered that general musters and

wapinshawings be made of the inhabitants of the Highland

bounds on the 10th of March next, before their respective

chiefs, Simon Lord Lovat being named as one. At the

same time a levy is made by the King upon his Lordship

for a hundred men to assist Queen Elizabeth of England

in her wars against her "rebels" in Ireland. On the 9th

of February, the same year, the Earl of Moray promises

to seek the advice and good offices of Simon Lord Lovat,

and others named, in an attempt set on foot to bring about

a reconciliation between him and the Earl of Huntly, and

they are to meet for that purpose on the 20th of April

following. On the 29th of April he and Thomas Fraser,

Tutor of Lovat, are charged, along with several others of

the northern chiefs, to appear before the King and Council

in June next, under pain of rebellion, to give their best

advice for the necessary measures to punish and put down

* History of the Mackenzies, second edition, pp. 180-182.
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the "disordered and broken men of the clans in the

Highlands" who daily commit "open and manifest reifs,

heirships, oppressions, and depredations upon the peaceable

and good subjects of the incountry," and who, not con-

tented with all this, have "taken the boldness in 'oistis,'

troops, and companies, to repair in fair daylight within the

heart of the incountry and to the ports of Elgin, which was

the most peaceable part of the whole land, and there to

some, slay, harry, and oppress at their pleasure
;

" and

understanding farther that this boldness proceeds from the

feuds among the barons and gentlemen of those parts of

the country, who not only neglect their duty of pursuing

and suppressing the depredators, but actually foster them

and employ them against those with whom they have

grudges. Hence the charge to the Highland chiefs to

appear before the King and Council. On the 28th of July

in the same year, the Lords of the Privy Council order,

that because " one of the chief causes which procure the

frequent heirships and enormities committed by the dis-

ordered thieves and limmars of the Clan Cameron, Clan-

ranald, and Mac Ian Abraich, is the free resort and passage

they have through the lands of Symon Lord Lovat, and

others named, the said landlords shall be held answerable

for all reifs by the said thieves the booty of which passes

through their bounds."

On the 29th of June, 1602, Thomas Fraser, Tutor of

Lovat, enters into a bond of caution along with William

Sutherland of Duffus to the amount of 5000 merks for

William Rose of Kilravock, that he and those for whom
he is answerable shall observe the King's peace, that he

shall appear before the King and Council when charged

to do so, and that he shall redress the parties wronged. On
the same date Kilravock gives a bond for the Tutor of

Lovat for the sum of 3000 merks, and the Tutor gives

another, along with John Grant of Freuchie, in 2000 merks

for Angus Williamson of Termit.

Lord Simon is again on record on the 18th of September,

1602, on the 13th of September, 1603, and on the 21st of
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March, 1604, in connection with various bonds of security

to him and by him ; also on the 3rd of May and 15th or

October, 1604. On the 3rd of October, 1606, Lord Simon

sold the lands of Abertarff to Donald MacAngus Mac-

donald, VIII. of Glengarry, under reversion, for 5000

merks. On the 9th of February, 1607, his Lordship

becomes security in ^1000 for Malcolm Fraser, Ruthven,

that he will not harm James Fraser of Phopachy. The
bond is subscribed at Inverness on the same date. On the

20th of May, 1608, he is present as a member of the Con-

vention of Estates. He is one of the Privy Councillors

who, on the 14th of July, 1608, signs a letter addressed to

the King anent the murder of Lord Thorworald that day

in the High Street of Edinburgh. On the 6th of October,

1608, he expedes another special service to himself as heir-

male of entail and provision of the lands of Glenelg. It is

ordered at a meeting of the Privy Council held on the 6th

of February, 1609, that Simon Lord Fraser of Lovat, Ken-

neth Mackenzie, XII. of Kintail, Grant of Grant, the Earl

of Caithness, and other chiefs, appear personally before

their Lordships on the 25th of March following to come

under such order as shall be prescribed to them touching

the finding of caution for the quietness and obedience of

their bounds, and that no fugitive or disobedient Islesmen

shall be reset or supplied within the same, under the pains

of rebellion and horning. His Lordship did not appear,

and his absence was excused, but he is ordained to find

caution as one of the tutors and curators of Ross of

Balnagowan, " under the pain of four thousand pounds,"

within fifteen days after the charge, under pain of rebellion.

On the 21st of March, 1609, he expedes another special

service to himself, in the same capacity as in the preceding

year, of the lands of Glenelg as heir-male to Hugh Lord

Lovat, his great grandfather.

At Edinburgh, on the 28th of the same month, a com-

mission under the Signet, subscribed by the Chancellor

and the Earl of Dunbar, is given to Simon Lord Fraser of

Lovat and three others to apprehend John Mac Murthie,
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son of Ewen Mac Murthie Nashag, "tinklar, suspect and

dilait of treasonable forgeing, prenting, outputting, and

exchangeing of false and adulterat money," and to bring

him before the Privy Council.

On the 28th of June, 1609, Simon appears before the

Privy Council and becomes cautioner in £5000 for Archi-

bald Earl of Argyll, that neither he nor any for whom he

is answerable between the Mull of Kintyre and Lochaber,

shall reset or supply within the said bounds any fugitives

from the Isles, and the Earl in turn becomes bound to

relieve his cautioner.

At a meeting of the Privy Council held on the 20th of

February, 1610, a commission is issued in favour of his

Lordship, Kenneth Mackenzie of Kintail, John Mackenzie

of Gairloch and others, to apprehend certain desperadoes

in Troternish, Isle of Skye, all of whom "remain unrelaxed

from a horning of 1 8th January last," raised against them by

the widow of Donald MacAlastair in Dibaig, " for not

finding caution to answer before the Justice for the stealing

of forty cows and oxen, with all the insight and plenishing

of the said late Donald MacAlastair's house in Dibaig,

worth £1000, and for murdering the said Donald," his

tenants and servants. They are to convocate the lieges

in arms for apprehending these rebels, and to enter them,

when taken, before the Justice to be suitably punished.

On the 29th of March in the same year, another com-

mission is issued in favour of Simon Lord Lovat, Kenneth

Mackenzie of Kintail, Donald Gorm Macdonald of Sleat,

and Donald MacAllan MacRanald, Captain of Clanranald,

against John MacAllan MacRanald, who is described as

" having this long time been a murderer, common thief,

and masterful oppressor " of the King's subjects.*

On the 15th of February, 1610, his Lordship is chosen

one of the Ecclesiastical High Commissioners. This com-

mission was appointed by James VI.

—

" Forasmuch as complaint being made to us in the behalf of the

ministry of this our kingdom, that the frequent advocations purchased

* History of the Mackenzies, second edition, pp. 191-192,
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by such as were either erroneous in religion, or scandalous in life,

not only discouraged the ministry from censuring of vice, but em-
boldened the offenders to continue in their wickedness, using their

advocations as a means to delay and disappoint both trial and

punishment. We, for eschewing of this inconvenience, and the

number of true professors may be known to increase, the anti-Christian

enemy and his growth suppressed, and all sorts of vice and scandalous

life punished, and that neither iniquity nor delay of trial and

punishment be left by this subterfuge of discouraging of ecclesiastical

censures to proceed on things so meet and proper for them, have

out of our duty to God and love to his Kirk, being the nourishing

father of the same on earth within our dominions, give power and

Commission to (the names follow, of which Simon Lord Fraser of

Lovat's is one), or any five of them, the Archbishop of St. Andrews

being always one, to call before them at such times and places as

they shall think meet, any person or persons dwelling and remaining

within their provinces respectively above-written of St. Andrews or

Glasgow, or within any diocese of the same, being offenders either in

life or religion, who they hold anyway to be scandalous ; and that

they take trial of the same. And if they find him guilty and

impenitent, refusing to acknowledge their offence, they shall give

command to the preacher of that parish where they dwell to proceed

with sentence of excommunication against them ; which if it be

protracted and their command by that minister be not presently

obeyed, they shall convene any such minister before them and

proceed in censuring of him for his disobedience either by suspension,

deprivation, or warding, according as in their discretion they shall

hold his obstinancy and refusal of their direction to have deserved,

and further, to fine at their discretions, imprison, or ward, any such

person who, being convicted before them, they shall find upon trial to

have deserved any such punishment. And a warrant under the head

of any five above-named of every province respectively above-written

(the Archbishop of the province being one) shall serve for a sufficient

command for the Captains and Constables of our wards and castles,

and to all keepers of jails or prisons, either to burgh or land, within

any part of the provinces respectively above-written, for receiving and

detaining such persons as shall be unto them directed to be kept by

them, in such form as by the said warrant shall be prescribed, as they

will answer upon the contrary to their peril. And of all such fines as

shall be imposed upon any offender the one half to pertain unto our-

self, and the other half to be employed upon such necessary things as

our said commissioners shall be forced unto by charging of parties

and witnesses to compear before them ; and the surplus to be be-

stowed at the sight of the said Commissioners by distribution among
the poor, Commanding the Lords of our Privy Council, upon sight
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of any certificate subscribed by any five of the said Commissioners

within every province as said is (the said Archbishop of the province

being one) either of any fine imposed by them upon any party com-

pearing and found guilty or of the contumacy and refusal of any to

compear before them, that said Lords of our Privy Council direct a

summary charge of horning upon ten days only ; and that no suspen-

sion or relaxation be granted, without first a testificate under the hand

of the Archbishop of the province, containing the obedience and satis-

faction of the party charged, be produced. And in case of farther

disobedience or rebellion of the party who shall be charged for his

fine or non-compearance, the said Lords of our Council are then to

prosecute the most strict, as is usual against rebels for any other

cause whatsomever. With power to our Commissioners to proceed

herein ; as also to take trial of all persons that have made defection

or otherwise are suspected in religion, and as they find any just cause

against them to proceed in manner foresaid ; and also whensoever

they shall earn or understand of any minister, preacher, or teacher of

schools, colleges or universities, or of exhorting or lecturing readers

within these bounds, whose speeches in public have been impertinent

and against the established order of the Kirk, or against any of the

conclusions of the by-past General Assemblies, or in favour of any of

those who are banished, warded or confined for their contemptuous

offences, which, being no matter of doctrine, and so much idle time

spent without instruction of their auditory to their salvation, ought so

much the more severely to be punished in regard that they are

ministers, who, of all others, should least idle talk, and specially in the

chair of verity. And, therefore, after the calling of them before the

said Commissioners, they are to be questioned and tried upon the

points of that which is laid against them, and punished according to

the quality of their offence. And, whereas, complaint shall be made
unto them by any party that shall be convened before any ecclesias-

tical judicature for any such crime as he shall be then suspected of, or

that the party doth allege always the matter itself to be improper to

that judicature, or the proceeding to have been informal, or that the

judicature itself has been too partial, and where the Commissioners
shall see any just cause, they are then to take trial and cognition

thereof unto themselves, and to discharge the said judicature of all

further proceedings."

Certain formal powers are then given as to the appoint-

ment of clerks and other officers of court, the use of a seal,

the charging- of witnesses, fines for non-attendance, and the

publication of the document "to all our lieges, that none
pretend ignorance thereof," concluding as follows:

—

" Our will is herefore, and we charge you straightly and command
10
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that, incontinent these our letters seen, ye pass to the said burghs

within the provinces above-written and therein by open proclamation

that ye make publication of the premises, that none pretend ignor-

ance ; and also that ye in our name and authority, command and

charge all our lieges and subjects to reverence and obey our said

Commissioners in all and everything tending to the execution of this

our Commission, and do nothing to their hinder or prejudice, as they

and each one of them will answer to us and Council upon their

obedience at their highest charge and peril. To which to do, etc.

Given under our Signet at Edinburgh, the 15th day of February, and

of our reign the 47 years, 1610."

On the 13th of July, 1610, Lord Simon has a charter

of Easter and Wester Aigas as great-grandchild of Hugh
Lord Lovat, deceased. On the 6th of November the

Lords of the Privy Council appoint Simon Lord Fraser

of Lovat, along with Kenneth Lord Mackenzie of Kintail,

and several other chiefs, Commissioners for preserving the

peace in Inverness-shire and Cromarty, then including

Ross, in terms of an Act passed by the Estates of Parlia-

ment at a meeting held at Edinburgh in June, 1609.

On the 20th of June, 161 1, Simon, his Lordship's eldest

son by his second wife, received a charter of the barony or

Kinkell-Fraser in implement of the marriage between Lord

Simon and Lady Jean, daughter of James Stewart, Lord

Doune, afterwards Earl of Moray—" Simon Fraser, filio

legitimo natu maxima prefati n"ri consanguinei Symonis
Domini Fraser de Lovet, inter ipsum et dictum Dominam
Jeanem Stewart ipsius conjugem, legitimi procreat." On
the 30th of July, 161 1, he has a commission to him and

Sir Roderick Mackenzie of Coigeach, Tutor of Kintail, to

convocate the lieges in arms for apprehending William

Mac Hucheon, Mhic Cahile, a servant of John Munro of

Lemlair, who remained unrelaxed from a horning for not

giving caution to appear before the Justice on a charge of

having at night stolen a grey mare and foal from Agnes
Mac Wattie, widow of Donald Mac Mhurchaidh, tenant

of the lands of Straskie under Duncan Bayne of Tulloch.

On the 2 1st of November in the same year he is appointed

a Commissioner along with the Tutor of Kintail, Ross of
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Balnagowan, and three others, within the Sheriffdom of

Inverness, for the trial of persons accused of resetting and

sheltering the Clan Gregor. On the 18th of February,

161 3, Simon Lord Fraser of Lovat, Robert Innes of that

Ilk, Alexander Gordon of Cluny, and John Gordon of

Buckie, receive a commission to convocate the lieges in

arms and use all means and force for apprehending William

Mackintosh of Borlum, Lachlan Mackintosh of Gask, and

a great many others who had been denounced rebels for

not having found caution to appear before the Justice for

the slaughter of John Clerk, of Blackhills, and for divers other

reifs, heirschips, fire-raising, and other crimes. In July 1614

Lord Fraser makes a protestation against Colin Campbell.

This year the Master of Lovat married Lady Isabel,

daughter of Sir John Wemyss of that Ilk, and sister to

the first Earl of Wemyss, and they lived at Beauly while

the father resided chiefly at Lovat.

Early in the summer of 161 6 Lord Lovat and his wife

went south to meet the King who came to Edinburgh and

held a Parliament there, of which his Lordship was a

member. On this occasion his two sons by his second

wife, Simon and James, were knighted by his Majesty at

the Palace of Holyrood, Sir Simon, afterwards of Inver-

allochy, being in his nineteenth year, and Sir James,

subsequently of Brea, being about seven. The latter was

the King's godson, and he is said as such to have received

a handsome sum of money from his Majesty during his

visit to the Scottish Capital.

On their return home Sir Simon, the elder of the two

sons, married Jean, daughter of Sir William Moncrieff of

that Ilk, in the county of Perth, when he was infeft in the

estates of Inverallochy, recently bought by his Lordship,

and Bunchrew was given to him as a residence in order

that he might be within easy distance of his father.

On the 26th of July, 1616, Lord Simon, as great-grand-

child of Hugh Lord Fraser of Lovat, deceased, has a

charter of the manor of Philorth, and of the lands of

Cairnbulg, Inneroth, and Inverallochy. The latter was
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erected into a barony called the barony of Inverallochy,

and given to his Lordship and Jean Stewart, his spouse,

to Sir Simon their eldest son, and Jean Moncrieff his wife,

whom failing
-

, to Lord Simon's own nearest and lawful

heirs-male whomsoever, bearing- the arms and sirname

of Fraser, and being Lords of Lovat, under date of 20th

December in the same year.

The family historian says in this connection that "this

Lord Lovat was highly instrumental in preserving a very

good family of his name, the house of Philorth. Sir Alex-

ander Fraser of Philorth falling low in his circumstances,

his estate came to Forbes of Pitsligo, which Lord Lovat

acquired from him. There is a charter under the Great

Seal to Simon Lord Fraser of Lovat of the lands of

Philorth, proceeding on the resignation of John Forbes

of Pitsligo." The charter is in favour of Lord Simon and

his heirs-male and assignees whatsoever, and is dated the

26th of July, 1616. He then re-conveyed the estate to the

family of Philorth. On the 28th of August, 1616, a Com-
mission of Justiciary is expede under his Majesty's Signet

in favour of Simon Lord Fraser of Lovat ; Urquhart, Sheriff

of Cromarty, and Sir Roderick Mackenzie, Tutor of Kin-

tail, for the trial within the burgh of Inverness of resetters

of traitors within the Sheriffdom of Inverness.

The Mackintoshes of Mackintosh held considerable pos-

sessions in the Aird down to 1616, which Lord Simon was

naturally very anxious to get into his own hands. How
these lands were originally acquired and finally lost is fully

described by Mr Fraser-Mackintosh in numbers VIII.

and IX. of his articles, " Old, Yet New," in the Scottish

Highlander, of 26th April and 3rd May, 1894. With the

view of securing the lands of Drumchardiny, Holme, and

Cragach, his Lordship employed Hugh Fraser of Bella-

drum and Hugh Fraser of Culbokie, but they cleverly

circumvented him and purchased these lands for themselves,

much to Lord Simon's annoyance. In that year, however,

he obtained a disposition of the barony lands of Ferintosh

from Sir John Campbell of Calder,
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By charter dated, the 1st of November, 161 6, Lachlan

Mackintosh of Dunachton, with consent of John Grant

of Freuchie and James Grant of Ardnill, interdicting

creditors, sold to Hugh Fraser of Belladrum, his heirs

male and assignees whatsoever, all and whole the town

and davoch lands of Holme and Rhindowie, the town and

half davoch land of Cragach, with the ale house and ale

house croft of the same, with fishings and grazings, together

also with half of the Miln of Holme, half of the multures,

sequels, and knaveships of the towns and lands of Drum-

chardiny, Holme, Rhindowie, and Cragach, lying within the

barony of Drumchardiny and Beaufort and Sheriffdom of

Inverness. James VI., at Edinburgh, on the 20th of

December, 1616, ratifies the sale, and of new granted the

above mentioned lands to the said Hugh Fraser of Bella-

drum, together with half the yair called Carriencoir,

pertaining to the said lands of Holme and Cragach, and

to the lands of Drumchardiny adjacent to them, with

fishings of salmon and other white fish in the sea, and in

pools of which the tenants and possessors of Holme and

Cragach were formerly in use and possession, and incor-

porated all into the free barony of Holme.

On the 14th of November, 1616, Lachlan Mackintosh

of Dunachton, with consent foresaid, sells to Hugh Fraser

of Culbokie, his heirs male and assignees whomsoever, the

town and lands of Drumchardiny extending to one and a

half davoch land of old extent, with the ale house and ale

house crofts of the same, with fishings and grazings, half

of the Miln of Holme, half of the multures, sequels, and

knaveship of the town and lands of Drumchardiny, Holme,

Rhindowie, and Cragach in the barony of Drumchardiny

and Beaufort, and Sheriffdom of Inverness. James VI.,

at Edinburgh, on the 20th of December, 1616, ratifies the

sale, and of new granted these lands to the said Hugh
Fraser of Culbokie in identically the same words as he

had done on the same date the other lands named to Hugh
Fraser of Belladrum. The value of these lands were about

equal—Belladrum, in the Roll of 1644, being assessed at
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£$73 and Culbokie at £$&?, Scots. The hill lands and

baronies of Holme (now Lentran) and of Drumchardiny

incorporated out of the old barony of Drumchardiny as

above in 1616, were not formally divided as late as 1790.

On the 20th of December, 1616, there is a charter under

the Great Seal in favour of Simon Lord Fraser of Lovat

and Dame Jean Stewart, his wife, and the longest liver of

them, in life rent of the barony of Inverallochy, and to

Simon Fraser their eldest son and to Jean Moncrieff his

spouse and the longest liver of them, in conjunct fee, and

to the heirs-male lawfully procreated or to be procreated

by them, whom failing to James Fraser, lawful son of the

said Simon Lord Fraser of Lovat, procreated between him

and Lady Jean Stewart, his wife, and the heirs-male to be

procreated of his body, whom failing to the said Simon

Lord Fraser of Lovat and his nearest and lawful heirs-male

whatsoever, bearing the sirname of Fraser and Lords of

Lovat for the time being, and their assignees whatsoever.

The charter proceeded on the resignation of his Lordship

and Sir Alexander Fraser of Fraserburgh, George Ogilvy

of Cairnusg, and Thomas Giffard of Sheriffball, and it

contains a Novadamus and an erection into a barony to

be called the barony of Inverallochy.

Soon after his return from Edinburgh, Lord Simon pro-

ceeded to Inverallochy to settle the affairs of his son, Sir

Simon, and to fit and furnish the house for the reception

of himself and his wife, who went to reside there. The

young couple did not, however, remain more than two years

at Inverallochy, when they returned to their friends in

Inverness-shire. Here they lived sometimes at Bunchrew,

but generally at Lovat along with his Lordship, and

frequently at Beauly with the Master of Lovat and his

lady. And as a rule, the three families—Lord Simon's, the

Master's, and Sir Simon's—lived together in the greatest

harmony.

In 1618 the Earl of Enzie came to Inverness with a

strong force to put down a rising of the Clan Chattan, the

Grants, and the Mackenzies, and for this purpose marched
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towards Culloden to enforce a decree which he had obtained

against Sir Lachlan Mackintosh for the value of the tithes

of Culloden, of which the Earl was the superior. When
he arrived within sight of the house the Earl sent Sir

Robert Gordon to Duncan Mackintosh, who commanded

there, requesting him to surrender. To this message

Duncan replied that he would defend the castle, which

had been committed to his charge. Sir Robert on his

return urged the Earl to send Lord Lovat, who had some

influence with Duncan Mackintosh, to prevail on him to

surrender the castle. At the request of the Earl, Lord

Simon proceeded to Culloden House, accompanied by Sir

Robert Gordon and George Munro of Milltown, and after

some discussion Duncan agreed to surrender at discretion.

The Earl was so pleased with the conduct of Mackintosh

that he sent back the keys to him, and as the Clan Chattan,

the Grants, or the Mackenzies did not appear to oppose

him he disbanded his forces and returned home to the Bog
of Gight.

In the same year Lord Seaforth, on his way to visit his

Kintail tenantry, resolved to have a great hunt in the

forest of Monar, and he invited and prevailed upon his

friends, the Master of Lovat, Captain Thomas Fraser, his

brother, Hugh Fraser of Struy, Hugh Fraser of Culbokie,

Hugh Fraser of Belladrum, Alexander Fraser of Moniack,

and Thomas Fraser of Eskadale, to accompany him and

take part in the hunt. And, according to a MS. of the

period, he had also with him "the flower of all the youth

in our own country and a hundred pretty fellows more.

We travelled," the writer continues, "through Strathglass

and Glenstrathfarrar to Loch Monar. The Tutor pitched

his tent on the north side of the river, and Struy his tent

upon the south side. Next day we got sight of six or

eight hundred deer, and had sport of hunting fitter for

kings than for country gentlemen. The four days we
tarried there, what is it that could cheer and renovate

men's spirits but was gone about ?—jumping, archery,

shooting, throwing the cabar, the stone, and all manner
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of manly exercises imaginable. And for entertainment

our baggage was well furnished with beef, mutton, fowls,

fishes, fat venison, a very princely camp, and all manner
of liquors. The fifth day we convoyed Seaforth over the

mountains, in sight of Kintail, and returned with the

Master of Lovat—a very pretty train of gallant gentlemen.

Masters Hill and Man, two Englishmen who were in com-

pany, declared that, in all their travels they never had such

brave divertisement, and if they should relate it in England,

it would be received as mere rant and incredible."

On the 3rd of July, 1618, Simon Lord Lovat found

caution in 3000 merks for George Frissell in Jedburgh to

appear before the Commissioners for the Middle Shires

when summoned. On the 16th of the same month the Privy

Council being informed "that a number of the vagabonds

and broken men of the Clan Donachaidh and other clans

in the Highlands of this realm have of late amassed them-

selves together, and in troops and companies are going

about the country, sorning and oppressing all his Majesty's

good subjects in all parts where they may be masters and

commanders, and in special a number of them have come

and remained this long time bygone, as they do yet, within

the bounds pertaining to Simon Lord Fraser of Lovat, where

they not only have committed slaughter upon some of his

Majesty's good subjects who never offended them, but with

that they oppress the whole inhabitants within the said

bounds, committing a number of insolencies upon them

unworthy to be heard of in a country subject to law and

justice, highly to the contempt of our Sovereign Lord and

to the great hurt of his Majesty's good subjects dwelling

within the said bounds. Therefore the Lords of Secret

Council ordain letters to be directed to command and

charge all vagabonds and broken men remaining upon and

within the bounds, ' rowmes,' and possessions pertaining

to the said Simon Lord Fraser of Lovat, by open pro-

clamation at the Market Cross of Inverness and other

places needful, that they, and every one of them, within

the space of six days after the publication thereof at the
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said Market Cross, retire and withdraw themselves furth

of the said Lord Lovat's bounds, and nowise to resort nor

repair within the same in an unlawful manner to some,

trouble, and oppress any of the inhabitants within the same,

certifying them that shall fail to do the contrary, the said

six days being- byepast, that they shall be taken, appre-

hended, and presented to his Majesty's Justice to be

punished for their demerits, conform to the laws of the

realm." For this purpose full commission is given to the

said Simon Lord Fraser of Lovat, and Thomas Fraser of

Struy. They are to present the vagabonds either to the

Sheriff of the shire, or to the Justice in the Tolbooth of

Edinburgh, and the usual immunities are granted to them

in full form.

On the same day he has a commission with full powers

under the Signet, along with John Cuthbert of Castlehill,

Provost of Inverness, and others to apprehend James Scott,

a tailor in Elgin, who is at the horn on a charge of murder-

ing Walter, son of Thomas Purs, an indweller in the College

of Elgin.

On the 1st of June, 1619, Simon states before the Privy

Council that he is the possessor of the lands and barony

of Fowlis, " with the castle, tower, and fortalice thereof,"

and complains that of late Robert Munro, sometime of

Fowlis, ungrateful for many favours granted him by pursuer,

has endeavoured to molest him in his said possession. On
the 30th of March last, Munro went with a number of armed

accomplices, insolent persons, all of his own humour and

disposition, to the said castle, entered by force, broke up

all the gates with forehammers and "gavelokis," and other

instruments fit for brashing and breaking up of houses, and

took possession of the said castle. He and his friends had

it fortified, and intended to keep it as a place of war and a

refuge for all broken men and rebels. His Lordship

appeared by his advocate, and Fowlis not appearing, and

no information having been received by the Council that

the said tower was delivered up, their Lordships ordered

an officer of arms to pass and demand surrender of the
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same to Lord Simon within six hours, and if Munro refuses

he is to denounce him a rebel.

In 1620 Lord Simon sold the lands of Muirtown, near

Inverness, to Thomas Shivez for 2000 merks Scots. About
the same time he sold to Macleod of Dunvegan for a few

thousand merks all his rights in Glenelg, mortgaged the

lands of Kinmylies, Fanellan, and Kingillie to Fraser of

Strichen and Knockie, and Phopachy to Hugh Fraser of

Culbokie. It has been suggested that probably these ex-

tensive sales and mortgages were carried out in order to

raise money to meet the cost of a new residence his Lord-

ship was at the time erecting. In 1620 he built the Castle

of Dalcross, in Petty, where he afterwards chiefly resided,

and "there can to this day be found here and there traces

of that highway known to the old Gaelic-speaking natives

as ' Lovat's Great Road,' made by him, in a straight line,

from Dalcross Castle to his hunting seat of Achnabat in

Stratherrick "—a great part of the intervening lands being

then his own.

The lands on which Dalcross Castle was built had for a

long time been in possession of the Frasers, but previously

they formed part of the Mackintosh estates. Soon after

the castle was built Lord Simon gave it as a marriage

portion to his third son, Sir James Fraser of Brea, who
in turn bestowed it as a marriage portion upon Major

George Bateman, who married his daughter Jean. This

gentleman subsequently sold it to James Roy Dunbar, one

of the Bailies of Inverness, who, in 1702, sold it to Lachlan

Mackintosh, Younger of Mackintosh, whose father, Lachlan

Mackintosh, XIX. of Mackintosh, died in it in 1704, and

whose descendants now possess it.

His Lordship had also a house in Inverness, on the site

of the present Town Hall, in which he often took up his

quarters. A number of noble families lived in Inverness

and its vicinity at that period, and Simon divided his

residence between the Capital, and Beaufort and Dalcross

castles, as suited his inclination. The Marquis of Huntly

occupied the Castle of Inverness, Grant of Grant resided
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in Bridge Street, Mackintosh of Mackintosh also lived in

the town, and the Earl of Moray occupied Castle Stuart

a few miles to the east of it. Fraser of Strichen lived at

Kinmylies, and Lord Seaforth at Chanonry, while several

noblemen and gentlemen lived within a short distance of

Inverness. Considerable gaiety prevailed among these

families. Between them a continual interchange of civilities

took place, and annual meetings were held by them at

which horse-racing at Tomnahurich for a cup and silver

spurs as the leading prizes were keenly competed for and

formed the chief amusements amongst them.

In 162 1, Lord Simon, his wife, Sir Simon of Inver-

allochy and his wife, were all residing at Castle Stuart,

in Petty, when Sir Simon suddenly became so dangerously

ill that he could not be conveyed to Lovat, but after a short

time he was taken to Dalcross, where he was confined to a

sick chamber, under the care of a physician, from Sep-

tember until March, 1622, when he died "as universally

lamented in death as he was in life universally beloved."

His mother received such a severe shock by his decease

that it hastened her own end, which took place in the

following June.

It was intended to bury Sir Simon with his ancestors in

Beauly Priory, but the River Ness suddenly rose in a great

flood to such a height, the bridge being down at the time,

that it was impossible to transport the great multitude of

horse and foot, that accompanied the remains, with safety

across it. It was decided to inter the body in Inverness,

and Lord Simon having received permission from the Cum-
mings to use their burying-place in the town, Sir Simon

was interred in their aisle, called St. Catharine's, in the

Rood Church, where a stately monument was erected to his

memory. His mother, on her death, a few weeks after, was

buried "with great funeral pomp" in the same place, beside

her son, at her own earnest and dying wish.

Lord Simon, by virtue of an apprising, in 1625, against

Munro of Fowlis, became superior of Achnagairn, which

was subsequently conveyed to the family of Fowlis.
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In 1626, Sir Alexander Fraser of Durris, having lost his

wife, came on a visit to Lord Lovat, and died in May of that

year while his Lordship's guest. He was buried in Lord

Lovat's own place of burial, St. Catherine's aisle, in the

Priory of Beauly.

In 1628, Simon Lord Lovat bound himself to the Sheriff

of Nairn, along with a cautioner, to appear before the

Justices " to underly the law " on a charge of murder, under

a heavy penalty. Who the victim was does not appear,

but his Lordship did not attend on the appointed day,

and although the case was brought under the notice of

the Court of Session, he escaped, for, through some in-

formality in the deed of caution, he was not tried for the

crime at all, and he was formally relieved of any charges

made against him in connection with it. On the 9th of

July, 1629, he expedes a general service as heir of Thomas

Lord Fraser of Lovat, his great-great-grandfather.

When only four years old, during the lifetime of his

father, the Prior of Beauly, with consent of the Chapter,

on the 13th of October, 1576, granted a tack of the vicarage

tithes of the parish of Convinth to Simon Master of Lovat,

son and apparent heir to Hugh Lord Lovat.

He was served heir in special to his father, on the 20th of

June, 1578, in the lands of Beaufort. On the 10th of

October, 1586, he has a charter of Kinmylies, near Inver-

ness, and on the 29th of August, 1592, of the barony of

Beauly, in both cases as the great-grandchild of Hugh, fifth

Lord Lovat, deceased.

Lord Simon is said to have possessed many excellent

and amiable qualities of head and heart, yet he has not

escaped censure for an unbounded hospitality, which

delapidated his estate. He entertained sumptuously. The

expenditure of his family was seven bolls of malt, seven

bolls of meal, and one of flour, per week ; seventy cows in

the year, besides venison, fish, poultry, kid, lamb, and veal,

and all sorts of feathered game in profusion. His wines

were imported from France, as were his sugars and spiceries,

in return for salmon produced in his rivers.
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The author of the family manuscript in the Advocates'

Library says, that " this nobleman has been represented in

very different lights, for while he was generally surnamed

Simon ' Mor,' or the Great, others called him 'Shim Gorach,'

i.e., Simon the Fool. He surely had several laudable

qualities. He was one of the best of landlords or masters.

Pie never would remove a tenant that paid his rents, for

any grassum or bribe. He could never be prevailed upon

to set a price upon the river of Beauly, or to give a tack

for a liquidate value on the fishing- of it, for he said that

fishing was a casual, a contingent thing depending upon

a special Providence, and that the over-rating a thing so

casual might provoke God to blast the common blessings.

For the same reason he would not set any of his orchards

in tack, though he had several of them, and a prodigious

quantity of fruit in them. From the orchard of Beauly

alone he had usually six chalders of good fruit, apples, and

pears. He had another excellent quality, that he could

not endure to hear an absent person run down by any

present. It was a maxim of his that as receipts made

thieves, so a credulous receiver made the liar. This noble

Lord excelled in hospitality, and was generous, liberal, and

charitable—his house was an open harbour for good men,

and his heart was no less open to entertain and receive

them. The door of his house was seldom shut, and yet

such regularity was observed that none was ever seen drunk

at his table. But notwithstanding these and many other

valuable qualities, he was censured by many for refusing

the honour of the Earldom of Atholl. He was much
blamed for his extravagant housekeeping, and much more

for the extravagant provision he made for the children of

the second marriage, having given Inverallochy between

9000 and 10,000 merks a year, besides what his brother Brea

got. He was likewise censured for mortgaging so great

a part of his estate. This was the consequence of his

extravagancy, and if he did mortgage his lands it was to

his kinsmen, whom he valued and esteemed above all the

world, and by giving them land he enabled them to live
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in a more plentiful way than they could do upon a tack,

and kept the money among- them ; and it was a way to

make them frugal and industrious and flourishing. And
lastly, he was reflected on for marrying so far below him

as his third match was. But would he not be blamed with

greater justice had he matched so as to bring new encum-

brances on the estate. He was but 53 years of age when
he married Kilravock's daughter, the Lady Moyness. He
might have married a young lady who would have many
children to be provided for, and be provided to a large

jointure besides, and yet she might slight and despise him

in his old age, whereas the lady he married was modest,

virtuous, affable, loved him, his children, and friends, and

gave him all the satisfaction that he could expect during

the ten years they lived together." She survived him

twenty-five years, having died in 1658.

Lord Simon, on the 24th of December, 1589, when quite

young, married first, Catherine, eldest daughter of Colin

Cam Mackenzie, XI. of Kintail, sister of Kenneth first

Lord Mackenzie of Kintail, of Sir Roderick Mackenzie of

Coigeach, of Alexander Mackenzie, I. of Kilcoy, and of

Alexander Mackenzie of Kernsary. Her sister Janet,

married Hector Og Maclean of Duart, and her sister

Mary married as his second wife, Sir Donald Gorm Mor
Macdonald, VII. of Sleat. By Catherine Mackenzie of

Kintail, Lord Simon had issue

—

1. Hugh, his heir and successor.

2. Elizabeth, who, born in 1592, married in July, 1618,

John Dunbar of Cumnock and Westfield, hereditary Sheriff

of Moray.

Lady Lovat died in December, 1593, and was buried with

great pomp on the north side of the great altar within the

Priory of Beauly.

His Lordship married secondly, in March, 1596, Jean

Stewart, daughter of James Lord Doune, afterwards known

as "The Bonnie Earl of Moray," at Falkland, in presence of

the King and Queen and the principal gentlemen of the

Frasers, with issue—
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3. Sir Simon Fraser of Inverallochy, of whom and his

descendants in their proper place.

4. Sir James Fraser of Brea, of whose family in their

order.

5. Anne, so named after Queen Anne. She died young-.

6. Margaret, who married first as his second wife, Sir

Robert Arbuthnot, who died on the 15th of March, 1633,

with issue. She married secondly Sir James Haldane of

Gleneagles, with issue.

7. Jean, who died in childhood.

His Lordship's second wife died at Bunchrew in June,

1622, and he married thirdly, Dame Katherine, second

daughter of William Rose, XI. of Kilravock, and widow

of James Grant of Ardneillie, brother of John Grant of

Freuchie, with issue. She died on the 19th of September,

1658, aged yj years.*

Lord Simon died at Bunchrew of the 3rd of April, 1633,

and Mr Anderson says that he was interred in the family

burying-ground in the Priory of Beauly. The author of

the Advocates' Library MS., however, says that Lord Simon

was the first of the family who was buried at Kirkhill, in

the chapel to the east of the church at that place. His

funeral obsequies " were performed with the greatest pomp
and solemnity, for as the weather was favourable and the

season of the year inviting to the neighbouring clans they

did convene in such numbers as were never seen at a burial

before in the country. It was computed that there were

upwards of 5000 men, horse and foot, under arms, con-

veying the body from Bunchrew to Kirkhill—700 Grants,

600 Mackintoshes, 900 Mackenzies, 1000 Rosses and Roses,

with Balnagowan and Kilravock ; Munros, Camerons and

Macdonalds, 1000 men ; and 1000 Frasers. His funeral

sermon was preached by Mr William Fraser, minister of

Kilmorack, Mr John Houstown, the minister of the parish

having absolutely declined it. The pertinent text he

preached upon was the words of Huldah the prophetess

to King Josiah, Second Kings, 22, 20— ' Behold therefore

* Kilravock Papers, p. 84.
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will I gather thee to thy fathers, and thou shalt be gathered

to thy grave in peace, and thine eyes shall not see all the

evil which I shall bring upon this place;' and as the text

so the sermon was a real prophecy as well as a preaching.

The Laird of Grant took the minister in his arms at the

church door, and turning to Lord Lovat said how vain

he would be of such a kinsman. Dr Johnston, our Scots

poet, makes him a very great though expressive com-

pliment in the following distich

—

Natus Hyperboreds inter Fraserius heros

Espinis docuit surgere posse Rosam."

At the moment of lowering the coffin into the grave the

horizon was illumined by the flames of his Lordship's corn-

yards of Dalcross, which had been set fire to by Lord

Lewis Gordon.

He was succeeded in the title and estates by his only

son by his first wife,

XIV. HUGH, NINTH LORD FRASER,

Who was born in September, 1591, and served in special

to his father at Inverness, in the lands and barony of Lovat

on the 10th of May, 1633, when in addition to the leading

men of the clan and other country gentlemen, the Earls

of Moray, Wemyss, and Seaforth, Grant of Grant, Munro

of Fowlis, and Rose of Kilravock were present, and on the

19th of May, 1635, he expede a special service as heir to

his father, Lord Simon, in the lands of Ardnagrask and

others. Shortly after his father's death he went with his

family, who were already numerous, to Stratherrick, and

resided for about a year at Garth. He then removed to

Dalcross, where he remained until the autumn of 1635,

when he returned to Lovat to attend the wedding of his

daughter Mary, who, in that year, at the age of eighteen,

married David Ross of Balnagowan. In 1636 his Lordship

received a severe shock by the death of his wife, in the

48th year of her age, from which he never fully recovered.

They had been married for twenty-two years, but were
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Lord and Lady Lovat for only three, having- had issue,

nine children—six sons and three daughters. She was

buried in the Church of Kirkhill, which her Lord had com-

pleted since his father's death in 1633.

He now gave up all interest in his estates and all other

public affairs and sank into a deep melancholy, which con-

tinued until his death. During this period of his life he

observed two stated Fast days a week, Wednesday, the day

on which his wife died, and Saturday. On these special

days he would see no one until far on in the evening. He
also set apart a day in each week for the distribution of

alms to the poor. The consequence of his Lordship's

melancholy and practical retirement from all business affairs

was that the management of the family estates fell upon

Simon, Master of Lovat, at a very early age. At the date

of his mother's death he was prosecuting his studies at the

University of Aberdeen, and subsequently he spent a

session at St. Leonard's College, St. Andrews. Having

completed his education at the latter University, he, when
only seventeen years old, took up the management of his

father's extensive possessions, in which, being "a youth

of the most promising hopes," he acquitted himself to the

admiration of all who knew him, and discharged the trust

put upon him "with as much prudence and solid judgment

as he could have done at forty years of age." In 1638,

Simon, Master of Lovat, with consent of his father, Hugh
Lord Lovat, sold the lands of Muirtown, in the vicinity

of Inverness, to Thomas Cheviz for two thousand merks,

and granted him a charter of these lands, bounded by the

sea, "cum piscariis lie yairs."

On the 14th of May, 1639, several heads of Highland

families met, under the Earl of Seaforth, at Elgin, having

between them a force of 4000 men, in favour of the

Covenant. Among these were the Master of Lovat, the

Master of Reay, George, brother of the Earl of Sutherland,

Sir George Sinclair of Murkle, the Laird of Grant, Rose,

Younger of Kilravock, the Sheriff of Moray, the Laird of

Innes, the Tutor of Duffus, Hugh Rose of Achnacloich,

II
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and John Munro of Lemlair. They encamped at Speyside,

where they remained until the pacification, signed on the

18th of June, was intimated to them on the 22nd of that

month.*

In the same month a general meeting- of the nobility,

gentry, and clergy had been held at Aberdeen to concert

measures for the public peace of the nation, and to sound

the minds of the Lords and heads of clans in the North

as to their views regarding the National Covenant. The
Master of Lovat attended, accompanied by a retinue of fifty

well-mounted horsemen. There were several Commis-
sioners from the Privy Couicil present, among them the

Marquis of Montrose, who was heard to say in course of

conversation that of all the great men at the meeting, no

one seemed to have a clearer view, or to have spoken with

more solid judgment concerning the state of the nation,

than the Master of Lovat, then a young man in his

nineteenth year. But all the great expectations and pro-

mising hopes raised regarding him were nipped in the bud

by his untimely death under the following circumstances.

John Earl of Sutherland, in 1638, married Lord Hugh's

second daughter, Anne, and on the Master's return from

Aberdeen he made a tour to the Counties of Ross and

Sutherland to visit his sisters, the one at Balnagowan, and

the other at Dunrobin. On his return home in the

beginning of winter, he fell into a rapid consumption and

in the following spring, on the 20th of March, 1640, died

in spite of the art and skill of the most eminent physicians

north and south who attended him. During the last few

months of his illness, one or other of the ministers of the

three adjoining parishes attended him constantly in the

sick room. "To show that early piety and true greatness

are very consistent," says the family chronicler, "and that

both met in an eminent degree in this noble youth, I must

beg leave to set down his advice to his father and brothers

a little before his death, as I transcribed it from the writing

of one of the ministers who were present. Finding his

* History of the Mackemies, second edition, p. 249.
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dissolution approaching, this pious youth called for his

father, and after saying- many solid and pertinent things

upon the public state of affairs at that time he thus

addressed his father "

—

" My Lord, I have endeavoured to be a dutiful child, but the purest

gold has its dross, and the very saints their lees of corruption, the

best of men are but men at best. I had my failings and weaknesses,

and I crave your Lordship's pardon and blessing, and I give you

mine ; God bless you and your family, My Lord. You will certainly

survive some of your children and live to see sad and dismal days.

Keep good government in your family, and let your children feel your

authority, and let them only serve you who truly serve God. You
have but these four boys. Pray father, keep them from taking loose

reins with the stream of the times. As for myself, I laboured to be

a pattern and example to them. You have punished all vice and

wickedness in the country with rigour ; suffer none unpunished at

home. You have been a terror to evil-doers, and as great a scourge

to wickedness as perhaps has been in the Kingdom. God keep you

from partiality in your old days. My Lord, you are not shapen for

business, you have given over all secular concerns, and retired from

this world to prepare for a better. The whole affairs of your family

must be devolved upon your brother, Sir James. He is indeed a

stirring, active man, but too ambitious and selfish. Tutors have been

the doing and undoing of families. The Tutors of Lovat have always

hitherto done much service both to the estate and to themselves.

Tutors and second marriages have proved fatal to great families.

I pray God may disappoint my fears."

The dying youth then turned to his eldest brother and

thus addressed him

—

" Hugh, Hugh, as you have been too much indulged by your
parents you have often taken too great a latitude to yourself. You
have had the advantage of precepts and examples, but you had no
management of yourself. You were impatient of reproof; you have
crossed my inclinations and despised my instructions, but the prudent
gardener takes as much pains upon the unfruitful tree as upon that

which brings forth fruit. You lived in a family where piety and holi-

ness were not only professed but practised. Many a night have you
spent in revelling and gaming, when I was watching that God might
avert impending judgments both felt and feared for the family.

Brother, you are shortly to be advanced to a place of title and
dignity you could never expect but by my death. I know you will

not enjoy it long. I pray you to prepare to die young. Then your
three brothers will be left to Sir James' sole management, who will
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act without control, but he will soon run himself out of breath, and the

only thing I am afraid of in you is your intemperance, which will

soon cut you off. Had God allowed me days, I intended to reform

my clan and country, but the will of the Lord be done."

The Master then called in his three younger brothers

and spoke to each of them according to their respective

capacities. He afterwards exhorted the servants, addressed

the ministers, died, as already stated, on Saturday, the 20th

of March, 1640, and was interred soon after with due cere-

mony and solemnity in the Church of Kirkhill.

On the 26th of July, 1640, Hugh, his Lordship's second

and now eldest surviving son, was served heir in special

to his deceased elder brother, Alexander. In November

following he was sent for his education to the University

of St. Andrews, so as to be under the eye of his uncle, the

Earl of Wemyss, and Lord Lovat's melancholy having

greatly increased, in consequence of the death of his eldest

son, he devolved the management of his estates on his only

surviving brother, Sir James Fraser of Brea, who, in 1637,

married Beatrix, daughter of Wemyss of Fairkey, and

brought his lady to the north. He resided with his brother

at Lovat, where, along with his children they lived as one

family until Lord Lovat's death.

In July 1641, the General Assembly of the Church, to

which the Earl of Wemyss was the King's Commissioner,

met at St. Andrews, where they sat for one day and then

adjourned to Edinburgh. The Earl took his nephew, the

Master of Lovat, then at the University of St. Andrews,

along with him to the Scottish Capital, where he made the

acquaintance of Lady Anne, daughter of General Alexander

Leslie, Earl of Leven, to whom he was married in the

following year, much against the wishes of his friends, his

father Lord Lovat being so strongly against the match

that it brought about a rupture between him and his

brother, Sir James, whom he suspected of being favourable

to the marriage, and he afterwards sent Sir James south,

accompanied by Hugh Fraser of Struy, to persuade the

Master, if possible, to break it off, but without avail. The
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contract of marriage had already been settled and signed.

The Earl of Leven, the lady's father, undertook to give his

daughter a tocher of 50,000 merks Scots, and Sir James

became bound, in case his wife should survive the Master,

to pay her 10,000 merks yearly of jointure, at Leith, and

to infeft her in the baronies of Dalcross and Kinmylies.

The marriage was afterwards duly solemnised with great

splendour in the Palace of Holyrood, on the 30th of April,

1642. The young couple remained in Edinburgh during

the months of May and June, and in the beginning of

July they set out for the Highlands, accompanied by a

noble and imposing retinue, which included the Earls of

Wemyss and Leven, Lords Balgouny, Ruthven, Sinclair,

and others, who attended them all the way to Lovat.

Passing through Moray, they were joined by all the name
of Fraser then numerous in that county, who accompanied

the party to Inverness. Here they were entertained "in a

grand manner by Provost Forbes and the Magistrates, who
had several covered tables with a variety of wines at the

Cross, and the trained bands of the town were drawn up

in a line on each side to keep off the rabble. Having thus

entertained them on the streets and then in the Tavern, the

Magistrates conveyed them to the Green of Muirtown,

where 400 young gentlemen in full arms were ready to

conduct their chief and his retinue to Lovat. They got an

elegant entertainment at Bunchrew from Inverallochy, and

marched thence to Lovat, where they arrived in health and

spirits, and Lord Lovat himself, with twenty grave gentle-

men of his name, received them. Nothing could exceed

the grandeur and magnificence with which they were enter-

tained here. The south country noblemen admired the

orchards of Lovat and Beauly, the fishing of the river, the

plenitude of the game, and the variety of fruits of every

kind in season. They imagined they were to come
to wild rocks and deserts, but instead of that they

had come to Canaan." The Earl of Sutherland, Ross of

Balnagowan, and Munro of Fowlis came to meet the

young couple on their arrival at Lovat and remained until
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the south country Lords had taken their departure south.

At this time Simon Fraser of Inverallochy resided at

Bunchrew, Thomas Fraser of Strichen at Moniack, and

William Fraser of Culbokie at Drumchree. These and

the other leading gentlemen of the clan who resided farther

away, were on the most intimate terms with the head of

the house and lived in the most perfect harmony with his

Lordship's family and with one another. Thomas Fraser,

Younger of Strichen, and his wife, Christian, daughter of

John Forbes of Pitsligo, paid a visit to his father, and other

friends in the Lovat country at this period, by whom they

were heartily welcomed and entertained.

In September 1642, the Master went to Stratherrick in

order "that his Lady might get the diversion of hunting

in the forest of Killin." He took his uncle, Sir James

Fraser of Brea, young Strichen, Inverallochy, Culbokie,

Struy, and Major Hugh Fraser, brother of Culbokie, who
had recently returned home after a distinguished career in

the Swedish army, along with him. On their way they

were met at Dores by two hundred Stratherrick and Aber-

tarff men in arms, who conducted them to Farraline, where

they lodged the first night they were in the country. Next

day they proceeded to Killin, where, the weather being

favourable, they remained enjoying themselves until "they

were quite cloyed with hunting." They then went to Lord

Lovat's house at Garthmore, stayed there for some time,

and subsequently returned to Lovat.

Towards the end of October, the Earl of Leven, his

father-in-law, sent an express north requesting young

Fraser and his wife to proceed at once to Edinburgh, as

the Earl, who had himself been suddenly called to London

by the King, had procured a Lieutenant-Colonel's commis-

sion for him. The Master and his Lady set out on this

journey early in November, accompanied by Inverallochy

and young Fraser of Strichen, and in due time arrived in

Edinburgh, where he spent the winter, which, according

to the family chronicler, " proved fatal to him, for, being

of a sweet, easy, and pliable temper, and too much addicted



XIV. HUGH, NINTH LORD FRASER. 1 67

to his company and bottle, to humour a set of rakish

officers who were at Edinburgh, he broke his constitution

and he fell in a fever of which he died in May, 1643,

having been married only a year, and leaving an only child,

Hugh, who ultimately succeeded to the title and estates of

the family." The same somewhat pardonably partial auth-

ority says that he was truly an excellent youth, endowed

with lively and sprightly parts, great goodness and signal

valour. " He had a quarrel in Edinburgh in the spring

in which he died with Major Hume, a Swedish officer,

which ended in a duel in which the Master of Lovat got

the better" of his antagonist. A reconciliation followed,

and they became fast friends. The Major was heard at his

funeral to say, with tears in his eyes, that " had that noble

youth been spared to arrive at a sphere to display his

martial spirit he would be one of the greatest ornaments

of his country." He was interred in Holyrood Abbey,

where all the Frasers of note came to do honour to his

obsequies, the leading gentlemen among those who attended

being Sir James Fraser of Brea, Thomas Fraser of Eska-

dale, Hugh, Younger of Culbokie, Hugh Fraser, Younger

of Belladrum, Alexander Fraser of Philorth, Lord Fraser

of Muchal, and Hugh Fraser of Tyrie.

On the death thus of his second son, Lord Lovat re-

signed himself wholly to grief and melancholy. His two

sons-in-law, the Earl of Sutherland and David Ross of

Balnagowan, came to visit him at Lovat and prevailed upon

him to accompany them, first to Balnagowan and next to

Dunrobin, with the view of raising his spirits, and while

he was at Dunrobin, Sir John Sinclair of Dunbeath married

Catherine, his Lordship's youngest daughter.

Here it is necessary to go back a little in the chronology

of events in order to gather up a few of the details that led

up to the wars of Montrose, in which the Frasers, now
managed and led by Sir James Fraser of Brea, became

involved and fought for the Covenant against the Marquis.

In 1638, the Earl of Sutherland, Lord Lovat, Lord Reay,

and Lord John Sinclair, with Ross of Balnagowan, were
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appointed Commissioners in the North to see that the Con-

fession of Faith and Covenant were subscribed by all parties.

They came to Inverness upon the 25th of April, and con-

vened the whole town, when, with few exceptions, all

subscribed, and in Forres and Elgin the same was done

on the two following- days. Caithness, Sutherland, Ross,

Cromarty, and Nairn also for the most part subscribed,

through the diligence of these five Commissioners.

In 1639, the Marquis of Huntly, a determined opponent

of the Covenant, sent William Gordon of Knokespeck, with

provisions and ammunition and a number of men to garrison

the Castle of Inverness for the King. On learning this,

Thomas Fraser, Younger of Strichen, Sir James Fraser of

Brea, and Alexander Mackenzie of Kilcoy met, on the 7th

of February, at Inverness, where they held a consultation

with the Magistrates. They then gathered together, inter-

cepted Gordon, denied him admittance to the Castle, and

seized his arms and ammunition, telling him that
—"the

Castle of Inverness belonged neither to the Marquis of

Huntly nor to the King, but was built for the defence

of the country." At the same time there was a guard

of fifty men set nightly to keep the stronghold, furnished

by the Frasers, Rosses, Munros, Mackenzies, and the town

of Inverness, night about; "and they brake up the gates,

doors, and windows of that stately Castle, spoiled the

pleasant plenishing, and rich library of books, and brought

all to nought within that house, inferior to none in the

Kingdom for decorement." The Frasers were zealous

Covenanters. Two months afterwards, on the 9th of April,

1639, Simon Master of Lovat, the Earl of Seaforth, and

Innes of Innes, with about 300 well-horsed gentlemen,

went to salute the Covenanting army under Montrose, then

lying at Aberdeen. "They were made welcome, and

stayed till the 13th of April, syne got leave and returned

home, without more employment." In May following,

Montrose was again at Aberdeen at the head of the Cov-

enanters, having entered it on the 25th. About 4000 horse

and foot, under the Earl of Seaforth, the Masters of Lovat
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and Reay, and the Sheriff of Murray, were upon their

journey to join him ; but they were interrupted by the

Gordons and their allies, who gathered a company of

horse and foot, rode across the Spey, and set their men
in order of battle. The Earl of Seaforth and the Master

of Lovat hearing of this followed their example, and re-

solved to meet them. When within two miles of each

other "some peaceable men of both sides settled the

matter," and it was agreed that both parties should return

home, and disband their forces.

In 1644, the disputes between the King and Parliament

affected even the most distant quarters of the Highlands,

which were destined to become the field of the victories

of the great Montrose. For the reinforcement of the

Scottish Army in England, the Convention of Estates

ordered a levy in the northern parts of the kingdom. The
total number required amounted to 6700 foot and 420

horse, and of this force not less than 1000 foot and 120

horse were to be levied from the Earldom of Seaforth and

Lord Lovat's division of Inverness-shire.

Sir James Fraser of Brea, a staunch adherent of the

Covenant, plunged his clan into the quarrel. The Castle of

Inverness was garrisoned for that party by two regiments;

the town was surrounded with a ditch, rampart, and pallis-

ades, for which were cut down all the elegant trees which

adorned the Castle, the Greyfriar's Churchyard, and the

Chapel-yard ; and a strong gate was placed at the head

of Castle Street. The gentlemen in the country imitated

the military in the town, and turned their houses into

places of defence.

William Fraser, then of Culbokie, " built a fort of carse

feal on the Carse of Kingillie." His brother, Major Hugh
Fraser, who two years before came home from the Swedish

army, drew the plan and saw it executed. Lovat was also

fortified with a deep ditch, an earthern rampart was erected

within this, and a strong garrison placed in the Castle under

the command of Alexander Fraser of Phoineas. His Lord-

ship's house at Beauly was also fortified and had a garrison
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placed in it, the command of which was given to John

Fraser of Clunavacky. At the same time the inhabitants

of Inverness were ordered to convene in their best weapons,

for a muster and wapinschaw, to oppose the " Irish rebels,"

eighty of the most "resolute and best framed muscateers"

being despatched from the burgh to the heights of Strath-

errick.

Early in July 1644, Alexander Macdonald, son of Colla

Ciotach, landed on the west of Scotland with a body of

1500 Irish troops sent by the Earl of Antrim, at the head

of whom he advanced through the Highlands with a view

to join Montrose, who was at the time wandering among
the hills of Tullibardine, near the Tay. Montrose, on hear-

ing of Macdonald's arrival, sent him instructions to march

into Atholl ; but in passing through Badenoch the Irish

leader was threatened with an attack by the Earls of Suther-

land and Seaforth, at the head of some of their followers,

and by the Frasers, Grants, Rosses, and Munros, who had

assembled at the top of Strathspey, but he cautiously

avoided them and hastened into Atholl. Here he was

coldly received by the natives, till he was joined by Mon-
trose, when the great Marquis found himself at the head

of more than 2000 men. Shortly afterwards the battle of

Tippermuir and the capture of Perth took place, but it is

not certain that the Frasers were present with the army

of the Covenanters on these occasions.

On the 4th of September the Marquis of Argyll, who

had been pursuing the Irish under Alexander Macdonald,

arrived with his men at Stirling, where he was joined by the

Earl of Lothian at the head of his regiment, and on the

ioth marched to Perth, where he received a considerable

addition to his force, now consisting of some 3000 foot, two

regular country regiments, and ten troops of horse. Argyll

left Perth for the north on the 14th of September, and on

his route was joined by the Earl Marischal, Lord Fraser

of Muchal, and other Covenanters. He arrived at Aber-

deen on the 19th, and was now within half a day's journey

of the enemy. After spending three days in inglorious
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inactivity, Argyll moved in the direction of Kintore. Mon-

trose, hearing of his approach, attempted to cross the Spey,

but was prevented by a large armed force from the country

to the north of that river, and he marched to the forest of

Abernethy. On the 24th Argyll mustered his followers,

which now numbered about 4000 men, at the Bog of Gight,

but although the army under Montrose did not exceed a

third of that number and was within twenty miles of him,

he did not venture to attack them. Argyll soon after pro-

ceeded to Forres to attend a Committee of Covenanters

assembled in that town to concert a plan of operations in

the north, at which the Earl of Sutherland, the Tutor of

Lovat, and the Sheriff of Moray, were present. These

northern chiefs brought about 1000 additional men to

Argyll's army.

Argyll, however, all through showed his utter unfit-

ness for the post held by him in the Covenanting army.

He followed Montrose over a long and circuitous route, the

greater part of which bore recent traces of his footsteps, and

instead of displaying any disposition to overtake his retreat-

ing foe, seemed rather inclined to keep that respectful

distance from him, so congenial to the mind of one, who
" willing to wound is yet afraid to strike." A more remark-

able example of pusillanimity than that exhibited by Argyll

during the progress of this campaign it would be difficult

to conceive ; and it seems very surprising that after thus

incurring disgrace among his friends and the contempt of

his foes, he should still have been allowed to retain a

command for which he was utterly unfitted.

In the beginning of November, after giving orders to

the Highlanders to return home, he proceeded to Edin-

burgh, where he received but small thanks for his service

against the Marquis. In the end of January, 1645, Mon-
trose left Argyle and Lome, which he had ravaged, and

marched through Glencoe and Lochaber in the direction

of Inverness, intending to seize the town. He, however,

learned that Seaforth was advancing to meet him with an

army of 5000 horse and foot, including the veteran garrison
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of Inverness and the Frasers. But on being- informed that

Argyll with a force of 3000 men had entered Lochaber and

was laying waste that country in his rear, he turned back

and defeated them with great slaughter at the memorable

battle of Inverlochy, on the 2nd of February, 1645.

During the commotions and disasters of this period, Lord

Lovat, although worn out with his physical and mental

infirmities, often took occasion to reprove his brother, Sir

James, for the part he was pursuing. " His Lordship's own
innate inclinations naturally led him to have appeared for

the King's service, but through a misunderstanding that

happened between the Marquis of Huntly and the Marquis

of Montrose, who were commissioned by the King, he could

not be induced to join with either of them, for, as his heart

was set on the King's interest, to which he wished success

and prosperity, so, no considerations could induce him to

give the least countenance to those he thought the King's

enemies, let the pretext be never so specious. But the

Marquis of Argyll having gained Sir James, the Earl of

Leven, who was the young Master of Lovat's grandfather

and Commander-in-Chief of the forces in Scotland, against

the King, took care to keep a watchful eye over Lord Lovat,

lest his appearance on the King's side might have affected

the estate and embarassed the succession of his young

grandson," a result which came about at the time in many
other cases.

The Frasers still continued loyal to the Covenant. Gen-

erals Hurry and Baillie were sent against Montrose, and

for several months a desultory war was carried on. About

the beginning of May, Hurry, who was stationed at Enzie,

in Morayshire, was surprised one day to find Montrose with

a greatly superior force within six miles of his camp, before

he was even aware that he had crossed the Grampians. He
became greatly alarmed, and retreated hurriedly to Inver-

ness. Here his former panic gave way to a very different

sensation, when he found the Earls of Seaforth and Suther-

land, with their retainers, the Frasers, and others, all

assembled to meet him. These new allies increased his
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army to 3 500 foot and 400 horse, and he at once resolved

to act on the defensive, by giving- battle to the Marquis.

The army of Montrose consisted of about 3000 foot and 400

horse, made up of Gordons, Macdonalds, Macphersons, and

Irish. On the 9th of May, 1645, the two armies met and

engaged in deadly conflict near the village of Auldearn, in

the county of Nairn. The fight continued obstinate, until

Major Drummond, who commanded Hurry's horse, wheel-

ing about unskilfully, broke the ranks of his own side.

Lord Gordon, seeing this, rushed in upon Drummond's

horse and put them to flight. Montrose followed with

the foot and attacked the main body of the Covenanting

army, which he completely routed. About 2000 Cove-

nanters fell. The clans who had joined Hurry suffered

severely, particularly the Frasers, who, besides unmarried

men, are said to have left no less than eighty-seven married

men slain on the field. To the bad conduct of Drummond
the defeat was at the time mainly attributed. He was a few

days afterwards tried for it and found guilty at Inverness,

and shot immediately on the high road to Tomnahurich.

That treachery played a part in the result of the battle

of Auldearn is now undoubted. In the History of the Mac-

ke)izies, new edition, pp. 253-256, a long quotation is given

from the Ardintoul MS., written by a gentleman who had

his information direct from another who took a personal

part in the battle, which places the fact above all contro-

versy, and of which the substance is as follows :—General

Hurry had sent for Seaforth to Inverness, and informed

his Lordship that although he was serving the States he

privately favoured the King, and he advised Seaforth to

dismiss his men, but through an act of forge tfuln ess, con-

sequent on the festivities of the evening, this was not done,

and before he got up next morning the lairds and gentle-

men of Moray came to him and earnestly entreated that his

Lordship would not allow them to be ruined and destroyed

by Montrose and his Irish allies, assuring him that, if he

would join General Hurry with all the forces he had then

under his command, Montrose would decline to engage
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them. Seaforth believed the Moray men, and collecting

all his followers marched to Auldearn, where he met Mon-
trose, and Alexander Macdonald at the head of his Irish.

And here the traitorous arrangement entered into between

Hurry and Seaforth was carried out. " Hurry understand-

ing and making it his business that Montrose should carry

the victory, and that Seaforth would come off without great

loss, he set his men, who were more than double the

number of their adversaries, to Montrose's advantage, for

he placed Sutherland, Lovat's men, and some others, with

the horse under Drummond's command on the right wing,

opposite to my Lord Gordon, and Loudon and Laurie's

regiments, with some others on the left wing, opposite

Alexander Macdonald and the Irish, and placed Seaforth's

men for the most in the midst, opposite Montrose, where

he knew they could not get hurt till the wings were

engaged. Seaforth's men were commanded to retire and

make off before they had occasion or command to fight;

but the men hovering, and not understanding the mystery,

were commanded again to make off and follow Drummond
with the horse, who gave only one charge to the enemy
and then fled, which they did by leaving both the wings

and some of their own men to the brunt of the enemy,

because they stood at a distance from them, the right wing

being sore put to by my Lord Gordon, and seeing Drum-

mond with the horse and their neighbours fly, they began

to follow. Sutherland and Lovat suffered great loss, while

on the left wing Loudon's regiment and Laurie's were both

totally cut off betwixt the Irish and the Gordons, who came

to assist them after Sutherland and Lovat's men were de-

feated." Seaforth's men did not, as arranged, suffer much
either in the fight or in the pursuit. " His men, with

Colonel Hurry and the rest, came back that night to

Inverness, all the men laying the blame of the loss of

the day upon Drummond, who commanded the horse, and

fled away with them, for which, by a Council of War, he

was sentenced to die ; but Hurry assured him that he would

get him absolved, though at the very time of his execution
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he made him keep silence, but when Drummond was about

to speak, he caused him to be shot suddenly, fearing, as was

thought, that he would reveal that what was acted was by

Hurry's own directions. This account of the battle of

Auldearn, I had," concludes the author, "from an honour-

able gentleman and experienced soldier, as we were riding

by Auldearn, who was present from first to last at this

action, and who asked Hurry, who set the battle with such

advantage to Montrose and to the inevitable loss and over-

throw of his own side ? to whom Hurry, being confident of

the gentleman, said, 'I know what I am doing, we shall

by-and-bye have excellent sport between the Irish and the

States regiments, and shall carry off Seaforth's men without

loss
'

; and that Hurry was more for Montrose than the

States that day is very probable, because shortly thereafter,

when he found opportunity, he quitted the States service

and is reckoned as first of Montrose's friends " ; for in

August of the following year he followed him abroad and

again returned with him in his second expedition to the

north, was taken prisoner along with him in Sutherland-

shire, and ultimately executed for the same offence as

Montrose.

Notwithstanding Lord Lovat's piety he could be guilty

of gross cruelty and injustice. According to the family

chronicler a barbarous instance of this kind occurred with

his full sanction and approval. Lady Lovat on a certain

occasion had brought north with her, after a visit to her

relatives, a considerable quantity of gold and jewels. These

valuables were afterwards stolen and suspicion fell on one of

her Ladyship's maids, a girl named Kennedy. For this

suppositious offence the unfortunate woman was sentenced

to be drowned. She was first immersed, with the object of

inducing her to make a confession, and, rising to the surface,

she outstretched her hands as if to make a disclosure, but

she immediately sank again and was drowned. Some time

afterwards a smith in the district was found to have a pot

of gold in his possession, and as it was thought highly

improbable that a man in his position could have come
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honestly by such a treasure, he was suspected of having

stolen it, and was put to the torture to extract a confession.

His obstinacy, however, baffled his tormentors, and he

ultimately died in chains, in the vault of Beauly, carrying

his secret along- with him, and leaving his wealth to his

family, six of his daughters, not long after his death, having

married well to-do men in good positions. It is remarkable

how much religion, superstition, and cruelty went hand-in-

hand in those days, and indeed for generations afterwards,

even amongst the most highly educated.

In February, 1646, Lord Lovat finding himself getting

every day weaker and realising that his end was near, called

his three surviving sons to the sick chamber in presence of

the ministers who were never absent from his room, and

addressed them in the following terms, preserved in writing

by one of the clergymen present on the occasion :

—

" My dear children, I go this day the way of all the earth. I am
the man that has seen affliction by the rod of His wrath, and God
only supported me. The death of an excellent wife and hopeful

children I felt severely, but I have fought a good fight, and I know
there is a crown of Righteousness laid up for me. Beware of the sins

of the persons with whom you are, and the time and places where you

are. Be sober, temperate, and chaste, and as you wish that others

should do unto you do you so unto them. Fear God and honour the

king, and meddle not with them that are given to changes. The way
to reform others is to reform yourselves. Keep the honour, antiquity,

and true history of your ancient family still in your view. Encourage

virtue in every one, vice in no one. God preserve you from being

tainted with the corruption of the times. My son Alexander, thou

wilt be great and have many advantages, and a happy, flourishing and

peaceable time when these storms blow over, but it is my fear that

thou wilt want management and skill to improve these advantages.

Easiness and credulity are the bane of many. Give a deaf ear to

sycophants. What was your brother Hugh's ruin I am afraid will be

thine. Prepare to die for you will never reach my days. My son

Tom, thou wilt wrestle with the world, but thou wilt be the man yet,

live long, and see many days. And from thy loins shall they come

who will do great things. Thy temperance and moderation will

lengthen thy days. My son James, thou art my youngest, thou wilt

appear on the stage and then vanish."

His Lordship then blessed his children, took leave of his
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family and friends, "departed this life in the greatest tran-

quility of mind," and was "with the greatest magnificence

and solemnity" buried in the Church of Kirkhill.

He was, according to the family historian, "a pious,

religious, and prudent nobleman, a man of wit and humour,

and of undoubted courage and resolution, and of a sound

wholesome constitution till his lady's death. When he was

Master of Lovat he went regularly in circuit through his

estate, and kept courts regularly once a year in person. He
was a strict justiciary, punishing all crimes, redressing all

wrongs. The poorest and meanest had access to him, and

he did not allow his factors, baillies, or any of the gentlemen

to oppress the meanest of his people, so that he truly

merited that which makes so bright a part of Job's character.

He was a father to the poor, and the cause which he knew

not he searched out. He broke the jaw of the wicked and

plucked the spoil of his teeth. If he had any fault it was

his preposterous modesty. He obliged every gentleman

and tenant when he came to the age of eighteen to have

arms suitable to his rank. He advanced two thousand

merks for firelocks and pikes to Colonel Fraser, who re-

turned from the Swedish wars some years before this. But

he preferred arching to all other military exercises as the

most manly. He was punctual in attending divine ordin-

ances, and never omitted sitting in session to keep discipline

in the country. He regretted often that his ministers had

small stipends, and by his proxy voted for an augmentation

to them in the Parliament of 1640, and when decrees of

Plat were procured he gave localities in land to all his

ministers, free of customs, carriage, or any other burden."

He purchased from Fraser of Strichen, along with his lands,

the right of patronage to the united parishes of Inverness

and Bona. In 1623 the patronage of the latter had been

disponed by Lord Spynie, then patron, to Strichen, who in

1640 as vice-patron presented Mr John Amand to the charge

of Plat. The two parishes were soon after united by a decree.

Lord Hugh married Isabel, daughter of Sir John Wemyss
of Wemyss, with issue

—

12
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1. Simon, to whom on the death of his mother in 1636,

his father—who was so much affected that he lost all interest

in worldly affairs, and gave himself up wholly to religion

—

handed over the estates. Simon, however, died a few years

after, on the 20th of March, 1640, during his father's life, and

was buried in the Church of Kirkhill. He was unmarried,

and his next brother, Hugh, succeeded him in the estates.

2. Hugh, who was born in 1624. He was served heir

in special to his brother Simon on the 26th of July, 1640,

but like him died before his father in 1643. He had, how-

ever, married Anne Leslie, daughter of Alexander, Earl of

Leven, at Holyrood House, on the 30th of April, 1642, and

by her left one son, Hugh, who ultimately succeeded to the

title and estates. Hugh's widow married secondly Sir Ralph

Delaval of Seaton Delaval, Baronet, Northumberland.

3. Alexander, who was born in 1625 or 1626. He
became Tutor to his nephew, as appears from an extract

of tutory from Chancery in the family repositories, dated

the nth of June, 1650. In 1658 he was curator for his

nephew of Inverallochy. There were several discharges by

him as Master and Tutor of Lovat to the Strichen family

for the tack and' feu-duties of Killin, Moniack, and other

lands in Inverness-shire, in the Strichen charter chest. He
married Sibella, daughter of Kenneth, first Lord Mac-

kenzie of Kintail, and widow of John Macleod, XIV. of

Harris and Dunvegan, with issue—an only daughter, Anne,

who married Alexander Mackenzie, III. of Applecross,

with issue. She married thirdly Patrick Grant, Tutor of

Grant. Alexander died without issue in 1670.

4. Thomas of Beaufort, born in 163 1, whose son, Simon

of the 'Forty-five, on the death of Hugh eleventh Lord in

1696, without issue male, asserted his claim to the male

representation of the family, and after much litigation

established his right to the estates and honours.

5. William, born in 1632 and died young in 1639.

6. James, born in 1633, was Captain in a regiment raised

by Lord Cranstoun for the King of Poland. He died in

Pomerania, without issue, in 1657.

/
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7. Mary, who, born in 1617, married in 1635 David Ross,

XII. of Balnagowan, with issue—David, the last direct male

of the original family, two daughters, Catherine and Mary,

and a son, Alexander, who died young.

8. Anne, who, born in 1619, married in 1639 John,

thirteenth Earl of Sutherland, without issue.

9. Catherine, who married first Sir John Sinclair of

Dunbeath ; secondly, Robert, first Viscount Arbuthnot,

with issue ; and thirdly, in 1663, Andrew, third Lord

Fraser of Muchal, with issue.

Lord Lovat died on the 16th of February, 1646, when

he was succeeded in the title and estates by his grandson,

HUGH, TENTH LORD FRASER,

Only son of Hugh, Master of Lovat, who died, as already

shown, in May 1643, shortly after the birth on the 2nd of

March, 1643, of his only child. This Lord Hugh was

consequently a minor under three years of age when his

grandfather died. He was served heir to his father Hugh,

Master of Lovat, who, as has been already seen, had the

estates handed over to him, during his father's lifetime, in

the lands of Easter Kinmylies, or Bridgend, on the 30th

of March, 1647. He also, on the 18th of May, 1665,

expede a service as heir-male of his father in the lands and

barony of Lovat, and on the 19th of February a general

service to his grandfather Hugh, the ninth Lord. His

uncle Alexander was appointed Tutor to the young Lord,

in which capacity he repeatedly led the clan, particularly

when Charles II. landed in Scotland in June, 1650, on

which occasion he received a Lieutenant-Colonel's com-

mission from that King, and then came North to raise the

clan in his Majesty's interest.

In the meantime we shall follow the clan through the

remaining stages of the wars of Montrose. The Marquis

of Huntly had been entrusted with the siege of Inverness,

but he retired from it with disgrace, and Montrose deter-

mined to attempt it himself, although provided by an

insufficient force for the purpose. He set fire to the
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outskirts of the town, and sent detachments of his troops

to pillage the Fraser estates. "The first detachment sur-

prised them sowing their seed. They killed some of them

on their first approach, and would have killed many more

had not Providence ordered that at that time the sea was

ebbed, upon which the defenceless people fled within flood-

mark, and being- mostly clay ground, the horses could

not pursue them hither. From thence they escaped to

Culbokie's fort, as the people west of that fled to Lovat

and Beauly, some to the Isle of Aigas, and some to the

Dun of Little Struy. These forts saved the lives of

thousands, and some of their effects. But except what was

secured in these places of strength there was not a house

unrifled, a horse, cow, or sheep, cock or hen left " in that

extensive sweep of country from the Green of Inverness to

Guisachan in the top of Strathglass. Meanwhile, by the

treachery of Huntly's son, Lewis Gordon, General Middle-

ton's army was allowed to cross the Spey, and Montrose

withdrew his forces a little distance from the town just as

his pursuers entered it. The trumpets of their advanced

pickets sounding at Petty, a few miles eastward, first dis-

closed to him the danger of his situation. Middleton's

superiority in cavalry induced Montrose to retreat to the

west side of the Ness, leaving his camp, full of all sorts

of provision, his cannon, and baggage as it stood. The

enemy pursued and attacked his rear, but being gallantly

received they were soon forced to retire. The loss was

inconsiderable, and about equal on both sides. Montrose

retreated by Kinmylies to the Caiplich. From there he

marched forward and halted the first night at Blar-na-

Cunlaich, a place about a mile westward from Achnagairn,

and next morning, having entered Ross-shire, he halted

in the wood of Fairley, two miles above the village of

Beauly.

Middleton, after his brush with the enemy, had entered

the town of Inverness to the great gratification of the in-

habitants, and having refreshed his troops, set out next

morning in pursuit of the retreating Montrose. He



XV. HUGH, TENTH LORD FRASER. l8l

marched through the parish of Kirkhill under the guidance

of Sir James Fraser of Brea, then Governor of the Castle

of Inverness, and its commander during the siege. For

a couple of days the two armies continued in sight of each

other, having the river Beauly between them, " Middleton as

much afraid of Montrose as Montrose was of him." On the

fourth day Montrose broke up his camp, and set fire to it.

Middleton's object was to induce his opponent to fight on

the low and more level ground, but dreading his pursuer's

superiority in cavalry, and Seaforth's levies daily deserting

him, Montrose, after having set fire to his camp, proceeding

through Strathglass and Fort-Augustus, made a circuit of

Lochness, and, passing through Stratherrick, found his way

to the banks of the Spey. Sir James Fraser, now possessing

the rank of Colonel in the army, entertained Middleton and

his principal officers at Lovat, and then conducted him in

great state across the Ferry of Beauly, through the Black

Isle to the Castle of Chanonry, then under the charge of

Lady Seaforth, which at once surrendered to him. Middle-

ton then handed the keys of it to Sir James Fraser who
placed a garrison in the Bishop's house, which continued to

occupy it for several years. Having removed a quantity of

stores and ammunition sent by Queen Henrietta for the use

of Montrose on his expected arrival there, Middleton gave

up the castle to the Countess of Seaforth, whom he treated

with the greatest civility and respect.

The members of the Lovat family were very much
scattered at the date of their father's death. Alexander

the Tutor, was with his uncle, the Earl of Wemyss, who
had secured a Captain's commission for him in the army,

when he was only twenty years of age. Thomas, afterwards

of Beaufort, now about fifteen years old, lived sometimes

in Ross, at other times in Sutherland, but mostly with his

sister in Caithness. James, the youngest son, was at the

school of Kirkhill, and resided with Alexander Fraser of

Phoineas, Governor of the Castle of Lovat, while the young

Lord Hugh, now about four years old, was in Fife under

the care of his grand-uncle, the Earl of Wemyss, and his
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grandfather, the Earl of Leven. Sir James Fraser of Brea

had the entire management of the family estates, over which

he exerted a very oppressive authority, and " was far from

proving such a Tutor as either Struy or Strichen " on

previous occasions. He, however, made an arrangement

with the Earl of Leven, and gave his daughter, the late

Master of Lovat's widow, forty-five thousand merks Scots

in one payment in place of the ten thousand merks which

had been provided for her annually under the marriage

contract—an action which was highly commended, although

in order to obtain the money he alienated the barony of

Kinmylies to Colonel Hugh Fraser of Kinneries, brother to

Culbokie ; Kingillie to William Fraser of Culbokie ; the

heritable right to the lands of Belladrum to Hugh Fraser,

" then tacksman of that davoch," and the Buntaits to Alex-

ander Chisholm of Comar, who as well as Culbokie had

earlier rights to these lands by at least ten years, as far

back as May and June 1637.

Sir James Fraser now took the necessary steps to obtain

compensation for the injury done to his country and people

by the ravages of the enemy's army, and he laid before the

committee which had charge of these affairs a claim for ten

thousand merks Scots, equal to ^833 6s 8d sterling. The

committee entertained the claim and immediately drew an

order on the Exchequer for two-thirds of the amount in

favour of Sir James, which was duly paid to him. At the

same time he allowed the tenants who had suffered from

the war to retain their rents in their own hands until their

losses were in this way made up to them.

In 1646 the Mackenzies, Mackays, and some of the other

northern clans had joined Montrose at the siege of Inver-

ness. When he retired, the leaders of these, with George

Earl of Seaforth at their head, had an interview with him,

after which they drew up the well-known Remonstrance

against the Solemn League and Covenant, which made a

great sensation in the country at the time. The authors

of this famous document sent messengers to all the other

clans soliciting them to join, take up arms, and assist in
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carrying it into effect. Roderick Mackenzie, V. of Davoch-

maluag, was sent to the Frasers for this purpose. Sir

James Fraser was at the time in Edinburgh, but he seems

to have had trusty representatives among the gentlemen

of his clan at home. These met at Lovat, among them

being Thomas Fraser of Struy, Hugh Fraser, his heir, Cul-

bokie, Belladrum, Clunavacky, Foyers, Farraline, Reelick,

and several others. Here they received Davochmaluag,

who delivered his message, whereupon Thomas Fraser of

Struy, the principal cadet present in the absence of Sir

James, made the following reply, which is transcribed word

for word from the papers of one of the gentlemen present

on the occasion. Addressing Mackenzie, he said

—

" Sir, you are sent to us, as it seems, with a message from your

chief. I hope he does not question us, who have upon all occasions

been kindly neighbours to him, and all round about us ; and we were

ever known to be faithful and loyal subjects. And who dare to doubt

us at this juncture. (1) The Frasers have given proof of their loyalty

in the worst of times. When the two Kingdoms were at open war in

the quarrel of King Robert the Bruce, the Frasers fought three battles

in one day and carried them at Roslin, and soon after, Sir Simon

Fraser and Sir Walter Logan lost their lives at London for their

loyalty. And if now the League and Covenant is a test of disloyalty,

the whole Kingdom is engaged with us, and the Mackenzies first

urged as well as joined with us in that oath, and now to desert us, as

it is a surprise to us, so it is too late. (2) To invite and call the

Frasers to join with you in a Remonstrance—a Band of that nature is

against the civil and ecclesiastical constitution. The Earl of Sea-

forth being now under the sentence of excommunication pronounced

against him by the Church, and public intimation made thereof in all

the churches of the Kingdom, and so also under the censure of the

Civil Magistrate, I see no way safe for any subject, but rather great

hazard and danger, to concur or commune with him upon any matter.

(3) You say the King's cause and interest is weak and at stake, and

therefore it is the proper time to give it a lift. Our rising and appear-

ance for him at this time may well ruin us but cannot raise him.

A little time will show the success of Montrose's project. If he

succeeds, then we and others will be at full liberty to join him.

(4) And finally, the Frasers are at this time without a head, and so,

can do nothing rashly of or by themselves. The Lord is but a young

child 4 years of age. Sir James Fraser of Brea, Tutor of Lovat, the

superior of the country is engaged in the south. The Master of
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Lovat, Alexander, is absent likewise, so that we can give no positive

answer to any proposition till their return, but wish well to the Royal

interest, and may God prosper and preserve the King."

This was pretty firm, but Alexander Fraser of Phoineas,

Captain of the Garrison of Lovat, who spoke next, was

even more decisive and outspoken. He thus expressed

himself

—

" I said I will declare with Elihn that days should speak and

multitude of years should teach wisdom. I said, I will answer also

my part. I also will show my opinion, for I am full of matter. The
spirit within constraineth me. Behold my belly is as wine which hath

no vent. It is ready to burst like new bottles. I must speak that I

may be refreshed. I will open my lips and answer. Let me not, I

pray you, accept any man's person, neither let me give flattering titles

unto man ; for I know not, I care not to flatter." Then turning to

Davochmaluag he said, " Rory, you are come with a message to us

though your heart is full of malice to us. It is bold and impudent,

nay insolent, in you to undertake a commission to us whom you love

not, and we care very little for you. We cannot trust you, for few of

your own friends do. Your sword but dript lately with the blood of

our poor innocent neighbours in your transcursions through this

country, and your tongue now drops flattering words to us. I am
instructed by the law of nations to have a respect to embassies and

messengers that pass betwixt countries and clans, otherwise, as

Samuel did to Agag, I would with my own hands hew you down in

pieces before the Lord as your reward, that you might confess with

Adonibezek, 'as I have done so God has done to me.' You openly

owned and avowed the common cause at Auldearn, and clandestinely

joined with Montrose at the siege of Inverness that you might ravage,

as a ravaging wolf, through this country and kill poor, old, harmless

men, running to save their lives, ' egregiam vero laudem et spoila

ampla refertis.' You may be very vain of your achievements. You

killed an honest tenant at Phopachy, and your father-in-law's old

miller at Rhinduy, when you left Montrose at Inverness to come out

and plunder the Aird. Do you think, Rory, that the great Montrose

trusts you ? He sees he never had success since the Mackenzies

joined him. You were stout Covenanters last year, and what are you

now ? That oath lies upon you, but God will not be mocked or

juggled with. If the design or the Covenant be wrong and a pretence

God will judge, discover, and revenge it. Nor do I think that Mon-
trose courts you, knowing you so well already. And came you here

to pump us ? I hope we are not shallow. Is this your friend ?

Having got a wife from us, do you plough with that heifer? Bella-
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drum, your father-in-law, here, is an Achan in our camp, betraying

and discovering our secret intrigues to you, but he shall do so no

more, perhaps. We had little confidence in you before, but now,

being excommunicated, we cannot correspond with you. True, you

Mackenzies, are my mother's kin, and I should love you, but it is

doing good for evil, for I expect none from you. Your name have

ever jealoused the Frasers because time out of mind they have done

greater acts of loyalty than ever you were capable of. You envy our

strongholds and forts, having none such yourselves. But they were

not built in rebellion but for the preservation of the country against

supplanting neighbours. Now, go home Rory, and look after your

cows in Glen Orrin, which is a much fitter employment for you than

your present business, but forget not to give an impartial account of

what was told you here."

After this straight hitting
-

, no one will be surprised to

learn that this Alexander Fraser of Phoineas "was a bold

and daring man, that feared nobody." He was governor

of all the forts in the Fraser country, but resided at Lovat.

He was also muster-master of the armed men and Captain

of the Watch that was kept "in the height of the country."

He managed all these responsible positions with great

dexterity, prudence, and address, and is said to have had

as great a sway all over the estates as if he were Lord

Lovat himself.

Montrose having in 1646 gone abroad, the Covenanters

carried everything before them and planted garrisons all

over the Kingdom. Sir James Fraser of Brea was made

governor of those at the Castles of Inverness and Chanonry,

and all the gentlemen of the Aird had their different apart-

ments in the stronghold of Lovat.

In 1649 fifty lasts of salmon were caught in the river

Beauly, for which Paul Collison, an Aberdeen merchant,

paid Sir James Fraser ,£500 sterling in one sum cash down.

In the autumn of the same year died Colonel Hugh Fraser

of Kinneries, who came home from the Swedish army at

the beginning of the war between the King and the Cove-

nanters. All the forces stationed at Inverness made a

parade from his house at Kinmylies to Lord Lovat's chapel

at Kirkhill, where he was buried with military honours.

On the 6th of December in that year Sir James Fraser
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of Brea died at Lovat, in the fortieth year of his age. His

body was conveyed from thence to Kirkhill "in great state

and magnificence, no less than thirteen trumpets sounding

at his funeral," all the forces having joined to bury him

also with military honours.

After the death of Sir James, Alexander Fraser, brother

of the last Lord and uncle of the present Baron, who com-

manded a troop of horse in the Army of the States, claimed

the Tutory as his legal right by blood, but the curators of

the estate, especially the Earl of Wemyss, opposed his

claim, urging that he was at present honourably engaged

in the service of his country, but that whenever affairs had

become settled and peace had been secured he should then

succeed to the Tutory. Matters continued in this way until

in the summer of 1650, Charles II. landed in Scotland.

On the 5th of February, 1649, he had been proclaimed

King at Edinburgh, when it was decided by him and his

friends in exile that Montrose should make a second attempt

to recover the Kingdom. Charles had then declined the

humiliating terms offered to him by the States, and in con-

nection with the plans of Montrose, a rising took place in

the North under Thomas Mackenzie of Pluscardine—his

brother the Earl of Seaforth being then in exile with the

King—Sir Thomas Urquhart of Cromarty, Colonel John

Munro of Lemlair, and Colonel Hugh Fraser. On the

22nd of February they entered Inverness, expelled the

garrison, and afterwards demolished the walls and fortifica-

tions of the town. On the 26th a Council of War was held,

at which were present—Thomas Mackenzie of Pluscardine,

Sir Thomas Urquhart of Cromarty, John Cuthbert of Castle-

hill, Roderick Mackenzie of Redcastle, John Munro of

Lemlair, Simon Fraser of Craighouse, and Alexander

Mackenzie of Suddie. Here they framed certain enact-

ments in terms of which they took the customs and excise

of the six northern counties into their own hands. General

Leslie having been sent against them, they retired to the

mountains of Ross -shire, when Leslie advanced to Fortrose

and placed a garrison in the Castle. He made terms of
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surrender with all the leaders except Mackenzie of Plus-

cardine, who would not listen to any accommodation, and

who immediately on Leslie's return south, descended from

his mountain fastnesses, and then attacked and retook the

Castle of Chanonry. A full account of this period will be

found in Mackenzie's History of the Mackeusies, new edition,

under George, second Earl of Seaforth, and his successor.

When in June 1650, Charles landed in Scotland, there

was a general rising- of the Loyalists north and south, and

Captain Alexander Fraser, the young Lord's uncle, came

north with a Lieutenaut-Colonel's commission to raise the

Frasers in the interests of the King. The place of general

rendezvous was at Tomnahurich, near Inverness, where

Colonel Fraser mustered 800 of his clan in full armour, their

other officers being—Hugh Fraser of Struy, Major; Thomas
Fraser of Beaufort, the late Lord's brother, first Captain

;

Hugh Fraser of Foyers, second Captain ; Alexander Fraser

of Phoineas, third Captain ; William Fraser, Reelick's

brother, and Alexander Fraser, Younger of Clunavachy,

Captain-Lieutenants ; Andrew Fraser of Leys, Ensign
;

and Alexander Fraser, a son of Phopachy, Quarter-Master.

Lieutenant Donald Fraser and Lieutenant Schivez, who
were trained soldiers under Colonel Fraser in Ireland, were

appointed to exercise the men in military drill every day

by turns. In the end of April, 165 1, the Frasers thus

commanded and marshalled marched through Inverness,

and from thence through Badenoch and Appin to Stirling,

where they arrived at the King's camp on the 6th of May

;

and having veteran officers at their head, they were

exercised every day, and " never was Prince more delighted

with his men than King Charles was with his Highlanders,"

while each corps strove to excel the others.

They lay all that summer encamped about Stirling and

the Torwood, until they ate or destroyed all the provisions

in the district. They left on the 1st of August, and

after several battles and skirmishes, notably at Linlithgow

and Inverkeithing, they marched to invade England,

entering it by Carlisle, Cromwell following them about
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three days' march in the rear, until he overtook them at

and fought the fatal battle of Worcester on the 3rd of

September following". " It was universally acknowledged

that the Scots army fought gallantly, though they were

overwhelmed by numbers and totally defeated, not less

than two thousand having been killed and eight thousand

taken prisoners on the King's side. The King himself

narrowly escaped. Among several great men that were

taken, such as the Earl of Rothers, Carnwath, Kelly and

others, was Colonel Alexander Fraser, Tutor of Lovat.

All the prisoners were carried to London. Some of the

principal men escaped at different times from the Tower,

and others were detained close prisoners until the Restora-

tion. The bulk of the common soldiers were transported to

the plantations. The Tutor of Lovat having made his

escape out of prison came north, and entered on the

administration of his nephew's affairs," and soon after, as

already stated, married Sibella, daughter of Kenneth, first

Lord Mackenzie of Kintail, widow of John Macleod, XIV.

of Macleod, by whom he got 3000 merks Scots a year, which

was considered an enormous fortune at the time.

After the defeat of the King's troops by Cromwell at

Worcester, General Monk, whom the Protector left in

command in Scotland, enjoyed a profound peace until in

the autumn of 1653, about four thousand men assembled

under the command of the Earl of Glencairn, General

Middleton, Sir George Munro, and others. The Camerons,

Frasers, and Mackenzies made up a considerable part of

this body, but before they had been long together such

divisions and animosities arose among the leaders, and

they became so jealous of one another, that the Earl of

Glencairn handed over the command-in -chief to General

Middleton, and fought a duel with Lieutenant-General Sir

George Munro, although his inferior in rank, and after a

short time their differences and jealousies resulted in the

break up of their army and the total failure of their designs.

The King's cause thus became hopeless, and his Majesty

sent word to his friends in the Highlands that, since any
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attempt they could make in the condition they were then

in could do him no service, and would inevitably ruin and

destroy themselves, to make the best terms with the enemy
they could, upon which they capitulated to General Monk,

who remained at Inverness until the chiefs of clans in the

surrounding- districts came in and gave satisfactory security

for their future peace and behaviour. Colonel Alexander

Fraser, Tutor of Lovat, his brothers, Captain Thomas Fraser

of Beaufort, and Captain James Fraser, recently returned

from the wars in Germany, at once came in, and delivered

themselves up in the citadel of Cromwell's Fort, at Inver-

ness, and were admitted to bail, the Tutor becoming bound

for the whole name and clan of Fraser. Kenneth Mor,

third Earl of Seaforth, Sir George Munro, Macleod of

Macleod, Lochiel, and Glengarry, also came in, laid down
their arms at the same place, gave the necessary security,

and were all set at liberty.

In 1656 Lord Cranstoun having received a commission

to raise a regiment for the service of the King of Poland,

gave a Captain's commission and the power of naming

his subalterns to James Fraser, the late Lord Lovat's

youngest son, who named Hugh Fraser, Younger of Cluna-

vacky, as his Lieutenant, and William Fraser, son of Mr
William Fraser of Phopachy as Ensign. These gentlemen

soon raised a company of fifty handsome-looking men, with

whom they marched south to join their regiment.

Having finished his studies at the University of St.

Andrews, young Lord Lovat came north to see after the

management of his estates, but Lady Sibella, his uncle

Colonel Alexander's wife, " being a bold and imperious

woman, would not allow her husband " to give an account

of his administration till his nephew, Lord Hugh, attained

his majority, although he had now ten years' intromissions

to account for. The curators, however, raised an action

before the Lords to compel the Tutor to give count and

reckoning, and advised his Lordship in the meantime to

consult Sir George Mackenzie of Tarbat, then an able

rising young lawyer who, they thought, would be of great
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use to him. But while visiting
-

at Tarbat Lord Lovat " was

decoyed into a match " with Sir George's sister Anne, a

lady about thirty years of age—some say thirty-six—while

his Lordship was only sixteen and four months, in Sep-

tember 1659, ar, d the arrangements were kept so secret

that his friends knew nothing of the marriage until it was

all over. This "was an unhappy step, which crushed this

promising youth in the very bud ; for he was much fitter

to be under the direction of a tutor at his education than

to be married at all ; and the great disproportion in their

ages made it quite an unequal match. His Lordship having

gone south with his lady in October, after staying for some

time with his granduncle, the Earl of Wemyss, they went

to Edinburgh and took up lodgings there. Lady Lovat

was in June following delivered of a daughter called Anne.

The Tutor was under the necessity of doing a parent's part,

in presenting the child for baptism, for his Lordship was so

bashful that he could not be prevailed upon to present the

child " or to be personally present at the ceremony.

The Tutor, having been ordered to find bail for his

intromissions with the estates during the ten years they

were under his charge, returned to the North and greatly

harassed the tenants. The year 1660 was an eventful one

in the history of this family, so many of its connexions

having been removed by death. In it, within a year of

each other died David Ross of Balnagowan, and his wife

Mary Fraser ; Anne Fraser Countess of Sutherland, both

daughters of the late and aunts of the present Lord ; Robert

Viscount Arbuthnot, who had been married to Catherine,

sister of these ladies ; and Captain James Fraser, their

youngest brother, who died in Pomerania, along with many
of the friends who accompanied him ; for none of them ever

returned, except Hugh Fraser of Clunavacky, and William

Fraser, a brother of the minister of Wardlaw.

In 1660 there were several protestations taken for pre-

cedency by different Lords. Alexander, Tutor of Lovat,

and Sir George Mackenzie of Tarbat took a protest in Lord

Lovat's name, who was still a minor, maintaining his pre-
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cedency by proving- that his ancestors were of old fourth

on the Roll of Scottish Peers. In 1661 his Lordship and

his Lady, who had remained in Edinburgh since their

marriage in 1659, started for the North. On their arrival

at Inverness they were sumptuously entertained by Provost

John Forbes of Culloden and the Magistrates, who then

conducted them to the west end of the Bridge, where they

were met by sixty of the gentlemen of the clan on horse-

back, and at the Green of Muirtown by six hundred men
under arms who accompanied them to Lovat, where they

settled.

This year the Citadel of Inverness, Cromwell's Fort, the

building of which was commenced in May, 1652, was pulled

down by order of the Scottish Parliament. The minister

of Wardlaw says, " I was an eye-witness of the first stone

that was broken of this famous Citadel, as I was also a

witness of the foundation stone laid anno 1652, in May,"

and in another place he says—" I saw it founded, I saw

it flourish, I saw it in its glory and grandeur, and now in

in its ruins, sic transit gloria mundi" and he informs us

that all its fir logs and spars were sold to its builders out

of Hugh Fraser of Struy's woods, whom he saw receiving

the large sum of thirty thousand merks at one time for

timber.

In 1662 the Magistrates of Inverness resolved to revive

an old custom that had been allowed to fall into desuetude

for many years past—an annual horse race in the month

of May. They sent intimation of their intention far and

near, and " a prodigious confluence " of people crowded in

to Inverness, among them the Earls of Moray and Seaforth,

Lord Lovat, Lord Macdonald and Aros (there was no Lord

Macdonald of Sleat for a century after this), Grant of Grant,

Mackintosh of Mackintosh, Ross of Balnagowan, Munro of

Fowlis, and several other gentlemen from Morayshire,

accompanied by large retinues of retainers. The race was

run on the plain round the Hill of Tomnahurich, the

starting and winning posts being set up at the west of the

town end of the Hill, where the roads then separated, the
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one going- w^st to Glenurquhart and the other to Kinmylies.

Posts or "stobs" were set up at proper distances all round

the course. The prizes were a silver cup value £j sterling",

and a saddle worth .£3. A box or stage was erected for

the Magistrates of the town and for the Lords and other

gentlemen present.

The competitors on the first day were Lord Lovat, Grant

of Grant, Rose of Kilravock, and Captain Mann from the

garrison at Fort-William. Lord Lovat and the Captain

rode in person, and the others by their men. They started

at 11 o'clock, Lord Lovat keeping in the rear until he came

within half-a-mile of the winning post. He then set spurs

to his horse, and to the admiration of all, passed the others,

took the lead, and won the race by several hundred yards,

Captain Mann coming in second, Grant's man third, and

Kilravock's last. Captain Mann afterwards declared that in

the course of all his experience in England and elsewhere,

he never saw a better horseman than Lord Lovat nor a

swifter four-footed animal than his brown mare. The com-

petitors on the second day were Captain Alexander Fraser,

Tutor of Lovat ; his brother, Thomas Fraser of Beaufort,

"a nimble light horseman"; Mackintosh of Mackintosh, and

Finlay Fraser, a Bailie of Inverness. The four ran abreast

for the greater part of the race, but towards the end Beau-

fort and Bailie Fraser darted ahead and came in neck and

neck, with the result that they had to cast lots for the first

prize, which fell to the Bailie, and that afternoon Grant of

Grant paid him £13 sterling for his horse, which was

admittedly the best in the field, and won the race with him

the following year.

In February, 1665, Lord Lovat, being then past twenty-

one years of age, set out with a splendid retinue to pay

court to the King, then in London, among them his two

uncles, Alexander the Tutor, and Thomas of Beaufort.

These and several other leading gentlemen of the clan

parted with him in Edinburgh and returned to the North,

the only one who accompanied him into England being Alex-

ander Fraser, Younger of Philorth. He paid a visit to his
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mother, Lady Delaval, in Northumberland, who received

him with great demonstrations of joy and affection, and her

husband, Sir Ralph Delaval, accompanied him to London,

where they arrived in March. They were not long- there

when his Lordship, Alexander Fraser, Younger of Philorth,

and Sir Ralph were introduced to the King by Sir Alex-

ander Fraser of Durris, one of his Majesty's physicians.

They were received most graciously, and after the ceremony

of kissing hands was over, Charles, turning to Lord Lovat,

said, "I remember that in the year 1650, being with my
army at Stirling, I had occasion to observe particularly what

a good figure your clan made. I know they were misled,

with others, in the time of the Rebellion, but they soon

returned to their duty. I hope they continue in their duty

still." Lord Lovat replied that he hoped they would always

deserve the good opinion which his Majesty was gracious

enough to express regarding them. The King took a

particular liking to the young Lord, both for his easy and

open manner and his candour, as well as for his courage

and dexterity in riding and tilting, in which exercises, as

also in fencing and dancing, there was no one at the

Court who could successfully compete with him. He often

mounted the tallest and stateliest horse in the Royal stables

without touching the stirrups. By merely laying his left

hand on the animal's mane he would swing himself into

the saddle. The Duke of Albemarle, better known as

General Monk, paid him every courtesy and had him

frequently in his house, for his Grace said that he would

never forget the civility he met with on all occasions from

his Lordship's friends when in the North, particularly when
he stood in need of their good offices, marching from

Kintail, through Monar, Glenstrathfarrar, Strathglass, and

the Aird to Inverness; and the Duke of Monmouth treated

him as if he were his equal and spoke kindly of him on

repeated occasions to the King. Sir Alexander Fraser of

Durris presented him with a splendid equipage—a fine

coach and four stately horses, and " being inferior to his

son, Sir Peter Fraser, in pride he acknowledged him as his

13
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chief and introduced him to the King as such." The
plague having suddenly broken out in London while his

Lordship was there he made a hurried retreat out of the

city and returned to Scotland. They soon arrived at

Seaton Delaval, Sir Ralph's residence, in Northumberland,

without a taint of infection, much to their relief and grati-

fication, though not only in London but in several other

parts of England the plague was making terrible havoc,

the people dying in thousands.

Having stayed for a few days with his mother and step-

father, Lord Lovat and his companions left for the north

in the beginning of July and arrived at Edinburgh two

days after, Alexander Fraser, Younger of Philorth, never

having parted company with him since they started together

from the Scottish Capital on their way to London in the

preceding February. Losing no time here the two set

out for Weems, the residence of the Earl of Wemyss, Lord

Lovat's grand-uncle, in Fife, and the greatest affection was

shown to him by his relatives in that county, where he was

himself born and educated. He and young Philorth then

proceeded through Forfarshire to the Mearns, and paid a

visit to his Lordship's grand-aunt, the Lady Margaret

Arbuthnot. From there they went on to Muchal, or

Castle Fraser, and waited on Lord Fraser's lady, who was

Catherine Fraser, Lord Hugh's aunt. From here they rode

through the Garrioch to Buchan, where they called upon

Fraser of Inverallochy, and then came on to Philorth, where

the old Laird received Lovat and his own son Alexander

with the greatest joy and entertained them most politely

and sumptuously. Having parted here with his young

friend and companion, Lord Hugh went to Strichen and

found the laird and his wife ready waiting to set out along

with him to visit their friends and relatives in the Aird.

Having entertained their welcome guest for the night, they

set out together next morning and arrived at Lovat about

the middle of July, after an absence by his Lordship of

more than five months. During his sojourn in the south,

his uncle, Thomas Fraser of Beaufort, in April, 1665, mar-
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ried Sibella, daughter of John Macleod, XIV. of Macleod.

In May, 1666, his Lordship having received certain

letters from the South went away a few days after without

telling any of his family or friends what occasioned his

sudden departure, and attended only by two servants, by

his coachman, and a postilion. The latter two he sent back

on his arrival at the river Spey and continued his journey

accompanied by his two servants, and he was not heard

of during the whole of that summer.

When his Lordship started on this trip he left his lady

with child, and on the 28th of September, 1666, she was

delivered, and the infant was baptized next day by the Rev.

William Fraser, minister of Kiltarlity, and named Hugh.
" The midwife said to myself," says the Rev. James Fraser,

Episcopalian minister of Kirkhill, author of the Wardlaw

manuscript, "take care of your chief, the Master of Lovat,

for his mother will never have another." The child was

born with a large black spot on the right side of his upper

lip, and was in consequence always known among his

Gaelic-speaking countrymen as " Mac-Shimidh Ball-dubh,"

or the Black-spotted son of Simon. Contemporary with

this Lord Lovat were three other Highland chiefs with

certain peculiar marks or blemishes on their bodies, namely,

the Earl of Seaforth, who was known as " MacCoinnich

Glun-dubh," Mackenzie the Black-kneed ; Mackintosh of

Mackintosh, known as " Mac-an-Toisich Claon," or Mac-

kintosh the Squint-eyed ; and the Chisholm, called "An
Siosalach Cam," or Chisholm the One-eyed. There was

an old-standing prophecy handed down in the family that

when four chiefs with such personal peculiarities should

appear simultaneously extraordinary events should take

place, and the family of Lovat would enter upon troublous

times and begin to decay, and the belief was now gaining

ground that the prophecy was about to be fulfilled.

Lord Lovat's health began to fail. He did not return

until October, after having made a tour of Aberdeenshire

and Buchan, and he did not remain long at home when he

started on a similar tour through the county of Ross. He
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seemed, according- to the family chronicler, by this time

to take no pleasure in the company of his wife, "and yet

such was the sweetness of his temper " that the unhappy

relations between them affected his health, which about

this time began to decline, and the prospects of this once

great and flourishing family appeared about this period to

have been brought very low, especially as regards the

succession.

Lady Lovat was not likely to have any more children
;

Alexander, the Tutor's wife, was past child-bearing, and

he had no male issue ; Thomas of Beaufort's first children

died in childhood, so that all the hopes of the family were

centred in a suckling infant. All the principal branches of

the house were, curiously enough, in a similar position.

Lord Fraser of Muchal had only one son ; Fraser of Phil-

orth, who soon after this became Lord Abernethy of

Saltoun, had only one son ; and the Frasers of Strichen,

Inverallochy, and Durris had but one son each, a state

of matters which seems to have impressed his Lordship and

troubled him much.

Another writer, who states that Lady Lovat was thirty-

six years old when she married his Lordship as a mere boy,

says that "he was seduced and persuaded by Sir George

Mackenzie, afterwards Viscount Tarbat, to marry his sister.

When he grew older and saw the world he found his mis-

fortune in being married to a woman older than his mother,

of a proud, crabbed, temper, and of a very bad reputation.

He became very dumpish and melancholy, and though he

truly was one of the wittiest and best spirits that ever was

of his family, he could never endure to think of any future

concerning his family. He gave himself up to drinking

and divers influences. He was famous for riding and

dancing and used all his energies in perfection. All his

friends in the North and South did make remonstrances to

him, how he would destroy his family if he did not look

after it; yet it was wonderful that he who could advise

another so well could never look after his own affairs. He
told them, ' Gentlemen, if you knew what I have at home
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at Lovat,' meaning his lady, 'you would never quarrel with

me for neglecting- the affairs of Lovat, for it's death to me
to hear them named.'" So getting weary of his home
surroundings, he determined to go abroad and visit the

Continent, "resolved never to return as long as his wife

lived." Having settled with his Chamberlains, and mort-

gaged Dalcross to Major George Bateman, who had married

Sir James Fraser of Brea's eldest daughter, he went on

board a ship at Findhorn on the 26th of February, 1670,

and arrived safely on the 7th of March, nine days after, at

Middleburg, in Zealand, from whence he made a tour

through Holland. Having spent the winter and spring in

travelling through the United Provinces, he decided to

return home, and embarking at the Texel he arrived in

Aberdeen on the 4th of April. After paying short visits

to his friends in that county, he was accompanied by

Thomas Fraser of Strichen to Lovat, where he arrived, to

the great joy of his relatives and friends, on the 20th of

April, 167 1, having been away for about eleven months.

During his absence Lady Lovat fell into a rapid con-

sumption. She spent the summer at the waters of Scar-

borough, but deriving no benefit she returned to the North,

died at Beauly on the 16th of September, 1670, and was

buried with all the pomp and ceremony due to her position

and rank in the Chapel of Kirkhill.

On his return, Lord Lovat set about repairing his house

at Beauly, intending to reside there, to marry again and

attend to his family affairs, and he was much blamed for

demolishing the old family residence at Lovat in order to

get its oak roof and beams and hewn stone for the more

modern and less interesting house on the opposite side of

the river. He enjoyed a fair state of health since his

arrival from Holland, but in January 1672, he became

low-spirited, and took to complaining that he had no com-

pany to entertain him. His uncle, Thomas of Beaufort,

Hugh Fraser of Struy, John Fraser of Clunavacky, a gentle-

man of extensive knowledge and experience, and the Rev.

James Fraser, minister of Kirkhill, came in consequence
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to see him and seldom left his presence during the long

nights of January of that year, entertaining him with

" history and divinity." And when it became more widely

known that his health was giving way the esteem in which

he was universally held among the neighbouring chiefs soon

brought him visitors in abundance, among them the Earl

of Seaforth, who called upon him two or three times a

week, the Mackenzies of Tarbat and Cromarty, Ross of

Balnagowan, Munro of Fowlis, and all the gentlemen of

note in his own county as far as Lochiel in Lochaber.

His malady, however, rapidly increased, " being spent with

melancholy and drinking," and as he realised that his end

was approaching he frequently called his children around

him, especially his son, little Lord Hugh, then only five

years and a half old. His father took great pleasure in

talking to him, and would often exclaim in course of their

conversation, " Oh, poor Hugh, what art thou by thy black

spot marked for ? What is designed for thee in after times

lies hid in the womb of Providence. But I have my fears

that when I am gone the effects of the prediction found

upon the altar at Beauly will appear. The flaming hill

mentioned may prove a Vesuvius to the neighbourhood.

Sparks may reach far and kindle a fire if not prevented."

This was in reference to a supposed prophecy or prediction,

of which the following account is given in the Advocates'

Library MS. :—

When Alexander Fraser, the Tutor, lived at Tomich, in

October 1666 about eleven at night a bright light was seen

about the mansion house and offices, but no great notice

was taken of it the first night. The next night, about the

same time, some of the servants observed it and were much
terrified by it. They also heard a voice, they said, addressed

to them, requesting them to tell their master, the Tutor,

to repair to the Church of Beauly, and that he would there

find upon the altar an answer to what had so often troubled

his mind. The voice naturally increased their terror, so

much that they had not the courage to move until daylight,

when they informed their master of what they had seen
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and heard, but he gave no particular heed to their state-

ments. Next night, however, about the same hour, the

same light and voice surprised the Tutor himself, the voice

commanding him at his peril to go to the Church of the

Priory, where, upon the altar, he would find a piece of

parchment written in Gothic characters, unfolding the future

fate of the Lovat family. The light then vanished, and the

Tutor, as soon as daylight set in, taking two of his servants

along with him, obtained the key of the Church from the

officer in charge of it, and going towards the altar they

found placed upon it a piece of dark antique parchment,

with the following doggerel, all the initial letters being red,

with a St. Andrews cross before each of them :—

Real offspring o' the Duke of Guyse,

Draw your forces to a head,

Now act the men, for otherwise

Your renown's for ever dead

Your ruins are contrived all

—

That join with Bisset for your arms.

The flaming Hills* will work your fall,

If courage prevent not your harms.

Quit credulous and facile minds,

Childish, foolish, vain conceits,

Let not gilded glasses blind

Your judgment about land debates,

Mark bosom foes, love yourselves,

Lay aside intestine jars,

That loose sinews break the nerves

Of the best devised wars.

My ghost is grieved at the lot

Of my offspring's courage broken,

Rouse, you believe them not,

Observe the distich underwritten.

The distich was as follows—" Sed mora damnosa est, nee

spez dubitare remittit dum super est. Cuncti ad arms."

The Tutor, says the author of the Wardlaw MS., "gave

me the parchment next day, which I transcribed literally

and several copies of it were spread through the North.

I kept it and showed it to hundreds. Different persons

* The armorial bearings of the family of Tarbat.
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were suspected to have been the contrivers of this sham

apparition, and to be the authors of these lines ; for it was

not thought then that there was any apparition in the case,

but that some, seeing that the family of Lovat was like to

fall wholly under the management of the family of Tarbat,

were apprehensive they might ruin it, which they had very

nigh affected about forty years after that, and that some

who wished well to the family of Lovat took this method to

put them on their guard." It seems, however, to have im-

pressed the mind of the dying Lord Lovat, who, in April,

1672, finding his end had come, requested the Rev.

James Fraser of Kirkhill to administer to him the Sacra-

ments of the Church, which his Lordship received very

devoutly. He, however, lived for a day after, and spent

them " in the most pious and devout ejaculations," until he

breathed his last on Saturday the 27th of April, 1672, in the

29th year of his age, having been Lord Lovat for 26, since

the death of his grandfather in 1646. His biographer says

that "with this great man the hopes of the Frasers died.

While he lived they enjoyed tranquility, peace, and plenty,

and feared no attacks from their neighbours nor intestine

divisions among themselves. Never was grief more sincere

than upon this occasion. Every eye was full of tears and

every heart full of terrors." He "was humane, affable, easy

of access, and obliging to everybody. He obtained among
the country people the title of ' Uisdean Greannor'; that is

Hugh le Debonnair, though his early unhappy marriage

before he knew himself or the world knocked him, as it

were, on the head, and in the end gave him the finishing

stroke. His discontent preyed upon his vitals, yet you

would seldom see a frown on his lively and comely face.

He had a sound head, solid judgment, and a kind heart.

He was unalterable in his affections, resolute in his pur-

poses, and fortunate in his enterprises, though one false step

marred all. I mean this unhappy marriage. He was quite

free of the fashionable vices of the times, wh g and

drinking, which he would neither indulge in himself nor

suffer in others. He was truly religious, without affecta-
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tion, and devout without show or vanity. His funeral

obsequies were truly splendid and magnificent. Upon the

9th of May, the day appointed for that solemnity, at 8

o'clock in the morning-, the coffin, covered with a velvet

mort-cloth, was exposed in the court, in the open air

opposite the door of the hall, the pall set above it sup-

ported by four poles, the eight branches of the escutcheon

being fixed to eight poles, and fixed in the ground, four at

each end of the coffin. Two hundred men in arms and

liveries formed an avenue. Through this avenue the chief

mourners walked six abreast to receive the strangers, so that

none could pass or repass to cause the least confusion.

There were four trumpeters in the chamber above the stair-

case, who sounded an alarm upon the approach of every

new company, who always alighted at the Cross, where they

were received by the mourners and conveyed by them

through the avenue of armed men to the entry, which was

all hung with black on each side. The pavement, stairs,

and doors were painted black. Thus they continued until

mid-day, after which no more company arrived. The
entertainment was truly noble. Between twelve and one

o'clock the trumpets gave the mourning sound, upon which

all march forward to the last man. Then the mourners

raise the coffin and the pall above it, supported by four

poles, each of which was held by a mourner at each corner.

The first four branches of the escutcheon was carried by

four mourners before the coffin, and the second four carried

after it, two trumpets sounding before and two after. Thus

all march in procession through the armed men in a row

on each side. At the end of the town was a stately horse-

man in bright armour, back and breast, with a bright helmet

on his head, a drawn sword in one hand and a mourning

spear in the other. He led the van, with two mourners in

hoods and gowns, on each side of the reins, and so rode on

to the Church at the Ferry, as if they had come with tidings

from the tomb. Two stately horses started up all covered

with mournings, led by two grooms, masked and covered

with black mantles, and in this posture stepped forward,
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following- the man in armour. From the west end of the

moor to the Kirk-stile, a mile in length, the armed brigades

were drawn up and marched in order, while some of them

formed a line on each side through which the whole pro-

cession passed slowly in the order already described. The

Earl of Moray brought 400 men from Morayshire, with

their drums covered with black. There were 1000 Frasers,

with their Colonel, Thomas of Beaufort, at their head.

There were a great number of armed Mackenzies, Munros,

Rosses, Mackintoshes, Grants, Macdonells, and Camerons.

There were 800 horse, of which 60 were from the town of

Inverness. There were 80 churchmen at this interment,

among whom were 22 Frasers, the Bishops of Moray, Ross,

and Caithness, and the enormous gathering of people was

truly grand. At the church stile the pall is set up and the

coffin received by the Earls of Moray and Seaforth, Lord

Tarbat, Ross of Balnagowan, Munro of Fowlis, Fraser of

Beaufort, Strichen, and the principal friends of the family,

who carried it to the church, and placed it before the pulpit,

which was all covered with black, as were also Lord Lovat

and Strichen's pews. After singing and prayer the Rev-

James Fraser, minister of Kirkhill, preached the funeral

sermon from Samuel ii., 3rd and 38th— ' Know ye not that

their is a prince and a great man fallen this day in Israel ?

'

About 4 o'clock the ceremonies and interment had been

completed, and the retreat was sounded by the trumpeters,

when all the different companies march off with their

banners displayed, the foot of each clan first by themselves,

and then the horse ; the Frasers standing still on the field

south of the church, doing honour to every clan as they

marched past, and at last they marched with sound of

trumpet and tuck of drum until they arrived above the

Ferry, where they were dismissed."

His Lordship married, as already stated, in July 1659,

when only sixteen years old, Anne, second daughter of Sir

John Mackenzie of Tarbat, Baronet, and sister of Sir

George, first Earl of Cromarty, with issue

—

1. Hugh, his heir and successor, born early in 1666.
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2. Anne, who, born in March, 1661, married Patrick,

second Lord Kinnaird, with issue—Patrick, who succeeded

as third Baron, and another son Charles who became

fifth Lord.

3. Isabel, who, born in 1662, married, as his first wife,

Alastair Dubh Macdonell, XI. of Glengarry, with issue—an

only daughter, Anne, who married Roderick Mackenzie,

IV. of Applecross.

4. Margaret, who, born in 1666, married Colonel Andrew
Munro.

His Lordship made a transmission of the estates, before

the birth of his only son, in favour of his eldest daughter

Anne, Lady Kinnaird, and his other daughters in succession,

in terms of which Anne was infeft base, during her father's

life, in 1666. The estate was, however, by the same deed

of transmission declared redeemable by the heirs-male on

payment of suitable provision named therein for his three

daughters, and accordingly when an heir was born to him

in 1666, the estate was redeemed, the ladies receiving pay-

ment of their respective portions when the transmission in

their favour became extinct.

Lord Hugh died in his house at Beauly on the 27th of

April, 1672, and was interred in the manner already so

graphically described, in the Church of Kirkhill, on the

9th of May following, and was succeeded in the title and

estates by his only son,

XVI. HUGH, ELEVENTH LORD FRASER,

Then only six years of age. He does not appear to have

been served heir to his father, but to have possessed the

estate in right of his apparency. His uncle, Sir George

Mackenzie of Tarbat, afterwards first Earl of Cromarty,

assumed the whole management of the Lovat estates into

his own hands on the death of the late Lord, and took his

Lordship to reside with himself at his residence of Castle

Leod, in the valley of Strathpeffer. He then handed over

the entire administration of Hugh's affairs to the Earl of

Seaforth, with Hugh Fraser of Belladrum acting under the
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Mackenzie chief as local administrator or factor of the family

estates, without the slightest regard or consideration for the

young Lord's relatives, who were legally entitled to manage

his affairs, such as Thomas Fraser of Beaufort, his grand-

uncle, James Fraser of Brea, Simon Fraser of Inverallochy,

and Thomas Fraser of Strichen, all near relatives who had

a right to be called and consulted, and to have the first offer

made to them of at least the local management of the Fraser

estates. But they were entirely ignored. The young Lord

being now settled in his maternal uncle's house, his eldest

sister, Anne, then about thirteen years of age, was sent to

Edinburgh to complete her education, and the second, Isabel,

about eleven, was sent to the school of Chanonry, under

the care of her aunt, the Countess of Seaforth, while the

youngest, Margaret, was sent to her grandmother, Lady

Collintoun. His Lordship's father having been an only

son, Thomas Fraser of Beaufort, Hugh's only surviving

granduncle, was entitled to become Tutor-at-iaw, but he also

was excluded from his lawful position, and lived privately

at Tomich.

The young Lord remained in the family of his uncle, Sir

George Mackenzie of Tarbat, for nearly six years, during

which period his country and people are said to have been

greatly oppressed. In 1677, in his twelfth year, he was

removed from Castle Leod to Hugh Fraser of Belladrum's

house, where he was placed and continued under the care

of "proper tutors" until he went to the University, where

he made very little progress. According to the friendly

family chronicler, "he was too soon a Lord to make any

other proficiency at the University than the name of being

there, though his capacity had been much greater than it

was, for he was always but a man of very weak intellectuals."

A writer, already quoted, says that " Lord Hugh was natur-

ally a very dull spirit. He was practically educated in the

Lord Tarbat's house, who since the time his sister married

his (Hugh's) father had always a design to ruin the family

or join it to his own, for he was an inconceivable enemy

both of the family of Lovat and Seaforth. Thomas Fraser



XVI. HUGH, ELEVENTH LORD FRASER. 205

of Beaufort being imposed upon by Tarbat, he suffered him

to manage his nephew and estates, he (Thomas) having- all

the casualties to keep his family as representative of the

name. Tarbat, after sixteen years' intromission with the

estate of Lovat, left it worse than he found it, and never

paid a penny debt, and destroyed the clan and kindred, to

whom he was always a sworn enemy. He found himself a

vast sum in arrears to his nephew, and he patched up a

match between him and the Marquis of Atholl's daughter,

when he was but seventeen years. The marriage was thus

concluded without the knowledge of Thomas, his uncle, or

any of his kindred, and in the year 1687 Lord Hugh, who
was very young, entirely ignorant of the world and of his

own affairs, married Lady Amelia Murray, daughter to the

Marquis of Atholl, which unhappy match has almost accom-

plished the barbarous and long-continued designs of the

Lord Tarbat to win the family of Lovat and extirpate the

name of Fraser out of the North of Scotland, where they

have lived in a good correspondence with all their neigh-

bours these five hundred years, except the Macdonalds,

with whom they fought most famously and desperately (the

Macdonalds being four to one), and continued in bad blood

with them for several ages."

Shortly after Lord Lovat returned home, the Revolution

which, in 1688, placed William of Orange on the throne

of Great Britain took place. The Duke of Gordon and

John Graham of Claverhouse (Viscount Dundee), were the

only prominent men of position in the South and East who
adhered to the banished King James, and their hopes of

success laid entirely in the attachment of the Highland

clans, by whom Dundee was so much beloved. On the

nth of November he, at the head of thirty of his cavalry,

left Edinburgh and set out for the Highland mountains.

With these he passed through the counties of Perth, Forfar,

Aberdeen, Moray, and Nairn, and, on the 1st of May 1689,

effected a junction with Coll Macdonald of Keppoch, who
had laid siege to the town of Inverness at the head of 900

men. Coll had already captured several of the leading
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citizens and held them as hostages until his demands for

payment of a sum of 4000 merks had been complied with.

Dundee succeeded in bringing about a compromise. Kep-
poch accepted 2000 merks, and Dundee gave him his

personal bond for its due payment. The Magistrates had

already sworn allegiance to the Prince of Orange, but

Keppoch as part of the arrangement now come to stipu-

lated that they should re-swear fidelity to their lawful

sovereign King James, and he compelled them to do

so. What followed, and especially the history of the

battle of Killiecrankie, is so well known that it need not

be here detailed, but an incident is brought out in the

history of the Frasers in connection with it which is worth

recording.

Lord Hugh had married, as already stated, Lady Amelia

Murray, daughter of John Marquis of Atholl and sister of

the first Duke—a union "which was the fatal source of

many mischiefs that followed to the family and its repre-

sentatives to the almost total extinguishing of it." The

family historian here quoted goes on to say "that the Earl

of Tullibardine, the eldest son of the Marquis, who was in

a high degree of favour with King William, being Commis-

sioner to the Scots Parliament, and Secretary of State for

Scotland, got a commission from his Majesty to raise a

regiment. As he met with considerable difficulty in raising

the men he prevailed with his brother-in-law, Lord Lovat,

to accept of a Captain's commission in that regiment, not

doubting but his Lordship would soon raise what would

complete it. But when his Lordship came North, and the

clan were informed that he had accepted a Captain's com-

mission under Tullibardine, they thought themselves so

highly affronted that it was not in his Lordship's power to

raise ten recruits, and he was so piqued at it himself that

he declared he only accepted the commission to give it to

his cousin, Simon Fraser, eldest son of Thomas Fraser of

Beaufort, who was then at the King's College, Aberdeen,

studying the law after finishing the ordinary course of

philosophy." On this subject Simon hjmself says that he
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was sent early to King's College, Aberdeen, where he was

a distinguished student, took his Master of Arts degree, and

began the study of the civil law, which he was induced to

give up in 1695 to assume the command of a company in a

regiment raised by Lord Murray, son of the Marquis of

Atholl, in the service of William and Mary. His cousin,

Lord Hugh, who had been married to a daughter of the

Marquis, accepted a commission in this regiment, but

according to Simon's Memoirs his Lordship " was soon

convinced that every gentleman of his clan was in the

highest degree scandalised at the affront he had put upon

them in accepting this infamous commission. He therefore

wrote to his cousin, Simon of Beaufort, who was at the time

at the Royal University of Aberdeen, entreating him to

quit his studies, though he had just taken his degree of

Master of Arts, and was entering upon the science of civil

law. Lord Lovat declared in the most solemn manner

that he would ever regard him as his son and the repre-

sentative of his house, and that with these views he had just

accepted a commission in the regiment of his brother-in-

law, Lord Murray, that he might bestow it upon him, and

thus bring him forward most advantageously in the world.

Simon was animated with the most vigorous zeal for the

interests of King James ; he had already discovered this

disposition under the command of General Thomas Buchan,

and he had been three times thrown into prison for his

exertions in the Royal cause before he attained the age of

sixteen. He accordingly wrote a letter to his cousin (in

1694) full of the bitterest invectives, telling him that he had

forever lost his honour and his loyalty, and that possibly he

would one day lose his estates in consequence of the in-

famous step he had taken ; that for himself he was so far

from consenting to accept a commission in the regiment

of that traitor Lord Murray, that he would immediately go

home to his clan and prevent any one man from enlisting

into it." Simon kept his promise, if we may believe him-

self, "and being regarded by the whole clan as the heir

apparent of the family," he was able to exert so much
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influence over them that his cousin Lord Lovat could not

raise three recruits for his new company on all his

estates.

Simon, however, soon after visited Lord Murray by

special invitation at his seat of Huntingtower, near Perth.

The conversation turned on the raising of the regiment, and

the refusal of Simon to accept the commission offered to

him by Lord Lovat. Simon was still obdurate, declaring

his attachment to King James, and abusing his cousin,

Lord Lovat, for having accepted it contrary to the dictates

of his honour and conscience. Lord Murray thereupon

invited him to a private interview in his closet, where he

swore to him " that his design in accepting the regiment

from King William was, that he might have a regiment

well trained and accoutred to join King James in a descent

he had promised to make in the ensuing summer." Simple,

innocent Simon's honour, in the words of Dr Hill Burton,

"revolted against taking.arms in support of King William,

but he had no objection to entering his service, with the

intention of betraying his trust and doing the work of the

enemy." "After so many protestations of loyalty," he,

according to his own account, fell into the snare spread for

him by Lord Murray, returned home to enlist recruits, and

in a short time raised a complete company almost entirely

composed of the young gentlemen of his clan. He, how-

ever, did not get the command of it, but was obliged to

satisfy himself with a lieutenancy of Grenadiers. He did

not even succeed in getting his commission as Captain until

he brought three hundred recruits to the regiment and

even then had to make compensation in money to the

officer who made room for him, an act of treachery on the

part of Lord Murray which he declares to be "of a very

infamous nature." In the following year, 1696, Lord

Murray insisted upon all the officers of the regiment

signing the oath of abjuration, which many of them, being

well-known Jacobites, protested against. Simon was again

invited into Lord Murray's private closet for an explanation,

but we are left in doubt as to whether he took the oath
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or not. He, however, continued to serve in the regiment

for some time afterwards.*

Another writer gives additional details and describes what

occurred between Lord Lovat and his vassals as " a remark-

able instance of a desertion of a chief by his clan." Lord

Lovat, "powerful in point of influence and property, neither

the one nor the other," continues this writer, " was able to act

on his followers in opposition to what they considered their

loyalty and duty to an unfortunate monarch. Immediately

after the Revolution Lord Tullibardine, eldest son of the

Marquis of Atholl, collected a numerous body of Atholl

Highlanders together with 300 Frasers under the command
of Hugh Lord Lovat. These men believed they were

destined to support the abdicated King, but were in reality

assembled to serve the Government of King William.

When in front of Blair Castle their real destination was

disclosed to them by Lord Tullibardine, instantly they

rushed from the ranks, ran to an adjoining stream, and

filling their bonnets with water, drank to the health of King

James, and then with colours flying and pipers playing

marched off to join Lord Dundee, whose chivalrous bravery

and heroic and daring exploits excited their admiration.

The influence of the chief and their attachment to him was

of no avail, and under Alexander, eldest son of Thomas of

Beaufort, the Frasers joined Dundee. After the battle of

Killiecrankie, where the brave Dundee fell, Major-General

Cannon, who assumed command of the Royalist forces,

marched to Dunkeld, where he was joined by the remaining

forces of the Frasers in full force, having been in the mean-

time assembled for that purpose by Lord Lovat, the chief

having now decided to follow his vassals as they would not

follow him, and they took part in the desperate attack on

Dunkeld, then defended by the Cameronians, described as

" a body of religious enthusiasts from the West of Scot-

land." Cannon's attacking force were repulsed, with great

slaughter, and the Highlanders, seeing no probability of

success in the Stuart cause under such an incapable com-

* Memoirs of his Life by himself, pp. 9 to 18,
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mander, returned home. The marshalling of his men under

Dundee is the only public scene in which Lord Lovat

appears to have taken any prominent part, and his conduct

on that occasion does but little credit to the representative

of an ancient and illustrious warrior race.

By his Lordship's contract of marriage, dated the 1 8th

of May, 1685, when about eighteen years old, Hugh Lord

Fraser of Lovat, with consent of his curators, on the one

part, and Lady Amelia Murray, daughter of John Marquis

of Atholl, on the other, he resigned the lordship and barony

of Lovat and others, in favour of the issue male of his

marriage with her or of any other marriage, in default of

whom to his heirs whomsoever of the said marriage, with

a preference to the eldest daughter, without division, marry-

ing a gentleman of the name of Fraser. A charter of

resignation and confirmation followed upon this contract,

dated the 22nd of February, 1694. But this destination

was subsequently altered by his Lordship by a deed dated

the 26th of March, 1696, granted by him in favour of his

granduncle, Thomas Fraser of Beaufort, upon the narrative

that, being of an easy temper, he had been imposed upon

to grant a bond of entail to his daughters, failing heirs-male

of his body, contrary to the clauses and provisions in the

old original rights and infeftments of the estate ; and that,

being unacquainted with the affairs of his family, he had

been induced, failing heirs-male of his own body, to dispone

his estates to his daughters by contract of marriage and other

deeds done since that time ; and being desirous of pre-

serving the succession in the male line, he therefore now
disponed his estate, failing heirs-male of his own body,

to his granduncle, Thomas Fraser of Beaufort, and his

heirs-male.

In this same year, 1696, Lord Lovat, accompanied by

his brother-in-law Lord Murray, and his cousin Simon,

went to London to be presented to the King. Having

"devoted much of his time and attention to the taverns

of London, an occupation in which he would be disin-

terestedly aided by his cousin," he paid the penalty in
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a broken constitution, and found his health and strength

giving- way with alarming rapidity.

Simon, whose full acquaintance we shall make later on

as the notorious Lord Simon of the 'Forty-five, in the

Memoirs of his Life, written by himself, says that, in so

far as family affairs were concerned, this visit to London
was very successful, for " Lord Lovat declared that he

regarded him (Simon) as his own son, and as Lord Atholl

had urged him to execute some papers at his marriage

which might perhaps be prejudicial to the claims of Simon
as his male heir he obliged the young laird [Simon himself]

to send for an attorney, and made a universal bequest to

him of all his estates, in case he died without issue male,

leaving the ordinary dowries to his daughters, and annulling

and abjuring what at any time he might have done in

opposition to the ancient claims of his house in favour of

male heirs." This statement has been found accurate in

every detail, except that Simon erroneously says that the

deed was made out in his own favour, the fact being

that it was granted in favour of his father, Thomas Fraser

of Beaufort. The date of this deed, the 26th of March,

1696, corresponds with Simon's visit to London, and Dr
Hill Burton, already quoted, says that it is creditable both

to Simon's discretion and filial duty that this, which was

the first remarkable instance of his influence over other

minds, should have taken this direction in getting the

deed made out in his father's favour. He was, however,

far from forgetting himself. There is a bond by this Lord

Hugh extant among the Lovat documents, dated in

London, on the 26th of March, 1696, by which his Lord-

ship binds himself and his representatives to pay Simon

50,000 merks Scots, equal to ^2757 15s sterling, "for

the special love and affection I bear to my cousin, Master

Simon Fraser, eldest lawful son to Thomas Fraser of Beau-

fort, and for certain onerous causes and others moving me."*

Lord Hugh, whom his cousin, afterwards Lord Simon,

* Lives of Simon Lord Lovat and Duncan Forbes of Culloden, by John
Hill Burton, pp. 14 and 1$.
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describes as a youth of contracted understanding and facile

disposition, married, as already stated, Amelia, daughter of

John Marquis of Atholl, and sister of the first Duke of that

family, with issue

—

i. Lady Amelia, who, born in 1686, married, in 1702,

Alexander Mackenzie of Fraserdale, son of Roderick Mac-

kenzie of Prestonhall, brother of George, first Earl of

Cromarty, one of the Lords of Session, and Lord Justice

Clerk of Scotland, with issue, of whom in the sequel.

2. Anne, born in 1689, and in 1703 married, first,

Norman Macleod, XVIII. of Dunvegan and Harris, with

issue—one son, Norman, who carried on the succession of

that family. She married secondly, Peter Fotheringham

of Powrie, with issue ; and thirdly, as his third wife, John,

second Earl of Cromarty, also with issue.

3. Catherine, who married Sir William Murray of Auch-

tertyre, with issue.

4. Margaret, who died unmarried.

His Lordship became seriously ill at Dunkeld on his way

home from London. From here he was sent back to

Perth, where he died on the 4th of September, 1696,

without male issue, whereupon the succession opened up

to his granduncle,

XVII. THOMAS, TWELFTH LORD FRASER,

Who was the only surviving son of Hugh, the ninth Lord.

It has been said that Thomas of Beaufort never assumed

the title, but that is not the case. He in fact did so im-

mediately on the death of Lord Hugh ; and Simon, his

second son, on the assumption that his eldest brother,

Alexander, was dead, took the title of Master of Lovat.

There are several documents extant to which the new

baron appended his signature as " Lovat." His right was,

however, disputed by Lady Amelia Fraser, eldest daughter

of the last Lord, under her father's marriage contract already

quoted. She not only claimed the Lovat estates under this

deed, but the succession to the peerage in addition. In this

she was supported by her maternal uncle, the Earl of Tulli-
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bardine, at the time Lord High Commissioner for Scotland,

who, according to Burton, "had the authority of a monarch

in right of his office, and sometimes greater power in virtue

of his abilities." As this matter was fought throughout and

finally disposed of between the Atholl family and the notor-

ious Lord Simon of Lovat, they will be more appropriately

discussed when that remarkable man's career is dealt with

under our next head, except in so far as a few details may
be necessary to maintain the continuity of the narrative.

Part of Tullibardine's plan was, no doubt, to marry the

Lovat heiress to one of his own sons. This project was

soon, however, discovered to be unattainable, for the Frasers

would have none of the Murrays to rule over them, and it

was then resolved by the Earl of Atholl to have his grand-

daughter the heiress married to a Fraser, the eldest son and

heir of Lord Saltoun, who it was supposed would be more

popular with the clan, and through whom it would be easier

to ruin the Lovats, so detested and bitterly hated by the

Earl. This plan also miscarried, as will be fully seen pre-

sently. It brought out a strong letter of protest from Lord

Thomas and fifty leading gentlemen of the clan, addressed

to Lord Saltoun and his son. It was not, however, signed

by the Master himself although it bears every trace of his

having been the author of it. " We have put on a full

resolution," says this document in one of its leading para-

graphs, "to defend our lands, possessions, goods, lives, wives,

children, liberties, and privileges of free subjects which lie

at the stake, against all invading and insulting avarice, ambi-

tion, and oppression, pro aris et focis contra omnes mortales—
the King's majesty, his authority and laws only excepted."*

The story handed down by Simon's biographers about

the attempted abduction of the Lovat heiress, Amelia, eldest

daughter of Hugh, eleventh Lord Fraser, admits of a good

deal of correction. The Lady is said to have given her

consent to an elopement and a marriage with the Master

of Lovat, as heir-male, in order to put an end to all strife

and contention about the succession to the estate and titles,

* This letter is printed in full, State Trials, xiv., p. 356.
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and the arrangement to carry out this voluntary abduction

on her part was entrusted to Fraser of Tenechiel, who
removed her from Castle Dounie, during a severe winter

night, with such haste that she had no time to put on her

shoes or stockings and walked away barefooted in the

snow. Fraser, however, becoming frightened or conscious-

stricken as to the consequences of his act, returned the

young Lady to her mother and told her of the intrigue,

when the heiress was at once sent for safety to one of the

Atholl strongholds at Dunkeld. All this is said to have

occurred, and must have done so in so far as it is true, in 1696,

when the young Lady was only nine years old. Major

James Fraser says that the Marquis of Atholl " took away

the oldest daughter" (of Lord Hugh) "who was nine years

of age into his dwelling house at Atholl, by which means

he thought to secure the estate against Lord Simon."*

And the dates available prove that the age stated by the

Major is practically correct. Her father's contract of

marriage is dated the 18th of May, 1685 ; she was born

in 1686; and the attempted "elopement" took place in

1696, so that Miss Amelia could not at that time have

been more than ten years old, and probably, as Major

Fraser says, only nine complete. Referring to this incident

Lieutenant-Colonel Alexander Fergusson, the editor of

Major Fraser s Manuscript, after giving the old and hitherto

generally accepted version, says—" But another face is

given to the tale by the Major, on whose authority we
are made aware of the extremely tender age of the damsel

who has hitherto been made to figure as a heroine in a

romantic elopement. It seems probable that those in

charge of her forgot to put on her stockings before they

made off with her. And perhaps, after all, Fraser >of

Tenechiel, who was entrusted with the affair, and is accused

of having been faithless in his task, was apprehensive of a

serious charge being made against him of stealing the

child. "f Whatever may have been Simon's intentions in

* Major Preiser's Manuscript, Vol. I., pp. 107-108.

f Introduction, Vol. I., p. 36.
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getting the heiress removed from Castle Dounie he could

have had no idea of marrying her at that tender age. The

probability is that she was to be taken care of in some

secret and secure place until she arrived at mature years,

when no doubt, had he succeeded in his plans, a marriage

would have taken place.

The Dowager Lady Lovat still resided at Castle Dounie,

and in the autumn of 1697 Lord Saltoun and Lord Mungo
Murray, a brother of the Dowager, paid her a visit there

in the innocent hope, it is said, of being able to arrange

all differences about the succession and the other questions

in dispute between the two families of Atholl and Lovat.

The Master of Lovat was at the time in Stratherrick, where

he gathered together a few armed men with the intention

of meeting Lords Saltoun and Mungo Murray on their

way from Castle Dounie, which he learned they were on

the point of leaving, and discuss the object of their visit

with them. Lord Saltoun, he says, had previously arranged

to meet him to talk over their affairs amicably, but these

engagements were only made to be deliberately broken,

and a final arrangement that they should meet on the road

on the very morning of their departure, Lords Saltoun and

Mungo Murray attempted to defeat by starting early in the

morning on their journey home. If the Master is to be

credited, it was simply for the purpose of counteracting

this manoeuvre and forcing an interview that, very early on

the 6th of October, 1697, he set out from Stratherrick at

the head of a few of his sturdy followers, by Inverness, to

Bunchrew, where he met their Lordships. In a letter

written immediately afterwards, intended for Sir John Hill,

Governor of Fort-William, he gives an account of what

took place. He says

—

"There happened an unlucky accident that is like, if God and

good friends do not prevent it, utterly to extirpate not only my
father's family but the whole name of Fraser. What they are and

were in this and preceding Governments I believe you sufficiently

know. The thing is this. Notwithstanding that we are all convinced

that my Lord Atholl does desire to marry the pretended heiress

to one of his grandchildren, yet to divide our name in factions he
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did give out that he desired to give the heiress to my Lord Fraser

of Saltoun's son. This Saltoun being a very wordly man was very

greedy of the thoughts of it, and my father, being informed that

he did design to prosecute the matter without asking the consent

of the name, wrote a letter to him, and fifty gentlemen subscribing it

with him, to forbid Saltoun to meddle in the affair without the consent

of the name, and particularly not to come to this country until he was

called, otherwise that he would make a breach that he could not make
up. Notwithstanding of this fair advertisement, he came and intruded

upon us, and made it his whole business to calumniate me to my
friends, and to tell them that I had no right, and that I gave over all

my pretensions to him. All the people I spoke to cried out against

me upon this head, so that I found not only my interest but my
reputation at the stake, which made me write a line to my Lord

Saltoun to meet me in the head of the country, to give answer to all

that I had to say to him in fair and honourable terms. Instead of

keeping the appointment, he took horse immediately, and sixteen

horsemen, well armed and mounted, and as I came two miles from

Inverness, I was surprised to hear of his coming. I had eight horse-

men with me, all without pistols, save one and myself, and my father

with a small party of foot had crossed Lochness to meet with Saltoun.

I was so incensed against Saltoun and his calumnies, and slighting to

meet with me or my father, that I was resolved to die or to be fit sides

with him. So as I was with these eight gentlemen riding to the

meeting, Saltoun appears with his sixteen horse. So I told those

who were with me I desired to fight him, and accordingly we went

on, and when they were within pistol shot, we desired them to stand

and fight. So there was none of them that would stir safe Saltoun

that cocked one of his pistols. So we cried out that they behoved to

fight or be taken, and accordingly I came and took Saltoun's pistols

from him, and all the rest stupified with their arms before them.

They were so many in number that we could not venture in among
them to disarm them, but stood with our arms presented, till we sent

for some foot, and then made them all prisoners, and kept them in a

house, every one separate from another. I know that this unhappy

accident may ruin not only me but the whole name, who have unani-

mously joined with me. But I hope that your clemency, that was

always ready to preserve the people that you were among, will now
be apparent to preserve this poor name and family, and all the

relations that will venture with them. My Lady Lovat and I are

upon a treaty, and she has written to you to send no forces against us,

because I told her that my pledges were my security, and that they

would certainly suffer before me or mine. Upon all my honour this

is the true account of the matter, and I throw myself at your feet,

hoping that you will give me your advice, and do what lies in your
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power, which is much, and to preserve the lives of 1500 that are

ready to die with me, who am yours while I live.

(Signed) Sim. Fraser."

This account was probably near the truth, but as a

specimen of Lord Simon's exaggerated style in later years

it may be stated that in the Memoirs of his Life written by

himself, the "sixteen horsemen, well armed and mounted"

of his letter to Colonel Hill at the time swells out to " more

than forty," and instead of sending for more foot before

they could venture to disarm the sixteen, as mentioned in

the letter, he, according to his later account, disarmed them

all himself, without any assistance, even from his own
followers. The passage is in the following characteristic

terms :

—

" Since, however, the two Lords had more than forty horsemen

behind them in the road, the Master of Lovat (himself) gave orders

to all the gentlemen of his party to present their carbines to the

breasts of Lord Saltoun, Lord Mungo Murray, and the persons who
were already come up, and to fire upon the first person who moved
hand and foot, while he alighted from his horse and disarmed the

remainder of the troop as they arrived. In this manner the Master

of Lovat took from the enemy more than forty pair of pistols, together

with a number of swords, without the smallest resistance from any

individual, except the valet de chambre of Lord Saltoun, who was

a Lowland Fraser, and who would not give up his arms till the Master

struck him a blow upon the head with the flat side of his sword. In

the meantime the nine persons of whom the Master's troop was com-

posed were insufficient to guard about forty persons, with their horses,

to the house where the Master of Lovat resolved to hold them in

durance. He therefore despatched one of his company to muster the

infantry of the province, which is constantly well armed and equipped,

and animated with the most incredible zeal in the service of their

chief. They assembled in crowds ; and Lord Lovat himself soon

arrived, together with almost every person who lived for some miles

round; so that in less than six hours Lord Lovat and his son mustered

between six and seven hundred brave Frasers, completely armed,

under the walls of Fanellan, which was the seat to which the Master

caused the two Lords and all their attendants to be conducted."*

Next day after this capture, Castle Dounie, where the

Dowager Lady Lovat resided, was seized and her Ladyship

* Memoirs of the Life of Simon Lord Lovat, written by himself in the

French language, translated from the original MS. and published in 1797.
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was for some time kept prisoner in her own castle. Lords

Saltoun and Mungo Murray were taken first to Fanellan,

where the following
- morning- they could see from the

windows of the tower a huge gallows which had been

erected over night for their edification if they in any way

misconducted themselves or gave unnecessary trouble. They

were afterwards removed to the Island of Aigas, where they

were lodged in a "creel" or wicker house, in those days

common in many parts of the Highlands. Lord Saltoun

was soon after allowed to depart, his health having broken

down under his treatment, and Lord Mungo Murray was

a few days later set at liberty.

Simon's next act was his forced marriage with the

Dowager Lady Lovat and the brutal violation of her

person. This he afterwards indignantly and persistently

denied, but the evidence against him is overwhelming.

This is how he represents his conduct in his Memoirs—
"As two of the persons most actively concerned in the

project of Lord Saltoun were still with the Dowager Lady

Lovat at the seat of Beaufort, the Master now dispatched

a gentleman of his clan with thirty followers to bring them

prisoners to Fanellan, at the same time directing him to

place a guard upon all the avenues of Beaufort House to

prevent the Dowager from sending to her father, in opposi-

tion to Lord Lovat and his son." And he then declares,

with the most unblushing disregard of the facts regarding

the monstrous crime of which he had elsewhere admitted

himself guilty, that " whether, however, the persons that

the Master had sent to apprehend the conspirators com-

mitted any insults upon the domestics of the house or upon

their prisoners, the Dowager Lady Lovat exclaimed warmly

that she was insulted and made a prisoner, as she said, in

her own house. Accordingly she made her complaint to

the Marquis of Atholl, her father, and to her brother, the

Earl of Tullibardine, at that time one of the Secretaries of

State for Scotland. During the whole transaction, the

Master of Lovat had remained at a distance from the

Dowager, at the house where his prisoners were confined

;
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and those persons who were sent to Beaufort were guilty

of no sort of disrepect to her person. In the meantime,

out of this natural and temperate procedure, unaccompanied

with either attempt or design against the person of the

Dowager, Lord Atholl and his son created that chimerical

monster of a rape and violation with which they blackened

the character of the Master and his friends." He then,

after describing his position and birth, indignantly spurns

the idea that he should "commit the smallest violence upon

a widow, who was old enough to be his mother, dwarfish

in her person and deformed in her shape, and with no

other fortune than a jointure of two hundred and fifty

pounds a year, which itself was dependent upon his good

pleasure as Master of Lovat." This statement about the

lady, particularly about her age, is not true. She was at

this time only thirty-four years and Simon was in his

thirtieth, so that the discrepancy in their ages was not very

great after all.* Notwithstanding this denial his father,

Lord Lovat, at this time, sent a letter to the Duke of

Argyll unmistakably written by Simon himself, in which he

said to his Grace—"We have gained a considerable advan-

tage by my eldest son being married to the Dowager of

Lovat." The evidence will be detailed at length presently,

but under this head Lord Lovat's letter to the Duke of

Argyll, which he subscribes "Lovat" and which is also

signed by Thomas Fraser of Struy, William Fraser of Cul-

bokie, William Fraser of Foyers, William Fraser of Erchit,

Alexander Fraser of Culduthel, John Fraser of Little Garth,

and Thomas Fraser of Gortuleg, may be given. It is

marked by the characteristic diplomacy of Simon, although

he does not personally sign it, and is in the following

terms :

—

" My Lord,—The entire friendship which the family of Lovat had

with and dependence upon that of Argyll, grounded upon an ancient

propinquity of blood, and zealously maintained by both through a

tract and series of many ages, has emboldened me, with several of

my friends, to address unto your Lordship by these, giving account of

* See Introduction by Lieutenant-Colonel Fergusson to Major Preiser's

Manuscript, p. 48, Vol. I., and Appendix I., Vol. II., p. 158.
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our circumstances, and craving your Lordship's advice and assistance

in this present juncture. We have gained a considerable advantage

by my eldest son's being married to the Dowager of Lovat, and if it

please God they live some years together our circumstances will be

very good. Our enemies are so galled at it that there is nothing

malice or cruelty can invent but they design and practise against us
;

so that we are forced to betake us to the hills, and keep spies at all

airts, by which among many other difficulties, this is one of the

greatest, that my daughter-in-law being a tender creature, fatigue and

fear of bloodshed may put an end to her, which would make our con-

dition worse than ever. They'll have us impeached for a convocation

and making prisoners of the Lord Saltoun, and Lord Mungo Murray,

with half a dozen other gentlemen, for which we were charged by the

Sheriff, compeared before him, were fined, obtained a discharge of our

fines, and secured the peace. Also they'll have my son and his com-

plices guilty of a rape, though his wife was married to him by a minister,

and they have lived always since as man and wife. My Lord, if all our

enemies had descended to the blackest cell in hell, and there had

studied the most wicked and cruel revenges their malice or the place

could invent against us, it needed not surprise any, considering that

their design of appropriating the estate and following of Lovat to

themselves, is made liable to more difficulties by that match. We
have many advertisements that Atholl is coming here in person with

all the armed men he is able to make, to reduce us to duty, and that

without any order from the King or his Council. If he come, so we

are resolved to defend ourselves, the laws of God and nature and the

laws of all nations, not only allowing but obliging all men, vim vi

repellere. And I should wish from my heart, if it were consistent with

divine and human laws, that the estates of Atholl and Lovat were laid

as a prize, depending upon the result of a fair day betwixt him and

me. But these times being gone, and the King and his laws coming

into their place (a far better way of preserving the body politick), we

expect that your Lordship will employ all your interest with His

Majesty to obtain us and all our complices a remission and discharge

of all crimes, riots, delicts, and all diligences raised, or to be raised

upon them against us, with an order to set the pretended heiress in a

neutral person's custody, until the rights and evidents of the estates

be produced, and the pretence of both parties debated before the

session. If this be not immediately done, the pretended heiress will

be married to the Earl of Tullibardine's son, which will certainly

occasion much disturbance and bloodshed in this end of the world (for

we will not be commanded and oppressed by any stranger), by which

the King will lose subjects that might serve him for better use, and

your Lordship will lose good friends, whose place our enemies will

never supply. It's our misfortune that the King did not reside within
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his dominions, and more, that our enemies had his ear. But we are

confident that His Majesty, being fully informed of the affair, such a

wise prince will rather prevent the miseries and calamities of his sub-

jects than punish the instruments that would occasion them ; especially,

your Lordship not only giving a true and candid account of the case,

but also obviating all calumnious representations which beyond all

peradventure will be obtruded. If your Lordship do not own and

defend us, we are ruined, and really, though we have deep resent-

ments of the friendship and kindness shewed us, and will have perpetu-

ally of that and what shall be done us hereafter, yet that we use not

many profuse apologies. For this trouble we hope your Lordship will

excuse us ; for if we be razed and extinguished, as the design is, who
will be more blameable than the Earl of Argyll for letting his old re-

lations, faithful friends and dependents and sword vassals perish,

while the reaching out of his hand might (under God) deliver them.

Let me be free to tell you, that your Lordship is obliged, by the bonds

of nature, of friendship, of superiority, of fealty, in conscience and in

honour, to own us as a part of yourself. My weakness, by age,

anxiety, and fatigue, will, I fear, deprive me of the honour to kiss your

Lordship's hand ; but when my son has the freedom to go where he

pleases, there be several material points which he will communicate

to your Lordship, by which you will be convinced of a fair method for

our standing, and particularly, of a way by which our old friendship

may be fortified and perpetuated, and we become more your Lordship's

than ever, if more can be. Thus resting and reposing ourselves in a

secure confidence and hope that God will bless all our lawful and

honest endeavours, and preserve and prosper all those who will con-

cern themselves for us, particularly your Lordship, we do with all

sincerity, respect, and becoming deference continue and remain ever,

my Lord, your Lordship's most affectionate faithful and humble friends,

vassals, and servants,

(Signed) " Lovat.
" Thomas Fraser of Struy.

" Will. Fraser of Culbokie.

" Will. Fraser of Foyer.

" W. Fraser of Erchiett.

"Alex. Fraser of Culduthell.

"Jo. Fraser of Little Girth.

" Tho. Fraser of Gortuleg."

But the statements in the foregoing document are not all

the personal admissions preserved about this marriage. Simon

himself in a letter addressed to his friend, John Forbes of

Culloden, dated the 26th of October, 1697, says that "these

Lords at Inverness, with the rest of my implacable enemies,



222 HISTORY OF THE FRASERS.

does so confound my ivife that she is uneasy till she see

them. I am afraid that they are so mad with this disap-

pointment that they will propose something- to her that is

dangerous, her brother having such power with her." And
again, in a letter to the same, dated the 23rd of November
following— " I am very, very hopeful in my dear wife's con-

stancy if they do not put her to death."* These admissions

must be kept in mind when Simon's denials are met with

later on. It has indeed been maintained by some of

his more friendly biographers that the Dowager was not

only attached to him, but that she considered her separa-

tion from him and her return to her own family a great

sacrifice, and Dr Hill Burton, who is not at all favourably

disposed towards him, says that this view "is not without

some support from documents, which show that the lady

would not join in the criminal proceedings against" him.

He, however, in after life regarded his brutal treatment of

her as a mere youthful frolic.

The Atholl family were determined to punish and if

possible ruin him for his conduct to one of the ladies of

their household. The Marquis of Tullibardine, her brother,

was at the time practically supreme in Scotland. He had

the whole power of the Executive at his disposal, and after

some preliminary threats he resolved upon invading the

Lovat territories by a military force, and for that purpose

had recourse to the Privy Council, who at his instance issued

Letters of Intercommuning against father, son, and clan,

dated the 18th of November, 1697, the principal injunctions

of which are as follows :

—

" We hereby most strictly prohibit all our lieges and subjects what-

soever, specially neighbouring with the said Beauforts, elder and

younger, and their complices, that they in no ways visit, assist, abet,

or aid with meat, drink, or any other provisions, or any other manner

of way whatsoever, the said Beauforts. or any of their complices,

certifying all such as shall presume to do or act in the contrary they

shall be held and reputed as partakers, art and part, with the said

rebels, and punished accordingly, with all rigour. And farther, we

do hereby command and charge all our said subjects to withdraw and

Qullodcn Papers^ pp. 23 and 24.
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withhold from and drive out of the way of the said rebels all manner

of help, comfort, and relief; as also all their horses, cattle, and other

goods, whereby they may be in any ways helped, comforted, or re-

lieved, under all highest pains. Likeas, in further detestation of the

said crimes, and for the better punishing thereof, we do hereby, with

the advice foresaid, promise to any of our good subjects, or even to

any of the complices the said Beauforts, who shall bring in the said

Beauforts, or any of them, dead or alive, the sum of two thousand

merks of reward."

Three months later, on the 18th of February, 1698, a

commission is granted in favour of Lieutenant-Colonel

Dalzell and other military officers "to search for, seize, and

apprehend the said Thomas and Simon Frasers, and their

accomplices, traitors, and rebels foresaid, and bring them

in dead or alive," and the other clans were let loose upon

them by an order which calls upon and requires the Sheriffs

of Perth, Moray, and Inverness, "with such a number of

the heritors, fencible men, and their tenants, under such

leaders as are in use to command them in such cases, or

such a number of the said men with their leaders, within

any of their said respective shires as the said Lieutenant-

Colonel shall find needful, to come forth in arms in feir

of war, and join and assist him in execution of the premises,

or to act separately by themselves, by and according to such

orders and directions as they or any number of them shall

receive from the said Lieutenant-Colonel, who is hereby

sufficiently empowered to grant the same as he sees cause,

until the said traitors and rebels be effectually subdued and

reduced, and the persons of the said Thomas and Simon
Fraser are brought in dead or alive." Authority is then

given to garrison places of strength and declaration made
"that whatever slaughter, mutilation, blood, fire-raising, or

other violence, shall happen to be acted, done, and com-
mitted by all or any of the foresaid persons, hereby

authorised to march against the said rebels, or to join and

assist in seizing, reducing, and bringing them in dead or

alive, as said is, the same shall be held as laudable, good,

and warrantable service to His Majesty and his government,

and the actors and accessories thereto, shall be, and are
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hereby fully indemnified and secured thereanent to all

intents and purposes." A considerable force took the field

in terms of these orders and conditions, but the number has

been largely magnified by Simon in his account of the after

proceedings ; for he speaks of them as " the several regi-

ments of cavalry, infantry, and dragoons," whom he invari-

ably defeats and baffles by a mere handful of his devoted

Fraser followers. After a particular exploit, he tells us that

"the Frasers after this enterprise, had some respite from

the encounter of large armies ; but they were daily harassed

with flying parties from Inverness and Inverlochy, other-

wise Fort-William. These were in small numbers, and the

Master had always timely notice of their approach, so that

he gave himself little trouble about them. He might if he

pleased have cut them to pieces whenever they appeared.

But as the regular troops had always displayed a clemency

for his country, and a regard for his person, he treated them

with as much mildness as was consistent with the safety of

his clan." He then, accompanied by the principal gentle-

men of the Frasers, paid a visit to his father at Dunvegan,

Isle of Skye, and on his return, being anxious not to harass

his whole clan, he dismissed those who carried arms in his

train, except about fifty gentlemen he kept about him to

guard his person. But Lord Atholl continued to have his

spies looking after him, and that nobleman was informed

"by three or four traitors of the Frasers" that he was now
in perfect security on his estate of Stratherrick, where a

small troop of resolute men might easily take him. The

Marquis thereupon selected five hundred of his bravest men,

and placed at their heads Lord James and Mungo Murray.

He directed them to march only by night, to prevent dis-

covery, and bade them never to see his face again, unless

they brought along with them the Master of Lovat, dead or

alive. They accordingly proceeded with great caution, well

armed, and having as guides two Frasers, who engaged to

take them by the most private and unfrequented paths.

And they arrived at their destination before Simon heard

of their intention. He was at the time at Inverness, where
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he had gone to visit privately some of his friends, and had

with him only three or four attendants. Here a messenger

reached him from Stratherrick intimating that his estate was

overran with the troops of Lord Atholl, with his two sons

in command. Simon feared, not only that his house and

estate there might be ruined, but that his relations in that

part of the country might be unable to escape from the

hands of the invaders. Instead therefore of withdrawing

into his territories of the Aird, which he might easily have

done -from Inverness, he dispatched his four attendants at

full speed to intimate their danger to his friends in Strath-

errick, and to entreat them to join him upon the top of a

hill, which he selected as a suitable place of rendezvous.

He then proceeded thither, accompanied only by a single

runner, through the woods and unfrequented paths, resolved

to perish with his clan, or to save them from the hands of

their remorseless foes. On his arrival at the appointed

place he had the satisfaction of finding a hundred gentlemen

and a hundred brave peasants under his standard in the

short space of two hours. But the accounts which reached

him very much magnified the number of the enemy, repre-

senting them as a regular army of from fifteen hundred to

two thousand men, and the most prudent of his followers

were in favour of retiring and abandoning the open country

to their ravages. Simon, however, swore that he would

never take so painful a step without first obtaining a nearer

view of them, and that if he could not venture to meet them

in the open field, he would at least hang upon their flanks,

in order to stop them as much as possible from ruining the

country. The gentlemen of the clan, who had no fear but

for the safety of his person, finding him so resolute, agreed

to follow him with the greatest pleasure. Having set out

and arrived about sunset within three miles of the enemy's

camp, he received exact information respecting their number
from one of the guides of his own clan whom Lord Murray

had imprudently sent to command the gentlemen of the

country to come in before ten o'clock next morning to make

their submission and to deliver up or abandon to him the

15
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Master of Lovat ; and in case of disobedience, Murray swore

that he would burn their houses, and not leave them as

much as a cock to proclaim the dawn of day. Lovat says

that "four days previous to this transaction Simon had

assumed the title of Lord Lovat, having learned the melan-

choly news that his father was dead, in consequence of a

violent march which he had made to avoid the enemy, who
were reported to be setting

- out for the Isles in order to

surprise him." He was much affected by the news "and

swore that, having" the authors of his father's death and of

all his personal misfortunes before his eyes, he would now
revenge himself in their blood or perish in the attempt."

He found those who were with him equally ready to devote

themselves to revenge the wrongs of their chief and the de-

vastation of their country. He therefore sent back the same

person to Lord James Murray with the message that Simon

Lord LoVat, before ten o'clock the next morning, would

certainly have the honour of waiting upon him sword in

hand at the head of all the gentlemen whom he had

appointed to meet him, and, although he had not half his

usual complement of men, being intercepted from all com-

munication with his estates of the Aird, Beauly, and Strath-

glass, by Loch Ness, which divided them from him, that he

had yet the utmost confidence in the justice of his cause.

Lord James Murray immediately called together his officers,

drew up his men and took up his position upon very advan-

tageous ground, having a steep rock behind him, and his

front covered with the buildings of a small village. The

Atholl men, considering themselves in perfect security, and

satisfied of the small number that the enemy could draw

together in that country, lighted a number of fires and

began to prepare their supper. Simon at that time had

about two hundred and fifty men under his command, half

of them very poorly armed, the regular troops having on

the occasion of their invasion the year before stripped the

natives' houses and every other place of security of all the

arms which they could find. He foresaw that if the enemy

were permitted to repose for the night they would be much
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better prepared for the battle which he was resolved to give

them next morning. His friends were, however, against

fighting that night, as they expected reinforcements from

Abertarff and Glenmoriston. But Simon in the meantime

resolved at least to beat up the enemy's quarters, and for

this purpose selected fifty of his most active young men,

and marched them within gunshot of the invaders. There

they fired their first shot, and " immediately threw them-

selves down upon their bellies in obedience " to his orders.

If at this moment he had all his men with him his enemies

might have been all cut in pieces, without the loss of ten

men. He was able to see their slightest movement by the

light of their own fires, while they were unable to see him

or any of his men at a distance of twenty yards. He then

sent for the rest of his followers, for the purpose of making

a decisive attack. But the leaders expressed their deter-

mination to wait for the expected reinforcements. Simon

now perceived that nothing could be done that night and

therefore drew off his detachment, leaving only twelve men
to keep up a constant fire upon the foe. In the early

morning he held a council with the gentlemen of his clan

to decide upon the best manner in which to attack the

Atholl men. He had in the meantime been joined by a

part of his vassals from Abertarff, and his augmented force

amounted to about three hundred, one half of whom were

but slenderly armed, while the enemy numbered more than

six hundred carefully selected and completely accoutred.

Simon remarked to his friends that it was impossible to

attack the enemy successfully in front because of the walls

and houses with which they were covered. It was therefore

necessary to resort to stratagem, and he proposed to detach

fifty of his fleetest and most active young men under Mr
Alexander Macdonald. This hero, the only man not of

Lovat's own clan on this occasion among his followers,

"was the famous Alexander Macdonald, otherwise called

Alister More, on account of his gigantic stature, being the

tallest man in Scotland, and not less celebrated for his brave

exploits than for his prodigious height." He was of the
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family of Keppoch but was related to the Frasers of Strath-

errick, and Simon, knowing his fidelity, valour, and skill,

had recourse to him to carry out this important part of his

plan of operations. Macdonald at once agreed to take fifty

young men, well armed, along with him and march to a

height within sight of the foe, where he should draw out his

small force in such an extended line as to lead them to

believe that Simon, with his whole army, was in front of

them. In the meantime Lovat, with the main body of his

followers, would make a circuit of the rock that protected

the invaders' rear, and take them in flank, while Macdonald

attacked them in front. The proposal was unanimously

approved by all concerned. Simon at once marshalled his

followers and selected the men considered most suitable to

accompany Alastair Mor, at the same time instructing Mac-

donald to gain the place appointed for him, and to remain

there while Lovat and the main body filed through an

obscure pass to the other side of the hill in the enemy's

rear. Lovat, as soon as ready, would fire three shots as a

signal, when Macdonald was instructed to march as near as

possible to the huts in the enemy's front, and to fire upon

them from the nearest point he could reach, with the view

of dislodging them from their cover or throwing them into

disorder. Lovat in the meantime would fall upon them

sword in hand from the hill behind them.

Macdonald in terms of this arrangement marched to

take up the position assigned to him, while at the same time

Lovat set out to make the circuit of the hill. Having got

within cannon shot of the Atholl men, without being yet in

sight of them, he arranged his followers and despatched

sentinels to reconnoitre. One of them soon returned with

the intimation that the enemy was already in motion.

Another came in saying that he saw them marching in great

haste in the direction of Inverness. Simon and his band

immediately ascended to the top of the hill, and perceiving

that the Atholl men were actually flying away from him,

made the pre-arranged signal, by the firing of three shots, to

Alastair Mor to attack them, But Macdonald, who observed
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the enemy running away "judged it better to outstrip

them by the swiftest of his men, in order to stop them at

a terrible defile, which was six miles onwards, and which it

was absolutely necessary for them to pass. He observed that

Lord Lovat and his men were at too great a distance to be

able to come up with the enemy unless they were stopped at

this defile. This quickness of memory on the part of Mr Mac-

donald was a proof of masterly skill, for, if the enemy had heart

and spirit enough to rally and face Lord Lovat in the plain,

they might have cut to pieces his whole force without any loss."

Simon at this stage entreated his men to march after the

Atholl men in good order and on no account to break their

ranks, but his followers replied with one voice— " If you

choose to attend to your regular manner of marching, you

may do as you please. But for our part we will come hand

to hand with these rascals, or burst our wind in the pursuit."

Saying this, and without waiting for further orders, they

immediately broke away after the enemy and " he was the

bravest man who could run the fastest. Lord Lovat ran for

three miles along with them on foot, and almost naked.

He was now obliged to mount on horseback, without either

boots or spatterdashes, in order to stop the foremost of his

troop, who rushed upon the enemy like so many madmen.
A rear guard of only fifty men might at this moment have

totally destroyed the Frasers, but the enemy thought only

of flight. They had been informed by one of their spies

that they were surrounded on all sides, and they saw no

other means of safety ; they were, however, immeasurably

astonished, when, as they approached the defile which

afforded their only means of escape, they saw it in pos-

session of Alexander Macdonald and his fifty fusiliers.

They immediately stopped short ; at the same time they

saw the main body of the Frasers pursuing them. This

body was now extremely dispersed. The very women of

the country ran along with their husbands, conjuring them

not to spare the murderers of their chief, and the villains

who came to rob them of their all. The enemy, beholding

this spectacle, and already impressed with the most lively
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apprehensions, took it for granted that Lord Lovat's troop

consisted of four times their number, though in reality it

did not amount to one half their own.

Lord James Murray is said to have exerted himself to

compel his men to engage, and to have drawn them up in

line of battle. But the Stewarts of Atholl, who were

animated with an instinctive hatred of the Marquis, and

who had no quarrel with the Frasers, declared in the most

peremptory manner to Lord James that they would demand

quarter from the victor, and that they were ready to lay

down their arms. Lord James was furious at this declara-

tion. Lord Mungo burst into tears, seeing himself once

more in the hands of Lord Lovat, and entertaining a well-

grounded apprehension that their repeated breaches of

honour and humanity had cancelled all the regard he had

ever entertained for them." While this dispute among the

enemy was in progress Lovat drew up his troops as they

arrived, within musket shot of the Atholl men. As soon as

they were formed, he gave orders to advance, but not to fire

a shot, until he should discharge his own piece within pistol

shot of the enemy, then to fire all at once, throw down

their muskets, and fall upon the invaders sword in hand in

front, while Alastair Mor and his band attacked their flank.

The Atholl men now considered themselves entirely lost.

They saw Lovat's troops advancing in perfect order, and

immediately, instead of firing and defending themselves,

they laid down their arms, and, covering their heads with

their plaids, cried out for quarter. At the same moment
Archibald Menzies, their Major, who had three years pre-

viously resigned his company of Grenadiers in the regiment

of Lord Murray in favour of Thomas, Lord Lovat, then laird

of Beaufort, ran in front of the enemy "with a white hand-

kerchief or neckcloth, tied on a bludgeon, crying out for

mercy. He advanced in order to throw himself at the feet

of Lord Lovat. Two of the Frasers followed him, and

demanded Lord Lovat's permission to kill him, but his

Lordship cried out with a loud voice to spare him." He
then threw himself prostrate on the ground and begged
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his life, declaring that he had always been a friend of Lord

Lovat, and had never done any injury to his territories.

His request having" been granted, he further said, " I am
also come, my Lord, to demand quarter for the Stewarts,

who are with your enemy, and have been forced upon this

expedition as well as myself. They love you better than

they do Lord Atholl and all his children." Lord Lovat

replied that he could not listen to this proposal, and was

sending him back to his commanders, to tell the Atholl

men to resume their arms and defend themselves, otherwise

he would cut them in pieces, for he was determined that

day to avenge the death of his father and the tyranny of

Lord Atholl and all his family against the Frasers of Lovat.

But at this moment all the gentlemen of the clan present

approached him and, in his own words, entreated him for

God's sake to spare these miserable wretches. He and the

most resolute young men among his followers "were per-

emptory for putting them to the sword ; and many of his

most valuable friends and relations have since blamed him

for his lenity upon this occasion. But in fact he was not

at liberty to act as he pleased. In spite of his eager desire

to cut his enemy in pieces, he was obliged to follow the

advice of his most venerable relatives and the heads of his

clan. And these protested to him that it would be a real

murder to kill people who had laid down their arms ; that

their clan would infallibly be exterminated if it were per-

petrated ; and that not a man in the kingdom would either

assist or pity them. Lord Lovat therefore, to say the truth,

in spite of himself, spared their lives a second time to the

children of Lord Atholl, who had sought every means that

hell could invent, and had put in practice both open violence

and secret assassination, to put an end to his existence

;

though they in reality had no other cause of complaint

against him than that he was born the true and legitimate

heir to the estate of Lovat." He then compelled the two

sons of the Marquis of Atholl and their followers "to swear

upon a naked sword, after the manner of the country, a

terrible oath, by which they renounced their claims in Jesus
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Christ, and their hopes of Heaven, and devoted themselves

to the devil and all the torments of hell, if they ever re-

turned into the territories of Lovat, or occasioned him,

directly or indirectly, the smallest mischief," and in addition

to this they had to execute a document, containing the same

oath, and an obligation, under the penalty of a large sum of

money, to prevail upon the Marquis of Atholl, their father,

and Lord Tullibardine, their brother, then Secretary to

King William, to do justice to Lord Lovat, and to indemnify

him for all the injuries which they had committed on him,

his friends, and his estates. Having extracted these securi-

ties Simon drew up his followers in two files, "and in

conformity to an example he had read in the Roman
history, made these miserable cowards march, like so many
criminals, between the ranks of his men, and obliged them

immediately to quit his territories by the same road they

had entered them." This memorable event his Lordship

has designated the Day of " Allt-nan-Gobhar."*

While these military proceedings were in progress the

civil law had been set in motion against the Master of

Lovat for his crimes against the State, the Dowager Lady

Lovat and the Atholl family. On the 27th of June, 1698,

an action was commenced against Thomas and Simon

Fraser and nineteen of the chief men of the clan "for

high treason, in forming unlawful associations, collecting an

armed force, occupying and fortifying houses and garrisons,

imprisoning and ravishing persons of distinguished ranks,

* Memoirs ofhis own Life, pp. 78 to 96. I am indebted to Mr William

Mackay, author of Urquhart and Glenmoriston, for a copy of a paper

entitled " Ane Account of the Loss sustained by the Chissolm's tennents the

eighth and ninth days of February 1698 years." It is backed " Ane Account

of the Chissolm's losses be the Marquess of Athole's Children, 1698." From

this it would appear that Lords James and Mungo Murray and their followers

had made a raid upon the country of the Chisholms before they invaded

Stratherrick. The total amount of the loss sustained, according to this

account, was £260 18s 4d Scots; the places spuilzied in Strathglass being

Kerrow, ^64 9s ; Meikle Comar, ^12 ; Comar Kirkton, ^10 ; Carrie, in Glen-

cannich, ,£134 9s 4d (one of the sufferers being William MacAlister, from

whom was taken, among other things, "six quarters of Tartan at a mark the

ell " and " a dirk worth 16s ") ; and Breckach, ,£40, all Scots money.
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and continuing in arms after being charged by a herald

to lay them down."

The following are the names of those finally charged and

found guilty, sentenced to death and their estates forfeited,

their designations being those given in the Court records

—

Captain Simon Fraser, eldest lawful son of Thomas Fraser

of Beaufort ; William Fraser of Foyer ; Hugh Fraser of

Kinmonavie ; William Fraser in Dalcraige ; William Fraser

of Erchitt ; Alexander Fraser, Younger of Culduthel ; Hugh
Fraser, alias " Uisdean Og," in Leadclune ; Alexander

Fraser, in Ruthven
;
John Fraser, his brother ; Alexander

Fraser, son to Farraline ; Alexander Fraser, son to Migavie
;

James Fraser, brother to " Lithgaveh "
; Thomas Houston,

son of the minister of Stratherrick ; ^Eneas MacBayne,

brother to Drummond MacBayne ; Hugh Fraser, son to

Struy ; Hugh Fraser, Younger, in Bochruben
; John Fraser,

brother to Culduthel the Elder ; Major Thomas Fraser,

Elder of Struy; Hugh Fraser, brother to Erchitt; and John

Fraser, Younger of Migavie.

The diet was deserted in the case of Hugh Fraser of

Boleskine ; Thomas Fraser in Shewglie, brother to William

Fraser of Erchitt
;
John Fraser in Aberskie ; Hugh Fraser,

son to Culduthel the Elder
;
James Fraser, son to the said

Culduthel; John Fraser, also son to the said Culduthel;

John Fraser, son to Tenechiel; and John Macdonald, brother

to Achadh-riach, all of whom were originally charged along

with those found guilty and sentenced. An " eminent consti-

tutional lawyer" supplies the following account of the trial :

—

Mr Hugo Arnot in his Collection of Celebrated Criminal

Trials in Scotland, from 1536 to 1784, says that Captain

Simon Fraser's was the only case he knew of since the

Revolution in which a person was tried in absence before

the Court of Justiciary, a proof led, a jury inclosed, a verdict

returned, and sentence pronounced forfeiting life and estate,

honours, fame, and posterity. " The first instance of this

tyrannical mode of procedure was the illegal sentence upon

the Rebel Covenanters after the battle of Pentland, which

was afterwards rescinded by Act of Parliament." Those at
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Bothwell Bridge had similar treatment meted out to them,

and the same was repeated after the defeat of Monmouth.
The trial of Simon Fraser is, he says, "one of the most

singular prosecutions in our criminal record, whether we
respect the stretch of law that was made to convict the

absentee, or the savageness of his conduct, or the absolute

dominion that he possessed over his followers, and directed

to purposes the most shocking to human nature. By the

law of Scotland, outlawry, even for treason, inferred the

forfeiture only of personal estate. It was sanctioned by

statute that trials for treason could not be taken in absence

;

but that the whole accusation, argument, and evidence

should be led in presence of the accused, and not otherwise.

So anxiously did the professional lawyers adhere to this

form that, as our jurisprudence admitted, under certain

limitations, of trial after death for this heinous offence, on

such occasions the bones of the deceased were dug out of

the grave and formally presented in Court." But when the

Covenanters were defeated at Pentland, a desire to arm in-

sulted Majesty, "or to enrich the servants of the Crown with

unlawful spoil " induced the Ministers of Charles to attempt,

in the absence of the accused, the trial of the Covenanters

and the forfeiture of their estates. And although the dis-

position of the Parliament of the time justified the Govern-

ment in coming to the conclusion that the Legislature would

not hesitate to pass a law to this effect if called upon to do

so, "yet it suited better the views of a tyrannical Adminis-

tration to operate this innovation in law by the decree of

judges who were appointed and might be removed at

pleasure than by the authority of the Great Council of the

Nation." It can scarcely be credited that in these more

favoured days a state of affairs like this was possible within

such a comparatively short distance of the time in which

we live.

Before the Court of Justiciary introduced this innovation,

so " little idea was then entertained of its supremacy and

infallibility," that the Court of Session was consulted on the

point. "After tampering with the judges" a memorial was
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laid before them hy the Lord Advocate of the day and Lord

Bellenden, Treasurer-Depute, stating various arguments, by

inference and analogy, to show that if Parliament could

proceed to forfeit after death why not the Court of Jus-

ticiary also in absence, since "what is just before Parliament,

is just and warrantable before other judicatories." Upon
this memorial and statement the Court of Session delivered

an opinion declaring that upon sufficient proof being laid

before the judges and the assize, they might proceed to

sentence and to forfeit persons guilty of high treason in

absence. Thus fortified, the Lord Advocate prosecuted in

absence several gentlemen, and on a verdict being returned

against them by the jury the Court of Justiciary sentenced

them to death as traitors, whenever they were apprehended,

and their whole estates, real and personal, to forfeiture.

From a consciousness of its illegality this sentence was after-

wards solemnly ratified by Parliament. Trial in absence

was thus adopted as a part of the law of Scotland, "and in

consequence two of the most distinguished personages in

the nation, the Duke of Monmouth and Fletcher of Saltoun,

were condemned and forfeited, the former when dead, the

latter when out of the Kingdom. Had the torrent which

overwhelmed the lineal succession of our Sovereigns issued

pure from the fountains of liberty, and in its wide and rapid

course been contaminated by no foul stream, trial in absence

would have been enumerated in the list of those illegal and

grievous assumptions of power upon which the Estates of

Scotland declared King James to have forfeited his right to

the Crown. And the opinion of the Lords of Session on

this head, as well as on the other two cases stated in the

'Claim of Right' would have been declared to be contrary

to law. But it was deemed prudent to preserve this statute

as a security for the good behaviour of the numerous exiles

who followed their Prinee to the Court of St. Germains. A
law was accordingly passed rescinding the Act of 1669,

c. n, in so far as it ratified the forfeiture of the Covenanters,

but not repealing the Act itself, which might be turned as

an engine of oppression upon the party which contrived it.
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It must be acknowledged, however, that King William's

Ministers made no rigorous exercise of this law. The Earls

of Melfort, Middleton. and Lauderdale, and ninety gentle-

men were summoned before the Court of Justiciary in one

day (on the 23rd of July, 1694) to stand trial for various

points of treason j in particular, for entering into the French

service when that State was at war with his Majesty, and

for rising in arms against the King." They did not appear,

and only sentence of outlawry was passed upon them. The

remainder of Arnot's narrative and the evidence led against

Simon will now be given in his own words

—

Tyrannical as this statute was, he says, Captain Fraser

could not have been convicted upon it but by an obvious

wresting of the law ; for it authorised trial in absence only in

cases of treasonable rising in arms and open and manifest

rebellion.* Now it is absurd to construe the collecting of

an armed force for the purpose of private rapine into treason-

able rising in arms and open and manifest rebellion.

The substance of the indictment against Captain Fraser

was, that he and his associates came to a house belonging to

Mr Fraser of Strichen, and there entered into an unlawful

bond of association for the prosecution of certain wicked

designs ; that they raised a body of four or five hundred

men in arms, in order to support Captain Fraser's preten-

sions to the estate of Lovat, that they seized the persons of

Lord Saltoun and Lord Mungo Murray, and made them

close prisoners for six or seven days in the house of Fan-

ellan, erected gallows before their windows, and afterwards

carried them by force to islands and mountains, and treated

them very harshly ; that Captain Fraser and his associates

marched in form of war to the house of Castle Dounie, the

seat of the Lady Dowager Lovat, garrisoned the house,

plundered the effects, and put armed guards on the different

apartments, and attempted to compel her Ladyship to agree

to certain deeds which they endeavoured to extort from her;

but she remaining resolute, the Captain, all of a sudden,

* Records of Justiciary, 27th of June, 12th of July, 5th and 6th of

September, 1698.
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took up the mad and villainous resolution by forcing her to

marry him ; that accordingly one of his associates, Mr
Robert Munro, minister of Abertarff, pronounced the mar-

riage ceremony ; that the Captain, by the aid of his

associates, did commit rape and forcible abduction upon

the person of Lady Lovat, attended with circumstances of

excessive barbarity ; and that they continued in arms, after

having been charged by a herald to lay down their arms,

set the lady at liberty, and surrender themselves prisoners.

His Majesty's Advocate represented to the Court that by an

Act of Parliament by King James VI. summonses at his

Majesty's instance "against islandemen, highlandemen, or

borderers, ubi non patet tutus aceessus be made at the

mercat cross of the head burghs of the next shires in the

Lowlands "
; that Captain Fraser and his followers continued

in arms and open rebellion, and therefore craved their Lord-

ships to grant warrant for an edictal citation being executed

against the defenders, which was accordingly granted.

On the 5th of September, 1698, his Majesty's Advocate

proceeded in the trial, declaring that he insisted for forfaul-

ture in absence against Captain Fraser and nineteen other

gentlemen specially named, and that he restricted the libel

against the defenders to treasonable rising in arms and open

rebellion, with all the aggravations charged in the indict-

ment. The Court found the indictment thus restricted, and

thus presented, relevant to infer the pains of treason, after

which the proof was proceeded with

—

Alexander Fraser, Younger of Balnain, deposed, that at

the time specified in the indictment he saw a paper sub-

scribed by some of the accused and delivered to Lord

Fraser, of the tenour of the bond of association now read

in Court. He was at Fanellan when Lord Saltoun and

Lord Mungo Murray (brother of the Dowager Lady Lovat;

were brought prisoners, and were there committed to close

custody, and gallows erected before the windows of the

apartments where these Lords were confined. He saw

then, at Fanellan, about two or three hundred men in arms,

under the command of Captain Fraser, and different parties
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of armed men were sent to and fro between the houses of

Fanellan and Castle Dounie. He was also at the latter of

these houses, where he saw Lady Lovat and also Captain

Fraser, and a number of armed men standing- sentry in the

house, and even on the threshold of my Lady's apartment.

He went to my Lady's chamber door, whom he heard

sighing ; but the bagpipes were playing in the next room
;

this was about daybreak, and my Lady's women were in

another room weeping, and sentinels standing over them.

Thomas Fraser of Garthbeg, in September preceding,

saw Captain Fraser and others, to the number of sixty or

seventy men in arms, horse and foot ; the Captain thanked

them for assembling so readily, and desired them to be

ready at a call. In October, Captain Fraser and the

deponent coming from Inverness, met in the wood of

Bunchrew Lord Saltoun and Lord Mungo Murray, who
were returning from Castle Dounie. The Captain gave

orders to his followers to seize Lord Saltoun dead or alive,

went up close to them with cocked pistols, and commanded
them to yield themselves prisoners. Lord Saltoun asked

for what cause? to which the Captain replied, "because

it was his pleasure." These Lords were dismounted from

their own horses, disarmed, put upon mean ponies, sur-

rounded by guards with their muskets levelled and dirks

drawn, and thus conducted to the house of Fanellan, where

they were kept prisoners for several nights in separate apart-

ments, under strict guard. The deponent saw the Fiery

Cross and heard the coronach sent through the country
;

upon which between three and four hundred men assembled

at Fanellan under command of Captain Fraser, who de-

tached a party to the house of Castle Dounie, where

sentinels were put upon the rooms, particularly my Lady's

chamber, for seven or eight days. He heard the Captain

demanding oaths of fidelity of such of the gentlemen of

his name as he suspected ; and such as he did not suspect

he only took their promises ; and some of them did swear,

and some promise.

Robert Spence saw Lord Saltoun and Lord Mungo
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Murray carried prisoners by Captain Fraser to the house of

Fanellan, where they were confined about a week in separate

apartments, and sentinels placed over them. Lord Saltoun

and Lord Mungo Murray were then carried to Castle

Dounie, and the force commanded by Captain Fraser at

this time consisted of about five hundred armed men,

marching- with two pair of colours. The men were sworn

upon their dirks to be faithful to the Captain and never to

desert him. They kept Lady Lovat prisoner for some time

at Castle Dounie, and afterwards carried her along with

them. When the Captain heard that Lord James Murray,

with some gentlemen and a party of red coats were coming

to rescue my Lady, he again set the Fiery Cross to summon
the country to rise in his defence, and he continued in arms

till about Christmas.

John Munro, late footman to Captain Fraser, saw the

Captain and the whole other persons now insisted against

(for forfaulture) and about three hundred more, with colours

displayed and the pipes playing, under the Captain's com-

mand at Fanellan the night Lord Saltoun and Lord Mungo
Murray were made prisoners. He saw the men drawn

round the colours and sworn upon them and upon the

points of their dirks to adhere to the Captain. He heard

the coronach the night Lady Lovat was carried from Castle

Dounie. About Martinmas the herald left his charge

against the Captain, etc., " in a cloven stick at the river side,

opposite the isle of Aigas," and afterwards the Captain and

others continued for some time in arms.

Amelia Reoch, late servant to Lady Lovat, deponed that

Captain Fraser, with a party of armed men came to Castle

Dounie. He put sentinels with drawn swords upon and

within Lady Lovat's chamber, made her three waiting-maids

be carried by force out of the room and detained prisoners.

About two in the morning two armed men carried the

deponent back to my Lady's apartment, whom she found

sitting on the floor, her hair dishevelled, her head reclining

backwards on the bed, Donald Beaton pulling off my Lady's

shoes, and the Captain holding feathers and aqua vitae to
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her nose, her Ladyship being in a swoon. They commanded
the deponent to take off my Lady's clothes; but she spurned

at the deponent with her feet, showing the greatest reluc-

tance ; upon which Fraser of Kinmonavie held up my Lady

in his arms ; the Captain pulled down her petticoats, and

sought a knife from Hugh Monro to cut off her stays, but

he having none, the Captain ordered Kinmonavie to cut

them off with his dirk, which was done accordingly. The
deponent was put out of the room, and when she was going

over the close (court-yard) she heard my Lady's cries,

although the bag-pipes were playing all the time in the

next room to her Ladyship's. In the morning when the

deponent returned, she saw my Lady's head hanging over

the bed-stock, her face swollen, and her Ladyship to all

appearance out of her judgment; she spoke none but gave

the deponent a broad stare ; even some days after she did

not know her own brother, Lord Mungo Murray ; and when

Dunballoch's lady came into the room and called Lady

Lovat "Madam," she answered, "Call me not Madam, but

the most miserable wretch alive."

Janet Fraser deponed that Lady Lovat's waiting-maids

were forcibly turned out of her room by Captain Fraser

about twelve o'clock at night. My Lady clung to the

deponent, and when she was torn from her Ladyship, fell

on her face on the floor. Next morning when the deponent

saw my Lady, her head was hanging over the bed, and she

was out of her judgment, mistaking the deponent for Lady
Catherine Murray, Lady Lovat's sister, who had been dead

for several years.

Christian Maclean deponed that on the night of the

"sham marriage" she was in the next room to Lady Lovat,

and notwithstanding the bag-pipes were blowing all the

while she heard my Lady crying, and sobbing, and praying,

"The Lord have mercy upon my soul."

Leonard Robertson of Straloch, said that he had negoti-

ated articles of stipulation for the Dowager Lady of Lovat

and Lord Mungo Murray ; that she signed them, but that

instead of being released in terms of them the sentinels
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were doubled and Robertson himself was imprisoned.

Having complained to Captain Simon he was allowed to

see her Ladyship, " whom he saw in a very disconsolate

position," and softly spoke in his ear, " For Christ's sake

take me out of this place, either dead or alive." He
observed that her face was swollen, and she fell into a swoon

while he was present. "The next time he saw my Lady

was that when the Laird of Culloden and the deponent

came to the water side near the Isle of Aigas ; and Captain

Simon having come over to them by boat, the deponent

desired to see my Lady, which he shunned, telling him

that my Lady did not desire to see him ; and the de-

ponent replied that it was not done like a comrade, seeing

that it was reported in Inverness that my Lady was

dead, or near expiring. Captain Simon answered that

he should be soon cleared of the contrary, and return-

ing into his boat, he caused bring out my Lady in their

sight, but so weak that she was supported by two men,

and then carried her back again to a little house upon

the island."*

The jury returned a unanimous verdict finding the indict-

ment proved, and all the parties guilty as libelled ; and the

Court adjudged them to be executed as traitors at such time,

place, and manner, as their Lordships should appoint,

"their bodies to be dismembered, their goods to be for-

feited, their name, fame, memory, and honours to be

extinct, and their arms to be riven furth and deleted out

of the books of arms, so that their posterity may never have

place, nor be able hereafter to brouk or enjoy any honours,

offices, titles, or dignities, and to have forefaulted all their

lands, heritages, and possessions whatever." This verdict

and sentence were pronounced on the 6th of September,

1698.

At the same court Thomas Fraser of Beaufort ; Alex-

ander Fraser, son to Mr James Fraser, minister of Kirkhill

;

Robert Munro, minister of Abertarff
; James and Alexander

Fraser, brothers to Garthbeg ; Duncan Tavish, officer to

* Somers
1

Tracts, XII. pp. 443-44, not given in Arnot's account.

16
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Strichen
; John MacAlister, Younger ; MacAlister,

his brother ; MacVuller, miller to Strichen ; Alex-

ander Fraser, sometime in Bochruben ; Donald Dubh Mac
Allan, in Drummond

; John Fraser, Younger of Drum-
mond ; William Fraser, his natural brother, there ; Martin

Cameron, in Glendo-beg ; Angus Macdonald, brother to

Keppoch ; Alister Mor Macdonald ; Hugh Fraser, son to

Mugavie ; Hugh Fraser, brother to Mugavie ; William

Fraser, in Knockie, tenant to Strichen ; Alexander Mac
Luiston, Younger, in Bolochardich ; Thomas MacAlister,

there ; Alexander Macdonald, there ; Thomas Fraser, Mac
Uilliam Vic Ian, servant to Foyer ; Donald Manntach Mac
Ian, in Lagbuy ; Donald Bayne, Mac Ian, Mac Alister,

brother to Glenmoriston ; Donald Gruamach ; and William

Fraser, son to Tenechiel, were charged with participating

in rebellion, in open arms, with Captain Simon Fraser

of Beaufort, and with taking part in the capture of Lord

Saltoun, of Lord Mungo Murray, and in the outrage upon

the Dowager Lady Lovat. None of them appeared, and

they were all put to the horn, their moveable goods and

gear forfeited, and themselves pronounced outlaws and

fugitives from the laws, which was pronounced for doom in

the usual way in such cases.

The Lord Advocate at the outset abandoned those parts

of the charge which related to the private offences against

the Dowager Lady Lovat and the members of her family,

" probably for the purpose of keeping within the Act

already quoted which limited trials in absence to charges

of high treason," and in this way made sure of obtaining

a conviction against them.

It appears that soon after the military arrived in the

north, and when force was opposed to force as foretold in

the letter to the Duke of Argyll, Simon considered it

prudent to send his father for safety to his (Thomas's) wife's

nephew, Roderick Macleod, XVII. of Macleod, at Dun-
vegan Castle, Skye, where he died in May, 1699, and was

buried in the Churchyard of Duirinish, where Simon erected

a freestone monument to his memory, with a white marble
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slab inserted in it on which was cut the following inscrip-

tion :

—

"This pyramid was erected by Simon Lord Fraser of Lovat in

honour of Lord Thomas, his father, a peer of Scotland, and Chief

of the great and ancient clan of the Frasers. Being attacked for

his birthright by the family of Athole, then in power and favour

with King William, yet, by the valour and fidelity of his clan, and

the assistance of the Campbells, the old friends and allies of his

family, he defended his birthright with such greatness and firmity

of soul, and such valour and activity, that he was an honour to his

name, and a good pattern to all great Chiefs of Clans. He died

in the month of May, 1699, in the 63rd [should be 68th] year of

his age, in Dunvegan, the house of the Laird of Macleod, whose

sister he had married ; by whom he had the above Simon Lord

Fraser, and several other children. And, for the great love he

bore the family of Macleod, he desired to be buried near his wife's

relations, in the place where two of her uncles lay. And, his son,

Lord Simon, to show to posterity his great affection for his mother's

kindred, the brave Macleods, chooses rather to leave his father's bones

with them than carry them to his own burial place near Lovat."*

Thomas of Beaufort married in April 1665, Sibella, third

daughter of John Macleod, XIV. of Macleod, by his wife,

also Sibella, daughter of Kenneth, first Lord Mackenzie

of Kintail, with issue

—

1. Alexander, who is said to have been born in 1667.

When Dundee raised his standard in 1689, and fought the

battle of Killiecrankie, the young Master of Lovat is said

to have been the first, at the head of his clan, to join him.

A story is recorded of an incident which occurred at a

wedding or a funeral near Beauly, the accuracy of which

is accepted so far by both parties to the controversy about

the Lovat peerage. We have always heard it was at a

wedding, but Anderson in his Historical Accotint of the

Family of Fraser, p. 127, says that "a dispute having arisen

at a funeral at Beauly, near Inverness, he killed a man and

dreading the effects of his passion fled to Wales where he

died without male issue," and he adds in a foot-note that the

" incident is given on the testimony of Simon Fraser, natural

son of Simon Lord Lovat, nephew to Alexander, who was

* History of the Macleods, pages 120-21.
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examined judicially before the Sheriff-Substitute of Inver-

ness, upon the 15th of October, 1823, on the family

pedigree." The story as we heard it related by old people

was to the effect that at a wedding at Teawig in the house

of a man named Chisholm at which Alexander was present,

dressed in full Highland garb, the piper struck up the well-

known dancing tune, " Tha Biodag air Mac Thomais." The

Master of Lovat took it into his head that this was intended

as a personal insult to himself, and to be revenged on the

offending piper he drew his dirk and plunged it into the bag

of the pipes, intending, by letting the wind out of it, to

silence himself and his instrument for the night, but in his

anger he drove the dirk home with such force that it passed

through the bag into the heart of the piper, who immedi-

ately died from the effects of the wound. Fearing the con-

sequences of his reckless conduct, Alexander fled to Wales,

where he sought the protection of an old College com-

panion, the Earl of Powis, where according to the present

Lovat family, he died, as Anderson says, without male issue,

but where, according to Mr John Fraser, the claimant to

the Lovat Peerage in the House of Lords in 1887, he left

male issue, from whom, he maintains, he is himself lineally

descended. According to the Lovat family, Alexander died

without issue before 1692, while Mr John Fraser, his alleged

descendant, maintains that he was married, had both male

and female issue, and died in Wales at the extreme old age

of 109 years in 1776. The Court of Session, however, de-

cided on the evidence before it, in July 1730, that Alexander

died without issue, and their Lordships on that ground

adjudged the title and honours to his younger brother, the

notorious Lord Simon of the 'Forty-five. And this decision,

though illegal and of no effect as regards the peerage, was

subsequently confirmed by a formal decision of the House

of Lords in 1837.

2. Simon, who succeeded his father as Lord Lovat, and

of whom in that capacity presently.

3. Hugh, who is said to have died young.

4. John, who was born about 1674 and whose name
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appears repeatedly in his brother Simon's Memoirs. He
was a Brigadier in the Dutch Army and is proved to have

died in 1716. Lord Simon said in the course of his trial in

1747, referring- to the rising
- of 1716—"In this expedition I

lost my only brother, a brave young fellow," and in his letter

to the Duke of Cumberland, dated the 12th of June, 1746,

he made a similar statement. Douglas and Nisbet say the

same, but it is by no means certain that John died un-

married, and without issue. In 1880, the late Mr Benjamin

Homer Dixon, a well-known gentleman, and Consul-General

for the Netherlands, in Toronto, wrote to the editor of the

Celtic Magazine a letter which appears in the December

number of that year, defending Lord Simon against reflec-

tions which had been cast upon him anent his forcible

marriage with the Dowager Lady Lovat in 1697, and his

alleged cruelty to his second wife. After dealing with the

first-named charge and defending it on the ground among
others that " forcible marriages with heiresses were common
enough in Ireland for more than a century later," Mr Dixon

proceeds— " It is also said that Lovat treated his last wife,

Primrose Campbell, whom he married in 1733, with bar-

barous cruelty, which I can hardly believe, for, if so, her

brother, the Duke of Argyll, would scarcely have continued

to befriend the Master of Lovat. John Fraser (Simon's

brother), was a consistent Jacobite to the last. He was

outlawed, and to prevent any pursuit Lovat always gave out

that his brother was dead. He, however, generally resided

in France, but often visited Scotland under the assumed

names of John Dubh, John Mac Thomas, and, I believe,

also John Corsan. His daughter Katharine married, and

had a daughter Elizabeth, my (Mr Homer Dixon's) grand-

mother, born in 1738. The Duke of Argyll was her god-

father, and after she was grown up she was invited once

if not twice to Inveraray Castle, and after she was married,

in 1762, the Duke offered her some appointment about the

Palace, which she declined. The Duke was Hereditary

Grand Master of the Household in Scotland, some years

after my grandparent's removal to Holland. Now the only
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tie between them was that my grandmother was the

daughter of his brother-in-law and Lovat's niece, and is

it at all probable," he asks, " if Lovat had treated Argyll's

sister so cruelly that the Duke would have continued his

kindness to Lovat's connections?" The same writer says

elsewhere that "the late Captain Fraser of Balnain, who
served in the Peninsular War, but sold out in 18 15, and

died in i860, believed that he (John Fraser) married Eliza-

beth, daughter of Alexander Fraser of Balnain, by his wife,

a daughter of Fraser of Foyers." But it is not known or

even seriously maintained that John left any male issue.

Major James Fraser distinctly states that he died at his

house in 1716. The Major made a claim against Lord

Simon, among other things, for the board of his Lordship's

brother John, "who was 27 weeks, with his servant, at the

Major's House incognito, when the Major was at France

seeking my Lord (Simon) home;" and, in this claim, he

asked that " he should be considered for John's expenses,

who lay nine weeks at his house in the year 17 16, with a

great conference of people about him, and doctors attending

him till he died there."*

5. Thomas, of whom nothing is known.

6. James, who, with his brothers, Hugh and Thomas,

appears to have died young.

7. Isabel, who died young.

8. Sibella, who married Hugh Robertson of Inshes.

9. Catherine, who reached womanhood ; and five others

who died in infancy.

Thomas of Beaufort, Lord Fraser of Lovat (whose wife

predeceased him in 1679, having had a child in each of her

fourteen years' married life) died at Dunvegan, Isle of

Skye, in May 1699, when he was succeeded by his

second son,

* Major Fraser's Manuscript, Vol. II., p. 120. David Douglas, 1889.
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He was still, and for many years afterwards, under the

sentence of death passed upon him for high treason by the

Court of Justiciary during the life of his father in the pre-

ceding year. His claims to the peerage, according to

Burton, were then not very widely acknowledged nor had

he much occasion to bring them under the notice of society.

"Among his clan, this dignity was a trifle—something like

a foreign order of knighthood held by a monarch—few of

whom would know what it was, and none of them would

think that either its existence or its absence could much
affect the importance of Mac Shimi, their chief." This is

only to a certain extent true, for the Highlanders were by

no means so ignorant regarding the question of honours

and dignities even then as not to be fully aware of the

importance to their chief of possessing the ancient title

of the Lordship of Lovat.

Simon is said to have been born at Beaufort in 1668,

although in his Memoirs, p. 221, he makes certain state-

ments which if, but cannot be, correct would make the date

of his birth 1676. As he is generally acknowledged to have

been in his eightieth year when executed in 1747 the first-

named date is no doubt correct.

His career during the life of his father, who died in 1699,

has been already sketched. This year, Simon, in clever

and characteristic manner, succeeded in convincing the

Duke of Argyll of the danger which his family might incur

if he permitted the house of Atholl to crush the Frasers and

bring them under the subjugation of the Murrays, and that

the balance of power in the Highlands would be seriously

disturbed, much to the disadvantage of the Campbells.

This reasoning was so far successful with the Duke that he

set to work to secure for Simon the Royal pardon for all

his past offences, public and private. With this object
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Argyll prevailed upon Lovat to proceed to London and

make every effort on his arrival to procure a private

audience of the King-

. In such a journey great precautions

were necessary for a man having sentence of death

hanging over him, but Simon proved equal to the occasion.

He soon found his way to the English metropolis, but the

King was absent on the Continent. Lovat followed him

and managed to secure two important interviews with

Royalty—one at the Court of the exiled King James at St.

Germains, and the other with King William at Loo, where

his Majesty then resided. He describes the proceedings of

this journey at length and says that " King James having

entreated Lord Lovat to make his peace with the reigning

Government, in order to save his clan, his Lordship re-

turned to London before King William set out for the

Netherlands, but not having been able to obtain his pardon

in form, he followed his Majesty to Loo, though then under

sentence of death, having a letter of recommendation from

the Duke of Argyll to Mr William Carstares, chaplain to

the King, and who had so much influence with his master."

This gentleman received him graciously and mentioned his

arrival to the King the same day, whereupon William

observed that Lovat must be a very bold man in coming

so far while under sentence of death. Mr Carstares re-

plied that Simon placed entire confidence in his Majesty's

Royal promise made to the Duke of Argyll. The result

was that the King ordered Mr Pringle, the Assistant Secre-

tary of State who accompanied him, "to draw up his

pardon in all the forms, and as ample as possible. I am
desirous to indemnify him for everything that I can by the

laws of the Kingdom, and I will not forget him." Mr
Pringle accordingly drew up "an ample and complete

pardon for every imaginable crime, that it might not be

possible to evade it upon the subject of the pretended rape

about which Lord Atholl made such a world of noise, and

which had no other foundation than that nobleman's malice,

in order to ruin Lord Lovat by the imputation of a crime

that he had never so much as imagined." As soon as
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King William signed this unlimited pardon, Lord Lovat

dispatched his cousin Simon, son of David Fraser of Brea,

express, in order to cause the Great Seal of Scotland to be

affixed to it.
" But whether this cousin," continues Simon,

"who is an unnatural traitor, and a rascal worthy of the

gallows, had at that time sold his chief for the money of

Lord Athol, as he repeatedly did afterwards, or the timidity

of Lord Seafield induced him to stop this pardon in its

passage through the remaining forms, this much is certain,

that the pardon executed in Holland was suppressed. Lord

Seafield in the meantime caused another pardon to pass

the Great Seal without Lord Lovat's having the smallest

intelligence upon the subject, comprehending only his high

treason against King William and his Government, thus

affording an opportunity to Lord Athol still to prosecute

his suit upon the subject of the rape."* There is no doubt

that here as elsewhere Simon is drawing the long bow. It

is established beyond question by the records of the Privy

Council that the King refused to sign a pardon which would

cover the crimes against private individuals for which Simon

was at that very time a fugitive from justice, and while fully

pardoned for all his offences against the State, he was still

held liable to prosecution for his crimes against the Dowager

Lady Lovat and the family of Atholl, for which he had not

yet been formally tried by any Court of Justice.

The Earl of Tullibardine was so incensed at even the

modified pardon granted to Simon that he resigned his

great office, and immediately afterwards threw in his lot

with those who opposed the King in the Scottish Parlia-

ment, then led by his brother-in-law, the Duke of Hamilton,

believing at the same time that he would be received with

open arms by the exiled Stuarts at the Court of St. Ger-

mains. In this he was not disappointed, and it will be seen

in the sequel that he was subsequently able to give infinite

trouble to Lord Lovat, who still maintained that he was as

innocent of the rape charged against him on the Dowager
Lady Lovat, who had ever since resided with the Marquis

* Memoirs of his Life by himself, pp. 97-106.
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of Atholl at Blair Castle, as the child unborn, and he had

the hardihood in brazening it out to order a citation to be

served upon the Marquis and his family "by way of re-

crimination, for having falsely accused him, and for the

devastations they had made without orders from the

Sovereign, in his provinces. He next made a progress

through all the towns of the north, and the counties

adjacent to his estate, where he was received in a very

magnificent manner, and returned to Edinburgh with a

retinue of a hundred gentlemen, who came as witnesses

to support before the Court of Justiciary his action against

Lord Atholl," including the two clergymen who married

him to the Dowager Lady Lovat.

But the very day that had been named for Simon to

support this charge against Atholl, the Duke of Argyll was

informed by Lord Aberuchal, one of the nine Lords of

Justiciary, that the families of Atholl and Hamilton had

gained over the other eight judges, and that however clear

Lovat's innocence might be he would not have a single

voice in his favour on the bench except his own, " without

an order from the King to oblige the Lords of Justiciary to

do strict justice regardless of the interests of their relations

and friends. These eight judges had been appointed to

their office by Lord Tullibardine, the Secretary of State,

and they considered their places as dependent upon their

giving sentence according to his inclination." He already

told us himself that Tullibardine had before this resigned

office, a step which made it impossible for him to interfere

effectually with the Judges of Justiciary by removal or

otherwise. Inconvenient facts like these, however, had to

make way for Lord Simon's narrative when consistency

demanded their suppression. But to proceed with his

version of the story.

He was sent for by the Duke of Argyll and the Earl

of Leven, who informed him of what Lord Aberuchal

had told them, and his two friends then urged "that it

was neceesary he should suffer himself to be cast for non~

appearance, till the Duke should be able to speak to the
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King-, either to obtain a new pardon or an order to the

Court of Justice to do justice to Lord Lovat, according- to

the laws of the kingdom, and the dictates of equity,

without suffering themselves to be biassed by personal

interests. Lord Lovat, conscious of his innocence, and

having upon the spot so many witnesses to prove it, declared

that he would not consent to the advice of the Duke of

Argyll, but was resolved to bring the matter to an im-

mediate issue. The Duke grew warm and remonstrated,

before Lord Leven and the other Lords and gentlemen

who were present, that if Lord Lovat were as innocent

as Jesus Christ, the eight judges gained by his enemies

would condemn him, and that, for his part, he would not

give them that satisfaction," adding " that he would not part

with Simon for a moment until he saw him on horseback

;

and against the importunities of the other gentlemen

present his Grace insisted on Lovat setting out immediately

for the frontiers of England, where he should follow him

in four days. Simon acquiesced, and set out to his own
regret, as well as to the regret of every other friend he

had in the world, who were not sufficiently acquainted with

the corrupt and abandoned character of the judges." The

date of the trial had been fixed for the 17th of February,

1701 ; Simon was duly called and outlawed for non-appear-

ance. The Duke of Argyll met him as promised, and they

proceeded together to London, where Lovat was at his

Grace's house almost every day until he left for the High-

lands to visit the chiefs of clans in the interest of the exiled

House of Stuart, before proceeding to join the Court of

King James at St. Germains, which he had now determined

upon doing.

In the meantime having, according to himself, secured

the approval of his friend and patron Argyll, he returned

to the Highlands, calling on his way on several of the

Jacobite heads of families in the Lowlands, with William

Earl Marischal and the Earl of Errol, Lord Constable of

Scotland, at their head, and expostulated with them in so

spirited a manner and urged with so much force and effect
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the interests of the exiled King, that he prevailed upon

them and the Highland chiefs to grant him a general

commission on their own account and on the part of all

the loyal Scots whom they represented, to go into France,

at the same time authorising him to assure the Court of

St. Germains and the French King that they were ready

to take up arms and hazard their fortunes in the interest

of the Stuarts, and entreating them to send over their

young monarch, with an officer to command them and the

necessary succours for such an enterprise. He says that

he "immediately proclaimed the pretended Prince of Wales

in his province, resolved either to perform some dis-

tinguished action in his favour, or to make advantageous

terms for himself with Queen Anne"; and having received

his commission he set out on his expedition to the Con-

tinent with great alacrity, passing through England and

Holland, in order to reach France through Flanders, the

only route then open in consequence of the war which

had just broken out, and he ultimately arrived in Paris in

safety in July, 1702.*

Whether this account, supplied by himself, be true or

the reverse as far as it goes, it is quite certain that he is

not telling the whole truth, and that there were other urgent

reasons for his departure from the Highlands. The Atholl

family were again on his track while he was moving about

among his native mountains. On the 19th of February,

1702, a petition was presented to the Lords of the Privy

Council for Letters of Intercommuning—otherwise a Com-
mission of Fire and Sword—against him. The petition, the

prayer of which was granted and the Letters issued, is in

almost identical terms with those issued previously against

him on the 18th of November, 1697, already quoted, and

states that notwithstanding the proceedings which were

going on in the Courts to punish him

—

" Such was the insolence and presumption of the said Captain

Simon, that he not only converses openly in the country as a free

liege, to the contempt of all authority and justice, but likewise keeps

* Memoirs of his Life, pp. 106 to 120.
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in a manner his open residence within the Lordship of Lovat, where,

and especially in Stratherric, he farther presumes to keep men and

arms attending and guarding his person, and for stenting and levying

contributions upon the petitioner's vassals and tenants ; and proceed-

ing to yet farther degrees of unparalleled boldness, causes to make
public proclamation at the kirks, within the bounds, on the Lord's

day, that all the people be in readiness with their best arms, and de

facto, he hath levied in a threatening, violent, and disorderly manner,

upwards of five or six hundred marks within the foresaid bounds, and

behaves himself more imperiously than if he were lord and proprietor

thereof; and in effect the tenants and others are thereby so harassed

and disabled that they could make no payment of their rents."

It was immediately after the issue of these Letters that

he adopted the masterly device of granting bonds of security

in large amounts to the leading gentlemen of his clan, on

condition that they should remain loyal to his personal

interests in his absence ; for he had already made up his

mind to go to France as soon as he could get away. Some
of the documents are still preserved. The plan was as

follows—Selecting the heads of branch houses he granted

them bonds, obliging himself personally, along with his

brother John, then his apparent heir, as cautioner, to pay

them a certain sum of money named in each case, with the

shrewd proviso, that the bond was "to stand in force upon

condition the said (naming the person) stand faithful to our

interest, and no otherwise." One of these documents in

favour of Thomas Fraser of Struy and another to Hugh
Fraser of Kinmonavie, are dated 7th March, 1702, the day

immediately preceding the accession of Queen Anne. It

appears that Struy, after Simon succeeded to the estates,

insisted upon the payment of the amount of his bond, which

was for 10,000 merks, while Kinmonavie's was only for

1000, but Lord Lovat strenuously resisted both claims.

He admitted having signed the bonds, but rather meanly

pleaded that he was at the time under an insane and

criminal hallucination, tempting him to commit treason

against his lawful sovereign and to support the cause of

the Pretender, urging at the same time that it was impos-

sible that a set of bonds all granted on the same day, and

to the same class of persons, could have had any other
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object than a treasonable combination ; and as it was the

policy of the law not to enforce obligations for the com-

mission of crime so he should not be compelled to fulfil

any of these contracts, all entered into by him when he
" was in the gall of iniquity."* Curiously enough and

characteristic to perfection this defence was adopted and

put forward at the same moment that he was in the midst

of his great exertions in favour of the House of Stuart,

immediately before the Rising of 1745. It is also not a

little remarkable that Simon makes no reference in his

Memoirs to these bonds or to the masterly policy by

which each of the chief men of his clan was made to feel

an interest in and assist him in working out his ultimate

success, during the whole time that he was himself absent

in forced exile on the Continent. The Struy claim being

still unsettled in 1747, after Simon's execution an action

was raised for the amount against the Commissioners

for Forfeited Estates, when the Crown pleaded in bar

of payment that "the Lord Lovat in seventeen hundred

and two, granted many such bonds as this, with the like

quality annexed to them—to wit, that they should stand

in force if the creditors therein stood faithful to his interest

and no otherwise, which were all reduced, it appearing that

they were granted without any onerous cause, and on

account of certain unlawful associations entered into with

Lord Lovat." His object is fully admitted in 1745 in

the defence of the action raised against him in that year

by Struy. On that occasion he says

—

" Your petitioner, in order to engage the more into that interest,

granted a variety of bonds to a great many Highland gentlemen,

such as were supposed to have lead and interest in the Highlands,

amounting in the whole to very considerable sums of money, and

amongst others granted sundry of these bonds to these persons

who lay under the same sentence of forfeiture with himself as imagin-

ing that because of their circumstances they would be easier wrought

upon to join him in his design."

In the meantime Simon, on the 14th of August, 1702,

having left the Highlands for France, the Dowager Lady

* His own petition, dated 6th February, 1745.
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Lovat and her daughter, the heiress, presented another

petition to the Privy Council, which gives a lively picture,

more or less accurate, of his proceedings. They say

—

" It being boldly asserted on the Captain's behalf that he was able

to defend himself against the rape by due course of law, notwith-

standing whereof, after his Majesty's Advocate had set him a day

of trial for the rape, and had given him previously out letters of

exculpation ;
yet being conscious of his horrid guilt, and that the

probation was but too clear against him, he fled the town the very

morning of the trial, and was declared fugitive and went up to

London in hopes that those who procured the first remission would

have procured a second, which his late Majesty out of his great piety

declared he would never remit or indemnify. Whereupon he repaired

to the North of Scotland and skulked up and down, at first in

the countries of Aird and Stratherric, which belongs to the petitioners,

and endeavoured by fair means to obtain from the petitioners' vassals

and tenants a contribution, which many of them out of fear for his ill

and some out of kindness to him granted. And being further

emboldened by this, their compliance, he did stent upon each room

in both countries by military execution upon such as were refractory,

and in the meantime threatened the petitioners' factors and doers

with present death if they offered to raise any of the petitioners'

farms from their tenants."

His native country was now getting so very unsafe

for him, that by the advice of his friend and patron the

Duke of Argyll he resolved for a time to leave it, with the

view of carrying on his machinations in a more secure place

from capture on the Continent, and he found his way in

July, 1702, to the exiled Court at St. Germains, where

matters were in a confused state of disunion and intrigue,

with two parties, the one headed by Lord Middleton and the

other by the Duke of Perth, two noblemen " who hated each

other with a mortal hatred." Lovat was an old friend of

the Duke, "and naturally became one of his party, with the

result that he secured for himself the strenuous opposition

and enmity of Middleton. King James had been dead

for ten months when Simon arrived, and his son and heir,

James Francis Edward, afterwards known as the Chevalier,

was at the time a boy only fourteen years old, his mother,

Mary of Modena, acting as the real head of the Court.

Our hero succeeded in obtaining several audiences of the
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Queen mother, and by degrees to ingratiate himself into

her confidence. He also secured what was much more un-

usual—several private interviews with the great Louis XIV.,

King of France, in course of which he pleaded with his

Majesty to take up the cause of the Stuarts by sending a

great force to fight in their interest in Scotland. Burton

referring to these audiences says, " notwithstanding the

unapproachable state and ceremony with which it had been

the policy of Louis to surround the throne, notwithstanding

the difficulty of personal access to him by the highest

personages of his own realm, there can be no doubt that

Lovat obtained some private interviews with him ; and

the circumstance is alluded to by French writers as a lasting

memorial of his consummate skill in intrigue." Louis

presented him with a sword and other tokens of his good

will, which Lovat afterwards treasured with pardonable pride

as valuable heirlooms on account of their having been given

to him by the greatest monarch of his age. It is no doubt

true that in order to flatter Louis, Simon formally adopted

the Catholic religion and accepted the ordinances of that

Church. His principal medium with the French Court

was the Papal legate, Gualterio, afterwards a Cardinal, and,

independently of what Lovat himself says about this great

man, his influence over him is fully confirmed by contem-

porary documents.

On Simon's arrival he found the Court at St. Germains

firm believers in the restoration of the young Prince in

virtue of his divine right alone and apparently without any

necessary dependence on the strength of the sword and

the arm of flesh. This was quite opposed to his practical

ideas of the situation and things in general, and he fearlessly

declared that so long as her Majesty implicitly followed the

advice of the people who were then at the head of the

English Parliament, "Jesus Christ would come in the clouds

before her son would be restored." And to his representa-

tions may fairly be attributed the views which ultimately

decided upon the Highlands of Scotland as the most

appropriate part of the British Isles for the descent which
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was made upon it in the Stuart interest in 17 15. His plan

of operations he declined to divulge to any one until he

should get an audience of the Queen herself. Having- suc-

ceeded in this, he told her that he had authority from the

heads of most of the clans, including- his own relative,

Stewart of Appin, Sir Ewen Cameron of Lochiel, Sir

Donald Macdonald of Sleat, and many others, to inform

her that they would raise 10,000 men, if they were suc-

coured from France with money, arms, and reinforcements.

He proposed that 5000 French troops should be landed at

Dundee, from whence, being near the Highlands, they

could reach the entrance to the North-eastern passes in one

day's march and be in a position to divert the British troops

for a sufficient time to enable the Highland clans to rise

simultaneously with the landing of this force on the East

coast of Scotland. 500 men were to be embarked at Fort-

William. These could easily seize the fortress of Inverlochy,

which commanded an important arm of the sea on the West

coast and could be made a protected gateway opening up

into the very centre of the Highlands. His proposals were

not, however, on this occasion entertained, but forty years

later they became the basis of the plans and operations

adopted, when it was too late, for the Stuarts in the Rising

of 1745.

There is no doubt that he managed to get the promise

of an interview with the Marquis de Torcy, son of the

celebrated Colbert, for the purpose of laying the scheme

before him. The Marquis having been called to Court on

the day appointed to meet him, left as his substitute an

equally eminent diplomatist, to whom Simon submitted his

plans, and he was subsequently received by the Marquis de

Torcy himself, who in the meantime had had his proposals

submitted to him. " The two French statesmen were men
of high personal honour and integrity, whose diplomatic

craft was the creature of long experience, and of a sort of

professional morality teaching them that the aggrandise-

ment of their own country sanctified every deceit. The
young Highlander met these veterans, armed with his own

17
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natural craft and unscrupulousness ; and probably, as an

ambassador's astuteness might not be expected in a raw

mountaineer, he made the most effective dissembler of the

three."* He was now asked to draw up a list of the heads

of clans by whom he was commissioned and the number of

men that they could bring into the field. This was soon

forthcoming, but when Sir John Maclean, Simon's fellow

Highlander and relative, saw it, he expressed surprise at

finding so many names in it of persons whom Lovat himself

had, not long before, told him he had had no intercourse

with. To this the latter replied that he knew their senti-

ments and that he would answer for their support of all his

plans and proceedings, and to Sir John's further remark

that some of the Highland chiefs were entered for double

the men they could bring into the field his Lordship re-

plied that unless the scheme were made to look well on

paper, the French Court would never take any steps to

carry it into effect. The result seems to have been that

the French Ministers were quite ready to move and heartily

adopt his proposals, and the real cause of failure was the

impediments thrown in the way of his plans by the Jacobite

leaders at the exiled Court. Simon himself says that he

obtained the promise of the French Court to send an army

of 5000 men to support the loyal Scots, and that they were

also to send officers, money, ammunition, and arms suffi-

cient for such an enterprise. Everything had been prepared.

He had even received from the Marshal de Vauban, with

whom he had been in communication for several days for

that purpose, that distinguished soldier's grand secret for

the construction of folding ladders with which it was pro-

posed to scale Fort-William. Sir John Maclean in his

" Discovery " fully confirms this statement, and says that

the money desired for the expedition was 100,000 crowns,

and arms for 20,000 men, "both of which were promised,"

but the arms were not sent when he, Sir John, left, nor was

there any money to be forwarded until " the security of

things appeared on Fraser's return," and then it was to be

* finrtorfs Lives, p. 64.
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sent by a French Commissary. Both the Duke of Berwick

and the Duke of Hamilton were seriously spoken of as com-

manders of the proposed expedition. But Lovat objected

to both, and it is quite certain that he desired to occupy

that responsible position himself.

The French leaders were, however, still doubtful as to

the real trustworthiness of the messenger who had come to

them, professedly from the Highland chiefs, especially as

Lovat's assurances of their adherence and willingness to rise

were merely verbal, and " without throwing any imputation

on the purity of his honour," they thought it just possible

that some of the heads of clans might, when called upon to

implement their promises, deny having ever made any, and

on the whole it was considered expedient that Lovat should

return to the Highlands to bring back more distinct in-

formation before the expedition was entered upon. It was

at first proposed, as a precautionary measure, to send along

with him a French Commissary, but there were obvious

difficulties in the way. Such a person, says Burton (who

summarises the situation at this juncture from Simon's own
Memoirs, confirmed by documentary evidence) could not

move a mile from place to place, without being an object

of suspicion. The chiefs would be shy of his presence

;

while on the other hand, as he would be ignorant of the

people and their habits, he would never be able to know
with certainty whether those he met with were real High-

land chiefs, or persons taken from the boards of a theatre

to personate the character. At the same time it did not

appear safe, so far as the interests of France were con-

cerned, to put no better check on Lovat's proceedings than

the fellowship of some Scottish Jacobite, who might even

be induced by party or personal feeling, to aid his schemes

whatever they might be. In these circumstances the

French Ministry adopted the plan of sending as his com-
panion a gentleman of Scottish family but a naturalised

Frenchman, who would be sufficiently alive to the Jacobite

cause without forgetting the interests of that country which

could alone afford hjm the privileges and protection of a
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citizen. The person thus selected was John Murray,

brother of the Laird of Abercairney, "the most ancient

branch and the true head of the family of Murray, though

the branch of Atholl have falsely arrogated to itself a

superiority," says Lovat, who also says that this gentleman

was chosen to accompany him to the Highlands on his own

special recommendation. Both received written instruc-

tions as to how they were to proceed, Simon's being dated

the 5th of May, 1703, ten months after his arrival at St.

Germains. They began—"You are with all convenient speed

to return to your own country, and to show this paper only

to such of the Highlanders as knew of your coming thither,

and have sent to us by you, and such others of them as you

hope to bring to our interest," but no further definite assur-

ances were given regarding the intentions of France than a

statement that the Scottish Jacobites should be sufficiently

assisted by friends there " when the conjuncture is favour-

able, and that then they shall be supplied with every thing

that may make them appear effectually to us." Lovat and

his companion were to act with energy, but at the same

time with secrecy and caution, and his instructions were

accompanied by a Colonel's commission, dated the 25th of

February, 1703. Murray was instructed when he arrived in

Scotland to repair at once to the Highlands, where he was

"to be introduced by Lord Lovat to the several chiefs of

clans and gentlemen of interest in that part of the country,

of whom you are to inform yourself what they propose, what

they are able to do, and at what time they can be in readi-

ness." And if he found any diversity of opinion he was to

mark the persons who differed in their views from the

others. These instructions were duly signed "James R.,"

"given at our Court of St. Germains," and countersigned

" Middleton " as the Minister in charge. Soon after this,

Sir John Maclean also started for Scotland to keep an eye

on his relative's motions, while Middleton simultaneously

sent James Murray, brother of Sir David Murray of Stan-

hope, avowedly to watch the proceedings of Lovat, who on

that account describes him in his Memoirs as Mjddjeton's
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"sworn creature, his spy, and a man who had no other

means of subsistence," and according" to the same authority

he, having secured the necessary passes from his patron,

arrived in Scotland six weeks before Simon was able to

leave the coast of France, "where he was obliged to skulk

through all the towns from Brussels to Calais in order to

pass in safety, having no other provision for that purpose

than the orders of the Marquis de Torcy to the Comman-
dants of these places to assist him with all their power.

Accordingly he was constrained to wait for an entire month

the arrival of an English packet for the exchange of

prisoners, the Captain of which was gained by dint of

money by the Count de la Tour, Governor of Calais, to

take Lord Lovat and his friends on board on the pretence

that they were English prisoners of war, and to put them

on shore during the night in his boat at some place in the

neighbourhood of Dover," a promise which the Captain

performed most faithfully. From Dover Lovat and his

companion proceeded to Scotland.*

Sir John Maclean landed at Folkestone, in Kent, after a

journey of extreme hardship, his wife having been delivered

of a child while crossing the English Channel in an open

fishing boat along with him.

On the journey north Lovat and his companions incurred

much danger, and in one particular instance they were only

saved by his characteristic coolness and presence of mind.

This was at Northallerton, a town where, through the im-

prudence of his Lordship's French valet, they ran the most

extreme risk of being taken prisoners. A justice of the

peace, who was drinking in the kitchen of the post-house or

inn at which Lovat and his companions were staying, dis-

covered from the conversation of the valet, who had got

drunk, that his master had just come from France and that

he was a partisan of the exiled Stuarts. This justice had a

few years before apprehended a gentleman who had re-

turned from the same place and was handsomely rewarded

by the friends of King William for doing so. He now felt

* Memoirs ofhis Life by himself, p. 153.
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that another prize was within his reach, and collecting all

the constables in the town, he surrounded the apartment

where Lord Simon and John Murray were sitting. Of
what followed his Lordship gives a very interesting account.

Lord Lovat, he says, was informed of these proceedings

by one of his clan, who accompanied him and was acting

his servant. He thereupon proposed to Mr Murray that

they should put themselves on their defence and fight their

way through everybody that might oppose them, or die in

the attempt rather than allow themselves to be taken alive.

To this Murray replied that he was not prepared to die
;

that he was a naturalised Frenchman and an envoy of the

King of France; and that Queen Anne dared not put him

to death for fear of reprisals. Upon this Lord Lovat re-

quested him to retire into the next room, as if he did not

belong to his company. As for himself he was determined

to die upon the spot or to force his way through the enemy,

since he expected nothing better, if he were taken, than to

be hanged or quartered without mercy.

He then ordered his attendant to lay hold of two pistols

that were on the table and a blunderbus which carried eight

bullets, taking similar weapons himself. Understanding

that the justice of peace was the first on the staircase, Lovat

ordered his companion to post himself upon the landing-

place ; to allow the Magistrate to enter the apartment, where

his Lordship stood with his pistol cocked, ready to fire, and

the moment he heard the report of the pistol inside to dis-

charge his blunderbus among the constables on the stairs

;

and that as soon as this was done they would both force

their way through their opponents, who had no other arms

than the long staves usually carried by men of their pro-

fession ; and then, the night being very dark, could they but

once gain the street, nothing would be easier for them than

to effect their escape.

But at that moment Providence inspired Simon with a

presence of mind which saved his own life and that of his

friends much more easily than their courage could have

done. He told his attendant that he would inform the
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Magistrate that he was a brother of the Duke of Argyll, who
was Colonel of the Regiment of Guards of Queen Anne,

and well known and much beloved in that part of the

country. And as his Lordship " had the honour to be

really kinsman " to the Duke, his intimate friend, and had

been many times with him at the races held in the neigh-

bourhood of Northallerton, it did not seem difficult to pass

himself off as his brother. While Lovat was thus discus-

sing the situation the justice of peace drew up his constables

in the yard, just at the foot of the stairs, and then came up

to his Lordship's room, whereupon Simon advanced a few

paces to meet him, with extended hand, saying, without

giving the interloper time to speak a word, " My dear sir,

how happy I am to see you. It is almost two years since I

had that pleasure with the Duke of Argyll, at the races near

this town." The representative of the law was almost struck

dumb, but, recovering himself, replied with a faltering voice

— " My Lord, I ask a thousand pardons for having broke

thus abruptly into your apartment. But my business was

to beg your Lordship's permission to treat you with a bottle

of wine in this town, where I am a man of some conse-

quence." Lovat politely replied that he should of course

accept the hospitality so courteously offered, and would

return the compliment, at the same time asking his visitor

to take a seat. The Magistrate, begging his Lordship's per-

mission to go and order in person from the hostess the

best Spanish wine she had in the house, replied that he

would be back in a moment. As soon, however, as he

reached the foot of the stair he was heard telling his

constables that the gentleman who was upstairs was no

other than a brother of the Duke of Argyll ; that " he was

going to drink a bottle with him " ; and that for them they

had nothing more to do but to get home as fast as they

could. Having thus disbanded his officers, he returned

immediately, and " Lord Lovat made him so drunk that he

was obliged to be carried off without sense or motion to his

own house." This was about one o'clock in the morning,

when Lovat and his friends mounted their horses, set off,
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and soon arrived in Scotland, where, as pre-arranged, they

met Colonel Peter Graham and Major George Fraser, who
went in advance of them from London, with instructions to

await them at a certain point on the Scottish Borders.

From these gentlemen they received intelligence regarding

a knowledge in advance of their intentions and movements
supplied by James Murray, which somewhat staggered

them, especially John Murray, who was astonished beyond

measure, and gave himself up for lost. But Lovat entreated

him not to be disheartened, adding that he had nothing to

fear, and as for himself, he was fully innured to such

menaces and dangers.

We must now, however, for a time take leave of them,

and pick up the narrative of what was taking place in the

Highlands during his Lordship's absence on the Continent,

who, in one of the numerous petitions at the instance of

the Dowager Lady Lovat and her daughter, is declared

to have withdrawn "out of the country with a considerable

sum of money," which he had levied on the estates.

That he left a very effective and loyal lieutenant behind

him in the person of his brother John, regarding whose

conduct "a whole torrent of petitions poured in upon

the Privy Council," is undoubted. In one of these, dated

the 4th of August, 1702, soon after Simon had left for

France, it is stated that "he hath left John Fraser his

brother and several other fugitives lately intercommuned,

as said is, who with some other loose and broken men " to

the number of thirty or thereby, who for the preceding three

months, had gone up and down the districts of the Aird

and Stratherrick, "belonging to the petitioners," threatening

their chamberlains with death should they offer to uplift

the rents from the tenants, and threatening the tenants

in like manner should they pay the representatives of

the petitioners. And " for effectuating thereof, the said

John Fraser hath kept a party of men as in garrison in

the town of Beauly, the heart of the country of the Aird,

who exact free quarters from the tenants. Like as he and

his complices have taken up from the tenants and pos*
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sessors, to the number of 200 custom wedders and lambs,

and broke up the petitioners' meal gurnels in Beauly, and

had taken out thereof sixty bolls of meal." And further,

about the 6th of July preceding", Fraser, Younger of

Bochrubbin, and two more of John's accomplices, came to

Moniack House, where Hugh Fraser, one of the petitioners'

chamberlains, resided, and having by a false sign got him

out of the house, they not only reproached him for serving

the petitioners, but beat him with the butts of their guns

and would have murdered him had he not succeeded in

making his escape. And because he afterwards complained

to the Commissioners of Justiciary of their conduct they

sent him a message that if he persisted in his complaint

against his persecutors they would destroy himself and all

his relations. It is then stated that the Court of Justiciary

ordered a party of Grants to proceed to the district, but that

they were too small in number to be of any service, in re-

spect of which the Privy Council are asked to send such a

body of troops as may be strong enough to suppress "such

flagrant villainies and unaccountable insolencies," whereupon

the Council recommended the Commander-in-Chief to send

two detachments of soldiers—one to the Aird and the other

to Stratherrick.

This is followed, ten days later, by another petition, in

which it is declared that John Fraser, the Captain's brother,

in order to be avenged upon the factors for their application

to the Court of Justiciary "did convocate in the country of

Stratheric fifty broken men, and with these " went to the

Aird on the 5th inst. and raised, as he went through that

district, two or three hundred men and women, and with

them assaulted the house of Fanellan, where Captain

John Mackenzie, "one of the petitioners' baillies" lived, and

where the ten men of Captain Grant's company resided, and

requested them to surrender and give themselves up as

prisoners. And because they refused to do so, John and

his followers set fire to the house, and burnt it and all its

offices to ashes, with the result that Captain Mackenzie and

his soldiers, Hugh Fraser of Eskadale, "another of the
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petitioners' bailies," and George Mackenzie, "a servant 01

Prestonhall's," along- with Lieutenant Campbell, who com

manded the party, were forced to surrender themselves and

were all detained and made prisoners. After a little time,

"they dismissed Captain Grant's ten men, but carried the

Lieutenant, the two baillies, and George Mackenzie, as it

were in triumph through the country to the end of Loch

Ness. And having dismissed the next morning the Lieu-

tenant, they carried the other three prisoners, abusing them

in the most barbarous manner, to the country of Stratherric,

and whether they be dead or alive the petitioners know not."

This will give the reader a fair idea of the state of affairs on

the Lovat estates during Simon's first visit to France. We
shall now go back and pick up him and his companions,

Colonel Peter Graham and Major George Fraser, where we

left them on the Borders of Scotland on his return home
in 1703.

At this period there was an open difference between

England and Scotland about their commercial relations and

the succession to the Crowns. The Darien scheme had

been crushed to gratify the envy of English merchants, and

the Scots, who were treated as aliens, were almost in re-

bellion. It had been arranged by the English Act of

Settlement to secure the succession to a Protestant when

the Queen died, and the nearest heir was the son of the

Princess Sophia, descended from a remote collateral of the

reigning family, while there were many more nearly related

to the occupant of the throne, but whose religion, under

this Act, excluded them. "The offspring of Charles I.,"

says Burton, "both through his sons and daughters—whose

descendants have increased so widely by alliances with the

European thrones that there is scarcely a Catholic crowned

head in Europe who is not nearer the British throne by

direct descent from the Stuart race than the present Royal

family—were passed over; and the descendants of Eliza-

beth, the unfortunate Queen of Bohemia, daughter of James

I., were found to be the nearest line of collateral relations to

Queen Anne who were unexceptionally Protestant. Her
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sole descendant was a daughter married to a German Elec-

tor, and thus the Protestant heir had to be found by going

back to an old generation of the British Royal family, and

passing through two female successions. This was far from

being a very obvious quarter to have recourse to, even were

it an understood matter that the descendants of Charles 1.

were to be excluded." And again, " It may be questioned

if in the year 1702, many people who were not statesmen or

genealogists knew much of the son of the Princess Sophia

—

the grandson of a British Princess, who had been married

ninety years before to a secondary Prince in a remote part

of Europe. When, therefore, this settlement had been

selected by the Parliament of England as the best, without

consulting or treating with the Scottish Legislature, it was

not by any means so obviously the only rational alternative

that could be adopted as to preclude the Scottish Legis-

lature from considering the question of the succession to

the Crown as a very difficult matter, requiring much and

deliberate consideration. The dilemma afforded an ex-

cellent opportunity for making favourable conditions for

Scotland, for no English Government could feel that it

rested on a very secure basis while that of Scotland had

not made arrangements for the same line of monarchs

occupying the two thrones. But the Scottish statesmen

could not see that they were bound to choose the de-

scendants of the Electress Sophia, just because those of

England had chosen to do so ; and to show that they were

serious in taking advantage of the opportunity afforded

them they passed the Act of Security. It provided for

the assembling of Parliament on the Queen's death, and

the devolution of the Crown on a Protestant successor;

with the stipulation that the same person who might suc-

ceed to the Crown of England should not succeed to that

of Scotland, unless England conceded to Scotland a free

intercommunication of trade, the privileges of the Naviga-

tion Act, and a participation in the Colonial trade. The

monarch, fortified behind the power of the English Parlia-

ment, employed a remedy which has almost dropped out



268 HISTORY OF THE FRASERS.

of the known list of Royal prerogatives in Britain, by

refusing the Royal assent to the measure."* Other serious

differences followed. The Scottish Parliament rose without

granting supplies. When it again met, it re-passed the

Act of Security, and on this occasion it was deemed wise by

the English Parliament that it should receive the Royal

assent. " The spirit of resistence to the domination and

interference of England was gradually becoming more

fierce, and incidents occurred which showed that it was

not confined to the inflammable populace, or to romantic

theroists, or to party statesmen raising a cry to serve an

end ; but that it was becoming part of the creed of grave

sagacious politicians, and was entertained on the bench

and in the academic chair, as well as in the senate and

market place."

This was the state of affairs in Scotland when Simon

Fraser of Lovat returned from France. The Royal assent

had just been refused to the Scottish Act of Security, and

nothing could better suit his plans of mischief and intrigue.

He proceeded at once to his own family estates, and then,

accompanied by his brother John, visited several heads of

clans in the Highlands to sound them as to their views and

attitude towards the exiled Court of St. Germains. Among
those upon whom they called were Stewart of Appin, his

own relative ; Sir Ewen Cameron of Lochiel, the Laird of

Macgregor, and Lord Drummond. On the 23rd of July,

1703, Captain Hamilton, a Government officer at the time

stationed at Inverness, wrote to Brigadier-General Maitland,

Governor of Fort-William, intimating that a great hunting

match had been arranged for the 2nd of the following

month, at which the Highland chiefs were to assemble

their followers ; that the Duke of Hamilton, the Marquis

of Atholl, and Grant of Grant were to be there, and that

the latter had ordered 600 of his men in arms, "in good

order, with tartan coats, all of one colour and fashion." This

looked ominous, and no doubt our hero had a hand in the

arrangements. Later on he succeeded in getting Lord

* Lives ofSimon Lord Lovat and Duncan Forbes of Culloden, pp. 73-75.
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Drummond to call "a general council of war" at his castle,

where Simon proposed to those assembled that they should

take arms at once, but Lord Drummond opposed this step,

on the ground that the exiled King had appointed no

General to command them, and "that the Scottish nobles,

equally persuaded of their capacity and loyalty, would

never brook submission to one of their own body," unless

he was specially appointed by a commission from head-

quarters. It was, therefore, ultimately decided to defer

any decisive movement to a later date, and in the meantime

it was considered expedient to send John Murray or Simon

back to France to demand assistance, and for other necessary

purposes. Murray refused to return, on the ground that he

had not yet carried out his instructions to visit all the

principal men who were alleged to be friendly to King

James, and that Lovat had greater credit and influence

both at the Court of France and St. Germains—at the latter,

through the influence over the Queen of his friend Cardinal

Gualterio. In these circumstances, Simon, as he says

himself, " in an evil hour " consented to go. But before he

did so the " Scottish Plot," which had been taking shape in

his rescourceful brain, must be entered upon by him.

He even thus early began to fear that a rising in favour

of the Stuarts was hopeless, and that his chances might be

brighter by joining his fortunes with those of the Govern-

ment of Queen Anne. It was, he says, suggested to him

to obtain an interview with the Duke of Queensberry, whom
he describes as "the inveterate and irreconcilable enemy
of King James the Third," and who was at the time Queen
Anne's High Commissioner to the Parliament of Scotland.

The idea of changing sides at this early period crops out

in his Memoirs. He there says that both his colleagues,

John Murray and Lord Drummond, were persistent in their

arguments urging him to comply with the proposal. They
even suggested to him the idea of making his peace with

Queen Anne, remaining at home with his clan, and sending

Major George Fraser, who had come home with him from

France, to demand the proposed re-inforcements. He
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"accordingly waited upon the three noblemen"—Queens-

berry, Argyll, and Leven—"and he was particularly upon

his guard with the Duke of Queensberry, in order to amuse

and throw him on a wrong scent," and his Grace gave him

an immediate opportunity of doing so " without much
exercise of his invention." The Duke told him that he was

already acquainted with the nature of the business that

brought him to Britain, that he knew that he had seen, or

was going to see, all the Highland chiefs and the other

friends of King James in the north, but his real concern

with him on that occasion was to discover the attitude of

the Marquis of Atholl and the Duke of Hamilton towards

the Court of St. Germains, and to find out if they corre-

sponded with the exiled house at the same time that they

displayed an unostentatious zeal in the service of Queen

Anne's Government? Simon expresses himself delighted

at the opportunity thus presented to him of ruining his old

enemies. He told Queensberry that he had undoubted

authority for saying that the Duke of Hamilton intended no

good for the Royal party, but that on the contrary he was,

among other things, devoured with the absurd idea of be-

coming King of Scotland himself, and that he intimated his

intention to one of his best friends, Mr Graham of Fintray,

in a secret interview in Hamilton's private closet. And he

further knew by ocular demonstration, that the Duke of

Hamilton had accepted the commission of General of the

Scottish army from the late King James, and that he had

promised hundreds of times to join the Highland forces

with a body of cavalry. He assured Queensberry that

Hamilton and Atholl were the most faithful friends and

servants of King James ; that James Murray had brought

them over commissioners from St. Germains ; that they

had promised to take up arms at a very early period, and to

put themselves at the head of the whole Jacobite party, in

order to restore the Stuarts ; and that his Excellency might

assure the Queen that this was the truth now regarding them.

It is, however, scarcely necessary now to say that there is

not a vestige of foundation for the story, and that it was a
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pure invention from beginning to end. Simon himself

fully admits this. He says that he " made to the Duke

of Queensberry this pretended discovery, which had no

foundation in anything he knew on the subject," and he

gives the following extraordinary reasons for the falsehood.

"With respect to Lord Athol," he says, "he was notoriously

the incorrigible enemy of King James. His accumulated

treasons rendered his person odious to all his Majesty's

faithful servants. Much less, therefore, was Lord Lovat

bound to spare this incorrigible villain than the Duke, his

brother-in-law. In a word, he was persuaded that he could

not do a better service to his King than to put the Duke of

Hamilton and Lord Athol, the two greatest hypocrites in

Scotland, and of whose duplicity and selfish policy no man
was ignorant, out of a condition to injure his project, or to

prejudice the interests of the Sovereign." This is an

average specimen of Simon's public morals throughout

his whole career of duplicity and intrigue.

This interview, which was arranged in August, by the

Duke of Argyll and the Earl of Leven, took place in

September, 1703. They told Queensberry that the person

for whom they solicited an audience was deep in the

intrigues of the Jacobites ; that he could give valuable

information ; that he was a man of rank ; that he was in

direct personal communication with the Courts of France

and St. Germains, but that his name must in the meantime

be kept secret. As soon as this information reached the

Duke he took the precaution of writing Queen Anne, asking

her how he was to deal with his visitor
—

" If that person

shall apply to me and be willing to own what he has said,

how shall I use him ? " asked his Grace. " It is strange

enough, that in his circumstances, he should have said so

much ; and it can hardly be expected that he will forfeit

what he may expect from France, without getting some

terms from your Majesty." Referring to the same inter-

view Burton says—"At the appointed hour, the massive

person of Lovat stalked into the private chamber, and the

statesman reared and hardened in the war of intrigue and
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deception, was confronted with the broad good-humoured

face of the young- Highlander, little dreaming- that the

uncouth smile and profuse suavity of manner concealed a

natural power of dissimulation and intrigue which the

severest education in state craft would fail to impart to

ordinary minds. This was late in September, when Lovat

made up his mind that the project of a Highland rising at

that moment at all events, was hopeless ; and, when if he

wished to execute anything for his advantage, or even to

secure his safety, he must transact with the other party.

Accordingly he told all and more than all, to the infinite

wonder of the Commissioner, and his Grace's high satisfac-

tion with his own ability in hunting out conspiracies."

Simon was, however, more than a match for his Majesty's

Commissioner to the Scottish Parliament. By means of

spurious letters and documents the Highlander completely

outwitted the statesman. On the 25th of September, 1703,

the Duke wrote Queen Anne giving an account of the

interview, but Lovat's name was still kept secret. He
informs her Majesty that

—

" This person is willing to come to London and give what accounts

he knows, provided he do it secretly; and he offers to return to France

and discover all the correspondence and designs ; but says that if he

falls under observation or that he be discovered, he runs the risk to

be broke on the wheel. He says that what money is transmitted yet

from France is only for the use of some particular persons, and that it

comes by bills to London, and it is brought hither in specie. I con-

fess it hard to think how one should know or be ready to reveal so

much. Yet the delivering of that principal letter (which the Duke
had previously sent to the Queen), and the showing his own commis-

sion under the hand and seal of the Prince of Wales as James VIII.

and III., which he says was the first paper signed with his new seal

;

these do give credit to what else could not have been so well trusted;

and he says that he has a Commission as Major General from the

French King which lies there, that it might give no offence, till once

the forces designed were raised. I thought it necessary to entertain

him with some money till your Majesty do signify your further

pleasure about him."

Simon's position was in the meantime getting serious.

His presence in the country was fully known, and making
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a sensation all over Scotland. The sentences of death and

of outlawry from the Court of Justiciary at the instance of

the Dowager Lady Lovat and her relatives, were still hang-

ing over him, and they and the family appear at this

particular time to have taken the necessary steps to act

with decision and promptitude. It will be observed that

the letter about Lovat addressed by the Duke of Queens-

berry as the representative of the English Government fn

Scotland, to Queen Anne, just quoted, was dated the 25th

of September, 1703, and two days later, on the 27th of the

same month, a Commission of Fire and Sword was issued

against Lovat by the Scottish Privy Council for the follow-

ing purposes

—

"To convocate our lieges in arms, to pass and search for, see,

follow, take, apprehend, imprison, or present to justice, and in case of

resistence, hostility, or opposition, to pursue to the death the said

Captain Simon Fraser, outlawed and fugitive, aforesaid, and such

persons as shall associate themselves to him, and resist the execution

of this, our commission, wherever he can be apprehended. And if

the said Captain Simon Fraser, and they who shall associate them-

selves to him, in opposition to this commission, shall, for his or their

refuge, happen to flee to houses or strengths, in that case, we, with

advice foresaid, give full power and commission to our said Commis-
sioners, conjointly and severally, as said is, to pass, pursue, and

assiege, the said houses or strengths, raise, fire, and use all force and

warlike engines that can be had for winning and recovering thereof,

and apprehending the said Captain Simon Fraser, and such persons

as shall associate themselves to him in resisting the execution of this

commission as rebels and traitors."

It is not surprising that on the issue of such a document

he should be anxious to obtain a pass which would enable

him to escape safely to London, and from thence across

the Channel, and that he should in return promise the out-

witted Queensberry to " do such things for her Majesty's

service as should deserve her pardon and an establishment

for his own subsistence." There were more secret inter-

views between the pair, and at last the Duke promised to

give him the necessary pass, at the same time undertaking

to obtain another for him from one of the Secretaries of

State of the English Government, as his own would be

18
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useless from thence to the Continent This is how Simon
gloats over the success of this clever intrigue—" The Duke
of Queensberry," he says, "gave in to the snare in the most

unsuspecting manner. He granted upon the spot a pass-

port to Lord Lovat, written and signed with his own hand,

as Viceroy of Scotland, to enable him to proceed in safety

from Edinburgh to London. Lord Lovat has still in his

possession this document, sealed with the arms of the Duke
of Queensberry, as well as the great offers that his ex-

cellency made him in writing."* These offers were, peace

with Queen Anne, to obtain for him a regiment and a sub-

stantial pension, and to make him Chief Justiciary and

Commandant of the county of Inverness. He, of course,

magnanimously refused all this, but promised that in the

following spring he would ask to be allowed to make his

peace with the English Queen, and at the same time accept

the other great privileges and honours so kindly pressed

upon him by the Duke. In the meantime, if he only got

his pass he would send from France such a particular

account of the doings of the Duke of Hamilton and the

Marquis of Atholl as would enable Queensberry to ruin

these statesmen at the Court of Queen Anne

!

And he did receive his pass, accompanied by a promise

that his benefactor should be in London two days after him,

along with an invitation to call upon him at his residence

there, when he would secure the required passport for him

from thence to the Continent. His friend, John Murray,

at his request, at the same time gave him a letter of intro-

duction to his nephew, William Keith, "as a proper person

to assist him during his residence in London, though that

gentleman was the declared enemy of the Duke of Queens-

berry," on whom both of them were to impose still further

in the English Capital. Simon was accompanied on his

journey south by Colin Campbell of Glendaruel, a cousin

of his own and half-brother to Sir John Maclean, and

neither he nor William Keith, "who received Lovat with

open arms in the most affectionate manner, quitted him day

* Memoirs of his Life by himself, p. 177.
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or night during- the short period " he remained in London.

And they introduced him to the notorious plotter Robert

Ferguson, "so well known," Simon himself says, "for the

author or accomplice of so many conspiracies, plots, and

criminal intrigues," among others, against Kings Charles

and James, although he afterwards became one of the

latter's most zealous partisans. Lovat found this congenial

spirit of considerable use to him, especially in having given

him a letter of recommendation to his brother, Major-

General Ferguson, then in the service of King William,

and at the time commanding one of the Scottish regiments

at Bar-le-Duc, where Lovat found his services invaluable

a fortnight hence, when, he says himself, he was the means

of saving his life, after he safely escaped to the Continent.

Keith accompanied Simon to Queensberry's house for his

pass, and he never parted with him until on the 13th of

October, 1703, he saw him on board his Dutch vessel at

Billingsgate and sailing down the Thames for Gravesend.

The passport given him was duly signed by the Earl of

Nottingham, then English Secretary of State, and was

made out in favour of four persons, named respectively

John Campbell, Munro, Dickenson, and Forbes, his Lord-

ship, who granted it on the urgent representations of the

Duke of Oueensberry, not having the slightest idea who
the men named in it were. During his short stay in

London Lovat lodged with an apothecary named Clarke,

who lived near the Monument, and who afterwards de-

scribed him "as a pretty tall gentleman, sanguine com-
plexion (with) fair hair, or a periwig," but nothing further

could be got out of him to implicate his quondam lodger.

Simon managed thus, with his usual good fortune, to

secure his escape from London to Holland, where he re-

mained for a short time and kept up a correspondence with

various people in England, all of whom, taking a leaf out

of his own book, began to intrigue on their own account

and afterwards betrayed him. Among them was Sir John
Maclean, who left France about the same time that Simon
himself left it but did not arrive in England until the 10th
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of November, 1703, when he was too late to secure the

benefits of the indemnity which had some time previously

been granted to those who went to the Court of St.

Germains, provided they returned within a certain re-

stricted period. Sir John was at once apprehended and

cast into prison, whereupon he offered to tell all he knew

on condition that he received a pardon and should be

treated like a gentleman, "so as not to be required to

appear in public as an evidence against any person," a

curious idea surely. It was apparently his opinion that it

was quite consistent with the character of a gentleman to

divulge the secret information which he received from his

intimate friend under the seal of confidence, but that it

would be altogether ungentlemanly to prove the accuracy

of his statements in open court. His conditions were,

however, accepted, and he made what has since been known

as Sir John Maclean's " Discovery " of all he knew about

Simon's manifold intrigues and the proceedings of the other

leading Jacobites at the Court of St. Germains. The re-

sult was, a great storm between the leading statesmen at

the Court of Queen Anne, extending to the English House

of Lords and Commons, ultimately creating a dangerous

dispute between the English and Scottish Parliaments.

But as our hero, who raised the storm, took no active

share in the dispute on this side of the English Channel,

we must refer the reader to the ordinary historical sources

for an account of the proceedings, while we follow Simon

to the Continent.

On his arrival in Holland, he appears to have had much
difficulty in finding a place of safety for his residence, but

he succeeded so far as to feel sufficiently secure in be-

ginning a correspondence with some of those whom he had

hitherto considered his friends. " He had three distinct

parties to keep in good humour and in reliance on his

conduct. First, the Jacobites in France, whom he had to

entertain with large and mysterious allusions to the services

he had been performing in Scotland. Second, the Scottish

Jacobites, with whom he corresponded through Ferguson
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and Colin Campbell of Glendaruel. By both of these, it

may be observed, he was betrayed—the former having com 1

)

menced the correspondence for the purpose of detecting

him—the latter having been tampered with and bribed

to give up the letters he received" from him. "The

third party with whom he had to correspond was the Duke

of Queensberry, to whom he professed to sell the secrets

of the other two. He had probably a fourth system of

correspondence with members of the French Government,

but if he had we are, unfortunately, not possessed of the

means of partaking in this department of his secrets."*

Writing to Colin Campbell from Rotterdam, he says, in

his Memoirs, that he enclosed a letter for Sir John Maclean

exhorting him " in the name of God, to suffer death itself,

rather than to act hostile to the interests of his sovereign.

He observed that a single false step in his situation would

destroy the merit of all he had hitherto done, and obliterate

the service of ancestors the most celebrated for their loyalty;

adding that he had rather hear that he was torn to pieces

by horses than that he had bartered away his loyalty and

his honour. Lord Lovat wrote in this urgent manner to Sir

John Maclean, because he feared that Lady Maclean, his

wife, who was a woman of much policy and finesse might

prevail upon him to make shipwreck of his honour for the

sake of his estate." What Simon here predicted of Lady

Maclean and her husband very soon came to pass. " Sir

John," in the words of our hero, "to his shame and eternal

confusion, as the most contemptible of cowards, after a few

days' imprisonment, and having first conditioned for a pen-

sion from Queen Anne, made an ample discovery of every

thing he knew respecting his cousin Lord Lovat, the Scot-

tish insurrection, and all the projects of the Court of St.

Germains. He was accordingly, as all the world knows,

immediately set at liberty and pensioned and has ever since

been universally regarded as the most worthless of the

human race. Lord Lovat's dispatches from Holland were

either intercepted or treacherously delivered into the hands

* Burton '$ Lives ofSimon Lord Lovat andDuncan Forbes of Culloden, pp. 94,
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of the Government, and printed by the express orders of

the English Parliament." It was not, however, until after

his arrival in France, that he knew himself to have been

betrayed by his cousin, Colin Campbell of Glendaruel.

" This unnatural monster, this perfidious traitor, this

execrable villain conceived and carried into action the

barbarous design, in spite of their relationship and intimate

friendship, in spite of the unbounded confidence Lord

Lovat had placed in him, of accomplishing the entire ruin

of that nobleman in the Courts both of England and

France." Glendaruel, he continues, was blinded by an

infamous spirit of avarice and ambition. He forgot that

a few weeks before he had been the zealous partisan of

King James, had conducted Simon himself to the houses

of Lord Breadalbane and many other loyal chiefs in Lon-

don, and that his disclosure would put the lives of these

old friends of his in imminent peril as well as subject his

own to the mercy of the English Government. He had

forgotten "every thing that ought to be dear to a man
of reason, honour, and probity, and rushed headlong into

the presence of Lords Athol and Tarbat, the very day

that he took leave of Lord Lovat upon the departure of

that nobleman for Holland." He told these noblemen

everything he knew respecting the affairs of King James,

and of his own cousin Simon. " He delivered up to them

the box that Lord Lovat had confided to him, containing

the portrait of the King, and his commission of Colonel

of Infantry." And finally he disclosed to them all that

had taken place between Simon and the Duke of Queens-

berry, and the passport that his Grace had procured for

him for his journey to Holland. Lords Atholl and Tarbat

" were particularly gratified with the last part of his dis-

covery, by means of which they hoped immediately to

accomplish the ruin of the Duke of Queensberry. They
went without a moment's pause to Queen Anne, and

accused the Duke to her Majesty as guilty of high treason,

having maintained a commerce with the most dangerous

emissary that had ever been employed by the Courts of
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France and St. Germains. To substantiate their accusa-

tions they produced the villain Glendaruel, who declared

that he had himself been witness to a conference of Lord

Lovat with the Duke of Queensberry, once at Edinburgh,

and once in London, and that he was ready to make oath

that the Duke had given him a passport for his journey

into Holland. At the same time, by concert with these

noblemen, he delivered to Queen Anne, with his own hand,

the portrait of the King, which had been confided to him

as the most sacred deposit, a circumstance which ought to

render the name of this modern Judas odious to the latest

posterity. Lords Athol and Tarbat warmly pressed the

Queen to permit the Duke of Queensberry to be tried for

his life upon these accusations, and indeed he must pro-

bably have lost his head in the affair," had he not previously

intimated to her Majesty the nature and objects of his

various interviews with Lovat, and forwarded to her some

of Simon's letters, as already told. But the Duke was

obliged to sue for a pardon from the Queen, and "he

was so much irritated against Lord Lovat, whom he con-

ceived to have duped and betrayed him to Messieurs Keith

and Ferguson, his declared enemies, that he became from

that moment his inveterate foe." Simon then falls foul of

George Lockhart of Carnwath, who wrote a book entitled

" Memoirs concerning the Affairs of Scotland, from Queen

Anne's Accession to the Throne to the Commencement of

the Union," in 17 14, and says that the details as set forth

by him in that work should for ever confound him

—

" I know not what epithets to bestow upon this miserable

author," Lovat writes, "who is so full of contradictions, even

in the characters he draws with so much bitterness and

impudence of the most able and illustrious gentlemen and

the first nobility of Scotland. The mildest censure that

can be passed upon him is that he has been insolent,

ignorant, and witless. Indeed he confesses as much him-

self; he asked pardon before hand. It were therefore a

pity to treat his book with too much severity, since he has

suppressed his name, for fear of being cudgelled to death
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by the footmen of the many noblemen he has maltreated,

and who are unwilling- themselves to soil their hands with

shooting him through the head, as a gentleman did the

father of this author, if he be the person whom all the

world believes him to be."*

But Lockhart's Memoirs, here so severely condemned by

Simon, correspond in the main with his own account of his

proceedings, except in the erroneous assumption that the

Duke of Queensberry and his friends, and not Lovat, were

the originators of the plot. But what probably raised the

ire of the latter so much was Lockhart's description of him

where he says that "they pitched upon one Simon Fraser

of Beaufort as the tool to carry on this wicked design, and

be an evidence to charge such persons as they directed.

This gentleman, some three or four years before, had been

guilty of a most scandalous rape upon the person of the

Lady Dowager Lovat, sister of the Duke of Atholl, for

which crimes the Lords of Justiciary condemned him to

die ; and letters of fire and sword were raised, and a detach-

ment of King William's troops sent against him and his

adherents." To this undeniably true charge, Simon indig-

nantly replies that this rape was " a crime of which he was

as innocent as the child unborn, and which the whole North

of Scotland, where Lord Lovat has always been and is at

this day much loved and respected, knows to have had no

foundation but in the malicious invention of Lord Athol."

The reader has already made up his mind where the truth

and the falsehood respectively lie on this point.

In another letter to Colin Campbell of Glendaruel, from

Rotterdam, Simon says— " I am confounded to know your

brother (Sir John Maclean) is prisoner. I am afraid they

will keep him so ; however, his only business is to give fair

words until he is in the Highlands, for I'd rather see

him shot and damned than he should do an ill thing"—that

is to say, divulge upon Simon. To Sir John himself he

says
—

" The making of an ill step now would so ruin your

reputation, that though I love you entirely, I had rather

* Memoirs of his Life by himself, pp. 193-204.
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see you buried than that you should be guilty of it. Take

care, for Christ's sake, that no condition may make you

or your friends tell a word of the main business to any-

body." But that was just what Sir John had already done.

Lovat's proceedings in Scotland had been found out and

made public before this letter was written. He writes

again to Campbell on the 24th of February, 1704, from

Liege

—

" I believe all the devils are got loose to torment me. With you I

am abused, ruined, and my reputation torn. Here I suffer by those

whom I served, and I am treated like a traitor and villain, and if I had

not had good friends here of strangers, I had perished like a dog. I

do not know what my fate will be, but I have dear bought my conver-

sation with those you call my real friends. You tell me that K
(? Keith) betrayed me to A (? Atholl) and now we hear of his

sufferings for me, but none in England could wrong me but he or you,

and if either of you have wronged me, I cannot trust myself or any

flesh and blood. My comfort is, that I neither betrayed my trust nor

my friends, nor would I for the universe. For my part I believe

the day of judgment is at hand, for I see a great many of the

symptoms of it."

His letters to the Duke of Queensberry were naturally

of a very different character. His greatest difficulty was

with the exiled Court of St. Germains, where he had to

give an account of his visit to Scotland. For this purpose

he prepared a memorial, which, according to Dr Hill

Burton, contained very flattering but vague statements of

his success in Scotland. " Wherever he had presented

himself the greatest enthusiasm was shown for the Royal

cause, but throughout the whole there was a most unsatis-

factory indefiniteness. Partisans came in multitudes, but

no individuals were identified. He anticipated the motions

of James Murray, whom the Jacobites had sent as a spy

over his actions, by charging that gentleman with betraying

him to the Duke of Queensberry ; and thus he very in-

geniously introduced the subject of those conferences with

the Duke which of course could not have been concealed,

stating with a tone of great magnanimity that his Grace had

made him the most advantageous offers if he would desert

the Jacobite interest, but that he had resisted all temptation



282 HISTORY OF THE FRASERS.

and stood fast by his integrity. Of course, instead of stating

that he was sent over by Queensberry to obtain further

secret information about the projects of the exiled Court,

he represented himself as accredited from the Highland

clans, because he was the only man that the Highlanders

would trust to make conditions for them." When he came
to the history of obtaining the pass from Queensberry, he

was obliged to admit that to enable him to return to

France he had thrown out certain hopes ; he said he only

did so that he might nominally fulfil his mission and return

to Britain to be restored to his estates. This explanation,

as shall presently appear, was not satisfactory. At the time

that he conducted the greater part of his protean corre-

spondence he was in extreme danger, subject to provoking

detentions, which made him furious with impatience, and

compelled him to undertake perilous enterprises. He
remained fourteen days at Rotterdam endeavouring to

procure a passport. There, in the midst of his extensive

diplomatic correspondence, he wrote one manifesto which

had amidst its policy at least some touches of sincerity.

It was addressed, "To the Honourable—all the gentlemen

of the name of Fraser of the Lord Lovat's family." He
exhorts them to unity and says

—

" I hope you will reflect on your foolish divisions and abhor them
;

and as I never did revenge myself against any particular persons that

appeared against me, because I hated mortally to dip my hands in

my own blood, as I do heartily and sincerely forgive all, and every one

of them, by this, since I believe they did not see their error, till they

saw their next door neighbours like to take their bread from them.

And as I do pass by and forgive all bygone injuries, as I hope they

will join and concur with me to keep out our enemies, and to preserve

my family and their own name and kindred ; which, if they do not,

when I come to my country, I declare solemnly, that I will treat them

as my worst enemies, and cut them off as monstrous members,

who are like to destroy the body whence they have their birth ; and I

can assure you I shall have power to do it, and be fit sides with all my
enemies, if I live a few months."

He did not then know what was preparing for him on his

return to Paris. When he was able to leave Rotterdam, he

went to the Hague, where he had not been many hours ere
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he felt symptoms of his presence, as a suspicious person,

being known. He took the conveyance, which the tourist

may still employ, the Tracshwit, and went to Delft, whence

he proceeded to Bois le Due, where he was near the Dutch

frontiers, and in a good position to take advantage of any

opportunity for escape. Here he found several of his

countrymen in the garrison ; and as they were curious to

see and converse with so eminent a character, a report very

naturally arose that he had gone there to attempt to seduce

them to the French interest. He tells us that he found

many of his own clan there, and that he met Major-General

Ferguson, a brother of the notorious plotter, to whom he

presented a letter from that worthy, desiring the Major-

General to communicate with Lovat regarding the hopes

and prospects of the Jacobites. All these matters of course

made his journey the more perilous. He was passing

through " the classic land of fortified defence," where every

village was a fortress, during one of the hottest European

wars, when spies were swarming, and stray people of

suspicious appearance were hung from the nearest tree or

bartizan ere time could be afforded for inquiring into their

history. He adopted a disguise which none but an able man
could support—that of an officer in the service of Holland,

the country through which he had to travel, changing it

as occasion required for the costume of a peasant. When he

found his position at Bois le Due becoming unpleasant,

he made arrangements for fleeing to Antwerp, a distance of

fifty miles, at one dash. In passing Breda, he and his

companions took a circuit through the heaths. On approach-

ing a fortified bridge over the Merk, the precaution was

adopted of hiring a peasant to reconnoitre ; a favourable

moment being found when the vigilance of those on guard

was relaxed, Lovat and his little knot of followers, including

his brother John and his cousin Major Fraser, galloped

across. When he reached Antwerp, exhausted with toil

and excitement, he found it in possession of Marshal

Villeroi, who of course could send him in safety to Paris.

When he arrived there he found that he was exposed, the
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incompatible elements which he had endeavoured to unite

in his intrigues having created a general explosion. Secre-

tary Middleton wrote to De Torcy on the 16th of January,

and after some reference to the other evidence against

Lovat, made the following criticism on his memorial to

the ex-Queen described above :

—

" He told me that Queensberry, Argyll, and Leven, were the

greatest enemies of the King, my master, in that country, yet he

communicated to them the whole of his commission, which is a

crime that deserves hanging in every country. He rejects extra-

ordinary offers ; obtains a pass to go to London and from thence

the same Queensberry obtains another pass for him, under a bor-

rowed name, to secure his own return to France. This is very true,

for he has produced them. It is therefore clear as daylight that these

noblemen wanted to employ him here as a spy, and for signing

letters and commissions, which might serve as proofs against men of

honour in that country. You will be pleased to observe, Sir, that in

his own report he makes every one ask commissions, in order that

he might obtain now what was refused to him last year. He accuses

none but James Murray, who is a man of such known honour and

probity, that my Lord Arran called for him as a man in whom he

could place the greatest confidence ; but foreseeing that Mr Murray's

account would not be favourable to him, he chose to be beforehand

with him. If the King thinks proper to apprehend him, it should be

done without noise. His name should not be mentioned any more,

and at the same time all his papers should be seized. He has a

companion called Fraser, who has attended him everywhere. I know
nothing more about him."

When Simon discovered how he stood with the Court of

St. Germains, he wrote several letters to Middleton and

others, enlarging with his usual eloquence on his personal

services and sacrifices, and those which his family had

made for unknown periods of years ; concluding one of

them in the following strain :

—

" I am daily informed that the Queen has but a scurvy opinion of

me, and that I rather did her Majesty bad than good service by

my journey. My Lord, I find by that my enemies have greater

power with the Queen than I can have, and to please them and ease

her Majesty, I am resolved to meddle no more with any affairs till

the King is of age. This is leaving the field with a fair victory to my
enemies. But I am sure the King's service will suffer by it, and
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perhaps my enemies will not reap the advantage they hope and

expect by this victory which they have so long wrought for."*

The time now arrived when he was to experience some

of the peculiar attentions from the French Court which

there is no doubt he had been instrumental in securing for

others from the same quarter. In consequence of the

strong influence brought to bear upon King- Louis per-

sonally by the Queen Mother at St. Germains, Simon was

first banished from Paris to Bourges, and after a short stay

there under surveillance, arrested in the most undignified

manner, and sent to the Castle of Angouleme, where he

was cast into a horrid dungeon and kept for nearly five

weeks, but subsequently allowed the use of the grounds

within the castle walls. And he was practically a prisoner

from this date until he escaped from France with and at

the instigation of Major James Fraser of Castle Leathers

in 1714. Endless statements pro and con have been made

on this point, but he has himself placed the question

beyond dispute.

On the advice of his friend, Cardinal Gualterio, he wrote

a letter to the Queen Dowager at St. Germains complaining

bitterly of the manner in which his proposals for the in-

vasion of Scotland had been received and the reflection cast

upon the sincerity of his conduct by the Queen and the

principal members of her Court. It was in reality this

letter which so incensed her Majesty against him that she

had never forgiven him, notwithstanding "the impenitence"

he had "performed of thirty-two days in a dark and un-

wholesome dungeon, of three years' imprisonment in the

Castle of Angouleme, and of seven years' imprisonment in

the city of Saumur." This practically accounts for the

whole period of his absence from Scotland, which he left

in the end of 1703, until he arrived at Dover from France

in an open sailing boat on the 14th of November, 1714.

He declared in his letter to the Queen, that he was greatly

mortified that he had so often exposed his life and sacrificed

his property in bringing to perfection a project which her

* Lives ofSimon Lord Lovat and Duncan Forbes of Culloden, pp. 97-101,
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Majesty, in contradiction to the most formal and positive

promises, had overturned at one blow, and which would

in all human appearance have seated King- James upon the

throne of his ancestors. He told her that every loyal sub-

ject in the Scottish nation would be as much afflicted at the

unfortunate event as he was, and insisted that, "while her

Majesty implicitly followed the advice of the people who
were at the head of the English Parliament Jesus Christ

would come in the clouds before the King, her son, would

be restored." And he concluded this plain-speaking epistle

by saying that for his part he would never more draw his

sword in the Royal cause so long-

as the Regency was in

her Majesty's hands, but that when her son should be

of sufficient age to take charge of his affairs, he would

expose himself at the head of his whole clan, to the last

drop of his blood, in the King's cause. "The Queen placed

this letter immediately into the hands of Lord Middleton,

who declared that it was full of high treason and the most

glaring disobedience, and that if Lord Lovat had written

such a letter to a Queen reigning in Scotland his head

must have paid the forfeit of his insolence. Irritated by

these representations, the Queen took the letter in high

resentment, waited upon the King of France, entreating

him, for his rebellion, to commit Lord Lovat to the Bastile,

and adding that she would otherwise be obliged entirely to

withdraw herself from the world, that she might no longer

be exposed to such insults on the part of her subjects."

According to Simon's own account, the French King tried

to prevail upon her Majesty to pardon him for this "failure

of respect, which originated only in the thoughtlessness of

youth, and the fervency of his zeal for the King, her son."

But she was inexorable. She returned repeatedly to the

charge, and ultimately succeeded in her object. Lovat was

ordered to leave Paris for Bourges, the King allowing him

a hundred crowns, the ordinary pension of a Major-General

—equal to «£i2 10s—per month for his sustenance, and a

thousand crowns, or .£125, in one sum, to pay the expenses

of his journey. Louis, after Simon's arrival, sent him a
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personal gift of 400 crowns, £50, which so gratified him

that on the occasion of the birth of the first Duke of

Bretagne, "he resolved to spend four or five hundred

pistoles (about ^400) of ready money to celebrate this

illustrious birth, and to display his attachment to France

in the most magnificent manner. As wine was very cheap

in the province of Berry, Lord Lovat bought several tuns,

which he caused to be formed into fountains that ran along

the whole evening for all the populace of Bourges." The

Dowager Queen still continued to plot against him, and

"after having experienced multiplied refusals, she at last

obtained of the most Christian King an order for Lord

Lovat to be arrested and sent prisoner to one of the Royal

castles." He says that he was entirely ignorant of what

was going on behind his back, until one day when he was

at dinner, on the 4th of August, 1704, at the house of M.

le Roy, into whose keeping he was given by the Intendant

or Governor of Bourges, a grand prevot, accompanied by

his lieutenant and twenty-four archers, stole into the draw-

ing-room and seized Lord Lovat as if he had been an

assassin, demanding from him his sword in the King's name.

Lord Lovat delivered it with great tranquility, saying that

he had never designed to draw it but in the cause of his

King, or for the interests of France, as he had always

hitherto done. They paid no attention to what he said.

They took him by the arms and legs, and dragged him

like a dog from the saloon in which he had dined to his

apartment above stairs. Here the prevot pillaged him in

the most inhuman manner of his papers, of his purse, his

watches, his jewels, and in a word of every thing he had.

It was only by the greatest menaces on the part of M. le

Roy, a man of ability and merit, and the most incorruptible,

that this brute of a prevot was induced to return to Lord

Lovat—just what the rascal pleased. This ruffian, not con-

tent with having maltreated Lord Lovat in his own apart-

ment, conducted him on foot at high noon through the

middle of the town on a market day, hemmed in with files

of his archers, and a whole crowd of the populace as if
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he had been conducting him to the gallows. In this

manner he was obliged to submit to all the raillery of an

insolent and uncivilised mob, while every respectable

inhabitant of the city, in which he was honoured and

esteemed, wept over his misfortune and the ignominy of

his disgrace. The villain of a prevot was so obliging as to

attend Lord Lovat with his archers all the way to An-
gouleme. He had the luck to produce a cursed little

chaise, where Lord Lovat was in a manner buried alive

under the unwielding bulk of this enormous porpoise.

Such a situation, united with the extreme heat of the

season, had so dreadful an effect that his Lordship was ap-

prehensive of dying upon his route. The illness, however,

of this unfortunate nobleman, and the various unpleasant

circumstances with which he was overwhelmed, were not

able in the smallest degree to mollify the barbarous manners

of this rude officer, who probably imagined that a British

Lord was a kind of monster in the shape of a man. Lord

Lovat was not able precisely to determine whether it was

through the generous recommendation of the humane

prevot, or rather through the malice of Lord Middleton

and his enemies at the Court of St. Germains, that upon

his arrival at the Castle of Angouleme he was thrust into

a horrible dungeon, which had been from time immemorial

the unviolated habitation of coiners and murderers. It was

a gentleman of this last class whom the consideration of

Lord Lovat's friends obliged to give way to him in the

present instance. His page, who was a young gentleman

of the Fraser clan, and the only person permitted to witness

his sufferings, conceived so extreme a horror at this dun-

geon as to fall ill the first night, and to be for six months

given over by the physicians. Lord Lovat remained in

this apartment, shut up for thirty-two days in perfect dark-

ness, where he every moment expected death and prepared

to meet it with becoming fortitude. As an express pro-

hibition had been given to communicate anything to him

in writing, or even to utter a word in his presence ; and

a.s he was unable to conceive the reason of this barbarous
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treatment, conscious of his entire innocence of all that his

adversaries had laid to his charge ; all that the enemies of

France had imputed as most horrible to the French

Government was continually passing- through his mind.

He listened with eagerness and anxiety to every noise,

and, when his door creaked upon it hinges, he believed

that it was the executioner come to put an end to his

unfortunate days. Since, however, Lord Lovat perceived

that the last punishment continued to be delayed, he

thought proper to address himself to a grim jailoress, who
came every day to throw him something to eat, in the

same silent and cautious manner in which you would feed

a mad dog. Pie entreated her to have the goodness to

give him paper, pen, and ink, in order to write a letter

to the Minister. She replied that it was more than her

life was worth to comply with his request. Lord Lovat

answered that he would give her the letter open, that she

might see he wrote nothing that could have any sinister

consequence to her, or could give offence to the Court.

He added, that to reward her civility, he would put his

purse in her hands that she might take whatever she

thought proper. The clink of the louis d'or subdued the

inexorable virtue of the fair jailoress. She furnished Lord

Lovat with the materials he wanted, and he immediately

wrote to Cardinal Gualterio, the Marquis de Torcy, and

the Marchioness de la Frezeliere. About twelve days after

this transaction M. de Bores, Lieutenant of the town and

Castle of Angouleme, and who has ever since treated Lord

Lovat as his son, came himself to liberate him from the

dungeon. He conjured him to believe that he was in the

utmost degree afflicted that a man of his rank had been

thrust into that horrible place ; it was the fault of a stupid

wretch of a Captain, who commanded at that time in the

Castle, while he was at his country house, where he usually

spent a good part of his time. He added, that he had

orders from the Marquis de Torcy to grant him the entire

liberty of the Castle, at the same time taking his parole

of honour in writing that he would not leave France without

19
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the consent of the King, which engagement he was to send

to the Marquis. It was this interview that first convinced

Lord Lovat that the Court of France had no share in pro-

ducing the inhuman treatment he had received.* He was

confined in the Castle of Angouleme for three years, during

the last two months of which he was allowed to have the

companionship of his brother John.

On the 2nd of August, 1707, he received the commands
of the French King to remove to the town of Saumur till

further orders, where his brother John was permitted to

accompany him, and where he was kept prisoner on parole

for the next seven years. Here he arrived, according to

his own account, in the month of October following, having

spent some time on the way at the residence of his friend,

the Marquis de Frezeliere, about nine leagues from Saumur,

where, during his imprisonment, he is said to have occupied

"a genteel house, kept a handsome equipage, and saw and

was seen by the best company in that polite and populous

neighbourhood," and it will be found later on that he had

a liberal supply of money, good furniture, and a consider-

able quantity of plate. In this situation we shall for the

present leave him until the arrival of Major James Fraser

of Castle Leathers at Saumur early in July, 1714, while

we give an account of the important events which had

been going on in Scotland during Simon's absence abroad.

It has been already shown how the family of Atholl were

defeated in their attempts to marry the Lovat heiress,

Amelia Fraser, eldest daughter of Hugh, eleventh Lord,

to the son and heir of Lord Saltoun. Having failed

in this project they resolved upon marrying her to

Alexander, son of Sir Roderick Mackenzie, son of

Sir John Mackenzie of Tarbat, and brother of George,

first Earl of Cromarty. Sir Roderick was also one of

the Judges of the Court of Session, a fact which was

expected to prove advantageous in securing the Fraser

family estates and titles to his son and the heiress, although

there never was any doubt that the barony of Lovat was

* Memoirs ofhis Life written by himself, pp. 269-303.
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settled on the male heir of Hugh, the fifth Lord, in whose

favour all the family estates were created into one free

barony by Royal Charter, dated at Linlithgow, on the 26th

of March, 1539. But Simon was in exile, and his own

life, as well as his life-rent of the estate, had been forfeited.

This, however, would not affect any other member of the

family whose blood was not attainted. To get over this

difficulty the old judge hit upon a clever stratagem. He
discovered that in 1669 a creditor had obtained an apprising

or execution against the Lovat estates for £1000 Scots.

His Lordship purchased the right to this claim, and he on

that title, and his daughter-in-law as heiress, joined in a

process of reduction, improbation, and declarator, against

Simon in his absence, and there being no defence, on the

2nd of December, 1702, he obtained a decree of the Court

of Session in his own favour of the estates, and in her

favour for the ancient honours and title of the family. On
the 9th of March, 1703, Prestonhall adjudged the barony

of Lovat and was thus in nominal possession of the family

estates of the Frasers. He thereupon resigned them to the

Crown and had them immediately re-conveyed to himself.

Having thus, as he thought, fully established his legal rights

to the extensive heritage of this ancient family he executed

an entail of the whole estate upon his son, who now assumed

the title of Fraserdale, and his wife, Amelia Fraser, whom
he styles in the deed, Lady Lovat, and at the same time

designates her eldest son, Hugh, Master of Lovat. But

the wily old judge over-reached himself. His intention

seems to have been, but only in the meantime, to please

the Frasers by describing his son Alexander, of Fraserdale,

and providing that he and his successors should take the

name and bear the arms of Fraser, as he arranged in the

first deed of entail, for he reserves a power in it of making

such alterations hereafter as he might deem fit. He now
appears shortsightedly to have resolved upon dropping the

name of Fraser altogether and placing his own name of

Mackenzie permanently in its place. We are not able to

give the original deed of entail at length, but its leading
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provisions are reproduced in the second, which was executed

on the 23rd of February, 1706, and is in the following

terms :

—

" Be it known to all men, by these presents, me, Sir Roderick

Mackenzie of Prestonhall, one of the Senators of the College of

Justice, forasmuch I did make a disposition of tailzie of the lands,

lordships, and others, of the estate of Lovat, and other rights thereto

belonging, of date the ninth day of February, one thousand seven

hundred and six years, registered in the register of tailzies, at Edin-

burgh, the 27th day of February, the said year, to and in favour of

Alexander Mackenzie, my son, and Hugh, Master of Lovat, son of

the said Alexander Mackenzie, in fee and life-rent, with reservations,

conditions, and limitations, at length therein contained, and parti-

cularly with a reservation to myself at any time in my life, to alter

the same, to sell, annailzie, or dispone upon the said lands and

rights, in whole or in part, at my pleasure : which disposition does

contain several limitations and irritancies, and particularly that the

said Hugh, Master of Lovat, my grandchild, and his heirs of tailzie,

should bear the sirname and arms of Fraser, and coat of arms therein

mentioned, in a quartered shield, carrying three freses or strawberry

leaves in the first quarter, for the name of Fraser, and one hart-head

in the second quarter, for the name of Mackenzie, three legs in the

head quarter, for the name of Macleod of Lews, and three crowns in

the fourth quarter, for the name of Bisset ; and that under the penalty

of losing their right of succession to the lands and rights disponed, in

case they, or any of the said heirs of tailzie, should not bear the said

sirname of Fraser, or alter the said arms : yet, nevertheless, by virtue

of the power reserved to me, by my said disposition and tailzie, for

certain motives and good considerations moving me, wit ye me, by

these presents, to grant full power and warrant to the said Hugh
Master of Lovat himself, or to any of his heirs of tailzie, if they shall

think fit, in place of the sirname of Fraser, to carry the sirname of

Mackenzie, and to alter the said coat of arms, by carrying the deer's

head in the first quarter, and the three freses, or strawberry leaves,

only in the second quarter, and that without any hazard, danger, or

prejudice of incurring the irritancies contained in the foresaid disposi-

tion of tailzie, which are hereby taken off, in so far as concerns the

alteration of the name and arms above specified, without prejudice of

the provisions of tailzie, and other clauses whatsoever contained in

the foresaid disposition and the clauses irritant adjected to them
;

which are hereby no wise to be prejudged, but expressly ratified and

approved. With provision and condition also, that the said sirname

and arms being once altered, and recorded so in the books of

Heraldry, or in the Lord Lyon's Office, that it shall not be in the
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power of the said heir of tailzie, who alters the same, or assumes the

sirname of Mackenzie, ever thereafter to return to the sirname of

Fraser and their former bearing, under the hazard of the irritancies

and penalty contained in the foresaid disposition of tailzie, which,

brevitatis causa, are here holden as repeated. And, for the more

security, I am content, and consent that these presents be inserted

and registered in the books of Council and Session, or in the Lord

Lyon's Register, as shall be judged most convenient : and constitute

my procurators for that effect. In witness

whereof, I have written and subscribed these presents at Edinburgh,

the 23rd day of February, 1706 years, before these witnesses, Kenneth

Mackenzie and Donald Merchison, my servants.

(Signed) "Rod. Mackenzie."

In 1709, after the break up of the conference held that

year at the Hague, the Jacobites believed the time had

arrived for an invasion of Great Britain, and Simon, who,

it may be taken for granted, was not consulted by them,

wrote an oracular letter to Lord Melville, who, as the Earl

of Leven, was instrumental in introducing him to the Duke
of Queensberry in 1702, and laid the foundation of the

" Scottish Plot," which created so great a sensation at that

time and subsequently. Lovat was not then aware that

Melville, who at the date of the plot was a strong Hano-

verian, had in the meantime seen cause to change sides

and become an enthusiastic Jacobite. Simon, after a few

apparently meaningless expressions in this letter, said that

" if the war continues, you will most surely have the visit

you missed last year. If that happens, be fully persuaded

that you will see me soon after, to live and die with you,

at the head of some brave fellows that will follow me in

spite of all mankind." The letter is dated the 20th of

August, 1709, but Melville seems to have kept it for some

time in his possession, and then to have sent it to Lord

Middleton at the Court of St. Germains, a piece of treachery

which almost justifies Simon in describing him as "one of

the vilest hyprocrites upon the face of the earth, for be-

traying in so base a manner the most sacred confidence."

On the 8th of March, 171 1, Middleton, in confirmation of

his own suspicions, forwarded the letter to the Marquis de

Torcy, Lovat's great friend at the French Court, saying

—
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" Here, sir, is a spy of consequence unmasked, and we
know very well the means of preventing this corre-

spondence in the future." This fatal letter will turn up

later on at a most critical stage in the history of our

hero, for it was carefully kept in the possession of exiled

Royalty at St. Germains.

The proceedings of Prestonhall were of course known

among the clan and strongly resented by the great majority

of them, and early in 17 14 meetings were held by several

of the leaders, who had heard a rumour that Simon was

still alive, though they had long thought he " had rotted

in the Bastile," with the object of discovering whether the

rumour was true or not. Major James Fraser, a younger

brother of Culduthel, and Alexander Fraser of Phopachy,

with this view called together four other heads of families

in whom they had the utmost confidence, and swore them

to fidelity and absolute secrecy. These were Alexander

Fraser of Culduthel, Hugh Fraser of Foyers, Hugh Fraser

of Struy, and Major Fraser of Castle Fraser. They re-

solved that one of the six should go abroad to find out if

their chief was alive, being persuaded that upon King

George's accession, which was daily expected, Queen Anne
being at the time very ill, "there would arise some dis-

turbance in Britain, and if Simon could be stolen out of

France, he might come to fish in drumly waters." In

March, the Major and Phopachy, taking John, Simon's

brother, along with them as far as Castle Fraser, went

privately to Sir Peter Fraser of Durris in Aberdeenshire,

and took him into their confidence. This gentleman was

on very intimate terms with George I., having previously

resided for three years at his Court in Hanover. He
questioned them and being assured that the whole of the

Clan Fraser in Inverness-shire were Protestants, and in

favour of the Hanoverian succession, he undertook to write

to King George informing him of all this, and he kept

his promise.

Major Fraser and Phopachy thereupon returned to their

friends, and the next and most important question was
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who of the six should go in search of their chief. In April

the matter was deliberately voted upon, " when the vote fell

upon the poor Major, who had eleven small children, and

he not being bred a scholar, and having no languages but

his mother's tongues, the English and Irish (Gaelic), thought

it a hardship to leave his wife and children to go to a foreign

country, where he understood none of their language.

However, he resolved to venture at all hazards, but the

great question was to prepossess her (his wife) of the story

and to swear (her) to secrecy." He then called upon Briga-

dier Mackintosh of Borlum, who was a strong Jacobite, and,

pretending to be in that interest himself, the Major told

him his story in so far as he thought it might "be palatable

to him," and asked that gentleman to give him credentials

to St. Germains, for "that he might expect, if there was

anything ado, that the King, his master, might be sure of

the whole Clan Fraser. Whereupon the Brigadier jumped

to the bait, and gave his cousin, Major Fraser, such creden-

tials as was proper for that occasion, but withal told him

that there was a letter which he saw with the King (as he

called him) which he was afraid would stand the Major

a pull to get over." The latter begged of the Brigadier

to let him know what it contained, but he refused to do

so at the time, fearing that it might so far discourage his

visitor as to induce him to give up his journey. They,

however, parted good friends, Mackintosh wishing the

Major every success in his plucky enterprise.

On the 1st of May, 17 14, Major Fraser started from his

house on this famous journey, at 4 o'clock in the morning,

"with his haversack on his back, and left his wife and

children sprawling on the ground in tears." He proceeded

on his way until he reached Newcastle, and from there he

went to Shields, and from thence took passage in a collier

to London, where he arrived safely in due course. Here

he obtained an interview with the Earl of Islay, brother

of the Duke of Argyll, Sir James Campbell of Ardkinglass,

and John Forbes of Culloden. Having explained his

object to these gentlemen, he found that while Ardkinglass
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and Culloden "were very sanguine" and gave him "a good

bowl of punch that night before they parted, and wished

him good success," Lord Islay was by no means hearty

in the project. The Major having parted with his friends

in London, proceeded down the river to Gravesend, where

he found "a little smuggler of a vessel belonging to a

Frenchman," with whom he arranged a passage to Calais.

The captain and crew do not, however, seem to have been

very loyal in carrying out their agreement, for the passenger

informs us that "not having time to bring any provisions

aboard, only a little bread and cheese, he thought of no drink;

the winds being contrary, was sore put to it by the rascals.

The Major not having their language, was like to fall foul

of them ; and in the end, their cruelty came to such a

height that they would not give him drink, the bread and

cheese drying him up, he was necessitated to draw his

sword, and was resolved to kill the three (being no more

aboard) and to run the vessel to land ; which when they

saw that he turned so desperate gave him some small beer.

But he was thereafter necessitated to watch them for three

nights for fear they had attempted to kill him. But when

they came in sight of Calais, the rascals demanded his

freight. He then stood to his guard, and resolved he

would give them none until they would land him, that

he might have justice of them for using him so ill as not

to give him drink and a bed to lay in, which was their

paction at Gravesend." " When we arrived at the pier

at Calais," he continues, " the Major stepping out, and a

great many upon the shore, he called and asked if there

was any there that understood his language. An Irish

gentleman there made answer that he understood and spoke

that language. The Major entreated of the gentleman that

he might accept a bottle of wine from him. The gentleman

said he was ready to give or take one. The Major en-

treated that he might have justice of those little Frenchmen,

who used him so ill in his passage ; whereupon the gentle-

man called for a Magistrate and examined both parties.

The skipper was found guilty of oppression and fined in
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a gallon of wine, and not a farthing to be paid for his

passage, which made us all very hearty." The Major

started next morning for Paris. On his way he called at

a small roadside country cottage, and the day being ex-

cessively hot and he very dry he asked the woman of the

house for a drink of milk and water, but she could not

understand him. He then "curried" down, as he calls it,

and imitated the process of milking a cow, with the result

that the hostess brought him a glass of milk. He was

challenged further on at a garrison town, but succeeded

in making the Governor believe that he was on his way

to visit two brothers in Germany, whereupon that official

became very civil and gave him "two bumpers of wine."

On his arrival in Paris he met Hugh, son of Sir Archibald

Campbell of Calder, who was there at the time completing

his education, and having found a communication awaiting

him from Lord Simon, he proceeded after three days'

sojourn in the French Capital to the City of Orleans, and

from thence to Saumur, where he found his Lordship, who

"could not express himself for joy that he had seen in that

part of the world the only man that he had loved best of

his name." So writes the Major, while Simon himself says,

"that he was most agreeably surprised to see one of the

principal gentlemen of his clan, with a Fraser as his atten-

dant, arrive at Saumur, about the beginning of July, 17 14.

To have with him a man of courage and understanding,

who had been constantly with the Frasers from the be-

ginning of their troubles, and who could give him an exact

and particular account of every thing that respected them

was a circumstance as happy as it had been totally unfore-

seen by him." The last sentence, however, is not quite

accurate, for the Major has himself told us that he found

a communication from Simon awaiting him on his arrival

in Paris.

His Lordship then describes the Major as the "son of

Malcolm Fraser of Culduthel, the head of a very consider-

able branch of the house of Lovat, which was composed

of some of the bravest gentlemen in the world and had
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uniformly distinguished itself during the whole period of

their present adversity by a zeal for the person and interest

of Lord Lovat. In this cause they had lost their property

and were continually in danger of their lives." Major

Fraser carried a letter from Simon's brother John and the

principal gentlemen of the clan, in which they expressed

their serious concern at his continued absence, and gave

strong reasons why he should at once return home and

join himself to the Duke of Argyll in consideration of the

ancient friendship between their families, and for other

cogent reasons.*

The Major strongly urged upon Simon to return to his

clan, but he replied that this was impossible without permis-

sion from the Court of St. Germains, and he knew that

in consequence of the adverse influence of the Dukes of

Atholl and Hamilton that could not be obtained. The
Major continued to press the matter for several days and

then asked permission to proceed personally to Bar-le-duc,

where the Pretender then resided, and ask him why he

insisted on keeping his chief in banishment to satisfy his

enemies, and who, he said, were never true or faithful to the

Prince himself or to his predecessors. His Lordship at first

demurred but finally yielded to the pressing solicitations

of his friend, and wrote eighteen letters for him, six of which

were for the Court of France, eight for the Court of St.

Germains, and four for friends at Bar-le-duc. Fraser first

visited Paris, where he was informed that if the exiled

Court gave the necessary permision for Lovat to return to

Scotland the French Court would raise no objections.

Having so far succeeded he set out after ten days in

the French capital for St. Germains, where he arrived on

a Sunday morning, and sent in his letter of introduction

to the Duke of Perth, who immediately gave him a private

audience. He produced the letter given him for his Grace

by Brigadier Mackintosh of Borlum before he left Scotland.

But the Duke advised him not to deliver any communications

he might have for Lord Middleton, who he said was "a

* Memoirs of his Life written by himself, pp. 417*419.
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mortal and declared enemy" of Lovat. An arrangement was

made for another interview next morning", when the Duke
produced the letter which had been referred to by Brigadier

Mackintosh as being the only barrier in his way in securing

terms for Lord Lovat. This letter, says the Major, was sent

by Lord Simon with " Mr John, his brother, when he went

from France in the year 1713. The letter was directed to

the Earl of Leven, cousin of Lord Simon, intreating him to

take care of his poor brother, and that he sent him home in

case there was any stir in Scotland that he would head the

Frasers on whatever side the Duke of Argyll was on." Lord

Leven, who was at the date of the letter a strong supporter

of Argyll and the Government, had in the meantime gone

over to the Jacobites, and treacherously forwarded Lovat's

letter to the Pretender, who passed it on to the Duke of

Perth. This was a staggering blow to the redoubted Major,

but he determined to persevere notwithstanding, and at his

request his Grace gave him a letter of introduction to the

Queen Mother, who was then spending a short time at the

Convent of the Visitation de Ste Marie de Chaillot, a

favourite retreat of hers. The Duke gave him, in addition,

a letter to the young Pretender himself, another for Father

Innes, the Queen's Almoner, one to Sir Thomas Higgins,

then Secretary of State at St. Germains, and one for

Colonel Scott.

The Major then returned to Paris, and got Mr Hugh
Campbell, already mentioned, to show him the way to

Chaillot. Arriving there he had his letter of introduction

from the Duke of Perth delivered to the Queen, and was

shown into a low room, where he had to remain for an hour

before he received intimation that her Majesty would give

him an audience. The "old matron" who received him on

entry, now appeared "and opened up a graite that was on the

side of the room and told the Major in English that the

Queen was just a-coming to speak to him." He "never

having before had the honour to be so near a Queen stood

upon his good behaviour. Her Majesty having come to

this graite desired the Major to draw near and told him,
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by way of Jesuit, that she was glad to see a Scotsman, and

a man so resolute to travel the country of France without

the language, and that she was sure that nothing obliged

him to it but the honour of serving his King and his

country. With many such flourishing expressions," she

said that she would write to her son in favour of the Major.

" With a vast many protestations she reached out her hand

at the graite " and desired him to kiss it, and wished him

every success with her son, the Chevalier, then at Bar-le-duc,

when she was at the time "sending him an April errand
"

a distance of three hundred miles, "which she might have

spared him if she had not been a real Jesuit, and, according

to her belief, yet in Purgatory till she make atonement to

the poor Major for the sweat he lost " traversing this un-

necessary distance. She told him at parting that she

would at once write to her son a letter in his favour

which would reach him at Bar-le-duc three days before the

Major could get there, " when at the same time she sent off

that morning a courier extraordinary with news of Queen

Anne's death at London," which Fraser knew nothing of

until he returned that night to Paris, it being then Wednes-

day, Queen Anne having died on the previous Sunday.

It was known and freely spoken of in Paris that the Queen

Mother had sent for the Chevalier to come on at once to her.

" The Major smelt a rat, and found his mistake if what the

gentleman (of his acquaintance) said was true, and that

certainly the famous Italian Queen had acted the Jesuit."

He, however, proceeded on his journey, accompanied by his

friend Hugh Campbell a part of the way. But they had not

gone more than half a league when they met four horsemen

riding past and a post-chaise following them close behind.

His companion said to the Major that the riders were the

Chevalier's servants, and suggested that the august personage

himself was the occupant of the post-chaise, the blinds of

which had been drawn down so that no one could see who
was within. Here the two parted, and the Major, though

feeling almost certain that he had been imposed upon,

continued his journey until he reached the town of Challons-
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sur-Marne, where he met an Irish soldier, who told him

in English, that the Chevalier had left Bar-le-duc five days

before in response to an express message from the Queen

at Chaillot. It is no wonder "that the Major, then being at

a stand how to behave, began to pray heartily" as he ex-

presses it, " for the mother and the son." He then returned

to the small town of Meaux, where he met a Capucine who
confirmed all the Irish soldier had told him, adding that

while consulting his friends, and before he was there an

hour, he received a message from the French King, directing

him as he valued his friendship, to turn back from his

intended visit to Britain, and that he would very soon send

him across with a glorious army. He then went back

to Bar-le-duc. The Major, determined to "make his pull

good," also returned to the same place, where he arrived on

the following Saturday night, took up his quarters in an

Irishman's house, and was there told that the Chevalier

had again left that morning for Luneville, the seat of the

Duke of Lorraine. Here was another disappiontment, but

the Major was resolute, and on Monday he followed the

Prince, secured an interview with him, presented his creden-

tials, and was asked if he was the same man who had visited

the Queen at Chaillot. Having replied in the affirmative,

the Chevalier asked him where he had been since, and was

told "that he believed that the Queen sent him a-gouking,

whereupon he smiled, and asked the Major why he thought

so." Fraser repeated the story already known to the reader.

The Prince then asked several more questions, particularly

if he knew the French language, and how, without it, he

found his way through France and the woods of Germany
to that place ? Further questioned as to his want of

French, Fraser admitted that he only knew three words

—

" the first, to ask the road ; the second, to ask a bottle of

wine ; and the third, a bed at night." The Prince asked

him to repeat these words, to which he replied that he

was ashamed to do so before so many gentlemen as were

then present, but that he would be glad to comply with

his Majesty's request in his own room. But the Chevalier
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insisting, he "repeated them, when they all burst out

a-laughing. The Major stood grave and told his Majesty

that he was glad to come 12 or 13 hundred miles to make
his Majesty laugh so hearty." The Prince, Sir Thomas
Higgins, and the Major then went into the Royal bed

chamber, when his Highness opened and read the letter

which Fraser had brought him from Lord Simon, ob-

serving that it was "very promising," but for his part he

did not believe one word of it, considering that when he

(Simon) sent home his brother John he had written a letter

to Lord Leven to desire John to raise the Frasers in case

there should be any stir upon the Queen's death, and to

espouse that side, whichever it was, which the Duke of

Argyll took, "which letter he took out of his closet and

asked (the Major) if it was his chief's writing ? " This was

a staggering blow, but Fraser suggested that it might be

a forgery, to which the Chevalier replied that it had been

sent to him by the Earl of Leven himself, who advised him

to keep Lord Simon fast in prison. The Major still urged

the advisability of setting his chief at liberty and so secure

the support of a thousand good men to his interest. The

Prince replied that he would be chief of the Frasers him-

self, but as for Simon he should never get out of France

if he could stop him. The Major then said that his com-

mission from the clan " was to declare their minds, which

was, that if he would give them their natural chief they

would venture their lives and fortunes in his cause ; and

if not, they declared that if they should die to a man, they

would never draw a sword for him or any of his. Where-

upon with a smile, he (the Chevalier) took the Major by

the button of his clothes, and told him that he was sure

he would fight. The Major replied that his fighting was of

no great use to any man, and that he behoved to do as

the rest of his clan did." He was then asked to make out a

list of all the heads of families of the whole of the name of

Fraser, and told that he would get commissions for them

all, according to their respective stations, that a thousand

guineas would be remitted to Edinburgh, the Major to
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dispose of the money as he thought proper, and to place

the officers appointed on half-pay until his (the Prince's)

restoration. All this Fraser respectfully declined, saying

that he had no authority which would entitle him to accept

such commissions, and that he neither could, nor would

betray his trust to his friends and clansmen. The Prince,

finding he could make nothing of his visitor, requested him

not to go near his chief at Saumur on his way home, but

to proceed direct for Rouen, and that he would order his

representative there, Robert Arbuthnot, to land him in any

part of Britain he desired and that he would direct the same

gentleman to pay all his charges and his passage across.

The Major, however, insisted that he must see Lord Simon

before he returned home so that he might order some

supplies for his brother John, whom he (Fraser) left at

his own house when he came away from the Highlands.

The Prince reluctantly acquiesced, at the same time ex-

pressing the hope that nothing prejudicial to his interest

would occur. The Major told him there should not, for

he thought in the circumstances, "it was no sin to have

some mental reservation, any more than one of his (the

Chevalier's) persuasion thought there was in destroying

heretics." Having taken leave of the Prince, he received

a message that the Duke of Lorraine was anxious to see

a Highlander who had done so much in the interest of

his chief under such difficult conditions. He was called

back, and was kept ten days hunting and hawking. The
Duke, who at first thought a man who came such a long

distance on foot could not ride, presented him with a very

fine horse, with furniture and pistols to take away with him

when he left, and the Duchess made him a gift of a fine

Hungarian tobacco pipe worth three pistoles. But the

Major, while undoubtedly proud of such gifts from Royalty,

does not tell us all about them nor of the trick which these

Royalties tried to play upon him at the Duke of Lorraine's.

It is however related by Lord Simon in the Memoirs, where

he says that " the Duke of Lorraine, having understood that

there was a gentleman from the Highlands of Scotland
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arrived at his Court to speak to the King-

, begged his

Majesty to order this Highlander to dine with them the

next day. The King immediately sent to desire Sir

Thomas Higgins to stop Mr Fraser, who received the

order with all the respect and submission that was due

to it, and dined next day with his Majesty and the Duke
of Lorraine. The Duke being informed that the High-

lander had come from Scotland to Luneville on foot, and

that he preferred that mode of travelling to riding on horse-

back, presumed that he did not know how to mount a horse.

The Highlander offered, if his Royal Highness would per-

mit him, to mount the best blooded horse in his stable.

Said the Duke—'We are going a-hunting after dinner, and

I will provide you with a horse, in order to see an exhibition

of your skill.' The King, the Duke and Duchess of Lor-

raine, and the ladies of the Court now prepared for the

chase. They gave Mr Fraser the most vigorous horse in

the stable, and luckily Sir Thomas Higgins at the same

time provided him with a very heavy and substantial pair

of boots. Scarcely was he mounted when the beast, who
was perfectly savage and unbroken, made such furious

curvets that he expected every moment to be crushed to

death against the walls of the court. He had, however,

been brought up a very good horseman, and therefore kept

his seat in a firm manner in spite of the viciousness of his

horse, till the dogs had turned out the hare. Then Mr
Fraser put spurs to his horse, and perfectly outstripped the

harriers. He turned the hare three or four times, and

struck him with a large whip that he carried in his hand.

He leaped every hedge and ditch that came in his way, lost

his hat and wig, and excited infinite laughter in all the

Court, who expected every moment that he would break

his neck. The ladies, however, had not the pleasure of

seeing much of the hare, Mr Fraser having killed it in the

beginning of the chase. Upon their return the Duke of

Lorraine observed to the Highlander that, since he was so

good a horseman, it would be a pity that he should return

again into Scotland on foot j he would give him a horse that
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would enable him to perform his duty in a more agreeable

manner. The Highlander made a profound bow for his

Highness's generosity. Meanwhile, the Duchess of Lor-

raine, having observed that he smoked tobacco, had the

goodness to make him a present of a very fine Hungary

pipe. Next day he set out with his horse and pipe, highly

charmed with the gracious manners of the Duke and

Duchess of Lorraine, and the honours that had been paid

him at their Court, which is indeed an extremely polite

one. Mr Fraser rode in two days from Luneville to Paris,

and was two days more in travelling from Paris to Saumur,

which together amounted to one hundred and forty leagues

(420 miles). He was, however, almost disabled with the

expedition he had made."* Fraser did not call on his way

back to Saumur either at Paris or St. Germains, being

anxious to reach his chief and report his experiences to

him as quickly as possible.

On his arrival the Major told Lovat that so far from

being successful in securing his release he found that he

was for ever ruined with the exiled Court, so much so that

all his friends in Scotland could make no impression in his

favour. He related all his experiences, telling his chief

that the Chevalier intended to proceed to Scotland in the

following month of October and that if he did not escape

before that date, he must expect to be confined for life and

ruined, while his clan would be dispersed, lost, and annihil-

ated for ever. The effect upon Lovat was, as he himself

tells us, that he thought no longer of anything else but to

get out of France as quickly as possible, but having given

his parole in writing to the Marquis de Torcy that he would

not leave without the consent of the King, he thought it

proper to write to that statesman acquainting him with the

treatment meted out to him at St. Germains ; that he no

longer considered his life secure in France ; and requesting

that the Marquis should not regard his departure as a

breach of his parole, and that on that point he would take

his silence for a tacit permission to return home to the

* Memoirs of Simon Lord Lovat by himself, pp, 447-450.

20
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Highlands, which in fact, he says, he privately long wished

him to do.

The Major, however, describes an incident antecedent to

this which Simon himself says nothing about. He tells us

that on his arrival he was joyfully received by his chief, but

that this was soon changed in consequence of misrepresen-

tations by his Lordship's servant, whom the Major describes

as "a little valet of the name of Fraser which Lord Simon

wrote for two or three years before that." The Major

"trusted this rascal as much as if he was his son, and was

at a great deal of pains with him " during the journey.

Next morning the valet went to Lovat and told him that he

had seen a large packet of letters with the Major, and that

he had no doubt they were commissions from the Pre-

tender, from whom he certainly received that fine horse

to help him to make the best of his way to Scotland, and

that he also had a great weight of gold or silver in his

breeches pockets. In the morning the Major came into

the room to salute Lovat, " who looked like a tiger on a

chain, and asked him if it was to betray him he came to

that country?" The Major was staggered, and asked if

any of his acquaintances of the Church of Rome had been

telling his Lordship anything against him ? Simon answered,

in a great passion, that it was a better church than any he

pretended to belong to. " According to your faith be it

unto you, for I should not be one of that communion," re-

plied the other. Lovat continued in that frame of mind

till dinner, when the Major, "finding that he had at his

stomach something extraordinary, put on his clothes, made

ready his horse, and came in to ask his commands for Scot-

land. He, like a Jesuit, threw himself about the Major's

neck, and told him if he should leave him he never expected

to see his country," whereupon Fraser pleaded with him to

tell him the reason of his great passion in the morning.

He would not tell, but said
—

" My dear Major, you know

my failing, and am naturally passionate ; and that you are

the man on earth that has the best reason to sympathise

with me ; for by God, if I be to conquer a kingdom you
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shall share more of mine than my only brother John will

do." The Major yielded, and he was soon after called into

Lovat's private room to consider what was best to be done,

when it was arranged that they should both post and meet

King George I., who had not yet left for Britain, but was

still at the Hague, and there implore and secure his pardon.

Simon thereupon sent for and consulted his physician, who
advised him that it would not be safe for him to take three

days' posting in his present poor state of health, and that it

would be sure to kill him, which, says the Major, "he being

always very tender with his carcase, stopped that design."

The next step resolved upon was to send "the gentleman

valet," with Lovat's credentials to London to see what en-

couragement the Duke of Argyll, the Earl of Islay, John

Forbes of Culloden, Brigadier Grant, and others would give

Simon if he could succeed in effecting his escape from

France. During the "little rascal's" absence in London,

"the Major and his chief went off to the south-west of

France, and there lurked for seven weeks, until the valet re-

turned." He brought some encouragement from Brigadier

Grant and Culloden, but very little from Argyll and

Islay. From the latter two Lovat expected very different

news, and on learning their attitude he was in a state of

"great consternation how to behave." He and his friend

were at the time residing at Mons, a seat belonging to the

Marquis de Freselier, and the intelligence brought to him

had such an effect upon him that he fell dangerously ill and

was despaired of by the doctors. "Then he made his

latter will, and was master at that time in cash of ^2000,

which he left to the Major " to be disposed of as he pleased,

only to share it with his brother John.

A letter from his Lordship is given in the Chiefs of Grant

endorsed the 24th of September, 17 14, which appears to

be one of those addressed by him at that time to Brigadier

Grant. In it he says that "he sent the bearer expressly to

tell your friend the Duke (of Argyll) what I cannot commit

to paper," and he begs of him to take him very privately to

his Grace, and urges that no one but the three of them
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shall ever know that he sent him at all. The letter is

written as if from a cattledealer, the clan being referred to

as cattle, the other chiefs as cattle-buyers or merchants, and

the representatives of the respective Royal Houses as English

drovers. Predicting the looming Rising of the clans, Simon

says

—

" We will all be by the ears most assuredly, and every man will

have need of his friends, and they should put them in a condition

to act while it is time. You know, my dear sir, as well as I do how
conveniently my stock lies to drive to either side, or to hinder either

side to drive, and I dare say without vanity that my cattle is as good

as any of my neighbours', and that I lie in the centre of all the

markets of the North, so that if the Duke puts me in a condition to

trade he will find that, joined with you and the others engaged in the

Company he is concerned in, I will oversell the merchants who
are against him as much as any man can do. I own the matter is

difficult, for those merchants are very powerful, and they lie so very

conveniently for trade that it's almost impossible to hinder their send-

ing south their cattle and goods to what markets they please ; and

since they are assured of English drovers to receive them it will be

very hard to hinder them. If you live you will see what I tell come
to pass ; and if great precautions be not taken you and your neigh-

bours will suffer more than any. Depend upon this advertisement,

and I entreat you may use your influence with the Duke to clear my
accounts, that I may go and consult with you how to carry on our

trade. It is his Grace's interest as well as yours and mine and he

will most certainly find it so."

It will be observed that he was quite ready to "drive to

either side"; that is, to fight for whichever party made it

best worth his while.

In a letter dated at Saumur, the 29th of September, he

says that though all the appearances be in favour of King

George, there is a great storm hanging over Scotland, which

will break out sooner than people expect, and "since by all

probability the scene will begin in our end of the land, it's

the interest of all who are at the heads of clans and families

to look to their safety and to the good of the cause they

own. Since my heart leads me to live and die with the

Duke of Argyll and his family, whatever his fate may be,

it's very natural for his Grace to ask and obtain my full

remission that I may be put in a condition to serve his
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person and interest since my enemies have been for many
years the inveterate enemies of the family of Argyll, and

are known all over Scotland to be bitter enemies to the

family of Hanover. Since I wish, dear sir, with all my soul,

we may be on the same side, and that we may join our

forces easily against our common enemies, I beg of you to

speak seriously to his Grace and to the Earl of Islay to do

for me," and if they do not within a month, otherwise he

will, to all appearance, be lost to them and perhaps to his

own family and friends.

Lovat having in time recovered, the Major strongly urged

upon him to proceed to London at all risks and throw

himself on the mercy of George I., now settled on the

British throne, at the same time that Fraser "knew that his

whole intention was to serve the Pretender." He, however,

thought that if it were possible to get him out of France

and bring him into direct personal contact with his influen-

tial friends in London, they might succeed in bringing him

round to support the interests of the existing Government.

The Major argued with him that although it was quite true

that he then had the favour of the French King and a

handsome pension, if Louis died and the Regent, who
mortally hated him, came to succeed him, he might expect

the next day after the King's death to be thrown into the

Bastile. This reasoning had the desired effect. A day was

actually appointed for the journey, and both started that

night on their way from Mons to Saumur. It was arranged

that Lovat should dispose privately of all his effects to his

Father Confessor, who resided in the Jesuit College of

Saumur. As soon as they arrived there Lord Simon called

for that functionary, "and other Jesuits of that College, and

told him that his cousin, the Major, had been with the

Pretender pleading for his liberty, which he obtained, and

that he was to go off by the permission of the Pretender and

the King of France home for Scotland, in order to raise his

men for the Pretender, which these men (I mean the Jesuits)

prayed for his success and kissed him heartily, and also

kissed the Major, who was then as great a Jesuit as they."
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Lovat now disposed of his effects privately to his Father

Confessor, except four trunks which contained his clothes

and plate. These were mounted and carried on the back

of two coach mares which belonged to himself. Leaving

"about the 12th of October, 1714," he rode the horse

which the Major received from the Duke of Lorraine, while

that gentleman himself travelled on foot in charge of the

other two and the baggage which they carried. Simon took

the precaution before starting of giving "a caution to his

comrades the Jesuits to give out in the town of Saumur
that he was going to make a visit to the Governor of Rouen

(M. de Roujeault), who was his great friend and kept his

money." Travelling through Normandy they soon arrived

at Rouen and repaired immediately to his friend's house.

Here Lovat received a letter from his old confidant and

Father Confessor at Saumur, informing him that an order

had been issued by the Court of France, as soon as he

was missed, to all seaports to arrest him and his companion,

and that special instructions had been sent to Robert

Arbuthnot, the Scots factor at Rouen and a confidant of

the Court of St. Germains, to seize him and the Major

if they turned up at that place. They therefore found it

necessary to keep close indoors, while their friends tried

to find out any vessel that would land them on the British

side of the Channel. But there was none in port that would

sail for the next eight or ten days. To the master of one

of these, Captain Wheeler, they privately entrusted their

baggage, and then sold their horses, except the gift from

the Duke of Lorraine. " Having lurked there all the day,"

they went off at night, Lovat riding the Lorraine horse,

"the Major running at his chief's foot," until they came

to Dieppe. Here they were again disappointed in finding

a ship to take them across, and they started almost immedi-

ately through Piccardy for Bolougne, where Lord Simon

received information from a Jesuit who came that day from

Calais, that there was an order from the French Court there

also for his arrest. It now became painfully evident that

the sooner they cleared out of France the better, and they
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succeeded in hiring-

a fisherman's open boat for fifteen

pistoles, the skipper of which agreed to land them for that

sum at Dover. But their difficulties were not yet over.

The Major insisted upon taking his famous horse, the

precious gift of Royalty, on board. The crew would not

allow him, and Lovat took their part, but the Major was

inflexible. He would not put a foot in the boat without his

steed, and in the end he was permitted to have his way.

They then set sail at seven o'clock in the evening on the

14th of November, 17 14, but had not gone far when a storm

arose, so great that they all despaired of their lives, "and

the horse turned out so unruly at the sea coming in over

him that he was forced to be bound with ropes, in which

situation he lay" until they were landed at two o'clock the

following afternoon at Dover, where, to the Major's sur-

prise, they were met by Alexander Fraser, Lovat's London

solicitor, who told him that he expected them about that

time, in consequence, as Simon informs us in his Memoirs,

of a private request that he should do so, but of which his

companion had all along been kept entirely in the dark,

for reasons which will presently appear.*

They all remained in Dover that night, and next morning

Lovat hired a coach to convey them to Gravesend. When
ready to start, his Lordship invited the Major to travel along

with him inside the coach, and proposed that their new
companion, Alexander Fraser, should ride the Lorraine

horse. This the Major promptly declined, saying that he

never liked coaching and that he would not on that occa-

sion be confined inside with his Lordship for five pounds.

This fully confirmed the suspicion which had been raised

in Simon's mind by the baseless stories and suggestions of

his Lordship's valet, who made him harbour the idea that

the Major intended to betray him, and that as soon as they

landed in Britain he would desert him, taking along with

him the commissions and money which this "villain" had

made his master believe the Major received from the Pre-

tender. And it was in this expectation that Simon sent

* Major Fraser's Manuscript, Vol. I.
, pp. 203*220,
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word in advance to Alexander Fraser, his solicitor in Lon-

don, to meet them on their arrival at Dover. But the

Major was still kept in entire ignorance of the suspicions

entertained regarding him.

On his refusal to enter the coach, Lovat consulted his

newly-arrived friend, and they decided, knowing their com-

panion's temper and courage, to let him have his own way,

and simply watch his movements. Simon and Alexander

rode in the coach, the Major mounted on his Lorraine steed,

until they arrived the same night at Canterbury, by which

time their suspicion of him began to abate. His chief pro-

fessed to be "mightily fond of him that night," and swore

many an oath that he would share with him all that he

should ever acquire in this world, at the same time asking,

if he should be so fortunate as to gain the Lovat estates, what

share the Major might expect of them, and offering him

there and then, on stamped paper, the best davoch of land

on the property. In answer to this proposal the Major

recommended him "not to cut his fish until he caught it,"

adding " that he had no mercenary end in view, but a piece

of vanity if by his own small endeavours he would be re-

stored to his living at his place in the country." Next

morning they started for Gravesend, the Major leading the

way on his favourite charger, and by the time they arrived

at that place all suspicion regarding him had fully vanished

from Lovat's mind. After a short stay they sent away a

boy with the Major's horse to London, and took boat them-

selves later on to take up their quarters in the heart of the

city in lodgings secured for them by Alexander Fraser in the

house of a Jacobite haberdasher, before he started to meet

them at Dover. They arrived at these lodgings at eleven

o'clock at night, but the valet, who had been left in charge

of the luggage at Rouen, had not yet reached London.

Two days later, however, he duly turned up, when without

any previous warning, he was brought face to face with the

Major under somewhat startling conditions, of which that

gentleman himself gives the following account :
—

" Upon

his (the valet's) first appearance to them, my Lord called
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him and the Major. Then my Lord took one of his pistols

and gave it to the Major and desired him to shoot that

villain. The Major asked him for what ? He (Lovat) told

him the whole affair, and that ' it was by the villain's means

and information he made of you to me at Saumur, that

made me go twice to my closet for a pistol to shoot you
'

;

whereupon the Major replied in a great passion, 'Would he

(Lovat) believe a villain's false information of a poor gentle-

man who had left his wife and nine (? eleven) children and

exposed himself in an unknown country, without the

language ' ? The Major, telling my Lord this, threw the

pistol out of his hand to the wall, and said he had now
brought him to British ground to do for himself; that he

did not think it safe to serve such a credulous man, who
would believe a ivife with a blue sleeve of his best friends."

He then proposed to take leave of them, but Lovat, who
was then "afraid of his shadow, his conscience not being

right" on account of his having entertained suspicions of

the Major which he had now discovered to be utterly

groundless and undeserved, took him in his arms and told

him that as he brought him from exile and knew that the

laws of Britain were against him, and that as he could not

entrust his life to anyone but him, he would not part with

him, and if he did he would go back to the country he came

from and go into a cloister, where he would end his days.

This made the Major relent, who had nothing in view but

to establish his chief at the head of his clan. He encour-

aged him not to be afraid, and begged of him not again to

believe any stories of his best friends, " which was all useless

doctrine to him, as you shall know hereafter," said the

Major.

Lord Simon supplies an account of his arrival in London

and his subsequent experiences there, which may be given

almost in his own words, following it up by Major Fraser's

much more detailed and accurate narrative of the same

events. His Lordship carefully avoids any reference to his

suspicions of Fraser, brought about by the misrepresenta-

tions of Simon's valet and the incidents which followed
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thereon, already known to the reader, but he informs us

that, immediately upon his own arrival in London, he de-

spatched Major James, and Alexander Fraser, his London
solicitor, to the Earl of Islay and Brigadier-General Grant.

Brigadier Grant, he says, was delighted at Lord Lovat's

arrival in good health, and hastened immediately to wait

upon him, and to assure him of every good office in his

power. But the Earl of Islay was very far from being

equally pleased with the intelligence. " It gave him much
affliction and regret to see this nobleman once more in Eng-

land without being yet in safety, even in respect to his life.

He expressed the sincerest regret for his having quitted a

regular pension in France, at a time that he had nothing

to depend on in Britain." He, however, promised to speak

in his behalf that very evening to the King ; and desired the

gentlemen who had waited upon him to return next day

to learn his Majesty's answer. When Lovat received this

message, he began to repent having precipitated himself

into such imminent danger; "there being a sentence of

death in force against him in Scotland, and a price fixed

upon his head, without having any thing to rely upon for

his pardon but a precarious promise from his friends. He
was, however, too deeply embarked to be able to draw

back ; and he finally determined, regardless of the conse-

quences, to throw himself upon the protection of the Duke

of Argyll and the Earl of Islay, to live and die in their

service, and to take no step in his affairs " but by their

concurrence and direction.

On the 19th of November, two or three days after their

arrival in London, he writes anotherjetter to the Brigadier,

which corroborates the Major's desire to leave him and

proceed to the North, and also that the Earl of Islay still

had serious doubts about his loyalty to King George and

the House of Hanover. Simon says

—

" I received the honour of your letter this morning. I give a

thousand thanks for your goodness in doing for me. I have more

need of your friendship and protection than ever, for James Fraser,

Culduthel's son, who came along with me, was vexing me to be

away to see his wife and children that I suffered him to go and see
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the Earl of Islay this morning to let him know what he had to say to

him ; and the Earl of Islay seems to be so little satisfied with what

James told him that he seems to doubt of my sincerity in their in-

terest. I must own I am the most unhappy of mankind. To have

been barbarously treated as a Hanoverian by the Court of St. Ger-

mains these twelve years by-past without intermission, and to have

given such proofs of my being for the side that the family of Argyll

is on, that I should be now questioned by them, and to oblige me to

come upon their promises to England, where they tell me now my
life is not safe, and that they know not what to say to secure my
remission—it is a very desperate case; but there is nothing (for it) but

a stout heart to a stay brae. I did foresee all the scaffolds that could

be before me, and that did not hinder me to venture my life to sup-

port my kindred and serve the family of Argyll. If they let me perish

it will be a triumph to the family of Atholl and to the Mackenzies,

which will be neither honourable nor advantageous to the family of

Argyll. I find, dear sir, that I have nobody to rely upon as an un-

doubted friend but you on this occasion. If you generously help to

save my life, which I have most foolishly ventured here without more

positive or certain assurances, I do protest to you that while there is

a drop of blood in my body I'll venture it, with all those who will

follow me, for your person and interest. I am sure you may convince

the Duke of Argyll and the Earl of Islay, that the Rosses, Roses,

Munroes, and all the Moray lairds, and, in short, all that are in the

King's party in the North, will address the King for me, and be over-

joyed to have me join them when the Pretender comes to that country,

which they may depend upon, in spite of their security and precau-

tions. I throw myself in your arms to beg your assistance in this

most critical occasion."

On the 23rd of the same month he writes to the Briga-

dier, thanking him for what he was doing, and pressing him

to solicit the aid of the Duke of Argyll and the Earl of

Islay in his favour. He is confident that they will do so.

" But," he says, " I must own that I thought to be much
better received, since I came in a full and sincere resolution

to live and die with them. However, I am resolved to do

nothing but by their orders that I may never be blamed

if I perish."*

On the 2nd of December, 17 14, he writes to the Earl of

Sutherland—"I humbly beg of your Lordship to grant me
your protection and friendship at the Court, for which I

* Chiefs of Grant, pp. 282-284.



3l6 HISTORY OF THE FRASERS.

have suffered in France these twelve years by-past all that

the malice of hell and wicked men could invent," adding

that he is now out of their power and is " fully resolved to

expose his life for the Royal family of Hanover."*

On the following day, after the Major's visit to the Earl

and the Brigadier, Lovat received intelligence by the same

persons that Lord Islay had spoken to the King and the

Prince, that both were well disposed towards him, but that

prudence demanded they should require security from him

for his future loyalty before they granted him a pardon.

Lord Islay said that in order to procure this it was necessary

to present an address to the King in his Lordship's behalf,

signed by all his friends who were well affected towards the

Government, and that in this address they should enter into

an engagement for his loyalty in any sum that the King

might desire. He added that he would draw up a draft of

an address that would be suitable. This he accordingly did

two days after.

With this address Lord Lovat dispatched Major James

Fraser to Scotland to get the signatures of his friends.

No sooner had he arrived in the county of Inverness, where

the estates of Lord Lovat were situated, and declared his

errand than, according to Lovat's own version, all the lairds

and, in a word, all the nobility, who were well affected to

the Government, not only of the county of Inverness, but of

the county of Moray, the county of Nairn, the county of

Ross, and the county of Sutherland, vied with each other

in signing their names. Major Fraser carried the docu-

ment signed by the counties of Inverness, Moray, and

Nairn, and gave it into the hands of the Earl of Islay, then

at Edinburgh. On the other hand, Munro of Foulis, then

Colonel of the Regiment of the Scottish Guards, tendered it

to the Earl of Sutherland, Lord Strathnaver, and the

nobility of the counties of Ross and Sutherland, and after

they had signed it carried his copy to Edinburgh. Lord

Islay carried with him these two addresses to London,

* The Sutherland Book, by Sir William Fraser, K.C.B., LL.D., vol. ii.,

p. 205.
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where he arrived on the 1st of March, 17 15. "From this

moment Lord Lovat believed that his affair would be im-

mediately expedited, but a new and unforeseen obstacle

arose. The Duke of Montrose, Secretary of State for

Scotland, was gained, as it is said, by the influence

of the House of Atholl and the money of Mackenzie

of Prestonhall. He therefore earnestly opposed him-

self to the pardon, and represented Lord Lovat to the

King as unworthy of his clemency. Lord Islay was the

greatest and most refined politician in the Island of Great

Britain. Finding the Secretary of State for Scotland in

his way, he thought proper to defer Lord Lovat's affair

till, by his own influence and that of the Duke of Argyll,

whose credit at the Court of London was extremely high, he

had gained the English Minister, and by their means

was able to set at defiance the Duke of Montrose and his

interest. Lord Lovat was, however, extremely mortified at

this event. He had expected that his affair would be

completed the moment he set foot in England. Far from

this, by the opposition of the Duke of Montrose he was

obliged to wait in London from the close of the month

of October, 1714, to the close of the month of July, 171 5,

with his brother, his two kinsmen, and three servants, a

circumstance attended with great expense and with not

less anxiety and uneasiness. In the meantime, about the

15th July, 17 1 5, the Court of London received intelligence

from the Earl of Stair, their Ambassador to the Court of

France, that the Pretender was upon the point of invading

the three Kingdoms, with the French fleet which had been

employed for the reduction of Majorca. This alarm roused

the diligence of Lord Lovat's friends. They applied to the

English Ministers, and having obtained from them a promise

that they would exert themselves in the affair of Lord Lovat,

Lord Islay entreated Lord Sutherland and Brigadier General

Grant to present to the King the two addresses he had

brought from Scotland. They were presented on Sunday

the 24th of July. The Earl of Orkney, who was the

Lord-in-waiting, held out his hand to receive them from the
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King- according to custom. The King, however, drew them

back, folded them up, and, as if he had been pre-advised of

their contents, put them into his pocket."*

The preceding narrative, Lord Lovat's own, corresponds

in the main, as far as it goes, with Major Fraser's account,

the substance of which we shall now proceed to give. He
says that, next morning after their arrival in London, Lovat

sent him privately to inform the Earl of Islay that he

had arrived in the Metropolis, and desiring to know what

assistance and favour he would receive from this nobleman

and his brother, the Duke of Argyll. The Major was but

indifferently received and little encouragement was given

him that anything could be done for his chief. On learning

this Simon, " who was then down in the mouth " and wished

he had not left Saumur, requested the Major to call upon

Brigadier General Grant, who received him with open

arms, and being told of Islay's attitude Grant asked the

Major to return to that Earl and tell him that the Brigadier

was prepared to become bail for Lord Lovat with his whole

estates and his head to boot. This encouraged Simon.

Islay became more favourable, and requested the Major

to call upon him the following morning. This done, the

Earl told him that he was then drawing up a memorial
" to be sent to the five Northern Counties of Scotland, to be

signed by the leading gentlemen of each, which was to be

presented to the Ministry, signifying that my Lord Lovat,

who was then in exile, that if his Majesty King George

would be pleased to give him his pardon, in case there was

anything ado, that he would be very useful at the head of

his clan at home. The document completed, the Major

was asked to proceed with it to the Highlands, and although

Lord Lovat was unwilling to part with him, he had to go,

as the Earl of Islay would not entrust it to any one else, and

the redoubted Castle Leathers started on his journey to

Scotland on the nth of December, 17 14. On his arrival

in the county of Inverness "he and Alexander Fraser of

* Memoirs of his Life by himself, pp. 463-468 ; at which point they

abruptly terminate.
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Phopachy, who were always, as is well known, faithful

friends to their chiefs, travelled the five Northern Counties

in the winter storm, and got the subscriptions of every

leading man in those countries." And here the Major

gives some very interesting information which Simon con-

ceals. The latter would have us believe that everyone to

whom the document was presented signed it with the utmost

alacrity, but the Major, who personally knew the facts and

is more accurate in recording them, says that "when they

met with the Jacobites they made them believe that this

address was from the Pretender," but that to the friends of

King George they " unravelled the story, telling them the

whole plot and that the paper was drawn up by my Lord

Islay to work out Lord Simon's remission with King

George." The Major, who thus astutely induced both sides

to sign the memorial, then supplies the reason why the Earl

and his friends resolved upon getting the Highland chiefs to

subscribe it in Lovat's favour. It was because " my Lord

Islay suspected that Lord Lovat at the bottom was a

Jacobite and Roman Catholic, and that he feared his truck-

ling; otherwise he and his brother Argyll would have got his

remission before he was ten days in London " or it was known

to his enemies that he was there. Major Fraser does not

tell us by whom or by how many the address in favour

of Lord Simon was subscribed, but that information is sup-

plied in the Culloden Papers (pp. 336-338) where a full list

of the names is given, from which it appears that the docu-

ment was signed by seventy-eight individuals, including the

Earl of Sutherland, Lord Strathnaver, the members of Par-

liament and Sheriffs of the Northern Counties, as well as by a

number of Burgh Magistrates, clergymen, and landed pro-

prietors, all of whom implored, in the words of the document,

the Royal clemency, " for one who has now lately, when the

greatest dangers did seem to surround us, by the influence

he has over a numerous clan, supported with us that cause

which in defence of your Majesty's undoubted title to the

Crown we have to the utmost of our power endeavoured to

maintain," and that they are "so sensible not only of his
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power but of his sincere intention to serve the cause, that

they are ready to give security for his loyal, faithful, and

dutiful behaviour," in whatever sum his Majesty may be

graciously pleased to fix.

The Major, who returned to London, accompanied by

Simon's brother John, with the completed document, in the

month of February, 1715, handed it to the Earl of Islay,

and was complimented on the result of his journey, but for

various reasons the anxiously looked-for pardon was not

forthcoming for more than a year afterwards, the result

being that the Major and his chief were forced "to make

many a moonlight flitting from one part of London to

another." The Duke of Atholl employed the Duke of

Montrose, at the time Secretary for Scotland, to search for

them, but in spite of this they succeeded in escaping cap-

ture until the following June. Upon the nth of that

month, Simon, his brother John, and the Major, were

pounced upon at their lodgings in Soho Square, by two

baillies and as many constables, with several armed men,

who suddenly came into their rooms and requested them

to surrender themselves prisoners in the King's name. The
Major took to his arms and asked the intruders if they were

there for King George, and having received an answer in

the affirmative, he replied that so were all the men in that

room. But this was not accepted as sufficient. One of the

baillies said that his orders were to take them all prisoners.

The Major thereupon resorted to one of his favourite

remedies in similar emergencies. He knew that his chief,

who lay on the bed within the curtains, " had some pater-

nosters and ave marias " about him in his pockets, and

that if a search were made for them "they would bring

him timely into Tyburn." He "called for a pint of brandy,

desired the gentlemen to sit down and guard the door, and

take their dram till such time as the other gentlemen got

on their clothes, but immediately the Major got hold of

his chief's breeches and took out all his paternosters, and

I believe the Virgin Mary among the rest, and had no other

way to secure them but to put them into an house of office
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near my Lord's bed." This done his Lordship considered

himself pretty safe, and they were at once taken prisoners

to a spunge house.

While here Lovat sent for John Cuthbert of Castlehill,

Inverness, then in London, and by him sent a message

to the Earl of Islay that he, his brother John, and Major

Fraser had been taken into custody. The reply was that

the Major could be set at liberty, but that there was no

relief for Simon and his brother, who would be sent to

Tyburn. "You may believe," says Castle Leathers, "at

that answer my Lord Lovat wished his Major at the devil,

who had brought him from France, and sore against his

will, as he then declared. It being then near dinner time of

day, there was little stomach among them, four sentries

being clapped on the door, of whom there were two Frasers

of my Lord Lovat's people of the 3rd Regiment of Guards."

This seemed to open up a possible means of escape. The
Major, though offered his release, would not part with

his chief, but resolved to run all risks along with him. They

lay together that night and for several nights after, sleeping

little, concocting means of escape, and they finally resolved,

knowing the night that the Frasers from the Guards were

to be again on sentry, to bribe them to make up such a

party of the Highland soldiers then in that regiment as

would carry Lovat and his friends "off with flying colours."

The two clansmen were found quite willing, and secrecy

having been sworn, four score of Frasers in the regiment, with

their full arms, were " ready to fight their way wherever my
Lord desired them." The Rising of 1715 had just then

broken out, and the Earl of Sutherland was ordered to

Scotland as the King's Lieutenant. Lovat having heard of

this wrote the Earl "a very creeping letter" in the following

terms :

—

"As he had the honour to be a relation to his Lordship, and
although at the time he had his misfortunes, and if his Lordship was
pleased to countenance him and procure him liberty from the King
and Ministry, and become his bail for his good and loyal behaviour

;

in that case he would be very useful to him at the head of his clan

in the North for King George's interest."

21
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In a letter addressed to the same nobleman, dated the

30th of April, 1715, he says

—

" Now, my Lord, not only my life but the standing or fall of the

name of Fraser is at your Lordship's mercy, and I am convinced that

you will be so good as to save the one and the other." *

On receipt of these letters the Earl of Sutherland called

upon all those whom he thought were Lovat's friends, and find-

ing- them very keen in his Lordship's interest, several of them,

such as Brigadier-General Grant, John Forbes of Culloden,

Sir William Gordon of Invergordon, and Sir Robert Munro
of Fowlis agreed to join the Earl in a bail bond of ^"5000

for his future good behaviour and loyalty to King George,

in consequence of which his Lordship gave up all idea of

escaping by the assistance of his Fraser friends, as had been

so recently arranged. The bond was soon signed, and

Simon and his companions were set at liberty, but his

Lordship's expectations of being immediately pardoned and

ordered to Scotland along with the Earl of Sutherland were

not realised ; for the bond provided that he was to remain in

London until the end of the following October, because the

Duke of Argyll and his brother the Earl of Islay, still

"feared his truckling." All the King's party started for

Scotland, the Earl of Islay being the last to leave. The

Major called and urged upon his Lordship the dangers

that Lovat, if left behind, would incur, " being obnoxious

to the laws, and that certainly the Duke of Atholl, with

the family of Hamilton, who no doubt would be in King

George's interest, would prosecute his chief when the

rebellion was over." On the other hand, if Simon were

allowed to go home and lead his clan in the King's

cause, he might be able to appear on equal terms with

his enemies.

But the Earl of Islay would not hear of this. He asked

the Major to accompany him. But this he declined,

pleading that for the last four months he had received

several letters from gentlemen of the clan who stood out

against the Jacobites and were waiting their chief's home-

* The Sutherland Book, vol. ii., p. 207.
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coming-

to lead them in King- George's interest against

Mackenzie of Fraserdale and such of the Frasers as had

joined him in support of the Pretender. Islay, however, was

obdurate, as "he had always his doubts about his chief,

and insisted on the Major's going with him next day." The
latter then asked for two hours to consider the situation,

called upon Lord Lovat and related to him all that had

passed between him and the Earl, whereupon his Lordship

replied
—

" If you leave me I shall leave bail and all and die

a Capucine in France." The Major answered by asking,

if he could expect him to remain in London and have his

family destroyed by the rebels in the interest of a man who
would take his valet's word before to-morrow morning

against him ? Lovat then declared in the most emphatic

terms that he never would, but, on the contrary, so long

as he was the master of twopence the Major would share it

along with him. The latter pleaded that he could not refuse

the Earl of Islay, who was so anxious to have him along

with him, but if Lovat himself would call upon him and

tell him that he would not part with him the matter might

be arranged. This was done, with the result that the Major

remained, and he and Simon at once set about planning

how they should best dispose of themselves in London,

having no influential countrymen of their own now to advise

with, all of them having left for Scotland.

The Major and his Lordship's brother John now resolved

to induce their chief to escape from London as he had done

from France, and next morning the former went into

Simon's bedroom, and told him that although he agreed not

to accompany the Earl of Islay to Scotland, if he, Lord

Lovat did not make up his mind to proceed there at

once he and his Lordship's brother John had resolved

to leave London in two days, determined to live and die

together.

Lovat replied
—

" Major, are you mad ? How can I leave

this place and go home to Scotland, being obnoxious to

the laws, and gentlemen having bailed me, and having no

pass, and England in an uproar, and if I should be taken,
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as certainly I cannot miss being-

, I'll be sent back to New-
gate"? To which,

The Major answered—" Are you to stay here to be tried

for your life ? as certainly you will be when you have got no

remission, and that the greatest friends you expected to have

looked upon you as a Jacobite and Roman Catholic, and

will do so until you show yourself otherwise." The Major

added that, if his Lordship took his advice he would cum
periculo venture his way to Scotland and appear there at the

head of those of his clan who were waiting for him at home
and stood out against Fraserdale, who had led away some of

them to fight for the Pretender, all would be well, but if, on

the other hand, he did not arrive in the North very soon,

they would despair of his coming".

Lovat was so much impressed by the Major's arguments

that he asked to be allowed to consider the matter over

night, and next morning he told his friend that now his

only difficulty was the want of a pass. The Major replied

that if he agreed to go as his servant he would procure a

pass from Lord Townshend, then Secretary of State, for

his Lordship, his brother John, and himself. This Simon

at once assented to. The Major, through the influence of

friends, secured an interview with Viscount Townshend, and

in reply to his Lordship said that he was going to Scotland

to fight for King George, that he had his commission from

Brigadier-General Grant, before that gentleman left for the

North, to command as Major in the Militia in his Majesty's

service. Passes were at once granted for the Major, John

Fraser, and their two servants, whereupon Castle Leathers

returned to Lord Lovat and told him—"Now, my Lord,

make ready, for you are my servant, and we shall command
time about." This was on a Monday, but they had to

remain until the following Wednesday in order to procure

horses and make other necessary arrangements for their

perilous journey, upon which they started on Wednesday

night, and were fortunate enough to find their way as far

as Newcastle, without being once challenged, although the

North of England was already in arms.
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Immediately on taking up their quarters for the night at

Newcastle, the Mayor paid their host, Mr Andrew Ken-

nedy, a visit and asked him who these gentlemen were who
had come in so fully armed ? The Major, who had been sent

for, at once presented himself and produced Lord Town-

shend's pass. This proved satisfactory, and the Mayor

advised them not to go by the post road, as it was guarded

by Lord Derwentwater and his followers already in arms for

the Pretender. They took his advice, and accompanied by

their host for eight miles as a guide, arrived at Dumfries in

the afternoon and found it in an uproar, the inhabitants

expecting every moment the arrival of Lord Kenmure,

Carnwath, and the Edinburgh Cavalry.

Lord Lovat was recognised by a gentleman of the Atholl

family, who met them in the street, and who promptly went

to the Chief Magistrate and told him that " the villain

Beaufort" was in town, no doubt on his way to join the

rebels. Sentries were at once placed on their lodgings

;

for when the Major went out to see how their horses had

been attended to in the stables, he met men with drawn

swords outside the door. He, however, forced his way

through them, whereupon they went to the Provost and

told him what had occurred. Returning from the stable,

the Major told Lovat that he feared the worst, and before

he could finish the sentence the Chief Magistrate appeared

in person, " with half a dozen of firelocks at his back," and

requested them to surrender in the King's name. The
Major produced his pass, but the representative of law and

order was not satisfied, for, he said, he knew that one of the

gentlemen in the room was a rebel. Major Fraser there-

upon ordered his companions to their arms, and four cocked

muskets were immediately presented to the Provost and his

party. Great excitement was at once aroused, but it was

ultimately agreed between the parties that one of the Magis-

trates and the Major should proceed to the seat of the

Marquis of Annandale, Lord-Lieutenant of the county, to

lay the facts before him, Lord Lovat to wait where he was

until they returned. They started next morning, the Major
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carrying a letter to the Marquis from Lord Simon, who was

a great friend of his. On the way they were told that the

Lord-Lieutenant was absent in Edinburgh, but about an

hour after getting this information a gentleman came up

to them on horseback at full speed. The Major's com-

panion cried out on seeing the new arrival
—

"John, what's

the haste "
? to which that individual replied that his master,

the Marquis, was coming up behind him pursued by Ken-

mure and his rebel followers. His Lordship immediately

appeared ; the Major saluted him, and handed him Lord

Lovat's letter, but the pursuit was so close and hot that he

could not then wait to look at it. He, however, asked aside,

whose it was, when Fraser replied that it was from his friend

Lord Lovat, who had been stopped by the Chief Magis-

trate of Dumfries, although his Lordship had Viscount

Townshend's pass and was on his way north to raise his

clan for King George. The Marquis turned round to the

Bailie who had accompanied the Major and told him that

the Provost was a fool and did not know his duty. He
then invited them to accompany him to his house, " which

is within thirteen miles of Dumfries." On their arrival the

gates were closed behind them, and orders were issued to

have the place put at once in a state of defence, as he

expected the enemy every moment. The Marquis then

wrote a letter to Lord Lovat, presenting his compliments

and wishing him a good journey, and another to the Pro-

vost reprimanding him for his conduct and at the same

time requesting him to march out all the troops he had

in the town to convey him—the Lord Lieutenant—safely

into Dumfries.

The Major and his companion then took leave of the

Marquis and arrived in the town about one o'clock in the

morning, when the former at once proceeded to the Pro-

vost's residence and delivered his commission. The drums

were beat, and all the horse and foot available were in a

few minutes in readiness in the streets. The Major having

conveyed his message to Lovat, who was too ill to join

in the march to the Lord Lieutenant's residence, went
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back, took up his position amongst the men outside, and

was the first to arrive and go in to the Marquis, who
thanked him very warmly for his diligence and care, and

immediately made ready for the march to Dumfries, where

on his arrival Lord Simon at once waited upon him, and
" after drinking a bottle of wine together," they parted

company.

After several other incidents in Dumfries, in which the

Major took a conspicuous part, Lovat and his companions

took leave of their friends in that town and arrived the same

day at Lanark. Here they met with one Captain Campbell,

an officer at the head of a Company of Volunteers, on his

way to join the Marquis of Annandale. He called upon

them to know who they were, with the result that he had

a meeting of the Magistrates convened, and that Lord

Lovat and his companions were there and then created free

burgesses of the burgh. They remained here for the night,

and in the morning proceeded on their way to Stirling,

sending on the Major in advance to advise Brigadier-

General Grant, who was then on duty there, that Lovat

and his friends were coming. The Brigadier was naturally

much surprised to see him, and asked him what had be-

come of his chief, from whom he believed him to be insepar-

able ? The Major replied that he believed he was then

within ten miles of where they stood, and that he had

commissioned him to ask the Brigadier to be good enough

to proceed at once to the Duke of Argyll, who was also

at the time in Stirling, to tell his Grace that Lord Lovat

was on his way North " to make a diversion in that country."

Grant, who knew the situation, replied
—

" Major, you know
how far the brothers credit your chief," to which that

gentleman answered that he would compel the Duke to

believe what he should tell him if only he, the Brigadier,

were good enough to introduce him to his Grace. This he

at once did and Fraser told the Duke that Lord Lovat was

at that moment close at hand, a statement which much
surprised that nobleman. He then took the Major aside,

and questioned him regarding his chief's real intentions,
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and was assured of Lovat's determination to go home at

once and head such of his men as had not already joined

Fraserdale in the Rebellion. In reply to the further question

if he could trust him, the Major said
—

" My Lord, be in no

concern about him, for to my certain knowledge there are

three hundred of his name ready to join him when he goes

home, and if he offers to join the rebels, I can assure you of

his head being sent you to Stirling ; and moreover, my
Lord, such of his name as have already joined Fraserdale,

if we were at home this night, would all desert Fraserdale

from Perth," a prediction which was very soon after fully

verified.

Argyll had the fullest confidence in the Major's personal

integrity, and on the strength of what he told him he

requested Brigadier-General Grant to bring Lovat on his

arrival, during the night, to see him. This was done and

his Lordship fully confirmed what Major Fraser had pre-

viously stated to the Duke on his behalf. " Yet I must

own," he says, "that his Grace had his doubts about the

gentleman, as he has to this day. But, however, he could

make no better of it, but encouraged him with great

promises, and gave him an hundred guineas at parting

to help him North." The next point was how these men
were to get to the Highlands, all the roads being at the

time in possession of the Chevalier's army. First, the Duke

resolved on despatching one of the three men-of-war, then

lying in the Forth, and he promised to write the same

evening to Lord Provost Campbell of Edinburgh to order

one of them to the Moray Firth with Lovat and his friend,

and John Forbes of Culloden, who was also then in Stirling

and wanted to get home. A message, however, reached his

Grace that the Earl of Mar requisitioned all the ships

and boats on the Fife side of the firth, with the view of

crossing his whole army to the Lothians. Argyll, in these

circumstances, could not spare one of his men-of-war,

and he sent word to Provost Campbell accordingly.

In the meantime, early in the morning, Lord Lovat and

Culloden, along with their friends, started for Edinburgh
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by different routes, and on his arrival Lovat took up his

quarters for the night in the Grassmarket. But he was not

many hours there when, by order of the Lord Justice-Clerk,

a Lieutenant at the head of a file of soldiers stepped into his

room to take him prisoner. The Major at once proceeded

to the residence of the Lord Provost to inform him of what

had occurred, and that gentleman immediately sent word

to the Lord Justice-Clerk requesting him to set his prisoner

at liberty, or " he would soon let him know that he com-

manded in that city." He was at once released, and Lovat

waited upon and paid his respects to the Lord Provost,

thinking that he had nothing now to do but step on board

the man-of-war, as arranged with Argyll the previous day

at Stirling. He was, however, informed otherwise, and the

Major was sent on to Leith to procure some other vessel to

convey the party North. Here he found a Captain Clark,

a native of Portsoy, just ready to start, the wind from the

south-west being very favourable. An agreement was

arrived at, and twenty-eight firelocks and the necessary

quantity of ammunition was put on board by order of the

Lord Provost, while sufficient provisions were shipped on

the instructions of Lovat and Culloden on their arrival in

Leith. Here they met a party of twelve or fourteen High-

landers, returning from England after having sold their

cattle there, but who in the disturbed state of the country

hesitated to go by road across the Grampians for fear of

being robbed. They were mostly Mackays, and as none

of that clan joined the Chevalier's army it was considered

safe to offer them a passage and take them on board.

The vessel having set sail on a clear moonlight night, with

a favourable wind, soon touched the Fife coast, where a

boat was observed approaching near, and immediately after-

wards a shot was heard, the bullets passing through the

ship's sails. The skipper, who was a Jacobite, told the

Major that the boat must be one of the Earl of Mar's,

cruising to find out whether those on board the ship were

friends or enemies, and he suggested that he should slacken

sail until the boat should come up to them. This did not
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of course suit the passengers, and the Major at once pre-

sented his gun to the skipper's breast, and told him instead

of slackening speed to hoist all the sails he could, or he

would shoot him through the body. A few shots were

then exchanged, and in a very short time they left the

boat far away and out of sight behind them.

They were soon passing Aberdeen Bay, where the Cap-

tain proposed to go ashore, on the plea of having some
business to transact in that city. He was, however, ordered

to proceed on his journey, which he did until they reached

the Bay of Fraserburgh, where "the wind turned a pick-

teeth," and they were obliged to drop anchor in front of

that town. Here they were in a dangerous neighbourhood,

and a consultation took place as to what should be done,

Lord Lovat declaring that he would rather go to sea than

land at Lord Saltoun's door, for whose father he had erected

a gallows not many years before at Fanellan House, in the

Aird. Culloden, on the other hand, said that he was so

sea-sick that he would rather fight his way and die on land

than keep at sea any longer, whereupon the cock-boat was

lowered, and Lovat, his brother John, Culloden, and the

Major, were sent ashore.

Making for the best inn in the place about ten o'clock

at night, they ordered a good fire and a pint of burnt wine.

The landlord immediately returned to the room, telling

them that Lord Saltoun was below in another apartment

wanting to know who the gentlemen were who came ashore

from the vessel in the bay. Here was another difficulty,

for Lovat said that if Lord Saltoun found out that he was

there no power on earth would save him. But the doughty

Major once more proved equal to the occasion. He went

to Lord Saltoun, who asked him what the ship was, and

who were on board ? After partaking of a stiff glass of

brandy, the Major replied that they were a lot of drovers

who had been in England selling their cattle, and that they

had prevailed upon the Lord Provost of Edinburgh to

send them home in this way, as they had large sums of

money in their possession, and could not risk the journey
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overland for fear of losing it, and perhaps their own lives,

in the then disturbed state of the Highlands. They were

Mackenzies, Sutherlands, and Mackays, and he himself was

a Macrae ! His Lordship expressed himself pleased to

meet him, and said that he could give him good tidings of

his chief, the Earl of Seaforth, who had marched past there

only the day before at the head of thirteen hundred men
to join Mar's followers at Perth. The Major, finding his

ruse succeeding, replied
—

" I wish, my Lord, I had been

at home with some money for him. I am the only one

he entrusts with the sale of his cattle. And what would you

say, my Lord, to drink to my chief's health and cause ?

You will, I hope, do me the honour to accept of a bottle of

wine from me, to these healths." Saltoun at once accepted

the offer, and they drank the healths of all these friends,

from the Earl of Mar downwards.

The Major finding Lord Saltoun so easily imposed upon,

tried another trick upon him with complete success. He
told him that all the poor drovers on board the ship in the

bay had to sell their horses in Edinburgh before they

sailed, and had now their saddles and money to carry along

with them. If his Lordship, as he commanded in the town,

would be good enough to call and instruct his officer to

provide horses for him and his unfortunate companions

as far as Banff, they would be very grateful to him and

would willingly pay for them, and his chief (the Major's,

now a Macrae) would consider it an extraordinary favour by

his Lordship. The officer was immediately called, and

ordered to have all the horses in the town ready at whatever

hour Mr Macrae might be pleased to call for them, where-

upon the Major and Lord Saltoun parted company, wishing

each other good night. Fraser returning to his friends,

detailed all that took place and requested Lovat and

Culloden to sleep in their clothes until he and Saltoun's

officer should get all the horses ready, as he knew quite well

that it was not safe to remain where they were longer than

was absolutely necessary. On going outside to get this

matter arranged the Major met Alexander Baillie, Town
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Clerk of Fraserburgh, a cousin german of his own and a

relation of Culloden. He recapitulated all his experiences

since his arrival in the town, and asked his friend's assistance

in procuring the horses, which Mr Baillie was not slow in

giving, and he very soon had the required sixteen ready

to mount and take the road. The party left their arms,

ammunition, and provisions on board the vessel under the

Town Clerk's charge, " for which he was thereafter ill-used

by my Lord Saltoun," when the facts came to his Lordship's

knowledge. The interesting calvacade was scarcely out of

Fraserburgh when the alarm was raised by the skipper of

the vessel, who informed the authorities that the party were

the enemies of the cause which Lord Saltoun and his

friends had so much at heart, and messengers were at

once dispatched to Aberdeen and in other directions all

over the surrounding country for the purpose of intercepting

and if possible arresting them, but fortunately for them

without success.

Lord Lovat and his companions were now a considerable

distance away. By daylight they arrived at a road-side inn

nine miles distant, on their way to Banff, where they were told

that Forbes of Skellator was that very day collecting taxes for

the Chevalier. This information induced them to change their

course, for that gentleman would recognise them, with what

results it was impossible to say. The Major, who had been for

three years in his younger days in the service of Fraser of

Strichen in that country knew all the by-roads and country

paths in the district, and acting on that knowledge they re-

solved to cross the hills and moors to Rothiemay, where they

arrived by 9 o'clock in the evening much fatigued, "at a blind

ale house very near Rothimay's house," the owner of which

had joined the Chevalier's army and was absent at Mar's

camp. His lady becoming alarmed on hearing that a

body of horsemen had turned up at the inn, sent two of her

servants to find out who they were and where they came

from. The Major, who met them outside, asked them

in, ordered a mutchkin of brandy, told them he and his

companions had just come from Perth, where Mar was then



XVIII. SIMON, THIRTEENTH LORD FRASER. 333

encamped, and were on their way to join Sir John Mac-

kenzie of Coul, then commanding the Castle of Inverness

for the Pretender. Her Ladyship's messengers returned

home "hearty," but they were immediately sent back with

an invitation for the whole party to Rothiemay House. The
Major sent his compliments, but excused himself and his

friends, as they had to be at Inverness at a certain hour, and

could not even go to bed that night in order to be at

their distination in the time at their disposal. Within an

hour two sturdy fellows appeared again, bringing from

her Ladyship two dozen bottles of strong ale to refresh the

party before starting on their long and difficult journey.

The Major, not to be done in hospitality, ordered a bottle of

brandy, " resolved to make these lads lie all night in their

scabbards," which he did most effectually, and at the same

time gave them a Crown of drink-money for themselves.

In the meantime he made Lord Lovat and Culloden lay

down in their clothes on some straw to rest themselves,

while he was " to sit up with the landlord to give him a

hearty bottle to the health of all the gentlemen " at Perth

in Mar's camp.

About one o'clock in the morning, he had his party all

ready on horseback, and being well acquainted with the

district he had them before daylight near Balvenny Castle,

fifteen miles distant, where Colonel William Grant was at

the time stationed with a party of his Highland Company
in garrison. They now considered themselves fairly safe

among the Grants of Strathspey, and that night they arrived

at Ballindalloch Castle, where they were very kindly re-

ceived and hospitably entertained until early next morning,

when they started on their journey.

Early the same evening they came to Kilravock Castle,

where Hugh Rose, then head of the family, was very glad

to see and heartily welcome them. The night was very

boisterous, and Lord Lovat, "being always very tender of

his carcase," resolved to stay there until the following day

But Culloden was determined to reach his own house that

night, and insisted upon the Major accompanying him. In
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the course of conversation Kilravock informed Lord Lovat

that three hundred of his men had refused to join Fraser-

dale in support of the Chevalier and that they were waiting

for him in Stratherrick, daily expecting his arrival. Fraser,

on hearing this news, was delighted, for it confirmed his

statement and would enable him to implement his promise

to the Duke of Argyll at Stirling, and Lovat himself was so

pleased that he told the Major not to sleep until he saw

and marched these men from Stratherrick to meet him at

Culloden House.

Forbes and Fraser having been well refreshed and rested,

started for Culloden House, which they reached about eight

o'clock on the 5th of November, 17 15. There Duncan

Forbes, afterwards Lord President of the Court of Session,

had a strong garrison. The new arrivals were naturally well

received. The Major informed Duncan Forbes of his chief's

commands that he would that same night be in Stratherrick

in order to march the men there assembled down next

morning to meet Lovat in person, and nothing would stop

him, although the future Lord President called him a fool,

and told him that he would starve on the way, for "a wilder

night never blew." Fraser, starting on his wild journey

over the hills, " with the contents of a good bottle of wine

in his skin, he made out that twenty miles of rugged country

by daylight," arriving cold and hungry, but having partaken

of refreshments, including "a dram of good aquvitae," and

finding his friends resolute in the cause of King George and

their chief, he soon recovered himself.

The first question asked of him on his arrival in Strath-

errick was, upon what terms Lord Simon had been per-

mitted to return ? The Major pretended to tell the whole

truth, but he honestly confesses that "he did not, but

dissembled with them all. For had he told that my Lord

Lovat had not got his pardon, but had run off from Eng-

land as he had done from France, not one man of them

would have joined." So he informed them that his Lord-

ship had received a remission of all his former crimes, and

that he had the promise of his estates upon his proper
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behaviour, if Fraserdale joined the other side, as he had

done, whereupon "quart stoups of whisky went round to

the King's health who had given their chief his peace

"

and his liberty. They then marched next day, the Major

at their head, to Culloden House, where Forbes had 200

men, who had been joined by 300 more under Hugh Rose

of Kilravock, making in all, including the Frasers, a body of

1300 men. They were at once marched in the direction of

Inverness, and word was sent to the Governor, Sir John

Mackenzie of Coul, to come out and give them battle, but this

he declined, " not shapen to be a warrior," though according

to Major Fraser, " a very honest man " in all other respects.

On Monday following they called a council of war to

decide upon the best means of taking the town of Inverness

out of the hands of the Chevalier's friends, and it was re-

solved that Culloden and Kilravock should order the Grants

to advance on Thursday in a body to the south side of the

town, while Lovat should in the meantime cross the Ness

near the sea, proceed to the Aird, and convene all the

Frasers on that part of his estates who had not joined

Fraserdale in the interest of the Stuarts. His Lordship

started on his journey, but on reaching the river, where

he was to cross to the north of Inverness, he was told that

Coll Macdonald of Keppoch had arrived in the vicinity with

300 men to reinforce the Governor, Sir John Mackenzie,

who had sent an express messenger for him some days

before. Lord Lovat and the friends who had accompanied

him took counsel together, and decided upon sending the

Rev. Thomas Fraser, minister of Stratherrick, who, " by the

bye, was as good a soldier as a minister," to inform Kep-

poch that Lovat was there before him with a number of

men equal to his, and that if he came on to Inverness he

might expect a warm reception. Coll was not very par-

ticular what side he took as long as there were good

opportunities for plunder, so, upon receiving Lord Simon's

message, he returned home at the head of his men, by

Glenurquhart, carrying away a great booty from that dis-

trict then, as now, the property of the Grants of Grant.
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Another council was resolved upon by his Lordship, but

the Major taking him aside strongly advised him to march

at once with the men he already had to the north side

of Inverness, for, he urged, if it should become known that

he had not received his pardon, his men would desert.

Therefore, he argued, it was necessary to move at once,

so that the Government and his friend the Duke of Argyll,

to whom both of them had made so many promises, might

discover that Lovat was the first man who appeared in the

field in King George's interest. He recommended at the same

time that a messenger should be immediately despatched

to Culloden and Kilravock, requesting that they and the

Grants should simultaneously attack Inverness on the south

side, and that an express should be sent to Mar's camp
at Perth directing all the Frasers there under Mackenzie of

Fraserdale to return to the North at once, failing which all

that they possessed at home would be destroyed by their

chief and his loyal clansmen without scruple or compunction.

The special messenger to Perth was promptly despatched,

and he arrived at Mar's camp two nights before the battle of

Sheriff-Muir, with the result that on receiving Lovat's

message the 300 Frasers who had followed Fraserdale at

once deserted him and returned home to their own country

and chief.

In the meantime his Lordship took counsel with the

gentlemen and friends who had already joined him, and he

strongly recommended the advisability of attacking Inver-

ness at once, which, he urged, would be much in his favour

at Court, for the Earl of Sutherland, who had command of

the five Northern counties, had been beaten back at Alness

by the Mackenzies and the Macdonalds, and he would thus

have the credit of striking the first blow for the Govern-

ment in the wide district of which Inverness formed the

centre. It would, he said, be considered a very bold action

on their part, considering they were only 300 strong alto-

gether, while the Governor had an equal number in the

town, besides the townspeople, most of whom were Jacob-

ites. The result of this reasoning was absolute unanimity in
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favour of an immediate attack, and the Major received

orders to "blow up the pipes" and march.

Proceeding in the direction of Muirtown he was told by

a countryman that in an adjoining- park, there was a large

number of cows belonging to Sir John Mackenzie, which he

kept there as provision for himself and his garrison. On
receiving this information Major Fraser sent off twenty-four

men to bring them in, which order they very soon complied

with, bringing in no fewer than twenty-eight cows, "as

good beef as was in Britain," and the Major and his men

had eight of them that night for supper.

The Governor, on learning what had occurred, sent

Provost Fraser and Bailie David Fraser to find out why his

cows had been taken, when they were requested to inform

Sir John that had they not been members of the Major's

clan they would have been stripped and sent back to him

naked, a message from which the Stuart commander quite

understood that the Frasers were now resolutely against him

and his master. On the third day after, Culloden and Kil-

ravock, with their followers, took up a position on the

opposite—the south—side of Inverness, and the Governor

on learning this removed to the Tolbooth, a strong building

in the centre of the town. Here he was followed by Arthur

Rose, a brother of Kilravock, with a small party, who, rashly

attempting to force his way in, was jammed in the doorway

and shot dead in that position by one of Sir John's men.

Orders were in consequence at once issued to attack the

town on all sides and to take the Governor dead or alive.

But being a relative—a son-in-law—of Hugh Rose of Kil-

ravock, Sir John placed himself at that gentleman's mercy,

swearing that he was sincerely grieved for what had

occurred in the death of his son, and pleading with the

father to prevail upon the other leaders of the King's

army to allow him and his men away and that they would

willingly surrender the town to them without further op-

position. On these conditions terms were made by which

Sir John and his men immediately escaped by boats from

the pier of Inverness across the firth, leaving all their

22



338 HISTORY OF THE FRASERS.

baggage behind them in the hurry to get away, and to

avoid coming in contact with the Frasers, who were still

encamped in the vicinity of Muirtown ; and so the siege

of Inverness came to an end without the opposing forces

ever coming to close quarters. This is the unvarnished

account of the proceedings given by Major Fraser. It is

fully corroborated by the Kilravock Papers, from which we

take the following version—"Arthur Rose, brother to Kil-

ravock, a gentleman of a resolute and daring spirit, proposed

to seize the garrison in the Tolbooth of the town by strata-

gem. For this end he chose a small party (numbering

twelve) of his brother's men, commanded by Robert Rose,

son of Blackhills, and on the night of the 12th of November,

171 5, proceeded so far as to enter into the vestibule, on the

top of the lower stair. Here a fellow whom he had for his

guide, and who being well known to the men in the garri-

son, promised to get the door opened, called to them to

open. They opened the door, and the villain entering, and

Arthur Rose close after him with a drawn sword and pistol,

he treacherously cried out 'An enemy, an enemy!' Upon
this the guard crowded to the door, shot Mr Rose through

the body with a pair of balls, and so squeezed and crushed

his body betwixt the door and the stone wall that he could

not have lived, although he had not received the shot. His

own friends carried him off, and he died in a few hours, in

the house of Mrs Thomson, in Inverness. This fatal end

of a brave and beloved brother provoked Kilravock so much
that he sent a message to the Magistrates of the town and

to Sir John Mackenzie, requiring them to surrender the

town and Castle and to evacuate both of the garrisons kept in

them, otherwise he would lay the whole town in ashes.

The Magistrates and Governor, knowing Kilravock's re-

solute spirit, and fearing his resentment, brought all the

boats he could up to the bridge, and, under the covert of

night (November 13th), the Mackenzies evacuated the town

and Castle, and silently passed over to the Ross-shire side.

Then Kilravock entered the town, took possession of the

Castle and Tolbooth, and placed a garrison in them, and
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was soon after joined by a body of the Frasers, and a bat-

talion from the Grants of Strathspey. Thus was the recovery

of that town (which is the key to the Highlands) out of the

hands of the enemies of the Government wholly owing- to

Kilravock, although others (Lord Simon and his friends)

in a pamphlet soon after assumed the praise of it."* Yet

another account says that on the 3rd of November " Kil-

ravock and Culloden ' wrote to the Magistrates of Inverness

requesting them to urge upon Sir John the necessity of

evacuating the garrison.' They replied on the same day

that they were powerless and without any authority. Sir

John, the same afternoon, sent messages to Coll Macdonald

of Keppoch and the Mackintoshes to come to his assistance.

On the 5th Lovat appeared at Inverness with 120 Frasers,

immediately marched out to reconnoitre, and being joined

on the 7th by Kilravock, Culloden, and others to the

number of 500 men and 30 horse, he proceeded to attack

Keppoch, who retired to the hills. The party then advanced

into the Mackintosh country ; but as the Mackintoshes de-

clared that they had only risen to protect their lands from

Keppoch, Lovat and his companions returned to Inverness,

the Frasers taking up a position to the west of the river.

Kilravock then wrote Sir John Mackenzie to render the

place immediately. Sir John replied that he would give a

definite answer in a few days. On the 10th a tragic incident

occurred. Arthur Rose, brother of Kilravock, and Robert

Rose of Blackballs, who were in command of the Baron's

vassals, at the head of a party of ten men, determined to

seize the place. They surprised one of the lieutenants on

sentry, and Arthur Rose seizing him by the throat, presented

a pistol to his breast, commanding him to go to the door of

the garrison and cry 'Open.' This was done, but when
Rose had partially entered there was a cry of 'The enemy!
the enemy !

' and the door being closed with violence, his

body was crushed and riddled with bullets. Sir John im-

* Genealogical Deduction of the Family of Rose of Kilravock, p. 381.

Lachlan Shaw in his Province of Moray gives an almost identically similar

account. See vol. iii., new edition, p. 131.
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mediately wrote to Kilravock a letter of condolence, and

enclosed passports to enable him and his friends to attend

the funeral in Inverness. But Kilravock was so furious that

he did not avail himself of this permission. His son, how-

ever, accompanied by Sir Archibald Campbell, Forbes of

Culloden, Robert Rose of Blackhills, and others, attended

the burial of Arthur Rose, at which Sir John and his officers

were also present. Sir Archibald seized the opportunity to

impress upon Sir John the desirability of rendering the

town, for otherwise Kilravock was determined to reduce it

to ashes. Sir John then wrote to Kilravock imploring" ' him

to take no further proceedings since he was willing to sur-

render on terms to be adjusted between them.' They met

on the nth at a small burn to the east of Inverness, when

the Governor undertook to deliver up the place provided

Kilravock would let him pass with his men to Perth. This

was sternly refused, but after consulting Duncan Forbes of

Culloden, Kilravock agreed to let Mackenzie return to Ross-

shire in safety. Having subscribed this agreement, Mac-

kenzie formally delivered up the town to Kilravock and

Culloden, and 'in the forenoon of the 12th, marched out

with his men with pipes playing and banners flying.' Such

is the true account of the capture of Inverness."*

In The Sutherland Book, by Sir William Fraser, K.C.B.,

LL.D., an account of the seizure of Inverness is given in

a letter addressed to a friend, dated the 30th of January,

1716, by Thomas Robertson, in which, after describing

the preliminaries already known, he says, that "as they

(the attacking party) came to the shore they found two

of Sir John's sentries, who fired at them. One of the sentries

got off, and the other Arthur Rose apprehended, and after

he had got him he told him he would spare his life providing

he would lead him a safe way out of view of the steeple

to the guard-house door (which was kept in the Tolbooth),

which accordingly the fellow did, all along the water side,

and when he came to the Tolbooth door he knocked at it,

and the sentry, calling who was there, he answered 'A

* A recent writer quoting original documents in the Inverness Courier,
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friend,' the fellows, who knew it was their comrade that was

on sentry, opened the door to let him in. Arthur Rose and

some of his men that were at his back, were ready to jump

in too ; but the fellow, getting in before him, cried out ' The

enemy,' so that the whole guard got to the door. But

Arthur Rose, pushing up the door upon them, got himself

half in, but they pressed him so betwixt the doors that he

could not get in, and in that pickle, in order to disengage

himself, he fired both his pistols upon the guard. But un-

fortunately, and before he got further, they shot him in the

belly, of which he died in a few hours, which discouraged

his people so that they would make no further attack that

night."

Compare all this with the exaggerated description sup-

plied by Lord Simon himself twenty years afterwards in a

long letter addressed to the Earl of Islay, dated at Beau-

fort, the 27th of May, 1737, in which His Lordship says

—

"Being informed that Colonel Macdonald, Keppoch, was going

into Inverness, to reinforce Sir John Mackenzie, Governor for the

Pretender, I marched up to him and chased him. He then sent me a

message, that since I was come to my country, that he would not

disturb it, but would go straight to Perth, which he did. I then

marched down to Inverness, and finding the situation of it, I resolved

to do some signal action for the Government, or die on the spot.

Accordingly, by my own project, and with a handful of my own
kindred, I invested, and in three days, by taking the Governor's

provisions, by chasing the parties that were coming to his relief, and

a little skirmish that happened, in which Kilravock's brother was

killed, and by my continual threats that I would put Sir John and all

his rebellious garrison to the edge of the sword, the poor cowardly

Governor ran off at night, and his garrison, and left the town at my
discretion. I marched in, and took possession of the town the next

day, with 800 Grants and 400 Munroes, who came up immediately to

concur in the taking of the town from the rebels. Duncan Forbes,

who was eye-witness to all this, dares not refuse a syllable of it.

This was the greatest piece of service that was done in this country to

any King at several ages, for as I took possession of Inverness the

Saturday before Sheriff-Muir was fought. If it had been delayed

three days, there had been about 2000 of the rebels of my Lord
Mar's army in the town of Inverness, so that it would have been

impracticable for the King's friends to have attempted the reducing

of it. Then the Pretender would have come there, and against the
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next spring would have had a greater army than ever appeared for

him in Scotland ; and having all the Highlands and Isles behind his

back to retire to if he was beat, it would at least have cost several

thousand men, and some millions to the Government before he would

be chased out of Scotland, so that the taking of Inverness from

the rebels, at such a critical juncture, was a service should never

be forgot. It would be tedious and perhaps selfish in me to tell the

other singular services I did to suppress the Rebellion in the North.

However, they were such as procured me three letters of thanks from

my great and worthy master, the late King, in which he said he was so

satisfied with my singular services, that he would give me such marks

of his favour as would put me at my ease and would be an encourage-

ment to his other subjects in this country to be faithful to his

service."*

Simon gives another inflated version in his Account

of the Taking of Inverness, the substance of which will be

found in the History of the Mackenzies, second edition, pp.

295-297, where he makes it appear as if he were command-
ing a great army going through the most extraordinary-

manoeuvres, at Inverness and subsequently. But we prefer

the following simple and transparently truthful account by

Major James Fraser, fully corroborated, as it is, from official

and other sources. The siege, as already said, was brought

to an end on the same day on which the battle of Sheriff-

Muir was fought, and intimation thereof was made to the

Earl of Sutherland, who was then in security at his own
Castle of Dunrobin, whereupon he and Sir Robert Munro
of Fowlis advanced south with their men, and at the same

time wrote to Lord Lovat to send some of his force to meet

them, as they were afraid that the Earl of Seaforth, who had

returned from SherifT-Muir with a great following of the

clans, would attack them at the head of the Mackenzies and

Macdonalds, and Major Fraser was despatched with four

hundred men to meet Sutherland and Munro in Ross-shire.

On the night of their arrival—the 13th of November—the

Earl of Sutherland in revenge for what the Mackenzies had

done to him at the beginning of the campaign and for what

they and the Macdonalds had plundered from him and his

* Chiefs of Grant, by Sir William Fraser, K.C.B., LL.D., vol. ii.,

PP. 352-358.
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friends, encamped with fifteen hundred men near Brahan

Castle, the seat of the Earl of Seaforth, and destroyed

everything within their reach that they could lay their hands

on. A hundred Frasers and a hundred Munros were sent

out to bring in provisions, and they soon returned with four

hundred cows and two hundred sheep from the neighbour-

ing hills, and having remained there for two nights, they

marched away carrying three hundred cows along with

them, the others having been feasted upon during their two

nights' encampment. The Duke of Gordon and Seaforth

then entered into an agreement to attack Inverness from

the east. Lovat and his friends thereupon marched out to

meet his Grace as far as Elgin, but as he would not cross

the Spey to give them battle, after waiting for three days,

they returned to Inverness, where the Duke and Seaforth

still kept up the pretence of attacking them. As the latter

was gathering his men in Ross-shire, the Earl of Suther-

land, who now commanded the King's army, including the

Frasers, determined to march out and try Seaforth's pulse.

They encamped the first night at Beauly, within three miles

of Mackenzie's camp, and the Major was ordered to beat in

Seaforth's advanced guard the same night, which he suc-

ceeded in doing. Next day the whole army marched

forward, but the Earl of Sutherland being indisposed

remained at Lord Lovat's house, and handed over the

command to his Lordship, who, says the Major, "had very

little inclination for the work," and he gives the reasons why
he knew it to be so; for "he was more attached to the

other party, had not necessity obliged him to draw to the

King's, and he was not yet sure of obtaining his pardon.

However, he went on with the rest of the gentlemen who
were at the head of their own men, to wit, Colonel Munro
of Fowlis with 200 men, Captain George Grant with 200

men, Major Mackay with 200 men, Culloden with 100 men,

Lord Lovat with 1000 and the Earl of Sutherland's 200

men, the rest having deserted upon hearing that they were

to fight against the Mackenzies." Major Fraser commanded
the right wing, and as they came in sight of Seaforth's
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camp, a messenger was sent out by the Earl to Lovat and

the gentlemen who were at the head of the advancing force

along with him proposing a meeting, which was at once

agreed to. Duncan Forbes of Culloden and Lord Simon
strongly pressed upon Seaforth that he was playing the fool

for himself, for to their certain knowledge, they said, the

Duke of Gordon was busy arranging terms of peace with

the King, while he was encouraging and misleading the

Mackenzie chief to hold out and continue the fight. On
making this discovery Seaforth requested King George's

friends in command of his opponents, to write to the Court

and intercede in his behalf, undertaking that he would at

once dismiss his men, which on their agreeing to do so,

he immediately carried out, and the Rising of 17 15 was

practically at an end.

On the 10th of January, 17 16, the following bond of

friendship, signed by both, is entered into at Inverness,

between William Lord Strathnaver and Simon Lord

Lovat

—

" We, the Right Honourable William, Lord Strathnaver, and

Simon, Lord Lovat, do mutually promise upon honour, and by all

that is sacred, a perpetual friendship to one another, and that we

will espouse one the other's quarrel against any person that will

attack either of us (the King and Government always excepted) ; and

we make the same promise for our posterity and successors, that the

friendship which is now betwixt us may be preserved to future ages,

as witness our seals, at Inverness, the tenth day of January, one

thousand seven hundred and sixteen years, before these witnesses,

George Cuthbert, Doctor of Medicine, writer hereof, and William

Fraser, merchant there."*

Simon had now established a strong claim on the Govern-

ment for his pardon and for the restitution of the family

estates so far as that could be legally done, and after certain

preliminaries had been arranged and formal difficulties over-

come a full pardon was duly signed on the 10th of March,

1716. We have not seen the document itself, but Dr Hill

Burton says that the person who drew it out "appears to

have thought that his employer could not be safe if there

* The Sutherland Book, vol. iii., p. 219.
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were any of the most hidden cracks or flaws in human
nature which it did not cover. It is an astounding and

horrible enumeration of all the crimes and abominations to

which the human animal is liable ; and as if there might be

doubts whether one language would in all cases be suffi-

ciently explicit and definite, the document being itself in

Latin, some of the more offensive parts of the criminal

nomenclature are translated into English." Immediately

after the rebellion had been crushed his friends, the Earl

of Sutherland, John Forbes of Culloden, and his brother

Duncan, the future Lord President, wrote to the King

pointing out the great services Lovat had rendered, and

urgently entreating that he should be pardoned for all his

former offences, with the result stated.

On the 2 1st of March, 1716, Lord Simon intimates to the

Earl of Sutherland that he had just " taken the Earl of

Cromarty and Mackenzie of Inchcoulter prisoners" by

Major Wightman's orders, and at the same time expresses

the hope that the Earl will use his " endeavour to stop

Fraserdale's remission or possession of my forefathers'

estate, which would again expose me and my people to

ruin." In a postscript to this letter he says, that "my poor

brother (John) assures your Lordship of his last respects,

for he is dangerously ill with a fever, flux, and stitches, that

there is little or no hopes of his recovery. He was a good-

natured and brave young fellow, and a zealous servant of

your Lordship. His fatigue and drinking this winter and

sudden quitting of it has killed him. I wish with my soul

that my dear Lord Strathnaver may give over his drinking,

in some measure, otherwise he cannot live." Lord Simon then

asks for a personal favour, but is, of course, too loyal to press

it
—

" If your Lordship could, without much trouble, save

the lives of Hugh Fraser of Buchrubine, who was truly

forced out, and Robert Shaw of Tordarroch, a vassal of

mine, it would be a lasting obligation on their friends, who
are loyal to our Sovereign. But I plead for no rebels

further than your Lordship shall think fit and charitable,

and for the good of the Government. For I would not
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plead to save my brother from hanging if I thought it would

be prejudiciable to the present Government and happy con-

stitution, for which I am still ready to venture my life."*

This would be magnanimous indeed were it only true !

Writing from " Dullmagarry, near the Isle of Moy," on

the 3rd of April, Simon, intimating his pardon to William,

Lord Strathnaver, in the course of his letter says

—

"I congratulate your Lordship on the glorious and great reception

the Earl of Sutherland had at London. The Duke of Marlborough,

two Secretaries of State, all the Squadron, and many English nobility,

came to visit him to his own house, and he is to have great rewards

for his services, and what I have done is only to be rewarded

according as his Lordship represents my services, which gives me
good hopes. I am sure if my dear Lord Strathnaver were with his

father, that he would push him to do for Lovat, and I am sure my
dear Earl will do for me without any solicitation. I am sure my dear

Lord Strathnaver will not be ill pleased that my remission as

Lord Lovat is passed the great Seal of Scotland, and Jonathan

Thomson carries it this week north. I have likewise received a letter

in the King's name and his order from Secretary Stanhope, and

another by the Prince's order, from his Secretary, thanking me for my
services, and promising me marks of the King's and the Prince's

favour."

He was now for the first time for close upon twenty years

a free subject. He was almost immediately appointed

Governor of Inverness and Commander of an Independent

Company. But the return which he made to his friends,

especially at this time to the Earl of Sutherland, notwith-

standing his protestations of confidence and friendship in

the letter just quoted, was characteristic.

He wrote a series of letters to Alexander Fraser, his

London solicitor, whose acquaintance we have already made

at Dover and in course of the journey from there to the

Metropolis on Lovat's return from France, requesting him

to take every means of running down the Earl, as having

been of no more use than an old wife as the King's lieuten-

ant in the North in suppressing the rebellion, and that

everything had been done by Simon himself. Fraser was

told to attend the principal London coffee houses for this

* The Sutherland Book, vol. ii., pp. 211-212,
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ignoble purpose, with the result that when the Earl of

Sutherland came up he found himself run down and ill-

spoken of everywhere. Having traced the cause to Lovat's

solicitor, he at once wrote to his Lordship, who was still in

Scotland, informing him of what Alexander Fraser had been

saying and doing. Simon immediately replied expressing

his great surprise that his friend would think anything of

what his own London man of business should say or do, at

the same time describing him as "that notorious villain,

who lived to his certain knowledge at London on picking

pockets and ." On receipt of this extraordinary letter,

the Earl sent for Fraser and asked him the reason why he

had been running him down and abusing him as he had

done, when he replied that he said nothing but what he

honestly believed to be true, for Lord Lovat had written

telling him that it was he who quelled the rebellion, and he

alone ; whereupon the Earl said he was quite sure that his

chief would not thank him for what he had done, at the

same time producing Simon's letter, which so annoyed and

confounded Fraser that he handed Lovat's letters to the

Earl, and the opinion which he now formed of the man
whom he had so much befriended may be easily guessed.

The Earl and Alexander Fraser were at once reconciled,

but the latter resented so much the manner in which he

had been used that he and Lord Lovat's old valet, whom
his Lordship had left behind him in London when he pro-

ceeded to the North, went to the Duke of Roxburgh, then

Secretary for Scotland, and made affidavits before him in

which they swore that Lovat was a pure Jacobite, a Roman
Catholic, and a most dangerous man, not to be trusted by

any Government. This was communicated by the Duke
to the King, and the bad impression made upon his Majesty

was such that Duncan Forbes of Culloden, who was then in

London, wrote Lord Lovat asking him to come up there at

once, otherwise he was undone. His Lordship found it

necessary to start immediately, taking the redoubted Major

again along with him, and on their arrival they sent for

Brigadier Grant's principal attendant, who told Simon that
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the General was much concerned about him, and at the

* same time informed the Major that there were two hundred

guineas reward offered him if he would join the other two

Frasers in stating what he knew about the religion and prin-

ciples of his Lordship. Lovat, however, succeeded by the

influence of his friends to satisfy the King for the time being.

Another authentic version fully corroborates the Major,

and supplies additional particulars of an interesting kind.

According to this account, no sooner did Simon arrive in

London than stories began to spread against his old

friends, all of which were attributed to him, and he boasted

so loudly of his own services against the Jacobites that the

Earl of Sutherland, Sir William Gordon, Rose of Kilravock,

and others insisted upon his retracting these stories. They

requested him to sign a deed for the purpose of publication,

but he declared that the rumours and stories of which they

complained were absolutely false and without foundation,

but this did not satisfy the Earl. He sent Gordon of

Ardoch to meet him at Doctor Wellwood's to remonstrate

with him for not signing the deed. Lovat was so indignant

at his word not being accepted that he threatened to cut Sir

William Gordon's throat on the first opportunity, as he

believed it was he who insisted upon retraction by deed.

Next day Sir William met his Lordship at the Smyrna
Coffee House, and informed him that he came purposely

to afford him an opportunity to make good his threat.

Lovat said that he had no recollection of using the words

attributed to him, and supposed that if he did that " he

must have done so in his cups," but he was quite ready to

afford satisfaction to any gentleman, and would with great

pleasure place himself at Sir William's service. A meeting

was arranged for the following morning, and Lovat re-

quested Doctor Wellwood to act as his second. The

Doctor refused. Lovat then wrote to Kilravock, who was

in London at the time, begging him, on account of the

ancient friendship between their families, to stand by him.

Kilravock reluctantly consented, and met Gordon of Ardoch,

who was Sir William's second. Lovat declined to go any-
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where but Marylebone-fields, and the party left Piccadilly

about 6 A.M. Immediately they had taken their places, a
!

man with a loaded gun hurried in between them, and swore

that he would shoot the first who drew a sword. Ardoch and

Kilravock in vain tried to get rid of this interloper, and

while expostulating with him, James and Alexander Fraser,

accompanied by four horsemen, appeared on the scene.

Sir William, as he would not be allowed to fight, called

Lovat a lying knave and arrant coward ; and his Lordship,

furious at the insult, attempted to draw his sword, but

dropped it when he saw the man with the loaded gun

taking aim at his breast. The affair created much ill-

feeling, and widened the breach between Lovat and his

Whig friends. We shall later on see how he showed his

gratitude to Culloden, to the Major, to Phopachy and

others to whom he owed his liberty and his life.*

On the 23rd of June, 1716, he is found writing to Duncan

Forbes a letter in which he tells him that he had a private

audience of the King that day. He was now most anxious

to obtain the life-rent escheat of his foe, Alexander Mac-

kenzie of Fraserdale, who had joined the Chevalier in the

recent Rising. A few days after this audience with his

Majesty, he writes again to his friend, Duncan Forbes, a

letter in which, after a flattering torrent of the " two

brothers" of Argyll, which he knew would reach them

through this source, he says, " I want but a gift of the

escheat to make me easy," and on the 23rd of August,

17 16, he is put in possession by Royal warrant of "all goods,

gear, debts, and sums of money, jewels, gold, silver, coined

and uncoined, utensils, domiciles, horse, nolt, sheep, corns,

bonds, obligations, contracts, decrees, sentences, compro-

mitts, and all other goods, gear, escheatable whatsoever,

as well not named as named, which pertained of before

to Alexander Mackenzie of Fraserdale," and in addition his

Lordship was invested with the said Alexander's life-rent of

all "lands, heritages, tenements, annual rents, tacks, stead-

ings, roomes, possessions, and others whatsoever, pertaining

* The Sutherland Book, vol. ii., pp. 216-218,
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and belonging to him, with the whole mails, ferms, kaines,

customs, casualties, profits, and duties of the same." But

this did not satisfy him. He had his eye on the lands

of Glengarry and Chisholm, both of whom were "out" in

the 'Fifteen, and he urges upon his "dear General" that he

should start for London " to serve his Grace and do

something for your poor old Corporal ; and if you suffer

Glengarry or The Chisholm to be pardoned, I will never

carry a musket any more under your command, though I

should be obliged to go to Afric."

One great drawback of the gifts now made to him was

that the estate could only belong to him so long as

Fraserdale lived, when it would revert to his son, who was

not affected by the father's escheat, and Lovat was thus

placed in the disagreeable position of wishing long life to his

bitterest enemy. He does not at first appear to have been

aware of this limitation to his new possession, and as a matter

of fact he was found liable by the Court of Session in 1722,

to "aliment" Fraserdale's son in terms of an old rule of the

law of Scotland which made it imperative that a person

having a life-rent use of an estate was bound to support the

heir. In the meantime he pleads hard with Duncan Forbes

to secure him a better tenure, otherwise, he must either

keep violent possession, which will return him his old mis-

fortunes, or he must abandon the Kingdom and a young

lady whom his friends had engaged him to marry. " So,

my dear General," he continues, " I beg you may give me
some prospect of not being forced to leave the Kingdom, or

to fight against the King's forces. The one or the other

must be, if I do not find any legal pretence of possessing

the estate but by this gift, which I now reckon as nothing."

And in order to secure the sure tenure which he desired,

he entered on a series of lawsuits against Fraserdale and

his heir which lasted for many years, and were only

then brought to a close in his favour by a large payment of

money, which he says in his famous letter to Lord Islay,

dated, Beaufort, the 27th of May, 1737, amounted to more

than thirty years' purchase,
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One of the actions raised by him was against Alexander

Mackenzie of Fraserdale's heir, who under the existing
- con-

ditions would succeed to the estates on his father's death,

for, although forfeited himself, the result of that forfeiture

would not descend to his son. Another action on which he

entered was to assert his claims to the ancient peerage title

and honours of the family. In these two he was the pur-

suer, but in several others he was placed on the defensive,

in one case in opposition to the enforcement of a large

number of claims by persons who held securities over the

estates against the forfeited Fraserdale and now tried to

assert them against Simon, and in another he was resisting

payment of the Struy and Phopachy bonds to which refer-

ence has been already made. His contest with the creditors

was prolonged, but it was of the three leading actions the

first decided. In 1718 the Court of Session declared in

favour of the creditors, but his Lordship appealed to the

House of Lords and there secured a decision in his favour.

This was his first great triumph. While in London attend-

ing to this appeal he was taken ill of a severe fever and

thought he was dying, when he dictated the following

letter—

"To the Honourable, the gentlemen of the name of Fraser

—

My Dear Friends,—Since by all appearances, this is the last time of

my life I shall have occasion to write to you, I being now very ill of a

dangerous fever ; I do declare to you before God, before whom I must

appear, and all of us at the great day of judgment, that I loved you

all ; I mean you and all the rest of my kindred and family who are

for the standing of their chief and name ; and as I loved you, so

I loved all my faithful commons in general, more than I did my own
life, or health, or comfort, or satisfaction, and God, to whom I must

answer, knows that my greatest desire, and the greatest happiness

I proposed to myself under heaven, was to make you all live happy,

and make my poor commons flourish ; and that it was my constant

principle to think myself much happier with a hundred pounds, and

see you all live well at your ease about me, than have ten thousand

pounds a year, and see you in want and misery. I did faithfully

design and resolve to make up and put at their ease, Alexander Fraser

of Phopachy, and James Fraser of Castle Ladders, and their families,

and whatever disputes might ever be betwixt them and me, which our

mutual hot temper occasioned, joined with the malice and calumny of
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both our enemies, I take God to witness, I loved those two brave men
as I did my own life, for their great zeal and fidelity they showed for

their chief and kindred. I did likewise resolve to support the families

of Struy, Foyers, and Culduthel's families ; and to the lasting praise of

Culduthel and his family, I never knew himself to swerve from his

faithful zeal for his chief and kindred, nor none of his family ; for

which I hope God will bless him and them, and their posterity.

I did likewise design to make my poor commons live at their ease and

have them always well clothed, and well armed after the Highland

manner, and not to suffer them to wear low country clothes, but make
them live like their forefathers, with the use of their arms, that they

might always be in condition to defend themselves against their

enemies, and to do service to their friends, especially to the great

Duke of Argyll, and to his worthy brother, the Earl of Islay, and to

that glorious and noble family, who were always our constant and

faithful friends, and I conjure you and all honest Frasers, to be

zealous and faithful friends and servants to the family of Argyll and

their friends, whilst a Campbell and a Fraser subsists. If it be God's

will that for the punishment of my great and many sins, and the sins

of my kindred, I should now depart this life before I put these just

and good resolutions in execution, yet I hope that God in his mercy

will inspire you and all honest Frasers, to stand by and be faithful to

my cousin Inverallochy, and the other heirs male of my family, and

to venture your lives and fortunes to put him or my nearest heirs

male, named in my testament, written by John Jacks, in the full

possession of the estate and honours of my forefathers, which is the

only way to preserve you from the wicked designs of the family of

Tarbat and Glengarry, joined to the family of Athol, and you may
depend upon it, and you and your posterity will see to it and find it,

that if you do not keep steadfast to your chief, I mean the heir male

of my family ; but weakly or falsely for little private interest and

views, abandon your duty to your name and suffer a pretended

heiress and her Mackenzie children to possess your country and the

true right of the heirs male, they will certainly in less than an age

chase you all by slight and might, as well gentlemen as commons,

out of your native country, which will be possessed by the Mackenzies

and the Macdonalds ; and you will be like the miserable and un-

natural Jews, scattered and vagabonds throughout the unhappy

kingdom of Scotland, and the poor wives and children that remain

of the name, without a head or protection, when they are told the

traditions of their family, will be cursing from their hearts the

persons and memory of those unnatural, cowardly, knavish men,

who sold and abandoned their chief, their name, their birthright,

and their country for a false and foolish present gain, even as the

most of Scots people curse this day those who sold them and their
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country to the English by the fatal union which I hope will not

last long".

" I make my earnest and dying prayers to God Almighty, that he

may in his mercy, through the merits of Christ Jesus, save you and

all my poor people, whom I always found honest and zealous to me
and their duty, from that blindness of heart that will inevitably bring

those ruins and disgraces upon you and your posterity ; and I pray

the Almighty and merciful God, who has often miraculously saved

my family and name from utter ruin, may give you the spirit of

courage and zeal, and of fidelity that you owe to your chief, to your

name, to yourselves, to your children, and to your country ; and may
the most merciful and adorable Trinity, Father, Son, and Holy Spirit,

three persons, one God, save all your souls, eternally, through the

blood of Christ Jesus, our blessed Lord Saviour, to whom I heartily

recommend you.

" I desire that this letter may be kept in a box, at Beaufort or

Moniack, and read once a year by the heir male, or a principal

gentleman of the name, to all honest Frasers that will continue

faithful to the duty I have enjoined in this above-written letter, to

whom, with you and all honest Frasers and my other friends, I leave

my tender and affectionate blessing and bid my kind and last

farewell. Lovat.
" London, the 5th of April, 1718.

" Not being able to write myself, I did dictate the above letter to

the little French boy that's my servant. It contains the most sincere

sentiments of my heart, and if it touch my kindred in reading of it as

it did me while I dictate it, I am sure it will have a good effect, which

are my earnest prayers to God."*

His claim to the title dragged along until 1730, when the

Court of Session incompetently decided that as heir-male

he was entitled to it. He however, ultimately succeeded in

getting fully established in the titles and honours of the

family, as shall be shown hereafter in greater detail. In

the meantime we shall follow his career chronologically

as near as possible.

Lord Simon did not continue his zeal for the Govern-

ment very long. In 17 19 he was again busy at his old

intrigues. When the Spanish invasion, which so completely

collapsed that year at Glenshiel, was preparing, Lovat wrote

to the Earl of Seaforth desiring him to come down with his

* Printed in the Appendix, vol. iii., Memoirs of the Jacobites of 1715 and

1745, by Mrs Thomson.

23



354 HISTORY OF THE FRASERS.

men ; and that he, Lord Lovat, " would join him with all

his, in favour of the Pretender." This was sworn to by

Robert Chevis of Muirtown, at his Lordship's trial in 1747.

Chevis declared on oath that Lovat himself told him that he

showed this letter to Chisholm of Knockford, before he

sent it by his Lieutenant to the Earl of Seaforth, and that

Chisholm at once made an affidavit regarding it and its

contents, which he forwarded to the Government. This

Simon himself told him, as also that in consequence he,

Lovat, went immediately to Court, and got himself intro-

duced there, and Lady Seaforth being then in London,

she applied to him to do something in favour of her son.

This he absolutely refused, until Seaforth should return

him that epistle, "which being done he showed it to a

certain friend, who read the letter, and who told him

(Lovat), that there was enough in it to condemn thirty

Lords, and threw it in the fire."* But the old fox was

not to be so easily done. While he thus proceeded to

London in person to deny the truth of this serious and

undoubtedly true charge, he instructed his clan to rise in

favour of the King and to oppose Seaforth and his allies.

There could be no better proof of the alleged baselessness of

Chisholm's story of his loyalty to the Government than

this, and it proved successful. As a matter of fact, the

Scots Coura?it of 18th May, 1719, says that "the gentlemen

of the name of Fraser, with their followers, who are well

affected towards the Government, have taken possession

of the Castle of Brahan, the Earl of Seaforth's", while its

owner was absent fighting for the Chevalier at Glenshiel.

Some of the Frasers must have gone to the West Coast,

for another newspaper account says, a few days after,

that "the body of Monroes and Frasers, as also the

Sutherland men, who were with the King's troops in the

action, behaved themselves very valiantly, and did con-

siderable service on the occasion." It is not therefore

surprising that, in order to show his appreciation of Simon's

loyalty and his entire disbelief in what had been charged

* Lord Lovafs Trial, pp. 35-36.
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against him, " His Majesty has done the Lord Lovat

the honour to be god-father to his child ; and has appointed

Colonel William Grant of Ballindalloch to be his proxy.

The ceremony is to be performed at his Lordship's seat in

Scotland, for which place he set out on Monday last

together with Colonel Robert Monro, jun., of Fowlis."*

On the decision of the Court of Session in 171 8, after-

wards reversed by the House of Lords, being given in

favour of the creditors, they appointed a factor to collect

the rents on their behalf who soon found that he was not

a persona grata among the people, for on the 30th of

December, 1719, his barns and granaries were set fire

to and burnt down, but whether with Simon's connivance,

though charged with it, has not been proved. The result,

however, was that a party of military was sent to the district

to keep order. Lady Lovat, in the absence of her Lord,

fearing that the soldiers and her people might come into

conflict, sent a proclamation, dated the 9th of July, 1720,

to the Rev. Thomas Chisholm, minister of Kilmorack, to

be read after service in Church, in which she desires "and

orders all my Lord Lovat's kinsmen and followers not to be

imposed upon in that affair, but to use all discretion and

civility towards the said party, as believing they would

rather, if required, assist my Lord Lovat in the support

of his said gifts" from the King, which by this date "is

confirmed by the highest Court in Great Britain," meaning

no doubt the House of Lords.

At the same time Lord Simon was defending a suit raised

against him by Alexander Fraser of Phopachy, who acted as

his agent during his Lordship's absence on the Continent

and made various journeys to him in France with money
collected from the tenants. That gentleman, soon after

Lovat's return to Scotland, demanded payment of a sum
of £683 1 8s 8d due to him on these transactions, and his

Lordship having disputed the account the claim was sub-

mitted to arbitration, John Cuthbert of Castlehill, and

Hugh Fraser acting for Lord Lovat, and Alexander Fraser

* Scots Courant.
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of Culduthel and John Jackson, Commissary for Inverness,

representing Phopachy. In 17 19 they unanimously decided

against his Lordship, and a bond was granted by him. But

Fraser foolishly allowed his chief to get further in his debt.

A second submission to arbiters was proposed, but Lord

Simon would not consent to it unless the old claim already

decided was also submitted. This was ultimately agreed

to, the arbiters on this occasion being John Cuthbert of

Castlehill, for Lord Lovat, and Robert Chevis of Muirtown,

for Phopachy, with Munro of Fowlis as oversman, to whom
the others left the final decision. This was given on the

22nd of April, 1724, in favour of Phopachy for the full

amount of his claim. Lovat again refused to pay and

raised an action to upset the decision of the arbiters, on

technical grounds, and this was continued with Phopachy's

children for at least twelve years ; for the proceedings are

found still pending and unsettled as late as the year 1736.

Soon after the decision in Phopachy's favour in 1724, his

house was attacked by a party of Lovat's vassals. Provost

Hossack, of Inverness, writing to Duncan Forbes of Cul-

loden on the 12th of February, 1725, says

—

" Last night five or six men armed attacked Phopachy's house,

went directly to the place where he used to be, and when they missed

of him threatened his children and servants to discovery, told they

wanted his life, and lay the head of one of his daughters on a block

that she might discover where her father was and if any money was

in the house. Meantime some people in the neighbourhood assem-

bled and two of them (the housebreakers) were apprehended, and are

now in prison. One of them, Archibald Campbell, was shot with

small greath by a servant of Phopachy in the face. Probably these

two may be the means of discovering the accomplices in other

matters."*

This is corroborated by Major Fraser, who in detailing

certain instances of Lovat's ingratitude to his old friends

refers specially to

" Alexander Fraser of Phopachy, who was the only man, joined

with Major Fraser, that drew the plan .of bringing him from his exile.

And I must own, since my design in this account is to give every one

* The original letter is at Culloden House.
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their due, that had it not been the contrivance of this Phopachy, this

Lord Lovat had never smelled his country, let be his estate. So all

that this poor Phopachy got for his labour was to cause make an

attack upon his house by a parcel of highwaymen, whom he employed

for the purpose. This being in the night time, it happened by the

Providence of God, that the poor gentleman and his lady had not

been at home. These fellows, having broke up the door, went in with

drawn swords, but missing their prey, went in with drawn swords

upon the children, and wounded some of the servants. The alarm

being then given, the country got to their arms, two of the rogues

were seized upon, and brought in to Inverness to be tried for their

lives. They being but two of the party, and the ring-leader making

his escape, it was found upon examination all they could say was, that

they believed they were employed by my Lord Lovat in that affair.

My Lord being at the same time in London, wrote home to his friends

privately, desiring (them) to save those fellows, and to speak to

Phopachy as one of themselves, to cause him not to insist upon a

legal prosecution. Phopachy being piqued by the usage his servants

and children met with swore revenge. The two fellows, by a fair

sentence, were hanged. This being done incensed my Lord Lovat

mightily against Phopachy, which occasioned a great rupture betwixt

them till this day."*

Simon himself, writing to his Edinburgh agent, John

Macfarlane, W.S., gives a very different but apparently

invented version of this attack on Phopachy ; for the " full

account of it from the Magistrates of Inverness" does not

support what he writes to his Law Agent, to whom he

says, under date of 6th of May, 1725

—

" I am sure you will be glad to know that the unheard of villainous

design of murdering my person and reputation is now, by Providence,

fully discovered. I have letters and affidavits from the North which

plainly make it appear that the hellish knave, Phopachy, was the con-

triver of this barbarous plot to ruin me. Culloden has a plain and

full account of it from the Magistrates of Inverness. The method he

took to perpetrate his wicked design was thus : he employed one

Thomas Mackenzie, son to Captain John Mackenzie of Clunes, a de-

bauched, rakish, young fellow who is well acquainted with all the

banditti in the Highlands. He engaged Lachlan Bonn to him at the

Market of Beauly in November last. This Lachlan Donn is a ring-

leader in a gang of robbers. Mr Mackenzie brought this famous

Captain of banditti to Phopachy three several times, and at last

Phopachy agrees to give the Captain fifteen guineas and some small

* Major Fraser's Manuscript) vol. ii., pp. 93-95.
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reward to his party for his coming to Phopachy house and rifling of

it, and for burning a part of his corn in a barn distant from his house,

and then declaring that it was I that employed them, and be ready to

swear that before any judge. Accordingly they came, as you have

heard, and my servants took two of them prisoners. The three that

are free are ready to come before any judge and solemnly swear that

Phopachy both contrived and employed them to execute this horrid

crime. I am assured that if this is judicially proven that it will hang

Phopachy ; and I am fully resolved to prosecute him to the utmost.

I think I am obliged by the laws of God and nature to do it. This

affair, I believe, will hasten our friends being heard ; and I beg you

may let all friends know this story."*

It is highly probable that the real object of the letter was

to have it shown to his friends. Bailie John Stewart, of

Inverness, writing to Lovat on the 13th of the preceding-

March, refers to this affair and says—"Your Lordship seems

to intimate to me that you had made yourself concerned

in it by agreeing to compound it," a thing he would be

exceedingly unlikely to do, if Phopachy and not he or some

of his friends was at the bottom of it. Bailie Stewart adds,

that "yesterday Archibald Campbell and Donald Mac-

kinnon that were making attack on Phopachy's house

received sentence of death and are to be hanged in ten

days. I say they received sentence from our Sheriff-

Deputes, and a great deal of pains was taken by Phopachy

and Castlehill to make great discoveries who were their

outhounders (hounders-on) ; but I don't hear they'll make
much of it. Only I hear Campbell was induced to say

publicly in court yesterday before sentence was passed,

and I suppose in hopes it had been mitigated, that he heard

that fifty men were employed above three months past

to dispatch Phopachy, and that Lachlin Donn (a notorious

Locharkaig thief, who was likewise wounded at Phopachy's

house), told him that John Fraser, he meant little Strath-

errick John, brought letters from London on that head,

but did not say from whom, but after sentence of death was

passed, Campbell told he knew nothing certain of John
Fraser or anybody else in the story ; however you may

* From the Pitfirrane MSS. Appendix V, , Major Fraser 's Manuscript,

vol. ii., pp. 190-191.
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believe that several here were not wanting to make base

malicious inuendoes from what this Campbell said, which I

will forbear at present." Bailie Stewart, however, does not

believe that John Fraser, whom he takes "to be a mighty

honest man, had anything-

to do with the affair, and he says

that "any one else that intended through him," meaning

Lovat, no doubt, "to be aspersed, may be very easy, for

I am positive the malice of some will cast up in a proper

light very soon." But Bailie Stewart has a claim of his own
to make. He wants his Lordship's salmon in future in

preference to William Mackay, who is not to be compared

with the Bailie "as to the obligations your Lordship owes"

him.

Major Fraser gives us a little more insight into the position

and character of this "Little Stratherrick John," who was

also said to have had a hand in the houghing of John

Cuthbert of Castlehill's cows, after that gentleman had

become a party to the decision in the second arbitration

between Lord Simon and Phopachy in 1724. The Major

says that " My Lord Lovat being at London at the time,

and hearing of this discerniture (against him) immediately

apprehended that the sum discerned was to be divided

betwixt Phopachy and Castlehill (his own arbiter) by a

collusive manner; and that they made Muirtown, as a

partaker, come into their measures. Immediately my Lord

called for one John Fraser, commonly called English Jack,

who was then an idler about his hand in London, and

contrived with him how to be revenged on Castlehill,

who passed such a sentence in favour of Phopachy. This

Fraser told him that if his Lordship would write Ludovick

Cameron, uncle to the Laird of Lochiel, that he would send

a party of highwaymen and cut to pieces all the cattle in his

parks. This John Fraser having carried my Lord's letter to

Ludovick Cameron, then eighteen ruffians were dispatched

off to effectuate this bloody design. They having come

to the gentleman's parks (they) houghed and cut to pieces

forty-eight milch cows. But the fact could never be proved,

since none of the actors could be had, but it was very well
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known in the neighbourhood how the affair was contrived
;

and to this day Ludovick Cameron gets pocket money
to hold his peace."* While all this was going on Simon's

claim to the Lovat title was still unsettled, and in 1721

it was brought to a test during the election of a Scottish

representative peer to the Imperial Parliament.

In that year a proxy was produced for Lord Lovat on the

occasion of the election of the Earl of Aberdeen as one

of the sixteen Scottish peers entitled to sit in the House of

Lords. A protest against his right to vote was lodged

by the Earl of Rothes, on the plea that the Fraser peerage

was not limited to heirs-male, and was now vested in the

person of Amelia, eldest daughter of Hugh, eleventh Baron

Lovat, who died without male issue on the 4th of September,

1696, and that the Court of Session had so decided in 1702.

Alexander Mackenzie of Fraserdale had been forfeited for

his share in the Rising of 171 5. The fact would not,

however, affect any rights possessed by his wife in her own

person. But on her death the title was claimed and openly

assumed by her son, Hugh Mackenzie, whereupon Simon

raised an action for reducing the decree of 1702, which was

granted against him in absence, and therefore liable to be

reopened in this form, on the ground that he was not a party

to it. Although he had for his leading counsel the famous

Charles Erskine, afterwards Lord Tinwald, he does not

appear to be satisfied with the manner in which the action

was being pushed forward, 'and though he admittedly had

every confidence in his agent, Mr John Macfarlane, W.S.,

generally, he evidently considered him at times over-

scrupulous, and on the 29th of April, 1729, wrote to him

the following characteristic letter :

—

" Dear Sir,— I had the honour of your fine moral and philosophical

letter by this post, and though it is written in a very pathetic smooth

way, yet I have read so many good authors on the subject without

being able to reduce their advice to practice that an epistle from a

Scotch lawyer can have but very little influence on me that now,

by a long experience, knows that those fine moral reflections are

no more but a play of our intellectuals by which the author caresses

* Major Fraser s Manuscript, vol. ii., pp. 97-98-
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his own genius by false ideas that can never be put in practice. You
may give me as many bonny words as you please, but words will

never gain me the estate of Lovat, or my peerage, without assiduously

acting that part I ought to get that effectuated ; and though some

people charged me with liking some of the Roman Catholic principles,

yet I do assure you that I do not expect new miracles in my
favour, and that I am fully resolved to use all the ordinary means in

my power to save my family. I told you so plainly in my last letter,

that I had no satisfactory answer to any of my essential queries, that

I will not trouble you with repeating what I have said, only I must

tell you that I always observed since I came to know anything in the

world that an active man with a small understanding will finish

business and succeed better in his affairs than an indolent, lazy man
of the brightest sense and of the most solid judgment. So since

I cannot flatter myself to have a title to the last character I ought

to thank God that I am of a very active temper, and I'll be so far from

relenting that I'll double my activity if possible."

It was not, however, long after this when he was so far

successful. On the 3rd of July, 1730, the Court of Session

reduced the decree of 1702, which was in favour of the

lineal heir and "decerned and declared the title, dignity,

and honours of Lord Fraser of Lovat to pertain and

belong to the said Simon Lord Fraser of Lovat, pursuer,

as eldest lawful son of Thomas Lord Fraser of Lovat,

his father, who was granduncle to Hugh Lord Fraser of

Lovat deceased, father of the said Mrs Amelia Fraser, and

grandfather of the said Hugh Mackenzie, defender ; and

consequently as heir-male of the family of Lord Fraser of

Lovat, to whom the title and dignity does descend."

Although this decision was incompetent it left the case

exactly where it was before the same court decided in favour

of Amelia Fraser, wife of Alexander Mackenzie of Fraser-

dale, in 1702. But it appears that neither of the parties

—

not even the judges and counsel—knew that since the

Union of the two kingdoms, the House of Lords alone

had jurisdiction in cases involving the title and dignity of a

peer of the realm. An appeal was, however, rendered

unnecessary by a compromise in terms of which Hugh
Mackenzie, Fraserdale's heir, gave up to Simon Lord

Lovat all claims to the title and the right of succession
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to the estates on the death of his father for a valuable con-

sideration which was finally fixed by arbitration. His Lord-

ship had, however, considerable difficulty in getting this

settlement brought about and he was simply ferocious at

the conditions of the decree arbitral when it was made
known to him. A series of letters passed between him and

John Forbes of Culloden on the subject, which shows how
much he was disappointed with Mackenzie's dilatoriness

in coming to terms. On the 5th of January, 173 1, Lovat

writes to this friend

—

"Your brother who has been working all he could for me this

winter, has at last come to a final resolution. He offers Fraserdale's

family ^6000 sterling from me, and ,£2000 more from himself, if they

come into his measures ; upon condition that if they accept that offer

in a month's time he will oblige me to adhere to it ; and if they do not

accept it, he has declared to them that they will never have it again
;

but that he will do all that in him lays to overturn all the rights that

ever they had to the estate of Lovat from the foundation. And my
Lord-Advocate will find no great difficulty in that, for I have consulted

it fully, and am going on with all vigour to put it in full execution."

On the 10th of April following he writes Culloden in a

new style, when apparently thinking that he is nearing his

end. He says

—

" I am much indisposed since I saw you at your house. Many
marks appear that show the tabernacle is failing. The teeth are gone

and now the cold has so seized my head that I am almost deaf with a

pain in my ears. Those are so many sounds of the trumpet that call

me to another world, for which you and I are hardly well prepared.

But I have a sort of advantage of you, for if I can but die with a little

of my old French belief, I'll get the legions of saints to pray for me

;

while you will only get a number of drunken fellows, and the inn-

keepers and tapster lasses of Inverness, and Mr Macbean, the holy

man."*

In 1732 he applied for the Sheriffship of Inverness. On

the 25th of October in that year he wrote to Sir James

Grant of Grant intimating to him that he had made such

application to the Earl of Islay, who was inclined to give it

him, but first desired to consult Sir James, who it appears

had already asked for it for his son Ludovick. Sir James

* Burton s Lives, p. 19S.
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at first demurred, and Lovat on the 2nd of November wrote

him in a pet. Matters were, however, ultimately arranged

between the brothers-in-law, and it appears from a letter of

Lord Simon's dated in February 1733, that the Sheriffship

of Inverness-shire was then conferred upon him.*

In 1733 he gained a new point in the contest with Fraser-

dale ; for in February of that year he writes to the same

John Forbes of Culloden that his "gaining the decreet of

the expiration of the legal " makes his enemies begin to

think that it is time to agree, " for their counsel had now

made approaches to Lovat's solicitor. But Fraserdale and

his son are such weak, wavering, and unconstant creatures

that I believe nothing can fix them to an agreement but

your friend and mine withholding his assistance from them "

—that is their own counsel. On the 8th of March in the

same year he was able to write to his friend—" Now I can

tell you the agreeable news that you longed wished for—

a

final submission is signed by Fraserdale and his son and me,

and put into the hands of Lord Dunn and Lord Grange as

arbiters, and they are to determine and decide what sums

of money I am to pay to Fraserdale and his family for all

the right and pretensions they have or pretend to have had

to the honours and estate of Lovat, which they are to give

up to me as the arbiters shall determine." The result of

this arbitration made him furious, and on the 27th of

October, 1737, he wrote to his Edinburgh agent, John

Macfarlane, from Beaufort, an extraordinary letter from

which we take the following extract :

—

" I must tell you, with the same freedom that you speak to me,

that I am convinced to a demonstration, that I have been cheated,

abused, sold, my papers embezzled, robbed, and given up to my
enemies, and in short, treacherously, villainously, and ungratefully

betrayed and sold, by one whom you and I entirely trusted and used

rather like a brother than a doer, for which treachery I am persuaded

God will punish him some day or another, and for my part I will

never forgive or forget it
; you may be sure I will not suffer it with a

close mouth, nor will I ever forgive any that had a hand in that

villainous decreet arbitral, but will expose them in public and in

private as much as I am able, without a premunire upon myself,

* Chiefs of Grant, vol. i., pp. 278-279.
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for there was never such villainy committed since there was a lawyer

or writer in Scotland, which will make me never have such confidence

in a lawyer or writer except in you alone, as I have had heretofore,

and your trustee and mine was the great traitor, and contriver of all
;

I wish I may not feel it in some other part, and that I am not robbed

of other papers as well as those that occasioned the villainous decreet

arbitral, for I know no reason why that greedy gentleman was

privately for five or six weeks, without any person with him, searching

and rummaging my charter chest in my own house, when I was

last at Edinburgh, if it was not to rob me of any paper that might be

of benefit to himself, or to his villainous friends ; and as to all the

papers that were at your house, they were at his discretion, and God
knows what he has done with them, for I think nothing safe that was

in his hands, and I think him the most pernicious man that ever I had

to do with of his kind ; however, if I suffer in one shape, and though

he gained money in betraying of me, his character, for which I believe

he has no regard, shall be exposed to mankind and put in its true

colours and there I leave him."

Part of the arrangements made by his Lordship to com-

plete his title to the estate was to obtain a bond from Hugh,

Fraserdale's heir, for a large amount, charge him to enter as

heir in special to his grandfather, Hugh, the eleventh Lord

Fraser of Lovat, and thereupon adjudge all rights he might

have as the heir of his mother's marriage. At the same

time Hugh adjudged, as heir of his father Fraserdale, from

the Duke of Atholl, the rights of the estate which were

vested in his Grace as trustee for the heirs of the marriage

of his daughter, Lady Amelia Murray, with Hugh the last

Lord Fraser, who died in 1696. Lovat having then suc-

ceeded in an action of declarator of reduction against

Charles, fifth Lord Kinnaird, as the heir of his mother,

Anne, daughter of Hugh the tenth Lord, who died in

1672, he, on the 26th of July, 1738, expede a charter of

the whole lands, lordship and barony, under the Great Seal

in favour of himself, and failing him to Simon his eldest

son, Master of Lovat ; Alexander, his second son, and

Archibald, his third son, and the heirs-male of their bodies

successively, all of whom failing, the succession to fall to his

own heirs-male whomsoever.*

* Andersons Historical Account ofthe Family of'Fraser; p. 143.
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In 1724 Lovat drew up a memorial at the request of the

King on the state of the Highlands, quoted as an authority

by Marshall Wade when he visited the north in the follow-

ing year.*

Phopachy and his Lordship appear to have maintained

their quarrel during the remainder of their lives. On the

7th of April, 1729, the latter writes
—"As to Phopachy, I

believe he is quite mad or really possessed with the devil,

for as I came home last night from the King Advocate's

house, I got a letter from Castle Ladder (Major Fraser), of

which the enclosed is a copy, by which you will see what a

situation I am in with the villain " Phopachy, who was pre-

paring a memorial, to be presented to the Government by

"a Lord in the South, that is full of all the crimes that ever

was invented, and capable to hang all England, if it was

proven." According to Lovat, not a word of the charges

made against him in this document was true. " I bless

God," he indignantly says, " I never was in my life guilty of

a base or villainous action, so I do not fear this wicked

calumny. But I think much shame that a monster called

Fraser should endeavour to give a scandalous impression of

me to the world." He, however, poor immaculate innocent!

hopes the law will do him justice without his having re-

course to commit violence on Phopachy 's person for "such

a barbarous villainy " as that person was guilty of.

Lovat was on the most intimate terms with the Hon.

James Erskine, brother of the Earl of Mar of the 'Forty-

five, and one of the judges of the Court of Session by the

courtesy title of Lord Grange. When practising at the bar,

he was one of Lord Lovat's counsel and prepared for him

what he believes to be "one of the best entails " in Scotland.

Lady Grange seems to have known too much about the

treasonable intrigues of her husband and his friend, having

come into possession of a dangerous letter, which after one

of her many quarrels with her Lord she was determined to

bring under the notice of the Government, and she had

* Burt's Letters, vol. ii ., 1822 edition, Appendix pp. 254-259, where it

is printed at length.
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actually taken her seat in a conveyance starting for London

for that purpose. She was, however, taken back, and on

the 22nd of January, 1732, while living" at lodgings sep-

arated from and next door to her husband, she was seized

and gagged by a band of Highlanders who had obtained

access to the house. She declared that they were dressed

in Lord Lovat's " livery," that is the Fraser tartan, and that

Simon himself had an interview with the principal man in

charge of her, near Stirling, to arrange as to her further

journey north. When he is charged with having a share in

the lady's abduction he neither admits nor denies it, but

simply says that "as to the story about my Lady Grange,

it is a much less surprise to me, because they said ten times

worse of me when that damned woman went from Edin-

burgh than they can say now ; for they said that it was all

my contrivance, and that it was my servants that took her

away ; but I defied them then, as I do now, and do declare

to you upon honour, that I do not know what has become

of that woman, where she is, or who takes care of her ; but

if I had contrived, and assisted, and saved my Lord Grange

from that devil, who threatened every day to murder him

and his children, I would not think shame of it before God
or man ; and wherever she is, I wish and hope she may
never be seen again to torment my worthy friend."* There

is now no doubt whatever that Lord Lovat had a leading

part in the transaction, and that several well-known mem-
bers of the clan, including near relatives of his, took a

personal part in removing Lady Grange from Edinburgh to

the Western Isles, where she ended her days.

Having secured final possession of the family estates,

Lord Simon was still hankering after the neighbouring pro-

perties of Strathglass and Glengarry. In a letter addressed

to his Edinburgh agent on the 27th of October, 1739,

already quoted, he says that he has " caused execute the

summons of reduction and improbation against the Chis-

holm, which I beg you cause carry on with vigour."

Regarding Glengarry, he says, in another letter to the

* Genealogy ofthe Hays of Tweeddale, p. 109.
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same person—" I may as well ask his liver as to ask him to

give me Abertarff for money, though they originally and

really belong to my family ; so that the law must assist me
with my money to get me possession of those lands that

have been so long and so unjustly kept from my family by

the weakness of my predecessors." His principal claims

to these neighbouring estates appear to have been estab-

lished by the purchase of debts due to other people. He
failed, after a long legal process to make any headway against

the Chisholm, but he ultimately paid off a wadset in virtue of

which Abertarff was held by Glengarry, and secured posses-

sion of these lands, which still form a part of the Lovat estates.

In 1736 Lovat erected an extraordinary memorial in the

Church of Kirkhill, where it can still be seen in good pre-

servation, with the following curious inscription, ostensibly

in memory of his father but really to perpetuate his own
transcendant virtues !

—

TO THE MEMORY OF

THOMAS LORD FRASER OF LOVAT,

Who chose rather to undergo the greatest hardships of fortune than to

part with the ancient honours of his house, and bore these

hardships with an undaunted fortitude of mind

this monument was erected

By Simon Lord Fraser of Lovat, his Son,

Who likewise having undergone many and great vicissitudes of good

and bad fortune through the malice of his enemies, he, in the

end, at the head of his Clan, forced his way to his

paternal inheritance, with his sword in his hand,

and relieved his kindred and followers from

oppression and slavery.

And both at home and in foreign countries

By his eminent actions, in the wars and the State, has acquired great

honours and reputation.

Hie tegit ossa lapis, Simonis fortis in armis

Restituit pressum, nam genus ille suum.

Hoc marmor posuit, cari genitoris honori

;

In genus afflictum par erat ejus amor.

Soon after this memorial was erected, Sir Robert Munro,

killed at Falkirk in 1745, was on a visit to Lovat, and the
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two proceeded to have a look at the monument. Upon
reading- the inscription Sir Robert said

—" Simon, how the

devil came you to have the assurance to put up such a

boasting- and romantic inscription?" to which his Lordship

promptly replied—"The monument and inscription are

chiefly calculated for the Frasers, who must believe whatever

I, their chief, require of them, and their posterity will think

it as true as the Gospel "—a prediction which it is feared

has not been fully verified.

When John Roy Stuart, a well-known Jacobite, broke

out of the prison of Inverness in 1736, he proceeded to

Castle Dounie, Lovat's residence, and was entertained there

for nearly six weeks, although his Lordship was at the time

Sheriff of the county ; and when a ship was ready to take

John to the Continent he was driven to it in Lovat's carriage

after he received a message from Lord Simon to "assure

the Pretender, whom he called his King, of his fidelity, and

that he was prepared to die in that cause." His Lordship

at the same time charged him to expedite his (the Chev-

alier's) sending him his commission of Lieutenant-General

of the Highlands and his patent of a dukedom, and in 1742

he told Robert Chevis of Muirtown that he received both

the commission and patent, "from his lawful sovereign King

James the Eighth."*

Rumours of his disloyalty, as he thinks through Major

James Fraser, must have reached the Court about this

period, and especially his old friend the Earl of Islay, who

seems to have remonstrated with him. In Lovat's letter

to the Earl, dated Beaufort, the 27th of May, 1737, and

already quoted, his Lordship, at the same time that he was

sending messages of the warmest attachment and loyalty by

John Roy Stuart to the Chevalier is abusing the Prince to

his own patron the Earl, in the strongest language. He
says

—

" Now, my good Lord, I humbly refer it to your serious reflection,

whether or not it is possible that I, in my senses and reason, could

have the least thought, or imagination, or wish, to see another Govern-

* Lord Lovafs Trial,
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ment or any disturbance in this. Surely, I must be a madman if I

would wish the Pretender to prevail, who used me like a scoundrel

and put me in a dungeon upon the mere suspicion of my being a

partisan of the family of Hanover. And if the Pretender did prevail,

of which there is no manner of probability, and which I pray God
may never happen, would I not be an idiot or a madman to imagine

that any service I could do the Pretender could balance the interest

of the families of Hamilton, Gordon, Atholl, and Seaforth, who have

been my professed enemies these forty years past, and who were

always believed to be friends of the Pretender, and must naturally be

his favourites if he prevail," and then, " Duncan Forbes told me once,

I might expect a gallows ten feet higher than ordinary if the Pre-

tender prevailed, so that I think that no man on serious reflection can

believe, that upon any consideration whatever I could ever act or con-

trive anything against this Government, if twenty villainous Knights

of the Post should assert it," after which he proceeds to detail "• facts"

which, he says, " I hope will convince you or any man that thinks that

I believe there is a God and a future state, that I am entirely innocent

of the false and villainous aspersion laid to my door."

His Lordship then falls foul of his old friend, the Major.

Continuing-

, he says

—

" I therefore earnestly entreat and hope, that if there remains with

your Lordship any part of the friendship that you have so long hon-

oured me with, and which has been my greatest support, that you will

now be so good as to show your resentment against my calumniators

and false accusers. I cannot but be persuaded that the wild, un-

natural, and ungrateful wretch, James Fraser of Castle Leathers,

commonly called Major Cracks, for his lies, has been one of the

Knights of the Post that has belied me ; because, since he came
home, he was so insolent as to send me a threatening message by the

Sheriff-Depute of Inverness and by the Commissary, that if I would

put him out of my lands that he now possesses, of which I gave a tack

or lease to one of my lieutenants, that he would go immediately and

be an informer against me, though he was it not before ; and he was

so impudent as to tell these gentlemen and Major Caulfield that he

would send me a challenge to fight me, if he could get any man to

carry it, notwithstanding that he is known to be the greatest coward

as well as the greatest liar in the whole country, for several different

persons have affronted him publicly, and he never had the soul to

fight them or to resent it. But since this letter is too much swelled

already, I will refer to another paper to give your Lordships a true

and faithful account of that ungrateful and unnatural monster, that I

relieved from beggary, which will prove to demonstration that he is

and always has been one of the greatest rogues that this country has

24
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produced. The only reason that I countenanced him for, was his

brother Culduthel's sake, who was my lieutenant, and one of the

honestest men in the world, and all his brothers were, who always

condemned and quarrelled with him for his lying, rhodomontade,

knavish ways of life."

This is another striking example of Lovat's ingratitude

to his friends, and not a few more will appear before we
finally part with him.

In the year 1740 he met the Duke of Argyll and the

Earl of Islay in Edinburgh, at different interviews. In a

letter from Edinburgh to Charles Fraser of Inverallochy,

dated the nth of September, he says that he was re-

ceived somewhat coldly by both of them, especially by the

latter, who allowed about a fortnight to pass before he

invited him to a private conference, when he directly

charged him with being a Jacobite. " He said," says Lovat,

" that my house was a Jacobite house ; that the discourse of

those in my house was Jacobitism, and that I conversed

with nobody but with Jacobites. He owned to me that the

villain Castleleaders told him the strangest things upon this

subject. I answered his Lordship that Castleleaders was

such a known liar and rogue in the country that no honest

man would drink with him ; his Lordship told me that the

Jacobites themselves said openly that I was a Jacobite. I

answered him that the Jacobites had reason to call every

man a Jacobite that they might endeavour to draw him

into their party. He then told me that the Minister had

intelligence from abroad of my correspondence with the

Pretender. I answered his Lordship with a little warmth,

that these stories were but damned calumnies and lies,

and that I did not for years write a letter to any one beyond

sea, which indeed is true." We have here the usual

strong language and charges against proved and long-

standing friends so characteristic of Simon.

During his whole career he lived more or less a double

existence, but this is specially true of the period now under

notice. He was no doubt a Jacobite at heart from the

beginning and had Jacobites mainly for his correspondents
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—except the Forbeses and Argylls—and private companions,

while in public he acted the part of a friend of the Govern-

ment and associated occasionally with such as he found

necessary in order to keep up appearances. But at this

particular date "the two brothers" took different sides,

and it was difficult for Lovat to decide which of them it

would be most to his interest to follow. Dr Hill Burton

says that "after the indignity offered to Scotland, at the

period of the Porteous mob, a Patriot or Opposition party,

separate from the Jacobite, had made great progress. Argyll

was at its head, while his brother Islay remained with

the Court. It was a very serious question with Lovat to

which of these branches he should adhere. The interview

with Islay decided the question. It gave no hope of the

restoration of his Sheriffship or Independent Company."

Lovat himself, writing from Edinburgh to the same Charles

Fraser of Inverallochy, on the 3rd of January, 1741, says

—

" I must now tell you that when I came here, I was not determined

to dispose absolutely of myself for some time ; but when I found the

Duke of Argyll at the head of the greatest families, the richest families,

and the most powerful families in the Kingdom openly proclaiming

and owning in the face of the sun that he and they were resolved,

in any event, to stand for and endeavour to recover the liberty of their

country, which is enslaved by the tyranny and oppression of a wicked

Minister, I own my heart and inclination warmed very much to that

side ; and on the other hand when I found that the Minister of the

Court, the Earl of Islay, said nothing to me that regarded my person or

family, but that the first Minister accused me of being a Jacobite, and

that James Fraser of Casleleaders, that infamous liar and informer,

had told to himself the strongest things of me upon that subject,

which I answered very cavalierly both as to the First Minister and as

to his Lordship, and when I found that he asked nothing of me, nor

promised me any equivalent for my Company, or any other particular

favour, I then concluded that he left me to myself to do what I

thought fit."

There were, however, difficulties still in the way and im-

pediments to overcome. He had to associate with and be

received in companionship by men most of whom had in

the past been his bitterest enemies and opponents. Among
them were the Dukes of Hamilton, Montrose, Buccleuch,
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Queensberry, and Roxburgh, the Marquises of Tweeddale

and Annandale, the Earls of Aberdeen and Marchmont, and

others. But Simon very soon accommodated himself to his

new situation, and determined to let his new friends see

what he was capable of doing for them. In the letter last

quoted he says to Inverallochy

—

" I am now, my dear cousin, at the end of my project. You see

me embarked over head and ears with the noble party of patriots, and

you see me received with open arms, even with the great families that

were my enemies, who will not only be my steadfast friends, but will

continue for their own sakes friends to my son and to my family ; so

that I humbly think, that by God's help, I have done the greatest

service to my son and family that was possible for me to do,

which I hope will redound to the interest, honour, and glory of

my kindred. After I found that these great men received me with

open arms, I thought I would not in honour go into their party

with bare brix. I told them that I would not only give them my
vote, but that I hoped to gain them the shire of Inverness, by choosing

my cousin, the Laird of Macleod, as member
;
you see now, my

dear cousin, that the election of Inverness-shire is mine more than

the Laird of Macleod's, and that every man that wishes me well,

and my family and kindred, should support me in carrying that

election for the Laird of Macleod."

Macleod's opponent was Sir James Grant of Grant, at the

time the head of the family to which Lovat's first wife

belonged, but notwithstanding, he determined to put forth

every means within his power to defeat him, right or wrong.

His morals never came much in his way when he wanted

to carry out an object. On this occasion he seems less

troubled on that score than usual, if that were possible, for

he ostentatiously declared how indifferent he was even to

perjuring himself wholesale. In connection with the forth-

coming Parliamentary contest he says in the same letter

—

"Glenbucket did me the honour to make me two visits and

we spoke seriously on this subject, and Glenbucket is afraid

that neither Sir Alexander Macdonald nor Glengarry will

qualify. In that case we will lose our election ; but I entreat

that you speak seriously to my Lord that he may engage

Glenbucket to write to his son-in-law Glengarry that he

might be for Macleod at the next elections, and to persuade
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him to take the oaths." And here Lovat informs us how
little he considered an oath binding on his own conscience.

" I know he (Glengarry) has no regard for them, so he

should not stand to take a cart load of them, as I would do

to serve my friends," says Lord Simon ! In the same com-

munication he goes on to tell his friend that Alexander

Fraser of Fairfield would not help him, his chief, in this

contest, but on the contrary went to Castle Grant, and for a

promise that Sir James Grant made him of an ensigncy for

his son, "the poor, covetous, narrow, greedy wretch has

renounced his chief and kindred." He showed himself "to

be an unnatural traitor, an infamous deserter, and an un-

grateful wretch " to the head of his house, and, of course

"he should be hanged" for deserting him "to serve any

Grant that ever was born." But in spite of all these bad

qualities that Fairfield was said to be possessed of, Lovat

made him a " better " offer if he would only vote for Mac-

leod. " I told Fairfield," he says, " that I was far from

desiring his loss, or any hurt to his family ; that since the

Laird of Grant promised him an ensign's commission for his

son, that I would do better. Grant's offer was precarious,

but that at that moment, before his cousin Cuming, I would

give him my bond for £500 sterling, and obliging myself

to get his son an ensign's commission in two months or give

him the full value of it in money to buy it for his son. He
then most insolently and villainously told me that he was

under previous engagements to the Laird of Grant and that

he must keep them." He admits having got into a passion,

and to have said that Fairfield " was as mad as he was un-

grateful." Lovat was determined to reduce his rights to his

estate, if he could, declaring that he would spend a thousand

pounds in doing so. But in the meantime he appears to

hope for a cheaper, more immediate, and effective remedy

in another direction. He goes on to say

—

" All my fear at present is that my cousin Gortuleg, who certainly

is the prettiest fellow of my kindred in the Highlands, will fall foul of

Fairfield, who I believe is stout, which is the only good quality that I

can imagine he has, and in all events, if they fight, Fairfield is un*
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done, for if Gortuleg kills him there is an end of him ; or if he kills

Gortuleg the universe cannot save his life if he stays in this island
;

for Gortuleg has four cousins-german, the most bold and desperate

fellows of the whole name, who would take off Fairfield's head at the

Cross of Inverness, if they were to be hanged for it next morning."*

Lovat was now an active partisan of the exiled House of

Stuart. In 1739-40 he entered into an association with the

friends of that family in favour of the Chevalier. Among
the others were the Earl of Traquair ; that nobleman's

brother, John Stuart
;
James Drummond, generally known

as the Duke of Perth ; Lord John Drummond, that gentle-

man's uncle ; Sir James Campbell of Auchinbreck ; Donald

Cameron, Younger of Lochiel, and several others, and

strongly urged the invasion of Scotland. In 1743 he

actually received a commission as Commander-in-Chief of

the invading army and a patent for a dukedom. In the

same year the expedition first proposed by him was actually

resolved upon, and he was appointed to conduct it in the

Highlands. The preparation of a fleet with an army of

15,000 on board made at Dunkirk in the end of February,

1744, and the destruction of the ships by the British fleet

and a great storm are so well known as to need no recapi-

tulation here. Its total failure at the outset did not,

however, affect Lovat's determination to become " the most

active partizan of the malcontents." In March following,

war was finally declared between England and France, and

on the 25th of July, 1745, Prince Charles, the son of the

Chevalier and grandson of James II., landed from the

" Doutelle " on the mainland at Loch-nan-uagh, in the

West Highlands, with a following only of seven adherents,

notice of which was at once sent to all the friendly chiefs,

including Simon Lord Lovat.

Before describing his Lordship's share in what followed

and its fatal consequences to himself, we shall give a cor-

rected account of an incident in his life which occurred in

1745, but hitherto said by all the authorities to have taken

place in the preceding year. It was a dispute, which

* Letters in Miscellany of the Spalding Club, vol. ii., pp. 10-27.
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resulted in personal violence between Lords Lovat and

Fortrose, and in which the Mackenzie chief has always

hitherto been represented as most to blame. An entirely

different complexion has, however, been given to it, and its

date positively fixed as the 17th of May, 1745—within less

than two months of the landing of Prince Charles on the

West Coast of Scotland—by the publication of a series of

Lovat letters from the Cluny charter chest in Vol. xix. of

the Transactions of the Gaelic Society of Inverness by

Provost Alexander Macpherson of Kingussie. The version

current until these letters turned up was to the effect that

at a Court of the Freeholders of the county held at Inver-

ness in the first-named year at Michaelmas, to elect a

collector of the land tax, at which, among others, were

present Lord President Forbes, Norman Macleod of Mac-

leod, Lord Fortrose, Lord Lovat, Foyers, and several other

leading men of the clan Fraser, a warm debate got up on

some burning question between Lords Lovat and Fortrose,

when the former gave the latter the lie direct and, as it now
turns out, struck him with his cane. To this, it was said,

Mackenzie replied by giving Lovat a smart blow in the face.

Mutual friends at once intervened to separate them, but the

Fraser blood was up, and James Fraser of Foyers, who felt

that the whole clan had been insulted in the person of his

chief, sprang down from the gallery, where he had been

sitting, and presented a loaded and cocked pistol at Mac-

kenzie's head, to whom it would undoubtedly have proved

fatal had not one of the gentlemen present, with great

presence of mind, thrown his plaid over the muzzle, and

thus arrested and diverted its deadly contents. In another

moment swords and dirks were drawn on both sides, but

the Lord President and Macleod laid hold of Mackenzie and

hurried him from the Court. Yet no sooner had he gained

the outside than one of the Frasers levelled him to the

ground with a blow from a heavy bludgeon, notwithstanding

all the efforts of his friends to protect him. The matter

was, however, with great difficulty, arranged by mutual

friends between the two great clans and their respective
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chiefs, otherwise the social jealousies and personal irritations

which then prevailed throughout the whole Highlands,

fanned by this incident, would probably have produced a

lasting feud between the Frasers and Mackenzies.* It now
turns out that Lovat and his Fraser friends were altogether

in the wrong, and that Lord Simon had to make a complete

apology to the Mackenzie chief and at the same time to

put his more aggressive friends on the occasion of the fracas

through a somewhat humiliating process. In one of the

series of interesting Lovat letters referred to, Mr John

Fraser, writing to Cluny for his Lordship from Beaufort, on

the 31st of May, 1745, after the usual formalities, says

—

" As my Lord has been indisposed for two or three days past, and

is not fit or capable to undergo much fatigue, his Lordship has de-

sired me to give you a true account of what passed betwixt Lord Sea-

forth and his Lordship after they left Inverness, since you was known
yourself to all that happened before that time.

" Upon Saturday, the 18th of this month, my Lord Lovat and the

Laird of Macleod came from Inverness to Bunchrew, in my Lord's

chariot, to dine with the President, and as they talked over what

passed the day before at Inverness, the President said that my Lord

Lovat had put such an affront upon Seaforth, first giving him the lie

and then the cane, that, by the laws of honour, nothing but blood or

fighting could atone for it, and that if Seaforth could be pleased with

any other satisfaction my Lord Lovat should not at all refuse it. And
the President and Macleod entreated and importuned him to write a

civil letter to Seaforth acknowledging his concern for what had hap-

pened. Lord Lovat came home that night, and next day sent

Byrefield, with a couple of horses and his groom, with a letter to

Lord Seaforth, of which I send you a copy, as also of the letter that

Seaforth wrote back by Byrefield. My Lord Lovat first sent a copy

of his own letter and thereafter Lord Seaforth's letter to the President

and Macleod, and they approved very much of both.

"Two days thereafter Seaforth sent Davochmaluag with Lord

Lovat's letter to the President and Major Grant, Governor of Inver-

ness, and they both told Davochmaluag that it was their opinion that

my Lord's letter was full and complete satisfaction for the affront Sea-

forth received, and that there should be no more disturbance about it,

but that both the Lords should live together like neighbours in the

same friendly manner as formerly.

" My Lord Lovat has since, by Macleod's advice, and the Presi"

* The History of the Mackenzies, second edition, pp. 318-319.
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dent's, sent the man that gave Seaforth the strokes on the streets of

Inverness prisoner to Brahan, with a guard of four armed men, con-

ducted by two gentlemen, Ledclune, and Simon in Achnacloich.

" Davochmaluag, who was the only gentleman there at the time,

and who is Lord Seaforth's great Tutor, used the two gentlemen very

civilly, and said that he was very glad that the affair was taken away

for the good of both the kindred, and Lord Seaforth sent the man that

struck him a crown to drink his health, and relieved him and his

guard without doing them the least harm. So this affair is now fully

ended without a drop of blood. And if no cross accident interfere, I

hope both the peers and their clans will live together amicably with-

out any variance or bloodshed."*

Lord Lovat at this period while writing to his friend,

Lord President Forbes of Culloden, letters brimful of the

most loyal sentiments towards the reigning family was

actively plotting their destruction with the friends of Prince

Charles and his house. On this point Mr Anderson says

that while " his Lordship, willing to keep up appearances

with the Government, made the most solemn assurances of

fidelity to President Forbes, secretly, however, sending for

his son from St. Andrews and appointing him Colonel of

the clan ; arms, money, and provisions were collected ; the

clan rendezvoused, and the fiery cross circulated. It

was impossible to veil such proceedings in secrecy, and the

Lord President, to whom he owed much, candidly wrote

him of the reports abroad, and besought him by every

sacred consideration to weigh well what he owed to the

established power. His Lordship had even to complain of

an attack by the Stratherrick Frasers upon his house. To
the sincere and often repeated solicitations of the President

Lovat returned evasive replies, opposing subtle subterfuges

and deceitful pretexts to sound argument and solid advice. "f

For instance, Mr Robert Craigie, at the time Lord Advo-

cate, received a letter from Lovat, dated the 23rd of August,

1745, in reply to one from the former dated the 15th of

the same month, in which Lord Simon says

—

"Your Lordship judges right when you believe that no hardship or

ill-usage that I meet with can alter or diminish my zeal and

* Transactions ofthe Gaelic Society ofInverness, vol. xix., pp. 207209.

t Historical Account ofthe Family ofFraser, p. 150.
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attachment for his Majesty's person and Government. I am as ready

this day (as far as I am able) to serve the King and Government as I

was in the year 1715, when I had the good fortune to serve the King

in suppressing the great rebellion more than any of my rank in

the Island of Britain. But my clan and I have been so neglected

these many years past that I have not twelve stands of arms in

my country, though I thank God I could bring twelve hundred men to

the field for the King's service if I had arms and other accoutrements

for them. Therefore, my good Lord, I earnestly entreat that, as you

wish I would do good service to the Government, on this critical

occasion, you may order a thousand stand of arms to be delivered

to me and my clan at Inverness, and then your Lordship shall see

that I will exert myself for the King's service."

What he intended to do with these arms, had he been

successful in getting- them, may be gathered from the

following letter written to his friend Lochiel in September,

only a few days later

—

" Dear Lochiel,— I fear you have been over rash in going ere

affairs are ripe. You are in a dangerous state. The Elector's

General, Cope, is in your rear, hanging at your tail, with 3000 men,

such as have not been here since Dundee's affair, and we have no

force to meet him. If the Macphersons would take the field I would

bring out my lads to help you, and 'twixt the two we might cause Cope

keep his Christmas here, but only Cluny is earnest in the cause, and

my Lord Advocate plays at cat and mouse with me ; but times

may change and I may bring him to the Saint Johnstone's tippet.

Meantime look to yourselves, for you may expect many a sour face

and sharp weapon in the South. I'll aid when I can, but my prayers

are all I can give at present. My service to the Prince, but I wish he

had not come so empty handed. Siller would go far in the Highlands.

I send this by Ewan Fraser, whom I have charged to give it to

yourself; for were Duncan to find it, it would be my head to an

onion. Farewell.— Your faithful friend, Lovat."

Several letters passed between Lord Lovat and President

Forbes, between the dates of the one addressed by Simon

to the Lord Advocate and the one written by him to

Lochiel. In the first of these he says of Prince Charles

—

" I hear that mad and unaccountable gentleman has set up

a standard at a place called Glenfinnan Monday last," and

of Lochiel in a letter to the Lord President, dated the 27th

of August, he says—
" I own I must regret my dear cousin, Lochiel, who, contrary
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to his promise to me, engaged in this mad enterprise ; but if Sir John

Cope is beat (which I think next to impossible) this desperate Prince

will be the occasion of much bloodshed, which I pray God may avert

;

for to have bloodshed in our bowels is a horrible thing to any man
that loves Scotland. Therefore, I pray God that we may not have a

Civil War in Scotland ; this has been my constant wish since ever I

had the use of my reason ; and it shall be the same while there is

breath in me ; so that they must be damnably ignorant of the prin-

ciple of my heart and soul who can imagine that I would endeavour

to promote a Civil War in my country. I do assure you, my dear

Lord, that if the King had taken my house and a part of my estate

without any just ground, as he did my company, that I would go and

live, though most miserable, in any country on earth rather than make
a Civil War in my own country. I hope this will convince your Lord-

ship that I have always been a declared enemy of this mad project.

Now, my dear Lord, as to what you desire me, of acquainting all my
people to be in readiness, I do assure you I did so immediately after

coming from Inverness ; but, to obey your commands, I have sent my
officers this day with orders to them to be ready when I should call

for them ; and I ordered them to make short coats and hose, and to

put aside the long coats, and to get as many swords and dirks as they

could find out. As to the article of arms, it's needless to talk of it ; for

my men have no arms, and I never will present them to King or

General without arms. And your Lordship may remember that when
you spoke to me of that article at Inverness, you said at last that I

could not show my men without arms, and without sufficient orders

from the Government ; to which opinion I told your Lordship I would

adhere. As to my zeal for the Government, I can assure your Lord-

ship that I have as much as any lord or laird in Scotland except your

Lordship, whose constant, uncommon, and fiery zeal for this Govern-

ment, to my certain knowledge, is and has always been without

example. But I hope, my Lord, since you have this day the same

power over your old corporal that you had in the year 17 15, you will

make my Court to Sir John Cope. If I be able to step into my
chariot I will pay my duty to him at Inverness or Culloden, and will

beg of your Lordship to introduce me to him."

The short coats were to be exchanged for the long ones,

and the arms which Lord Simon pressed for, were, as has

been already premised and will soon appear, intended for a

very different purpose to that set forth in his letters to the

Lord President, who writes to his Lordship of Lovat on the

19th of September, offering him a commission for his

second son, " as your eldest was destined to another course
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of life."* He at the same time says that he was informed

that the " Stratherrick men were immediately to join Glen-

bucket ; and that as your own (Lord Simon's) health was

bad and the Master of Lovat but young, you had sent your

cousin Inverallochy to command these and raise your other

men. If such silly stories pass upon any body, it must be

upon those who do not know what you have done for the

present Government, and the value you have for your

honour and for the estate of Lovat." Simon replies next

day, the 20th, in a letter from which it appears that he

declined the commission for his second son, though he does

not say so in as many words, but states that he had re-

quested his cousin Macleod to explain his resolutions

regarding it and his reasons for them. He admits that

Inverallochy is already at Beaufort, but says that the

statement made regarding him is "grossly false," adding
—"the reason I sent for him is that I resolved to put

my estate in trust in his hand, my Lord Strichen's, and

Macleod's, being determined as soon as I can, as I have

been all this season, to go south, and from that to England,

and from that to France (if I get leave) for the benefit of

my health ; and I sent for Inverallochy to be witness to

Evan Baillie's drawing up the papers concerning my estate,

because its ten to one if ever I come back to this country

after going out of it. This is the true matter of fact." This

was written on the 20th of September, 1745.

On the 15th, only five days before, he had written a letter

to Ewen Macpherson of Cluny, who was married to his

daughter, the Hon. Janet Fraser, in which he says, referring

* John Grant, factor for Urquhart, writing from Balmacaan, on the 12th

of September, 1745, to Ludovick Grant of Grant, after describing the move-

ments and preparations of certain leading men in Glenurquhart and their

tenants, says—" Lord Lovat is making ready to march. He has given orders

to all his men to be in readiness, and has a good many smiths and tinkers

preparing their arms and targes." On the 17th he writes that " last Friday,

upon the night sixty of his men went through this country to join the High-

landers, and I am told that all the Stratherrick Frasers join them this week."

On the 8th of October he writes—" Lord Lovat has not appointed a day for

his marching as yet, for 1 am told that he has the meal to make that he car-

ries along with him for his men's subsistence."
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to her husband's decision to join Prince Charles—"The

account that you and my dear Sibbie give me of my dear

daughter Lady Cluny's extraordinary melancholy situation

grieves me to the heart and soul," and again—"As to her

apprehensions with regard to your resolutions, I hope in

God these gloomy apprehensions will soon wear off, for she

cannot but observe that there are numbers of the best

women in the Kingdom in the same situation with herself."

Messengers with letters, on the subject of joining the Prince,

were at this time constantly passing between his Lordship

and his son-in-law.

On the 23rd of the same month, just three days after he

had written to the Lord President so indignantly denying

the stories circulated regarding his attitude, he wrote Cluny

another letter in reply to one brought to him at Beaufort by

Macpherson of Druminard, in which he says— " I shall send

an express to you when any extraordinary thing happens,

till I have the honour to see you, which I hope will be in a

very little time. I send you enclosed the glorious news of

this day, which, if it is confirmed, I truly think P. C. (Prince

Charles) Master of all Scotland, but he will not be the worse

of what Druminard will tell you from me." And further,

" I beg as you love your own honour and interest and the

good of your family, do not fail to observe strictly the

advice and instructions that I send you by our friend Drum-

inard. If you do, remember I tell you that you will repent

it. I have the agreeable news to tell you that I bless God
I am better in health than I have been these two years past,

and have more the use of my limbs. It's a sort of miracle,

considering how ill I have been these two or three months

past. I hope it's to enable me to serve my country."

There can be no possible doubt as to the country and cause

which he intended to serve, and if there could it is made
perfectly clear in his next communication. The "glorious

news" referred to by his Lordship must have been the

capture by Prince Charles of the City of Edinburgh, six

days before the date of the letter quoted, on the 17th of

September, 1745.
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On the same day, the 23rd of September, 1745, a warrant

by Prince Charles, signed and sealed by Secretary Murray

at Holyrood House, is issued in favour of James Fraser

of Foyers to apprehend Lord President Forbes of Cul-

loden. The original is in possession of Mr Charles Fraser-

Mackintosh of Drummond, who kindly allowed us to take a

copy of it. It will be observed that a similar warrant had

previously been issued in favour of Simon Lord Lovat,

although he denies any knowledge of Foyers' proceedings

in attempting to execute his, which is in the following

terms

—

" Charles Prince of Wales, etc., Regent of Scotland, England,

France, and Ireland, with the Dominions thereunto belonging :

To James Fraser of Foyers

Whereas we gave a warrand some time ago to the Lord Lovat

to apprehend and secure the person of Duncan Forbes of Culloden,

which warrand for sufficient reasons he could not put in execution,

We now judge it necessary hereby to empower you to seise upon the

person of the above-named Duncan Forbes, and when you have

so seised and apprehended him, to convey him prisoner to us at

Edinburgh, or where we shall happen to be for the time ; for the doing

of which this shall be your warrand. Given at his Majestie's Palace

of Holyrood house, the 23rd day of September, 1745. By his

Highness' Command. (Signed) Jo. Murray."

On the 7th of October, several weeks after the date of

his letter to Lochiel, already given at length, and only a

fortnight after the foregoing letter to Cluny, his Lordship

sends again to the Lord President a communication bristling

with the most fulsome adulation, in the course of which, in

characteristic fashion, he says

—

" There has been several villainous, malicious, and ridiculous re-

ports that vexed me very much ; but as there was nothing out of hell

more false, I despise them and the scoundrels that invented them
;

and since the whole business, trade, and conversation of many in

Inverness is to invent and tell lies I hope your Lordship will believe

no mean thing of me till you have a real and infallible proof of it, as I

am resolved that this shall be my conduct towards your Lordship."

In a like spirit of double dealing he forwards to the same

gentleman on the nth, four days later, a communication in

which, after giving the names of prominent men who are
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joining Prince Charles and stating the spirit towards him by

which they were actuated, he says

—

" I am very sorry that this spirit is come to so great a height in

this country, for the Clanchattan's rendezvousing to go and join the

Highlanders has so intoxicated my people that I find it morally im-

possible for me to stop them. The oldest men, that are substantial

tenants, say that they will not stay behind to be upbraided with

cowardice by their neighbours. Your Lordship may remember that I

had a vast deal of trouble in keeping my men from rising at the

beginning of this affair, but now the contagion is so universal by the

late success of the Highlanders that they laugh at any man that would

dissuade them from going ; so that I really know not how to behave."

Alexander Grant of Corrimony writing to Ludovick Grant

of Grant on the 15th of October, 1/45,'says, "I came last

night from my Lord Lovat's, with whom I was pretty big,

could I credit him. I advertise you that for certain his whole

clan and the Master of Lovat are next week to march and

join the Prince. My Lord proposed, as I meant that way,

to join him and come under his colours. I told his Lord-

ship that my own chief had very good colours, and though I

was so rash as go without him, that I could not but observe

the difference 'twixt loyalty and family quarrels, and that I

never would bring such a task on my chief or the clan as

join a person who was thought to be in direct opposition to

his interest. My Lord got in a passion and ordered I

should be silent in his house, and till the hour of his death

he could not forgive me, and that he would cause my chief

revenge it. I also advertise you that the Master of Lovat

comes 'twixt (this) and this day se'enight to force your

tenants, with 300 men, to join him, in order to be under his

banner ; to prevent which design I run this express, and do

think you should immediately send a judicious gentleman or

two to spirit the people to go over to Castle Grant, where

they should continue in a body with the rest of the name,

till any who would dare to insult them would go off."*

On the 1 6th of October, Lovat writes again to Cluny a

letter which places his duplicity, and his intrigue for Prince

Charles beyond any dispute, and which had it been known

* Chiefs of Grant, vol. 2, p. 1 74.
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and produced at his trial would by itself have been con-

clusive regarding his guilt. The original is in the Cluny

charter chest, as are also those addressed to that chief already

quoted, and they were read by Provost Alexander Mac-

pherson of Kingussie, before the Gaelic Society of Inverness,

on the 22nd of February, 1894, and published in Vol. XIX.

of that Society's Transactions, pp. 209-212. His Lordship

writes to his son-in-law as follows

—

" I received by the bearer the honour of your kind letter, for which

I return you my sincere thanks. I am exceeding glad that you have

marched your men according to my earnest request, since my son

could not join you, he waiting every day for Macleod and Sir Alex-

ander (Macdonald). I hope you will let the great people above know
my extraordinary zeal in that affair and how I pressed you to go

immediately South and not wait for my son and people. The letter

that you sent me from his Grace, the Duke of Atholl, is most civil and

obliging, and I earnestly entreat if you see his Grace that you assure

him of my most humble duty and best respects, and that he has no

friends or relation that has a greater esteem and affection for his

Grace than I have, and I will instruct my son in a particular manner

to have always a great regard and attachment for the Duke of Atholl.

I beg you may not fail to let his Grace know this when you see him,

and if Macleod and Sir Alexander do not do right things God knows

it is not my fault, for I have used my endeavours with them as much as

if it was to save my life, and I hope they will give the lie to all those

that cry out against them ... I hope when my son comes up

with his regiment, which I believe will be two battalions, you will live

with him as a brother ought to do to another, and stand by one

another upon all occasions, and I think you should have your

regiment near his that you may be always dose to one another

and might assist each other in time of need or in case of accidents.

I beg you may seriously consider of this, and it will be your interest

to grant my request on this subject. I will earnestly and in

most particular manner recommend it to my son, and I am sure

it will not be his fault if you and your following do not live with

him and his like brothers, for he will enjoin every man he has to look

upon every Macpherson as a brother."

About the same date as Lord Lovat's letter to Cluny

Macpherson—the middle of October, 1745—an attack was

made upon Culloden House, with the object of capturing

the Lord President, under James Fraser of Foyers, in terms

of the warrant from Prince Charles already given, but
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it is argued by some of Lord Simon's friends that this was

done without his authority, and that he knew nothing about

it. He no doubt says so himself, but the reader has

already gauged the value of his most solemn averments, and

it is feared that few will accept his statements as conclusive

evidence in such a case in his own favour, especially when it

is known that a similar warrant was previously issued to

himself, which at the time he did not find convenient to put

in execution against his unsuspecting friend. Lord Presi-

dent Forbes, writing to him from Culloden on the 18th of

October, says

—

" I would have acquainted your Lordship sooner of the idle attempt

that was made on this house in the night between Tuesday and

Wednesday* last by my relation Foyers, and some others, whom your

Lordship acquainted me some time ago you could hardly govern, but

that I very well know it would give your Lordship more pain than it

did me, though no man of common equity who knows that they car-

ried off my sheep, robbed my gardener, and the poor weaver who is

a common benefit to the country, and carried off some of my tenants'

cattle, will imagine that there was the least countenance from any

about your Lordship to this transaction, nor should I now give you

any trouble on a subject so disagreeable but that I am teased every

hour with reports that the gentlemen who failed of their principal aim

give it now out that they are to pillage, burn, and destroy my innocent

tenants. These reports, I confess, I give no credit to, knowing that I

never deserved any such usage at the hands of those who are said to

intend it, but as things unforeseen now-a-days happen I have judged

it proper to acquaint your Lordship with what I hear, in full confidence

that you will take such pains to prevent such hurt to me and my
tenants as I most undoubtedly should to prevent damage to your

Lordship or any one that belongs to you."

The Stratherrick men failed to take the Castle of Cul-

loden, which was strongly fortified, having had several

pieces of cannon on its ramparts, or its principal defender,

in terms of their leader's warrant. Lovat appears to have

written a letter to the Lord President on the 17th of

October which was not found among the Culloden Papers,

but from the reply to it Lord Simon seems to have in-

formed the President of the Master's intention to take the

* "At 3 o'clock on the morning of the 16th "

—

Chiefs of Grant, vol ii., p. 176.

25
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field at the head of the clan for Prince Charles. The Lord

President, writing on the 19th, says

—

"Your Lordship's letter of the 17th, which I received this morning,

gave me a smarter concern than any thing I met with for a great

while. What portends no less than ruin to your Lordship and to your

family, for which I have been so zealously interested during the best

part of my life, and at the same time threatens imminent destruction

to that young man in whose favour I am so strongly prepossessed,

cannot fail to impress me with very sensible uneasiness, and all

the consolation I have is in the good opinion I have of the young

gentleman, and hopes thence arising that, however violent the present

sally of his youthful inclinations may be, he will consider the unavoid-

able effects of his rashness to your Lordship and to his family before it

is too late. ... I cannot permit myself to believe that, if the

consequences were duly represented to the Master, he would persist in

a resolution so dangerous and so big with mischief. His birth,

his fortune, his hopes (except those that may of late have been put in

his head) he owes to your Lordship, and must with half an eye see

hat, however innocent your Lordship's inclinations may be, as men
are now made, his act will be imputed to you ; and the consequences

of that imputation, or even the suspicion of it, at this time of day, and

in the present state of your Lordship's health, I confess I, who in

respect of him am but a stranger, cannot think of without great

uneasiness ; and when I reflect on what I feel within myself I cannot

but hope that my young friend, who I'm sure has parts, and I persuade

myself has natural affection, will, upon serious consideration, drop this

dangerous enterprise if the case is but fairly stated to him. I therefore

wish and earnestly entreat your Lordship, without loss of time, may
have these things stated to him as they are."

The Lord President apparently did not suspect that Lord

Lovat himself was during the identically same period over

which this correspondence extended acting as the strong

partisan of Prince Charles and urging the Master, much

against his will, to take the field in his behalf. In reply to

the President's last letter, dated the 19th of October, in

which he pleaded so earnestly with Lovat to use every

means in his power to induce the Master not to take the

field at the head of the clan, Lord Simon wrote a long letter

on the following day. It is an extraordinary production

and shows, in the light of what is now known, what a

consummate deceiver and blasphemer the author of it un-
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doubtedly was. Inordinately long-

as it is, it must in justice

to all parties be given almost entire. Lord Simon writes

—

" I received the honour of your letter yesterday morning by an

express from Bailie James, and truly the generous and moderate way

that your Lordship writes of that base, barbarous, inhuman, and

distracted attempt and behaviour of the Stratherrick men at Culloden

rather augments my trouble of mind and vexation than diminishes it,

for I could never imagine that any man that had the honour to know
your Lordship or to hear of you should be so villainous and

unnatural as to hurt your Lordship or the nearest person belong-

ing to your Lordship, since your goodness and liberality to mankind

in distress is as well known as your name and employment ; so that

those that acted this villainous attempt and plunder have been ruffians

without the fear of God or rain, and they will have what they deserve

some day or other.

" If unhappy Foyers has been there, which I can hardly believe, he

was strangely imposed upon by the greedy, subtile, rogues that

were with him ; for he is naturally a weak man ; but though he

was never so weak it is a surprising thing that Foyers, whose

grandmother was a daughter to Culloden, and your Lordship's

grand aunt, should go to be witness to such a barbarity, acted against

your Lordship and against your people ; it is hardly credible. I can

freely declare upon honour and conscience that I never heard Foyers

speak disrespectfully of your Lordship, and this year or two I don't

remember to hear him mention your name, so that I cannot well

comprehend what madness possessed him if he was there. I sent your

Lordship's letter to Gortuleg and desired he would communicate it to

my son, and that they would seriously reflect on the horrid barbarity

of this action ; and that they should order immediately to send back

all the plunder that remained of what they took away. I ordered

particularly Gortuleg to send back all your Lordship's sheep that

could be had ; that I would give double the value for them rather

than that your Lordship should want them. I am very much
persuaded that my son and Gortuleg will use their utmost endeavours

to see what they can find out of the plunder sent back ; and if your

Lordship's sheep cannot be had, I have about a hundred good fat

wedders and I shall divide them with your Lordship with pleasure, and

send you the half of them, if you will be so good as to accept of them
;

and, as they say in the Highlands, Good my Commons ; for I owe
more obligations to your Lordship and to your family, than all the

sheep, oxen, cows, and horses that ever I had were worth. . . .

" I now beg leave to answer, the best way I can, the most kind and

obliging letter that your Lordship did me the honour to write me
yesterday ; for which I give your Lordship a million of thanks. It is
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impossible for me to express the grateful sense I have of the vast

concern that your Lordship has and always had for my family. I

pray God reward you for it, since I cannot. Your Lordship must
own that my present troublesome situation is to be regretted ; for you

cannot but remember that I was all the summer fully determined

to go abroad for four or five years, to recover my health and the use

of my limbs and to pay all my debts, that I might leave the best

estate in this shire free from all encumbrances to my son. And this

Prince's landing in the West Highlands was as great a surprise to me
as it was to any man in Scotland ; but who can prevent accidents or

the designs of Providence ? It is certain, that what he has done since

he landed seems rather to be a miracle than the effects of men's heads

or hands ; and how far that favourable Providence may follow him or

conduct him God alone knows ; for he seems at present in a fair and

probable way of succeeding. For those of his party have quite

different accounts from those that your Lordship has, and their faith

directly opposite to yours ; and I can assure your Lordship without

any party view or influence, that those that are resolved to stand by

him are much more numerous than your Lordship imagines ; and they

flatter themselves that he will have succours from France and Spain,

of men, money, and arms. So, as I told your Lordship before, he

must be a very real prophet that can tell what side will gain or lose
;

and that makes every person go to the side that they love most. It is

certain that almost all the Highlands of Scotland love the Pretender

and his interest more than they do the interest of the present Govern-

ment ; and if he be assisted by the English friends of the Pretender,

and by a foreign force, he believes he will succeed in his enterprise,

but I do solemnly declare to your Lordship that nothing ever vexed

my soul as much as my son's resolution to go and join the Prince,

and venture his person with him ; and his mad resolution struck him

in his head as soon as he heard of the Prince's landing ; and after

what Macleod said to him, and what Gortuleg said to him, and what

myself said to him, I know by his answers to Macleod, Gortuleg, and

me, that all the creation will not keep him from going out. What a

load and weight of grief must be upon your soul, to see my son,

myself and my family, in such danger and jeopardy, but I cannot help

it. I must submit to the will of God, and there I must leave it. I

sent your Lordship's last letter with a clever man to travel all night,

that he might deliver it to Gortuleg as soon as possible ; to whom I

wrote the strongest exhortations, to entreat him to use all his credit

and good sense with my son to dissuade him from his very rash and

inconsiderate resolutions, and for my part, as my son only smiles and

laughs at me when I make strong remonstrances to him against his

resolutions, I am resolved never to write nor open my mouth to him

upon that subject, and, as God Almighty has at many times wonder-
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fully delivered me out of many dangers and difficulties by land and

sea, I throw myself on his Divine Providence and trust myself entirely

to it, for if God in his Providence save my estate, I do not give three

halfpence for my life ; for it is but wearisome to me and full of

troubles.

" I beg my Lord that you may not be in the least apprehensive that

any of these rogues or any in my country will go and disturb your

tenants, for I solemnly swear to Gortuleg, that if any villain or rascal

of my country durst presume to hurt or disturb any of your Lordship's

tenants, I would go personally, though carried in a litter, and see

them seized and hanged. So, my dear Lord, I beg you may have no

apprehension that any of your tenants will meet with disturbance as

long as I live in this country ; and I hope that my son that represents

me will follow my example ; so let Monarchies, Governments, and

Commonwealths, take up fits of revolutions and wars, for God's sake,

my dear Lord, let us live in good friendship and peace together. This

is my sincere wish and desire ; since it is impossible for me to forget

the obligations I owe your Lordship and your family ; for which

reason you shall always find me your most affectionate cousin and

faithful slave."

We shall see as we proceed how little truth there was in

the unjust charges here made by the father against the son,

who will be proved to have been forced into the Rising

entirely against his will by the unnatural parent who so

heartlessly accused him of disobedience and worse to his

good friend the President. On the 25th Lord Simon is

again remonstrated with to induce the Master to desist from

his intended march to join the Prince. Alexander Brodie

of Brodie, who was at Inverness on that day, writing to Sir

Harry Innes on the 26th, says
—"When I left Inverness

yesterday, I was told that Macdonald of Knoydart, Barris-

dale, and Glengarry's son were at Lovat's, where there were

twelve covered tables on Saturday night for the gentlemen

convened, and that the number of men then there would be

above a thousand, including 200 Macdonalds and the people

of Urquhart, etc., and that they were to march yesterday for

the castle of Brahan to force Seaforth to give them his men
to join them, from whence, it was said, they were to proceed

north to force all the North to join in a general rebellion.

The Mackintoshes certainly marched to the tune of 300 "

men. All this must have been known to the Lord President.
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Lovat's reply to him, dated the 27th, is another torrent of

fulsome flattery and a repetition of the charge of disobedi-

ence against his own son, the Master. Lovat says

—

" Gortuleg declares to me that he could not yet get a full occasion to

speak to him thoroughly as he could wish, because of the strangers

that are still here, who, I believe, blows him up in his folly, and

Gortuleg is as much against his project as your Lordship is. For my
part, my Lord, I solemnly protest to your Lordship that since my son

was determined on that mad, foolish project I never spoke to him

about it but he always flew in my face like a wild cat when I spoke

to him against any of his distracted opinions ; and anything that I

got done with him was by Gortuleg's means, who has a great deal to

say to him. I have earnestly begged of Gortuleg, within this hour, to

use all his interest with him not to go away this week ; for God knows

what a week may produce."

He then "earnestly and humbly" asks the President for

advice which he has not the remotest intention of acting

upon when he gets it. It is, however, forthcoming. On
the 29th the Lord President writes

—

" I waited with much impatience for the answer to the letter which

I wrote, to your Lordship on the 25th, and yesterday, when it came, I

must acknowledge it gave me very great uneasiness ; chiefly as it left

it extremely difficult for me, if at all possible, to give your Lordship

what you so earnestly desire, advice. Should the unlucky youth

persist in his purpose, and should his authority with that kindred for

whom you have done so much, and who with reason were so

passionately fond of you, prevail over your Lordship's and induce them

to march without regard to your commands, or even to the safety

of your person, the case would stand in a very odd light ; and in this

age of jealousy and suspicion it is impossible to say what construction

might not be put upon it, even if a man had no enemy to improve such

suspicion by hints ; on the other hand, should the young man yield to

your Lordship's representations, or should your authority prevail on

your kindred to desert his rash undertaking, and to save you and your

family from ruin, as they remarkably did 30 years ago, when they were

much more deeply engaged than they are at present, it is to be hoped

that conduct will wipe off every circumstance of suspicion and atone

for any act of temerity the Master may have fallen into ; at the same

time that the joint force of those who in this country are disposed to

stand by the Government will be sufficient to protect your country

against the resentments of those who may have flattered themselves

with the hopes of assistance from it. In these circumstances, what is

left for me to advise, or rather to wish, but that your Lordship
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may prevail, either by argument or by authority, over the Master,

or over your kindred, to forsake the dangerous course to which they

are disposed, and to join with the gross of the North in defence of the

Government, in which case nothing within my power for your service

shall be left undone. But should what I presume to advise and most

earnestly wish not take place, whatever my inclinations may be, I

greatly fear my power will not be able to answer them."

Later on, the same day, the President addressed to him a

second communication of a much more explicit and peremp-

tory character, in which, after charging him direct, for the

first time, with playing a double game, he went the length

of threatening to arrest his Lordship if he did not at once

stop his son and clan from proceeding further against the

Government. Writing from Inverness under date of 29th

October, 1745, the Lord President says

—

"As I have now the honour of being charged with the public

affairs in this part of the kingdom, I can no longer remain a spectator

of your Lordship's conduct and see the double game you have played

for some time past, without betraying the trust reposed in me and at

once risking my reputation and the fidelity I owe to his Majesty as a

good subject. Your Lordship's actions now discover evidently your

inclinations, and leave us no further in the dark about what side you

are to choose in the present unhappy insurrection
;
you have now so

far pulled off the mask, that we can see the mark you aim at, though

on former occasions you have had the skill and address to disguise

your intentions in matters of far less importance. And, indeed,

methinks a little of your Lordship's wonted artifice would not have

been amiss whatever had been your private sentiments with regard to

this unnatural rebellion. You should, my Lord, have duly considered

and estimated the advantages that would arise to your Lordship from

its success, and balanced them with the risks you run if it should happen

to miscarry, and above all things you ought to have consulted your

own safety, and allowed that the chief place in your system of politics,

which, I persuade myself, would have induced your Lordship to have

played the game after quite a different manner, and with a much
greater degree of caution and policy. But so far has your Lordship

been from acting with your ordinary finesse and circumspection on

this occasion that you sent away your son and the best part of your

clan to join the Pretender with as little concern as if no danger

attended such a step. I say, sent them away, for we are not to

imagine they went of themselves, or would have ventured to take

arms without your Lordship's concurrence and approbation. This,

however, you are pretty sure cannot be easily proved, which, I believe
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indeed may be true. But I cannot think it will be a difficult matter

to make it appear that the whole strain of your Lordship's coversa-

tion in every company where you have appeared since the Pretender's

arrival has tended to pervert the minds of his Majesty's subjects and
seduce them from their allegiance. And give me leave to tell you,

my Lord, even this falls under the construction of treason, and is no
less liable to punishment than open rebellion, as I am afraid your

Lordship will find when once this insurrection is crushed, and the

Government at leisure to examine into the affair. . . . These
and such like apologies may be offered in defence of most of the

leading men in the present rebellion ; but what shall I say in favour

of you, my Lord ? You, who have flourished under the present happy
establishment. You, who in the beginning of your days forfeited both

your life and fortune, and yet by the benignity of the Government,

was not only indulged the liberty of living at home, but even restored

to all you could lay claim to ; nay, his Majesty's goodness went so far

as to employ your Lordship in his service, and was pleased to honour

you with the command of one of the Independent Companies that

were raised some years ago in the Highlands, which you enjoyed for

a very long time, so that both duty and gratitude ought to have

influenced your Lordship's conduct at this critical juncture, and

disposed you to have acted a part quite different from what you

have done. But there are some men whom no duty can bind, nor

no favour can oblige ; and I am afraid, if a timely repentance do not

prevent it, you Lordship will, not unjustly, be ranked among that

number. . . . What I would therefore propose to your Lordship

as the only expedient left to secure you from the hazard of a rigorous

prosecution is to recall your son and his men immediately. This

step, I am persuaded, would produce several good consequences,

for, on the one hand, it would prevent numbers from joining the

rebels who now hang in suspense and, on the other, occasion a great

many of those already engaged to desert and retire to their respective

habitations, and, perhaps, may be the means of crushing the rebellion

without further bloodshed, which would do your Lordship a great

deal of honour, and such a remarkable piece of service would be

amply rewarded by the Government. If you shall judge it proper,

my Lord, to follow this advice, it will give me a great deal of pleasure,

as it will contribute to stop the progress of an unhappy civil war that

threatens us with endless calamities ; but if your Lordship continues

obstinate, I shall be obliged to take you into custody, be the event

what it will, and then your Lordship will run the risk of having your

family extirpated, as well as other of the Highland chiefs, when the

rebellion is once quelled."

Lovat now found himself getting into a tight place, and

he changed his tone from a suppliant to one of comparative
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defiance. He still, however, continues to blame his son

for his misfortune. On the 30th he writes

—

" I received the honour of your Lordship's letter of yesterday's

date, late last night, and I own that I never received one like it since

I was born ; and I give your Lordship ten thousand thanks for the

kind freedom you use with me in it, for I see by it that for my
misfortune in having an obstinate, stubborn son and an ungrateful

kindred my family must go to destruction and I must lose my life in

my old age. Such usage looks rather like a Turkish or Persian

Government than like a British. Am I, my Lord, the first father that

has had an undutiful and unnatural son ? Or I am the first man that

has made a good estate and saw it destroyed in his own time by the

mad, foolish actings of an unnatural son, who prefers his own
extravagant fancies to the solid advice of an affectiunate old father?

I have seen instances of this in my own time, but I never heard

till now that the foolishness of a son would take away the liberty and

life of a father that lived peaceably, that was an honest man, and well

inclined to the rest of mankind. But I find the longer a man lives the

more wonders and extraordinary things he sees.

"Now, my dear Lord, I beg leave to tell you my mind freely

in turn. I thank God I was born with very little fear. In my great

difficulties and dangers by sea and land, and by God's assistance, I

often saved my life by the firmness and steadfastness of my resolutions
;

and though I have now but a little remains of a life that is clogged

with infirmities and pains, yet, by God's help, I am resolved to

preserve it as long as I can ; and though my son should go away with

the young people of his clan, yet I will have six hundred brave

Frasers at home, many of them about my own age, that will lose the

last drop of their blood to preserve my person. Since I am as

peaceable a subject as any in the Kingdom and as ready to pay the

King's taxes and do any thing else that a faithful subject ought to

do, I know no law or reason why my person should not be in safety."

He then goes on to say that he repeated his appeal to

Gortuleg to advise the Master to keep at home, and com-

plains that he should be punished for his son's faults and

disobedience. He urges that as the whole kingdom is

engaged on one side or other, that men should be moderate

on both sides, since it is impossible to predict the result,

and assuming that the Highland army should be utterly

defeated, and that the Government should carry everything

before them in triumph, " no man can think that any King

upon the throne would destroy so many ancient families"
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as are engaged in the rebellion, and he concludes by ex-

pressing the hope that his correspondent had not forgotten

that in the year 1715, "when the rebellion was great and

dangerous," he did more effectual service to the present

Government than any Lord Baron in Scotland, for which

he had three letters of thanks from the late King. He
thinks the remembrance of these things should secure some

regard for " an old infirm man/' and expresses the belief

that he will be "safe under the protection of my Lord

President, while he has the full power and command " in

the North of Scotland.

It appears from a memorandum by the Rev. Donald

Fraser, Lovat's chaplain, that on receipt of the letter just

given the Lord President sent for him, because the last he

had from Lovat convinced him that "what he had wrote

was misunderstood," and he did not consider it prudent in

the circumstances to attempt to set the matter right by

correspondence. The Lord President told the reverend

gentleman that "it was demonstratively clear" that no

weight or interest whatsoever could prevail with the Govern-

ment to deal leniently with such persons as, contrary to

their expectations, took up arms against them on that

occasion, that the errors of the son would no doubt be

imputed to the father, that one step further than the Master

had already taken would put matters beyond any possible

remedv, but " that an immediate alteration of measures and

the Master's desisting totally from his enterprise, consider-

ing his youth, could not fail to procure forgiveness if the

matter was properly represented ; and that the necessity of

making such a representation now or not at all was what

moved him to write to my Lord the letter his Lordship

misconstrued ; that he is now to send off to London by sea

dispatches in which the state of the country must be de-

scribed " ; that if Lovat does not place him in a position to say

anything favourable he must make such representations as

appear to him just, and that if his Lordship wishes him to

charge the movements of the clan upon his son, he will give

that account as from the father, and will at the same time
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make every representation for his Lordship consistent with

truth and his own allegiance ; "but what would give him the

greatest satisfaction would be to be enabled by his Lordship

to assure the Government that his Lordship has quieted all

the motions amongst his people that threatened to give any

disturbance." He added, that the ship must sail in three

days, and that any resolution come to after that would be

too late. In reply to this message, through his chaplain,

Lord Lovat replied on the 6th of November, 1745, in

his usual misleading, deceptive, and to his son, unjust

manner, as follows

—

"As to my condition, the sincere matter of fact is, whenever it was

known in the Highlands, that the Venturer Prince, the son of the

Pretender, landed, a sort of madness seized all the West Highlanders

with an eager desire of joining him. The contagion soon spread ; it

came at length to my country ; and many of my people on both sides

of Lochness were infected with it and fully resolved to go off then, if

my precise authority had not stopped them ; which cost me a vast

deal of trouble and pains, and to my chief doer, Gortuleg ; which I

did communicate to your Lordship at that time. Foyers and Kil-

bokie, whose families always used to be the leading families of the

clan on both sides, were the maddest and the keenest to go off; and

when they saw that I absolutely forbade them to move or go out of

the country, they drew up with my son, and they easily got him to

condescend to go at their head. The whole gentlemen followed their

example, and the commons ran the same way that the gentlemen

did ; so that I was left a contemptible old infirm fellow in my house
;

and no more notice taken of me than if I was a child ; so that if I had

been able to travel, I had not stayed a night in my house after the

beginning of my son's operation with his clan ; and this I told your

Lordship in one of my letters. If that does not exoner me, I know
not what can. Another strong argument your Lordship may make
use of for me is, that I spoke and sent emissaries to those that I

thought had loved me most of my clan, and in spite of my son's

endeavours and his captains' I have got a regiment of good men to

stay at home, and most of them pretty fellows, though some of them

are betwixt 60 and 70 years of age. So that, though I had ten

thousand lives to save, I could do no more in this affair to save myself

than I have done ; and if the Government would punish me for the in-

solent behaviour of my son to myself, and his mad behaviour towards

the Government, it would be a greater severity than ever was used to

any subject. Since I have not strength to mount a horse and leave

the country, I am resolved to live quietly and peaceably in my own
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house, and be a faithful subject to the King, and observe and obey

the laws of my country. And to let your Lordship further see my
sincere resolutions of encouraging no disturbance, but, on the con-

trary, to keep the country peaceable and legal, I intend to list 200 of

my men that stay at home, and get pretty gentlemen at their head,

that they may watch and guard the country from all robbers and

thieves, and loose men that come from the Highland army ; and to

seize them, and to send them to Inverness. By this project I hope to

contribute to the preservation and peace of the country, as much as

any two Independent Companies that are at Inverness. I hope this

will not be disagreeable to your Lordship that wishes me and my
country well. I know your Lordship has and ever will have more

power than what would save me, and ten families like mine ; other-

wise the King and Government will be most ungrateful to you ; for

your Lordship has done more service to King George, and to his

family and Government, than if he had an army of 5000 men in the

North. For if it was not for your Lordship's great zeal, extraordinary

and unheard of activity and fatigue, the Venturer Prince would have

10,000 before he went South instead of two ; and with that number

would have marched straight to London without any opposition. So

that the King owes more to your Lordship on this occasion than to

any subject in Britain ; and I do assure your Lordship that the King's

enemies are very sensible of it ; and that you are more obnoxious to

their hatred and revenge than any man on earth. I wish with all my
soul that you may always escape the fury of their resentment, till you

are happily and gloriously out of their reach ; for my good wishes will

attend your Lordship wherever you are ; and I have firm hopes that

your Lordship, who has saved the Government in the North, by

bringing in so many brave families to serve the King, would be so

good as to save one family that was always friends to yours, and an

old infirm man whom your Lordship saw behave well enough in the

King's service against the rebels. I will truly expect this great mark

of your Lordship's friendship.

P.S.—Your Lordship must be informed that my house and green

has been like a market place for some time past ; and my son was

such a fool that he entertained and does entertain every man that he

thinks favours his part, and he is ten times more master of this house

than I am ; but I have resolved from the beginning, and will continue

firm in my resolution, let them do or say what they will, I will never

black paper with them ; and as soon as ever I am able to travel out

of this house, I'll stay no longer in it ; for I am downright killed with

vexation of heart and spirit, to see my health much hurt, my family

in danger, and any money or rent I have foolishly spent or squandered

away. There is no help for it ; I must submit to Divine Providence.

Mr Donald Fraser and other two gentlemen heard me say the
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strongest things this day to my son that ever a father could say to a

child ; but got no other satisfaction than insolent contradiction. The
Earl of Cromarty and Lord Macleod came here this night, and a

battalion of Mackenzies crossed the ferry of Beauly this night, that he

is to take South with him ; and as many more of the Mackenzies will

go South in a day or two, so that your Lordship sees that the wise

and worldly people of the Mackenzies are infected ; so that it's no

wonder that the Frasers, that were never thought wordly or wise,

should be affected with a contagion, though never so foolish and

dangerous. I pray God that their madness may not overturn my
family, and I shall be very easy about the rest, either as to myself, or

to my unnatural son and kindred."

On the 8th, two days after, the Lord President replied

to Lord Lovat in the following terms

—

" I have just received the letter which your Lordship did me the

honour to write to me yesterday after conversing with Mr Donald

[Fraser]. The representation which your Lordship makes I shall

fairly transmit if your Lordship insist on it ; though with very great

concern for the unhappy young man. But I should not act the part

of that real friend I professed to be, if I did not freely express to your

Lordship my apprehensions that the account given will not answer

the end proposed, and which I so earnestly wish, the preservation of

your Lordship's family. The affection of your clan and their attach-

ment to you in the year 171 5 and downward will be remembered ; it

will not be easily believed that your Lordship's authority is less with

them now than it was at that time ; it will not be credited that their

engagements or inclinations were stronger against the Government

when the present commotions began than they were thirty years ago,

when the clan was at Perth. It will be alleged that the people were

not universally forward to enter upon the present spot of work ; that

many of them were reluctant, and some actually threatened, and

others forced into the service, and I do not know whether, if jealousy

were to provoke an inquiry, many circumstances might not come out

which I choose not to think of, and I hope never to hear of. These

considerations, I must confess, fill me with great uneasiness, which I

must ever feel when any danger threatens your Lordship or your

family, which my abilities or my interests cannot avert. My errand

to this country was to preserve, if possible, the peace, and to exert the

little credit I had with my friends and countrymen to prevent their

ruining their families. I am vain enough to think with your Lord-

ship, that my endeavour ought to give me some weight with the

Government, though far short of what you imagine. I doubt not at

all but I should have interest to prevail with them to overlook the in-

discretions already committed by the young man ; but should he
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actually carry away the clan into the Rebellion, that very event would

lessen the credit of my endeavours in this country, and prevent the

effect of any intercession on my part for your Lordship, for whom my
partiality is so well known to his present Majesty, from the days that he

was Prince, and to such of his Ministers as were men of business in

his father's reign, when your Lordship's interest stood in need of the

small assistance I could give. I s;iy not these things as declining to

do your Lordship every service that a sincere friend and an honest

man, consistent with his allegiance, can perform, but to prevent your

Lordship's laying stress on my ability to serve you further than it

truly can bear, and I do it the rather, that it appears to me your

Lordship does not at present see the necessary and natural con-

sequences of things with the same clearness of sight as heretofore
;

for example, to obviate all jealousy of your Lordship's conduct,

you propose to keep a guard of 200 men to watch and preserve

the peace of the country. Now though this (were the clan to remain

quiet at home) would be a very commendable purpose, and what the

Government would very readily bear the expense of, yet I submit it

to your Lordship, whether, if the rest of the clan go into the Rebellion,

that guard can be looked on with a favourable eye by the commanders

of his Majesty's troops in this country, and whether I should not draw

even myself under suspicion, if I pretended to justify the keeping

them afoot ? For God's sake, my Lord, think of these things, and

believe that what I now express are the genuine sentiments of a

considering man and a real friend, who wishes nothing more earnestly

than to pull you out of all your difficulties."

Lord Lovat sends a very long reply dated the 10th of

November, in which, after abusing- the Master as " that

unhappy and obstinate youth" and blaming' him for engaging

in an "affair so very dangerous for his person and family,"

he says

—

" As soon as I received your Lordship's express I called for my son

and Gortuleg to speak to me, and after making the strongest

remonstrances the returns I got put me into such a passion that

I had almost done an unnatural thing that certainly I would repent all

the days of my life. In short there is no retrieving of that mad young

man. He will go with all those of his clan that he can get, but I am
sure he will leave a great number behind, and all the gentlemen past

fifty, so that there is a very good battalion left at home, as they

pretend to live and die with me. I was both surprised and mortified

that in the letters your Lordship did me the honour to write to me
before the last you seemed not plesaed that I should propose to list

200 good men of my clan, that I have stayed at home, to preserve my
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country or my person if I was attacked, and to take up all thieves,

rogues, and villains, and to send them into Inverness. I flattered

myself that this little project would have pleased your Lordship ; but

since it has not, if your Lordship and the Earl of Loudon will give me
your words of honour that I will not be molested or my country, but

that my person and those of my clan that stayed at home in spite of the

endeavours of my son and his partisans shall be safe in their persons

and effects, then I will give not only my word of honour, which is dearer

to me than life, but any other engagement your Lordship pleases that

is in my power, that six men shall not appear in arms in my country,

except a very few that will be in the hills to guard their cattle."

The Lord President replies next day and "observes with

very great concern that" Lord Lovat had "not been able to

prevail with the Master or his advisers to relinquish their

desperate enterprise." And matters had now reached such

a pass that he would not have written at all only that he

thought it just to give his Lordship all the satisfaction he

could regarding the security of his person, of the people who
remained at home, and of their effects, concerning which he

could say nothing without the consent of Lord Loudon, who
then commanded his Majesty's forces in the North. Having

consulted with the Earl, the President says, that he " easily

prevailed with his Lordship to agree that neither your

person nor family shall in any degree be molested unless

express orders come from the Government for that purpose,"

which he hopes and prays may not be the case, " but as to

your people I have not succeeded so well. He (Lord

Loudon) says he is certainly informed that violence had

been used to drag men out of their beds for the rebellion,

and that by the terror of destroying their cattle and effects

others had been prevailed on to list. In those circum-

stances he insists he cannot be answerable to suffer such

as have been guilty of those practices to remain quiet,

neither can he abstain from attempting to fetch those who
left the country back again by the same means which pre-

vailed with them to march ; but he promises to give no

disturbance to any gentleman or commoner who in eight

days shall return, nor to the effects or family of any man
who has, by himself or some of his sons, joined in the
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present rebellion." He wishes, in conclusion, he could give

his Lordship a more agreeable answer, but is quite unable,

in the performance of his duty, to do so.

On the 13th the Lord President writes a long account of

the action of the clans up to that date to the Marquis of

Tweeddale, in the course of which he says that the Frasers in

the Aird and Stratherrick " began to stir, headed by the

Master of Lovat, who had been debauched by their emissaries,

as the Lord Lovat affirms, and forced the kindred to take

arms much against his Lordship's inclinations and in defiance

of his authority. These gentlemen began with blocking up

Fort-Augustus, by cutting off the communication betwixt

it and Inverness, and with attempting to surprise me ; and

they have since proceeded to form themselves into regular

companies which, it is said, will consist of ten or eleven, and

may amount together to five or six hundred men. Your

Lordship will easily believe I left nothing that was in my
power undone to prevent or at least to protract their

marching, and though I have not succeeded so as to make

them lay aside their design, yet the means used have had

such effect that they have not as yet marched out of this

country ; and I have still some hopes that, if the additional

force which we look for from Sir Alexander Macdonald and

Macleod come in time, they will consider better before they

leave this neighbourhood." But his Lordship was soon

disappointed in these expectations.

On the 14th, Lord Lovat replying to the President's com-

munication of the nth of November, still speaks of the

" mad youth " who will be Lord Lovat on his Lordship's

death, which he considers near at hand, "as well as colonel

of his rebellious regiment." He is very easy about his

"obstreperous and unnatural son, and the mad people that

feed him in his false ambition, but the thoughts and fears

of seeing the honest family of Lovat demolished and ex-

tinguished in our day pierces " his " heart and soul with

most melancholy thoughts," which would be enough to kill

him though he had no stitches nor pains in his body, con-

sidering what he had done and suffered to restore it and
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bring-

it out of the hands of the Mackenzies. He feels quite

certain, so long as the President and the Earl of Loudon

please, he will be quite safe and unmolested at Beaufort,

for the Government would never grant a warrant against

him or any man in the Highlands without their joint re-

presentation. "As to my clan," he says, "I wish with all

my heart that the villains and rascals of them that were

guilty of any illegal, base, and barbarous actions, were

seized and severely chastised and punished, but 1 believe

they are marched South in the regiment of that unhappy

youth to screen themselves from justice, and I would be

very glad that the fifth man of them were hanged. But,

my dear Lord, as to the honest gentlemen and tenants who
stayed at home for love of me and for love of peace and

quietness, it would be the hardest case in the world that those

honest people should be molested in their persons or effects,

since they have done no harm, and that they are fully re-

solved to live peaceably and quietly with me in my country,

and be as obedient and submissive to the King and Govern-

ment as any people in the North of Scotland ; which I will

answer for or renounce any protection to myself or to my
people from the Government. I therefore most humbly

beg, my dear Lord, you may save those poor people that

stayed at home for love of me, notwithstanding of the

threats and menaces that were used against them. As to

what the Earl of Loudon says of dragging men out of their

beds to force them to the rebellion, it's what I never heard

of till I had the honour of his Lordship's letter. I truly

think it was not done in this country, otherwise I would

have heard of it ; and I was told every day that the fellows

were readily inclined themselves to go, without any force "

;

and he was also told that several young fellows from other

districts, whom he had never seen before, came and offered

themselves as volunteers to his son, the Master.

The Lord President in an undated letter, but apparently

written within a day or two, says

—

" I have the honour of your Lordship's letter of the 14th inst, and

am sorry to be obliged to say it has not given me the satisfaction I

26
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expected ; the protection, however, given to your Lordship and your

family shall be exactly maintained unless express orders to the con-

trary come from the Government, which may come by a Sloop of

War, which I look for soon from the river. I have learned with no

small concern that considerable numbers of your Lordship's kindred

have at last left their homes and are on their way southward, though

they have not yet marched many miles off; and I have received

certain information that violence and severe threats have been used

with some of them before they could be prevailed upon to go along.

Now, as my duty absolutely requires my endeavouring by all possible

means to prevent the junction of these men with the rebels, and as

my wishes are strong to prevent the destruction of these men by

bringing them back to their duty before it is too late, I find myself

obliged to march into your Lordship's country with a body of his

Majesty's troops to lay hold of such as have been accessory to the

stirring up of the rest ; to endeavour by the same means that have

been used to force them into the rebellion to draw them from it ; and

to take an account of the names of such of them as I shall not find at

their homes ; to the end their return to live again in quiet, after they

shall have given all the disturbance they can to his Majesty's Govern-

ment, may be for ever prevented. And as no man is more deeply

concerned to have those inconveniences obviated than your Lordship,

or better qualified to obviate them by letting the unhappy men time-

ously know their danger if they do not immediately return to their

homes, I have presumed to give your Lordship this notice of my
resolutions previous to putting them in execution, that as little harm

may happen to your Lordship or to your people as is possible. And
I shall look for a precise answer from your Lordship to what I now
have the honour to acquaint you with, by to-morrow, because I cannot

be answerable to defer using the means that are in my hands any

longer. It will give me great satisfaction, if the step I now take shall

be the means of preserving your Lordship and your people, and this

pleasure I shall have, even if it miscarry, that your Lordship must be

satisfied I have done all in my power to avoid extremities."

Lord Lovat must have replied to the foregoing in a letter

which has not been preserved, for on the 22nd of November,

the President writes the Fraser chief another letter in which

he says

—

" I had the honour of your Lordship's letter of the 19th, with an

account of your son's proceeding in Urquhart, according to the in-

formation received. That account gave me no small surprise ; and I

must confess to your Lordship it would have given me no small satis-

faction if I could have depended on it being true ; because it would

have been evidence of the Master's giving up the desperate cause into
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which he had been unhappily seduced ; and so early a change, before

any considerable mischief was done, would, I should hope, in a reign

so clement as what we have at present the happiness to live under,

obliterate the past errors of a youth, whose want of years and experi-

ence might make him an easy prey to designing men. But then, my
Lord, before I can permit myself to receive any real pleasure from

this prospect, or to depart from the resolutions with which I ac-

quainted your Lordship in my last, I must be thoroughly satisfied

that the information your Lordship received is true ; that the Master

has returned to his duty, and all the men who had been brought

together are returned to their habitations. Of the certainty of these

things your Lordship must be sufficiently informed before this time
;

and I have hitherto deferred writing to your Lordship on that subject,

that you might be able to satisfy me. I now give your Lordship the

trouble of this message, begging that, without loss of time, I may
know what I am to believe and rely on, in respect to those matters, to

the end I may proceed in my resolutions, or vary them according to

circumstances ; and on the supposition that the men have been dis-

missed and are returned to their homes, what security am I to expect

that they shall not again be assembled to give further disturbance to

his Majesty's Government ? That this may be affected with as little

inconvenience to them or disturbance to your Lordship as possible is

what I earnestly wish."

Lord Lovat was at the same time also in communication

with the Earl of Loudon, for it appears from the following-

letter from the Earl, dated "November 1745," but without

the day of the month, that he had received a communica-

tion from Lord Simon, written on the 22nd of that month.

Lord Loudon says

—

" The first part of the letter which you did me the honour to write

to me on the 22nd, acquainting me that all your people had returned

to their homes from Urquhart, where they had been alongst with your

son, protecting the tenants of his cousin, the Laird of Grant, from the

Macdonells, who are in arms against the Government, gave me much
pleasure, because I expected before I had done to have read that to

so good a step the Master had added one more—the abandoning that

ruinous enterprise into which his youth had suffered him to be

dragged, and the giving all reasonable satisfaction that the Govern-

ment should meet with no further disturbance from your Lordship's

clan. But I must confess, my Lord, I was somewhat surprised that

a letter which began so hopefully should conclude with apprehensions

that your son may still persist in his mad project and draw numbers of

your kinsmen, with whom he had twenty times more to say than your
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Lordship, alongst with him ; and notwithstanding all this, hoping that

I will not blame your Lordship, nor harass your poor country, or begin

what your Lordship calls the cruel part of the war in it. That even

to your Lordship there appears to be danger that this unhappy young

man (for whom I have all the compassionate concern possible) may
draw the greatest part of your clan after him into the rebellion lays

me under an absolute necessity of trying to prevent it conte gu'z'l

conte ; for I cannot answer the suffering a body of men, who have

been in arms attending a young gentleman, whose avowed purpose it

is to lead them against his Majesty, to assemble again in the like

manner. iVIy duty and the oaths I am under forbid it ; and I am
confident of your Lordship's approbation, as you are under the same

oaths. As to what your Lordship writes of beginning a cruel war in

your country, it is the thing in the world the furthest from my
thoughts. The people have no more to do to be absolutely safe but

to be quiet and give me reasonable satisfaction that they will continue

to be so ; but if they put, or continue themselves in a warlike posture,

it is they that begin the war against his Majesty ; and it is just they

should expect the consequences ; for, to tell your Lordship the truth,

when a kindred is illegally assembled, as your Lordship's has been

frequently of late, to draught men, some for marching directly to make
war upon the King and others for staying at home to protect their

country, the distinction between these classes of men, in point of

guilt or innocence, is too fine for me to perceive. And, were it the

case of any clan other than your own, for whom your Lordship has so

warm an affection, I am persuaded you would no more relish it than I

do ; and though it be your own, when your Lordship recollects how
barbarously they use you in siding with your son against you, to the

imminent ruin of your family, and even to the danger of your person,

should the Government entertain suspicion and give orders on account

of their conduct, I should hope your Lordship will not feel for their

sufferings, should that, because of their obstinacy, be the case, so

much as you do at present. But what I flatter myself with, because I

most wish it, is that all this may be prevented by their remaining

quiet, and giving me reasonable satisfaction that they shall continue

so ; the nature of which I hope to have your Lordship's ultimate

thoughts of, in answer to my last of the 22nd, at least in answer to

this, for which I will wait till ; unless what I am informed of, that

the Stratherrick people continue assembled in two different places

(notwithstanding of what your Lordship has assured me of), shall be

confirmed ; or that there shall be fresh gathering of men in the Aird.

In either of which cases, your Lordship will, I know, excuse me for

doing what my duty requires of me.

Writing-

to Prince Charles from Beaufort, early in

November, 1745, at the very same time that he was
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writing so full of loyalty to the Lord President, Lord Lovat

says

—

" Most Royal Prince,— I reckon it the great misfortune of my life,

and which has occasioned me more grief and sorrow than any cross

incident that ever happened to me, that my long indisposition and

severe pains and tortures that I suffered for a long time deprived me
of the vast joy and honour I would have had in kissing your Royal

Highness' hands and in venturing my old person before your eyes.

And as my dear masters and Sovereigns, your Royal father and

grandfather, never had a more faithful and zealous subject than I have

been to their Royal persons and interests since I had the use of my
reason, so nothing in this world could give me so much pleasure as to

signalise myself and end my days in the service of your Royal High-

ness, where I would not be useless, having been bred to the war by

the best masters in Europe these fifty years past. But now, finding

myself a perfect invalid, not able to mount a horseback nor to walk

half-a-mile, and consequently not able to exert myself either as a

soldier or as a General Officer, which my dear master, your Royal

father, was pleased to make me above forty years ago. Finding

myself in this unhappy, cruel situation of not being able to pay my
duty to your Royal Highness in every respect, I did resolve to give

your Royal Highness the next mark of my greatest zeal that I am
capable of if it was to gain your Royal Highness ten Kingdoms, and

that is to send my eldest son, the bearer of this letter, and the great

hopes of my family and the darling of my soul, to venture his life and

his young person in your Royal Highness' service. And I hope that

his great zeal and forwardness to serve your Royal Highness in every

shape you please to command him will be a proof that he is my true

son. I have sent along with him all the principal gentlemen and

heads of families of my clan, with eight hundred of my common
people of his own choice. And it is singular in my clan that of

thirteen or fourteen hundred men that are on my property they are

all Frasers, and there is not twenty of them of any other clan. Both

history and tradition tell us that the clan of the Frasers always be-

haved well ; and now when they have a most glorious and brave

Prince at their head, I truly rather hear of my son's death and of all

my clan that went along with him, than to hear of their misbehaviour,

which would soon put my grey head with sorrow to the grave, but I

do not in the least fear it. I therefore deliver my son and my clan

most heartily and frankly to your Royal Highness to do with them

what in your Royal Highness' goodness and pleasure you think fit.

I hope there is none of your Royal Highness' friends or servants that

has come to this country but will do me the justice to declare that I

am and always have been the most zealous and most active partisan

that your Royal Highness has in the North of Scotland, and in that I
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own but I did my duty. This letter is already longer than in good

manners I ought to have troubled your Royal Highness with. But as

I have a great many essential things to lay before your Royal High-

ness, I will make a memorial of them and give them in to my good

friend Mr Murray, your Royal Highness' Secretary of State, that he

may represent to your Royal Highness what is in it when you are at

leisure. I pray God preserve your Royal Highness' person and give

you success and glory in all your enterprises, as you have had

hitherto ; and I am, while I live, ready to lose the last drop of my
blood, and with as great zeal as any man on earth. Most glorious

and most Royal Prince, your Royal Highness' most constant and

most faithful slave.''

Although this letter, along with the one which follows it

addressed to Donald Cameron of Lochiel, was written about

the ist of November, neither of them were dispatched to

the parties, for various reasons, until the 14th of January,

1746. It will be observed that the Master of Lovat, who in

his father's letters to Lord President Forbes and to the Earl

of Loudon has been constantly described, and is so still, as

a fool, a rash, obstinate, obstreperous, stubborn, disobedient,

ungrateful, mad, and unnatural monster of a son, "who flew

in his (father's) face like a wild cat," is in the foregoing

letter from Lovat to Prince Charles described as "a true

son " and " the great hopes of my family and the darling of

my soul"; while he is himself and "always has been the

most zealous and most active partizan " that the Prince ever

had in the Highlands of Scotland.

On the same date, Lord Lovat writes to Donald

Cameron of Lochiel a long letter, from which the fol-

lowing is abridged :

—

"The base and treacherous behaviour of our wretched cousin, the

Laird of Macleod, has almost cost me my life already. The night

before he took his journey to the Isle of Skye from this house, sitting

by me, he looked up seriously, and swore to me, that as he should

answer to God, and wished that God would never have mercy on him,

and that he might never enter into the Kingdom of Heaven, but that

his bones might rot on earth, be burnt, and his ashes blown up in the

air, if he did not come with all speed imaginable, and with all his men
that was already prepared, and come and join my son and the clan

Fraser, and march South with them to the Prince's service, wherever

he was. He swore the same terrible oaths and imprecations next day
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to my son and to your faithful servant, Gortuleg ; and if he had kept

his oaths and word, I had so managed this part of the North, that

about 6000 men had marched South to the Prince's assistance, which

I thought would much encourage his loyal party and frighten the

English to his obedience. But when I got Macleod's letter, about

twelve days after, in which he told me that after deliberating fully

with his neighhour, Sir Alexander (Macdonald), and weighing the

arguments on both sides, he and his neighbour had resolved to stay at

home, and not to trouble the Government. In reading this line I had

almost fainted, and my body swelled with anger and vexation, so that

I could not sleep nor eat for several days ; and I am yet far from

being recovered, for I have a severe stitch and pain in my left side,

which keeps me from my night's rest, and has entirely taken away my
appetite, so that I believe the treachery of that unnatural, ungrateful,

and wicked man will be the occasion of my death very soon ; but

before I die I resolved, if possible, to give such a mark of my zeal for

my good master the King, and for the glorious, brave, Royal Prince,

his son, that I believe few in Scotland would do but myself, I sent my
eldest son, who is the great hopes of my family and the darling of my
life and soul to venture his life and blood in the brave Royal Prince's

service ; and he has all the gentlemen of my clan with him, except a

few old gentlemen that are not able to travel. He has Struy, Cul-

bokie, and Reelick, the principal heads of the Frasers this side of

Lochness, and he has Foyers, Farraline, and Little Garth, as the

principal heads of the family in Stratherrick and Abertarff ; and he

has certainly taken with him the flower of my clan. I pray God
preserve him and them, and influence them to fight gallantly before

the brave Prince's eyes ; for I had much rather hear of my son's death

and of my clan's than that they should misbehave, since history

cannot show an occasion in which the Frasers misbehaved ; for I

thank God, they were always known to be brave. The treacherous

behaviour of the monstrous Laird of Macleod should put all relations

and intimate friends on their guard not to fail one another ; for he has

by his treachery and unnatural behaviour fixed upon himself the most

infamous character of any man on earth. That traitor, instead of

coming to this house, where he was always Mr, to join my son

according to his promise, has marched by the other side of Kessock

this day with 400 of his chosen men and gentlemen. I believe that

after hearing that my son's regiment was in arms in this country he

was afraid to pass through it, though it's the best way to Inverness.

His fears were groundless ; for I would not hurt my mother's kin,

though it was in my power. But if my son saw the Laird I believe he

would shoot him, or bring him prisoner to the Prince, because of his

abominable breach of oath and promises to him. When he sent a

little sneaking gentleman here with his treacherous letters my son

and Gortuleg made two bitter answers to them. When the little
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gentleman sought my answer I told him to tell his chief that he was a

traitor to the King and a murderer of my son and me, which he might

be sure I would resent if I was able, but that I would never black

paper to a man that had so basely betrayed me ; that since he went

to the devil I would leave him there, and have no more to do with

him. Since you are justly the Royal Prince's great favourite I hope

you will be so kind, dear cousin, as to make my court to his Royal

Highness ; for though it is my misfortune not to be able to follow him

wherever he goes (which would be the delight and honour of my life)

yet you can freely assure his Royal Highness that he has not a more

faithful and zealous partisan in Scotland. And though I am not able

to mount a horse's back or travel a foot, yet I have done his Royal

Highness more service than any one of my rank in Britain, for I keep

life and spirit in his affairs more than any man in the North ; and

though the President tells me plainly that I have forfeited life and

fortune and that my person is not safe in this house, yet I am resolved

to live and die with courage and resolution in my King and Royal

Prince's service, and no death that they can invent can lessen my
zeal or fright me from my duty."*

Robert Fraser, Lord Lovat's private secretary at the time,

and who wrote these letters to his dictation, says in his

evidence at his Lordship's trial for High Treason in March,

1747, that the following, addressed by Lovat to John Mur-

ray of Broughton, Secretary of State to Prince Charles,

was written in December, 1745, but not sent to him until

the 14th of January, 1746, along with the two already

quoted and another to the Marquis of Tullibardine, under

cover of one addressed to the Master of Lovat, on the last-

named date, at Perth. The letter to John Murray was in

the following terms :

—

" I solemnly protest, dear sir, that it was the greatest grief of my
life, that my indisposition and severe sickness kept me from going

South to my dear brave Prince, and never parting with him while I

was able to stand, but venture my old bones with pleasure in his

service, and before his eyes, while I had the least breath within me
;

but when I found that, by pains and weakness in my knees, I lost the

use of my limbs, I resolved to give a proof of my singular zeal for my
dear master the King, and for my brave glorious Prince, that I truly

believe few or none in Scotland would do but myself. I sent my
eldest son, the hopes of my family, and the darling of my life, a youth

about nineteen years old, who was just going abroad to finish his

* Lord Lovat's Trial, pp. 138-139.
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studies and education, after having learned with applause what

is taught in our Scots Universities, and was graduate Master of Arts.

But instead of sending him abroad to complete his education I have

sent him to venture the last drop of his blood in the glorious Prince's

service ; and as he is extremely beloved and the darling of the clan, all

the gentlemen of my name and clan (which I thank God ! are numerous

and look well, and always believed to be as stout as their neighbours)

are gone with him. There is not the head of an old family or tribe of

my name or clan in this country that have stayed at home ; only a

few old gentlemen, infirm like myself, that was not able to travel ; and

as my son is adored by the common people of my clan, he has

brought along with him a considerable number of the best of them, in

two handsome battalions ; and if they were as well armed and

equipped as I could wish, they would look as well as any clan that

went south this year, for as I possess the largest and best estate in

the shire, I have a great number of commons on my property, about

1500 good and bad, and that which is very singular is that in

that 1500 there are not 30 but what are Frasers, which no chief in

the Highlands can say of his clan but myself; for most of them are

mixed with men of all the other clans. I flatter myself that my son

will behave well at the head of my people ; and I am sure every one

of them will be ready to live or die with him ; and if he lives, I hope

he will be a useful servant to the King and Prince and an honour to

his family ; for he has very good parts and learning for his age. And
since I am like to make my exit very soon out of this troublesome

world, and that I thank God, I have served my King faithfully from

my infancy till now ; and that it is well known by all the gentlemen in

the King's interest in the North that for many years past I was the

life and spirit of the King's affairs in these countries ; and as I made
it my only business to encourage and keep up the hearts of the King's

friends, it was very fatiguing and troublesome to me and vastly ex-

pensive by my extravagant housekeeping and giving away often a

little money to the King's friends that wanted it much, and from

whom I never expect any payment ; and now I give the last proof of my
uncommon and unalterable zeal for my dear master the King in send-

ing what is dearest to me in the world, my eldest son and my clan, to

venture their lives with the glorious Prince Royal, and under his eyes."*

On the 1st of December, within a month of writing the

foregoing letters to Lochiel, and John Murray, Secretary to

Prince Charles, the King referred to in them being of course

the Prince's father, Lovat writes to the Lord President

—

" I have had many proofs of your Lordship's sincere friendship for

my person and my family ; but there was never a period of my life

Lord Lovat's Trial, p. 134.
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that made me so much the object of compassion so much as I am at

the writing of this letter. My very enemies, if they knew the unsup-

portable griefs of my soul this morning must sympathise with a man
so disconsolate and void of comfort. I dare not descend to particulars.

My son has left me under silence of last night, contrary to my advice,

contrary to my expectations, and to my earnest request, and the con-

sequences of his doing so are terrible to me beyond expression,

though I declare I could not have done more to save my own life and

the lives of my clan than I have done, by smooth and rough usage, to

detain him at home. This is a subject so melancholy that I can

neither talk nor write about it, and therefore I have sent the bearer

(Hugh Fraser), who has the honour to be known to your Lordship, to

make a faithful report of the uprightness of my conduct in the matter."

The Lord President replies the next day as follows

—

"Your letter of yesterday, which was delivered to me this after-

noon, gave me infinite concern, as it shows me too evidently to what

hazard the act of that rash (but in my opinion deserving) young man
exposes not only himself and your kindred and family, in a very little

course of time, but even your person, for which he of all mortals ought

to have the greatest regard, and that immediately. You never did, as

far as I have seen your correspondence with the Earl of Loudon,

absolutely engage that the young man should not play the fool, nor

that several idle people of the clan might not follow him, but by your

letter of yesterday to his Lordship you took the merit of dispersing

some of his companies, and prevailing with some of his officers to re-

main at home. Now, my Lord, suppose the Master should actually

march, and that, notwithstanding those hopes given any considerable

number of the kindred should attend him, without mentioning what

orders may come from above upon the report of their arrival at Perth,

what do you think my Lord Loudon must instantly do, who may look

upon himself as duped by the security into which the hopes flung out

by your Lordship drew him, and may apprehend the severest re-

primand for having suffered himself to be lulled asleep by the fair

words given by your Lordship, whilst he had 1300 Highlanders at

Inverness, and 200 not far from it, ready to prevent the march of any

numbers to join the rebels. I will not say to your Lordship what

service my advice may have been of for your Lordship's protection

hitherto, but I should not act the part of an honest man, if I did not

tell you that however strong the inclination may continue to be, the

power may fail if the Master, with any number of the kindred, pursue

the course which you mention, and should the Master for a whim
prove so unnatural, and the kindred that dare presume to follow him,

leaving your Lordship opposed to misfortunes inevitable in so ad-

vanced an age, will be of all monsters the most ungrateful, considering
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what you have done and suffered for them. I wish I could prophecy

and I would fairly tell you what would become of the Master, but as I

cannot I must be silent upon that subject, since I have not authority

to say that he will be safe, and I would not mislead ; but if my earnest

wishes do not mislead me, I should hope much will be indulged to his

years, if he carry the matter no further than hitherto he has done,

though if the matters go further, and he should stand in the same
class with those that are now at Perth, I cannot answer for what may
happen not only to him but to the estate to which he is the pre-

sumptive heir, though your Lordship was entirely out of the question."

On the same day . Lord Lovat writes to the Earl of

Loudon from Beaufort, still protesting his innocence re-

garding the conduct of his son and clan, and blasphemously-

calling God to witness to a statement which he knows at the

time to be absolutely false. He addresses the Earl as if

the remarkable letters to Prince Charles, Lochiel, and John

Murray of Broughton, had never been written

—

" Yesterday I had the honour of your Lordship's letter of the 2nd

of this month wherein you are so good to acquaint me of the march

you then intended and have since made to Fort-Augustus ; and that

your Lordship had suspended your march to the Aird, and was re-

solved to put my people of Stratherrick under no hardship in your

way through that country. This instance of your Lordship's modera-

tion lays me under fresh obligations to you which I would so gladly

repay had I an opportunity, as at all times I shall gratefully acknow-

ledge them ; and till that opportunity fall in my way, I hope you will

be so just as to look upon me as a man attached to your Lordship by

all the ties of gratitude and respect. I hope your Lordship met with

nothing in Stratherrick to provoke you to depart from your friendly

purpose with respect to that country ; and without provocation I know

your Lordship has too much goodness to do it. It's true there are

some rascals belonging to that place, who deserve the worst of treat-

ment for their misconduct, and there is some of that stamp even in

this country ; but, as I have often said to your Lordship, I hope you

will never think that misfortune a sufficient reason for distressing the

rest, and much less to fix any load of blame on me, who had no more

accession to their faults than the child unborn, but on the contrary

have used, and shall continue to use, my utmost endeavours to keep

them and all the other people upon my estate within the bounds of

their duty. I must acknowledge, indeed, that I have not had that

influence with them that I expected ; but still, my Lord, the greatest

and better part of them have listened to me, and I hope will always

do so. The information of my son's having left this house came, it
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seems, to your Lordship's ears sooner than it did to mine ; for, I

declare to you, with unfeigned sincerity, that I neither suspected such

a thing, nor had the least whisper of it, till the forenoon of the day

after that in which I had the honour to write last to your Lordship,

and when it was told me, I declare, before God, I was thunderstruck

with the dismal report. I have not yet been able to learn what

influenced him to take that step, nor the views he may have formed

to himself from it ; but this I dare affirm with truth, that not a man of

the Companies I dispersed have either gone to him or expressed [an

intention] of doing it, so that in this particular your Lordship's in-

formers are injurious to me and to these people."

The double part played throughout by Lord Lovat was

now so well known and felt to be so dangerous to the peace

of the country and to the State that it was resolved to arrest

him. Meantime, on the 3rd of December, the Earl of

Loudon proceeded with 6co men in the severest frost ever

experienced, through the Fraser country of Stratherrick, to

the relief of Fort-Augustus, now invested by the Frasers.

Here he met with no opposition, and having supplied the

garrison with all that it required, returned to Inverness on

the 8th, after letting the Stratherrick men know what they

might expect should they leave their homes to join the

disaffected. It having now been resolved to arrest Lord

Lovat, and to obtain satisfaction from him as to the future

peaceable conduct of the Frasers in the Aird district, two

companies of Mackenzies, which had been posted near

Brahan, were brought into Inverness on Monday the 9th,

and on the following day the Earl of Loudon, at the head

of 800 men, marched out to Beaufort, where, after con-

siderable difficulty, excuses, and delay, he prevailed upon

Lord Lovat to accompany him to Inverness on the nth

to live under his own personal observation until the arms in

possession of the clan should be brought in to the authorities.

The following interesting account of Lord Loudon's diffi-

culty in getting Lovat to accompany him to Inverness is

given in a letter, dated Inverness, 12th of December, 1745,

from a Mr William Mackay, who formed one of the officers

of the party, to William Earl of Sutherland. Mackay says—

"Tuesday last, Lord Loudon marched with your Lordship's two

companies, two of Seaforth's, Grant's, Culcairn's, Lord Reay's, and
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100 of his own regiment to Castle Dounie, where we arrived betwixt

three and four in the afternoon. The Lyon (who was in our com-

pany) and Culcairn went in to capitulate with Lovat, and upon telling

Loudon's resolutions, he assured them under the strongest ties of

honour that by ten o'clock next day he would peaceably surrender

himself to Loudon, and cause all his people come in with their arms

and deliver them also, upon which we all got billets upon the tenants

of the neighbourhood. But in the gloaming the Master of Lovat

appeared to us with 120 men, as we then judged, at a distance, which

served us all for sleep and beds that night. Next morning we all

convened and depended so far upon Lovat's promise that we all

thought there was no stop. But, as we were marching by the house,

the Lyon and Culcairn came out and told Loudon that Lovat was not

that day in good health, and consequently could not march. Lord

Loudon returned them with a message that he could accept of no

apologies ; but in the event he would not come out immediately he

would use all his force to oblige him. Upon which we all formed in a

clap about the house, and a couple of cowhorns levelled to the broad-

side of it. Upon which Lovat begged a communion with Loudon,

and only insisted for three days to settle his affairs, and desired Lord
Loudon to leave a detachment of his troops with him, to enable him
to force his people to lay down their arms, because they were all past

his management. Lord Loudon replied that he hoped to dispose of

his Majesty's troops to better purpose, and that, as he very well

understood, he had his people under as good management as any, he

first would carry him, and afterwards consider how to manage the

people in the event they would give any trouble for the future. Lovat
still insisted to be left, though but for one day. At last Loudon told

him to pack immediately, otherwise he would begin the work, for that

he did not choose to loose any man's neck out of the halter at the

expense of his own. At last the coach was desired to be ready. But

the servants were as lazy as the master, till Lord Loudon was obliged

to call for one of his sergeants to yoke the horses, and his Lordship

stood by and saw the thing done. At last the old devil was tackled

out, and we cleverly drove him before us to this place."*

On their arrival in Inverness Lord Lovat promised that

the arms of the clan should be delivered there to Lord
Loudon by Saturday night, the 14th, but excused himself

from being held answerable for the Master and "some of

the mad young men of his name," whose actions, he pro-

tested, he could not control, and two or three hundred of

whom it was known had already proceeded in small parties

to join the army of Prince Charles at Perth. The Lord
* The Sutherland Book, vol. ii., pp. 93-94.
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President, conveying-

this information to the Marquis of

Tweeddale in a long letter dated the 22nd of December,

says that " the surrender of the arms was all that could well

be expected from him. As there was no direct evidence of

his accession to his son's treason, of which he was perpetu-

ally complaining-, and as committing on suspicion a man so

aged and seemingly so infirm would have had the appear-

ance of cruelty, therefore Loudon determined to await the

delivery of the arms," but the old fox was too astute for his

captor. " Instead of delivering the arms at the time

prefixed, excuses were made and fresh promises which

continued from day to day till last Thursday (the 19th),

when Lord Loudon, finding himself deluded, clapped sen-

tries on the gate of the house where he resided resolving to

commit him next morning to the Castle, but in the night

time Lovat found means to get out at a back passage which

was not suspected (as indeed his attempting an escape in his

state of health was what no one dreamed of), and to be con-

veyed away probably on men's shoulders, but whither we

have not yet (22nd of December) learned."

John Grant, factor for Urquhart, writing to Ludovick

Grant of Grant from Balmacaan, on the 20th of December

says
—"There's eight companies of the Frasers at Perth.

The Master of Lovat has not gone as yet."

On the 2nd of January, 1746, Donald Cameron, younger

of Lochiel, Ewen Macpherson of Cluny, and John Murray

of Broughton, wrote to Lord Lovat a long letter signed by

all three from Glasgow, by direction of Prince Charles, in

the course of which they say

—

"Your Lordship's firm and steady behaviour, in spite of all the

underhand dealings, as well as open threats of the Lord Loudon, and

your neighbour the President (who has rendered himself a scandal to all

Scotsmen and a nuisance to all society) together with the early, noble,

and generous appearance of the Master of Lovat in the cause of his

King and country, has not only gained your Lordship the admiration

of this Island, but has settled the affection and friendship of the

Prince for your family upon a more firm and solid foundation than,

we dare venture to say, it was ever on with any of the Royal family of

Stuart, notwithstanding your Lordship's many heavy sufferings in that

cause ; and this, my Lord, we don't assure you from ourselves alone
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but by his Royal Highness' special and repeated orders. Now, my
Lord, allow us to congratulate you upon your happy escape from

Inverness. Had it been any other, we could not possibly have given

credit to it, from the circumstances of the story, but knowing by what

address Lord Lovat has so often extricated himself from difficulties,

insurmountable by the rest of mankind, we could not allow ourselves to

form the least doubt of the truth of it, and are now only in pain to think

of the fatigue you must have undergone, and the danger your health

must have run, in so sudden a change of your usual way of living."

Having described "the glorious retreat his Royal High-

ness made from within four score miles of London," and

some of the most stirring incidents which occurred on the

way, such as the attack upon his army, the repulse of the

enemy at Penrith, and the prospects of further success in

the future, the letter proceeds

—

" And now, my Lord, the only proper means that appear to us, in

common with all the Prince's well-wishers, to bring this to the wished

for issue, is your Lordship's openly appearing in arms, and joining the

Royal standard, in which case, we are certain, that there is not a man
beyond the Forth, however timorous or cautious (except some few who
have already destined themselves to perdition), but will appear with

the greatest alacrity and cheerfulness ; but, not to take up too much of

your Lordship's time, what his Royal Highness above all things

wishes and desires is to have your Lordship with him to take upon

you the command of the army ; for though the Prince knows that your

Lordship's age makes it impossible for you to undergo the drudgery

part of a General, yet he is sensible that your advice and counsel will

be of greater value than the addition of several thousand men.

Though your Lordship has your own equipage, yet we are apt to

believe the Prince's coach and six (of which he himself makes no use)

will be a convenient voyture for your Lordship, and the French

Ambassador, with Lord Pitsligo, who has been in it all along, won't

prove disagreeable company. In short, it is impossible for us to give

the hundredth part of the reasons that make us so sensible of the

absolute necessity of having your Lordship about the Prince's person,

which you will be fully satisfied of at meeting."*

On the same date and from the same place the Prince

himself, referring to the foregoing letter, wrote the following

in his own hand :

—

" I have just now read a letter written to you by Lochiel, Cluny,

and Murray, and you may depend on its containing my true senti-

ments as much as if it was writ by my own hand. I shall only add to

* Lord Lovat's Trial, pp. 149- 1 50.
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it that you cannot do me either more pleasure or more service than by

coming to join me out of hand ; and then you need doubt as little as I

do of our being perfectly satisfied with one another.

"(Signed) Charles P. R."

While at Perth, a few days later, the Master of Lovat

wrote to his father, then at Stratherrick, a letter which is not

dated, but which must have been written between the ioth

and 13th of January, for his Lordship acknowledges receipt

and replies to it on the 14th. After apologising to his

father for not having written to him sooner, "as I did not

know but you might be on terms with Lord Loudon and

the President after making your escape," he goes on to say
—"As I saw your Lordship's safety and the King's interest

required an expedition to the North, I left no stone un-

turned to bring it about. I therefore, immediately on

hearing of the Prince's being at Glasgow, dispatched my
Captain-Lieutenant (who was of great use in urging this

matter on the people at Perth) to Glasgow to negotiate the

affair there. He is not as yet returned, but I make no

doubt, how soon the affair at Stirling is ended, but a proper

body of troops will be ordered to clear the North, and

sooner the art of man cannot bring it about." He then

proposed a course of action to his father of which the latter

did not approve and brought from him a reply containing

information which was evidently new to the son and will

prove interesting to the reader. The Master continues

—

" As to your Lordship's conduct in the meantime, if I might give an

advice, it would be, not to lose on both sides. I am far from meaning

by this that you should come to Perth ; so far from it that, provided

your Lordship could make conditions for your person and estate with

Lord Loudon and the President, I should be content with a thin

regiment ; but in case they have neither authority nor inclination to

give this I humbly think you should immediately come to a resolution

and put it in execution ; for if your Lordship's clan do not all immedi-

ately join the Prince the cause will soon be found out. I would not

care if your Lordship's person and estate were preserved by their

stay ; but it will be hard, if it does not better your condition with the

Government when it must evidently make it worse with the Prince."

It is evident from another paragraph in this letter that

his Lordship had been urging the Master to return to the
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North for the purpose of enlisting
- more of the clan. To

this proposal the son replies

—

" As to my going North, I know your Lordship's influence over your

clan too well to think that, where your orders fail my presence will

have any weight. I'm certain your commands, though only intimated

by your officers, will do in a day more than my presence would do in a

week ; and I am persuaded that your people will come to a man if you

order them ; and if you do not that they will stay at home, so that

their coming or not entirely depends upon your Lordship. Besides,

my going North at this time would look a little odd, when the Prince

is come to Scotland, has sent us his positive order, and let us know

that he himself is to come and command us in person. That I should

at such a critical time run home would look ill, and the pretext (as

it would be called) of recruiting men would not screen me from an

imputation your Lordship, I'm sure, would always wish me to shun.

These reasons, I dare say, (will) convince your Lordship that my
going is not only unnecessary but very improper at this time."*

To this Lord Lovat replies on the 14th of January, 1746,

at great length and detail. Having complimented his son

on his writing and diction, his Lordship says

—

" I must tell you, my dear child, that you advance several things in

it that are not just and that you cannot support in reason. In the

first place, your reason for your not writing to me before, since I

made my escape (though I accept of your excuse) was neither just nor

relevant ; for it was not to be supposed that either Loudon or the

President would be in terms with me so soon after having so signally

affronted them. But, in the second place, it is impossible there could

be any terms 'twixt Lord Loudon, the President, and me that should

keep you from writing me ; no, if I should be attainted. So your

reason for not writing to me was ill-founded. As to your advice that

comes in immediately after it, in representing to me that if I could

make my peace with Loudon and the President and save my person

and estate that you would content yourself with a thin regiment, this

thought, my dear child, was not at all digested, and entirely ignorant

to my circumstances ; for, in the first place, Loudon can no more save

my person and estate than one of your subalterns can ; nay, they

cannot as much as engage to make me free from prison for any time
;

so that it would be madness for me to make any terms with them, but

to speak civilly and to keep myself out of their way. But the fact is,

my dear child, which you forget or perhaps that I did not take pains

to inform you of, that about seven years ago I was one of those that

entered into a formal Association to venture our lives and fortunes to

* Lord Lovat's Trial, pp. 144-145.
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restore the King and his offspring, and we signed our mutual engage-

ments for this purpose with our hands and seals, and sent it to France

to the Cardinal de Fleury, then first minister of France, by the hands
of Mr William Drummond of Bochaldy. The Cardinal was so

pleased with it that he showed our engagements and subscriptions to

the King his master, and begged of his Majesty to support us ; and
the King desired the Cardinal to assure us of his protection, and that

he would (lend) us his assistance and succours to restore our King.

When Mr Drummond acquainted my own King of this proof of my
loyalty and of my constant zeal for his person and interest from my
younger years till now, (he) gave me evident proofs of his goodness

and favours towards me since, as much as to any subject. He gave

Mr Drummond a Commission to carry to me of General of the

Highlanders, which I have ; and several letters writ with the King's

own hand, that his Majesty would pay all the money I paid Fraser-

dale and his creditors for the estate of Lovat ; and last of all, the King

was so good as to give such a singular mark of his favour to me and

my family that he created me Duke of Fraser, etc., and sent me that

patent by William Drummond, of which I have an authentic copy,

signed and countersigned by the King. I would be a monster of

ingratitude if this did not attach me to his Majesty more than ever.

Bochaldy, not thinking it safe to bring the patent to Britain, left it

with his uncle, old Lochiel, at Boulogne, in France, who is now come

over with Lord John Drummond, his colonel ; and I hope he has

taken the patent along with him. So, my dear child, since that

Association, I made it my business wherever I was to promote the

King's interest and to gain and engage faithful subjects to serve him,

so that I have done more against this Government than would hang

fifty lords and forfeit fifty estates. I have therefore nothing for it

now but to promote everything that is for my dear Prince's honour

and interest, and nothing made me ever speak so much as a fair

word to Lord Loudon, or the President, but to endeavour to save my
person from prison, since I was not able to go to the field ; but since

that is over, and that I have no safety from prison but by being in hills

and woods and inaccessible places my greatest desire under the sun

is that you should make a good and handsome figure in the Prince's

army, which I wish and I am as anxious to see done as yourself, and

would do as much for it as I would do to save my life or to keep myself

from prison, which would soon be death for me. And as Loudon told

me the day before I made my escape, that he had as much to say

against me as would hang all the Frasers of my clan, I have no reason

to hedge or dissemble with any man of the Government ; so you may
assure yourself that I will put all irons in the fire to send you South

all the men that's engaged with you and as many more as I can."

His Lordship then goes on to tell the Master that he is
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making up with all the haste possible a habitation for him-

self in the House of Muily ; for that country is the strongest

hold in Scotland, and he will make a hundred men defend

it against all the forces that King George can have in

Scotland. Besides, he has ordered a boat to be made to

carry him in and out to the Island of Muily when he pleases

or finds it necessary, so that it was morally impracticable to

attack him in that country, where he is determined to go,

if possible, next week, provided the necessary accommoda-

tion is then readv for him. In the meantime he is resolved

to stay at his "dear Gortuleg's house," which he reckons his

home as much as if he were at Castle Dounie, until the

required arrangements are made for him in Glenstrathfarrar.

His Lordship adds a long postscript, in which he says

—

" I send you enclosed the four letters you should have carried with

you from Castle Dounie, which I hope you will have occasion to

deliver out of your own hand. You may tell the Prince, when you

deliver the letter to him out of your own hand, that your father

thought it the greatest misfortune of his life that his sickness and

infirmities deprived him of the honour of attending his Royal High-

ness wherever he went ; and that his only comfort now is, that he

is capable to give his Royal Highness such a mark of his zeal as to

send you and his kindred to venture your lives for him ; and that he

himself is every day exposed to be made a prisoner and be sent to

London to have his head struck off, since it can easily be proven

against him that he has done more against the Government than any

one of his rank in Britain, and hopes that, since by God's help he has

made what may be called a miraculous escape out of the hands of his

cruel enemy, he will yet expose his person, with his sword in his

hand, to serve his Royal Highness and to do his duty before his eyes.

And tell young Lochiel and John Roy that I expect that they will

make my court and yours to his Royal Highness in every shape, and

that they both know the entire trust and confidence I put in them."

Referring to Hugh Fraser, the Master's Captain-Lieu-

tenant, his Lordship requests his service to him and to

tell him,

"That I beg of him to remember all that I spoke to him about my
Patent ; and when you talk seriously to him about it, I entreat that

you both put all the irons in the fire you can to make the thing

succeed. I ask nothing of his Royal Highness but to give his coun-

tenance and own publicly what his father has done for me, which if



420 HISTORY OF THE FRASERS.

he refuse, I must keep to the oath that I gave before to the Duke of

Perth, the Earl of Traquair, Lochiel, and other gentlemen that first

engaged in the present object with me, that I would never draw

sword till that was done. And I cannot suppose or imagine that his

Royal Highness will make the least scruple about it, since it is for his

own honour and interest as well as for that of my family."*

What a comment on his conduct during- the preceding1

seven years, and especially his correspondence and pro-

fessions of friendship with the Earl of Loudon and the

Lord President these letters are ! In the one to his son,

the Master, he deliberately says—" Nothing made me ever

speak as much as a fair word to Lord Loudon or the

President but to endeavour to save my person from prison,

since I was not able to go to the field and fight for my
king." That is, all his protestations of loyalty to the

reigning family and personal regard for the Lord President

was a mountain of deception from beginning to end ! And
for what ? To save his miserable " person from prison !

"

Not even to save his family estates. That was to be gained

by the success of the Stuart cause. Then, he informs his

son, for the first time, that he had been busily plotting the

overthrow of the ruling Royal family for a series of years.

" Above seven years ago," he says, " I was one of those that

entered into a formal Association to venture our lives and

fortunes to restore the King (James) and his offspring, and

we signed our mutual engagements for this purpose with

our hands and seals " and sent it to the King of France

through Cardinal Fleury, his Prime Minister. When King

James was made acquainted with these proofs of his Lord-

ship's loyalty to the exiled House, and of his "constant zeal

for his person and interest," he, among other marks of his

favour, sent him a Commission as " General of the High-

landers," and several letters written by his own Royal hand

promising " that his Majesty would pay all the money I

(Lord Lovat) paid Fraserdale and his creditors for the

estate of Lovat"; and last, but not least, of all his goodness,

he was gracious enough to create him " Duke of Fraser."

* Lord Lovat''s Trial, pp. 141-143.
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He would be "a monster of ingratitude" if this did not

attach him to the Stuart family more than ever, and his

conduct in showing his appreciation of all these favours, he

confesses to his son—whom, as part of his scheme, he drove

into the rebellion against his own will and judgment—that

he had "done more against this (the existing) Government

than would hang fifty lords and forfeit fifty estates."

That the Master was forced by his father against his will

and better judgment to fight for Prince Charles—whose

army he actually joined at the head of six hundred of the

clan at Bannockburn, immediately before the battle of

Falkirk, fought on the 17th of January, 1746—was com-

pletely established by the evidence produced at his Lord-

ship's trial and otherwise, as will now be shown.

On the 10th of February the Prince was at Ruthven, in

Badenoch, on his way north. The Master of Lovat had,

by this time, gone home, and the Frasers had not as yet

arrived at Ruthven.*

Mr Robert Chevis of Muirtown, examined by Sir John

Strange as a witness in Lovat's trial, said that he knew his

Lordship since 1733, that he was often in his company, and

that the general turn of his conversation "was in favour of

the Pretender and his family." He related a conversation

he had with Lord Simon about the Spanish invasion of

1719, when Lovat told him of a letter he had written to

Seaforth to encourage and desiring him to come down with

his men, and that he should join him against the Govern-

ment with all his vassals in favour of the Pretender. A full

account of the sending of that letter and the other circum-

stances connected with it were given at pp. 353-355.

Then about John Roy Stuart, in 1736 ?

Sir John Strange asked—Who was Sheriff at the time ?

Mr Chevis—My Lord Lovat. He came to Lord Lovat's

house and was entertained there, for about six weeks, during

which the witness was frequently there in his and Lord

Lovat's company. He remembered when he (John Roy)

was going abroad that the ship was prepared for him before

* Chiefs of Grant, vol. ii., p. 233.
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he left Castle Dounie and that he was driven to it in Lord

Lovat's chariot. He heard the noble Lord at the bar

charging him with a message to the Pretender, whom he

called upon to assure him (the Prince) of his fidelity

and that he was determined to live and die in the cause.

He, at the same time, charged him to expedite the sending

to him by the Pretender of his Commission of Lieutenant-

General of the Highlands and his Patent of a Duke.

This, it will be remembered, was about a year before he

addressed his famous letter to the Earl of Islay protesting

his unbounded loyalty to the reigning family.

Subsequently, in 1742, his Lordship owned to Mr Chevis

that he had already received his Commission as a Lieuten-

ant-General of the Highland Clans, and his Patent of a

Duke of Fraser, "from his lawful Sovereign, King James

VIII.," and that he was consequently placed in a position

to humble his neighbours. When Ostend was taken by the

French, Lord Lovat wrote Mr Chevis a letter in which he

said that the coast of Flanders was now clear "and that the

French would be over in one night's time and carry all before

them." Mr Chevis was at Castle Dounie in September

1745, when a manifesto from the Pretender was produced

and the Master was ordered by Lord Lovat to read it. His

Lordship, after it was read, said "that he was to join the

Pretender's party in that cause, and that he would live and

die in that cause," adding that " he thought success was

morally certain ; as sure as light, as sure as God was

in heaven, the Pretender would prevail." Mr Chevis

himself was offered a Captain's commission by his Lord-

ship to serve with the Frasers, but he refused it. He
saw a rendezvous of as many as four, five, and six hun-

dred men there. He never went back to Castle Dounie

after the occasion on which the Pretender's proclamation

was read.

Mr Robert Fraser, who was Lord Lovat's secretary from

October, 1744, until he was taken prisoner along with him

on the 7th of June, 1746, wrote letters, after Lovat received

information by special messenger that Prince Charles had
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landed on the West Coast of Scotland, to James Fraser of

Foyers and John Fraser of Farraline to get their men ready

to join the Master of Lovat, and he himself by order of

the Chamberlain and with the knowledge of his Lordship,

took lists of all the men capable of bearing arms on the

Lovat property north of Lochness, with the view of

their joining the Master in the Pretender's service. He
knew his Lordship was aware of the list being prepared

because he went into the room and told him that he was

writing it.

The following question and answer followed regarding

the Master's attitude, and the statements repeatedly made
by his father that he was going out into the rebellion

and taking away the men against his Lordship's will and

orders :

—

Solicitor-General—Do you know any message that was sent or

passed between my Lord Lovat and Lord Loudon and the Lord

President ?

Robert Fraser—Yes.

Solicitor-General—What was it about ?

Robert Fraser—Several letters were sent by my Lord Loudon and

my Lord President to my Lord Lovat to dissuade him from entering

the rebellion.

Solicitor-General—What answers did my Lord Lovat make to

these letters ?

Robert Fraser—He said his son was so obstinate as to enter into

the rebellion ; but that he could not help it.

Solicitor-General—Was that true—was the son so obstinate?

Robert Fraser—No ; I am sure it was not true.

Solicitor-General—Why are you sure it was not true ?

Robert Fraser—Because while I was preparing a letter to the Lord

President, which my Lord Lovat dictated, wherein he acquainted

them of his son's obstinacy in going into the rebellion (which letter

my Lord directed me not to let anybody see) his son, the Master,

came in and asked me for the letter ; and I refusing to give it him,

the son took the letter out of my hand.

Solicitor-General—Who took it out of your hand ?

Robert Fraser—The Master of Lovat took it out of my hand ; and
after reading it said—" Good God, how is this ! Accuse me behind

my back ! To call me stiff-necked and disobedient ! I will set the

saddle upon the right horse. If this letter goes I will go and discover

all to my Lord President."
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Solicitor-General—What did he mean by putting the saddle upon

the right horse ?

Robert Fraser—That he would go and discover to the Lord

President that his father, my Lord Lovat, had forced him to do

what he had done.

Solicitor-General—Did you hear anything that passed between

Lord Lovat and his son about his backwardness in going into the

rebellion ?

Robert Fraser— I heard him blame the Master of Lovat for being

dilatory in raising men to join the Pretender's son.

The witness then detailed at length the warlike prepara-

tions which were being made in the month of September.

Bell tents, colours, bonnets, rendezvous, powder and bullets,

meetings of officers, with white cockades in their bonnets,

were prepared, collected, or paraded to his personal know-

ledge and by the authority of Lord Lovat.

Solicitor-General—Do you know of anything that happened at my
Lord Lovat's after the battle of Prestonpans ?

Robert Fraser—Fraser of Dalcrag came to Castle Dounie with an

account of the battle of Prestonpans.

Solicitor- General—What did my Lord Lovat say to him on that

occasion ?

Robert Fraser—That his men would soon be ready to go south.

Solicitor-General—For what purpose.

Robert Fraser—To join the rebels.

Solicitor-General—Do you know of any men passing by my Lord

Lovat's house?

Robert Fraser—My Lord Cromartie's regiment passed by, and he

and the Macdonalds and several others, were entertained there

that night.

Solicitor-General—Did you hear anything that passed on that

occasion ; anything that was said by my Lord Lovat about it ?

Robert Fraser—Yes, that it was owing to the Master of Lovat's

disobedience that the Frasers were not ready as soon as any

other.

Solicitor-General—Was there anything else passed then, or any

particular healths drunk?

Robert Fraser—Yes, the health of the Pretender's son was drunk

by the name of Prince Charles.

Solicitor-General— -Pray at what time did the Master of Lovat

go and join the rebels ?

Robert Fraser— It was between the ioth and 20th of December

that he went. My Lord Lovat was taken prisoner on the ioth or



XVIII. SIMON, THIRTEENTH LORD FRASER. 425

nth of December, and escaped about the 19th or 20th, and at the

same time the Master marched with the Frasers.

Solicitor-General—Was my Lord Lovat extremely displeased at

his son's so marching? or did he disapprove of it?

Robert Fraser—No.

Solicitor-General—Did he send word for his son to come back again ?

Robert Fraser—He did afterwards send word for him to come
back, to raise more men.

Solicitor-General—Did you apprehend that the Master of Lovat

carried his men into the rebel army without his father's permission ?

Robert Fraser—No, I am very sure he could not.

Solicitor-General—Why are you sure of it ?

Robert Fraser—Because my Lord Lovat is a very strict man ; and

none of his children could have done it without his consent.

Solicitor-General—Had my Lord Lovat a power over them?

Robert Fraser—Yes ; he had a very great power over them.

Hugh Fraser, Younger of Dunballoch, in the course of

his examination, corroborated Robert Fraser as to the

reading of the Pretender's manifesto, the raising of the

men, the purpose for which they were being raised, and,

in answer to Sir Richard Lloyd, he said " that the Master

could not have raised the men, except my Lord Lovat had

countenanced the thing and it had been done by his per-

mission," and he heard his Lordship say " more than once

that his son was very slow in raising of the men " ; and that

was in dispraise of his dilatoriness.

Sir Richard Lloyd—Did you hear my Lord Lovat say anything of

his own abilities or inabilities to raise men and head them ?

Hugh Fraser— I have heard my Lord Lovat say that he was a

tender, infirm man, and not able to go about those things himself.

Sir Richard Lloyd—Have you heard him wish himself younger?

Hugh Fraser— I have heard him say he wished himself younger,

that he might go and command the men himself.

Sir Richard Lloyd— Command them in whose service?

Hugh Fraser— In the Pretender's service, that he was talking of.

Sir Richard Lloyd—Was any person present there besides yourself

and my Lord Lovat when you were at his house ?

Hugh Fraser—There were several persons there.

Sir Richard Lloyd—Did any conversation then pass or not about

throwing off the mask ?

Hugh Fraser—Yes ; Mr Alexander Macleod (of Muiravonside) and

several others of the country there were speaking about the Pre-
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tender, and Mr Alexander Macleod said that much depended upon

my Lord Lovat's throwing off his mask, or words to that purpose.

Sir Richard Lloyd—To whom did he say these words ?

Hugh Fraser—To my Lord Lovat.

Sir Richard Lloyd—What answer did my Lord Lovat make to that?

Hugh Fraser—My Lord Lovat I saw take off his hat and put

it on the ground, and heard him say "There it is then."

Sir Richard Lloyd—Do you remember any particular healths that

were drank then ?

Hugh Fraser— I have heard the Prince's health drank several

times there at the table at Castle Dounie. My Lord Lovat was

present at the table. I heard him say he was sure the Prince would

prevail. I have heard my Lord Lovat say that he had ordered his

factor to give an allowance, monthly or weekly, to the wives and
children of the men that went south with his clan to the young

Pretender.

Mr William Walker, who was for three years and a half

in Lord Lovat's service, corroborated the other witnesses in

most of the details of their evidence. He remembered

being in the room on one occasion, with Lord Lovat when

the Master came in soon after two companies of the Strath-

errick men had been marched off to Perth.

Sir William Yonge—What passed there between them ?

William Walker—When the Master came into the room, my Lord

Lovat was speaking to him ; I do not know what it was about.

Sir William Yonge— What did the Master do then?

William Walker—The Master rose up and took off his bonnet,

and threw it upon the floor and damned the cockade.

Sir William Yonge—What did the father do upon that occasion?

William Walker—He rose in a passion and said, What could he

do ! and was forcing his son out. He could not understand the words

that passed between them because Lord Lovat spoke in Gaelic. But

the Master of Lovat went to the door and the Rev. Donald Fraser,

the minister, stood up in his behalf. The father was forcing the

son out, the very life of him.

Sir William Yonge—Do you know of any violence or force that

was used to make the men rise ?

William Walker—The Chamberlain forced them, and young Inver-

allochy. They threatened to burn their houses after the Battle of

Culloden if they did not rise.

Sir William Yonge—But before that how did they threaten them ?

William Walker — That they would take their cattle and

plaids from them, if they did nc* rise. Lord Lovat was then a
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prisoner to my Lord Loudon, and was then in his custody at

Inverness.

Mr Hugh Fraser, who acted as secretary for Lord Lovat

from April or May 1741 to the end of December 1744, and

afterwards went to reside in Edinburgh, where he said he

was living in September, 1745, corroborated what had been

said by the preceding witnesses so far as it related to the

period during which he was in his Lordship's service and

again from September to the end of December 1745, when

he returned to Castle Dounie on a special mission now to

be explained.

William Fraser of Balnain, W.S., who also resided in Edin-

burgh, in the practice of his profession, and Hugh Fraser,

had a meeting in September, at which it was resolved that

Hugh should go north to arrange with Lord Lovat "upon

the subject of his son's going out of Scotland, to avoid any

censure or wrong interpretation that might be put upon his

conduct as he was then in that country." The proposal

was, that he should go abroad to Leyden, William Fraser

to provide the necessary funds for a year, but to be

afterwards repaid him by Lord Lovat. Hugh Fraser

proceeded to Castle Dounie and submitted this suggestion

to Lord Lovat, who at first "very much approved of the

proposal and agreed to the thing." But "some days after"

his Lordship said, "he did not think it quite convenient a

thing and that he altered his mind " regarding it ; and he

added that it was his intention that the Master "should go

into the rebellion " at the head of the Frasers. Lord Lovat

also said that he had intended at first to go himself and lead

them, but that he had changed his mind, and resolved that

the Master should go instead. His Lordship expected that

four or five thousand Highlanders could be brought together

for himself to lead in person, " but as that was not then

likely to happen" he intended to stay at home and "that

the Master should go with the clan to head them." His

Lordship further said that "some people had not acted up

to their engagements," presumably the Macleods and the

Macdonalds, which much disappointed him, and induced him
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to alter his original resolution to lead the men in person.

While Hugh Fraser was at Castle Dounie, "about eight

days after" the battle of Prestonpans, which was fought on

the 2 1 st of September, 1745, several gentlemen came to

Lord Lovat's residence, who said they had been in that

battle, and on hearing their account of it his Lordship said

"that it was a victory obtained not to be paralleled in

history." The gentlemen who brought the news were

Archibald Macdonald, Younger of Barrisdale, and young

Glengarry, who said that they were in the battle them-

selves and that they came north to levy more men to join

the Prince's army ; and Lord Lovat said that he thought

they might raise five thousand. Fraser remained at Castle

Dounie for about fourteen days, and when he left he

was instructed by his Lordship to communicate to Prince

Charles personally the purport of the conversation which

he had heard, and in particular to tell him that his Lord-

ship intended to have gone personally at the head of four

or five thousand men, " but that his age and infirmities

would not allow him to do that, and that he had resolved

his son should head the Frasers and go into the rebellion

instead," which, he said, "was a greater mark of his attach-

ment and affections than if he had gone himself," having

such a great regard for the Master as he professed to have.

Hugh Fraser conveyed his Lordship's message to the Prince

on his arrival in Edinburgh, where he remained until he

again returned to the North in the beginning of October,

carrying along with him, from Lochiel, Cluny, and John

Murray to Lord Lovat the letter with which the reader is

already acquainted, dated at Glasgow, the 2nd of January,

1746. On his arrival at Castle Dounie he made verbal

representations to his Lordship regarding the strength of

the respective parties, to the effect that the followers of the

Prince could not ultimately prevail against the now largely

increased disciplined forces of the King. His Lordship

agreed, but said " that he thought himself too far engaged

to look back," but he forbade Fraser to mention any of the

conversation that passed between them to his son, the
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Master. He heard Lord Lovat say, "that he apprehended

the conduct of his clan upon this occasion would be his

ruin and very probably cost him his life." In the month

of November, about six or seven companies of the Frasers

marched to Urquhart when he was at Castle Dounie, but

they were afterwards recalled by a letter from Lord Lovat,

and they all complied except about twenty-five men. These

companies were not at first accompanied by the Master,

who only followed them to induce them to return. Hugh
Fraser went along with him. They called the officers

together, but Macdonald of Barrisdale prevailed upon them,

against the Master's solicitations, to march. They, however,

returned afterwards on receipt of the letter from Lord

Lovat himself already referred to. He, Hugh Fraser, was

sent by his Lordship to the Lord President and the Earl

of Loudon, to discover from these gentlemen what would

be the probable consequence if the Frasers marched and

went into the rebellion, when he brought back the message

that the result would in all probability be the seizing of his

Lordship's person and an inquiry into his conduct.

Let us now see what the personal attitude of the Master

was as sworn to by Hugh Fraser. It was, he said, arranged

between them before he proceeded with the letters and

messages to the Lord President and Lord Loudon that the

Master should meet him privately on his way back, in order

to tell him " what passed between my Lord President and

me, and my Lord Loudon and me," and they met accord-

ingly, when Hugh Fraser reported to the Master the whole

of the conversation which he had with these two gentlemen,

in consequence of which it was agreed between them that

the Master, if possible, should at once proceed to Holland,

and that the scheme previously proposed by Hugh and

William Fraser of Balnain should be carried out, and the

Master's education continued at Leyden or some other

University on the Continent. The two agreed that the

result of this meeting and conversation should be reported

to Lord Lovat, and this was duly done by Hugh Fraser.

His Lordship expressed his opinion that his son " should
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proceed in the undertaking he was engaged in," and " that

the men should march immediately." This was said in

presence of several other gentlemen. During the conversa-

tion which followed, in course of which Lord Lovat refused

to delay the marching out of the men, the Master "burst

into tears and said he had been made a fool of and a tool

from first to last ; that he had been one day doing and

another day undoing, but that now he was determined that

whatever resolution Lord Lovat should come to that he

would execute it, let the consequence be what it would with

respect to himself and other people." Lord Lovat replied

that he had given his opinion already and would adhere to it.

The Solicitor-General—You have seen my Lord Lovat and his son

pretty often together, and were at his house two or three months

together
;
pray what was your opinion as to the backwardness of the

Master of Lovat ? Do you think that the Master was guilty of obsti-

nacy and disobedience to his father in going into the rebellion ? or

that, by so doing, he complied with his father's orders and inclinations ?

Hugh Fraser— If I am to form my opinion with respect to the

Master of Lovat upon his own good sense and understanding, or his

avowed principles, I should apprehend that he would not have gone

into the rebellion had he been left to himself. And if I am to form

my opinion upon the private conversations I had with him, and par-

ticularly one which I remember I had in Urquhart, I say if I

am to form my opinion upon what he declared with respect to his

intentions and sentiments to me, it is my belief that he would not

have had any concern in this rebellion, had he been entirely left to

himself.

Peter Fraser, tutor of Belladrum, was then sworn, but it

is not necessary to give more than two or three of the

questions and answers in his case

—

Mr Lyttleton—Do you imagine and believe that the Master of

Lovat could have carried the Frasers into the rebellion if his father

had been against it ?

Peter Fraser—No ; he could not. I am sure he could not.

Mr Lyttleton—Had the Master any manner of foundation to think

he could raise the men himself? Or did he, at his own charge and

cost, pay those men when they went into the rebellion ? Or had he

money to do it ?

Peter Fraser— I suppose he had no money of his own.

Mr Lyttleton—Do you remember any part of the conversation (on



XVIII. SIMON, THIRTEENTH LORD FRASER. 43

1

a certain occasion) between Barrisdale, Macleod. and my Lord Lovat

concerning my Lord's declaring openly for the Pretender ?

Peter Fraser— I remember one day that Alexander Macleod (of

Muiravonside) said that all would be well if my Lord would pull off

the mask ; upon which my Lord Lovat, by way of reply, pulled off his

his hat and said, "There it is then."

On the day on which the Battle of Culloden was fought

Lord Simon was still—as he had been for several months pre-

viously—living at Gortuleg House.* What occurred on that

eventful day and the part taken in the battle by the Frasers

will be more appropriately dealt with in an account of the

life and services of the Master of Lovat, who at least nomin-

ally commanded them, and who subsequently became so

distinguished as a general officer in the military service of

his country. On the evening of that fatal morning, Prince

Charles, after escaping from the field, made his way to

Gortuleg House, where he found Lord Lovat awaiting him,

looking for a very different result and was correspondingly

disappointed. Mrs Grant of Laggan gives the following

interesting account of the meeting of the two heroes, the

Prince and his Lordship, and of the preparations which had

been made for a meeting under the very different circum-

stances which had been so fondly anticipated by Lovat

and his friends. She says

—

" For two or three days before, preparations were making for the

reception of the Prince and his train, to regale whom a very ample

cold collation was preparing. All the women in the vicinity were

called in to bake cakes, and roast meat poultry, and venison for the

occasion. Such was the urgency of the time and the quantity of food

dressed, that every room in the house, even that which Lord Lovat

occupied, was used for culinary purposes, and filled with bread and

joints of roasted meat. On the fatal day of Culloden, the Highlanders

* In a note prefixed to the last piece in Captain Fraser of Knockie's High-

land Music, p. 94, the Editor of that work says that "Lord Lovat spent the last

six months previous to his being apprehended chiefly in the house of Thomas
Fraser, Esq. of Gorthleck, the Editor's maternal grandfather, where he had

his only interview with Prince Charles, after his defeat and not at Castleduny

as mentioned in the Culloden Papers. His residence there, or elsewhere,

rendered the place for the time the focus of the Rebellion and brought a con-

course of visitors of all descriptions friendly to the cause, but chiefly men of

the best talents and address, not likely to commit themselves,"
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at first gained some partial advantage, and some one came up

to say that the fortune of the day was in favour of the Prince ; the

house soon filled with people breathless with anxiety for tidings of

their friends who were engaged. The little girl (at the time in the

house) was considered as an encumbrance, and ordered into a closet,

where she continued a little while an unwilling prisoner. Below the

house was a large marshy plain, in the centre of which was a small

lake that in winter overflowed it, but was now nearly dry. This spot

the superstitious believed to be a rendezvous of the fairies ; all of a

sudden the tumultuous noise that filled the house was succeeded by a

deep silence ; the little prisoner, alarmed at this sudden stillness,

ventured out, and saw not one creature in the house but Lord Lovat

sitting in deep thought ; then she ventured to the door, and looking

down saw above a thousand people in one ghastly crowd in the plain

below. Struck with the sudden shifting of the scene and the appear-

ance of this multitude, she thought it was a visionary show of fairies

which would immediately disappear. She was soon however unde-

ceived by the mournful cries of women who were tearing off their

handkerchiefs for bandages to the wounded. In an instant quantities

of linen were carried down for the same purpose, and the intended

feast was distributed in morsels among the fugitives, who were in-

stantly forced to disperse for safety to the caves and mountains of that

rugged district. The Prince and a few of his followers came to the

house ; Lovat expressed attachment to him, but at the same time

reproached him with great asperity for declaring his intention to

abandon the enterprise entirely. ' Remember,' said he fiercely, ' your

great ancestor, Robert Bruce, who lost eleven battles and won Scot-

land by the twelfth."'

His Lordship, no doubt, received the Royal fugitive as his

Prince, excused himself from not being- able to join him in

the field, and embraced him tenderly as they parted from

each other. Early next morning- Charles proceeded west-

ward and reached Invergarry Castle, where he remained for

a portion of that night. Lord Lovat is said to have travelled

eastward and found shelter for a few days in an attic in

Cawdor Castle. This has not been proved, and it is highly

improbable that he should have gone in that direction,

where he would have been surrounded by the enemy

—

would indeed have to pass through them to reach Cawdor

Castle. There is no doubt that a few days after Culloden he

reached the Island of Muily in Glenstrathfarrar, where some

time before, as we know from his recent letter to the Master
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of Lovat at Perth, special preparations had been made for

his reception in the event of its becoming necessary for him

to retire thither. On his way during the night from the

top of a hill, he saw his favourite Castle Dounie in flames,

fire having been set to it by a body numbering 900 of

Cumberland's troops under Brigadier Mordaunt, who had

been told off to the Aird and Strathglass districts to burn

and plunder the Castle, Guisachan House, and everything

on which they could there lay their hands. His Lordship

does not appear to have remained at Muily for many days,

for early in May he is found on the Island of Morar.

The battle of Culloden was fought on the 16th of April,

1746. In May following a meeting took place near Lovat's

place of concealment at Morar, of some of the leading

Jacobite leaders, including Lochiel, Archibald Macdonald

of Barrisdale, John Murray of Broughton, John Roy
Stewart, Gordon of Glenbucket, Dr Archibald Cameron,

and several others, where it was proposed by his Lordship

to enter into an Association and to raise 3000 men in order

the more easily to procure favourable terms from Cumber-

land, or hold out in the hills and mountains of their native

country to the last. The articles of Association were duly

drawn up and all present signed them, except Lord Lovat,

who requested Lochiel to do so for his Lordship's son, the

Master of Lovat, whose life he was apparently quite willing

to sacrifice, provided he could only save his own. About

£35,000 of money which had come from France, was dis-

tributed at this meeting, and Lovat's servant received

"seventy or eighty pounds" of it in his Lordship's presence.

The gentlemen who had signed agreed to meet again ten

days later, but that meeting never took place. Each had to

look out for his own personal safety where and as best he

could, and most of those then assembled never had another

opportunity of seeing each other's faces. As regards the

object of this meeting Lieutenant Dalrymple of the Furnace

sloop of war, in his evidence at the trial, said that on the 8th

of June, 1746, the next day after Lovat's capture, he heard

him say that " if his advice had been taken the rebel army

28
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might have laughed at the King's troops and tired them out

all summer. His Lordship said it was not their business

to fight the King's troops ; but that, as summer was coming

on, they might have taken themselves to the mountains, and

could have lived on butter, cheese, and milk, for that the

Duke of Cumberland's horse could be of no service to him

in the country," and the old chief seemed much aggrieved

that his advice was not acted upon.

After a few days on the island of Loch Muily, in Glen-

strathfarrar, he left for the West Coast and found his way

accompanied by twenty armed men as a body guard, to the

island on Loch Morar. Here he arrived early in May and

was captured on the 7th of June by a party from the Fur-

nace, commanded by the notorious Captain Fergusson. His

wanderings after the battle of Culloden and his final capture

are graphically described as follows—With a frame exhausted

by age and disease, unable to move his limbs, the hardships

he encountered, hiding in bogs and hollow trees, and

caverns, with the whole fabric of his ambition lying in the

dust at his feet, and no brilliant hopes as in the days of

his early hardships beckoning him through endurance to

greatness—the miseries of the old man's wanderings may be

such as the pen need not attempt to describe. He was

finally apprehended in the district of Morar, on the western

coast, by a party from the Furnace sloop, which had been

sent to search the isles and the coast. From his retreat in

Loch Muily, he must have travelled upwards of seventy

miles over the wildest country in Scotland to reach this

spot, and for all this exertion he must have been indebted

to the faithful labours of his clansmen, for he could not

walk a step unsupported. In the Lake of Morar he had

hidden himself in an island which, as he had the command
of the only boat on the lake, he considered impregnable.

As, however, the western extremity of the lake was very

close to the sea, a boat was towed by the man-of-war's men
over the peninsula and launched on the lake. The con-

temporary narratives state that he was discovered within

a hollow tree, in which he was able to stand upright after
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having- entered by an orifice below, through which the

sailors were astonished to see what appeared to be two

human legs muffled in flannel like those of a gouty alder-

man. He was conveyed in a litter to Fort-William, and

there, on the 12th of June, he wrote a letter to the Duke of

Cumberland, saying—" I can do more to the King and

Government than by destroying a hundred such old and

very infirm and old men like me, past seventy, without the

least use of my hands, legs, and knees, can advantage in

any shape to the Government." Nor did he fail in efforts

to touch other feelings. He spoke of his favourable recep-

tion at the Court of George I., made in the same strain,

with several other letters already quoted. "And I often,"

he continues, "carried your Royal Highness in my arms

in the parks of Kensington and Hampton Court, to hold

you up to your Royal grandfather that he might embrace

you, for he was very fond of you and the princesses." But

this was addressed to a heart harder than the nether mill-

stone. It procured him nothing but a visit from Sir

Everard Fawkener, the Duke's secretary, who saw him at

Fort-Augustus, and candidly admitted that he had no hopes

of mercy to hold out*

Three weeks later the Duke of Cumberland, from his

headquarters at Fort-Augustus, issued a Commission in

favour of Lord Lovat's old friend, Major James Fraser of

Castle Leathers, dated the 4th of July, 1746, over the Aird

estates of Lord Lovat, in the following terms :

—

" Whereas Simon Lord Fraser of Lovat, has been guilty of various

treasonable practices and acts of rebellion against his Majesty and his

Government, and is for the same detained in custody in order to abide

the trial of his Peers ; and as be is possessed of several lands in

culture, many of which have now quantities of grain and corns

growing on them, and likewise of the rights of salmon fishing in

various quarters : To the end therefore, that the corn and grain

growing upon the lands be preserved for the use and support of his

Majesty's forces in these parts, till his Peers shall have given sentence

upon those matters he stands charged with ; it is fitting and con-

venient that a proper person should be appointed to take care of the

* Burton's Lives, pp. 248-250.
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same. A very good report having been made of the sufficiency and

ability of you, James Fraser of Castle Leathers, you are hereby

authorised and empowered to take into your charge the several lands

belonging or lately belonging to Lord Lovat hereafter named ; that

is to say, the lands of Castle Dounie, Wester Dounie, Culburnie,

Fanellan, Tomich, Lovat, Moniack, Bruiach, and the fishings of the

water ; and you shall carefully preserve the grass growing thereon

for the use of the troops in the winter, and the corn of the several

sorts you shall cause to be gathered for the use of the troops likewise,

keeping an account thereof ; nor shall you suffer any cattle to graze on

the ground but such as there may be orders from the Commanding
Officer of his Majesty's forces at Inverness. And such fish as may
be taken in the waters you shall send to be divided among the King's

troops at Inverness ; except such quantities as it may be necessary to

sell to raise money for defraying the expenses of fishing. And you

are hereby likewise empowered to appoint such other persons as you

may think fit in the performance of this service. And for your so

doing this shall be to all intents and purposes your full and sufficient

warrant and authority."*

His Lordship was carried to London in a litter, by Stir-

ling
-

, Edinburgh, and Berwick, and several curious stories

are told of incidents in the course of his journey south,

even under such unfavourable conditions, but most of them

are not suitable for or worth reproduction here.

Hogarth met him at the White Hart Inn, St. Albans, but

it was not the first time they had enjoyed each other's com-

pany, and although being shaved at the moment, Lovat

is said to have " received his old friend with a salute which

left much of the lather on his face." It was on this occasion

that the artist drew the striking portrait of him so well

known to every one. As his Lordship, on his arrival in

London, approached the Tower, he saw the scaffold which

had been erected for the execution of Lords Kilmarnock

and Balmerino. This naturally caused him to reflect on

his own career and probable early fate, and the eloquent

moralisings in which he indulged are said to have made a

deep impression on those who accompanied and heard him.

Articles of impeachment were moved and carried unani-

mously against him in the House of Commons on the nth

of December, 1746. On the 17th they were brought up to

* Cnlloden Papers, p. 288.
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the House of Lords by the managers appointed by the

Commons to prosecute him. The examination of the

witnesses began on the 9th of March, 1747, and occupied

five days, with an interval of one. Here we shall again

quote Dr Hill Burton, who makes an excellent summary

of the leading features of the trial and of his Lordship's

behaviour during the whole proceedings—" Lovat's conduct

throughout was that of a dignified old man persecuted by

fate, and borne to the ground by the oppressive strength

of his enemies. Sometimes he was pathetic, occasionally

impressively indignant, but never quarrelous or captious.

He showed no disposition to catch hold of mere points

of form ; but was always ready to waive his right to their

strict fulfilment, and to let the real business proceed un-

interrupted. In general he was grave and decorous, and

but one pleasantry escaped him ; when he was asked if he

had any questions to put to Sir Everard Fawkener (who

had been recently married) when examined as a witness,

he said 'No, only I am Sir Everard's humble servant, and

wish him joy of his young lady.' He made several appeals

calculated to move commiseration for his grey hairs. ' My
Lords,' he said at the commencement, ' I have not had the

use of my limbs this three years ; I cannot see ; I cannot

hear ; and I beg, if your Lordships have a mind I should

have any chance of my life, that you will allow either my
counsel or solicitors to examine my witnesses, and to cross-

examine those produced on behalf of the Crown, and to

take notes.' If he had been tried, on the charges brought

against him, in Scotland forty-six years earlier, he would

have been allowed this privilege ; but the rules of English

law confined the assistance of counsel in cases of treason to

purely legal questions. ' At the conclusion of the second

day he complained of the hardships of the early daily

attendance to one of his infirm constitution and said, ' I

must therefore beg that your Lordships will indulge me
with a later hour and some respite, otherwise I shall die

at your bar,' but the request seems to have been unheeded.

Another appeal of the same description, in which he said,
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' I fainted away thrice this morning before I came up to

your Lordship's bar, but was yet determined to show my
respect to your Lordships or die upon the spot,' produced

a respite of a day." Dr Burton then adds that, although

there could be no doubt as to Lovat's guilt, the evidence

was, in a great measure, such as would not, at least at the

present day, be tolerated in any court of justice in this

country; and even Horace Walpole declared that "it hurt

every body at old Lovat's trial, all guilty as he was, to see

an old wretch worried by the first lawyers in England,

without any assistance but his own unpracticed defence."

He, however, made a most able statement, which was read

by the clerk of the House of Lords on his behalf, in the

course of which he denounced his brother conspirator, John

Murray of Broughton—who had given evidence against him

—in the most scathing and burning sentences. His Lord-

ship said of this contemptible traitor to both parties

—

" Murray, the most abandoned of mankind, who, forgetting his

allegiance to his King and country, has, according to his own con-

fession, endeavoured to destroy both, to patch up a broken fortune

upon the ruin and distress of his native country ; to-day stealing into

France to enter into engagements upon, your Lordships may believe,

the most sacred oaths of fidelity ; soon after, like a sanguinary mon-

ster, putting his hand and seal to a bloody proclamation, full of

rewards for apprehending the sacred person of his Majesty ; and, lest

the cup of his iniquity had not been filled, to sum up all in one, he

imprudently appears at your Lordship's bar to betray those very

secrets which he confessed he had drawn from the person of his Lord,

Prince, and Master, under the greatest confidence."

Lovat was found guilty by the unanimous voice of his

Peers on the 18th of March, and on the following day

sentence of death was passed upon him in the brutal and

repulsive form peculiar to England in cases of treason, in

the following terms :

—

"That you, Simon Lord Lovat, return to the prison of the Tower;

from thence you must be drawn to the place of execution ; when you

come there, you must be hanged by the neck, but not till you are

dead, for you must be cut down alive ; then your bowels must be

taken out, and burnt before your face ; then your head must be
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severed from your body, and your body divided into four quarters,

and these must be at the King's disposal."

His estates and honours were, of course, forfeited to the

Crown, and among the supplies voted by Parliament in

1761 was a sum of £38,558 12s ifd to discharge the debts

claimed and sustained by creditors against his Lordship's

forfeited estates of Lovat.

When asked, after sentence was passed upon him, if he

had anything to say, and having pleaded to both Houses

of Parliament to intercede on his behalf for mercy to the

Crown, he facetiously replied that he had nothing to say,

"but to thank your Lordships for your goodness to me.

God bless you all, and I bid you an everlasting farewell.

We shall not meet all in the same place again. I am sure

of that " ; whereupon he was removed from the bar and

taken back to the Tower of London to await the execution

of the sentence just passed upon him, not however in the

brutal form set forth in it ; for Peers had the special privilege

of being beheaded instead of the terrible doom pronounced

and carried out on ordinary and less exalted traitors.

He has been charged with having been unkind to his first

wife Margaret, daughter of Ludovick Grant of Grant, but

that has not been proved. There is, however, no doubt

that he occasionally used very strong language even to her.

About 1726 Lord Lovat, while he, Major Fraser, and Lady

Lovat were in London, prevailed upon the Major to give up

his wadset of Castle Leathers and to agree to take from his

Lordship the farm of Tomich, near Beauly. After her

Ladyship and the Major returned home Fraser had an

interview with her about entering into possession, when on

promising to keep it absolutely secret she showed him a

letter from her lord, in which he told her "as she wished

her own peace and would be answerable to him " not to

admit the Major into the Fraser country at all. Fraser was

naturally confounded, and he wrote Lord Lovat a letter

written in presence of her Ladyship, complaining of his

having found her " constipate " to give him possession of

the farm, and urging upon his Lordship to implement his
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promise. The Major had a reply in course of post, ex-

pressing great surprise at his complaint, "considering," he

says, " that I am sure you have a hundred letters under my
hand wherein I promised to divide my estate with you.

And as to your possession, I hope you know me better than

to believe I am to give you a total overthrow. It's by far

from that. I have written to my wife to give you peaceable

possession ; and to manage all my people and country in

my absence, to keep off the Mackenzies, for you know I

have not gained my whole estate, till I gain my appeal

against the creditors of the estate ; so you must appear now
as a bold lion in my interest ; and if you fight for me, by

the living God you'll fight for Jannet Dunbar [the Major's

wife] and her bairns, which you have already sufficiently

under my hand." By the same post Lord Simon wrote a

letter to his wife, Lady Lovat, in which he says that he was

obliged to promise possession of Tomich to his friend the

Major, since he knew his " fidelity in standing by him, and,"

he goes on to say that " there is an absolute necessity upon

me to have him in that country and keep off my enemies,

till once I get myself fixed. So that if there be any place

in the country you can fix him in for two or three years, see

to prevail with him. But as for the possession of Tomich,

set ye your foot a spar ; or otherwise if you do, by the living

God, you'll never have one night's peaceable possession,

while you are my wife." The reader will judge how much

real kindness, not to say genuine affection, he could have

had for a wife to whom in the circumstances he would have

written in such imperious and threatening language. She,

however, succeeded in placing the Major in possession of

the farm of Bruiach, in Lovat's absence, but his Lordship

took the very earliest opportunity, and in a manner as

discreditable as it was ungrateful, to evict him. It appears

from this correspondence and otherwise that Lady Lovat

strongly disapproved of her husband's conduct in this as in

many other matters, but she seems to have been able and

willing to humour him, a fact which he fully acknowledges

in the letter, apparently full of passionate grief, in which
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he intimates her death, on the birth of his second son,

Alexander, to her brother, James Grant of Grant, dated

Edinburgh, the nth of July, 1729. In it he says

—

" While my soul was filled with gladness at the safe delivery of my
dear wife, and at the birth of a son, which the Lady Scatwell and Dr
Culbert wrote to me, and that she was out of danger, I was the very

next day struck senseless as with thunder with the surprising news of

her death, and my just sorrow still overwhelms my soul and spirit.

And great is my reason. The universe could not produce a better

wife for my circumstances and temper, the most affectionate and

careful wife that ever was born, whose chief care and greatest happi-

ness was to please me in everything ; and if I was well she thought

herself more happy than any sovereign on earth, so that my loss is

inconceivable to any but to myself that feels it every hour and every

minute, and will while I live. If I lost a most affectionate and good

wife, I am sure you lost the most affectionate sister that ever was

born. No woman on earth loved her family and her relations and,

in short, all that was concerned in a Grant, better than my dearest

soul did." In a postscript he adds—"What wounds my soul every

minute I think of it is that my dear soul was murdered by mis-man-

agement, after her sister and the doctor took leave of her and went

away, believing her out of all danger ; and twelve hours after she

was speechless. Cursed for ever be the hands that were about her."*

In 173 1, his Lordship made advances with the view of

marriage to Marion, daughter of Sir Robert Dalrymple, but

after a courtship of some six months that lady point blank

refused to marry him. In a letter dated, North Berwick, the

22nd of March, 1732, she says

—

"Your Lordship having been pleased to consider me as a person

worthy the honour of being your wife when I was little known to your

Lordship and you to me, I was very willing to embrace all proper

opportunities of being familiarly acquainted ; and now, my Lord, after

most serious and deliberate consideration for several months I am
fully satisfied that it will not be for the happiness or comfort of either

of us to match together. Therefore, on the whole, I hope it will not be

surprising nor altogether disagreeable to your Lordship that I tell you

plainly and once for all that I am sincerely and unalterably resolved

to have no more conversation with your Lordship on the subject of

matrimony. Nevertheless, I thank your Lordship for the honour

designed me."

His feelings were very much hurt by the lady's refusal, and

* Chiefs of Grant) vol. ii., p. 298,
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he wrote to her father, to Sir Hew Dalrymple, Lord Presi-

dent of the Court of Session, to his own agent, Mr John
Macfarlane, W.S., Edinburgh, and to Ludovick Colquhoun of

Luss, but without avail. The lady was determined, although

all her friends were in favour of the match, her objection,

she said, proceeding from her natural disposition, "and the

observations she had occasion to make on your Lordship's

conduct and behaviour during the last winter." In his

letter to Ludovick Colquhoun, after discussing the whole

situation, he says—" to have a marriage fully concluded, a

contract written, and every article agreed to, a day ap-

pointed for the marriage, to put it back in this manner is

an indignity put upon my person and family that I can

hardly bear," but he had to.*

His Lordship, however, very soon turned his attentions

in another direction. Marriage was with him now entirely a

matter of policy. This is fully established by his own
letters to his friends at the time. His advances on this

occasion were made to Primrose, daughter of the Hon.

John Campbell of Mamore, and sister of John fourth Duke

of Argyll, who, before marriage is said to have entertained

the most decided abhorrence towards him and to have re-

peatedly rejected his offers to her. But by a cruel stratagem

he, according to John Anderson and Robert Chambers,

succeeded in getting her into his power. Their story is,

that while visiting a relative in the country she received an

urgent letter purporting to be from her mother, beseeching

her immediate presence at a particular house in Edinburgh,

in which she lay at the point of death. Miss Campbell

started at once for this place, and on her arrival was re-

ceived and treated by the servants with every mark of

respect and consideration, but instead of being shown into

her mother's chamber as she expected, she was brought

face to face with the special object of her aversion, Lord

Lovat, under conditions which compelled her to listen to

his vows of endearment. She, however, continued obdurate

until her heartless suitor told her that she was in a house

* Chiefs of Grant, pp. 300-303.
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of ill fame ; and it is said that the disclosure which he

threatened in this connection, and a confinement of several

days within the walls of such a place, ultimately overcame

her resolution. She was only twenty-three years of age,

while he was sixty-six, and the marriage having taken place,

she was taken North " to take her place in the semi-bar-

barous state which her husband held at Castle Dounie."

Lieutenant-Colonel Fergusson, editor of Major Eraser's

Manuscript, doubts the truth of the house-of-ill-fame story

—

a doubt in which we are disposed to agree with him—and

suggests that it is a revival of an incident connected with

the marriage of Field-Marshal the Earl of Stair with the

widow of Lord Primrose, and whence, perhaps, the mistake.

The story forms the subject of My Aunt Margaret's Mirror.

Dr Hill Burton is also sceptical as to the accuracy of this

traditional account of his Lordship's wooing. "The reader

will judge," he says, " how far it may militate against this

story that the marriage contract was very formally executed

by the parties and their relations, the subscriptions being

attached at different dates from the 3rd of April, when the

bride and bridegroom signed, to the 9th of July (1733).

The band of connexions who appear on the occasion is

very formidable.; but however this may indicate their cor-

diality to the match, it is of course no evidence that the

bride herself went willingly to the sacrifice. There were

the bride's mother and her brother ; her uncle, Lord Elphin-

stone ; her aunt, the Countess of Mar ; the Duke of Argyll

;

and the Earl of Islay "
; while Duncan Forbes of Culloden

was one of the witnesses. The document provided the

bride with a yearly jointure of three thousand merks Scots.

Discussing the question of ill treatment after marriage, the

same writer says—"To be mistress of Castle Dounie was

probably no enviable dignity to a woman brought up with

even moderate notions of female delicacy ; but it may be

questioned if one connected as Primrose Campbell was,

was likely to be exposed to palpable injury and insult by

so sagacious a politician as her husband." But the charge

against his Lordship of behaving harshly to her during their
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married life, and of her being ultimately obliged to separate

from him on that account, is established beyond question,

whatever view may be taken of the other and more cruel

offence imputed to him.

Mr Robert Chambers, who enters into considerable detail

on the subject of his Lordship's treatment of her and as

regards her personal character, says

—

" Nothing but misery could have been expected from such an

alliance. The poor young lady, while treated with external decorum,

was in private subjected to such usage as might have tried the spirit

of a Griselda. She was occasionally kept confined in a room by

herself, from which she was not allowed to come forth even at meals,

only a scanty supply of coarse food being sent to her from his

Lordship's table. When pregnant, her husband cooly told her that,

if she brought forth a girl, he would put it in the back of the fire.

His eldest son by the former marriage was a sickly child. Lovat,

therefore, deemed it necessary to raise a strong motive in the step-

mother for the child being taken due care of during his absence in the

Lowlands. On going from home he would calmly inform her that any

harm befalling the boys in his absence would be attended with the

penalty of her own death, for, in that event, he would undoubtedly

shoot her through the head. It is added that she did, from this,

in addition to other motives, take an unusual degree of care of her

stepson, who ever after felt towards her the tenderest love and

gratitude. One is disposed to believe that there must be some

exaggeration in these stories ; and yet, when we consider that it is a

historical fact that Lovat applied to Prince Charles for a warrant

to take President Forbes dead or alive (Forbes being his friend and

daily intimate), it seems no extravagance that he should have acted

in this manner to his wife."*

Sir Walter Scott tells another story which helps to com-

plete the picture drawn by Chambers. He says that

"A lady, the intimate friend of her youth, was instructed to visit

Lady Lovat as if by accident, to ascertain the truth of these rumours

concerning her husband's conduct, which had reached the ears of her

family. She was received by Lord Lovat with an extravagant affecta*

tion of welcome, and with many assurances of the happiness his Lady

would receive from seeing her. The chief then went to the lonely

tower in which Lady Lovat was secluded, without decent clothes, and

even without sufficient nourishment. He laid a dress before her

becoming her rank, commanded her to put it on, to appear, and to

* Traditions of Edinburgh, new edition, p. 256.
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receive her friend as if she were the mistress of the house ; in which

she was, in fact, a naked and half-starved prisoner. And such was

the strict watch which he maintained, and the terror which his char-

acter inspired, that the visitor durst not ask, nor Lady Lovat com-

municate, anything respecting her real situation."*

But subsequently, by a letter rolled up in a clew of yarn

and dropped over a window to a confidential friend, she

was able to let her relatives know how matters really stood
;

and in 1740 steps were finally concluded for her separation

from her husband. When, some years later, his Lordship

was in the Tower of London awaiting- his execution—for-

getting all past injuries and thinking only of her duty as

a wife—she offered to go to London to attend him. He
returned an answer, declining her offer, and "containing

the only expressions of kindness and regard which she had

ever received from him since her marriage." Chambers

says that she "was of small stature, had been thought a

beauty, and retained, in advanced old age, much of her

youthful delicacy of features and complexion. Her count-

enance bore a remarkably sweet and pleasing expression.

When at home, her dress was a red silk gown, with ruffled

cuffs, and sleeves puckered like a man's shirt ; a fly-cap

encircling the head, with a mob-cap laid across it, falling

down over the cheeks, and tied under the chin ; her hair

dressed and powdered ; a double muslin handkerchief round

the neck and bosom ; Jammer-beads ; a white lawn apron,

edged with lace ; black stockings, with red gushets ; high-

heeled shoes. She usually went abroad in a chair. As she

emerged from the head of Blackfriars Wynd, any one who
saw her sitting in it, so neat, and fresh, and clean, would

have taken her for a queen in wax-work, pasted up in a

glass case."

She was married for nearly three years before she had

any issue, but on the 10th of August, 1736, Lord Lovat

writes from Beaufort to Sir James Grant of Grant a letter

in which he says, speaking of his wife
—

" She was safely

brought to bed, I bless God, on Thursday last, at 4 o'clock

* Quarterly Review, vol. xiv, p. 326.
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in the afternoon of a very sturdy boy, who was on Saturday

baptized Archibald, after the Earl of Islay, and in memory
of my great and worthy friend the late Duke of Argyll, the

man in the world that I loved most, and the man on earth

that had the greatest friendship for me and did me the most

good." There is ample and conclusive evidence that their

marital relations had been everything but felicitous from the

beginning, though the fact was, as much as possible, kept

from the knowledge of their friends. But on the 20th of

April, 1738, Lovat writes to Ludovick Grant, Younger of

Grant, a letter in which he informs that gentleman, appar-

ently for the first time, of his differences with her Ladyship,

his second wife. Excusing himself for not having been to

see or having written to his friend for some time, he says

—

" But my Lady Lovat, whose head was never right, turned

entirely wrong since I saw you. Her behaviour looked

rather like a mad woman, full of folly and malice, than like

a woman of common sense and religion." She declared to

several persons that the moment he left home she would

start for Edinburgh with her child, and when told that she

would not be allowed to take young Archibald along with

her she expressed her determination to go without him, and

that she would get money, horses, and servants, though his

Lordship should give her none. Three gentlemen, who
happened to be at Beaufort at the time, the Rev. Thomas

Chisholm, minister of Kilmorack, the Rev. Donald Fraser,

" preacher of the Gospel," and Evan Baillie of Abriachan,

tried to dissuade her from going South, and asked what her

motives were for coming to "such an unreasonable resolu-

tion." She said that she wanted to see her mother. " But,"

his Lordship continues, "the true motive was that she

wanted a sum of money from me before I went South. I

then told her that I would order as much money for her

from time to time as she would call for from my Chamber-

lain, providing that she would give an account that she

made use of it for the good and service of the family. She

refused that absolutely, but told me that I must give her a

sum of money that she was to make no account of but to
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buy her clothes, drugs, and any other little necessaries that

she thought fit; and that she must have an obligation on

stamped paper that I would continue her the sum of £50
per year during her married life, to be disposed of by her

for the said purposes, without being obliged to give any

account of it. I told the gentlemen that that was a pretty

hard case, that she should bully me to give such a sum for

life, or otherwise that I must bear and suffer the bad con-

sequences of her going South and making a noise and

racket among her relations, but as I knew her hellish

temper, and that she hates me and my family and children,

rather than to give any subject of joy to my enemies, or

be the table-talk of the country, I desired the three friends

above-mentioned to cut and carve upon it, that I would do

anything for peace sake and to hinder my name and char-

acter to be maliciously tossed up and down. Accordingly,

the three gentlemen, after eight days' treaty, concluded this

morning the Peace of Utrecht, and by their strong reason-

ings and address, brought the sum down to .£30 sterling,

which I am to pay quarterly." He paid the first instalment

that day and obliged himself by a letter under his hand that

the allowance should be paid regularly, whether he was at

home or not, and she obliged herself on stamped paper not

to trouble him for more than the sum agreed upon. He
is thus " luckily out of the terrible scrape that threatened

bad consequences that would be as disagreeable " to his

friends as it would be to himself and his family. And then

he exclaims to his correspondent, " O thousand times happy

the Laird of Grant that has an angel for a wife, while the

poor unfortunate Lord Lovat has for his wife a mixture of a

devil and a daw."* Seven months afterwards, on the 20th

of November, writing to the same friend, he complains of

his not coming to see him and giving him his advice and

assistance in his " domestic misery and misfortune," for he

is persuaded " that since the first woman was created till

now, there was never on earth a more wicked woman than

my Lady Lovat. She certainly possesses all the vices that

* Chiefs of Grant, vol. ii., pp. 366-367.
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human nature is capable of. She is a . . , an habitual

liar and backbiter, a complete hypocrite, making religion a

cloak to all her villainy : and it is certain that she is more
artful then any rogue that ever was in England or Scot-

land "
; and after a few more compliments of the same kind

he adds—"I cannot but think that I am in some danger

by her continual working in drugs and making her room an

apothecary's shop." He paid her pension regularly, and

was, according to his own account, always kind and civil

to her, and made her several presents " which has so pleased

her that she seems in appearance a good and affectionate

wife, though in her practice a very wild incarnate devil."

He goes on with a string of other charges. The Rev. Thomas
Chisholm's house, he knows, "is filled with things she

stole and gave him." He is advised by William Fraser,

his " trustee and doer at Edinburgh, that she and her

mother, and some others that her mother had persuaded

to do it, had written to their great relations in London

that I had bribed and was bribing witnesses to prove her

a . . This is most horrid, and puts me to the four

corners of my saddle to consider what to do ; for her friends,

having got a lying and most villainous account from her

and her mother, who is capable of all sorts of wickedness,

they may believe that I am guilty, since I never did write

one syllable of her to any of them, but now I think I am
obliged in self-defence to write." He "would be very easy

at the loss that is past" if he could only be safe in time to

come, "and yet it is certain," he says, "that she stole and

robbed me above a thousand guineas' worth this five years

past, for she was not eight days married when she began

to steal from me and pick my pockets, though prudence

made me bear with it. I intercepted within these few days

things that she was sending to her mother with some

guineas. I let the gold go forward, but I kept a part of

the things that she stole out of my trunks," this heinous

theft consisting, according to himself, of "a silk tabby,"

which he "bought fourteen years ago to make a gown to

Miss Jenzie when she was an infant"; and though this is
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is the only instance of thieving which he mentions, he con-

cludes his charges against his wife on this occasion by the

statement that it was impossible for him to tell "the im-

pudent practice of that woman in theft and in all other

vices."* But worse is to follow.

Six months later, on the 22nd of May, 1739, he writes a

long letter to the same Ludovick Grant, in the course of

which he returns to his former charges against his wife,

and says that though he had " behaved like an angel to the

admiration of every one" who saw him, to her, "yet now
her head is so turned that she is perfectly mad, the villain-

ous, treacherous, and cunning minister, Chisholm, that she

has an intrigue with, having persuaded her that she is so

hated and abhorred in all this country that she can never

live happily in it. He has convinced her to take the resolu-

tion of going South, and never to return to this country,

and that she might engage her relations to get an aliment

from me, that she and her gallant might live luxuriously

as long as it lasted." She was fully determined to go away

whether he would allow it or not, "because she hates us all

alike, and that all the country is full of devils." His friends

advised him to acquaint her people of the situation, and

he has resolved to do so, without loss of time. " If," he

says, " I can but manage her friends so as not to lose them,

I shall be mighty glad to get rid of her, even at the expense

of giving her her whole jointure that the contract of mar-

riage gives her after my death ; for it is a hard case to be

obliged to live every day with an unmannerly, brutal devil,

that openly professes her hatred to my person, and family,

and kindred, though I brought her from her misery, and

as her brother wrote to her, enclosed in my letter, that she

should be a very affectionate, obedient wife, because she

had not bread to her mouth, nor clothes nor linen to her

back, when I married her ; and since that time, which is

about six years, she has actually robbed me out of my
strong boxes (the locks of which she blew up with greater

dexterity than ever the English rogue did any), in gold

* Chiefs of Grant, vol. ii., pp. 371-372.
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specie, gold medals, silver, bank notes, bonds and bills,

above .£1200 sterling"; and he claims great praise and

blesses God for his uncommon patience and good temper

towards her during the whole of this period, while, at the

same time, he is thus maligning her to the friends of his

first wife !

Within a month, on the 15th of June, his Lordship

returns to the charges against her. After describing the

nature of a serious illness that he was at the time suffering

from, he says, this time to Sir James Grant of Grant,

" what augments my disease, and I believe has already

shortened my days, and will make an end of them sooner

than I might expect by my good constitution, is the un-

paralleled incarnate devil that torments me every day,

though I behave with good temper, and with such constant

compliance, that it surprises every mortal that sees her and

me ; but, however, I am resolved never to alter that happy

behaviour that God Almighty has blessed me with in my
greatest affliction." He then intimates to Sir James his

intention of writing to Colonel John Campbell, his wife's

brother, with the view of getting him to prevail upon her to

keep at home, failing which, he says, " I must let the open

rupture go on which I have hindered and resisted these

five years past with as good management and industry as

my soul was capable of, and my comfort is, that all the

North of Scotland knows my innocency and extraordinary

good behaviour," which he hopes to defend and vindicate

whenever occasion offers.*

On the 3rd of July he writes to Ludovick Grant, inform-

ing him that he is still in a bad state of health and that

he has become a perfect invalid, after which he says—" My
singular and great misfortune occasions all my disposition.

It has already shortened my days, and I believe it will bring

down my grey hairs with sorrow to the grave. That mis-

fortune is come to its height ; for that person is now fitter

for Bedlam than for any reasonable place ; and though I

always have and do behave to her with a goodness and

* Chiefs of Grant, vol. ii.
, p. 391,
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complaisance beyond my own imagination and the imagina-

tion of all those that see me, yet after telling to your aunt,

the Lady Scatwell, and to all my doers, that she would

go South whether I would or not, or whether I went or

not, she came in last week like a mad woman to the room

and told me she would go South over my belly, and (that)

I durst not hinder her, and that she would stay South, and

would get an aliment whether I would or not, either by

friends or by law. I told her I could afford a good aliment

if I had the £1200 that I was robbed of since she came to

the family, and that she could not but be sensible that

though I had plain proofs that she broke open my strong

boxes with her own hands, yet till now that I never said

a word to her about it. She answered in a passion," that

if she did she only took what was her own. She " began to

bawl and scold." He told her this was no use, and when

she was tired of scolding she returned to her own room,

after he said to her that as a husband he had power by law

to keep her from doing mischief to herself or to him. This,

he believed, "kept her from making an elopement, though

she has packed up her clothes eight days ago." This last

attack, he says, has convinced all his friends that he must

write to her brother, Colonel Campbell ;
" for if she went

away and joined her mother and her other female friends

in the South it would be a means to make her brother and

her great relations believe what she would say ; and you

assure yourself that nothing that ever could be invented

in hell of calumnies and lies but what she will tell and

propagate, so that in my opinion it is absolutely necessary

to acquaint her friends before she goes off, and you may
depend upon it that off she will go at any rate, for she is

fully determined upon a separation."* He did write to

her brother, and on receipt of his reply Lovat enclosed an

extract from the Colonel's letter to Ludovick Grant in a

communication dated the 12th of September, 1739, which

begins—" I bless God I am now very near being rid of

the incarnate devil that has tormented me these six years

* Chiefs of Grant, vol. ii.
, pp, 392-393.
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past, during- which time I have been really in hell." Her
Ladyship's brother approves of a separation on certain

conditions, and suggests an annuity of £100 for her main-

tenance. The amount finally agreed upon is not stated,

but the matter was arranged and actual separation took

place on the 3rd of May, 1740. Lord Lovat writing from

Beaufort to Sir James Grant of Grant, on that date,

says

—

" My Lady Lovat is at last gone in good health, I bless God, from

this place. I behaved like an angel to her to the minute I parted with

her. I fulfilled all the conditions that I promised to the Earl and to her

brother. I conveyed her some miles in my chariot with my daughter,

and her only child, and when I parted with her, after giving all the

money for her aliment and her journey, I gave her ten guineas as

a little present for her pocket. I embraced her very affectionately at

parting, and told her the civilest things that I was capable of, but she

parted with me, and with my daughter, and with her only child, as if

she was parting with three Indians ! but my comfort is that we shall

never meet again till we meet in heaven. She gives out that she is

only to go and see her friends in the South, and then to come back

again. My friends are persuaded that her behaviour wherever she

goes will soon vindicate me."*

After her husband's death some difficulty arose as to the

payment of Lady Lovat's jointure, which only amounted to

.£190 per annum, and in consequence of its non-payment

for several years, she lived, being destitute of any means

of support of her own, along with one of her sisters.

Certain friends offered to lend her money, until matters

were arranged, to buy a house for herself and help to

maintain her, but seeing no certain prospect of being able

to repay it she declined to burden herself with such a debt.

The matter was, however, ultimately settled, when she re-

ceived the whole amount due in one sum, £500 of which

she expended in purchasing the house at the head of

Blackfriar's Wynd, Edinburgh, in which she lived during

the remainder of her long life, and another sum in buying

furniture to replenish it.

This is how Chambers writes of the woman who had

been so terribly reviled by her husband in the letters

Chiefs of Grant, vol, ii. p. 407
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quoted, and so cruelly ill-treated by him at Beaufort

—

" It would surprise a modern dowager to know how much good

Lady Lovat contrived to do amongst her fellow-creatures with this

small allowance. It is said that the succeeding Lady Lovat, with a

jointure of .£4000, was less distinguished for her benefactions. In

Lady Lovat's dusky mansion, with a waiting-maid, cook, and foot-boy,

she not only maintained herself in the style of a gentlewoman, but

could welcome every kind of Highland cousin to a plain but hospitable

board, and even afford permanent shelter to several unfortunate

friends." And again—" An unostentatious but sincere piety marked

the character of Lady Lovat. Perhaps her notions of Providence were

carried to the verge of a kind of fatalism ; for not merely did she

receive all crosses and troubles as trials arranged for her benefit by a

High Hand, but when a neighbouring house on one occasion took fire,

she sat unmoved in her own mansion, notwithstanding the entreaties

of the Magistrates, who ordered a sedan to be brought for her removal.

She said if her hour was come it would be vain to try to elude her fate,

and if it was not come she would be safe where she was. She had a

conscientiousness almost ludicrously nice. If detained from Church

on any occasion she always used to double her usual oblation at

the 'plate' next time. When her chimney took fire she sent her

fine to the Town Guard before they knew the circumstance. Even
the tax collector experienced her ultra-rectitude. When he came
to examine her windows, she took him to a closet lighted by a single

pane, looking into a narrow passage between two houses. He
hesitated about charging for such a small modicum of light, but her

ladyship insisted on his taking note of it." And further, " such was

the generosity of her disposition, that when her grandson, Simon, was

studying law, she at various times presented him with ,£50, and when
he was to pass as an Advocate she sent him ,£100. It was wonderful

how she could spare such sums from her small jointure. Whole tribes

of grand-nephews and grand-nieces experienced the goodness of her

heart and loved her with almost filial affection."*

Such was the character of the woman whom her husband

so heartlessly and baselessly maligned. She was born in

1710, and died in 1796, at the mature old age of 86, having

outlived her lord for 49 years.

It is sad that a man like Simon Lord Lovat, who un-

doubtedly possessed great natural gifts, should in so many
instances have misapplied them to unworthy objects for no

intelligible purpose apparently than to gratify an ambition

Traditions of Edinburgh, pp. 259-261.
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to be the greatest and most powerful man in the Highlands

of Scotland. In his almost limitless correspondence with

men in every position in life he has scarcely a good word

to say for any one, not even for the leading men of his

own clan. And his abuse of them is almost invariably

behind their backs. He is pleasant enough when he meets

them in person or addresses them directly by letter at the

same moment that he is calling them to his friends by all the

vilest names in the English language. There is scarcely

a man of note among the leaders of his own clan that

escaped, and curiously enough he applies the same oppro-

brious epithets to nearly all of them. The reader has already

read his extraordinary attack on Alexander Fraser of Fair-

field referred to at pp. 373-374. Foyers, Phopachy, and

Struy are also in for a fair share of characteristic abuse,

but a good deal more is in store for them. Outside his

own clan, President Forbes, the best friend he ever had in

the world, except perhaps Major James Fraser of Castle

Leathers, was villified behind his back while praised and

fawned upon to his face, in the most forcible and expressive

expletives, and so was Norman Macleod of Macleod, who
was his bosom friend so long as he thought he could use

him for his own ends.

In a letter, dated Beaufort, 7th of February, 1735, and

addressed to Sir James Grant, he calls Brodie of Brodie

"a damned impertinent liar," Macleod of Macleod an "un-

natural wretch," and the Lord President, "the false villain

Duncan Forbes," who, "by his daring lies, lost me the

favour and countenance of the Duke of Argyll, which, by

the living God, I am now very easy about, since he was

so weak and ungrateful as to believe the lies of a little

scoundrel upstart against the most faithful and useful par-

tizan that he had these twenty years past in Scotland and

England." But after all, the gems of the Simonese vocabu-

lary were retained for his second wife, as already seen, and for

his deliverer and great benefactor, Castle Leathers, as shall

now be shown out of his Lordship's own mouth. Writing

from Beaufort to Sir James Grant of Grant, on the 6th
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of May, T737, Lord Lovat speaks of his old friend in the

following strong terms :

—

" The known notorious common liar and monster of ingratitude

Major Cracks, came to Inverness three nights ago, and he did not

deny to a friend of mine and his own but he made complaints of me to

the Earl, etc. It is the greatest trial that ever my patience met with,

that I do not yield to my just passion in allowing his nose and ears to

be cut off. ISlo man ever deserved it so much ; but I will endeavour

to keep my temper, at least till I write to the Earl when I know his

hurry is over. I will make a faithful memorial of the true history of

this ruffian since I knew him ; and if after that the Earl grants him
his countenance or any favour, I may then say to all mankind that

I am used like a despicable scoundrel, and that a common lying

madman is used as if he was Lord Lovat. But let this calumnious

villain say what he will, I know the Earl has too much good sense and

too much experience of my fidelity to him, that he will not really be-

lieve him or anybody else till he first examine myself upon the head."

On the 13th of May, just a week later, his Lordship writes

to Sir James on the same subject. He says

—

"The infamous, unnatural, and most ungrateful knight of the post

is come home in great pomp by the money that he has got as a false

spy and informer, and particularly against his chief and great bene-

factor. He is really fitter for Bedlam than for the commerce of

reasonable men. He blusters out openly and says he has done

my business, aud swears that a single letter under his hand to the

Peer can break me at any time he pleases, and take my commission,

etc., from me. When his brother Balloan, and his nephew, Culduthel,

heard this proven against him they were almost mad, and cursed the

hour he was born, and swore they would drag him to the gallows with

their own hands ; and I am very sure if I convened my kindred, and

gave them an account of his treachery against me, it would not be in

my power to save him from being cut in a 100 pieces."

He then expresses surprise that the Earl could believe any

of the race of Adam who would say an ill thing of him, but

especially "that he should give ear to a known liar and an

impudent rhodomontade that no street boy in Inverness

that knows him would believe a word he said." In another

paragraph of the same letter his Lordship says—" I am
just now told that this ruffian is gone in to Inverness to send

fresh lies, intelligence, and complaints of me to his agents in

London to be communicated to the Peer." He asks Sir
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James to acquaint the Earl of Islay "of this villain's be-

haviour, and of his gasconading threats against" him, when
he was quite sure that nobleman would "look upon that

worthless fellow as a fool and a madman, as well as an

ungrateful rogue." In a postscript he adds—" I know the

Earl of Crawford is a patron of this wretch, the Earl thinking

him a brave honest fellow, but when the Earl will know his

roguery and ingratitude towards me, who was his greatest

benefactor, and that he has neither courage nor honesty, I

am very certain the Earl of Crawford will abandon him and

never countenance him." He then urges upon his friend,

Sir James, to advise the Earl of what he had himself written

regarding his old deliverer, for it were a pity, he says, that

that nobleman " should not be undeceived of the character

of that ruffian," Major Fraser.

On the 27th of May, he writes a long letter direct to

the Earl of Islay with most of which the reader is already

acquainted. In this communication he falls foul of the

Major in the strongest possible terms, calling him an "un-

natural wretch," " the greatest coward as well as the greatest

liar in the whole country," "an unnatural monster," and

"one of the greatest rogues this country has produced." A
considerable portion of this extraordinary epistle, including

the abuse of Major Fraser, has been already given at page

369, and it is therefore unnecessary to repeat it.

On the 1 8th of November, 1737, again writing to Sir

James Grant, Lord Simon says of the Lord President and

his Forbes relatives

—

" I got the family of Culloden and all their creatures to be my most

malicious and implacable enemies, that would go to the gates of hell

to see me hanged, and that only for my appearance for you and my
close union with your family, and my obeying the Peer's orders. All

this is as true as God is in Heaven : and the first quarrel that I had

with the President, several years ago, was for his speaking insolently

of the Peer, which I often challenged him for. And now whatever

way the President has contrived it, and what informers he has made

use of, and whatever way he has taken to convey those lies and

calumnies to the great men, I am as fully convinced as I am that God
is in Heaven that all the mischief that was done to me above with the

great men is certainly the contrivance of the President, and flows all
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from him ; and if it was not my situation as a chief at the head of a

pretty clan he would have taken off the mask long ere now and

appeared openly and as violently against me as ever the Duke of

Roxburgh or the late Justice-Clerk."

It will be observed that, according to this letter, up to

the date of which he was writing' in the most friendly and

fulsome fashion to John Forbes of Culloden and his family,

that it was his brother, the Lord President, who was con-

veying "those lies and calumnies" to the great men in

London, and that he was as fully convinced as he was that

God was in heaven that all the mischief done him in the

estimation of the Duke of Argyll, the Earl of Islay, and the

other "great men" in London, was his contrivance and not

Major Fraser's, whom he had already charged with it in such

violent language. The family of Culloden, for whom at

the same time he was elsewhere expressing regard and

gratitude, were, according to this letter, his "most malicious

and implacable enemies that would go to the gates of hell"

to see him hanged, and that because of his close union to

the family of his correspondent.

Soon after this Lord Lovat appears to have broken openly

with the Lord President. On the 1st of May, 1738, he

refused to dine with the Lord Justice-Clerk while on circuit

in Inverness, because President Forbes was to be one of

the company. The latter, however, came in unexpectedly

while Lovat was dining in another place with the Governor

of the Castle, and the Fraser chief glories in having "be-

haved very unmannerly" to him on that occasion. He
" did not so much as make a bow to him, nor took no more

notice of him than of a broomstick," and "though he stayed

two hours in the room with me, and but four of us, we did

not exchange one word, so the first judge in Scotland saw

that the Lord Lovat scorned to make advances to him after

his mad, malicious practices to hurt my person, reputation,

and interest. All the country and town are now convinced

that he was the contriver and promoter of all Castle Leathers'

villainous lies ; for that infamous villain, that all honest men
now shun to converse with, is one of the great favourites

at Culloden and openly caressed by the great Lord of that
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house; but it fulfils the proverb, 'Alike draws to like,'" a great

compliment, one would be disposed to think, to Major Fraser.

On the 9th of December, 1737, he again writes to Sir

James Grant a letter in which he falls foul of Major Fraser,

Phopachy, and his brother, the London apothecary, who
afterwards at his own special request attended him in the

Tower and to the scaffold. He says

—

" I am now informed by Balloan and others, the near relations

of that ungrateful ruffian, Major Cracks, that he is certainly gone up

to London to do me all the mischief he can. They told me that this

young Phopachy, and a brother that he has in London, an apothe-

cary, are the greatest fomentors of his going to London to do me
hurt at Court, because of the several just processes I have against

Phopachy. All Castle Leathers' nearest relations have ordered his

son to write to him to return immediately to this country and let him

know that if he is so mad and unnatural as to say or do anything to

hurt me, his brother, and nephew Culduthel, and his other near

relations, will be the first to chastise him with their own hands.

I hope the Peer, who has been always my support, will give no

manner of countenance to this ruffian, who is a known liar and

madman, and whose very nearest relations wish that he had never

been born," and so on in the same strain.

Writing from Beaufort under date of January, 1738,

to Ludovick Grant of Grant, he returns to the same men

and the same subject, and says

—

" There are four or five rogues in this country that I have charged

before the Lords of Session for having robbed me of the rents of my
estate and the furniture of my house, and they, being conscious to

themselves that I can prove all my libel against them, the villainous

refuge that they have thought of to save themselves was to invent lies

and stories of me and to inform the Court that I am a Jacobite and an

enemy to the Government. They did choose for the instrument

of their malice James Fraser of Castle Leathers, alias Major Cracks,

and a brother of Phopachy's, who is an apothecary at London, whom
I pursue equally with his brother for the plunder of my house, to

be the persons that would inform the Ministry of my treasonable

practices, that the villains can have no foundation for but their wicked

inventions. I was informed of the conspiracy months ago."

After further details, he concludes his reference to the

subject on this occasion thus

—

" Those very persons that now conspire to hurt me are the men of

the name of Fraser that I loaded most with my favours, and received
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most of my money in gratuity, my brother not excepted, particularly

that villain Castle Leathers, who has got above ^1000 of my money
without doing a sixpence worth of service ; but I hope kind Providence,

that always protected me against the malice of my enemies of the

highest rank, will protect me against the silly and mean malice of

those ruffians and pitiful little scoundrels who have neither birth,

estates, or friends to support them, so that all that they will gain

by their treacherous conspiracy is to declare themselves unnatural and

ungrateful monsters to the world."

In a letter dated the 31st of March, 1739, addressed to the

Rev. Donald Fraser, minister of Killearnan, who had been

for a considerable time before he was appointed to that

charge, tutor to Simon, Master of Lovat, his Lordship,

referring to the Rev. Thomas Chisholm, minister of

Kilmorack, whose only fault seems to have been that

he sympathised with and took the part of the second Lady

Lovat against her husband's ill-treatment, says

—

" I think it would be a good action before God and man, to get that

dissembling, false, and treacherous hypocrite turned out of the

ministry ; for he is truly a scandal to religion and to the kirk that he

is an unworthy member of. I entreat you communicate this letter to

my dear cousin Pitkyllen, and to his worthy sister, and when they see

the horrid injustice that I meet with and the great danger that

my family is in by the villainous conduct, contrivance, and actings of

that subtle, cunning, false, and vile hypocrite, I am persuaded that

they will do all in their power to save me from the malicious and

dangerous malice of that wretch.' 1*

On the 27th of April, 1739, he writes from the same place

to Sir James Grant a letter in course of which he says

—

" There is not a chief in Scotland more beloved or obeyed

by his kinsmen than I am, and there is not one of them but

makes strong professions of love and friendship to me,

except two known knaves and villains, Castle Leathers and

Phopachy ; the first a known liar, romancer, knight of the

post, and a double spy, whom no man in this country regards

more than they would do a madman that runs up and

down the fields ; and his brother Balloan, and his nephew

Culduthel, to whom I have done singular services, abhor

him for his villainous and knavish behaviour towards me,

* Celtic Magazine, vol. x., p. 550.
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while they themselves are ready to lose their blood and swim

the sea, if they could, to serve me ; and Phopachy, who
is now known to be as great a knave as ever his father was,

has no way to save himself from my pursuits for the knavery

of his father, but by lies and falsehoods." He goes on to say

that he has no difference with any Fraser on earth but " these

two noted knaves," and he pleads with Sir James to com-

municate the contents of his letter to the Earl of Islay, so

that he may "give no ear to those rascals nor to their friends

against " him.

On the 26th of May, 1739, writing to Sir James again

from Beaufort, he protests against charges which appear

to have been made against him for doing " hardships to his

kindred," although he "actually did them more good than

all the Lord Lovats that were, these 200 years ; and they

are so sensible of it that there never was a Lord Lovat

more loved and regarded by them all than I am, except

the two monsters, the Major and Phopachy, who are hated

by their own relations, especially the Major's family, which

is Culduthel's, to whom I have done more service than

to any family in Stratherrick or Abertarff, and they are

so sensible of it that they would risk their lives, and all

that they have in the world, night and day, to serve me

;

and curse the day that the Major was born, who has vexed

me so much and affronted them." Having repeated that

this was the position that he occupied with all his clan

and kindred, he proceeds—" Evan Baillie and Commissary

Munro have been here examining witnesses on the thefts,

robberies, and depredations done by the late Phopachy,

this Phopachy, and his mother against me, by which they

found out the greatest villainies that were ever perpetrated

in Scotland. They have got a connected proof by several

concurring witnesses of a very honest character in the

country, of their stealing the best goods and effects that

were in this house and in the kiln of Lovat, to the value

of several thousand pounds ; for the inventory that was

made of those goods by Dumballoch, before Fraserdale's

lady went South, was £68,000 Scots, which Thomas Fraser
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of Dumballoch delivered to me out of Lovat ; for there

was the furniture of four families in this house and in the

kiln of Lovat—that of the Archbishop of Glasgow, Sir

George Mackenzie's, the Lord Prestonhall's, and the late

Lord Lovat's, which the family of Phopachy all robbed

and plundered ; for I never got ^"30 worth of the whole,

and yet that young rogue Phopachy, pursues me for money
after his father plundered me of my estate, and he and

his mother of my effects, with his father's concurrence and

advice. It is well known in the country that his father

had not ,£10 on earth when I came home in the year

1715"—which by the way he never would have done had

it not been for Major Fraser and Phopachy, whom he now
so cruelly maligns—" nor had (he) any earthly way to make

it but by plundering of me. This I earnestly beg you may
represent in a true light to the Earl when he is not in a

hurry ; for I am very certain, as he is a very just and equit-

able man, if he knew the hundredth part of the villainies

that were done by those people against me, he would never

hear of them nor see their faces."

Writing from the same place to his "Dear Sir James"

under date of the 4th of April, 1740, when he admits being

" in disgrace " at headquarters, he says that he absolutely

denies some "villainous story" which had been circulated

about him, and that
—"of fifteen hundred of my kindred

that are in my country and upon my estate, I would declare

it before God, if it was my last words, that I know not a

man of them but what would venture his heart's blood for

me, except three or four pitiful gentlemen who visibly

robbed me of a great deal of my rents and money, and who
are notoriously known in this country for liars and rogues,

and who would not get one single man of the name to

stand by them or countenance them, if they believed they

were acting against me." He then asserts that upon his

last " misfortune," his whole clan, gentlemen and commons,

showed their zeal for him more than ever they had done on

any previous occasion. This was " well known in all the

country," the people of which "openly expressed their
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regret and concern for my misfortune, and whoever gives

any other account of it are but pitiful liars and calumniators,

and if I could use the same freedom with the Earl as I

used to do, I could easily convince him how much he

suffers, as well as I do, by giving ear to pitiful rogues, who
are openly known to be common liars and calumniators,

and who have nothing in the world to live upon but their

false, treacherous shifts in imposing upon great men."

Then Sir James, after seriously reading this letter, is asked

to disabuse his Lordship "as to those impudent liars who
make a villainous use of the countenance that he gives

them," which, according to Lord Lovat, does the Earl no

service.

The Fraser chief now falls foul of several more of the

leading men of his clan, as well as of Castle Leathers,

Phopachy, and their more immediate friends. Foyers and

Struy are placed in the same category. In a postscript

to the letter just quoted, Lord Lovat says

—

"You know, my dear Sir James, that Fraser of Foyers is a very

silly, weak, ignorant creature, that really cannot be said to have

common sense. Besides, he truly owes me twenty-four thousand

merks of money that I lent himself, to save his estate from being

sold ; and his brother that is dead owes me twice as much of borrowed

money and debts that I paid for him out of my pocket. So that this

miserable wretch owes me, for himself and for his brother, twice as

much money as all his lands are worth if they were sold at thirty

years' purchase, and I am now doing diligence against his estates.

And as to Fraser of Struy, he is known through all the country to be

a fool and a madman, in a starving condition, not worth a groat, and

the poor six hundred merks that he possesses is only by my tolerance

and good will, for he has no more right to it than you have, so that I

can demolish him when I please ; and I do assure you that neither

Foyers nor Struy would get two men of their name to follow them a mile

if they were acting in the least against me. This you may depend upon

to be a real truth, and I'll prove at any time what I say of these

gentlemen, under the peril of losing my estate. As for Phopachy, he

is not a Fraser of the family of Lovat or of this country. He pretends

to be of another branch of the Frasers of the South ; but it is little

matter, for he has not a single man in the lordship of Lovat that

would go a mile of ground with him or salute him on the high road,

while they believed that he was disagreeable to me. His father was a
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prettier fellow than fifty of this Phopachy, and yet when I turned him

off he would not get one man in the country that would salute him on

the high road. Foyers, Struy, and Phopachy are Castle Leathers'

heroes ; the first two most despicable idiots, and the last a man that

has no more interest in this country than your footman has. I leave

you to think what service they can perform for the pensions which

Major Fraser promises them in the Earl of Islay's name."*

The domestic habits and manner of life of a man like Lord

Lovat cannot fail to prove interesting
-

. In a rare pamphlet

published in 1791, giving an account of Sergeant Donald

Macleod, then in his 103rd year, and at one period of his life

Recruiting Sergeant for Lovat's Independent Company, we
find an apparently accurate description of his Lordship's

personal appearance and mode of living at Castle Dounie.

On Macleod's arrival there for the first time he had to wait

for a little outside before he could gain access. But we

are told that

" As Macleod walked up and down on the lawn before the house,

he was soon observed by Lord Lovat, who immediately went out, and

bowing to the sergeant with great courtesy, invited him to come in.

Lovat was a fine looking tall man, and had something very insinuating

in his manner and address. He lived in all the fulness and dignity of

the ancient hospitality, being more solicitous, according to the genius

of feudal times, to retain and multiply adherents than to accumulate

wealth by the improvement of his estate. As scarcely any fortune,

and certainly not his fortune, was adequate to the extent of his views,

he was obliged to regulate his unbounded hospitality by rules of

prudent economy. As his spacious hall was crowded by kindred

visitors, neighbours, vassals and tenants of all ranks, the table, that

extended from one end of it nearly to the other, was covered at

different places with different kinds of meat and drink, though of each

kind there was always great abundance. At the head of the table the

lords and lairds pledged his Lordship in claret and sometimes in

champagne ; the tacksmen or duniwassels drank port or whisky

punch ; tenants or common husbandmen refreshed themselves with

strong beer ; and below the utmost extent of the table, at the door, and

sometimes without the door of the hall, you might see a multitude of

Frasers, without shoes or bonnets, regaling themselves with bread and

onions, with a little cheese, perhaps, and small beer. Yet, amidst the

whole of this aristocratical inequality, Lord Lovat had the address to

keep all his guests in perfect good humour. ' Cousin,' he would say to

Chiefs of Grantj vol. ii., pp. 403-405,
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such and such a tacksman, ' I told my pantry lads to hand you some

claret, but they tell me you like port and punch best. In like manner,

to the beer-drinkers he would say, ' Gentlemen, there is what you

please at you service ; but I send you ale, because I understand you

like ale best.' Everybody was thus well pleased ; and none were so

ill-bred as to gainsay what had been reported to his Lordship."

A very similar account is supplied by James Ferguson,

the astronomer, who in early life resided for several months

at Castle Dounie, and supplied the following- information to a

well-known antiquarian of his time. Lord Lovat, according

to Ferguson's account,

" Kept a sort of court and several public tables, and had a very

numerous body of retainers always attending. His own constant

residence and the place where he received company, and even dined

constantly with them, was just in one room only, and that the very

room wherein he lodged. And his Lady's sole apartment was also

her own bedchamber ; and the only provision made for lodging either

of the domestic servants, or of the numerous herd of retainers, was

a quantity of straw, which was spread over night on the floors of the

four lower rooms of this sort of tower-like structure, where the whole

inferior part of the family, consisting of a very great number of

persons, took up their abode. Sometimes about 400 persons, attend-

ing this petty court, were kennelled there, and I have heard the same

worthy man (Ferguson), from whose lips the exact account of what is

here related has been taken, declare that of those wretched depen-

dants he has seen, in consequence of the then existing right of

heritable jurisdiction, three or four, and sometimes half-a-dozen, hung

up by the heels for hours on the few trees around the mansion."

From the general appearance of Hogarth's famous picture

of his Lordship one is disposed to conclude that he was

a very short, stout person, but it will be seen that Sergeant

Donald Macleod describes him as "a fine looking, tall man,"

and this is fully corroborated by others who knew him.

On the authority of Sir Thomas Dick Lauder, Dr Hill

Burton confirms the accounts already given, with slight

variations, and supplies additional details regarding his Lord-

ship's habits and surroundings when at home. He says

—

"At the long table at Castle Dounie the guests and the viands had

a corresponding progression downwards. At the head of the table

where there were neighbouring chiefs or distinguished strangers,

claret and French cookery graced the board. The next department



XVIII. SIMON, THIRTEENTH LORD FRASER. 465

was occupied by the Duine wassels, who enjoyed beef and mutton,

with a glass of some humbler wine. The sturdy commoners of the

clan would occupy the next range, feeding on sheep's heads, and

drinking whisky or ale. In further progress the fare degenerated

with the feeders, and clustering on the Castle green in sunshine, or

cowering in the outhouses in foul weather, were congregated the

ragamuffins of the clan to gnaw the bones and devour the other offal.

It was a rule of the house that the day's provender, whatever it might

be, should be consumed ; and if the deer stalker or the salmon spearer

had been more fortunate than usual, the rumour would spread fast

enough to bring an immediate demand for the supply. This practice

gave much temptation to the troop of servants who attended the

table to snatch away unfinished dishes ; and many amusing instances

have been recorded of the necessity of the guest at Castle Dounie

preserving a ceaseless watch over his plate, and of the certainty of

its instantaneously disappearing during any moment of negligence.

When the chief's distinguished clerical relative, Dr Cumming of

Relugas, arrived at Castle Dounie one night, tired and hungry, after

crossing the mountains, there was not a morsel of food to be found,

not an egg or a crust of bread, but a plentiful provision for the day's

consumption was brought in next morning."*

He certainly was on the most intimate terms with Lord

Grange, whether he had anything to do with the abduction

of Lady Grange, as she alleges, or not. Dr Hill Burton

relates the following amusing tradition about one of their

convivial meetings, which, he says, he obtained on

excellent authority—Dr Carlyle, who afterwards became

minister of Inveresk, and who was the friend of Hume,
Smith, Robertson, and Blair, was one day, in his youth,

striding contemplatively through a field near Prestonpans,

when he was addressed by Erskine of Grange, who was

in search of some one to dine with him that day, to meet a

friend. He invited the young divine, with whom he had

some acquaintance. The friend was Lovat, and the social

union was of such a character as a young divine can seldom

have an opportunity of witnessing. The two old Lords

of course "got fiercely drunk"; the most innocent part,

on the whole, of their proceedings. They then insisted

on having the society of the landlady of the tavern and

her female assistants, with whom they danced a series of

* Life of Simon Lord Lovat, pp. 173-174.

30
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boisterous reels, "interspersed with those roystering personal

compliments which are said to be the peculiar attendant

of the national dance in its pure state."

Probably this is the same occasion of which the following

curious account is given by the late Rev. Allan Sinclair,

M.A., of Kenmore. It appears that after the Rev. Donald

Fraser, subsequently minister of Killearnan, had given up his

office of tutor to Simon, Master of Lovat, that position was

occupied by John Halket, afterwards parish schoolmaster of

Prestonpans. Lord Simon was so satisfied with Halket as

tutor of his eldest son that when he resolved upon sending

his second son, Alexander, to Edinburgh for his education,

he decided upon boarding him with that gentleman, and in

the summer of 1741, he travelled South along with his boy

to see him placed under Halket's charge. On this occasion,

Mr Sinclair says, Carlyle, afterwards minister of Inveresk,

dined with Lovat and his party ; and in his diary has

recorded a few reminiscences of the event, which give a

glimpse of what Lovat was at such times. The company

consisted of Erskine of Grange—the husband of the un-

fortunate Lady Grange—gentlemen of the Fraser clan,

Lovat himself, his son, Alexander, Halket, and Carlyle.

As soon as seated at table, Lovat and Grange disputed as to

which of them should say grace—when at length Lovat

yielded, and repeated two or three pious sentences in French,

which were understood only by Grange and Carlyle. Grace

over, Lovat politely asked Carlyle to help him to a whiting

from a dish of fish next him, which he did, the latter

remarking at the same time " they were not whitings

but haddocks, but that according to the proverb he who got

a haddock for a whiting was not ill off." At this Lovat

stormed, says Carlyle, and "swore more than fifty dragoons."

He was sure they were whitings, as he had distinctly

ordered them. Halket, who knew Lovat well, tipped Carlyle,

who took the hint, adding "that as he had but small skill in

these things, and as his Lordship had ordered the fish, he

must be mistaken," whereupon his Lordship calmed down,

became pleasant, ate the fish, and again swore " that he never
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could eat haddocks all his life." The landlady afterwards

told Carlyle that he was right, that they were haddocks, but

that she ordered her cook to scrape out St Peter's mark, as

she could not procure whitings as Lovat had ordered her to

do. The claret appears to have been good, and as the wine

circulated freely, the two old gentlemen became merry, and

their conversation youthful and gay. " What I observed,"

says Carlyle, "was that Grange, without appearing to flatter

him, was very observant of Lovat, did everything to please

him, engaged Lord Drummore's piper to discourse music to

him—according to Grange a first-class performer, but of

whom Lovat said 'that he was fit only to play reels to his

(Grange's) oyster women.' " The landlady's daughter, a

handsome young woman, having on some errand come into

the room, Lovat insisted on her dancing a reel with them.

Though not less than seventy-five years and Grange not

much younger, the wine and the young lady emboldened

the two old gentlemen to dance away to the music of the

bagpipes, till the young damsel, on observing in course of his

dancing evolutions Lovat's gouty legs to be as thick as posts

fell into an uncontrollable fit of laughter, and ran away, to

the discomfiture of the old gentleman, but greatly to the

merriment of the youthful members of the party. " Lovat,"

says Carlyle, "was tall and stately, and might have been

handsome in his youth, with a very flat nose. His manner

was not disagreeable, though his address consisted chiefly of

gross flattery, and in the due application of money. He did

not make on me the impression of a man of leading mind,

while his suppleness and profligancy were apparent."* We
have already seen that Lord Grange was one of Lord

Lovat's legal advisers.

Let us now give the estimate of a writer who evidently

knew him personally, as well as all about him and his family.

He is the author of a pamphlet published in 1746, entitled

Memoirs of the Life of Simon Fraser Lord Lovat. Dr Hill

Burton says that this is " the least inaccurate " biographical

contemporary account of his Lordship which has ever

* Celtic Magazine, vol. x., p, 551-552.
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appeared. "This rare tract," he says "has been seldom, if

ever, cited by late writers ; while a work called Memoires de

la Vie du Lord Lovat, published in Amsterdam in 1747,

which is a mere translation of it, has been referred to as an

original authority." This pamphlet was re-published in

1892 by Peter Fraser, bookseller, Beauly, who, however,

by a misprint describes it as "from the rare 1767 edition."

It bears internal evidence of having been written during

Lord Simon's life ; for the author, it will be observed,

predicts that his Lordship's "present conduct" in con-

nection with the rebellion of 1745 "must end in his own
destruction and the ruin of his family." This consumma-

tion was still in the future when the pamphlet was penned.

Its author, who it will be seen writes in the present

tense, says

—

" Lord Lovat, as to his person, makes an odd and grotesque figure,

he is generally more loaded with clothes than a Dutchman with his

nine or ten pairs of breeches ; he is tall in stature and walks very

upright, considering his great age, and is tolerably well shaped ; he

has a large mouth and short nose, with eyes very much contracted

and down looking, a very small forehead, almost all covered with a

large periwig ; this gives him a sour and grim aspect, but upon

addressing himself to any one, he puts on a smiling and obliging

countenance, which is not at all disagreeable ; he is near sighted, and

affects to be more so than he really is ; he was naturally of a robust

and vigorous constitution, and a strong and active body hardened by

fatigue, innured to hunger and thirst, heat and cold, and improved by

all manly exercises ; but his long confinement in the Bastile [this

should be the Castle of Angouleme] had greatly impaired his con-

stitution ; he has, however, taken such care of himself, that he still

preserves a degree of health and vigour very uncommon at so

advanced an age. He is a man of some share of learning and of

great parts and abilities of mind. His universal experience and great

attention to political matters have made him acquainted with men as

well as books ; he is polite, affable and agreeable in conversation, and

so great a master in flattery and dissimulation that he generally

pleases and gains the good will, if not the esteem, of those he con-

verses with, however prejudiced or prepossessed they might have

been against him. His knowledge of the history and genealogy of all

the great families in Scotland contributes not a little to this, for there

is no person in that country, but he will make out to be a relation or

ally of some noble or ancient family, or a descendant of some virtuous
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and illustrious hero. In this traditional history he pays little regard

to truth, provided he can give his story the air of probability ; he

seems to entertain his guests with the utmost cheerfulness and hos-

pitality, but being sordidly avaricious he grumbles privately at the

least expense, and though to their faces he caresses them, yet no

sooner do they turn about their backs than he pronounces curses and

execrations against them for the trouble and charge they put him to.

He is ambitious and proud, but when it serves his turn cringing,

mean, and fawning. He is crafty and subtle, but at times open and

unguarded in his speeches and actions, and that even in matters of

great concern ; by this means he has frequently involved himself in

dangers and difficulties ; but he is very fertile in expedients, and has

almost always been hitherto successful in extricating himself out of

such scrapes. His restless and active disposition conduces not a

little to draw him into snares, but a ready invention and a bold and

speedy execution helps him out of them. He is much addicted to

enthusiasm and superstitious notions, by which he is greatly governed

in many cases. In business he is unjust and unconscionable, and

avows that his own profit or pleasure has always been the rule of his

actions, and to that he has on all occasions sacrificed every other

consideration ; this has led him to violence, rapes, cruelty, revenge,

treachery, and every base and infamous practice when it suited his

purpose ; this has made him put himself into all shapes and appear-

ances, and therefore rendered him detested and depised by all good

and virtuous men, dreaded by some, and scorned and derided by

others. He is naturally brave and resolute, and though as to invisible

powers, he is fearful and timid, and as to his health and the lesser

accidents of life, scrupulous to a degree of pusillanimity, yet in time of

imminent danger he is bold and undaunted. He is of an amorous

and fallacious temper, but for many years past, he has been very

cautious in respect of women of rank, being sensible that intrigues

of that sort are often attended with disagreeable consequences ; he

therefore made bis addresses to the lowest and meanest of the female

sex, and by that means tasted all the sweets without any alloy of the

bitters of love ; besides, his absolute sway over them saved him the

troubles of a long and laborious courtship, which he had but little

time for on account of the multiplicity of his affairs. In fine he is a

cruel and oppressive master, an imperious and outrageous husband,

a tyrannical and severe parent, a false hearted and treacherous friend,

and an arbitrary and despotic chief. To conclude, it may be looked

upon as a strange phenomenon, not easily to be accounted for, that

his Lordship being a person of great penetration and long experience

in business, who had for many years struggled with powerful enemies,

and with poverty and distress, and at last conquered them all (which

he boasted he had done without effusion of human blood in any one
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instance, and therefore assumed for his motto, sine sanguine victor),

and after he had established himself in the right and possession of

that title and estate, which he had long contended for, he should now
be drawn into a chimerical and desperate scheme in concert with a

nation that he knew to be treacherous and perfidious, which must end

in his own destruction and the ruin of his family. The motives of

those concerned therein may be various, such as enthusiasm, mad-

ness, ignorance, poverty, and the like ; others may look upon our

calamities as proceeding from a certain fatality or providential direc-

tion of human affairs ; however fantastical such notions may seem

to be. I find the famous Tully entertained such an opinion, when

talking of the civil war between Pompey and Caesar ; his words are

' Ac mihi quidem si ftroprium et verum nomen nostri viali queratur,

fatalis quoedam calamitas incidisse videlur, et imftrovidas hominum
mentes occupavisse, ut nemo mirari debeat hiimana consilia divina

necessitate esse superata? But with regard to his Lordship I think

his present conduct can hardly be accounted for in any other way, than

by supposing that it proceeded from a deliberate and malignant

purpose to ruin and subvert our present Government, merely because

they have not thought fit to gratify his ambitious and avaricious

passions and desires."

Lord Lovat's demeanour in the Tower of London after

sentence of death was passed upon him, and while awaiting

execution, was indeed remarkable and probably the most

creditable and dignified part of his life ; and it is fortunate

that a full and trustworthy narrative of it has been preserved

in A Candid and Impartial Account of the Behaviour of

Simon Lord Lovat, written " by a gentleman who attended

his Lordship in his last moments," and published only five

days after his death in a pamphlet, now very rare. In the

preface to it, dated the 14th of April, 1747, the author, after

referring to the usual curiosity of the public regarding cases

of this kind and the tendency to misrepresent the facts and

incidents of the last moments of men like Lord Lovat, says

—

"In order, therefore, to satisfy the curious, and to prevent any

spurious accounts from being imposed on the public, I think it my
duty to inform them that the following sheets contain every particular

incident and occurrence which happened from the hour his Lordship's

death warrant came to the Tower to his final exit. And I do aver

that it was not possible for any person besides myself and the warders

attending to give a true and faithful account thereof. I attended the

whole time, by the desire of his Lordship and his friends. I saw
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every transaction, I heard every word, and therefore the following

narrative may be depended on. But how any other person can have

the assurance to give these particulars is to me beyond measure

surprising. Had it been possible for a ready amanuensis to have

stood behind a curtain, or listened at a door or window, some colour

of truth might probably have appeared ; but in this case, where all

avenues were stopped, what can be expected from a daring and

distant author but extravagant assertions, random conjectures, and

palpable absurdities."

The writer then proceeds with his narrative—Though an

eye-witness of Lovat's trial before the Lords and of his

extraordinary behaviour there, "I little thought," he says,

"to find that uncommon gaiety and jocoseness accompany

him in his last moments. I was indeed too well acquainted

with his Lordship to imagine he would shudder much at

the sight of death ; but yet I expected that it would abate

somewhat of his natural vivacity, and reduce him to a more

serious turn of mind ; however, neither the apprehension

of pain and agony or the thoughts of his speedy dissolution

seemed to give him any uneasiness." He then records the

more striking incidents which occurred and the remarks

made by his Lordship, each day until the last scene, of

which he supplies a detailed and highly interesting account.

The most characteristic and important are as follows :

—

On Friday, the 3rd of April, when the warrant came for

his execution, and the bearer of it told him that he was

sorry to be the messenger of such bad news, his Lordship

replied very cheerfully, " God's will be done," and then

taking him by the hand, drank his health, thanked him

kindly for the favour (as he called it) and assured him that

he was so well satisfied with his doom that he would not

change stations with any Prince in Europe. In the evening

he smoked his pipe, mentioned some circumstances relating

to his trial, and was very cheerful.

On Saturday morning he was informed that an engine

was to be erected to take off his head ; at which he grew

pleasant, and said it was a fine contrivance ; for as his neck

was very short the executioner would be puzzled to find

it out with his axe ; and if such a machine was made they
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might call it " Lord Lovat's Maiden." He was very cheer-

ful all day, and talked a good deal of his own personal

affairs, and, among other things, said he was concerned

in all the schemes that had been formed for restoring the

Royal Family since he was fifteen years old ; but that he

had never betrayed a private man or a public cause in

his life, and that he never shed a drop of blood with his

own hand.

On Sunday morning he rose pretty early, and behaved

with his usual gaiety, talked for some time about his family,

and showed those around him a copy of a letter he had

sent to his son, then a prisoner in Edinburgh Castle, in

the following terms :

—

" My dear Simon,—Notwithstanding my great distress and afflic-

tion you are always present with me, and I offer my prayers to

heaven for you. You see now by experience that this world is but

vanity of vanities, and that there is no trust to be put in the arm
of flesh

;
you see that God's providence rules the world, and that

no man or family but must yield to it, whether he will or not. Happy
is the man, that in all the cross accidents of this life, submits himself

to the will and providence of God, with sincere humility and patience.

It is the blessed trinity, Father, Son, and Holy Spirit that can deliver

you and me from our present melancholy situation. We have pro-

voked God by our sins, which most certainly have brought those

troubles upon us. I do sincerely thank God for those troubles,

because they have brought me from the way of sin that I lived

many years in, to a way of repentance and humiliation, and in-

structed me to follow my dear Saviour the Lord Jesus Christ as

I ought to do. I, therefore, my dear child, earnestly beg of you

with the sincere heart of a tender and affectionate father, to repent

of all your sins and transgressions, and to throw yourself at the foot

of the cross of Christ, begging for his sufferings' sake, which you

know were great, to give you true repentance, to forgive your sins,

and be reconciled to you for the sake of His blood, that He shed

upon the cross for sinners, and beg of Him to preserve you from

the snares of the devil, the world, and the flesh ; which will be too

many for you without His divine assistance, and if you have a true

contrition for your sins, and are reconciled with zeal and affection

to your Saviour, you'll find comforts that cannot be^expressed. If

you put your sole confidence in Jesus Christ, He will certainly bring

you out of all your troubles, and make you the happiest Lord Lovat

that ever was ; so, my very dear child, I beg of you for God's sake,
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for your own sake, for my sake, and for the sake of your brothers and

sisters, to throw yourself upon God's mercies, which have been ever of

old ; repent of your sins and live a sincere Christian, and righteous

life, and you will certainly bring God's blessing upon yourself, your

family, and kindred ; and if you neglect this my parental advice,

which by the laws of God and nature, I am obliged to give you, you

may assure yourself of becoming miserable in this world, and eter-

nally miserable in the next. I know not yet what my fate may be,

but bless God, I am prepared to go to the scaffold and block to-

morrow, if God in his divine will and providence hath ordered it

so ; so, my dear child, don't be in the least concerned for me, for

I bless God I have strong reasons to hope, that when it is God's will

to call me out of this world, it will be by His mercy, and the

suffering of my Saviour Jesus Christ to enjoy everlasting happi-

ness in the other world. I wish this may be yours, and am, my dear

child, your affectionate father, etc."

On Monday his Lordship got up about seven o'clock

and according to his usual custom called for a glass of

wine and water. Soon after this the Major of the Tower

came to see him, and asked how he did. "Do?" says his

Lordship ;
" why, I am about doing very well, for I am

preparing myself, sir, for a place, where hardly any Majors,

and very few Lieutenant-Generals go." A certain nobleman

came to see him this day, and asked him some questions

about his religion ; to which he answered, that he was a

Roman Catholic, and would die in the faith ; that he adhered

to the rock upon which Christ built his church ; to Saint

Peter, and the succession of pastors, from him down to the

present time ; and that he rejected and renounced all sects

and communities that were rejected by the Church.*

On Tuesday morning he rose as usual about seven, and

after drinking his glass of wine and water, desired one of

the warders to lay a pillow at the feet of the bed, that

he might try if he could kneel down sufficiently and fix

his head low enough for the block ; which being done,

he made the attempt, and told the warder that he believed

by this short practice he should be able to act his part

in the forthcoming tragedy well enough. He then asked

* He desired the attendance of Mr Baker, chaplain to the Sardinian

Ambassador, to perform the last offices of the Catholic Church for him.
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the warder—" Do you think the executioner will be able to

take off my head without hacking" me ; for I have reserved

ten guineas in a purse, which he shall have if he does his

business well." " My Lord," said a gentleman who came

to see him and was present, " I'm sorry you should have

occasion for him at all." To which his Lordship replied,

" So I believe are many of those who were the cause of my
coming hither, and for aught I know, all of them will by-

and-bye. The taking off my head, I believe, will do them

no service, but if it will, God bless them with it ; though

I can't but think myself hardly dealt by. In the first place,

I was stripped of everything, and might have wanted even

the common necessaries of life, had not my cousin, Mr
William Fraser, advanced a considerable sum of money
to General Williamson, and promised on certain conditions

to pay for my further subsistence ; and then to be convicted

by my own servants, by the men that had been nurtured

in my own bosom and I had been so kind to is shocking

to human nature ; but I believe each of them has a sting

of conscience on this account that will bear him company to

the grave ; though I am very far from wishing either of

them any evil. 'Tis a sad thing, sir, for a man's own
servants to take off the head of their master and chief."

Then this gentleman informed his Lordship that a Mr
Painter, of St. John's College, Oxford, had sent three letters

—one to the King, one to the Earl of Chesterfield, and

another to Mr Pelham—desiring that he might suffer in his

Lordship's stead. Lovat expressed his surprise. "This,"

said he, " is an extraordinary man indeed ! I should be

glad to know what countryman he is, and whether the thing

is fact. Perhaps it may be only a finesse in politics, to cast

an odium on some particular place or person ; but if there

be such a person, he is a miracle in the present age, and

will be in the future, for he even exceeds that text of

Scripture which says, ' Greater love than this hath no man,

than that a man lay down his life for his friend.' However,

this man offers to suffer for a stranger. In short, sir, I'm

afraid the poor gentleman is weary of living in this wicked
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world, and, if that be the case, the obligation is altered,

because a part of the benefit is intended for himself."

On Wednesday morning, about two o'clock, his Lordship

prayed very devoutly for a considerable time, and called

upon the Lord for mercy, as he often did before, with

great fervency. About ten o'clock he sang part of a song,

at which the warder expressed his surprise, and asked his

Lordship how he could be so merry when he was to die

to-morrow. To which he replied, that he was "as fit for

an entertainment as ever he was in his life." After some

conversation, he told those present that he would have his

bodv taken to Scotland, to be interred in his own tomb

in the Church of Kirkhill ; and that he had once made a

codicil to his will, where all the pipers from John o'Groat's

house to Edinburgh were invited to play before his corpse,

for which they were to have a handsome allowance, and

though that might not be thought proper now, yet he was

sure some of the good old women in his country would

sing a coronach before him. "And then," says his Lord-

ship, "there will be much crying and clapping of hands,

for I am one of the greatest chiefs in the Highlands."

After eating a hearty dinner he called for one of the war-

ders, and said
—

" Now, Willy, give me a pipe of tobacco,

and that will be the last I shall ever smoke, unless people

smoke tobacco in the other world." Soon after, the

Governor of the Tower paid him a visit, when his Lord-

ship rose and offered him his easy chair, which the Governor

politely refused, saying he was sorry his Lordship should

give himself the trouble to rise out of his seat on his

account. " What, sir, I hope you would not have me be

unmannerly the last day of my life," Lovat replied.

Upon the Governor's entrance his Lordship deferred

smoking his pipe, and talked about various matters. William

Fraser, his agent, and James Fraser came to visit him

at the same time and he talked a good while with

them concerning his family affairs, and the management

of his funeral. After this he again called for his pipe, and,

while smoking it, asked one of his warders if his message
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had been carried to Lord Traquair, and what answer he

made ? " His Lordship," replied the warder, " bids you an

eternal farewell, wishes you happy, and is offering up his

prayers for you." "Tis very kind of him, and I thank

him for it. Come, Mr Southbey," says his Lordship to

the warder, "give me some water, and put a little wine

in it." And then taking up his tobacco-stopper, he said,

" My pipe is almost out, as well as my glass." He then

asked about General Williamson's family, spoke very kindly

of him ; and having been informed that Miss Williamson

was so affected that she could not take her leave of him,

he remarked, " God bless the dear child, and make her

eternally happy, for she is a kind-hearted, good lass."

After this, his Lordship sent a message to the cook, de-

siring her to roast a piece of veal, that it might be ready to

mince for his breakfast next morning. He then asked the

warders to sit down and smoke with him, which they did,

and drank a glass of wine and wished him a good journey.

"Amen," quoth he ; and knocking the ashes out of his pipe,

said, "now gentlemen, the end of all human grandeur is

like this snuff of tobacco." He seemed to have a great

regard for his two warders. After his pipe was out, he

thanked them kindly for taking so much care of him ; "and

now, gentlemen," says he, " I have but one favour more

to ask of you : and that is that you go upon the scaffold with

me, and that you do not leave me until you see the head

cut off this body." They both promised ; and afterwards

one of them told him, that if ever he lived to see his son, the

Master of Lovat, he would let him know with what tender-

ness his Lordship parted with him. " Do," says my Lord,

"and he will take notice of you. If he don't, he won't

do well. But pray," says he, "have you got any wine for

me in the morning, and some bitters, if I should want to

carry any to the scaffold." Upon inquiry it was found that

there were no bitters left in the bottle, whereupon his Lord-

ship gave the warder a shilling to send for a bottle of

Stoughton's Elixir. After the messenger had left the

warder recollected that there was some burnt brandy and
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bitters left in a bottle which his Lordship had with him at

Westminster Hall, when on his trial, and informed him of

it. "Tis very well, very well, sir," says he, "pray take it

in your pocket, and give me a sup if I should want it"

His Lordship, who was eighty years of age, then took up a

book with a small print, and read it by candle light for

nearly two hours without spectacles. He told those around

him that he studied some years at Aberdeen, and then

assured them that he was bred a Protestant, but going

abroad, and having some disputes with Father , he

found himself very much staggered in his principles, and

prayed to God to direct him in the right way. That after

this, he studied divinity and controversy three years, and

then turned Roman Catholic. "This is my faith," said he,

" but I have charity for all mankind, and I believe every

sincere honest man bids fair for heaven, let his persuasion

be what it will, for the mercies of the Almighty are great,

and His ways past finding out." About nine o'clock he

desired the warders to undress him, and his breeches, shoes,

and stockings having been pulled off, he stood before the

fire to warm himself as usual. The warder then going up

to him said he was sorry that to-morrow was to be such

a bad day with him. "Bad! for what," says Lovat, "do

you think I am afraid of an axe ? 'Tis a debt we all owe,

and what we must all pay, and don't you think it better to

go off in this manner than to linger with consumption, or

gout, dropsy, fever, etc. ; though I must needs own, my
constitution is so good, that I could have lived twenty years

longer I believe, if I had not been called hither." Here

his Lordship offered to put off his coat and waistcoat, and

as it was his custom to pull them off by the bedside, the

warder reminded him of that " Good now," says he, " I

had forgotten that I was so far from the bed ! but perhaps

you might have forgotten too, had your head been to be

cut off to-morrow !

"

On Thursday, the day of his execution, he awoke about

three in the morning, and prayed devoutly. At five he

got up, called for wine and water, according to his usual
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custom, and seemed as cheerful as ever. Being- placed in

his chair, he sat and read until seven, when he called for

another glass of wine and water. About eight he requested

Mr Sherrington, one of the warders, to send his wig, that

the barber might have time to comb it out in a genteel

manner. He then called for a purse to put the money in it

for the executioner, and asked that it should be a good one,

"lest the gentleman should refuse it." Mr Southbey, one

of the warders, brought him two purses, the one a green silk

knit, and the other a yellow canvas. Choosing one of them,

his Lordship remarked that "it was a purse that no man
would dislike with ten guineas in it." He was now within a

few hours of his end. He had behaved with surprising

intrepidity during his whole confinement, and though he had

a great mind and understanding, and an awful idea of

religion and a future state, no one ever observed in any

gesture or speech the least shadow of fear or any symptom

of uneasiness about him. He was the same facetious

companion now as before sentence was passed upon him.

About half-past eight the barber brought his wig, which was

not powdered as much as usual, on account of its being a

rainy day. At this his Lordship seemed angry, and

remarked that he went to the block with pleasure, and that

if he had a suit of embroidered velvet he would wear it on

the occasion. He then spoke to the barber about his

principles, saying that his religious notions were extreme

and singular, " For the soul is a spiritual substance, and can

no more be dissolved for a time, or buried with the body,

than it can be annihilated entirely," at the same time smiling.

"My Lord," replied the barber, "you'll soon see that."

" Yes," said his Lordship, " I hope to be in heaven by one

o'clock, or I should not be so merry now." He then saluted

the barber, and bade him farewell. At half-past nine he

called for his prearranged plate of minced veal, ate very

heartily, afterwards called for wine and water, and drank the

healths of several of his friends present and absent.

At ten an accident occurred on Tower Hill by the fall of a

scaffold, which put all the crowd in great confusion. Several
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persons were killed and a large number were maimed and

bruised. At eleven the Sheriffs of London sent a message

to the Governor demanding Lovat's body. This having been

communicated to his Lordship, he asked that the curtains

might be drawn, and that those present should retire for a few

minutes while he prayed. The request was of course imme-
diately complied with ; but in a very short time he called for

them saying " I'm ready." He then proceeded on his way to

the scaffold, but on arriving at the foot of the first part of

the stairs the Governor, General Williamson, invited him into

his private room to rest himself. On entering he paid his

respects to the ladies present with great politeness, then to

the gentlemen, talked very freely, and asked the Governor,

in the French language, " Whether he might have the

honour to see his lady, to return her his last thanks for the

favours and civilities he had received from her " ; to which

the Governor replied, in the same language, " My spouse is

so greatly affected with your Lordship's misfortunes that she

cannot bear the shock of seeing you at this time and begs to

be excused." He then set out on his last journey. When
he reached the door, he bowed to the people, was then put

into the Governor's coach and driven to the outer gate,

where he was taken out of the carriage and delivered over to

the Sheriffs of London and Middlesex, who conducted him

in another carriage to a house near the scaffold which had

been lined with black cloth and hung with sconces for his

Lordship's reception. Here he was taken into their im-

mediate custody, and all his companions denied entrance
;

whereupon his Lordship applied to the Sheriffs asking that

his friends and relations who accompanied him from the

Tower might be permitted to be along with him to the

end. Sheriff Alsop then came out and requested that his

Lordship's friends should walk up, a favour for which he

earnestly thanked the Sheriffs, and said it was a great

consolation to him that his body fell into the hands of

gentlemen of so much honour, adding, " T will give you

gentlemen and the Government no further trouble, for I

shall make no speech ; though I have a paper to leave, with
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which you may do as you think proper." Here he placed

his hand in his pocket, delivered a manuscript to one of the

Sheriffs, and then said that they might give the word of

command when they pleased, adding that he was accustomed

to obey, for he had been an officer in the army for many
years. At this stage a gentleman present began to read a

prayer to his Lordship while sitting down ; but he called one

of the warders who attended him to help him up, so that he

might kneel. He then offered a prayer by himself, which no

one could hear, and turning about he was again set down in

his chair and seemed very cheerful. The Sheriff then asked

him if he would refresh himself with a glass of wine. His

Lordship thanked him, but said "he could not drink any

without warm water along with it," and that not being

procurable in that place, he took a little of the burnt brandy

and bitters which he had previously ordered one of the

warders to carry in his pocket ; and, turning to the Sheriff,

he said that he was ready whenever he pleased. He then

asked that his clothes should be delivered to his friends along

with his corpse, and be not given to the executioner, to

whom, he said, he should for that reason give ten guineas.

His Lordship then asked if he might have the axe

brought him to ascertain if it was sharp enough, and

desired that his head, when taken off, might be received

in a cloth and put into the coffin along with his body.

At this the Sheriff stepped aside, and observed to some

gentlemen present that he had received a warrant to carry

out the execution in the usual form, but as it had not been

customary of Jate years to expose the head at the four

corners of the scaffold, he thought that he might indulge

his Lordship with a promise on that point, and then,

turning to Lovat, told him that what he desired should

be granted to him.

When his Lordship came out of the room, in which they

were in the meantime waiting, into the passage leading up

to the scaffold, he observed a gentleman and asked his

name. He replied that it was North. " Well," says Lovat,

"let it be North and Grey," and added with a smile, "Come,
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my Lords North and Grey, conduct me to the block."

When ascending the steps to the scaffold he turned round,

and on seeing such a crowd exclaimed, " God save us,

why should there be such a bustle about taking off an

old grey head that can't get up three steps without

two men to support him." Observing one of his friends

much dejected, he clapped him on the shoulder, and

said, " cheer up thy heart, man, I am not afraid, why
should you ?"

When he mounted the scaffold the first thing he asked for

was the executioner, who was immediately presented to him.

Whereupon his Lordship put his hand into his pocket, and

pulling out a purse with ten guineas in it, said, "here, sir, is

ten guineas for you, pray do your work well ; for if you

should cut and hack my shoulders, and I should be able to

rise again, I shall be very angry with you." He then asked

the executioner to show him the axe, which that functionary

refused to do without permission from the Sheriff; but upon

application, his request was granted ; and when the instru-

ment of death was brought to him, he laid hold of it, felt its

edge, and said that he believed it would do. He then rose

from the chair which had been placed on the scaffold for him

and had a look at his coffin, on which was inscribed

—

"Simon Dominus Fraser de Lovat, Decollat, April 9, 1747,

MTAT SUM 80."

Again sitting down he repeated the following line from

Horace

—

" Dulce et decorum est pro Patri mori."

"'Tis a glorious and pleasant thing to die for our country."

And then this line from Ovid

—

" Nam genus et quae non fecimis ipsi, vix ea nostra voco.''

" For those things which were done either by our fathers or

ancestors, and in which we ourselves had no share, I can scarcely call

our own."

He then requested all the people to withdraw except his

two warders, who supported him while he prayed, after

which he called for William Fraser, his solicitor and

agent in Scotland, and, holding up his gold-headed cane,

31
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said to him, " I deliver you this cane in token of my sense

of your faithful services, and of my committing-

to you all the

power I have upon earth "
; and for the second time em-

braced him. He then called for James Fraser, and

embracing- him also, said, " my dear James, I am going

to Heaven, but you must continue to crawl a little longer in

this evil world." And taking his leave of both, he delivered

his hat to William Fraser, and asked him to take care

that the executioner did not touch any of his clothes. He
then pulled off his wig, ordered his cap to be put on,

and putting off his upper garments, delivered them along

with his wig to the same gentleman. Unloosing his cravat

and the neck of his shirt, he kneeled down on the block, and

took hold of the cloth which was placed to receive his head,

and pulled it close to him. But having laid too near the

block the executioner desired him to remove a little further

back. This he did, and placing his neck in a proper

attitude, he told the executioner that he would say a short

prayer, and then drop his handkerchief as a signal for him

to do his work. In this posture he remained for about half-a-

minute, and then threw his handkerchief upon the floor,

when instantly the executioner at one blow severed his head

from his body. It was received in a scarlet cloth, wrapped

up, and along with his body placed in the coffin and

carried in a hearse back to the Tower, where it remained

until four o'clock, and then taken away by an undertaker, in

order to be sent to Scotland to be deposited in the burying-

place of his family.

The following is the paper delivered by his Lordship

to the Sheriffs :

—

"As it may be reasonably expected that I should say something

of myself in this place, I declare that I die a true, but unworthy

member of the Holy Catholic Apostolic Church.

"As to my death, I cannot but look upon it as glorious.

" I sincerely pardon all my enemies, persecutors, and slanderers,

from the highest to the lowest, whom God forgive, as I heartily do,

and die in perfect charity with all mankind.
" I sincerely repent of all my sins, and firmly hope to obtain

pardon and forgiveness for them, through the merits and passion
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of my blessed Lord and Redeemer Jesus Christ, into whose hands

I recommend my soul. Amen. Lovat.
" In the Tower, April 9, 1747."

His body, according- to a contemporary, was buried in

the Tower of London, "with the other rebel Lords,"* but

if so, there seems to be no doubt that the remains were

subsequently disinterred, taken to the North, and laid in

the family vault in the Church of Kirkhill. Hugh Inglis,

belonging to Inverness, who sailed a vessel of his own

named the Pledger, between that town and London, being

in the English Metropolis at the time of Lovat's execution,

wrote a letter to Bailie Gilbert Gordon of Inverness, dated

the nth of April, 1747, two days after Lord Simon's death,

in the course of which he says
—

" Poor Lord Lovat was

beheaded a few hours after writing you my last. He
behaved like an old true deulnach

;
quite undaunted he went

to the last ; made several witty speeches, which seemed

quite agreeable to the bulk of the people. His corpse is

to be brought down by the Pledger, which is to leave

London this ensuing week."f This should set the matter,

so long in doubt, finally at rest.

He appears to have indulged the idea almost to the last

that the Government would not carry out the extreme

penalty of the law, and the universal opinion was and still

is that it was a great mistake to have done so. Mr Laing

in his History of Scotland says, "that whatever the char-

acter or crimes might be, the humanity of the British

Government incurred a deep reproach from the execution

of an old man on the very verge of the grave." Dr Hill

Burton expresses the same feeling. It was, he says, a

melancholy instance of the inefficiency of harsh laws, that

the system which could not prevent a citizen from sporting

with the interests of the community for sixty years "should

make such mighty exertions to cut off a few years of his

paralysed life. It could furnish but a poor warning to

* Scots Magazine for 1747, p. 158.

t The letter is given at length in a foot-note in the new edition of

Historical and Traditional Sketches of Highland Families, recently published

by John Noble, Inverness,
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ardent young political adventurers, to behold the axe of

the avenger so long in falling on the victim ; and would

scarcely frighten them from compromising their lot in

chances so long deferred. The old man's grey hairs excited

a sympathy which he knew the art of cultivating ; and if

he had been left powerless and poor, to wither in unpitied

solitude, seeing all his schemes baffled, and the policy he

had so skilfully cultivated reversed, he would have afforded

a more solemn example to those whose projects of ambition

are not founded on the honest wish to serve their fellow

creatures."*

The William Fraser who accompanied his Lordship in

the Tower and on the scaffold was his Edinburgh law-agent,

the " Little Willie Fraser " whom Lovat describes as being

" married to a very pretty smart woman that will take great

care of" his eldest son, Simon, Master of Lovat, in that

city, whom he had for some time in charge. James Fraser,

who was also present and was embraced by his Lordship,

was the second son of the Fraser of Phopachy who

was so much maligned by Lovat on repeated occasions,

under the most offensive and opprobrious names. In one

place he describes him as a "hellish knave." In the

Records of the Tower, under date 24th of March, 1747,

he is designated "James Fraser, Apothecary, in Craven

Street," as one of the six gentlemen for whom Lord Lovat

requested permission to have access to him in prison, and

who were allowed to see his Lordship "at all seasonable

times, provided that no more than two of the said persons

be at one time admitted to him."

Lord Lovat married first, in December, 17 16, Margaret,

fourth daughter of Ludovick Grant of Grant, and it is said

that the festivities on the occasion of the marriage cele-

bration were more than ordinarily characteristic of a great

Highland wedding. Extensive preparations were evidently

made for it a considerable time in advance. The account

for groceries and spices alone amounted to £6g 9s 6d Scots,

and included 16 lbs. 12 ounces of white sugar at 12s per

* Life ofSimon Lord Lovat, pp. 261-262.
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pound ; 8 lbs. of rice at 6d per pound, and any quantity

of hops, raisins, and cinnamon. There were also a half

hogshead of wine at £j 10s sterling
-

; iy\ bolls of malt;

II bolls for "brewing aquavitse," and 12 stones 3 lbs. of

butter at £3 6s 8d Scots per stone. The wedding

trousseau cost £385 12s Scots.*

By this lady Lord Simon had issue

—

1. Simon, his heir and successor as head of the family,

who afterwards became distinguished as a General in the

British Army, and had the estates restored to him by

special Act of Parliament, in 1774.

2. Alexander, who was born in 1729. He was baptized

on the 1st of July of that year, died unmarried on the

7th of August, 1762, at Dunmaglass, near Farraline, and

was buried at Kirkhill. He seems to have been fond of his

bottle. Mrs Grant of Laggan says that he acquired rather

too great a relish for the "convivial mode of living." A
witness giving evidence in one of the Lovat succession cases

testified to the same weakness. He said that " on some

occasions the said Brigadier Alexander Fraser passed the

night in the deponent's father's house, and on such occa-

sions the deponent, then a boy, used to leave a bottle

of whisky at the Brigadier's bedside to be drunk by him

during the night, which he generally finished before morn-

ing." He served for some time in the Dutch service, but

does not seem to have attained the rank of Brigadier,

although always so called. Indeed his father is found

calling him so when he was quite a romping boy going

to school.

3. Janet, who married Ewen Macpherson of Cluny

of the 'Forty-five, with issue. She died on the 14th of

April, 1765.

4. Sybilla, who died unmarried on the 9th of February,

1755.

The first Lady Lovat died after child-birth in July,

1729, and on the 1st of July, 1733, his Lordship married,

secondly, as already stated, Primrose, daughter of the Hon.

* Chiefs of Grant, vol. i., p. 351,

I
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John Campbell of Mamore, and sister of John, fourth Duke
of Argyll, with issue, one son

—

5. Archibald Campbell Fraser, born early in August,

1736. He ultimately succeeded his brother, General Simon
Fraser, as head of the clan and in the family estates.

His Lordship was beheaded, as already described, on the

9th of April, 1747, and was succeeded, as head of the

family, but not in the honours and estate, by his eldest son,

XIX. GENERAL SIMON FRASER,

Who was a prisoner in the Castle of Edinburgh when his

father died, and in the twenty-first year of his age ; for

he was born on the 19th of October, 1726. His history

before and during the Rising of 1745, up to the battle of

Culloden is already known to the reader and need not

be repeated. He was with the Prince on the 28th of

January, 1746, at Bannockburn, when his Royal Highness

received word that the Duke of Cumberland was expected

to be at Edinburgh in a day or two, and was one of the

Highland leaders who advised Charles to retreat towards

the North. Soon after this the Master of Lovat seems to

have returned to the Highlands to raise more men ; for

there is no doubt that the Fraser regiment, which at this

time consisted of about 500 men, was commanded on the

march from Falkirk to Inverness by Charles Fraser, Younger

of Inverallochy, who was mortally wounded at their head

on the fatal field of Culloden. It has been stated by all

our historians, except Sir Walter Scott, and generally

believed, that the Master of Lovat was not actually present

at the battle, but that he joined with reinforcements as the

Frasers were retiring in good order from the field. Indeed,

Home in his History of the Rebellion says that young Fraser

met the retreating Highlanders, half-way between Culloden

and Inverness, at the head of 300 more Frasers on their

way to the field of battle. But this was apparently an error.

Lord George Murray in his detailed account of the marches

of the Highlanders—and no one could know better than

he—says that before the battle "those about Culloden



XIX. GENERAL SIMON FRASER. 487

House were marching to the muir above the house where

they were joined by about three hundred of the Frasers just

then coming-

up." This was the body of three hundred new

recruits brought up by the Master in time to take part in

the battle. And the fact is corroborated by the first account

of the engagement, which appeared in a letter from an

officer in the Highland army, published by "T. Warner,

near St. Paul's, 1749." This officer says that
—"Those who

had gone off the night before (the battle) and early that

morning to Inverness and other parts, had now joined, and

the Master of Lovat was come up with a considerable

recruit of his men." The main body of the Frasers took

a prominent part in the fight and suffered severely, not

fewer than 250 of them having been slain. There were

prudential reasons for encouraging and even circulating the

statement that the Master was not actually in the fight, as

it was believed that his absence might be pleaded with

some effect in favour of a pardon, especially when it was

so well known that he had been forced into the rebellion

by his father.

A description of the tragic death of young Inverallochy,

and the brutal conduct of the Duke of Cumberland in

connection with it, will be found in our account of the

Inverallochy family.

Upon retiring from the field the Prince placed himself

at the head of the right wing, which included the Frasers,

who had now been joined by a fresh body of 300 men in

addition to those brought up by the Master earlier in the

day, and marched off with pipes playing aud colours flying,

the whole body retiring in such good order that Cumber-

land's cavalry sent to pursue them could make no impression

on them. Shortly afterwards, when a little distance from

the field, Charles divided his army into two bodies. One
of these, consisting of all the Highlanders, except the

Frasers and the Lowland regiments, crossed the River

Nairn and marched in the direction of Badenoch ; while

the other division, comprising the Frasers, Lord John

Drummond's horse, and the French piquets, proceeded
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towards Inverness, suffering' most severely from the sabres

of Cumberland's cavalry, who pursued them to within a

mile of the town.

On the 4th of June following a special Act of Parliament

(19 George II., cap. 26) was passed for the apprehension

of the leading men who took part in the rebellion and to

attaint of high treason no fewer than forty-three persons

who were still at large. Among these was " Simon Fraser,

eldest son and heir apparent of Simon Lord Lovat." He,

however, surrendered himself to the authorities on the 2nd

of August, and was committed prisoner in November

to Edinburgh Castle for high treason. Here he remained

until the 15th of August, 1747, when he was liberated and

proceeded to Glasgow, where he was to remain during his

Majesty's pleasure. In that year it was enacted by the 20

George II., cap. 52, that all the King's subjects in Great

Britain should be pardoned of every treasonable offence

against the State committed by them before the 15th of

June in that year, with certain exceptions specially named,

among whom we find the Master of Lovat, James Fraser

of Foyers, Simon Fraser of Achnacloich, John Fraser

(Macgillespie), Hugh Fraser, son of Alexander Fraser of

Leadclune, John Dubh Fraser of Little-Garth, John Fraser

of Bruiach, late steward to Lord Simon, and Thomas Fraser

of Gortuleg. In the same year the estates of the late Lord

Lovat and other persons attainted were vested in the Crown.

In April, 1750, a full and free pardon passed the seals

for Simon Fraser of Lovat, and on the 25th of July he was

called to the Scottish Bar. In the same year, by the 25

George III., cap. 41, all the lands, lordships, baronies,

patronages, titles, fishings, and other like heritages, which

became forfeited by the attainder of the persons therein

named, and which were vested in his Majesty, viz., the lands

of the late Simon Lord Lovat; John Drummond, taking

upon himself the style of Lord John Drummond ; George,

late Earl of Cromarty ; and Archibald, son of Coll Mac-

donald of Barrisdale, were annexed to the Imperial Crown,

inalienably and for ever, certain regulations having been
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made as to the payment of all the debts affecting them.

Shortly after this Simon received an offer of the com-

mand of a regiment in the French service, but although his

inclinations were strongly in favour of a military rather than

the legal profession, he declined, but applied for permission

to serve in the British army, an application which was in

a few years granted him, much to the advantage of his

country and his own subsequent military fame.

In 1757 William Pitt, afterwards Earl of Chatham, with

far-seeing prescience, recommended King George II. to

attach the Highlanders to his person and interest by em-

ploying them in the public service; "and, in evidence of

the disappearance of all jealousy on the part of the Crown,

the Honourable Simon Fraser, who had himself been

engaged in the rebellion, for which his father, Lord Lovat,

had been beheaded on Tower Hill, was appointed Lieu-

tenant-Colonel Commandant of a battalion to be raised on

the forfeited estates of his own family, then vested in the

Crown, and of those of his kinsmen and clan." The result

was remarkable. It at the same time proved the wisdom of

Pitt and the fidelity of Simon Fraser to the Crown and of

the clan to their chief, although he was without an inch

of land that he could call his own. " Without estate, money,

or influence," says General Stewart of Garth, " beyond that

influence which flowed from attachment to his family,

person, and name, this gentleman, in a few weeks, found

himself at the head of 800 men recruited by himself. The
gentlemen of the country and officers of the regiment,

added more than 700 ; and thus a battalion was formed of

13 companies of 105 rank and file each, making in all 1460

men, including 65 sergeants and 30 drummers and pipers.

All accounts concur in describing this as a superior body

of men. Their character and actions raised the military

reputation and gave a favourable impression of the moral

virtue of the sons of the mountains."* Among the officers,

whose commissions were dated the 5th of January, 1757,

are found the following members of the Colonel's clan :

—

* Highlanders ofScotland, vol. II., pp. 18-19.

i
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Captains—Simon Fraser of Inverallochy, who was killed

on the Heights of Abraham in 1759; Thomas Fraser of

Struy ; Alexander Fraser of Culduthel ; and James Fraser

of Belladrum. Captain-Lieutenant—Simon Fraser, who
died with the rank of Lieutenant-General in 18 12. Lieu-

tenants—John Fraser of Balnain
;
John Fraser, family not

named ; Alexander Fraser, killed at Louisburg ; another

Alexander Fraser ; Simon Fraser ; and a third Alexander

Fraser. Ensigns—John Fraser of Errogie ; Simon Fraser

;

Malcolm Fraser, subsequently Captain in the 84th regiment

or Highland Emigrants ; and Hugh Fraser, who also

became a Captain in the last named corps. Adjutant

—

Hugh Fraser ; and Quarter-Master—John Fraser.

The uniform of the regiment was the full Highland dress,

with musket and broadsword— to which several of the men
added the dirk at their own cost—and a sporran of badger's

or otter's skin. An eagle's or hawk's feather was worn in

their bonnets by the officers, while the soldiers ornamented

their's with a bunch of the distinguishing mark of the clan

or district to which they severally belonged.

This fine body of men was almost immediately marched

to Greenock where they embarked in the same ship as

Montgomerie's Highlanders, and landed in Halifax, Nova-

Scotia, in June 1757, where the regiment, which had been

numbered the 78th of the line, remained until the 28th of

May, 1758, when it formed a junction with the naval and

military expedition of 13,000 men, under Admiral Bos-

cawen, Major-General Amherst, and Brigadier-General

Wolfe, sent against Louisburg, Cape Breton, where Colonel

Fraser and his Highlanders in General Wolfe's Brigade,

from the 2nd of June to the 26th of July, when the place

surrendered, highly distinguished themselves and suffered

considerably, having had four officers, among whom was

Lieutenant Alexander Fraser, and seventeen men killed,

and three officers and forty-one rank and file wounded.

Shortly after the regiment landed in Nova-Scotia, it was

proposed to change the uniform, as the Highland dress was

supposed by some to be unsuitable for the severe winters
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and hot summers of North America. But all the officers

and men protested most vehemently against the change,

and Colonel Fraser having explained to the Commander-in-

Chief the great attachment which his Highlanders cherished

for their national dress, and the serious consequences which

would probably follow if they were deprived of it, they were

allowed to retain it without any further interference. An
old veteran who embarked and returned home with his

regiment, declared to one of his friends, that, " thanks to

our generous chief, we were allowed to wear the garb of

our fathers, and in the course of six winters showed the

doctors that they did not understand our constitutions, for

in the coldest winters our men were more healthy than

those regiments who wore breeches and warm clothing."

General Stewart of Garth, from whose excellent work these

particulars are taken, says that on all occasions this brave

body of men sustained an uniform character for unshaken

firmness, incorruptible probity, and a strict regard both to

military and moral duties.

In June 1759, Colonel Simon Fraser at the head of

his regiment, serving under General Wolfe, took a dis-

tinguished part in the expedition for the reduction of

Quebec, which, after very hard fighting between that date

and the 2nd of September following, lost no fewer than

179 of all ranks killed, and 633 wounded more or less

severely. Of the killed 18 were Fraser Highlanders, and

among 85 of the same corps wounded during that period

were Colonel Simon himself, two Captains, one of whom
was Captain Simon Fraser of Inverallochy and three Lieu-

tenants. General Wolfe, in an order issued condemning

an attack made by the Grenadiers prematurely against the

orders given them, paid Colonel Fraser's men the com-

pliment of saying that Amherst's, which was the 15th

regiment, "and the Highlanders, by the soldier-like manner

they were formed in, would undoubtedly have beaten the

whole Canadian army, if they had ventured to attack them."

After considerable delay, on the 12th of September, about

one o'clock in the morning, four regiments of infantry,
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along with the Fraser Highlanders and the Grenadiers,

were embarked from Port Levi on flat-bottomed boats,

under command of Brigadier-Generals Murray and Monck-

ton. General Wolfe accompanied them in person, and was

among the first to land on the Quebec side. The Light

Infantry and the Highlanders were the first on shore, and

they at once attacked and dislodged a Captain's guard which

defended a narrow entrenched path by which the rest of

the force could reach the top. The whole body then

passed on to the summit, a feat which occupied considerable

time, "as the precipices were so steep, that the soldiers

were obliged to scramble up by the aid of the rugged

projects of the rocks, and the branches of the trees and

shrubs growing on the cliffs." They were now on the

Heights of Abraham. The French Commander found that

he had to leave his stronghold, and come out to fight them

in the open field. The Highlanders formed part of the

front line. The two armies met face to face. The two

opposing Commanders, General Wolfe and the Marquis

of Montcalm, were mortally wounded early in the battle

and almost at the same moment, and their two seconds in

command, Generals Monckton and Severergues, were soon

afterwards carried from the field severely wounded. Brig-

adier Murray briskly advanced with the British troops,

under his command, and broke the centre of the Canadian

French, "when the Highlanders, taking to their broad-

swords, fell in among them with irresistible fury and drove

them back with great slaughter."* The victory was com-

plete, the French Canadians retreating to Quebec and Point

Levi, and the town was at once surrendered. Of the 57

British of all ranks killed and 478 wounded, Fraser's High-

landers had four officers and 15 men killed—among whom
were Captain Simon Fraser of Inverallochy—and 10 officers

and 138 rank and file wounded. Among the latter were

Lieutenant Alexander Fraser, senior, and Ensign Malcolm

Fraser. The Frasers fully confirmed the character they

had already acquired at Louisburg. A general officer

* General account of the battle.
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writing of the campaign says that " the Highlanders seem

particularly calculated for this country and species of war-

fare, requiring great personal exertion. Their patience,

sober habits, and hardihood—their bravery, their agility,

and their dress contribute to adapt them to this climate, and

render them formidable."

The British forces occupied Quebec during the winter

months under General Murray, the senior surviving officer,

General Townshend having returned home. The season

being a very severe one, and the troops having had to

subsist mainly on salt meat, they were so reduced by disease

and scurvy that by the month of April, only 3000 effective

men remained. A large fresh French force again gathered

round them, and it became necessary and it was determined

to try the event of a battle. Accordingly, on the 28th of

April this attenuated and sickly army was marched out by

General Murray to the Heights of Abraham to measure

swords with an army of 10,000 French and 500 Indians,

on the scene of their former victory. Colonel Simon

Fraser commanded on the left, which was formed of his

own Highlanders, along with the 43rd and 47th regiments.

A desperate engagement ensued, which was brilliantly

fought by the British against almost overwhelming odds.

The enemy at one time penetrated into two redoubts, " but

were driven out from both by the Highlanders, sword in

hand." The British had, however, ultimately to retire, but

they had given the enemy such a thorough dressing that

they were allowed to do so without pursuit and permitted

to carry their wounded along with them. They, however,

lost severely, 6 officers and 251 rank and file having been

killed, and 82 officers and 679 non-commissioned officers

and men wounded. Of the killed two officers and 55

privates and pipers belonged to the Fraser Highlanders.

They had no fewer than 156 wounded, of whom 27 were

officers and 129 non-commissioned officers and privates.

Among them were Colonel Fraser himself, Captain Alex-

ander Fraser of Culduthel, Lieutenants Alexander Fraser,

senior, Alexander Fraser, junior, Simon Fraser, senior,
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Alexander Fraser, Simon Fraser, junior, and Malcolm

Fraser ; and Ensign Malcolm Fraser. General Levi, who
commanded the Canadians, although he did not attempt

an immediate pursuit, moved forward the same evening

and took up his position close to the town from which he

at once opened fire, and took the necessary steps to form

a regular siege, which was continued until the ioth of May,

when it was suddenly raised, the enemy decamping and

marching in the direction of Montreal. They were followed

by General Murray, who, on his arrival there, now the only

place of strength left to the Canadians, on the 6th of

September, formed a junction with General Amherst and

Colonel Haviland, and the French Commander, finding

himself surrounded by three armies, opened a correspond-

ence which resulted in his surrender to the British by whom
he was now completely hemmed in.

A French armament having appeared in the summer of

1762 on the coast of Newfoundland, and having landed

some troops and taken possession of St. John's, a small

British force collected from New York and Halifax, was

despatched to its relief under Colonel William Amherst,

and two companies of Fraser Highlanders joined them.

They had, however, very little fighting to do, for soon after

their landing, the enemy, on the 17th of September, capi-

tulated, "the prisoners being more numerous on this

occasion than the victors."

These are some of the services rendered by Colonel

Simon Fraser and his Highlanders in Canada from 1757

to 1762. The total loss of the regiment during the war

was 14 officers and 109 rank and file killed, and 46 officers

and 400 rank and file wounded—in all 569 officers and men.

On their return from Newfoundland to the mainland the

several detachments of the army joined their respective

regiments, and passed the winter in cantonments. The

Fraser Highlanders were quartered alternately in Canada

and Nova-Scotia until the conclusion of the war, where many
of the officers and men—those who did not wish to return

home —received grants of land, and settled in British North
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America, and the others came back and were discharged

in Scotland. Of those who made a choice of remaining in

Canada, 300 afterwards, in 1775, enlisted in the 84th

regiment and became the nucleus of the two fine battalions

then formed under the designation of the Royal Highland

Emigrants.

During Colonel Fraser's absence at the head of his

regiment in British North America, he was chosen at the

general election of 1761 member of Parliament for the

county of Inverness, and he continued to be re-elected and

represented that constituency in the House of Commons
until his death in 1782. In 1762 he served, with the rank

of Brigadier-General, in the British forces sent to Portugal

to defend it against the Spanish invasion of that year.

In 1774 he was rewarded for his great and loyal services

to the Crown in Canada and elsewhere with a free gift of

the Lovat family estates, subject to the payment of certain

debts, ten years before any of the other forfeited estates

were restored to their former owners or their representatives.

This was done " as a particular mark of grace " and to show

the good will of his Sovereign ; and he alone had the special

gratification of getting this favour by a special Act of

Parliament, a whole decade before the first General Act

for the purpose of restoring certain other forfeited Highland

estates was passed in 1784. Parliament passed this special

Act (14th George III. cap. 22) to enable his Majesty to

grant unto Major-General Simon Fraser the lands and

estate of the late Simon Lord Lovat upon certain terms

and conditions on the following narrative :

—

"Whereas before the attainder of Simon, late Lord Lovat, his

estate was settled [on his second son] by a deed of entail, which

coming to be tried by the Court of Session in Scotland, the estate

was determined to be forfeited by a majority of one voice, and that

judgment was not appealed against: And whereas, in 1747, proof

was brought before Parliament of the means used to involve Simon
Fraser, eldest son of the said Simon, Lord Lovat, in the late un-

natural rebellion, at a tender age ; and the said Simon Fraser, ever

since he was capable of acting for himself, hath testified his loyalty to

his Majesty and the Royal family, and proved the sense he enter-
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tained of the excellence of the happy constitution of this country by

declining to engage in the service of a foreign State, though destitute

of any establishment here ; and by dedicating himself to the service of

his country at the beginning of the late war, upon which occasion he

raised, in a very short time, a large body of men and commanded a

regiment composed of them, with which he served meritoriously

during the course of it, and was the first who offered to set that

example, which in its consequence proved advantageous to the State

by calling forth from a corner of the kingdom many thousand soldiers,

whose efforts to demonstrate their zeal and attachment to his Majesty's

Royal person and Government contributed to the glory and success of

that war : And whereas the said Simon Fraser hath, in the course of

his service, attained the rank of Major-General in his Majesty's army,

and since the peace hath been employed, by his Majesty's command,
in the service of a power whose alliance this country hath always

deemed important."

It was by that Act declared lawful for the King" to grant

to the said Simon Fraser all the lands, lordships, baronies,

patronages, and other rights and privileges forfeited by the

attainder of his father, Simon Lord Lovat, subject to the

payment by him of ,£20,983 sterling ; but

" Saving to all and every person and persons, bodies politic and

corporate, his, her, and their heirs, successors, executors and adminis-

trators (other than and except the King's most excellent Majesty, his

heirs and successors), all such estates, rights, titles, interests, claims,

and demands of, into, and out of, the lands and premises to be

granted as aforesaid, as they, every, or any of them had before the

passing of this Act, or should or might have held or enjoyed, in case

this Act had never been made."

Having thus secured possession of the ancient inheritance

of the Frasers, General Simon by a deed dated the 16th of

May and registered at Edinburgh the 18th of June and

28th of July, 1774, had all the lands and estates so restored

to him settled, in default of the heirs male or female of

his own body, upon his half-brother, the Hon. Archibald

Campbell Fraser, and failing him and the heirs male of

his body, on the following cadet families of Fraser and the

heirs male of their body, in the order stated, namely

—

Inverallochy, Strichen, Struy, Culbokie, Farraline, Foyers,

Reelick, Belladrum, Eskadale, Culduthel, Erchitt, Gortuleg,

Achnagairn, Provost James Fraser (of the Achnagairn
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family), Inverness, Balnain, Dunballoch, Fanellan, Daltul-

lich, and Torbreck, whom all failing to his own nearest

lawful heirs and assigns whatsoever.

This is a somewhat curious arrangement. The Frasers

of Ardachy, who would succeed to the chiefship immediately

after the family of Strichen, now in possession of the estates,

was excluded from the entail altogether, and it was in terms

of it quite possible to see the estates of Lovat some day in

possession of a subordinate branch of the family and the

real heir male and head of the house owning not an inch

of the ancient inheritance of the Frasers. Indeed, if the

present family of Lord Lovat were to die out in the male

line, the heir male of Ardachy would become heir male of

all the Frasers and chief of the clan, while if General

Simon's entail stood the estates would pass to the heir male

of Struy, and failing him, to Colonel William Fraser of

Culbokie, late of Kilmuir, Skye, and then to Farraline,

failing whom, to Foyers and Reelick, two illegitimate

houses, but now extinct in the male line of those named in

the entail, while several branches undoubtedly legitimate

would be altogether excluded.

In 1775, General Fraser, now in full possession of the

family estates, received letters of service for raising another

regiment of two battalions among his countrymen. By the

restoration of his property, to quote General Stewart of

Garth again, he was now in possession of all the power

which wealth and influence could command ; but his present

purpose had less relation to the influence of wealth than to

the preservation of respect and attachment to his person

and family. Relying on the latter alone when in poverty,

and without the means to reward, his influence had ex-

perienced no diminution, for in a few weeks he found

himself at the head of 1250 men. So much having been

done in 1757 without the aid of property or estate, no

difficulty was to be expected now that the case was the

reverse. Nor did he find any ; for with equal ease and ex-

pedition, two battalions of 2340 Highlanders were marched

to Stirling, and thence to Glasgow, in April, 1776. Among
32
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his officers were no fewer than six chiefs of clans besides

himself. There were, however, very few Frasers among
them. He was himself appointed Colonel of both battalions,

but the only Fraser among- the Majors and Captains,

numbering- eleven, was Simon Fraser, who died a Lieuten-

ant-General in 1807. Among the nineteen Lieutenants

there were only four—Hugh Fraser, Alexander Fraser,

another Alexander Fraser, and Thomas Fraser, son of

Leadclune. Of the eight Ensigns only one, Peter Fraser,

belonged to the clan, and the surgeon was a William Fraser.

In the second battalion, in the list of thirty-three officers

above the rank of Ensign and below himself as Colonel,

there were only three members of the clan—Lieutenants

James Fraser, Thomas Fraser, and a second Thomas Fraser.

In fact these three are all the officers of the name in the

battalion, for there was not one Fraser among the other

twelve subordinate officers.

It was found necessary to send the regiment to America

at once, the requirements of the service being so urgent.

There was thus no time for any drill or discipline before they

went on board ship at Greenock, after a stay of a few days

in Glasgow on their way. When the regiment was mustered

it was discovered that more men had come up and joined

than were required to complete it, and several were conse-

quently left behind in Glasgow when the corps started on the

march for Greenock. But many of the men ordered to be

left behind were so anxious to accompany their friends and

countrymen, that they parted with their officers in Glasgow,

and following the regiment, found their way on board the

transports in the dark, where they were not discovered until

the fleet was a considerable distance out at sea.

Among the men who had joined and gone South were

120 raised among the tenantry on the forfeited estate of

Charles Cameron, XXI. of Lochiel, in order to secure a

company for their chief. He was at the time confined in

London by an illness from which he died in the following

year. His men were naturally disappointed that he did not

meet them as they expected on their arrival in Glasgow, and
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when the order for embarkation at Greenock arrived, and he

being-

still absent, they loudly expressed their extreme

sorrow. They said "they were Lochiel's men ; with him at

their head they were ready to go to any part of the world
;

they were certain some misfortune had happened or he

would have been with them "
; and it took all the persuasive

eloquence of General Fraser to explain the situation of

Lochiel to their satisfaction, and to convince them that they

could not more effectually serve him and show their attach-

ment and duty to their chief than by embarking along with

their comrades and countrymen. And this they consented

to do with the more cheerfulness as Captain Charles

Cameron of Fassifern, a leading and popular member of

their own clan, afterwards killed at Savannah in 1779, was

appointed to command them in the absence of their chief.

When Lochiel heard of the conduct of his clansmen, though

still unwell, he, forgetting the delicate state of his health,

hurried down to Scotland, and the fatigue of the journey

had such an effect upon him that he died a few weeks

afterwards, universally respected and lamented.

It appears that General Fraser addressed the men in a

rousing Gaelic speech. While speaking to them, an old

Highlander who had accompanied his son to Glasgow was

leaning on his staff, gazing at the General with intense

earnestness. When his chief had finished his address the

old man walked up to him, and "with that easy familiar

intercourse which in those days subsisted between the

Highlanders and their superiors," he shook him by the

hand, exclaiming in Gaelic, " Simon, you are a good soldier,

and speak like a man ; so long as you live Simon of Lovat

will never die," alluding to the General's address and

manner, which, it was said, much resembled that of his

father, Lord Lovat, whom the older generation of High-

landers knew and remembered well even then, twenty-nine

years after his death. Those who wish to follow the

regiment through the American War of Independence, in

the course of which it always took a distinguished part,

until the men were taken prisoners at Yorktown, on the
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8th of October, 1781, must be referred to General Stewart

of Garth's excellent and full account of its services. On
the conclusion of the war, they were released, ordered to

Scotland, and disbanded at Perth in 1783.*

General Fraser was one of the gentlemen who originated

the Highland Society of London, established in 1778.

About this time he became much embarassed by debt,

and in 1779 he conveyed his estates to trustees to take

effect after his death. All the rents were directed to be

applied to the liquidation of his debts, with the exception

of ^500 a year, payable to his brother Archibald, the heir

of entail, until the whole amount of his liabilities should be

paid off, and providing that as soon as this was accomplished

the trustees should denude in favour of the heirs of entail,

who were to be held bound to possess under all the limita-

tions and restrictions of that entail.

When on the 17th of June, 1782, James, Marquis of

Graham, who, on the death of his father on the 23rd of

September, 1790, succeeded as third Duke of Montrose,

moved in the House of Commons to bring in a bill to

repeal the Act of 19 George II., which prohibited the

wearing of the Highland dress, his motion was seconded

by General Fraser as member of Parliament for the county

of Inverness. He made an excellent and patriotic speech

on the occasion, which has fortunately been preservedf

and which was afterwards translated into Gaelic, printed,

and circulated among his friends. In the course of it he

said that the object of the bill deeply concerned and inter-

ested the whole body of people of the very large and

extensive county which he had the honour to represent,

as well as the inhabitants of several neighbouring counties,

"many of whom have bled so freely and so usefully to this

Empire in the course of two successive wars, that they, of

themselves, have construed their services a sufficient tolera-

tion, even under legal prohibition, for wearing a dress the

best calculated in point of utility and frugality for the hilly

* Sketches ofthe Highlanders, vol. ii., pp. 43-80.

t The Cambrian Magazine, vol. v., p. 486,
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situation they live in ; and the fact is that for many years

past, the dress is universally known to be worn. Their

prayer therefore is, to be freed from all apprehension on

this subject, and to be allowed legally to wear the striped

parti-coloured woollen manufactures of their own country,

cut in the fashion best suited to their fancy and predilection.

Allow me," he continued, "to observe that the prohibitory

law relative to their dress, if necessary at the time, was in

effect most certainly a double tax of a very severe nature
;

being at one and the same time a preventive of their

domestic manufacture and a compulsion to wear more

expensive garments—garments most unfit indeed for that

country, unless an Act could be made to level the hills
!

"

He then informed the House that having lived in England

for thirty years, he tried very recently to ascend the moun-

tains of the North in the very dress he was then wearing,

and " found it difficult in the extreme, or almost impractic-

able." The introduction of the bill was unanimously agreed

to. On the 20th of June it passed through Committee of

the Commons and was sent up to the Lords, who passed it

by acclamation on the 25th of the same month, and on

the 1st of July, 1782, it received the Royal assent and

became law.

General Fraser married Catherine, second daughter of

John Bristowe of Quidenham Hall, county Norfolk, Deputy

Governor of the South Sea Company, without issue. He
died in Downing Street, London, on the 8th of February,

1782, with the rank of Lieutenant-General in the British

Army, and Colonel of the 71st Regiment of Foot, at the

comparatively early age of 56, when he was succeeded as

head of his house and in the family estates, subject to the

provisions of the trust already mentioned, by his half-

brother,

XX. THE HON. COLONEL ARCHIBALD
CAMPBELL FRASER,

Who was born on the 16th of August, 1736. He was

served heir to his brother, General Simon Fraser, on the
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5th of August, 1782. Being in school at Petty when the

battle of Culloden was at its height, and venturing " in the

spirit of childish curiosity " nearer the scene of action than

was consistent with prudence he narrowly escaped capture

by the dragoons who scoured over the moor and its neigh-

bourhood after the fatal fight was over. He is said to have

devoted himself in early life to sport under the assumed but

appropriate name of Fitz-Simon ; and he was subsequently

engaged in commerce. Anderson informs us that later on

still, " when the celebrated Bruce arrived at Tripoli he found

Mr Fraser acting as British Consul, and speaks in grateful

terms of the attention he experienced at his hands. He
was appointed Consul at Algiers in 1766, and we learn

from General Fraser's deed of entail that he continued to

act in that capacity in 1774." Others of his more public

services before and after this date, will be found recorded

on the curious monumental tablet which he raised to his

own memory several years before his death in the Church

of Kirkhill, the inscription on which is as follows :

—

"This stone is erected to the memory of the Honourable A. C.

Fraser, Lord of Beaufort, Abertarff, and Loveth, soldier,—Mac Shimi.

38, Nephew to John Duke of Argyle, Godson to Archibald Duke
of Argyle.

A.D. MDCCLXIV.
While upon a diplomatic mission to the Mahomedan States of Africa,

he, by order of his most sacred Majesty George III., affected a peace

between these States, the Kingdom of Denmark, and the Republic of

Venice. He procured indemnification from the Empire of Russia, for

depredations committed on the British flag and during his ten years

stay in those countries, he, by his King's permission, redeemed

Spanish, Portugese, and Imperial subjects, at the expense to those

countries of two millions sterling, while not a single Briton was

sold or taken into slavery.

A.D. MDCCLXXXII.
He co-operated with James Duke of Montrose, in recovering to the

Highlanders, the dress of their ancestors.

AD. MDCCLXXXV.
He, at his own expense, and in person, surveyed the fisheries on the

West Coast of Scotland and the Hebrides, and petitioned for a repeal

of the duties on salt and coal. He encouraged the manufacture of

coarse wool, hemp, and flax ; he laboured to improve the soil ; he
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amended the breed of Highland oxen, and broke them in for harness.

He meliorated the dairies, and by affording employment to a hardy

race of men, returned from serving their country in the wars, he

repressed emigration and preserved to his country their equally

valuable services in peace.

A.D. MDCCXCII.

After quelling insurrection on the 10th of August, he planned the

system of legally putting arms into the hands of men of properly, and

had, when the Empire was threatened with invasion, the satisfaction

of seeing its adoption and efficacy.

"Born 16th August, 1736 ; died 8th December, 1815."*

In 1782 Colonel Archibald Fraser was elected member
of Parliament for the county of Inverness as his brother,

General Simon's, successor. Until his death he was Colonel

of the Inverness-shire local Militia, a position in which he

took very considerable pride. Having- outlived all his

children, and having acquired the estate of Abertarff, an

ancient possession of his family, he executed a disposition

and deed of entail of his new acquisition, dated the 15th of

August, 1808, in favour of his heirs and successors, and "to

and in favour of the nearest legitimate male issue of my
ancestor Hugh, Lord Fraser of Lovat ; namely, Thomas
Alexander Fraser of Strichen, being the nearest lawful heir-

male of the deceased Alexander Fraser of Strichen, and his

heirs-male ; whom failing, to and in favour of the late Hugh
Fraser of Struy and the heirs-male of his body ; whom
failing, to and in favour of the nearest lawful heir of the

late William Fraser of Kilbokie and his heirs-male ; whom
failing, .to and in favour of Simon Fraser, Esquire, of Far-

raline and his heirs-male ; whom failing, to and in favour of

the person who shall then be able to prove himself to be

the chief of the Clan Fraser, by legitimate descent from

Hugh, first Lord Lovat, and his heirs-male ; all and whole

the following parts and portions of the lands in Abertarff,"

a full description of which follows in the deed.

Three years later, on the 20th of July, 181 1, he disponed

to Sir Hay Campbell, the Hon. Henry Erskine, Advocate,

* The date of his death must, of course, have been filled in after

that event.
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and others in trust all the lands and heritages which then

belonged to him or which should belong to him at his

death, and one of the express provisions of the deed is,

"9thly, to settle the estate of Abertarff and the whole un-

entailed property belonging to the granter, for the purposes

of the trust, by proper conveyances, containing irritant and

resolutive clauses, upon the nearest legitimate male issue of

my ancestor, Hugh, Lord Fraser of Lovat; namely, the

nearest lawful heir-male of Alexander Fraser, late of Strichen,

and his heirs-male."

On the 2nd of July, 1812, he executed another disposi-

tion and deed of entail of the unentailed lands of Abertarff,

in favour of the illegitimate child of his eldest son, John

Frederick Simon, who had died unmarried in 1803, on the

narrative that, " Whereas I, some years ago, executed a

disposition and deed of entail of my lands and estate of

Abertarff, etc., and of certain other lands belonging to me,

which bears date the day of 18* "years

;

and whereas, by the said deed, there is full power and

liberty reserved to me to alter the same ; and being resolved

to execute the said faculty in manner and to the extent

underwritten, therefore I have nominated and appointed,

as I do hereby nominate and appoint, Thomas Frederick

Fraser, my grandson, presently residing with his tutor, Dr

Bentley of the King's College, Aberdeen, and the heirs-

male of his body, to succeed to my said lands and estate,

immediately after myself and the heirs of my own body

;

whom failing, to the persons named as heirs and substitutes

in the said deed of entail, in the order therein mentioned."

It is important to observe that in the deeds of 1808,

181 r, and 18 12, Colonel Archibald departs from the suc-

cession laid down by his brother, General Simon Fraser, in

the entail of 1774, and distinctly provides that failing the

heirs-male of the Strichen family, of Abertarff, and of all

the legitimate heads of families mentioned, the unentailed

lands should go to " the person who shall be then able to

prove himself to be chief of the Clan Fraser, by legitimate

* These spaces are blank in the deed.
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descent from Hugh, first Lord Lovat, and his heirs-male."

It will be remembered that in the special Act restoring

the estates to General Fraser in 1774, all previous rights

were reserved, "saving to all and every person " everything

which they would have been entitled to had that Act never

been passed, excepting the King, his heirs and successors.

Whatever may be the case as regards the estates, it is quite

certain that neither the Scottish peerage—restored with all

its ancient rights and privileges by Act of Parliament, dated

the 10th of July, 1857, to the late Thomas Alexander

Fraser of Lovat—nor the chiefship of the clan can be

diverted by any entail whatever. For instance. Supposing

the estates in terms of General Fraser's entail had gone,

as it might have done, to his own heir female or to any

member either of the admittedly illegitimate branches of

Foyers and Reelick, would any one maintain that the

Peerage or the Chiefship of the clan would follow the family

estates! In that case, even the question of the right of

election to the chiefship could not come in. In such

circumstances the election would be the sole act of a single

individual who in this particular instance had been dead

and buried for more than a hundred years, and in others

it might be for centuries. Certain branches were named in

the entail who were not of the Lovat family at all—such as

Torbreck and Dunballoch—who broke off from the original

southern Frasers long before the Peerage came into exist-

ence.

The Hon. Archibald Campbell Fraser executed no fewer

than ten settlements altogether at different dates, but those

of 1808, 181 1, and 1812, already referred to appear to have

been the only operative instruments. The deed of 1812

has, however, given rise to a long legal conflict between the

late Archibald Thomas Frederick Fraser of Abertarff and

Thomas Alexander Fraser, fourteenth Lord Lovat. But

the questions in dispute are not of particular interest to any

but the successors of the respective litigants.

In 1794, during the Hon. Archibald Fraser's rule at

Beaufort it was decided to raise a Fraser Fencible Regiment
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and letters of service were issued for that purpose to

Colonel James Fraser of Belladrum in the latter end of

that year. In the spring of 1795, the regiment was com-
pleted by the assistance of the chief and other leading

gentlemen of the clan. On the 14th of June, the men were

inspected and embodied at Inverness, no fewer than 300

of them bearing the name of Fraser, chiefly from the

districts of the Aird and Stratherrick. The uniform was

the usual Highland dress with belted plaid and kilt of Fraser

tartan, but without the broadswords, as in the case of

former Fraser Regiments. According to General Stewart

of Garth, the regiment was marched South in July, and

crossing over to Ireland, landed there on the 1st of August.

In that country "the general character of the corps was

excellent ; they had a high degree of the esprit de corps
;

were obedient, active, and trusty
;
gaining the entire con-

fidence of the generals commanding, by whom they were

all stationed in the most disturbed districts, previous to and

during the rebellion. Many attempts were made to corrupt

them, but in vain ; no man proved unfaithful. The men
were not in general large, but active, well made, and re-

markable for steady marching, never leaving any stragglers,

even on the quickest and longest marches "— a character

given them by an able and intelligent officer who personally

knew them well.

In November, 1797, Colonel Fraser of Belladrum re-

signed the command of the regiment and John Simon

Frederick Fraser, Younger of Lovat, was appointed Colonel

in his place. Soon after, the disturbance in Ireland having

assumed a more formidable appearance, the Government

discovered that in the attempts to keep down the growing

spirit of disaffection and disloyalty, some of the troops

began to show similar symptoms. But full confidence was

always felt and placed in the Fraser Fencibles. When the

Frasers landed at Killala this regiment along with others

was pushed forward, and in the subsequent encounter with

the enemy at Castlebar they were the last to retreat. Mus-

grave, in his history of this Irish rebellion, gives an instance
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of the intrepid performance of duty entrusted to "a High-

land Fraser sentinel, whom his friends desired to retreat

with them, but he heroically refused to quit his post, which

was elevated, with some steps leading- to it. He loaded and

fired five times successively, and killed a Frenchman at every

shot; but before he could charge a sixth time they rushed

on him," and he adds the remark that, if all the soldiers at

Castlebar had behaved with equal firmness the French

invasion would have ended that day. The Fraser regiment

remained in Ireland until the close of the war. In barracks,

their conduct was uniformly good, and corporal punish-

ments were equally unnecessary and unknown, and in this

respect there was no going back until they were reduced

in Glasgow in July, 1808.*

In 1797 an Act of Parliament was passed authorising the

sale of the superiorities and certain other portions of the

Lovat estates for the purpose of paying off what remained

of General Fraser's debts. The superiorities sold amounted

to £250 a year, and the lands to an annual rental of £3$o.

And such of the entailed lands as were not sold were made

liable in the payment of ^400 a year to be applied in the

creation of a sinking fund to form a capital sum to be

applied under authority of the Court of Session in the

purchase of other lands of equal value to be settled on the

same series of heirs.

The trust executed by General Fraser in 1779, and

already explained, was brought to an end by Act of Par-

liament in 1802, when the Hon. Archibald Campbell Fraser

entered into full possession of the family estates in terms

of the entail, and made up titles accordingly.

Anderson says that Colonel Fraser "possessed talents of

no ordinary kind. To a knowledge of letters he added an

intimate acquaintance with the world. He had spent a

considerable portion of his life in the first circles, both at

home and abroad, and many yet look back to him as the

beau ideal of a gentleman of the old school. That eccen-

tricities of character displayed themselves cannot be denied
;

* Sketches ofthe Highlanders, vol. ii., pp. 351-353.
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but they will be forgotten in the remembrance of his varied

qualities." It is, however, well known that he was very

severe on some of his tenants.

He married, in 1763, Jane, daughter of William Fraser

of the family of Leadclune, and sister of Sir William Fraser,

F.R.S., created a Baronet on the 27th of November, 1806,

with issue

—

1. John Simon Frederick Fraser, who was trained for

the Scottish Bar, and was the author of a well known work

published in London in two volumes— " Reports of the

Proceedings before Select Committees of the House of

Commons, in cases of Controverted Elections, 8vo., 1791-

1793." He was elected member of Parliament for the

county of Inverness in 1796, and continued to represent

the - constituency until 1802. In 1797 he was appointed

Colonel of the Fraser Fencibles, on the resignation of

Colonel James Fraser of Belladrum in November of that

year. He was not married, but left an illegitimate son, the

late Archibald Thomas Frederick Fraser of Abertarff, to

whom, and the heirs-male of his body, his grandfather, the

Hon. Colonel Archibald Campbell Fraser of Lovat, left that

estate by the deed of settlement already quoted, to which he

succeeded on the death of his grandfather in 18 15. Archi-

bald Thomas Frederick Fraser of Abertarff, in January

1822, married Janetta Fraser, third daughter of Colonel

Duncan Macpherson of Cluny, by his wife Catherine, third

daughter of Sir Ewen Cameron, Baronet, of Fassifern, with

issue—an only son who died in infancy, and a daughter

Catherine who survives him, unmarried. He died in

March 1884, when the Abertarff estate reverted to Lord

Lovat in terms of a decision of the Court of Session dated

the 14th of May, 1824, and after a long and costly litigation

confirmed by the House of Lords, declaring that it was

held, not in fee simple but under the conditions of an

entail. Colonel John Simon Frederick died at Lisbon on

the 6th of April, 1803, at the age of thirty-eight years, from

the result of fatigues incurred by him while in command of

the Fraser Fencibles during the Irish Rebellion.
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2. Archibald, who was born in Edinburgh, and died un-

married in 1792.

3. Henry Emo, born in Algiers, and died on the 25th

of August, 1782, young and unmarried.

4. George, who died in infancy, in 178L

5. William Henry, who died, unmarried, on the 25th of

February, 1801.

Colonel the Hon. Archibald Campbell Fraser of Lovat

died on the 8th of December, 1815, the last male of his line,

having outlived all his children (his widow died on the 3rd of

September,. 1819), when the estates reverted to his kinsman,

XXI. THOMAS ALEXANDER FRASER, TENTH OF
STRICKEN, FOURTEENTH LORD LOVAT,

Grandfather of the present Peer, to whom (the male line

of the Frasers of Inverallochy and Brea having become

extinct) the succession of the House of Lovat opened up as

heir-male of the family, as also in terms of General Fraser's

settlement of 1774, and as heir of entail to the Hon. Archi-

bald Campbell Fraser, to whom he was served heir of tailzie

and provision on the 22nd of March, 18 16. On the 3rd of

November, 1823, he was served nearest and lawful heir-male

of the body of Hugh, fifth Lord Fraser of Lovat, grand-

father of Thomas Fraser of Knockie and Strichen ; nearest

and lawful heir-male of Hugh Lord Fraser of Lovat, grand-

nephew of Thomas Fraser of Beaufort, otherwise styled

Thomas Lord Fraser of Lovat ; and nearest and lawful

heir-male of Thomas Fraser of Beaufort, otherwise styled

Thomas Lord Fraser of Lovat, and grandfather of the Hon.

Archibald Fraser of Lovat. He was for many years Lord-

Lieutenant of the county of Inverness.

On the 28th of January, 1837, he was created a Peer

of the United Kingdom; and on the nth of August, 1857,

the Scottish title, forfeited in 1747—for which he petitioned

the Crown as far back as 1826, and which had been before

the House of Lords during the whole of that long interval

of 31 years—was finally restored to him. He also made a

new entail of the estate,
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Thomas, who was born in 1802, married, on the 6th of

August, 1823, Charlotte Georgina Dorothea, eldest daughter

of Sir George William Jerningham, Baronet, of Cossy Hall,

county of Norfolk, who on the removal by Act of Parlia-

ment passed on the 14th of June, 1824, of the attainder

of his ancestor, Lord Stafford, assumed the title of Baron

Stafford. By this lady, who died on the 28th of May, 1876,

Thomas Alexander Fraser of Lovat, had issue

—

1. Simon, his heir and successor.

2. Alastair Edward, late Lieutenant-Colonel Scots Fusilier

Guards. He was born on the 13th of January, 1831, and

married on the 13th of January, 1858, Georgina Mary, only

daughter of George F. Heneage of Hainton Hall, Lincoln-

shire, without issue. He served in the Crimean War in

1854, and was at the battles of Inkerman, Alma, Balaclava,

and the Siege of Sebastopoi and the sortie of the 26th of

October, for which he received a medal and clasps. In

May 1855, he was presented with the Crimean medal from

the hands of Her Majesty the Queen, after which he re-

turned to the scene of operations and remained there until

the conclusion of the war. He died on the 20th of Sep-

tember, 1885.

3. George Edward Stafford, born on the 17th of Feb-

ruary, 1834, and died at Edinburgh, on the 4th of May,

1854, unmarried.

4. Henry Thomas, late Lieutenant-Colonel Scots Fusilier

Guards, born on the 2nd of December, 1838, now residing

at Beaufort, unmarried.

5. Amelia Charlotte, who, on the 17th of September,

1846, married Charles Robert Scott Murray of Danesfield,

Buckinghamshire, with issue—three sons and three daughters.

6. Frances Georgina, who, on the 9th of May, 1844,

married Sir Pyers Mostyn, Baronet of Talacre, with issue

—

five sons and five daughters.

7. Charlotte Henrietta, who, on the 27th of November,

1866, married Sir Matthew Sausse, late Chief Justice of

Bombay. He died on the 4th of November, 1867.

His Lordship died on the 28th of June, 1875, when he
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was succeeded in the title and estates of Lovat by his

eldest son,

XXII. SIMON FRASER, FIFTEENTH
LORD LOVAT,

Who was born on the 21st of December, 1828. He was

Lord-Lieutenant of the county of Inverness from 1872 until

his death and Lieutenant-Colonel Commanding the Inver-

ness-shire Militia; a director of and latterly vice-chairman of

the Highland Railway Company. He married on the 14th

of November, 1866, Alice Mary, daughter of Thomas
Blundell of Ince Blundell, Lancashire, with issue

—

1. Simon Thomas Joseph, who was born on the 17th of

August, 1867, and died on the 28th of September, 1868.

2. Simon Joseph, now Lord Lovat.

3. Hugh Joseph, born on the 6th of July, 1874.

4. Alastair Joseph, born on the 1st of August, 1877.

5. The Hon. Mary Laura.

6. The Hon. Alice Mary Charlotte, who, on the 30th of

April, 1890, married the Hon. Bernard Constable Maxwell,

born on the 3rd of April, 1848, third son of William Con-

stable Maxwell, Lord Herries, and brother of the present

Peer, with issue—Ian Joseph, born on the 15th of April,

1 89 1 ; Ronald Tarligan Joseph, born on the 9th of July,

1892; and Gerald, born on the 8th of September, 1895.

7. The Hon. Ethel Mary.

8. The Hon. Margaret Mary Catherine.

9. The Hon. Muriel Rose Mary.

Lord Lovat died on 6th of September, 1887, when he

was succeeded by his eldest surviving son,

XXIII. SIMON JOSEPH FRASER, SIXTEENTH
AND PRESENT LORD LOVAT,

Who was born on the 25th of November, 1871, and in 1893

joined the First Life Guards. He disentailed the estates

after he came of age, in 1894, and they are now held

in fee-simple, and at his Lordship's absolute disposal. He
is still unmarried,
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THE FRASERS OF INVERALLOCHY.

I. Sir SlMON Fraser, first of this family, was the second

son of Simon, eighth Lord Lovat, and the eldest son of

his second marriage to Jean Stewart, daughter of James

Lord Doune, afterwards Earl of Moray. Lord Simon of

Lovat was twice married, first to Catherine, eldest daughter

of Colin Cam Mackenzie, XI. of Kintail, with issue—Hugh,

who succeeded him as ninth Lord, and Elizabeth, who
married John Dunbar of Cumnock and Westfield, Sheriff

of Moray. His Lordship married secondly Jean Stewart,

daughter of James Lord Doune, with issue— (i) Sir Simon,

the first of this family, and (2) Sir James Fraser of Brea,

of whose family presently. He had also three daughters.

On the 26th of July, 1616, Lord Simon received charters of

the manor of Philorth, the lands of Carnbulg, Innernoth, and

Inverallochy. On the 20th of December, the same year, the

lands of Inverallochy were erected into a barony called the

barony of Inverallochy, and were conveyed by his Lordship

and Jean Stewart, his spouse, to Sir Simon, their eldest son,

and his wife Jean Moncrieff; whom failing, to James Fraser,

his Lordship's youngest son, whom failing, to Lord Simon's

nearest and lawful male heirs whomsoever, bearing the arms

and surname of Fraser, being Lords of Lovat. The Inver-

allochy charter is to " Simoni Fraser, filio legitimo natu

maximo prefati n' ri consanguinei Symonis Domini Fraser

de Lovat inter ipsum et dictum Dominam Jeanem Stewart

ipsius conjugen, legitimi procreat." It has been observed

that in these two charters, relating to contracts of marriage,

provisions are made for the sons of a second marriage,

but no succession is allowed to the daughters, showing the

care with which the heads of the House always transmitted

the succession to the heirs male of the family.

It was already stated that Simon and his brother James

accompanied their father to Edinburgh in the summer of
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1616, when he went South to pay his respects to James

VI. on his return to Scotland, where he held a Parlia-

ment that year in the Scottish Capital, of which Lord

Simon was a member. The two boys, Simon and James,

the one nineteen years old, and the other in his

seventh year, were knighted by the King in the Palace of

Holyrood.

Having returned to the North, Sir Simon married Jean,

daughter of Sir William Moncrieff of Moncrieff, Baronet,

and resided at Bunchrew House, which was given him as a

residence by his father. He subsequently lived for about

two years at Inverallochy, but afterwards returned to Inver-

ness-shire. By his wife, Jean Moncrieff, Sir Simon had

issue—an only son, Simon.

Sir Simon and his wife having, in 1620, accompanied his

father and mother to Castle Stuart, in the parish of Petty, he

became so ill at that place that it was found quite impossible

to continue the journey to Lovat. He was therefore taken

to Dalcross Castle, erected by his father the same year,

where he was confined for several months, carefully attended

to by a skilled physician and the members of his own
family, but he died there universally lamented by all who
knew him. It was intended to have buried him with his

ancestors in the Priory of Beauly, but the River Ness

became so swollen that it partly carried away the bridge,

and it was found impossible to cross the immense multitude

that attended the funeral over it with safety. Lord Lovat

having obtained permission from the Cummings, Sir Simon

was interred in their burying-place in St. Catherine's aisle,

within the Rood Church, Inverness, where an elegant

monument was erected to his memory, and where his

mother, who did not long survive him, having died at Bun-

chrew, was at her own special request interred beside

her son.

Sir Simon's widow married, secondly, Robert, son of Sir

Thomas Burnett of Leys, in Aberdeenshire.

He was succeeded in his estates by his only son,

II. Simon Fraser, second of Inverallochy, who was

33
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served heir to his father on the 18th of February, 1635.*

*- <(h$S * He married,
1

with issue, an only son,

III. Simon Fraser, who is served heir in special to his

grandfather, Sir Simon, on the 3rd of May, 1659.! In

,
"") June, 1669 (marriage contract dated 12th and 13th), he

married Lady Marjory Erskine, second daughter of James,

seventh Earl of Buchan, and sister of William the eighth

Earl, last of the original line of the Earls of Buchan.

In 1673 Simon sold Bunchrew to Forbes of Culloden, -

who also purchased from him the lands of Ferintosh,

in the Black Isle, county of Ross. By his wife he had

issue

—

1. Alexander, who succeeded his father at Inverallochy.

2. William, who succeeded his brother Alexander.

He died before 1683, in which year, in the month of

September, his widow married, secondly, Charles, fourth

and last Lord Fraser of Castle Fraser, who, dying without

issue in 1720, left his estate to his step-grandson, W'illiam

Fraser, VI. of Inverallochy.

He was succeeded by his eldest son,

IV. Alexander Fraser, fourth of Inverallochy, who
was served heir to his father in these lands on the 7th of

October, 1696.$ He is on record as being alive in January,

1697, but he is dead before the 23rd of November, 1698,

He died without issue, and was succeeded by his only

brother,

V. William Fraser, fifth of Inverallochy, who was

served heir in special to his brother Alexander on the 23rd

of November, 1698. On the 1st of April, 1699, in an

edict of curatory, he calls in Alexander Fraser of Strichen as

one of his nearest of kin on the father's side and John, Earl

of Mar, and Alexander, Lord Pitsligo, his nearest of kin on

the mother's side. He married Lady Elizabeth, daughter of

Alexander, third Earl of Kellie, with issue

—

1. William, his heir and successor.

2. Charles, who succeeded his brother William.

* Ing. Ret. Lib., xiv., fo. 102. t Ibid. Lib., xxv. fol. 187.

% Sheriff Court Records of Aberdeen.
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3. A daughter, who married Alexander Fraser of Fraser-

field, with issue.

He died before February, 1717, and was succeeded by his

elder son,

VI. William Fraser, sixth of Inverallochy. On the

death of Charles, Lord Fraser of Muchal in 1720, without

issue, that title became extinct, and his step-grandson,

William Fraser of Inverallochy, "the head of a collateral

branch " succeeded by his Lordship's will to the Castle

Fraser estates. He died, without issue, at Millhill, Aber-

deenshire, on the 1 2th of July, 1749,* and was succeeded

by his only brother,

VII. Charles Fraser, seventh of Inverallochy, who
was served heir to his brother William on the 30th of

August, 1749. Like his father and ancestors before him

he was a strong Jacobite. His mother, Lady Elizabeth,

daughter of Alexander third Earl of Kellie, died at Inver-

allochy on the nth of December, I744.t Charles was on

the most intimate and confidential terms with Lord Simon

of the 'Forty-five, whom, failing issue of his own, he might

not unreasonably hope to succeed in the honours and estates

of Lovat. He and his second son William, his eldest son

Charles being then dead, are the first named in General

Simon Fraser's entail in 1774, outside his own family.

He married Anne, daughter of William Udney of

Udney, by his wife Martha, daughter of Alexander, first

Earl of Aberdeen, with issue

—

1. Charles, born on the 23rd of May, 1725, and killed at

Culloden, during the life of his father. When Lord Simon

sent out his men under the Master of Lovat in 1745 to join

Prince Charles, young Charles of Inverallochy was ap-

pointed Lieutenant-Colonel of the clan "in accordance with

the ancient Highland practice and the policy of Lord Lovat,

as being nearest in blood to the chiefship after the reigning

family." Charles was wounded at Culloden on the 16th of

April, 1746, and his brutal murder by order of the Duke
of Cumberland is thus described—" Riding over the field

* Scots Magazine. \ Ibid.
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attended by some of his officers, immediately after the

battle, the Duke observed a young wounded Highlander

resting on his elbow and staring at the ' Butcher ' and his

friends as they passed along. Cumberland asked the

wounded man to what party he belonged, when the youth

at once defiantly replied, 'To the Prince.' The 'Butcher'

instantly ordered Wolfe, one of his staff, ' to shoot me
that Highland scoundrel who thus dares to look on us with

so insolent a stare.' This officer, Major Wolfe, who after-

wards died so gloriously on the Heights of Abraham,

refused to execute the brutal order, saying that his com-

mission was at the disposal of his Royal Highness, but that

he would not consent to become his executioner. The
Duke asked several other officers in succession to pistol the

Highlander, but in every instance with a like result. He
then commanded one of his common soldiers to empty the

contents of his musket into Inverallochy's body, an order

which was immediately obeyed." It is said that the Butcher

Duke ever after frowned upon the heroic Wolfe for refusing

to carry out his cowardly command to shoot the gentle but

brave Highland youth in cold blood. He died unmarried.

2. William, who succeeded his father.

3. Simon, born on the 26th of May, 1732. He joined

General Simon Fraser in 1757, when he raised the Fraser

Highlanders, was appointed senior Captain, accompanied his

relative to America, was mortally wounded on the Heights

of Abraham, and died at Quebec on the 15th of October,

1759, unmarried. Thus, one brother, Charles, lost his life

fighting against the Hanoverian dynasty at Culloden, while

the other, Simon, was slain doing battle in defence of the

same dynasty in the neighbourhood of Quebec, under the

same distinguished officer who at Culloden refused to

execute the inhuman order given him by Cumberland to

imbrue his hands in the blood of Simon's eldest brother.

4. Martha, her brother William's co-heiress, who in 1747,

married Colin Mackenzie, VI. of Kilcoy, with issue, of

whom presently.

5. Eliza, also her brother's co-heiress. She died unmarried.
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Charles died in 1787, when he was succeeded by his

second and only surviving- son,

VIII. William Fraser, eighth of Inverallochy, served

heir to his father on the 13th of February, 1789.* He also

inherited the estates of Udney, through his mother, and

assumed the name of Udney of Udney. Residing chiefly

in England, he died unmarried in 1792, when the male line

of the family of Inverallochy became extinct, whereupon,

on the 6th of February, 1793, Martha Fraser or Mackenzie,

widow of Colin Mackenzie, VI. of Kilcoy, and Eliza Fraser,

daughter of the deceased Charles Fraser, VII. of Inver-

allochy, were served heir portioners in special to the late

William Fraser of Inverallochy and Castle Fraser, thereafter

William Udney of Udney, their brother german, in the

barony of Inverallochy,f the estate of Udney reverting to

the heir-male of that family.

Eliza Fraser died, unmarried, in 18 14, leaving to her

grand-nephew, Charles Mackenzie Fraser, the estate of

Castle Fraser, which she inherited from her brother, William

Fraser, VIII. of Inverallochy and Castle Fraser, who died

unmarried in 1792.

We shall now follow the female succession of this family.

As already stated, Colin Mackenzie, VI. of Kilcoy, married

in 1747 (marriage contract 28th of March),

IX. Martha Fraser of Inverallochy, with issue— (1)

Donald Mackenzie, who died young
; (2) Charles Mackenzie,

who succeeded his father in the estates as VII. of Kilcoy;

(3) Colin, Lieutenant in the 71st Regiment or Fraser High-

landers, killed in the American Seven Years War, without

issue ; and (4)

X. Alexander Mackenzie-Fraser, who succeeded

his mother on her death, in 1803, in her share of the Inver-

allochy estates, and assumed the additional name of Fraser

by Royal License, dated the 22nd of July in that year,

became the distinguished Lieutenant-General Alexander

Mackenzie-Fraser of Inverallochy, Colonel of the 78th

* Sheriff Court Records of Aberdeen. f Ibid.
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Regiment, raised by Francis Humberston Mackenzie, Lord

Seaforth, in 1793. He was member of Parliament for the

county of Cromarty, 1802-1806; for Ross-shire, 1806-1807
;

and again, 1807 until his death at Walcheren on the 13th

of September, 1809. He married in 1786, Helen, youngest

daughter of Major William Mackenzie, son of Colonel

Alexander Mackenzie of Assynt and Conansbay, son of

Kenneth Mor, third Earl of Seaforth, and sister of Francis

Humberston Mackenzie, Lord Seaforth, who died in 18 15,

the last male representative of his House. By her Lieu-

tenant-General Mackenzie-Fraser had issue

—

1. Charles Mackenzie-Fraser, his heir and successor.

2. Lieutenant-Colonel Frederick Alexander Mackenzie-

Fraser, who married, first, Emma Sophia, daughter of

Hume Macleod of Harris, with issue— (1) Frederick Charles,

who married, with issue—three sons, and died in 1877 ; (2)

Colin; and (3) Isabella, who died unmarried. He married

secondly, Georgina Augusta, daughter of the Hon. Sir

Charles Bagot, Governor-General of Canada. He was

Assistant Quarter-Master-General and Deputy Quarter-

Master-General in Canada in 1846, and died on the 24th

of October, 1848.

3. Marianne, who died unmarried.

4. Helen, who also died unmarried.

Lieutenant-General Alexander Mackenzie-Fraser, on his

death in 1809, was succeeded in the estates by his elder son,

XI. Colonel Charles Mackenzie-Fraser, eleventh

of Inverallochy, and on the death of his aunt Eliza, in 18 14,

he succeeded also to her estates of Castle Fraser. He was a

Captain in the Coldstream Guards, Colonel in the Ross-

shire Militia, and served in the Peninsula with the 52nd

Regiment in 1 808-1809. He represented the county of

Ross in Parliament from 18 14 to 18 18. Born on the 9th

of June, 1792, he married on the 25th of April, 1817, Jane,

fourth daughter of Sir John Hay, Baronet of Haystone and

Smithfield, with issue

—

1. Alexander Mackenzie-Fraser, who died, without issue,

in 1843.
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2. John Wingfield Mackenzie-Fraser, in the 60th Rifles,

born on the 13th of June, 1825, and died, without issue,

in 1846.

3. Charles Murray Mackenzie-Fraser, in the 82nd Regi-

ment, born on the 8th of December, 1827, and died in

1846, unmarried.

4. Francis Mackenzie-Fraser, R.N., born on the 19th of

June, 1827, and died unmarried in 1849.

5. Kenneth Mackenzie-Fraser, who died young, in 1836.

6. Frederick Mackenzie-Fraser, who succeeded his father

in the family estates.

7. Catherine, who died unmarried in 1856.

8. Mary Elizabeth, who died unmarried in 1847.

9. Eleanor Jane, who on the 6th of January, 1855,

married, as his second wife, the Right Rev. George Tom-
linson, D.D., first Bishop of Gibraltar, with issue—(i)

George Charles James Tomlinson, who was born on 16th

of April, 1857; (2) Eleanor Fraser Tomlinson; and (3)

Mary Elizabeth Tomlinson. Eleanor Jane died on the

22nd of October, 1858, and her husband, the Bishop, died

on the 6th of February, 1863.

10. Grace Harriet Mackenzie-Fraser, who died unmarried.

11. Augusta Charlotte, who, on the 25th of April, 1854,

married Robert Drummond, with issue—Charles, who in

1892, married Caroline, daughter of Colonel and Lady

Theresa Boyle ; Wingfield ; Kenneth ; and Sybil.

Colonel Charles Mackenzie-Fraser died on the 7th of

March, 1871, when he was succeeded in the estates by his

only surviving son,

XII. Lieutenant-Colonel Frederick Mackenzie-
Fraser, now of Inverallochy and Castle Fraser, late of the

8th Light Infantry, and of the 3rd Battalion Seaforth

Highlanders, Ross-shire Militia, Lieutenant-Colonel in her

Majesty's Reserve Forces. Born on the 4th of April, 1831,

he married, first, on the 24th of April, 1871, Lady Marie

Augusta Gabrielle Berengere Blanche Drummond, elder

daughter of George, fourteenth Earl of Perth and Melfort,

without issue. She died in 1874. He married, secondly, in
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1879, Theodora Lovett, daughter of William Henry Darby

of Leap Castle, King's County, Ireland, also without issue.

Sir Colin Mackenzie, Baronet, VIII. of Kilcoy, a descendant of

Sir Simon Fraser of Inverallochy, the eldest son of Lady Marjory

Erskine, daughter of James, seventh Earl of Buchan, claimed the

honour and dignity of that Earldom and the Barony of Auchterhouse,

on the ground that he was the nearest heir to the ancient feudal

Earldom, and that he could not be excluded from his right by blood

by any recognition of the Scottish Parliament of the title to Lord

Cardross, which was evidently inept. But on strict examination of

the Scottish Records it was discovered that Lady Marjory Fraser,

who had been designated by all the peerage writers of the day as

the eldest daughter of her father, was really the second daughter

;

an elder sister being Lady Margaret, who, as his second wife, married

Douglas of Brigton in the county of Forfar ; and in consequence

of this discovery Sir Colin Mackenzie did not further continue his

claim to the Earldom. It therefore follows that the remarks made
on page 587 of the History of the Mackenszes, second edition, so far

as the Kilcoy claim to these honours is concerned, but in that respect

only, are inaccurate.



THE FRASERS OF BREA.

I. Sir JAMES Fraser, first of Brea, was the second son

of Simon, eighth Lord Lovat, by his second wife, Jean

Stewart, daughter of James, Lord Doune, and immediate

younger brother of Sir Simon Fraser, first of Inverallochy.

He was born in 1610, and was knighted by James VI.,

along with his brother Sir Simon, while on a visit to Edin-

burgh in the summer of 1616, when only six years old.

He was liberally educated at home and abroad, became

a very capable man of business, and was most ambitious

—

inordinately so, according to the family chroniclers. During

the civil wars of his time he joined the Parliamentary party

against the Royalists, and induced his clan to follow his

example, his influence and authority proving of great ad-

vantage to the Covenanters.

In 1639, when the Marquis of Huntly, a keen opponent

of the Covenanters, sent William Gordon of Knockespeck

with provisions and ammunition, and a number of men, to

garrison the Castle of Inverness for the King, Sir James,

along with Thomas Fraser, Younger of Strichen, and others

gathered together, intercepted Gordon, seized his arms and

ammunition, fortified the Castle, and garrisoned it with

bodies of the Frasers, Mackenzies, Munroes, and other

Covenanting clans. When the Master of Lovat died in

Edinburgh in May, 1643, Sir James, as "one of the Frasers

of note" of his day, accompanied the leading men of his

clan to the Scottish Capital to attend the funeral, which

took place in the Chapel of Holyrood. He was made
Governor of the Castle of Inverness, and successfully held

it against all the efforts of Montrose to take it. He accom-

panied General Middleton when he pursued the Marquis
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through the Lovat territories, Montrose killing many of the

country people, pillaging and burning their houses and all

they possessed. On this occasion Sir James entertained

Middleton at Lovat, and afterwards conducted him across

the Ferry of Beauly, through the Black Isle, to the Chan-

onry of Ross, which at once surrendered to them. For

fuller details of his life, see pp. 169-184. He sold, while

in authority at the head of the clan, several of the Lovat

lands, including the baronies of Kinmylies and Kingillie,

the lands of Belladrum and Buntait. There are assigna-

tions and minutes signed between him and Sir Thomas
Urquhart of Cromarty in 1637, 1638, and 1639.

In the Valuation Roll for the counties of Inverness and

Ross in 1644 Sir James Fraser of Brea is returned for lands

in the parish of Inverness to the value of £133 6s 8d ; in

Kiltarlity .£190; in Kilmorack .£375; and in Cullicudden,

county of Ross, £1573 6s 8d—a total of £22"] 1 13s 4d,

all Scots money.

Sir James married Beatrix, daughter of Wemyss of

Fairkley, in Fife. In 1647 Dame Beatrix Wemyss, Lady

Brea, discharges Alexander Fraser, servitor to the Tutor

of Strichen, of the custom wedders of Moniack. By this

lady he had issue

—

1. James, his heir and successor.

2. David of Mayne. This David appears to have had a

son—Simon. Of this latter the notorious Simon of Lovat

writes in 1699 that as soon as King William had signed

" this unlimited pardon " to himself, " Lord Lovat dispatched

his cousin, Simon, son of David Fraser of Brea, express,

in order to cause the Great Seal of Scotland to be affixed

to it. But whether this cousin, who is an unnatural traitor,

and a rascal worthy of the gallows, had at that time sold his

chief for the money of Lord Atholl, as he repeatedly did

afterwards, or the timidity of Lord Seafield induced him to

stop this pardon in its passage through the remaining forms,

this much is certain, that the pardon executed in Holland

was suppressed."* It has been already seen that the pardon

* Memoirs of his Life, by himself, p. 105.
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was not an unlimited one in its original form. In a letter to

Brigadier-General Grant, dated the 8th of January, 1 7 1 5,

Lord Lovat speaks of him as " Simon, David of Brea's son,"

and as that " villain Simon who always sold his blood and

honour for some pennies of money from Atholl and Preston-

hall," and says that "that villain is unnatural and ungrateful

to a strange pitch, for, after all his knavery in Scotland, I

kept him from starving in France after his being made

prisoner at Almanza."*

3. Jean, who married Major George Bateman, without

issue, and with her received the lands of Dalcross as her

marriage portion.

4. A daughter who married Hector Munro of Drummond,
brother of Munro of Fowlis, with issue—a daughter, who
married David Cuthbert of Drakies.

5. A daughter who married Mr Mackay.

6. Magdalen, who married George Cuthbert of Castlehill.

7. A daughter who married David Cuthbert, brother of

George Cuthbert of Castlehill, without issue.

Sir James died at Lovat on the 6th of December, 1649,

when entering upon his fortieth year, and was buried with

great military honours, when he was succeeded by his

elder son,

II. The Rev. James Fraser, second of Brea, who was

a great Covenanter, and suffered various persecutions and

imprisonments for conscience's sake. He was born at Brea

on the 29th of July, 1639, was well educated, possessed

good talents, and became one of the leading Covenanting

ministers of his time. His Memoirs, written by himself,

have passed through at least seven editions, and they

" present us with a simple but vivid sketch of a mind deeply

imbued with vital piety and the force of truth." In the

Rental of the Bishopric of Ross in 1695 appears this

entry :
—" Bray—The Laird of Bray pays for the lands of

Cullicudden and Woodhead twixt money and price of

customs, £141 14s 1 id Scots"; as also "Pitkylen—The

seven oxgate of Pitkylen, belonging some time to James

- * Chiefs of Grant, vol. ii.
, p. -s6Sr
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Fraser, pays twixt money and price of customs, £35 13s

Scots." Brea was in the parish of Kirkmichael, now Re-

solis, in the Black Isle, county of Ross.

The Rev. James in his earlier years intended to have

studied for the Bar, but he departed from his intention, de-

voted himself to the more congenial study of Divinity, and

was ultimately licensed by the Field Presbytery of Moray,

a body composed of ejected ministers who had constituted

a Presbytery for that district, about 1672. In August of

the following year he was intercommuned, a process

hitherto applied only to murderers and traitors. To quote

his own words, he was " reproached, oppressed, and

wronged, intercommuned, troubled with citations before

courts on that account, wandering from place to place

many times for fear of my life, imprisoned, fined, and

banished, and threatened with death itself." He continued

at liberty under this ban for several years, and was one

of three for whose apprehension a considerable money
reward was offered, simply because he continued to preach

without the Bishop's authority. He was, however, treacher-

ously apprehended in a friend's house in Edinburgh on the

28th of January, 1677, sent to prison for the night, brought

before the Council next evening, sent back to jail, and the

following morning to the Bass Rock, where he was kept

prisoner from January, 1677, until July, 1679. He was

brought before the Council again in 168 1, and was sen-

tenced to Blackness prison, to be confined there until he

should pay a fine of 5000 merks, and give security not to

preach any more, or banish himself out of Scotland. He
was first confined for six weeks in the common jail of

Edinburgh, from which he was sent to Blackness, where he

remained for seven weeks longer, when, on the supplication

of his brother-in-law and other friends, he was set at liberty

on condition that he should leave the Kingdom. Having

been allowed a month to set his private affairs in order

he left for London in the end of May, 1682, arriving there

on the 16th of June following.

On the 21st of July, 1683, he was again apprehended and
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sentenced to six months' imprisonment in Newgate for

refusing to take the Oxford oath, by which he was bound,

among other things, to make no endeavour to bring about

any change in Church or State. This was impossible for

an honest Non-Conformist Presbyterian minister while Epis-

copacy, against which he had been fighting all his life, was

rampant in Scotland. He ultimately found his way back

to his native land, and was eventually admitted minister of

Culross. He was subsequently appointed to Inverness,

but died at Culross, in 1698, before his induction to the

new charge.

The lands of Brea, which had been apprised from Sir

James, the father, became the property of Hector Munro
of Obsdale, who by disposition dated the 29th of March,

167 1, conveyed them to James Fraser, "son and heir" to

Sir James Fraser.

In the valuation roll of 1691 the Laird of Brea is returned

for the lands of Mayne and Crives in Kiltarlity at ^93 6s

8d, and for the lands of Dalcross and Kengie at £190.

The Rev. James Fraser, in July, 1672, married Miss

Gray, with issue

—

1. Jean, who, in 1698, married, as his second wife, Hugh
Rose, fifteenth Baron of Kilravock, with surviving issue —
one son, James Rose, who succeeded to the lands of Brea.

He was Commissary of Inverness, and Sheriff-Substitute of

of the county of Nairn. He married Margaret, daughter of

John Rose of Braidley. Jean Fraser of Brea died in 1699.*

2. A daughter who married the Rev. Mr Burnet, minister

of Falkirk.

His wife died in October, 1676, and, as already stated, he

died before April, 1698, without male issue, when the

estates of the family went, in terms of the marriage contract,

to James Rose, the husband_of his elder daughter.

This is conclusively proved by a summons of exhibition,

dated and signed on the 28th and 29th of September, 1726,

at the instance of "James Rose, only child in life procreat

betwixt Hugh Rose of Kilravock and Mrs Jean Fraser,

*Kilravock Papers, p. 382.
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eldest lawful daughter of Mr James Fraser of Brea." The
summons sets forth that by contract of marriage between

the said James' father and mother the said Hugh Rose, in

consideration of the tocher carried to him by his wife, Jean

Fraser of Brea, obliged himself (should there be only one

son existing of the said marriage who should attain the age

of 21 years complete) to make payment to such son of the

sum of twenty thousand merks Scots, and also to assign to

him all lands, tenements, and other subjects to be acquired

by him by conquest during the marriage. The pursuer

being the "only son" and "child of the marriage" then in

life, and having attained to the age of 28 years, concludes

against his father, Hugh Rose, for the payment of the

twenty thousand merks, and for conveyance to him of the

lands of Brea, Craighouse, Cullicudden, Crochiels, and

others, conquest acquired by the said Hugh Rose of Kil-

ravock from the said James Fraser of Brea. From this it is

clear that the direct male heirs of the Rev. James Fraser were

extinct, James Rose, in right of his mother, having suc-

ceeded to his estates. And this is further confirmed by the

fact that in an edict of curatory, dated the 1st of April,

1698, the year in which the Rev. James Fraser of Brea died,

William Fraser of Inverallochy, calls in Lord Fraser of

Muchal and Alexander Fraser of Strichen as two of his

nearest of kin on the father's side ;* which he probably

would not have done had any male descendants of Sir

James Fraser of Brea been known at the time to be in life,

for they would have been nearer of kin had any existed than

either the family of Muchal or Strichen. It would have

been noticed at pp. 496-497, 503-504 that in the entail by

General Simon Fraser in 1774, and particularly in the settle-

ments made by the Hon. Archibald Campbell Fraser in

1808, 181 1, and 1812, the descendants of Sir James Fraser

of Brea are not mentioned, which in all probability would

not have been the case had any male representative of that

branch been then known to exist ; for they would naturally

be called in before the more remote branches of Strichen,

* Records ofthe Sheriff Court ofAberdeen,



THE FRASERS OF BREA. 527

Struy, Belladrum, and Farraline, since the expressly avowed

objects of Archibald's settlements were to preserve the

succession to the estates along- with the title in the direct

male line, by substituting the heirs according to their

propinquity to the main stem. But one cannot forget the

fact that Ardachy was passed over in these entails, though

coming immediately after Strichen in propinquity ! And
it is clear that David, the second son of the Rev. James

Fraser of Brea, had a son, Simon, who, according to Lord

Simon, was alive in 171 5, and who, so far as known, has

never been accounted for, beyond the statement in the

Wardlaw manuscript that " Brea is away from Sir James'

heirs, and therewith his memory, having no issue male to

represent him." But at that date, and much later, it is

known that he had male issue and that his grandson,

Simon, was living in 17 15, and probably much later.



e

THE FRASERS OF STRICHEN.

I. THOMAS Fraser, first of Knockie and then Strichen,

second son of Alexander, seventh Lord Lovat, was the pro-

genitor of this family, whose male representative became
heir male of the Frasers of Lovat on the death of the Hon.

Archibald Fraser on the 8th of December, 1815, and had the

Scottish honours of the family restored to him in 1857. Alex-

ander, the seventh Lord, married Jane, daughter of Sir John

Campbell of Calder, with issue—(1) Hugh, who succeeded

to the title and estates in 1568, and (2) Thomas of Knockie,

the ancestor of this family, who is referred to in the original

charter of Meikle Ballythayrnack and Knockie, granted by

his father, Alexander the seventh Lord, as "
fili nostro

Thomas Fraser ; et heredibus suis masculis de corpore suo

legit, procreandis
;

quibus forte deficien. Jacobo Fraser

filio nostro Juniori et heredibus suis masculis de corpore

suo legite procreand." This charter is dated the 24th of

September, 1557. Thomas of Knockie became tutor-at-law

to Simon, ninth Lord Lovat, on the death of Lord Hugh
on the 1st of January, 1576-77. He is described in the

Scots Acts of 1560 as Sir Thomas Fraser, and as Tutor of

Lovat, as also in the Records of the Court of Justiciary for

1576. The dispute between him and William Fraser of

Struy regarding the Tutorship, the manner in which it was

settled, and how the duties of the office had been performed,

have already been described at length (pp. 121-133), and

his conduct in that responsible position was such that for

generations afterwards he was spoken as par excellence, " the

Good Tutor of Lovat." He is retoured as Tutor-in-law

on the 18th of March, 1576-77, and on the 22nd of the

same month, John Earl of Argyll, became surety that he

would administer the office to the benefit of his ward,
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Simon, son and heir of Hugh Lord Lovat. Thomas is

repeatedly on record during his Tutorship. On the 26th

of April, 1585, is registered at the instance of Simon Lord

Fraser of Lovat and others, his curators, a contract entered

into at Beauly in November, 1575, between Hugh Lord

Fraser of Lovat, his father, regarding certain feu-duties

which Knockie had to pay from the lands of Farnlye and

Urquhane. Another contract dated the 22nd of May,

1585, between Thomas Fraser of Knockie, Tutor of Lovat,

and a certain Henry Lindsay, is still preserved in the family

charter chest. In 1598 the same Thomas and John Grant

of Grant were curators for the Laird of Calder.

The following interesting account is given of the manner

in which Thomas Fraser, until then of Knockie in Strath-

errick, acquired the estate of Strichen in Aberdeenshire, a

property which comprehends the whole parish of Strichen

and parts of the adjoining parishes of Fraserburgh and Old

Deer. It contains several fine plantations, and around

Strichen are a great number of very fine old trees. Thomas
was actively engaged in the performance of his duties as

Tutor of Lovat when the widow of Thomas Fraser, a son

of Alexander Fraser of Philorth, asked for his assistance

against certain members of the Gordon family. The widow

was a lady named Isabel, the daughter of Forbes of Cor-

furdie, who had been previously married to William

Chalmers, then in the nominal possession of the lands of

Strichen. This William's elder brother, George Chalmers,

had long been abroad, and there was no hope of his re-

turning ; in fact William died in possession of the estate,

and some time afterwards the widow married as her second

husband Thomas Fraser, son of Alexander Fraser of Phil-

orth, and assumed the designation of " Strichen." But

certain members of the Chalmers family, naturally unwilling

to see their inheritance going away from them to a stranger,

and after several more or less friendly conferences had been

held without any satisfactory settlement being arrived at,

they threatened to dispossess Fraser by force. The
Chalmers appealed to Gordon of Gight to come to their

34
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assistance. He and Thomas Fraser met at Old Deer with

the view of arranging some compromise, but no agreement

was arrived at, each treating the proposals of the other with

stern resistance, if not contempt. They then parted, but

Gordon in a rage followed Fraser unobserved, and coming

close up behind him at the Bridge of Dee laid him low

and slew him with one blow from his sword. Isabel

Forbes, now a widow for the second time, to avenge her

cause and the death of her husband, detailed her woes to

another Thomas Fraser—the Tutor of Lovat—who listened

to her story, used all his interest and influence in her behalf,

and in spite of the strong opposition of the Earl of Huntly,

the powerful head of the house of Gordon, he succeeded in

getting Gight, his Lordship's near kinsman, condemned and

imprisoned, but he ultimately agreed to his release on his

payment to the widow of 5000 merks "as an assythement"

for the murder of her husband. Gordon was afterwards

slain at the battle of Glenlivet.

It was now Fraser of Knockie's turn to play the suitor

;

the widow in gratitude for the valuable services which he

had been able to render her agreed to marry him, and the

ceremony was duly carried out. In order to prevent future

disputes Knockie purchased the claims of the Chalmers

family on his wife's estate, and then proceeded to arrange

matters with the two • daughters of her second husband,

Thomas Fraser ; for she does not appear to have had any

children by William Chalmers. The first Thomas Fraser

was killed by Gordon of Gight on the 24th of December,

1576, as appears from the original retour to his daughters,

dated the 1st of September, 1589, and preserved in the

Strichen charter chest. The widow enjoyed the life rent,

the fee being left to the children of the marriage, as appears

by a Crown charter, dated the 8th of October, 1573, on

which sasine passed on the 5th of November in the same

year.* A gift of the ward, marriage, relief, and non-entry

of the lawful heirs of Thomas Fraser, the second husband,

* The charter is recorded in the Register of the Great Seal, Lib. XXXIV.,

and the sasine is in the family charter chest.
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1

is made by the King-

to Alexander Hay, Clerk-Registrar,

who assigns the same "with haill effects thereof" to Alex-

ander Fraser of Philorth on the 13th of February, 1578.

In order to carry out effectually the arrangements he had

in view Thomas Fraser of Knockie, after having married

their mother as her third husband, entered into a contract

with Catherine and Violet Fraser, the heirs of his wife's

second marriage on the one part, and Alexander Fraser of

Philorth, the donator to the ward, marriage, non-entry, and

relief, of the two ladies, on the other part, on the following

narrative—" For so much that the said Catherine and Violet

are now in perfect years to be married and they cannot

goodly be provided according to their ranks in honourable

marriages by reason the said Isabel Forbes, their mother,

is life-rentrix of their whole lands and of young years, so

that rests little or nothing wherewith they may be publicly

tochered, except the expectation of their lands after the

decease of their said mother," they therefore became bound,

with the consent of Alexander Fraser of Philorth, to be

served heirs to their deceased father in the lands of Strichen

and immediately to divest themselves of the same in favour

of their father-in-law, Thomas Fraser of Knockie, "and his

heirs-male lawfully begotten between him and the said

Isabel Forbes, their mother, whom failing to his heirs and

assignees whomsoever " ; and in respect Violet was a minor

she was to choose curators, and have her engagements

approved of. In consideration of these stipulations Alex-

ander Fraser of Philorth was to be paid 12,000 merks for

the transference of his rights ; Catharine accepted the sum
of 5000 merks Scots " for tochering and providing of her an

honourable marriage," and Violet Fraser, the sum of 3500

merks for "advancement of her to the like marriage and

life ; and the said Thomas and Isabel oblige them and their

foresaids to honourably sustain in meat and clothes the said

Catharine and Violet until their lawful marriages." The
contract is dated the 8th of August, 1589, and a decree of

the Sheriff Court of Aberdeen, dated the 23rd of the same

month, declares that the selling of the lands of Strichen by
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the young ladies to their father-in-law was a profitable trans-

action to them. It is registered at Edinburgh in June, 1615.

In order to complete the transaction fully, the two girls

were served heirs to their father on the 1st of September,

1589, and infeft in the lands, and by a charter dated the

ioth of the same month, they, with consent of Violet's

curators, for ever dispone to " Thomas Fraser of Knockie "

the whole lands and barony of Strichen. He was infeft

accordingly on the 13th, and thereafter assumed the de-

signation of " Fraser of Knockie and Baron of Strichen,"

or Fraser of Knockie and Strichen. He subsequently

obtained a ratification from Violet and her curators of her

conveyance to him and got both the sisters to concur in a

resignation of the estate in his favour, whereupon he expede

a Crown charter of the same to himself, and was infeft

in the whole barony of Strichen on the 8th of December,

1 591. But still apprehensive of danger, and determined

to make his title as complete as it was possible to make it,

he demanded a judicial ratification from the two sisters after

both of them attained majority, ratified by a decree of their

ages. This was acquiesced in and his right to the estate of

Strichen was incontestably acknowledged by a deed under

Violet Fraser's own hand in December, 1593.

In 1592 Catherine Fraser married William Forbes of

Corsinday, with the consent of her mother, father-in-law,

and other friends. In 1593 her sister Violet married James
Sutherland of Duffus, marriage contract dated the 6th and

9th of December in that year.

Alexander Fraser of Philorth discharges Thomas Fraser

of Knockie of ^200 Scots in full payment of his assignation

to the ward and relief of Catherine and Violet, on the 16th

of August, 1590. On the 30th of May, 1592, Violet Fraser

discharges Knockie from a part of her tocher and in the

receipt for the same he is designated "ane honourable man,

Thomas Fraser, now of Strichen, her father-in-law," and

on the ioth of May, 1594, he is granted a full discharge for

the whole, 3500 merks, by Violet and her husband, James
Sutherland of Duffus,
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Tn March 1595, William Forbes of Corsinday and Cath-

arine Fraser, his wife, discharge Thomas Fraser of Knockie

of 5000 merks, being the whole amount of the tocher which

he had agreed to pay to her, in exchange for her rights

in the lands of Strichen. The same year he is named as

one of the arbiters in a deed of submission between Simon,

eighth Lord Lovat and John Grant of Freuchie, dated the

13th of September.*

Thomas has the following charters and writs among many
others. One of the lands of Urchany and Fairlie from

Hugh Lord Lovat in favour of his brother Thomas Fraser

of Knockie, dated the 5th of November, 1575, and the gift

from the same of the ward and non-entry duties of Strath-

glass and others on the 16th of February, 1576; a tack by

the Vicar of Bonacht, or Bona, of the teinds in 1580; and

by the Vicar of Abertarff of his teinds on the 31st of March

in the same year. He has a charter of Kinmylies from

Simon, eighth Lord Lovat, to himself and his spouse in

which they were both infeft on the 15th of May, 1588 ; and

by a deed dated 1590-91 the same Lord Simon exempts his

uncle Thomas Fraser and his tenants from his Lordship's

jurisdiction in Inverness-shire. On the 27th of November,

1588, he has a charter by Lord Simon of the lands of

Ballichernoch, and another dated the 26th of February to

himself and Isabel Forbes, his spouse, of Ballichernoch,

Urchany, Knockie, and Fairlie. In 1606 he executed a

document entitled, "Thomas Fraser of Strichen, his advice

and counsel to Thomas Fraser, his son, to be prosecut by

him in caice it pleis God that he happen to be the longest

levar."f His wife, Isabel Forbes, died on the 30th of

November, 161 1, and was buried at Beauly. By her he

had issue

—

1. Thomas, his heir and successor.

2. Jean, who married Sir James Stuart of Newton.

She is referred to in an instrument of resignation of

* Chiefs of Grant, vol. iii., p. 195.

t All the charters and writs referred to in the text were preserved in the

Strichen charter chest.
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Ballichernoch, Knockie, Dallachcappil, Urchany, and Fairlie

by Jean Fraser and her husband, Sir James Stuart, knight,

in favour of Thomas Fraser of Knockie and Strichen, her

father, dated the 3rd of May, 1606; and again in a charter

of the same lands by Simon Lord Lovat, the Quequidem of

which narrates that the lands formerly belonged to Jean

Fraser, eldest daughter of Thomas Fraser and Isabel Forbes

his spouse, and wife of James Stuart of Newton, knight.

3. Magdalen, who, in June 1603, married Hugh Rose,

XII. of Kilravock, with issue—an only son, Hugh, who
carried on the succession, and a daughter, who died young.

"This Magdalen Fraser was a good, religious, and virtuous

woman. She was one that, with good countenance, and

great discretion, did entertain comers to the family, whereto

in her time there was a great resort."* She is mentioned

in a charter of the two part lands of Saithly by Thomas
Fraser of Knockie and Isabel Forbes, dated the 24th of

October, 1593, in favour of Magdalen Fraser, their second

daughter.

Thomas Fraser of Knockie and Strichen died at Inver-

ness on the 2nd of October, 161 2, in the 67th year of

his age, when he was succeeded by his only son,

II. Thomas Fraser, second of Strichen, in which he

was served heir to his father on the 31st of October, 161 2,

infeft on a precept from Chancery on the 10th of November,

and had a precept of clare constat from Simon Lord Lovat

as heir to his father in the lands of Ballichernoch, Knockie,

and others, on the 10th of December, all in the same year.

On the 22nd of February, 1614, Thomas Fraser of

Strichen, son and heir of the umquhile Thomas Fraser of

Knockie and Strichen, inhibits Catherine Fraser and her

husband, William Forbes of Corsinday.

By contract of marriage, dated June, 1606, during the

life of his father, Thomas Fraser, son and apparent heir of

Thomas Fraser, first of Strichen and Isabel Forbes, is to take

to wife Christian Forbes of Tolquhoun, and to solemnise the

marriage before the 1st of August immediately thereafter.

* Kilravock Papers, p. 89.



THE FRASERS OF STRICHEN. 535

The lady's dowry is fixed at 8000 merks Scots, to be paid

by her father to the father of young Fraser, within the

Parish Kirk of Elgin by equal halves, on the 9th of Novem-
ber, 1606, and on the 22nd of May, 1607. The parents of

bride and bridegroom are principals to the contract, and

Thomas Fraser, the father, becomes bound to infeft the

young couple in the fee of the estate of Strichen, reserving

the life-rent to himself and his wife. He also agrees to let

to his son and his intended bride the lands of Moniack in

the lordship of Lovat and the lands of Knockie in the

parish of Abertarff and Sheriffdom of Inverness, for the

payment of one penny Scots per annum.

On the 17th of October, 1616, Simon Lord Lovat grants

him a tack of the lands of Wester Moniack, on which in-

feftment follows on the 23rd of October in the same year.

He has a Crown charter, on his own resignation, dated the

10th of March, 1618, destining the barony of Strichen to

himself and his heirs-male, with the burden of a life-rent to

Christian Forbes, his wife, and sasine follows thereon on the

6th of June the same year. In 1620 Simon Lord Lovat

mortgaged Kinmylies, Fanellan, and Kingillie, to Thomas

Fraser of Strichen. He has another charter to himself and

his wife, dated the nth of July, 1622, "dimidiat villae et

terrarum de Easter Moniack," in Inverness-shire ; and one

dated the 24th of June, 1624, "dimidiat terrarum de Mon-
iack cum jure patronatus Ecclesiaram de Inverness at

Bonachie." In the previous year, 1623, Lord Spynie,

patron of Bona, disponed his right thereto to Thomas
Fraser of Strichen, who as vice-patron thereof presented

to that living in 1640 the Rev. John Annand, before it

was united to the parish of Inverness by Decree of Plat.

In 1632, he was by Royal Commission appointed Sheriff

of Inverness, an office which he held, with the exception of

one or two years of an interval, down to 1643. At this

period the office of Sheriff appears to have been held during

the King's pleasure, for it is found that when held for

several years in succession, as in the present case, the

appointment was made annually by the regular renewal
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of his Majesty's commission. Thomas is mentioned in an

Obligation by Mary Grant and Dame Mary Ogilvy, dated

the 13th of June, 1643.

The lands and Castle of Wester Moniack, at one time

their seat, were subsequently for a long time the property

of the Frasers of Strichen, and until a comparatively late

period, when they were sold to Lord Simon of the 'Forty-

five. This Thomas resided mostly at Kinmylies, near

Inverness.

Thomas Fraser married first, in terms of the contract

already quoted, Christian, eldest daughter of William

Forbes of Tolquhoun, with issue

—

1. Thomas, his heir and successor.

2. Hugh, who is referred to in a contract, dated 1640,

between the Laird of Strichen and his son Hugh anent the

discharge of his life-rent of the lands of Tyrie and Forrest,

and in an Obligation dated the 7th of September, 1643, by

Hugh Fraser of Easter Tyrie, second son of Thomas Fraser

of Strichen, to his father, relative to the Moss of Menzie.

He married, secondly, Margaret Macleod, widow of Sir

Roderick Mackenzie of Coigach, Tutor of Kintail. The

contract of marriage is dated the 4th of August, 1628, and

the day after he granted her in life-rent the lands of Little

Ballichernoch and Terrichernican. Having had no issue

by his second wife, he died, according to the date named in

the service of his grandson, in March 1645, when he was

succeeded by his eldest son,

III. Thomas Fraser, third of Strichen. On the 4th

of November, 1628, during the life of his father, a contract

was concluded between Thomas Fraser, elder of Strichen,

as taking burden upon him for Thomas Fraser, his eldest

lawful son and apparent heir, and by the son for himself, on

the one part, and Alexander Forbes of Pitsligo, taking

burden upon him for his sister Christian Forbes, and by the

said Christian herself, on the other part, in terms of which

in view of a marriage between the elder Strichen's son

Thomas and Pitsligo's sister Christian, and of her tocher

of 14,400 merks Scots to be paid by Pitsligo, Thomas
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Fraser the elder, dispones in favour of the young couple

and the heirs-male of their body, all the lands and barony

of Strichen ; and for their better accommodation he further

"binds himself, with all convenient diligence to build or

cause to be built upon the Mains of Kindrochit, where the

same shall be found most commodious, a sufficient house of

stone and lime, with hall and chambers for their present

easement, to be thatched for the present with divots, but

shall be obliged to cause slate the same within three years."

On the 5th of November, that is on the following day,

Thomas Fraser, heir apparent of Thomas Fraser of Strichen,

and Christian Forbes, daughter of the deceased John Forbes

of Pitsligo, " his future spouse," were infeft in the lands and

barony in fulfilment of the contract of marriage entered into

on the previous day.* On the 17th of February, 1632, he

received a charter of feu-farm as Thomas Fraser, Younger

of Strichen, from Simon Lord Lovat of the lands of Mon-
iack, and on the same date he has a tack from his Lordship

of the teind sheaves of Wester Moniack.f

In the charter chest of Strichen there are several dis-

charges by Alexander Fraser, Tutor of Lovat, from 1646

until his death in 1670 in favour of the family of Strichen

for the tack and feu duties of Killin, Moniack, and other

lands in the county of Inverness. In fact, in the Valuation

Roll of the Sheriffdom of Inverness in 1644, the following

entries are found against Thomas Fraser of Strichen :—For

lands in Boleskine and Abertarff, a rental of £500 16s 8d
;

in Wardlaw, ^425 ; in Dunlichity, ^193 6s 8d ; and in

Kilmorack, ,£300.

He took part, along with Sir James Fraser of Brea,

during the life of his father, in intercepting the reinforce-

ment which the Marquis of Huntly was sending to the

Castle of Inverness in February, 1639, against the Coven-

anters, when they seized William Gordon of Knockespeck,

the leader of Huntly 's party, relieved him of his arms and

ammunition, with which they fortified the Castle, and

* Particular Register of Sasines of Aberdeenshire, vol. vi., p. 304.

t Strichen Charter Chest.
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garrisoned it with bodies of the Frasers and other Covenant-

ing clans, as related under the family of Lovat at p. 168.

Thomas, as already stated, married Christian, daughter of

John Forbes of Pitsligo, with issue

—

1. Thomas, his heir and successor.

2. Christian, who married Alexander Burnett of Craig-

mill—marriage contract dated the 5th of June, 1649, along

with papers relating to her marriage portion.

He died in 1656, and was succeeded by his only son,

IV. Thomas Fraser, fourth of Strichen, who, on the

15th of January, 1657, expedes a special service as heir

of his grandfather in the lands of Strichen and Balla-

chraggan, the half of Easter Moniack, the patronage of

the Church of Bona, the lands of Ballichernoch, Dalacha-

pale, and Knockie, in the shire of Inverness; the half of

the lands of Easter Moniack "being holden immediately of

his Highness, the Lord Protector of the Commonwealth "

—

Oliver Cromwell.

He was infeft in the lands and barony of Strichen on the

14th of May in the same year, in virtue of a precept from

Chancery in name of " Oliver, Lord Protector of the Com-
monwealth of England, Scotland, and Ireland." On the

7th of August, 1672, he executed a procuratory of resigna-

tion for new infeftment of the same lands in favour of

himself in life-rent and of Alexander Fraser, his eldest

lawful son and his heirs-male, in fee, as also for new
infeftment of the lands of Kindrochit, a part of Strichen,

in favour of his wife, Marion Irvine, during her lifetime.

On the 19th of November, 1676, a Crown charter followed

on this resignation.

He married Marion, daughter of Robert Irvine of Fed-

derat (marriage contract dated 1656), with issue

—

1. Alexander, his heir and successor, and other children.

He died in 1687, and was succeeded by his eldest son,

V. Alexander Fraser, fifth of Strichen. He was,

on the 30th of March, 1677, infeft along with his father and

mother, each of them for their respective rights, on the

precept in the Crown charter of the 19th of November,
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1676, referred to under the last head. He also, on the

1 6th of January, 1688, as heir of his late father, received

a precept of clare constat from the Earl of Mar of the two

parts of Saithly, and was infeft in the same on the 16th

of May thereafter. This is the Alexander Fraser of Strichen

whom William Fraser, V. of Inverallochy, on the 1st of

April, 1699, calls in an edict of curatory one of his nearest

of kin on the father's side, although he seems to have been

four or five times removed.

He married, first, a daughter of Cockburn of Ormiston,

without issue ; and secondly, the Hon. Emilia Stewart,

second daughter of James Lord Doune, eldest son and

apparent heir of Alexander, sixth h,arl of Moray (marriage

contract July, 1697), with issue —
1. James, his heir and successor.

2. Alexander, who succeeded his brother James.

3. Thomas, of whom nothing is known.

4. Marion, who married James Craig, advocate, Professor

of Civil Law in the Edinburgh University (marriage con-

tract dated 26th of March, 17 15.)

His widow married secondly, John, sixteenth Earl of

Crawford.

Alexander- died in 1702, when he was succeeded by

his eldest son,

VI. JAMES FRASER, sixth of Strichen, who was served

heir to his father as his eldest son by Lady Emilia Stewart

on the 16th of April, 1702. He died unmarried before

1725, and was succeeded by his next brother,

VII. Alexander Fraser, seventh of Strichen, who
was served heir general to his brother James on the 14th

of August, 1725. He studied for the Bar, and became an

able advocate. On the 5th of June, 1730, he was appointed

a Lord of Session, and in 1736 a Lord of Justiciary. He
also held, according to Chambers' Traditions of Edinburgh,

the office of General of the Scottish Mint. He was infeft in

the barony of Strichen on the 4th of May, 1732, on a

Crown charter dated the 12th of February in the same

year, and on the 5th of February, 1759, he executed a
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disposition of these lands and others in favour of himself

in life-rent and of Alexander Fraser, "his only son," by the

now deceased Ann Countess of Bute his spouse, in fee.

Lord Strichen occupied a seat on the Scottish Bench fot

the extraordinary long period of forty-five years, and at the

time of the great Douglas cause in 1768, he was then by

twenty-four years of longer standing than any of his col-

leagues. He is said to have been one of the judges who
sat in the famous case of Effie Deans as far back as 1736.

On his appointment as Lord of Justiciary in that year he

attended the autumn circuit at Inverness and was met by

his kinsman Simon Lord Lovat a few miles before he

entered the town, attended by a numerous retinue, to pay

him special honour and congratulate him on his new dignity.

He had a Crown charter of the lands and barony of

Lentran, which had been disponed to him by the same

Simon Lord Lovat, dated the nth of February, 1741.

There were several plantations of fir and forest in the

parish of Strichen made and planted by his Lordship, which

from the effect of contrast " make a great addition to the

beauty of the place in a country where there is little wood/'

Among these plantations there were a great many fine old

trees supposed to have been planted about the beginning

of the seventeenth century, 150 circles having been counted

on some which had been cut down about the middle of last

century. Dr Johnson saw some of the remaining ones

when on his famous tour, and referring to them Boswell

says, "that he had (then) travelled 200 miles, and he had

only seen one tree, not younger than himself; but at

Strichen, he saw trees of full growth, worthy of notice."

The author of the description in the Old Statistical Account

(1793) of the parish of Tyrie, which is included in the

barony of Strichen, says that "what has been done for

promoting the industries, prosperity, and happiness of this

parish and neighbourhood must reflect great honour on the

memory of the late Alexander Fraser of Strichen, one of

the Senators of the College of Justice. He first introduced

improvements, gave lime to his tenants, and in spite of
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their prejudices prevailed with them to use it as manure,

brought skilful men from the South country, who taught

them to grow grass seeds and raise turnips, cabbage, and

potatoes, in the fields. He gave them leases during their

lives at a reasonable rate; and did not think his interest

hurt when he saw his tenants enjoying the comforts of life.

The good effects of these encouragements are, extensive

fields regularly laid out, fine stone fences, excellent crops of

turnips, sown grass, and almost all sorts of grain, stocks of

cattle, full cornyards, and everywhere the appearance of

plenty. Hay, formerly unknown, is now abundant. Com-
merce and manufactures begin to thrive ; much money is

brought into the parish for flax, and linen made out of flax

raised in it; and all ranks of people are more industrious

and healthy than formerly." No greater compliment to

his Lordship's good sense and public spirit could be re-

corded.

In the deed of entail executed by General Simon Fraser

on the 16th of May, 1774, during Lord Strichen's life, he

settled the estates of Lovat in default of heirs-male or female

of his own body and heirs-male of the body of his brother,

the Hon. Archibald Campbell Fraser, upon the family of

Strichen, as nearest heirs of the old line of the Frasers of

Lovat after the family of Inverallochy, then represented

by William Fraser.

Lord Strichen married, Ann, daughter of Archibald, first

Duke of Argyll, Countess of Bute, widow of James, the

second Earl, who died on the 28th of January, 1723, and who
was himself the grandson, by his mother, Agnes Mackenzie,

of the celebrated Sir George Mackenzie of Rosehaugh, and,

on the death of his maternal uncle, and after an obstinate

fight in the law courts, succeeded to his estates in the

county of Ross. By the Countess of Bute, who is described

as "a woman of most amiable character," Lord Strichen,

who died on the 15th of February, 1775, had issue, an

only son,

VIII. Alexander Fraser, eighth of Strichen, to whom
the estate had been conveyed by his father during his own
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life, as already stated, on the 5th of February 1759. The
barony of Lentran, holding off the family of Strichen, pro-

ducing- a trifling- rental, was sold in 1797 after a public

competition for £2500 to a Mr Warren, who in 1812,

twenty-five years afterwards, sold it to Major Thomas Fraser

of Newton for ^25,000. On the 30th of August, 1794, he

executed a disposition of the estate of Strichen and of the

barony of Lentran to himself in life-rent and to his eldest

son Alexander, Captain in the 1st Regiment of Dragoon

Guards, in fee.

He entertained Dr Johnson and Boswell. The latter

refers to him as " the worthy son of a worthy father," and

as " very hospitable." When they were at his house, " there

was a fair at Strichen, and he had several of his neighbours

from it at dinner. One of them, Dr Fraser, who had been

in the army, remembered to have seen Dr Johnson at a

lecture on Experimental Philosophy at Lichfield. The

Doctor recollected being at the lecture, and he was sur-

prised to find here somebody who knew him."*

Alexander married, at Migomie, Jean only child of

William Menzies, parish of St. Ann's, Jamaica, brother of

James Menzies of Culdares (marriage contract dated the

13th and 20th of March, 1764), and by her received an

estate in Jamaica, which, however, was sold in 1793. By

this lady he had issue

—

1. Alexander, his heir and successor, one of the substi-

tutes of General Fraser's entail of 1774.

2. Stewart Mackenzie, who died without issue.

3. Thomas, mentioned, like all his brothers, in the entail

of 1774.

4. William, who died before 1797, without issue.

5. Frances, who died young.

6. Francis Jean, who also died young.

7. Anne.

8. James, who married John Morison of Achintoul

—

contract dated the 15th of August, 1799.

Alexander died after the 30th of August, 1794, and before

* BoswelFs Tour to the Hebrides,

/
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the 3rd of February, 1795, when he was succeeded by his

eldest son,

IX. Alexander Fraser, ninth of Strichen, Captain in

the 1st Regiment of Dragoon Guards, in virtue of his

father's disposition in his favour, dated, as above, the 30th

of August, 1794. He has a Crown charter of resignation

of the baronies of Strichen and Lentran on the 3rd of

February, 1795.

He married Emilia, daughter of John Leslie of Balquhain

(contract of marriage 10th of May, 1800), with issue—one

son, Thomas Alexander.

Captain Fraser died on the 28th of April, 1803, when

he was succeeded by his only son,

X. Thomas Alexander Fraser, tenth of Strichen,

afterwards Lord Lovat. He was served heir in special to

his father in the barony of Strichen on the 30th of April,

1804. In 1808 the Hon. Colonel Archibald Campbell

Fraser, XX. of Lovat), executed a deed of entail of the

estate of Abertarff " to and in favour of the nearest legi-

timate male issue of my ancestor Hugh, Lord Fraser of

Lovat, namely, Thomas Alexander Fraser of Strichen," but

on the 2nd of July, 18 12, he executed another deed of

settlement of the same estate in favour of his grandson,

Archibald Thomas Frederick (the illegitimate offspring of

his eldest son John Simon Fraser, M.P., who died un-

married on the 6th of April, 1803), and his heirs-male,

whom failing, the heirs nominated in the deed of 1808.

On the death of the Hon. Colonel Archibald Campbell

Fraser of Lovat, youngest and last surviving son of Lord

Simon of the 'Forty-five, without surviving male issue, on

the 8th of December, 1815, the succession opened up to

Thomas Alexander Fraser, X. of Strichen, when he came
into possession of the Lovat estates. He was created a Peer

of the United Kingdom on the 28th of January, 1837, and

ultimately on the nth of August, 1857, had the Scottish

Peerage restored to him. For his descendants see The
Lovat Family,
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I. Alexander Fraser, the first of this family, was the

third son of Hugh, fourth Lord Lovat, by Janet, daughter

of Sir Alexander Gordon of Auchindown and Midmar,

niece of George, second Earl of Huntly. His elder brother,

Hugh, was killed at Flodden, on the 9th of September,

1513, unmarried. Alexander died young, but not before

he married a daughter of Hugh Ross, first of Achnacloich,

third son of David, VII. of Balnagown, by his wife, Helen,

daughter of Keith of Inverugie, with issue—at least one son,

II. JOHN FRASER, second of Farraline, known among
his countrymen as " Ian Mac Alastair," or John the son

of Alexander. He was the first of this family who settled

in Stratherrick. He married Katharine, fourth daughter of

Hugh Rose, IX. of Kilravock, by Agnes, daughter of

Alexander Urquhart of Cromarty,* with issue

—

1. Thomas, his heir and successor.

2. Hugh, from whom the Frasers of Erchitt, of whom
next.

3. James, born after his father's death, ancestor of the

Frasers of Culduthel, of whom in their order.

John was slain at the Battle of Blar-nan-leine, at Kinloch-

lochy, on the 15th of July, 1544. From him the Frasers

* " A fourth daughter of this marriage, named Katharine, was married

to John Fraser of Farraline (whose family is best known by the title of Bailie

of Stratherrick), who, with the Lord Lovat, and most of the name of Fraser,

was killed at Kinlochlochy in 1543 (1544). She was one of the four score

widows who, by having posthumous sons, restored the name of Fraser, almost

extinct by killing of their husbands as aforesaid. What his tocher was I find

not, only I find a receipt of eleven merks Scots in complete payment of his

tocher. This Katharine Rose (about 1553), after the decease of John Fraser,

her first husband, married Donald Mackintosh, William's son, by whom she

was mother to Angus Mackintosh (called Williamson also), a very witty and

daring man, predecessor of the present Mackintosh of Kyllachy."

—

Kilravock

Family Papers.
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of Farraline became known all over the Highlands as

" Sliochd Ian Mhic Alastair"—the descendants of John the

son of Alexander.

He was succeeded by his eldest son,

III. Thomas Fraser, third of Farraline, who married

Janet, daughter of Cluny Macpherson of Cluny, with issue

—

IV. Alexander Fraser, fourth of Farraline, who

married Marjory, only daughter of " Mac Ian vie Cunehie

of Garthbeg,* whose real name was Fraser, not Campbell

as would be inferred from a statement in Burke. In 1634

Tavish Fraser of Little Garth is mentioned, and in the

Valuation Roll of 1644 Thomas Fraser of Little Garth is

entered for lands in the parish of Boleskine and Abertarff

for ^"152 Scots. In an inventory of the moveable debts

and others pertaining to the deceased James Dunbar, Bailie

of Inverness, dated the 8th of September, 1712, is entered

note of a Bond by "Tavish Fraser alias MacConchie of

Little Garth, to the said James Dunbar for the sum of ^"20

Scots money, with penalty and annual rent, dated the 23rd

day of June, 1696 years, registered in the Sheriff Court

Books of Inverness, the 15th day of December, 1703, there-

upon horning and caution." From this it appears that the

heads of the Frasers of Garthbeg were always designated

" MacConchie." By this lady Alexander Fraser of Far-

raline had issue

—

V. Thomas Fraser, fifth of Farraline, whose name
appears in the Valuation Roll for 1644 for lands in Aber-

tarff valued at £266 13s 4d Scots. He married Isabella,

daughter of James Shaw of Kinrara, with issue

—

1. Alexander, his heir and successor.

2. John, from whom the Frasers of Gortuleg, of whom
in their order.

Thomas died in 1644, for in that year his son is de-

scribed as,

VI. Alexander Fraser, sixth "of Farraline." There

is a decree given against Alexander under this designation

* Pedigree in Lyon Office in petition for registration of Arms by Sheriff

Simon Fraser of Farraline in 1776.

35
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on the 20th July, 1644, at the instance of the Executors

dative of the deceased Alexander Dunbar of Ben-

netsfield for the sum of £20 sterling. He married

Catherine, daughter of Hugh Fraser, II. of Erchitt, with

issue

—

VII. Thomas Fraser, seventh of Farraline, who married

Bethia, only daughter of William Fraser, VI. of Foyers,

with issue

—

VIII. Alexander Fraser, eighth of Farraline, on

record in 17 16. He married Magdalen, daughter of Far-

quhar Macgillivray of Dunmaglass, with issue

—

1. John, his heir and successor.

2. Hugh, in Bochrubin, described in 1802 as a very

old man, and as "uncle" to Simon Fraser of Farraline, the

well-known Sheriff, of whom presently.

Alexander was succeeded by his elder son,

IX. John Fraser, ninth of Farraline, who is mentioned

in 1749. He married Katherine, daughter of Hugh Fraser

of Bochrubin, with issue

—

1. Simon, his heir and successor.

2. Thomas, named in General Simon Fraser's deed of

entail in 1774, but died without issue before 1797.

3. Bella, who married Thomas Fraser, Dalcattaig, with

issue, from whom the later Frasers of Abersky.

He was succeeded by his elder son,

X. Simon Fraser, tenth of Farraline, who registered

arms in the Lyon Office in 1776. He was appointed

Sheriff of Inverness-shire in May, 178 1, at a time when

the country was in a very unsatisfactory condition. A band

of marauders infested the county between that period and

the Battle of Culloden, and although his predecessors in the

Sheriffdom, David Scrymgeour of Birkhill, and Alexander

Campbell of Delnie, after repeated endeavours to extirpate

a notorious band of robbers who infested the shire, failed

in doing so, Sheriff Fraser ultimately succeeded. When
appointed, he discovered that the existing police was in-

sufficient for its purpose, and found in consequence that the

only way to protect the property of the lieges was by an
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existing arrangement to pay voluntary blackmail in money
or cattle to the bands of robbers who then scoured over

the Highlands and did pretty much what they liked. Far-

raline, who for a considerable time served in the army, left

it for the law, and at the desire of his chief, General Simon

Fraser of Lovat, set himself to work right earnestly to bring

about the suppression of the unsatisfactory state of things

which prevailed. With the assistance of a strong and

courageous Highlander, well-known in his day, John Mac-

kay, messenger-at-arms, Fort-Augustus, as his assistant, and

by unremitting personal and persistent efforts, Sheriff Fraser

ultimately succeeded in effecting his purpose. Accom-
panied by his faithful and trusty henchman, he traversed

the most inaccessible districts, often incurring great personal

danger on his journeys. He was more than once fired at,

and so imminent were the risks he anticipated and often

incurred that he never travelled on these occasions without

a brace of loaded pistols ready for immediate use. Acting

on the well-known adage, of setting " a thief to catch a

thief," he appointed Donald Mor Cameron, in Leckroy of

Lochaber, himself reputed a notorious cattle-lifter, as one

of the constables of the county of Inverness, and thus

secured his services on the side of good order in his district.

By Donald's aid the whole tribe of Kennedies who lived by

tribute or blackmail over a wide range of country were

hunted down, one of them having been hanged in Inver-

ness, while several more were banished across the seas.

John Mackay tracked two notorious members of this tribe

as far as Callander, and by a bold and masterly manoeuvre

captured them while carousing there in an alehouse. Mac-

kay suddenly entered the room in which they were drinking

and peremptorily called on them to surrender, telling them

at the same time that escape was now impossible. They
curiously enough believed him, thinking no doubt that he

had never dared to come so far without a sufficient body-

guard, and quietly allowed themselves to be handcuffed

and carried away prisoners. Their mortification and rage

may be imagined when they found themselves the outwitted
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victims of a bold and cleverly executed stratagem by a

single unprotected officer of the law.

Simon Fraser of Farraline was one of those in whose

favour a Royal Charter was granted on the 6th of March,

1793, for the foundation of the Royal Academy of Inver-

ness. In 1797 George III. directed letters to a few leading

men in Inverness-shire, giving them power and authority to

receive the oaths of all the Justices of the Peace for the

county, and Simon was one of them.

He married Margaret Fall, a lady from the South (who

died on the 5th of June, 1796), with issue

—

1. John, his heir and successor.

2. Alexander, born in 1788, and died in 1791.

3. Alexander, W.S., who died, unmarried, on the 6th of

October, 1839, aged 43 years.

4. Grace
; 5. Catharine ; and 6. Margaret. All three died

unmarried.

Sheriff Fraser, at the time residing at Seabank, Inverness,

was drowned while bathing at the Longman, on the 21st of

August, 1 8 10, aged 66 years, when he was succeeded by

his eldest son,

XI. John Fraser, eleventh of Farraline, an advocate at

the Scottish Bar, and Deputy-Lieutenant for the county

of Inverness. He sold the estate and married, with issue

—

1. Simon, his heir and successor.

2. Hannah, who lived at North Berwick, and died there

unmarried.

He died at Stirling, on the 12th of June, 1838, aged 58

years, and was succeeded as representative of the family

by his only son,

XII. Simon Fraser, who is on the list of Justices of the

Peace for Inverness-shire in 1838, his father, John, who died

in that year, being named in the same list as Deputy-Lieu-

tenant. Simon left no issue,
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I. Hugh Fraser, first of Erchitt, second son of John

Fraser, second of Farraline, by Katherine, daughter of

Hugh Rose, IX. of Kilravock, was the first of this family.

He is, along with Alexander in Farnell, witness to a deed

of submission between Simon, eighth Lord Fraser of Lovat,

and John Grant of Freuchie, dated the 13th of September,

1599, of certain differences between them, the arbiters re-

presenting Lord Lovat being Thomas Fraser of Strichen,

John Chisholm of Comar, Hugh Fraser of Guisachan, Hugh
Fraser of Belladrum, Angus Mackintosh of Termit, and

Alexander Fraser of Farnell.*

He married Margaret, daughter of Kenneth Mackenzie,

III. of Kilchrist (widow of the Tutor of Foyers and sister

of Alexander Mackenzie, I. of Suddie), by his second wife

Catharine, daughter of Roderick Mor Mackenzie, I. of Red-

castle.f with issue

—

1. Hugh, his heir and successor.

2. Another son.

He died in October, 1610, aged 70 years, and was suc-

ceeded by his eldest son,

II. HUGH Fraser, second of Erchitt. He was Tutor of

Foyers. He married first, Helen, daughter of William

Mackintosh, VIII. of Kyllachy, without issue. He married

secondly a daughter of Alexander Chisholm, XIV. of

Chisholm, by his wife Janet, widow of JEneas Macdonald,

VII. of Glengarry, and daughter of Kenneth Mackenzie, Xth

* Chiefs of Grant, vol. iii., pp. 195-196.

t Mackenzie's History of the Mackenzies, new edition, p. 524 ; and

Findon's Genealogical Tables. It is stated in the Farraline pedigree in the

Lyon Office that Hugh's wife was a daughter of William Mackenzie of

Suddie. There was no William of Suddie for nearly a hundred and fifty

years after this date.
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Baron of Kintail, by Lady Elizabeth Stewart, daughter of

John second Earl of Atholl, with issue

—

1. Alexander, his heir and successor.

2. Catharine, who married Alexander Fraser, VI. of

Farraline, with issue.

He fell at the battle of Inverlochy, in February, 1645,

and was succeeded by his only son,

III. Alexander Fraser, third of Erchitt. He suc-

ceeded to the estate during- the life of his father, for he

appears in the Valuation Roll of 1644 for lands in the parish

of Dores, valued at £333 6s 8d Scots. A decreet is given

against him for £21 6s 8d on the 20th of July, 1664, and

on the same date against " Donald Fraser, apparent of

Erchitt," for £40.

He married, first, Betsy, daughter of Cluny Macpherson

of Cluny, with issue

—

1. Donald, his heir and successor.

2. A daughter.

He married, secondly, a daughter of James Fraser, III.

of Culduthel, with issue

—

3. Hugh, first of the Frasers of Balnain, of whom
presently.

4. Alexander, wadsetter of Bochrubin, whose son Hugh,

described as "Younger in Bochruben," was among the nine-

teen Frasers outlawed and sentenced to death in absence on

the 6th of September, 1698, by the Court of Justiciary.

Hugh, however, like all the others, continued to move about

in perfect freedom in the mountains of his native country,

and after Lord Simon went to France, in 1702, young Boch-

rubin was one of the most active companions of Lovat's

brother John, harassing the country, then claimed by the

Dowager Lady Lovat, by whom he is petitioned against

to the Privy Council in 1702 (see page 265), six months

after he had been formally outlawed and sentenced to death.

5. John, from whom the Frasers of Abersky.

He had also several daughters.

Alexander was succeeded by his eldest son,

IV. Donald Fraser, fourth of Erchitt. His name
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appears in the Proclamation of October 1678 as one of the

heads of branch families who had to appear at Inverlochy

before the 26th of November following
-

, to give security

and receive instructions as to the peace of the Highlands.

His affairs became involved and at least part of the estate

had to be sold to pay his debts, when his younger brother,

Hugh, acquired the lands of Balnain, in wadset, from Hugh
Lord Lovat.

Donald married, with issue—a son,

V. William Fraser, fifth of Erchitt, who appears in

the Valuation Roll of 1691 for lands in the parish of Dores,

valued at £166 13s 46 ; and in the parish of Inverness for

his wife's life-rent of the lands of Dunain's estate, entered at

£325 6s 8d. He married Catherine, daughter of Alexander

Chisholm, XVII. of Chisholm, by his wife, Margaret,

daughter of Alexander Mackenzie, V. of Gairloch. Cath-

erine was the widow of Hugh Fraser, VII. of Foyers, as

appears from a summons in possession of Charles Fraser-

Mackintosh, dated the 22nd of February, 1694, for arrears

of feu-duty against her second husband, in which she is

described as " relict of the umquhile Hugh Fraser of

Foyers." William appears to have died without male

issue, for the representation of the family of Erchitt de-

volved upon his uncle, Uisdean Mor, first of Balnain, of

whom next.
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I. HUGH Fraser, known as " Uisdean Mor," or Big Hugh,

eldest son of Alexander Fraser, III. of Erchitt, by his

second marriage to a daughter of James, III. of Culduthel,

was the first of this family, having acquired these lands in

wadset from Hugh, tenth Lord Lovat. On the ist of Sep-

tember, 1675, he grants a bond for £$1 7s 8d, in which he

is described as "Hugh Fraser of Leadclune," and "of Boch-

rubine." He is again on record in 1696, still described "of

Wester Leadclune." He married Katharine, daughter of

Alexander Chisholm, XIX. of Chisholm, by his wife, eldest

daughter of Roderick Mackenzie, I. of Applecross, with

issue

—

1. Alexander, described in 1709 as "Younger of Balnain,"

his heir and successor.

2. Hugh, generally called " Uisdean Og," or Hugh the

Younger, from whom the Frasers of Leadclune, and of

whom next.

3. Alexander, on record in 1679.

4. John, noticed in the same year.

Hugh was succeeded by his eldest son,

II. Alexander Fraser, second of Balnain, who was in

possession in 1730, in which year Lord Lovat granted him

and his second son, William Fraser, W.S., a tack of Balnain,

of Glendo, Muirlagan, and Shellach. On the 21st of April,

1701, he married, first, Jane, daughter of William Fraser,

VIII. of Foyers, by his wife Margaret, daughter of Alex-

ander Mackintosh of Connage, with issue

—

1. Hugh, his heir and successor, born on the 15th of

September, 1702.

2. William Fraser, W.S., who was born on the 14th of

November, 1703, and died on the 10th of December, 1775.

He succeeded his brother Hugh.

3. Alexander, born on the 19th of February, 1705, and

died in infancy, on the 2nd of February, 1706.



THE FRASERS OF BALNAIN. 553

4. John, born on the 27th of September, 1706, and died

on the 13th of September, 1735, unmarried.

5. Alexander, born on the 13th of March, 1708, and

died in childhood in April, 17 10.

6. James, born on the 8th of May, 17 10, and died in

1760, having- married and left issue—one daughter.

7. Katharine, born on the 3rd of May, 17 12, and died

young in April, 1717.

Alexander married secondly, on the 11th of July, 1716,

Jean, eldest daughter of Angus Mackintosh, X. of Kyllachy,

by his wife, Lucy, daughter of Sir Alexander Mackenzie,

second Baronet, and II. of Coul, with issue

—

8. Angus, who was born on the 10th of April, 1717, and

died in South America in 1778, without issue.

9. Thomas Fraser, M.D., born on the 8th of June, 1726.

He practised his profession in the island of Antigua, and

there married Elizabeth, daughter of William Mackinnon,

"a cadet of Mackinnon of that Ilk," with issue— (1) William

Mackinnon Fraser, who was Physician Extraordinary to

King George IV., when Prince of Wales. He bought the

present lands of Balnain when the unentailed parts of the

Lovat estates were sold off in 1798, in terms of the Act

of Parliament passed in the preceding year to pay off the

late General Simon of Lovat's debts
; (2) Charles, Major,

H.E.I.C.S., who married Miss Raper, with issue—three

sons, Charles, who held a high position in the Bengal

Civil Service ; Simon, who was British Resident at Delhi

during the Mutiny in 1857, and was the first man killed

while proceeding to close the gates of the City against

the mutineers ; and William, and eight daughters—Char-

lotte, Eliza, Anne, Isabella, Fanny, Catherine, Fredericka,

and Caroline. He registered arms in 1803. (3) Jane;

and (4) Charity, of both of whom presently.

10. Lachlan, born on the 12th of March, 1728, and died

without issue, in 1759.

11. Brigadier General Simon Fraser, born on the 26th

of May, 1729. He was fatally wounded at Saratoga on

the 7th of October, 1777, and died the following day.
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He served in the Scots Regiment in the Dutch service

and was wounded at Bergen-ap-Zoom. He was present

at Minden, and was the officer who answered the hail

of the enemy's sentry in French and made him believe

that the troops who surprised the Heights of Abraham

were the Regiment de la Rhine. Through the interest

of the Marquis of Townshend, who appointed him his

Aide-de-Camp in Ireland, he was selected as Quarter-

Master-General to the troops then stationed in that country,

but having been offered a command under General Bur-

goyne in America he left Ireland in order to join that

distinguished officer, and had the singular good fortune

to increase his reputation in that disastrous expedition.

At Saratoga General Fraser commanded the British Light

Infantry and the 24th Regiment, on the right. Here they

were pressed hard by masses of the Americans, and were

forced to fall back to a point where they formed an oblique

second line, by which they defeated the enemy's manoeuvre

to force the British right. They were at the same time able

to succour their comrades on the left wing, the gallant

Grenadiers, who were overpowered by the superior numbers

of the Americans and would have been cut to pieces but

for this aid from those under General Fraser. To quote

from Professor Creasy 's Fifteeti Decisive Battles—"The
contest was fiercely maintained on both sides. On the side

of the British, the officers did their duty nobly ; but General

Fraser was the most eminent of them all, restoring order

whenever the line began to waver and infusing fresh courage

into his men by voice and example. Mounted on an iron-

gray charger, and dressed in the full uniform of a general

officer, he was conspicuous to foes as well as to friends.

The American Colonel Morgan thought that the fate of

the battle rested on this gallant man's life, and calling

several of the best marksmen around him pointed him out,

and said
—

' That officer is General Fraser ; I admire him,

but he must die. Our victory depends on it. Take your

stations in that clump of bushes and do your duty.' Within

five minutes Fraser fell mortally wounded, and was carried
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to the British camp by two Grenadiers. Just previously to

his being struck by the fatal bullet, one rifle ball had cut

the crupper of his saddle, and another had passed through

his horse's mane close behind the ears. His aide-de-camp

had noticed this, and said
—

' It is evident that you are

marked out for particular aim ; would it not be prudent for

you to retire from this place?' Fraser replied 'My duty

forbids me to retire from danger,' and the next moment
he fell. Burgoyne's whole force was now compelled to

retreat towards the camp, the left and centre in complete

disorder, but on the right (where General Fraser had com-

manded) the Light Infantry and the 24th checked the fury

of the enemy, and the remains of the column, with great

difficulty, effected their return to the camp, which the

Americans attacked with partial success. Burgoyne on the

following day retired to Saratoga, abandoning the sick and

wounded and the greater part of the baggage to the enemy.

But before the rear guard quitted the camp the last sad

honours were paid to the brave General Fraser, who expired

the day after the action. He had almost with his last breath

expressed a wish to be buried in the redoubt which had

formed the part of the British lines where he had been

stationed, but which had now been abandoned by the army,

and was within full range of the cannon which the advanc-

ing Americans were rapidly placing in position to bear upon

Burgoyne's force. Burgoyne resolved, nevertheless, to

comply with the dying wish of his comrade and the inter-

ment took place under circumstances the most affecting

that had ever marked a soldier's funeral." Lessing, the

American historian, has described this touching episode in

a spirit that does honour both to himself and to his subject.

After narrating at length the death of General Fraser on the

8th of October, he concludes—" It was just at sunset, on that

calm October evening that the corpse of General Fraser was

carried up the hill to the place of burial within the 'great

redoubt.' It was attended only by the military members
of his family and Mr Brudenell the Chaplain, yet the eyes

of hundreds of both armies followed the procession, while
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the Americans, ignorant of its true character, kept up a

constant cannonade upon the redoubt. The Chaplain, un-

moved by the danger to which he was exposed, as the

cannon balls that struck the hill threw the loose soil over

him, pronounced the impressive funeral service of the

Church of England, with an unfaltering voice. Suddenly

the irregular firing ceased and the solemn voice of a single

cannon at measured intervals boomed along the valley and

awakened the responses of the hills. It was a minute gun

fired by the Americans in honour of the gallant dead.

The moment the information was given that the gathering

at the redoubt was a funeral company, fulfilling at imminent

peril the last breathed wishes of the noble Fraser, orders

were issued to withhold the cannonade with balls, and to

render military homage to the fallen brave." General

Simon married the widow of Alexander, third son of Alex-

ander Grant of Shewglie, without issue. A portrait of him

at the moment of being wounded and another of his

funeral, said to be painted by West at the expense of his

brother officers, and presented by them to his widow, who, at

her death, left them to the head of the family, are both

in possession of Captain James Wilson Fraser of Balnain

at Farraline House.

12. Charles, Commissary of Inverness, who was born on

the 19th of October, 173 1, and died, unmarried, on the

13th of August, 1778.

13. Anne, born on the 6th of March, 1719, married Mac-

gillivray of Clunes, with issue, and died on the 5th of

July, 1800.

14. Katharine, born on the 22nd of November, 1721,

and died young in May, 1732.

15. Jean, born on the 1st of October, 1722, and died,

unmarried, on the 27th of July, 1768.

Alexander was succeeded by his eldest son,

III. Hugh Fraser, third of Balnain, who purchased

Knockie from the family of Strichen. He married Jean

Forbes, with issue—three daughters.

He was killed by two soldiers, off the shore of Nairn,
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on the 4th of June, 1735, when he was succeeded in the

estates, and also as male representative of the family, by

his younger brother,

IV. William Fraser, W.S., fourth of Balnain, who
was born on the 14th of November, 1703, and in 1754

acquired the estate of Aldourie from Captain Daniel Bar-

bour. Mr Charles Fraser-Mackintosh says that he " may
be described as the real founder of the family, and his

descendants clung for some time to the title, although

another branch of the family had purchased the lands of

Balnain and legitimately assumed the designation. William

Fraser was in much repute as an Edinburgh lawyer, and

had a good deal to do with the affairs of Simon Lord Lovat.

After his purchase of Aldourie he came North every year,

and took a great interest in the improvement of the place.

It would appear from his letters that on his journeys to

Edinburgh he always travelled across Corryarraick, and in

one letter there is an amusing account of the family's

difficulties from the breaking down of their chariot on the

top of the pass in most inclement weather."*

In the New Statistical Account for the parish of Inver-

ness, published in 1841, the author states that Fraser of

Balnain was superior of one half of the estate of Alturlies

in the parish of Petty, the other half belonging to Rose

of Alturlies, and it is a curious fact, he says, that it was

never known which half belonged to either proprietor ; and

"there is an elder in this parish, Mr David Fraser, late

of Breackinish, who recollects that his father and all the

tenants in paying their rents in kind used to go with the

one half to Balnain and with the other half to Culloden

House." In 1768 the other half of the estate was secured

by John Forbes of Culloden.

William married Jean, who is described as his late wife

in 1776, daughter of Archibald Macaulay, Lord Provost of

Edinburgh, with issue, three daughters—
1. Anne, who, in 1776, married Alexander Tytler, Lord

Woodhouselee, one of the Senators of the College of Jus^

* fetters of Two Centuries.
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tice and one of the Commissioners of Justiciary in Scotland.

She carried the estates of Balnain and Aldourie to her

husband, by whom she had several sons and daughters.

See The Fraser-Tytlers of Aldourie.

2. Katharine, who died unmarried.

X

3. Jane, who, in 1782, married Edward Satchwell Fraser,

XII. of Reelick, with issue.

William died on the 10th of December, 1775, when he

was succeeded as male representative of the family by

his first cousin, Dr William Mackinnon Fraser, Physician

Extraordinary to King George IV. when Prince of Wales.

It is necessary, in order to make the succession perfectly

clear, to go back a little. It will be remembered that

Alexander Frassr, II. of Balnain, had by his second

marriage to Jean, daughter of Angus Mackintosh, X. of

Kyllachy, several sons, the eldest of whom, Angus, died

in South America in 1778, without issue, when, all the sons

of Alexander's first marriage with Jean Fraser of Foyers

having died without male heirs, the male representation

devolved upon the issue of Thomas of Antigua, Alexander's

second son by the second marriage.

This Thomas, as already stated, married Elizabeth,

daughter of William Mackinnon, a cadet of the Mac-

kinnons of Strath, Isle of Skye, with issue

—

1. William Mackinnon, as above-named, who succeeded

his cousin, William Fraser, W.S., as male representative

of the family, bought back the lands of Balnain, and of

whom presently.

2. Charles, who married Miss Raper, and has been

already referred to along with his three sons and eight

daughters.

3. Jane, who, in 1770, married Charles Grant, who was

born in 1746, for thirty years represented the County of

Inverness in Parliament, and was one of the most dis-

tinguished directors of the Hon. East India Company. By

Jane Fraser, who died on the 23rd of January, 1827, he

had issue— (1) The Right Hon. Charles Grant, a Privy

Councillor, and Secretary of State for the Colonies. On

kn4.
t £ ^C Ck^ 389* ^ y0:~
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the nth of May, 1835, he was raised to the Peerage

as Lord Glenelg. He, like his father, represented the

County of Inverness in the House of Commons. He died

unmarried, at Cannes, France, on the 23rd of April, 1866,

when the title became extinct
; (2) the Right Hon. Sir

Robert Grant, Governor of Bombay, who, on the nth of

August, 1829, married Margaret, only daughter of Sir

David Davidson of Cantray, with issue

—

(a) Sir Charles,

born on the 22nd of January, 1836. He held a high

position in the Bengal Civil Service, and was for many
years Foreign Secretary to the Indian Government. He
married, first, a daughter of Henry Baillie of Redcastle,

with issue—two sons. He married, secondly, Lady Flor-

ence Lucia, sister of the present Earl of Malmesbury, also

with issue; (b) Robert, born on the 10th of August, 1837.

He holds a high rank in the army and is married, with

issue—two sons
;

(c) Constance Charemile, who died in

July, 1843 ;
(d) Sybella Sophia, who, on the 9th of March,

1864, married Richard Ryder of the Inner Temple, London,

afterwards M.P. for Salisbury. Sir Robert Grant died in 1838.

(3) Thomas William Grant, born on the 15th of May, 1848,

and died unmarried
; (4) Charity Amelia, who married the

Right Hon. Samuel March Phillips, Under-Secretary of

State for the Home Department
; (5) Maria

; (6) Sybella

;

and (7) Sophia, who married Patrick Grant of Redcastle,

with issue, among others, the Rev. Alexander Ronald Grant,

Honorary Canon of Hitcham, County of Suffolk, the

present representative of the Grants of Shewglie. He
married his cousin, a daughter of William Grant of Loch-

letter, with issue—several sons, the eldest of whom is a

Captain in the Central Indian Horse.

4. Charity, who married William Chambers, descended

from an old family who had long been settled in the county

of Durham. He was in the H.E.I.C.S., and was a dis-

tinguished Oriental scholar. They had issue, two sons

—

(1) William Frederick Chambers of Hordscliffe, Hants,

M.D., F.R.S., and K.C.H. He was educated at West-

minster School, from whence he obtained a scholarship at
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Trinity College, Cambridge, where he had gradmted in

1808 ; was appointed Physician in Ordinary to William IV.

shortly before that King's death, and attended him in his

last illness. He was also Physician to her present Majesty

Queen Victoria. William Frederick Charles married his

cousin Mary, daughter of Dr William Mackinnon Fraser, V.

of Balnain, with issue
; (2) Sir Charles Harcourt Chambers,

one of the Judges of the Supreme Court of Bombay, and

for a time Acting Chief-Justice. Educated at Westminster

School, and subsequently a Fellow of Trinity College,

Cambridge, he married Isabel!, younger daughter of Major

William Wilson of Polmaily, Glenurquhart, and died on the

13th of October, 1828, leaving issue (along with two

daughters, Charity Isabella and Annie Catherine, both

residing at Polmaily House, unmarried)—one son, Charles

Harcourt, barrister-at-law, who, educated at Rugby and

Trinity College, Cambridge, married Lucebella, only

daughter of Captain Marcus Hare, R.N., of Rock End,

Torquay, and Court Grange, Devonshire, with issue—four

sons and two daughters—Charles Roland, of Middlemount,

Cape Colony, married, with issue ; Marcus Stanley ; Bertram

Mordaunt, Lieutenant, R.N. ; Theodore Gervase ; Margaret,

married, with issue ; and Ida Vere Maude, also married,

with issue. William Chambers and Charity Fraser had also

two daughters—Charity Eliza and Anne, both of whom
died unmarried.

William Fraser, W.S., IV. of Balnain, having died on the

ioth of December, 1775, was succeeded, as above, by his

first cousin,

V. William MACKINNON Fraser, Physician Extra-

ordinary to King George IV., when Prince of Wales. He
purchased the lands of Balnain, formerly a wadset, from the

family of Lovat in 1798, when some of the outlying portions

of that estate were sold for the payment of General Simon

Fraser's debts under the provisions of a special Act of

Parliament passed in that year.

He married, on the 19th of March, 1783, Isabella,

daughter of Cortland Skinner, of Amboy, New Jersey,
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United States of America, Attorney-General of that State,

with issue

—

r. Thomas, his heir and successor.

2. The Rev. William, Chaplain H.E.I.C.S. He subse-

quently retired, and died Vicar of North Waltham, Hants.

Born on the 17th of November, 1788, he married, first,

Margaret Mackenzie, Knockbairns, with issue; and secondly,

Miss Way.

3. The Hon. Sir John Fraser, K.C.M.G., Secretary to

the Government of the Ionian Islands, who married Selina,

daughter of William Baldwin of Stede Hill, with issue

—

(1) Hugh Fraser, Secretary to Her Majesty's Italian Lega-

tion, and subsequently, in 1888, appointed Her Majesty's

Ambassador Extraordinary and Minister Plenipotentiary to

Japan. He married Mary, daughter of Marion Crawford,

with issue—John, born in 1875, and Hugh, born in 1877.

He registered arms in 1884, and died at the British Em-
bassy, at Tokio, in 1894; (2) Frances.

4. Charles, born on the 7th of May, 1799.

5. Hugh, who married Jane, daughter of Philip Affleck

Fraser, IX, of Culduthel, with issue—a daughter who died

young.

6. Elizabeth Henrietta, who died in 1800 in her fifth year.

7. Charlotte Isabella, born on the 9th of August, 1786.

8. Anne, born on the 15th of February, 1791.

9. Elizabeth, born on the 6th of May, 1802.

10. Harriet Rachel.

11. Mary, who married her cousin, William Frederick

Chambers, M.D., F.R.S., and K.C.H., Physician in Ordin-

ary to William IV. and to her Majesty Queen Victoria

from her accession to the Crown in 1837, until he resigned

in 1853, with issue— (1) the Rev. William Frederick

Chambers, some time Vicar of Kelsy, Lincoln
; (2) Robert

Harcourt Chambers, M.A., of the Inner Temple, London
;

(3) Rosalind Charity, who married the Rev. J. Fyler of

Woolands, Surrey ; and (4) Francis Elizabeth, who married

the Rev. James Crozier. Dr William Frederick Chambers

died at Hordscliffe, Hants, in December, 1855, aged 6g years.

36
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Dr William Mackinnon Fraser died at Sharesbrook,

Bedfordshire, on the 8th of September, 1807, when he was

succeeded by his eldest son,

VI. Colonel Thomas Fraser, of the 83rd Regiment,

sixth of Balnain. He was born on the 1st of March, 1784,

and on the 1st of June, 1817, married first, Jean, only child

of Simon Fraser, XI. and last of Foyers. She died on the

9th of July, the same year, " much lamented, in the flower

of her age," without issue. He married secondly, Harriet,

eldest daughter of Colonel John Grant of Glenmoriston,

with issue

—

1. Simon, who died unmarried.

2. William, who died unmarried.

3. John, who succeeded to Balnain.

4. Eliza, born in 1828, and described on her tombstone

as her father's only daughter. She died in London in 1875,

unmarried.

Colonel Thomas died in 1869, when he was succeeded

by his third and only surviving son,

VII. Captain John Fraser of the Bengal Army,

seventh of Balnain, who was born at Errogie on the 29th

of February, 1821, and was educated at King's College,

Aberdeen. He served through the Sutledge Campaign

under Viscount Gough, and received medals and clasps

for the four engagements in which he took part. He
married first, in 1857, Ella, daughter of James Wilson,

banker, Inverness, by his wife Isabella, daughter of Major

Thomas Fraser, IV. of Dunballoch and Newton, with

issue

—

1. Thomas, late Captain 91st Argyll and Sutherland

Highlanders. He was born in 1859; joined the army and

fought in the Zulu War. He married on the 27th of

June, 1889, Rose Mabel, daughter of Edward Courtenay,

merchant, Waterford, Ireland, with issue—John, born on

the 7th of April, 1890; Patrick, born on the 16th of August,

1893; Simon, born on the 25th of July, 1894; and Nancy

Isabella.

2. James Wilson, who succeeded to Balnain.
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3. John, who died unmarried, at Darjeeling, Bengal, on

the 5 th of October, 1892, aged 26 years.

4. Isabella, who died young in 1872.

5. Harriet Ann Grant, who died unmarried in her seven-

teenth year, in 1881.

Captain John's first wife having died in 1866, he married

secondly, on the 9th of January, 1868, Katharine, youngest

daughter of Captain Thomas Cleather of the H.E.I.C.S.,

with issue

—

6. Cleather, born on the 13th of July, 1870, now in

Ceylon.

7. William, born on the 14th of April, 1875, also in

Ceylon.

8. Mary Inglis, who, on the 23rd of December, 1890,

married Harry Dewdney Thomas, M.A., Oxon., Head-

master, the College, Inverness, with issue—two daughters,

Margaret and Katharine Mary.

9. Helen Alves.

10. Kate, a twin of her brother William.

He died on the 16th of February, 1892, when he was

succeeded as representative of the family by his eldest son,

Captain Thomas, and in the estate by his second son,

VIII. Captain James Wilson, eighth of Balnain, of

the Cheshire Regiment, at present Adjutant of the 4th

Gordon Highlanders, Aberdeen. He married on the 24th

of June, 1891, Edith, daughter of Andrew Knowles of

Swinton Old Hall, Lancashire, colliery proprietor, with

issue

—

1. Andrew, born on the 21st of August, 1892; and

2. John, born on the 12th of May, 1894.

Note.—The following members of this family were named in Gen-

eral Simon Fraser's entail in 1774 :—William Fraser, V. of Balnain,

who died without issue male ; his nephew—not cousin as stated at

pp. 558 and 560—William Mackinnon, eldest son of Dr Thomas
Fraser of Antigua ; Charles, second son of Dr Thomas ; General

Simon, who fell at Saratoga ; and Charles, Commissary of Inverness,

brothers of Dr Thomas, and their issue male, all now extinct except

those of Dr William Mackinnon Fraser, who became V. of Balnain,

and whose direct descendants are in possession of the family estate.
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I. Hugh Fraser, known as "Uisdean Og," second son

of Hugh Fraser, commonly called "Uisdean Mor," son

of Alexander, III. of Erchitt, by his second wife, a daughter

of James Fraser, III. of Culduthel, was the first of this

family. Uisdean Og's name first appears as of Wester

Leadclune in 1679, having brothers Alexander and John

then living, and again in the Valuation Roll of 1691 for the

county of Inverness as " Hugh Fraser, Wester Leadclune
"

for ;£20. Hugh married Katherine, daughter of William

Fraser, VIII. of Foyers, with issue

—

1. Alexander, his heir and successor.

2. James, noticed in 1730. He was factor for Lord

Saltoun over his Aberdeenshire estates.

Hugh died in 17 17, and was succeeded by his eldest son,

II. Alexander Fraser, second of Leadclune. Simon

Lord Lovat, writing from Edinburgh on the 3rd of January,

1741, to Charles Fraser, V. of Inverallochy, says of this Alex-

ander, of his eldest son, and of his brother William and his

eldest son
—

" I send this under cover to one Hugh Fraser,

Writer in Aberdeen, who is son to William Fraser that was

once my servant in France, and was since Sir Peter Fraser's

servant, and lives these many years in the lands of Drum.

This Writer in Aberdeen has his uncle living in Strath-

errick, my tacksman, one Alexander Fraser of Leadclune,

as pretty and sagacious a gentleman for a Deulinach as is

of his name. I have his eldest son (Hugh) serving me, who
assures me that his cousin will send this letter safe to you."*

He married a daughter of Maclan Macdonald of Glencoe,

* Spalding Miscellany, vol. ii., p. 10. That these gentlemen were not

"servants" in the ordinary sense of the term is abundantly clear from the

account of Lord Simon's career given in the body of this work and the

nature of the services rendered by them,
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massacred with most of his clan by the Campbells in 1692.

With her he had a tocher of sixteen horses and three cows,

and had issue

—

1. Hugh, his heir and successor.

2. William, who married first Jane Irvine, with issue

—

William, who lived at Drum. He married, secondly, Eliza-

beth Helen, daughter of William Ross of Monquithr, by

his wife Elizabeth, of the family of Keith-Marischal, with

issue, of whom presently.

3. James, "who perished in the discharge of his duty

on the River Ganges as chief officer of the Fitzwilliam

East Indiaman."

Alexander was succeeded by his eldest son,

III. HUGH Fraser, third of Leadclune, who, during

his father's life, took an active part in the Rising of 1745,

and was forfeited in consequence. He fought at Culloden

and was severely wounded. He was specially exempted

from the Act (20 George II., cap. 52) granting pardon to

most of those who " were out " with Prince Charles for all

treasons committed by them before the 15th of June, 1747.

His estate was, however, afterwards restored to him.

That he married Isabel, daughter of William Fraser of

Ruthven, and not Ann, as stated in the Leadclune pedigree

of 1776 in the Lyon Office, is conclusively proved by the

inscription on her and her husband's tombstone in Boleskine

Churchyard quoted below, and erected a few years after

their death. By her Hugh had issue

—

1. Thomas, his heir and successor.

2. Alexander, the well-known solicitor of Lincoln's Inn,

London, who died unmarried.

3. Katharine, who died, unmarried, in 1804.

4. Bella, who died unmarried.

5. Elizabeth, who also died unmarried, in 1808.

Hugh, who lived to a great age, was known as " Old

Leadclune," and was highly respected during his long life.

He died on the 16th of October, 1800, as stated by James

Fraser of Gortuleg in a letter of that date to Alexander

Macdonell, writer, Inverness, the family solicitor. His wife
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predeceased him on the 12th of May, 1797. The following

inscription is cut on a marble tablet inserted in the wall

of the old chapel, long roofless, in the Churchyard of

Boleskine :

—

" Near to this spot, intermingled with the dust of their forefathers,

are deposited the mortal remains of Hugh Fraser of Ledeclune, Esq.,

who died on the 16th of October, 1800, in the 83rd year of his age.

And of Isabel, his wife, who died on the 12th day of May, 1797, in the

70th year of her age. And also of their daughters Bella, Elizabeth,

and Katharine, who all of them died unmarried. From respect of

their memories, and in commemoration also of his youngest brother

James, who perished in the discharge of his duty on the River

Ganges as chief officer of the Fitzwilliam East Indiaman, this final

tribute of filial and fraternal affection and regard is here placed, under

the directions of Alexander Fraser of Lincoln's Inn, in the county of

Middlesex, Esqre., in the year of our Lord MDCCCX."

Hugh was succeeded by his elder son,

IV. Captain Thomas Fraser, fourth of Leadclune,

Lieutenant in the 71st Fraser Highlanders, embodied in

1775, and, subsequently, a Captain in the 78th or Seaforth

Highlanders. He was appointed Barrack-Master at Fort-

George. He sold the estate of Leadclune on the 4th of

July, 1801, to Dr William Mackinnon Fraser of Balnain.

Captain Thomas married, with issue, sixteen children,

of whom,

1. James, shot in a duel in India, without issue.

2. John, who died at Fort-George.

3. Alexander, who died on the passage out to India,

unmarried.

4. Hugh, who married a daughter of Dr Macdonald.

5. Thomas, who married his sister-in-law, daughter of

the same Dr Macdonald.

6. Simon.

7. Jane, who married J. Gollan of Gollanfield.

8. Harriet
; 9. Eleanor ; 10. Lexie.

11. A daughter who married a Mr Draper.

Al the sons appear to have died without surviving male

issue, when the representation of the family reverted to the

cousin of Captain Thomas.
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It will be remembered that Alexander Fraser, II. of

Leadclune, had a second son,

William Fraser, who was with Lord Lovat in France,

and afterwards with Sir Peter Fraser of Durris, and who
married, first, Jane Irvine, with issue

—

1. Hugh Fraser, Writer in Aberdeen, mentioned in Simon

Lord Lovat's letter to Charles Fraser, V. of Inverallochy,

dated the 3rd of January, 1741, as "son to William Fraser,

that was once my servant in France, and was since Sir

Peter Fraser's servant, and lives these many years in the

lands of Drum," in Aberdeenshire. Lord Simon knew all

his relations, near and remote, and this letter must be held

as conclusive that this William had issue—at least one son

son Hugh—by his first wife, Jane Irvine.

William married, secondly, Elizabeth Helen, daughter

of William Ross of Monquithr, by his wife, Elizabeth,

daughter of Keith of the Keith-Marischal family, with

issue

—

2. Sir William Fraser, Baronet,* of whom presently ; and

3. Jane, who, in 1763, married Colonel the Hon. Archi-

bald Fraser of Lovat, with issue.

Sir William Fraser, Baronet, Fellow of the Royal

Society, entered the naval service of the Hon. East India

Company, and commanded two of their ships—the " Lord

Mansfield" in 1772, lost coming out of the Bengal River in

1773; and the "Earl of Mansfield" from 1777 to 1785.

He afterwards entered the Royal Navy, where he rose to

the rank of Post Captain. In 1797 he was appointed one

of the Elder Brethren of the Corporation of Trinity House.

On the 27th of November, 1806, he was created a Baronet.

He married Elizabeth, only surviving child by his first

marriage of James Farquharson of Eastbury, Dorset, with

issue

—

1. William, his heir.

2. James John, who succeeded his brother William,

* It is distinctly stated in his own petition to the Lyon Office, when he

applied for the registration of Arms in 1776, that he is "an only son by

a second marriage " with Helen, daughter of William Ross of Monquithr.



568 HISTORY OF THE FRASERS.

3. Keith, an officer in the Inniskilling Dragoons, who
died unmarried on the 28th May, 1826.

4. Eliza Anne Roberta, who died on the 10th of Novem-
ber, 1865.

5. Jemima Maria, who in 1820 married the Rev. Joseph

Henry Tayler, Canon of Worcester, with issue. She died

his widow, on the 20th of October, 1877.

6. Anna, who on the 17th of January, 1818, married

Colonel Hugh Edward Keane, third son of Sir John Keane,

Baronet, and brother of John, first Lord Keane, with issue

—Edward Vivian, deceased ; and Fanny.

7. Jean Helen, who on the 17th of January, 1818,

married, the same day as her sister Anna, John Grove,

Fern House, County Wilts, father of Sir Thomas Grove,

first Baronet, with issue, and died on the 8th of October,

1869.

8. Henrietta Sophia, who on the 31st of August, 18 19,

married James Montressor Standen, with issue, and died

his widow on the 18th of April, 1870.

9. Eleanor Caroline, who died unmarried.

10. Maria Octavia, who on the 7th of July, 1825, married

the Rev. H. Cockeran, of Beckenham, Wilts, without issue.

n. Elizabeth Amelia, who died in 1833, unmarried.

12. Emma; 13. Louisa; 14. Georgiana. All three un-

married.

Sir William died on the 10th of February, 18 18, when

he was succeeded by his eldest son,

V. Sir William Fraser, as second Baronet and fifth

of Leadclune, on the death of the sons of his grand-uncle,

Captain Thomas Fraser of the 78th Highlanders, without

surviving male issue.

Sir William died, unmarried, in China, where he held

the highest official appointment in the H.E.I.C.S., on the

23rd of December, 1827, and was succeeded by his next

brother,

VI. Sir James John Fraser, third Baronet and sixth

of Leadclune. He served in the 7th Hussars in Spain, was

on the Marquis of Anglesea's staff at Waterloo, and attained
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the rank of Lieutenant-Colonel of his regiment in 1826.

He married Charlotte Anne, only child of Daniel Craufurd

(son of Sir Alexander Craufurd, Baronet of Kilbirnie,

county of Stirling', and niece of the distinguished Major-

General Robert Craufurd who commanded the Light

Division in the Peninsular War and was killed while

gallantly leading it to the storming of Ciudad Rodrigo,

and of Lieutenant-General Sir C. Craufurd, G.C.B., M.P.)

By this lady Sir James had issue

—

1. William Augustus, his heir.

2. Sir Charles Craufurd Fraser, K.C.B., V.C., born in

1829, Lieutenant-General in the Army, late Colonel of

the nth Hussars, Colonel-in-Chief of the 8th Hussars, and

Aide-de-Camp to his Royal Highness the Duke of Cam-
bridge, Field-Marshal Commanding-in-Chief. He was on

the staff of the Lord-Lieutenant of Ireland ; Inspector-

General of Cavalry ; and highly distinguished himself in

India. He died unmarried.

3. James Keith Fraser, C. M.G., Lieutenant-Colonel 1st

Life Guards and a Colonel in the army. He became Major-

General and C. M.G. in 1886, and Lieutenant-General in

1893. Born in 1832, he entered the army at an early age,

and had a distinguished military and diplomatic career. He
served as Orderly Officer to Admiral Sir Rodney Mundy,

G.C.B., on the expedition to Kinburn, at the mouth of the

Dnieper, in 1855, and was present at its bombardment and

surrender—an action for which he received the Crimean

medal. He was present at the Italian War in i860, and was

present at several battles in the Franco-Prussian War. In

recognition of his devoted services to the wounded on the

field of battle in this campaign, he had a gold medal from

the President of the French Republic. General Fraser was

Adjutant-General and Quarter-Master-General at Aldershot

in 1882-83, and Military Commissioner at Vienna, Bucharest,

and Belgrade 1885-90 (having the Grand Cross of the Franz

Josef Order of Austria). He was in command of the

Dublin district in 1890-91, and since that date Inspector-

General of Cavalry in Gieat Britain and Ireland. He
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married, on the ioth of June, 1865, Amelia Alice Julia,

eldest daughter of the Hon. Humble-Dudley Ward, son of

William Humble Ward, tenth Lord Ward, and brother

of the late William Ward, first Earl of Dudley, with issue

—

Charles Dudley, born on the 30th of September, 1866, and

died in 1870; Keith Alexander, born on the 24th of Sep-

tember, 1867, Lieutenant in the 7th Hussars ; Hugh
Craufurd, born on the 3rd of April, 1869, Lieutenant in

the 1st Life Guards ; and a daughter, Helena Violet. He
died on the 30th of July, 1895.

Sir James John died on the 5th of June, 1834, and his

widow married, as her second husband, Sir Ralph Howard,

baronet, M.P., of Clonmore Castle, first cousin of the Earl

of Wicklow, and died on the 7th of May, 1867, without

issue by this marriage.

He was succeeded by his eldest son,

VII. Sir William Augustus Fraser, fourth Baronet

and seventh of Leadclune. He was born on the ioth of

February, 1826, and was educated at Eton, and Christ-

church, Oxford, of which he is M.A. He was a Captain

in the 1st Life Guards ; was elected M.P., in 1852 and

1857, for Barnstaple ; and in 1863, for Ludlow. At the

General Election of 1874, he was returned for Kiddermin-

ster, and continued to represent the constituency until the

end of that Parliament in 1880. He is the author of

" Coila's Whispers " (poems), " WT

ords on Wellington,"

" Disraeli and his day," " Hie et Ubique," " Napoleon

III.," and other popular works. He is one of the Queen's

Body-Guard for Scotland, and unmarried.



THE FRASER-TYTLERS OF ALDOURIE.

I. William Fraser, W.S., second son of Alexander

Fraser, II. of Balnain, was the first Fraser of this family.

He succeeded his brother, Hugh Fraser, as IV. of Balnain,

and in 1754 acquired the lands of Aldourie by purchase

from Captain Daniel Barbour. William married Jean,

daughter of Archibald Macaulay, Lord Provost of Edin-

burgh, on record as his late wife in 1776, by whom he had

three daughters, the eldest of whom,

II. Anne Fraser, married in 1776, Alexander Tytler,

Lord Woodhouselee, born in 1747, one of the Senators

of the College of Justice and of the Commissioners of

Justiciary, and she ultimately carried to him, as heir of

entail of her father, both the lands of Balnain and Aldourie,

whereupon her husband assumed the name of Fraser as

a prefix to his own. The issue of this marriage were

—

1. William Fraser-Tytler, who succeeded to the estates.

2. James Tytler, who succeeded to Woodhouselee. He
was born on the 9th of October, 1780, and married

Elizabeth, daughter of Maurice Carmichael of East End,

Lanarkshire, with issue— (1) Alexander Tytler, a Lieutenant

in the Royal Artillery, who was born on the 20th of June,

181 1, and died, unmarried, before his father on the 14th

of May, 1841
; (2) Maurice William, a Lieutenant in the

H.E.I.C.S., who also died unmarried before his father

in 1837 ; (3) James Stuart Fraser-Tytler, who succeeded his

father in Woodhouselee. He was born in 1820, and in

1850 married Mary Elizabeth, only child of Alexander

Blair, a cadet of the family of Blair of Blair, with issue

—

James William Tytler, born in 1854; Mary Elizabeth;

Katharine Anne ; Emily Jane ; and Alice Seton
; (4) George

Michael, born in 1822, and married, in 1864, Jane Geor-
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giana (who died in 1871), daughter of George Skene of

Rubislaw, Aberdeenshire, with issue—Maurice William

Tytler, born in 1869, and Georgiana Mabel Kate. James
Tytler died on the 10th of October, 1861. James Stuart

Fraser-Tytler of Woodhouselee, died in 1891.

3. Alexander, who married, with issue, all of whom
died young.

4. Patrick Fraser-Tytler, F.R.S.E., the well-known his-

torian of Scotland. He was born in 1791, and married,

first, Rachel (who died in 1835), daughter of Thomas Hog
of Newliston, Midlothian, with issue— (1) Alexander, an

officer in the Indian Army, who died unmarried
; (2)

Thomas Patrick, Major in the Indian Army, who married

Emily Bingham, with issue —Alexander, Mary, and Jean

who, in 1895, married H. Williams; (3) Mary Stuart, who
died unmarried in 1887. Patrick, the historian, married

secondly, Anastasia, daughter of Thomson Bonar of Camp-
den Place, Kent, without issue. He died in 1849.

5. Jane, who on the 14th of September, 1823, married

James Baillie Fraser, XIII. of Reelick, without issue.

6. Anne, who died, unmarried, on the 3rd of September,

1857, aged 75 years.

7. Isabella, who also died unmarried.

Lord Woodhouselee died in 18 12, his widow having sur-

vived him until 1837. He was succeeded by his eldest son,

III. WILLIAM FRASER-TYTLEF, who was born in Sep-

tember 1777, studied for the law, was called to the Scottish

Bar in 1799, and appointed Sheriff-Depute of Inverness-

shire, in succession to Simon Fraser, X. of Farraline,

in 1 8 10, an office which he held for the long period of

forty-three years, during many of which he was also Vice-

Lieutenant and Convener of the county. He performed

the various and responsible duties of these important offices

with great attention and ability. On the 10th of March,

1801, he married Margaret Cussans, only daughter and

heiress of George Grant of Burdsyard, now Sanquhar, near

Forres, with issue

—

1. Alexander Fraser, born in 1803, a Lieutenant in the
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H.E.I.C.S., who died unmarried, before his father, at

Akyab, on the 4th of August, 1832.

2. George Fraser, born in 1807, a Lieutenant in the

army, who also died unmarried, before his father, in 1836.

3. William Fraser, who succeeded his father.

4. Charles Edward Fraser, in the Madras Civil Service.

He succeeded to Burdsyards, and ultimately to Aldourie.

5. James Macleod Bannatyne Fraser, C.B., who was

born in 1821, Major-General in the military service of

Bengal. He married Anne Langley, with issue—William

and Margaret.

6. Elizabeth Fraser, born in 1802, and died, unmarried,

in 1890.

7. Jane Anne, who, as his first wife, married Field-Mar-

shal Sir Patrick Grant, Governor of Chelsea Hospital, who
died in 1895, with issue—Charles, and Aldourie who died

unmarried. She died in 1838.

8. Mary Fraser, who married Arthur Ruxton, son of

William Ruxton of Ardee, Ireland, without issue.

9. Margaret Fraser, who married Thomas Ogilvy of Cor-

riemony, with issue. She died in 1850.

10. Christian Fraser, who married her brother-in-law,

Charles Ruxton, with issue.

11. Emilia Isabella Frances Fraser, who married Richard

Torin, born in 1799, with issue— Ernest, Lionel, and Anne.

Margaret Cussans, the mother, died on the 28th of Feb-

ruary, 1862, at the age of 81 years.

William Fraser-Tytler died at Malvern, Worcestershire,

on the 4th of September, 1853, aged j6 years, when he

was succeeded by his eldest surviving son,

IV. Colonel William Fraser of Aldourie. He was

born on the 12th of December, 18 15, joined the army,

became a Lieutenant-Colonel and Deputy Quarter-Master

General in the Bengal Cavalry, had five war medals and seven

clasps. He was subsequently Convener of the county of

Inverness, and Lieutenant-Colonel of the Inverness Artillery

Volunteers. He died, unmarried, on the 12th of Septem-

ber, 1878, when he was succeeded by his next brother,
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V. Charles Edward Fraser-Tytler, then of Burds-

yards. He was born on the 30th of December, 18 16, and

married, first, Etheldred St. Barbe, who died in 185 1, with

issue

—

1. Etheldred, unmarried.

2. Christina Catherine, who on the 26th of September,

1871, married the Rev. Edward Thomas Liddell, rector of

Wimpole, county of Cambridge, eldest son of Colonel the

Hon. George Augustus Frederick Liddell, son of Sir

Thomas Henry Liddell, Baronet of Ravensworth Castle,

Durham, raised to the Peerage as Baron Ravensworth, on

the 14th of July, 1821.

3. Mary, who married George Frederick Watts, R.A.,

without issue.

He married, secondly, on the 13th of July, 1852, Harriet

Jane, second daughter of the Rev. George Pretyman, rector

of Sherington and Prebendary of Lincoln, with issue

—

4. Charles William, born in 1854, and died before his

father, unmarried, in 1877.

5. Edward Grant, now of Aldourie.

6. William Theodore, born in 1861 and still unmarried.

7. Eleanor Dora, who married James, second son of

George Kellie MacCallum of Braco Castle, Perthshire, with

issue.

Charles Edward died in 188 r, when he was succeeded by

his elder surviving son,

VI. Edward Grant Fraser-Tytler, now of Aldourie,

late Captain Inverness-shire Militia. He was born on the

19th of July, 1856, and on the 15th of December, 188 r,

married Edith Adriana, daughter of Sir Charles Selwyn

of Selwyn Court, Richmond, one of the Judges of the High

Court of Justice, with issue

—

1. Charles, born on the 28th of April, 1883, and died on

the 7th of October, 1886.

2. Neil, born on the 29th of July, 1889.

3. Hester.



THE FRASERS OF GORTULEG.

I. JOHN Fraser, second son of Thomas Fraser, fourth of

Farraline, was the first of this family. His name appears in

the Valuation Roll of 1691, as "John Fraser, Gortuleg, for

his wadset, .£20." He married with issue at least two sons

—

1. Thomas, his heir and successor.

2. James Fraser, in Mussady, described in 1733, as

"brother german " of Thomas Fraser of Gortuleg. He
married with issue—at least one son, Thomas, who suc-

ceeded his uncle in Gortuleg-

.

John died before 1696-97, for his eldest son,

II. Thomas Fraser of Gortuleg in that year signs the

letter addressed by the leaders of the clan to the Earl of

Argyll. He was born in 1659. He is a witness to the

Bond of Alliance signed by the Frasers of Foyers and the

cadets of that family on the one hand, and the Mactavishes

of Stratherrick on the other, dated the 5th of April, 172 1,

given at length under the Family of Foyers. " Hugh
Fraser, nephew of Gortuleg," witnesses the same document.

Thomas was a very prominent personage in 1745, and Lord

Simon often refers to him in his correspondence with Lord

President Forbes and others. Frequent reference to him

will be found in the body of this work, especially during the

period before and after the Battle of Culloden. It would

have been already seen, p. 488, that he was excluded from

the pardon granted to the great majority of the other

Highland leaders engaged in the Rising, In 1753 Thomas
Fraser the elder, and Thomas Fraser the younger, uncle

and nephew, are mentioned. Thomas, the elder, married

before 1738, Mary Shaw, without issue, and died at Gor-

tuleg, on the 16th of April, 1756, at the great age of 97
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years,* when in terms of a disposition by himself he was

succeeded by his nephew, the son of his brother James,

III. Thomas Fraser of Gortuleg. He is one of the

substitutes named in General Simon Fraser's entail of 1774.

He married, with issue

—

1. James, his heir and successor.

2. Simon ; and other sons.

He was succeeded by his eldest son,

IV. James Fraser, W.S., born in 1729. In 1780 he is

designated "of Gortuleg." He married at Edinburgh on

the 19th of January, 1769, Jean, daughter of Alexander

Spalding of Holme, Kirkcudbrightshire,! with issue —
1. Thomas, his heir and successor.

2. Alexander, born on the 24th of August, 1773, and,

like his father, bred to the law. He married Jane Hender-

son, who died on the 28th of February, 1848, and is

described on her tombstone in the Grey Friar's Church-

yard, Edinburgh, as the " widow of the late Alexander

Fraser, of Gortuleg." He died before his brother Thomas,

apparently without surviving male issue.

3. Simon, born on the 22nd of June, 1776. He also

died before his brother Thomas, without issue.

4. James, who was born on the 4th of March, 1778, and

succeeded his brother Thomas in the family estate.

5. Edward, a Captain in the H.E.I. Company's Madras

European Regiment, born on the 1st of July, 1780. He
married on the 25th of September, 18 15, at Kingsmills,

Inverness, Jane, fourth daughter of John Matson, of Wing-

ham Court, Kent, with issue

—

(1) James, born on the 4th

of July, 1816, at Mayfield, Inverness, and ultimately carried

on the representation of the family
; (2) Edward, born on

the 19th of September, 18 17, at Ness Cottage, Inverness.

He was an Advocate at the Scottish Bar, and for several

years Sheriff-Substitute of Sutherlandshire, at Dornoch.

He married on the 19th of April, 1854, his cousin, Eliza-

beth Sarah, daughter of Captain Melville Gore Matson, of

the 59th Regiment, without issue, and died on the 29th

* Scots Magazine. f Ibid.
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of December, 1855, aged 38 years; (3) Thomas Harvey,

R.N., born on the 24th of February, 1819, at Ness Cottage,

Inverness. He married at the Cape of Good Hope, Mary

Anne Hawkins, without issue
; (4) John, C.M.G., born on

the 15th of June, 1820, at Ness Cottage, Inverness, now in

the Mauritius, unmarried
; (5) Hugh Alexander, an officer

in the Indian Navy, born on the 9th of July, 1822, at Ness

Cottage, Inverness. He married Elizabeth, daughter of

Sheriff Steele, Glasgow, with issue—three sons, James,

Edward, and Hugh, and two daughters, Jane, and Dora

;

(6) Mary Anne, born on the 20th of March, 1824, at Heath

Cottage, Inverness, and married, in 1852, Captain Thomas
Anthony Swinburne, R.N., eldest son of General Swin-

burne, of Pontop, Durham, with issue—six sons, Thomas
Robert, Spearman, James, John, Anthony, and Henry

; (7)

Jean Spalding, born on the 30th of November, 1825, at

Heath Cottage, Inverness, and died on the 25th of June,

1845, aged 19 years, unmarried
; (8) Elizabeth Katharine,

born on the 16th of March, 1827, unmarried. Captain

Edward Fraser, after he retired from the service, was for

many years factor for Lady Saltoun, at Ness Castle. He
was drowned in the Caledonian Canal, having fallen into it

at Muirtown Locks, while landing from the steamer, on

the 1 2th of April, 1827.

6. John, who was born on the 20th of July, 1783. He
married Margaret, daughter of James Smart of Liberton

Park, Dalkeith, with issue—(1) James, born on the 9th of

January, 1812, and died the same year; (2) Alexander,

born on 13th March, 18 13, and married on the 15th of

May, 1867, Elizabeth, eldest daughter of John Barbour

of Bankhead, Renfrewshire, with issue

—

(a) John Herbert,

M.A. of Cambridge, born on the 24th of July, 1870; (b)

Alexander Thomas, B.A. of Cambridge, born on the 23rd

of December, 1873 ;
(c) Lydia Sybilla

;
(d) Margaret Helen

;

(e) Elizabeth Alice ; and (/) Roberta Violet, who died on

the 15th of August, 1892, in her tenth year. Alexander

is still alive in his 83rd year
; (3) John, born on the 1st of

February, 1820. He was for many years the well-known

37



578 HISTORY OF THE FRASERS.

Manager of the Life Association of Scotland in Edinburgh,

and married on the 29th of March, 1862, Susan Foulis,

daughter of Major-General Thomas Webster of Balgarvie,

county of Fife, with issue— (a) Alexander Edmund, M.A.

of Oxford, born on the 12th of February, 1863. He is

a barrister-at-law of the Inner Temple, and Second Secre-

tary in Her Majesty's Diplomatic Service, at the British

Embassy, Rome
;

(b) Thomas Oliver, born on the 21st

of September, 1864; (c) John Bernard, born on the 27th

of January, 1866; (d) Henry Francis, born on the 30th

of November, 1872, Second Lieutenant, 5th Lancers; (e)

Robert Webster, born on the 2nd of February, 187.7;

(/) Ada Susan
; (g) Helen Agnes, and (h) Florence Mar-

garet. John Fraser, died on the 30th of January, 1885,

in his 64th year; (4) James, born in 1821, and died the

same year; (5) Thomas, born in 1825, for many years

London Manager of the Life Association of Scotland. He
married in 1855, Frances Gillanders, who died in 1865,

third daughter of John Moore of Willen Hall, Barnet,

and Garden Reach, Calcutta, with issue

—

(a) Hugh, born

on the 26th of April, i860, M.A., and LL.D. of Cam-
bridge, barrister-at-law of the Inner Temple. He married,

in 1888, Ethel Mary, elder daughter of the late Rev.

James Milne Hamilton, M.A., Vicar of Ridgmount,

Bletchley, with issue—Mackenzie Hamilton, born on the

26th of November, 1889, and Margaret Hamilton
;
(b) John

Alexander, solicitor, London. He was born on the 14th

of December, 1861, and in 1890 married Gertrude Loma
Macneill, third daughter of the late Henry Hyndman Ken-

nedy of Shanghai and Nairn, with issue—Hugh Macneill,

born on the 22nd of April, 1893, and Margaret Loma
;

(c) Francis Edwin, born 25th of May, 1864, agent for the

Worsthorne estate, Lancashire; (d) Margaret Anne, who died

in 1871, in her fifteenth year; (e) Anne Isabella, who died

in infancy in 1859. Thomas Fraser married, secondly, in

1870, Gertrude, younger daughter of Charles Washington

Lovegrove, of Tulse Hill, Surrey, with issue—(/) Keith,

born on the 25th of September, 1871, B.A. of Cambridge;
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(g) Leigh, born on the 25th of August, 1876; (h) Charles,

born on the nth of January, 1879; and Elspeth Louise.

Thomas Fraser died in 1881, aged 56 years; (6) Helen,

born in 18 15, and died on the 5th of December, i860, un-

married
; (7) Margaret, a twin with her brother James.

She, like him, died in infancy. Their father, John Fraser,

died on the 6th of April, 1850, aged 6j years, his wife

having predeceased him on the 20th of June, 1837.

7. Hugh, born on the 4th of April, 1792.

8. Janet, born on the 30th of December, 1786, and died,

unmarried, on the 29th of February, 1837.

James Fraser of Gortuleg died from the effects of a

carriage accident, which occurred at Tyndrum, Argyleshire,

on the 30th November, 1805,* when he was succeeded by

his eldest son,

V. Thomas Fraser of the H.E.I.C.S. He was born

on the 4th of March, 1771, and died unmarried at Masuli-

patam in 1823, when he was succeeded by his eldest

surviving brother,

VI. James Bristow Fraser, W.S., who was served

heir to his brother Thomas on the 2nd of February, 1824.

He sold the estate and died unmarried when he was

succeeded as representative of the family by his nephew,

the eldest son of Captain Edward Fraser,

VII. James Fraser, who was born on the 4th of July,

18 16, at Maryfleld, and married on the 23rd of September,

185 1, at St. John's Chapel, Inverness, Georgina Inglis, third

daughter of Captain Thomas Cleather, H.E.I.C.S., and

grand-daughter of George Inglis of Kingsmills, with issue

—

1. Edward Cleather, who was born at Burnside, Maur-

itius, on the 26th of April, 1853.

2. James Alexander, M.R.C.S. and L.R.C.P., London.

Born on the 1 ith of December, 1854, at Burnside, Mauritius,

he married on the 12th of June, 1884, Helen Alves, daughter

of General Chitty of the Bombay Staff Corps, with issue

—

Helen Alves, Georgina Marion, and Annie Cleather.

3. John Matson Currie, born on the 31st of January,

* Scots Magazine, for November, 1805.



$80 HISTORY OF THE FRASERS.

1857, at Cascades, Mauritius, and married Flora, second

daughter of Charles MacCulloch, without issue.

4. Thomas Guthrie, Lieutenant, R.N., a twin of his

brother John Matson Currie. He served as Sub-Lieu-

tenant in H.M.S. "Active," in the Naval Brigade during

the Zulu War, and took part, among other actions, in the

memorable defence of Etshowe, under Colonel Pearson.

As Lieutenant, he served in H.M.S. "Superb" at the

bombardment of Alexandria, and commanded a contingent

at Tel-el-Kebir, and afterwards at Cairo. He has medals

and clasp for Africa ; for Egypt with two clasps ; the

Khedive's Star, and Medjidieh.

5. Hugh Stein, born on the 5th of March, 1863, at

Cascades, Mauritius, now in Madras.

6. George Ireland, born on the 18th of July, 1876, at

Blackheath, London, second Lieutenant, 7th Battalion Rifle

Brigade.

7. Eric, born on the 18th of December, 1878, at Black-

heath, at present a King's Scholar at Eton.

8. Georgina Jane, born on the 12th of May, 1859, and

died young.

9. Helen Mary, born at Cascades, Mauritius, and died at

Blackheath, on the 7th of February, 1875, in her eleventh

year.

10. May Inglis.

11. Annie Violet. ~>
.

12. Charlotte Rose, j
Twins<

13. Amy Georgina.

James Fraser died on the 7th of July, 1887, when he was

succeeded, as representative of the family, by his eldest son,

VIII. Edward Cleather Fraser, a merchant in the

Mauritius, where he was born on the 26th of April, 1853.

He married, on the 4th of May, 1882, Mary Josephine,

youngest daughter of the late Thomas Howie, merchant,

with issue

—

1. James Howie, born on the 4th of April, 1888.

2. Elsie Georgina.

3. Marjory Harriet.



THE FRASERS OF CULDUTHEL.

I. James Fraser, first of Culduthel, was the third son,

by his wife Katharine, fourth daughter of Hugh Rose, IX.

of Kilravock, of John Fraser, "Ian Mac Alastair," II. of

Farraline, whose father, Alexander, was third son of Hugh,

third Lord Lovat, by Janet, daughter of Sir Alexander

Gordon, brother of George, second Earl of Huntly. James

was a posthumous child, his father having been killed at

Blar-na-leine on the 15th of July, 1544, before James was

born. Assuming, in the absence of any available public

reference to his career, that he lived the allotted span of

seventy years, he died about 1620, when he was succeeded

by his son,

II. Malcolm Fraser, designated in 1619 "of Ruth-

ven," but in 163 1 "of Culduthel," his wife being mentioned

as Katharine Baillie of the Dunain family.

He was succeeded by his son,

III. James Fraser, whose name appears as "James
Fraser of Culduthel" in a copy of the Stent Roll of the

parish of Inverness, dated the 31st of March, 1634, when

he was appointed one of the Stenters, and in that capacity

signs the document along with James Cuthbert of Drakies,

Thomas Schivez, burgess of Inverness, and William Baillie,

elder* He is entered in the Valuation Roll of the county

of Inverness for 1644, at a rental for that place, in the

parish of Inverness, of £325 10s ; £181 6s 8d for lands

in Boleskine and Abertarff; and £66 13s 4d in the parish

of Kilmonivaig, all Scots money. In the same year he is

mentioned as James Fraser, son to the umquhile Malcolm

Fraser of Culduthel. He married Miss Forbes of Culloden,

with issue

—

1. Malcolm, his heir and successor.

2. John, whose name appears in a precept of poinding

at the instance of James Dunbar, Bailie of Inverness, dated

* Invernessiatia, pp. 144-5-6*
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the 9th of December, 1698, for several sums of money
arrested in the hands of three tenants of John Fraser of

Errogie. He is described in the document as " John

Fraser, son to Culduthel, in Bellinloan." In the bond of

172 1 there is mentioned an Alexander, son of John Fraser

in Bellaloin. John's nephew William, third son of Malcolm,

is designated " of Balloan " in the marriage contract, dated

173 1, of Robert Fraser, eldest son and successor of Major

James Fraser of Castle Leathers.

3. A daughter, who married Hugh Fraser, III. of Erchitt,

with issue—Hugh Fraser, I. of Balnain, and others.

James was succeeded by his elder son,

IV. MALCOLM FRASER, who is mentioned in a pro-

clamation in 1678, ordering several heads of families and

others to compear at Inverlochy on the 20th of November
in that year, to give bonds for themselves, their tenants, and

all of their name descended from their respective families.

In this document he is described as " Malcolm Fraser of

Culduthel." He appears under the same designation in the

Valuation Roll for the county of Inverness in 169 1, for

Culduthel at a rental of ^205, and for lands in Boleskine

valued at £75, all Scots. It will be observed that the rent

of Culduthel fell considerably since 1644, and that there is

no reference in 169 1 to the lands in the first-named year

owned by the family in the parish of Kilmonivaig.

He married Anne, daughter of William Baillie, eighth

of Dunain, with issue

—

1. Alexander, his heir and successor.

2. Major James, first of Castle Leathers, of whose family

presently.

3. William, who is one of the witnesses to and described

in the marriage contract of his nephew Robert, son of Major

James Fraser, first of Castle Leathers, as his uncle " William

of Balloan," "Alexander Fraser of Culduthel" being desig-

nated Robert's other uncle.

4> John. Simon Lord Lovat, in 1697, sends a letter

to his first wife, just after his marriage, "by the hand of

John Fraser, brother of Culduthel," and in 1703-4 his
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Lordship addresses a letter to "Alexander Fraser of Cul-

duthel, or James or John, his brothers."

5. Hugh, who married a daughter of Murdoch Mac-

kenzie, II. of Redcastle, widow of Alexander, son of William

Fraser, VIII. of Foyers.

6. Katharine, who on the 29th of September, 171 1,

married James MacQueen of Corrybrough.

Malcolm was succeeded by his eldest son,

V. Alexander Fraser of Culduthel, who was one of

the signatories to the letter by Thomas of Beaufort and

the principal gentlemen of the clan, to John Earl of Argyll,

1696-97, in which they declared their determination to

defend themselves from the troops sent against the Frasers

in consequence of the outrage perpetrated on the Dowager

Lady Lovat and the capture of Lords Saltoun and Mungo
Murray detailed at length at pp. 213-223.

Alexander appears to have been on very friendly terms

with Simon of the 'Forty-five; for in the Letter of Advice

which his Lordship wrote to the clan from London, on the

5th of April, 1718, when he thought he was at the point

of death, Simon thus refers to him :
—

" To the lasting praise

of Culduthel and his familie, I never knew himself to swerve

from his faithful zeal for his chief and kindred, nor none

of his familie, for which I hope God will bless him, and

them, and their posterity." Alexander writes the following

letter—the spelling modernised—dated "Culduthel, 20th

November, 1729," to "Mr Alexander Monroe, Comissr. of

Inverness" :

—

" Dear Sir,— I send you the enclosed copy at Joseph Mackintosh

of Raigmore's instance against me for an alleged track brought into

my bounds of five or six cows harvest last the time of our . . .,

which track was lodged upon the highway, where a considerable

drove of cattle passed some days before, and the very same track or

the like was driven to other bounds, as my men can verify, though

they cannot pointedly swear
;
yet I find one of the judges told me

that he was sure I would be decerned. I told him he was too pre-

cipitate
/
and though they were cousins-german, yet he might find

himself mistaken. I am resolved to advocate it. However, you will

please appear for me, since I will be with you a day or two before
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the second diet and then we will advise further about it. I offer my
most humble duty to yourself and lady, and believe me to be, sir,

your most affectionate humble servant,

(Signed) "Alex. Fraser.

"P.S.—You will please send me the form of a mittimus, since I am
to give in a thief next week to the Magistrates of Inverness to be

secured in prison, since I am resolved to try him for his life or

banishment."

The practice of "lifting'" cattle even as late as 1729, was

not uncommon, and the custom gave rise to several regula-

tions. The principal feature of this practice was the system

which grew up in connection with it of levying blackmail,

already more than once referred to in the course of this

work, and which, at this period, was tacitly sanctioned by

the Government of the day. There was also a recognised

rule by which, when cattle were stolen, it was made in-

cumbent on the proprietor to whose lands the track was

traced to clear himself of the offence by tracing them

through his bounds to the property of his neighbours, while

at the same time immediate notice to the authorities was

insisted upon as necessary to clear himself of any suspicion

or responsibility. This practice and these conditions will

fully explain Culduthel's letter and its cause.

He married a daughter of William Mackenzie, III. of

Belmaduthy, by his wife Elizabeth (who died in 1772), third

daughter of Sir Kenneth Mackenzie, first Baronet and IV.

of Scatwell, with issue at least two sons

—

1. Alexander, his heir and successor.

2. Malcolm, "a son of Culduthel," who joined the Black

Watch when that regiment was first formed in 1740. He
attained to the rank of Captain and fought at the famous

battle of Fontenoy in 1745, where, although defeated, the

Highlanders covered themselves with undying glory. He
was a Volunteer at Bergen-op-Zoom when, in 1747, it was

besieged by Count Lowendhal at the head of a force of

25,000 men, as were also Colonel Lord George Murray,

and several other officers of the Black Watch. Throughout

this campaign Malcolm was accompanied by his foster-

brother. When the regiment was sent with other troops to
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attempt to raise the siege of Bergen -op-Zoom, while they

lay in trenches near the French lines, a party was ordered

during the night to attack and destroy a battery occupied

by the enemy. Captain Fraser was one of them, but there

were no privates from the 42nd, and his ever present foster-

brother had to remain in the trenches. Mrs Grant of

Laggan gives the following interesting account of what

followed :

—

" The party left the trenches with the utmost silence and secrecy
;

but from the utter darkness and their imperfect knowledge of the

ground, became confused and so bewildered that they knew not

exactly where to proceed. Fraser of Culduthel, the officer already

mentioned, in the act of getting over the remains of an enclosure

which stopped his path, felt his feet entangled in something. Putting

down his hand to discover the cause he caught hold of a plaid and

seized the owner, who seemed to grovel on the ground. He held the

caitiff with one hand, and drew his dirk with the other, when he heard

the imploring voice of his foster-brother. ' What the devil brought

you here?' asked Culduthel. 'Just love for you and care for your

person.' ' Why so, when your love can do me no good, and has

already done me evil, and why encumber yourself with a plaid?

'Alas! how could I ever see my mother had you been killed or

wounded, and had I not been there to carry you home to the Surgeon,

or to Christian burial ; and how could I do either without my plaid

to wrap you in?' Upon enquiry it was found that the poor man
had crawled out on his hands and knees between the sentinels, then

followed the party at some distance till he thought they were ap-

proaching the place of assault, and then again crept in the same
manner on the ground beside his master that he might be near

him unobserved."*

Captain Malcolm, who was unmarried, was killed a few

days afterwards in August, 1747, by a cannon ball as he

was looking over the trench to view the approach of the

enemy.

Alexander died before the 12th of May, 1737, for on that

date, Lord Simon, in a letter to Sir James Grant, in which

he refers to James of Castle Leathers, mentions his brother

of Balloan, and his nephew Culduthel. It is of course

obvious that James's nephew could not have been described

* Superstitions of the Highlanders, pp. 190-92, vol, ii.
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as "Culduthel," until after his brother Alexander, V. of

Culduthel's death.

He was succeeded by his eldest son,

VI. Colonel Alexander Fraser, described as "of

Culduthel" in 1745, and he is again on record as such in

1757 and 1769. He married his cousin Lilias, only

daughter of Roderick " Maclan " Chisholm, XXI. of

Chisholm, by his second wife, Isabel, second daughter of

Sir Kenneth Mackenzie, Baronet, and IV. of Scatwell,

with issue

—

1. James, his heir and successor.

2. Roderick, a Colonel in the H.E.I.C. Service, born

on the 5th of May, 1763. He died unmarried.

3. Simon, a Captain in the same service, born on the 17th

of March, 1767, and killed in a duel in India, unmarried.

4. Grizell, who was born on the 4th of November, 1752,

and married the Rev. Alexander Grant, minister, first of

Daviot, and subsequently of Cawdor, who died in 1828,

aged 84 years, 65 of which were in the ministry. He is

mentioned by Boswell in Dr Johnson's Tour to the Hebrides.

By Grizzel of Culduthel he had issue—(1) the Rev. James

Grant, minister of Nairn, who married Christiana, daughter

of John Mackintosh, Midcoul, with issue—four sons and

one daughter. Three of the sons died unmarried, and the

other was the late distinguished Colonel James Augustus

Grant, C.B., of Nile celebrity, who was born on the nth
of April, 1827, and 'married Margaret Lawrie, with issue

—

(a) James Augustus Grant
;

(b) Alister
;

(c) Mary
; (d)

Christian ; and (e) Margaret. The Rev. James Grant's

only daughter, Margaret, married the late Rev. Dr Peter

Mackenzie, Ferintosh, Moderator of the General Assembly

of the Church of Scotland, whom she still survives, without

issue
; (2) George Grant, who married Robina, daughter of

the Rev. Dr Alexander Rose, minister of the High Church,

Inverness, without issue
; (3) Ann, who married Captain

William Fraser of the 92nd Gordon Highlanders, and sub-

sequently of the 6th Royal Veteran Battalion, stationed at

Fort-George, with issue

—

(a) Alexander, who died unmarried

;
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(b) George Fraser, a merchant in Liverpool, who also died

unmarried ; and (c) the late Robert Fraser of Brackla, who
married Mary, daughter of Robert Gordon of Croughly,

Banffshire, with issue—a son William Alexander, who died

unmarried ; Mary Ellen, who married Frederick Jerdein,

a merchant in China, without issue ; Anne Georgina

;

Robina Gordon, who married Lieutenant-Colonel Colin

George Lorn Campbell, Senior Ordnance Officer of the

North British headquarters, Edinburgh, who died on the

15th August, 1890, leaving issue—a son Charles William,

and a daughter Isla Gavine ; and Emily Forbes
;
(d) Anne,

who married Alexander Mackintosh, a Culcutta merchant,

now resident in London, with issue— three sons and a

daughter; (e) Grace, who died unmarried; (4) Grace, who
married John Mackintosh of Firhall, county of Nairn, with

issue.

5. Isabella, who was born on the 24th of June, 1758, and

married the Rev. Dr Alexander Fraser, minister of Kirkhill

(son of the Rev. Donald Fraser, Tutor for many years to

the sons of Simon Lord Lovat, subsequently parish minister

of Killearnan, and afterwards of Ferintosh), with issue, four

sons and five daughters— (1) the Rev. Donald Fraser, who
succeeded his father in Kirkhill, and married Jane, daughter

of Robert Gordon of Drakies, with issue, four sons and

five daughters

—

(a) the Rev. Alexander Fraser, first ap-

pointed minister of Cawdor, and next as his father's

successor in Kirkhill, where, in 1843, he was one of the

ministers who came out as one of the founders of the Free

Church. He died, still in that charge, in 1883, unmarried;

(b) Peter Gordon Fraser, Colonial Secretary in Tasmania.

He (who died in 1891) married Mary, daughter of John

Bisdee of that colony, with issue—two sons, the elder

of whom, Donald Alexander, M.D., Totnes, Somerset-

shire, married Elizabeth, eldest daughter of Eward Penny
Trenchard, Blackheath, with issue—Alexander Edward

Gordon, and Gladys Gordon. The younger son, Graeme, is

a Surgeon practising his profession at Weston Super Mare,

county of Somerset. He married Fanny, daughter of
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James Austin, of Geelong, Australia, and Glastonbury

Abbey, Somerset, with issue—Alister James Gordon, who
died aged nine years, and Athalie Mary Gordon. Peter

Gordon Fraser had also three daughters—Geraldine, who
died in infancy; Athalie, who died at the age of 17 years;

and Maude, who married Alfred Horace Lovibond, of Ash-

down, with issue—two sons, one of whom died in infancy.

(c) Donald, who married Jessie, daughter of Robert Mac-

kenzie, Borgie, with issue—Robert, a missionary in the

New Hebrides ; Alexander and Boyce, engaged in business

in Edinburgh ; Hector, a licentiate of the Free Church ; and

two daughters, Isabella and Jane, both unmarried
;
(d) the

Rev. Hector Fraser, now Free Church minister of Halkirk,

county of Caithness, who married Anne Montgomery,

daughter of the Rev. Charles Ross Matheson, minister of

Kilmuir-Easter, Ross-shire, with surviving issue—Hector

Charles Fraser, in business in India, who married Caroline,

daughter of Thomas Rae, with issue—a son and daughter

;

John Edward Fraser, in the United States of America,

unmarried ; Millicent, who married John Sinclair Gunn,

Sibster, Caithness, with issue, two sons and three daughters;

and Caroline Shaw, Anna Matheson, and Mary Isabella, all

three of whom are still unmarried
;

(e) Lilias, who married

John Fraser, Provost of Inverness, with issue—Alexander

Fraser, who emigrated to Coburg, Ontario, Canada, where

he married Mary M. Torrance, of Montreal, and at his death

left a numerous family; the Rev. Donald Fraser, D.D., for

many years minister of the Free High Church, Inverness,

and afterwards of the English Presbyterian Church, Maryle-

bone, London. He married Theresa, daughter of General

Gordon, Royal Engineers, with issue—four sons, Ernest

Gordon Fraser, engineer, in the Indian Civil Service, mar-

ried to Florence King ; Alfred William Fraser, an engineer

in Queensland ; Theodore Fraser, an officer in the Royal

Engineers ; Frederick John Fraser, an officer in the army

;

and an only daughter, Theresa, who married John Beatson,

of Buenos Ayres. Lilias and Provost John Fraser's third

son was the Rev. William Fraser, minister of St. Bernard's
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Free Church, Edinburgh, subsequently of Brighton. He
married Margaret, daughter of John Playfair, Glasgow,

with issue—Jane, who married Alexander Coldstream,

M.D., of Florence; Margaret Evangeline, who married

John Roxburgh, barrister-at-law, London ; and Florence,

and Selina, both unmarried. Their fourth son was John

Fraser, a missionary in Persia, who died at Bagdad, un-

married ; and their only daughter Jane, married James

Torrance, merchant, Montreal, with issue
; (/) Isabella, who

married John Black, manufacturer, Glasgow, with issue

—

a son James, who was killed in the Maori war, in New
Zealand, unmarried; and a daughter, Lily, who married

Henry Dickson, Melbourne, with issue—two sons and three

daughters. Mrs Black still survives and resides in Inver-

ness, (g) Mary, who married the Rev. John Grant, minister

of Petty, and subsequently of the Free Church, Roseneath,

with issue —three sons and three daughters—Donald, who
married Alice Brush, with issue—a son and daughter

;

and died in America; Edmund, in business in Montreal,

and still unmarried
; John, who died in Boston, U.S.A.,

also unmarried. The three daughters, Jane, Mary, and

Millicent, are still unmarried
;

(k) Jane ; and (z) Millicent,

the other two daughters of the Rev. Dr Donald Fraser,

both died unmarried. The other three sons of the Rev.

Dr Alexander Fraser of Kirkhill and Isabella Fraser of

Culduthel died unmarried. Their eldest daughter, Lilias,

married the Rev. James Maclauchlan, minister of Moy,

Inverness-shire, with issue—a son Alexander, who became

a Doctor, and died in India. Their other four daughters

died unmarried. Dr Alexander Fraser himself died in

1802, aged 53 years. His eldest son and successor in

Kirkhill, the Rev. Donald Fraser, died at the same age

in 1836.

6. Jean, who was born on the 6th of August, 1764, and

on the 27th of May, 1786, married the Rev. Roderick

Morison, minister of Kintail, with issue—Alexander Mori-

son, who was born on the 24th of April, 1787. He entered

the army and died in Java, unmarried, on the 29th of July,
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1812; (2) William Morison, born on the 10th of August,

1790, and died in Demerara, unmarried on the 15th of

May, 1 8 14; (3) the Rev. James Morison, who was born

on the 24th of May, 1798, and succeeded his father (who

d-ied on the 14th of April, 1826, his wife, Jean Fraser,

surviving him until the 29th of January, 1830), as minister

of Kintail. The Rev. James married in 1838, Johanna,

daughter of Lachlan Mackinnon of Corry, Isle of Skye,

with issue

—

(a) the Rev. Roderick Morison, born on the

31st of July, 1839, and succeeded his father, on his death

on the 19th of January, 1882, aged 84 years, as minister

of Kintail, having been admitted his colleague and suc-

cessor in 1878. He is now in that charge. He married

Janet Alexander
;

(b) Alexander William, born on the 14th

of August, 1844, and died on the 4th of January, 185 1, in

his seventh year
;

(c) Anne, who married William Dick,

without issue, and is now a widow residing at Greenhill,

Inverness
;

{d) Jane, unmarried
; (4) Roderick, who was

born on the 16th of May, 1804, and was first a farmer

in Scallasaig, Glenelg, and subsequently at Aigas, Strath-

glass, where he died unmarried on the 6th of May, 1870

;

(5) Mary, who married Alexander Mackenzie, V. of Kern-

sary, with issue—Roderick, a planter in Demerara ; Alex-

ander, who died lately in Lincoln ; the Rev. Hector, late

minister of Moy ; Davidson, a squatter in Australia; Wil-

helmina, who married Alexander Mactavish, Town Clerk

of Inverness ; Maria, residing at Inverness, unmarried ; and

Jean Fraser, who married William Murray, tacksman of

Kilcoy. For their issue see Mackenzie's History of the

Mackenzies, new edition, pp. 520-521
; (6) Millicent, who

died on the 3rd of March, 1879, unmarried
; (7) Grace, who

died unmarried, on the 9th of January, 1881 ; and Lilias,

who married the Rev. Farquhar Maciver, minister of Glen-

shiel, and died without issue, on the 19th of August, 1877.

Colonel Alexander was succeeded by his eldest son,

VII. Captain James Fraser, who was served heir to

his father in 1774. He is one of the substitutes in General

Simon Fraser's entail in that year. He married with issue

—
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I. James, his heir and successor; and several other sons.

He died in 1783, when he was succeeded by his eldest

son,

VIII. Colonel James Fraser, who was born in 1756,

and was served heir to his father, Captain Alexander, in

1783. He was a very distinguished officer, serving-

for a

long- time in America and in the East Indies. On his retire-

ment he built the present Culduthel House. His name
appears as one of the grantees in the Charter to the Royal

Academy of Inverness, dated the 6th of March, 1793. He
married Millicent, only child of John Mackay of Raven-

head, Lancashire, and only son of John Mackay, merchant,

Inverness, by his wife Miss Barbour of Aldourie. By
Millicent Mackay Colonel Fraser had issue

—

1. Philip Affleck, his heir and successor.

2. Alexander, a Lieutenant-Colonel in the army, who
was born in 1791, and married Louisa Burton, with issue —
two sons, Francis and Henry, both Majors in the army,

retired ; and three daughters. He died, at Rugby, on the

24th of February, 1857.

3. John, a Captain in the Royal Navy. He was born

in 1793 and married Caroline Edwards, with issue—five sons

and two daughters, all unmarried. He died in 1861.

4. James, C.B., a distinguished military officer in the

H.E.I.C.S., who was born on the 9th of October, 1800.

He joined in 1817. On the 26th of October, 1827, he was

appointed Captain in the 2nd Regiment of Bengal Light

Cavalry. Sir John Kaye, speaking of the disaster in

Afghanistan, when in a charge against the whole cavalry

of Dost Mohammed the British officers were deserted by

their Sepoy soldiers—not more than twenty, including

officers, having advanced to the charge—says that "Captains

Fraser and Ponsonby, whose gallantry has never been sur-

passed even in the annals of old Roman heroism, still live

to show their honourable scars, and to tell with mingled

pride and humiliation the story of that melancholy day."*

Fraser was appointed Major in the British Army on the

* Vol i,, p. 564.
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23rd of November, 1841, and Brigade-Major at Bareilly

on the 24th of July, 1846. On the 7th of September in

the same year, he had the 3rd class Order of the Douranee

Empire conferred upon him ; on the 4th of October, 1842,

he was made a C.B. ; and on the 12th of January, 1848, was

appointed Honorary Aide-de-Camp to the Marquis of

Dalhousie, Governor-General of India. It is said of him

that "in appearance he was every inch a soldier. He was

nearly six feet and a half in height, well proportioned, and

of an erect military bearing." He was commonly known
in the North as "the long Colonel." He died, unmarried,

in Edinburgh, on the 2nd of June, 1868, and was buried in

the Churchyard of Boleskine, his funeral being very largely

attended as a mark of respect to his distinguished career and

great personal qualities.

5. Elizabeth, who died in 1892.

6. Millicent, who in 18 15, married William Mackintosh

of Aberarder.

7. Lilias, who on the 16th of February, 181 1, married

Lieutenant-General Sir John Rose of Holme Rose, K.C.B.,

and died at Upton Park, Slough, in May, 1855, at the age

of 65 years. They had issue—John Nugent Rose, who
died unmarried ; and the Rev. Francis Rose, late of Holme
Rose.

8. Elizabeth, who died unmarried.

9. Frances, who also died unmarried in 1859.

10. Anne, who died unmarried in 1879.

11. Jane, who married Henry Stewart of St. Fort,

County of Fife, and died in London. They had issue—
Robert Balfour, who died unmarried, and James Affleck,

who married in Canada, and had an only daughter.

Colonel James died in 18 16, when he was succeeded by

his eldest son,

IX. Philip Affleck Fraser, who was born on the

15th of March, 1787. In 1844 he sold the estate of

Culduthel to James Evan Baillie of Kingussie. He was one

of the greatest sportsmen and keenest anglers of his day,

and was for many years Convener of the Northern Meeting.
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On the 10th of June, 18 16, he married Jane Anne Cath-

erine, daughter of Edward Satchwell Fraser, XII. of

Reelick, having just entered on her twentieth year, with

issue

—

r. James, born in March, 1817, and died in infancy

in February, 18 18.

2. James, born in 1820.

3. Edward, born in January, 1822, and died unmarried

in 1848.

4. Affleck, born in April, 1827, a Captain in the Bengal

Horse Artillery, who died at Malta on the 17th of January,

1870, unmarried.

5. William, born in December, 1828, and died un-

married, on the 2nd of March, 1850.

6. Alister, born in September, 1830, and died at Edin-

burgh, unmarried, on the 20th of June, 1870, then described

as the youngest surviving son of the late Philip Affleck

Fraser of Culduthel.

7. John Donald, born in February, 1838, and died in

infancy in 1839.

8. Jane, who married Hugh Fraser, fifth son of William

Mackinnon Fraser, V. of Balnain, with issue. She died

in 1879.

9. Millicent, who died, unmarried, in 1873.

10. Mary, for several years considered one of the beauties

at the Northern Meeting balls. She married, in 1848, John

Macdonald, a Surgeon in her Majesty's Indian Army, with

issue—three daughters. He died in Lucknow during the

siege.

11. Georgina, unmarried.

12. Frances Elizabeth, who on the 4th of September,

1852, married Montague James White, of the Indian Army,

with issue—two sons and one daughter, all three now
residing in Canada. She died in 1894.

13. Catherine Amelia, unmarried.

Philip Affleck Fraser died on the 4th of September, 1862,

when he was succeeded as representative of the family of

Culduthel by his eldest surviving son,

38
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X. James Fraser, who was born in 1820, and in 1841

married Emma Jane, daughter of Colonel Owen Gray, of

her Majesty's service, with issue

—

1. Philip Affleck, born in 1845, now of Reelick.

2. James Owen Baillie, born in 1858. He went to India,

where he still remains, unmarried.

3. Edward William, born in 1861, and died in 1891,

unmarried.

4. Mary Emma, married, with issue.

5. Jane Catherine, married, with issue.

6. Millicent, who died in infancy.

7. Margaret Isabel, who died, unmarried, in her seven-

teenth year.

On the death of James Fraser in 1888, he was succeeded

as heir-male of Culduthel by his eldest son,

XI. Philip Affleck Fraser, now of Reelick, who
was born in 1845. His grandmother, Jane Anne Catherine

Fraser (who succeeded to Reelick on the death of her

brother James Baillie Fraser), gave over the estate to him

during her life, in 1879. He is a Fellow of the Royal

Geographical Society and a member of the Institution of

Civil Engineers, having been actively engaged since 1870

in the laying and construction of railways at home and

abroad. He has worked in Mexico, Venezuela, the Argen-

tine Confederation, Bolivia, Peru, and the West Indies,

besides reporting on schemes at the Cape, in Italy, Spain,

France, and Greece. He married in 1889 Augusta Zelia,

eldest daughter of William Frederick Webb of Newstead,

Notts, with issue

—

1. Phyllis Mary.

2. Violet Mabel.



THE FRASERS OF CASTLE LEATHERS.

I. Major James Fraser, second son of Malcolm Fraser,

III. of Culduthel, by his wife Anne, daughter of William

Baillie, eighth of Dunain, was the first of this family. He
is best known from his intimate connection with Lord

Simon of the Forty-five, the leading incidents of which

are fully detailed pp. 294-463 in the long account of that

chiefs career. It will be remembered that Major James

was chosen by the principal men of the clan to proceed

in 1 7 14 to France to plead with Lord Simon to return

home and take possession of the family estates, which he

succeeded in doing. He was Major in Lord Simon's

Battalion engaged in the Government service, after his

return from France, in 1715, he having received his com-

mission from Brigadier-General Sir Alexander Grant, who
was at the time Lord-Lieutenant of the county of Inverness.

He does not appear ever to have served in the regular

army. At the disarming in 1716 he gave up 36 guns,

valued at £8 2s 2d
; 30 swords, valued at £5 17s 6d ; and

one pair of pistols, valued at 10s, being a total sum of

.£14 9s 8d. Lord Simon and he occasionally had very

serious differences. His Lordship refers to the earliest of

these in his Letter of Advice to the clan, written in 171

8

from London and already referred to under Culduthel,

when he thought he was dying. His Lordship says

—

" I did faithfully design and resolve to make up and put at their

ease Alexander Fraser of Phopachy, and James Fraser of Castle-

ladders and their families ; and whatever disputes might be between

them and me, which our mutual hot tempers occasioned, joined to

the malice and calumny of both our enemies, I take God to witness
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I loved both those two brave men as I did my own life for the great

zeal and fidelity they showed to their chief and kindred."

In October, 1756, he was examined in certain proceed-

ings regarding" the entail of the Balnagowan estates, when

he said that he was then 86 years of age. He recollected

being in the office of James Baillie, Town Clerk of

Inverness, the year after the battle of Killiecrankie, and

remembered that David Ross of Balnagowan was then

named Governor of Inverness through the Earl of Suther-

land, on account of his clan and following, "though he

was but a weak man himself." Balnagowan, however, only

occupied the position for ten days, Sir James Leslie, who
came up with a regiment of regular troops, having super-

seded him.

Major James married Jean—Lord Lovat calls her Janet

—daughter of Sir Robert Dunbar of Grange Hill, now
Dalvey, near Forres, with issue

—

1. Robert, his heir.

2. James, of Mavis Bank, subsequently residing at Nairn.

He married, with issue—four sons, who all died without

issue, the only one who survived him being Simon, a Lieu-

tenant-Colonel in the East India Company's Service, and

he died without issue at Drumduan, near Forres, on the

24th of September, 1845, aged 65 years.

Major James had also several daughters, eleven children

in all. He died at Inshoch Castle in 1760, aged 90 years,

when he was succeeded as representative of the family by

his elder son,

II. Robert Fraser, of Kinnudie. He married in 173

1

(marriage contract dated the 16th and 30th January), Eliza-

beth, second daughter of John Dunbar of Kilflitt, with issue

—

1. James, his heir.

2. Margaret, who married her cousin, Alexander Dunbar

of Kilflitt.

3. Primrose, who married Daniel Ross of Cluniemore.

He was succeeded by his only son,

III. Colonel James Fraser of Kincorth, near Forres,

first a Captain in the 98th Regiment, He sold out, bought



THE FRASERS OF CASTLE LEATHERS. 597

Kincorth, and subsequently became second Lieutenant-

Colonel of the Fraser Fencibles, which regiment he com-

manded in Ireland on the occasion of the French invasion,

during the Irish Rebellion of 1798. He married in

November, 1772, Jean, eldest daughter of Alexander

Mackay of Auchmony, Glenurquhart, with issue

—

1. James, who was drowned at sea, unmarried, having

been lost with his vessel, belonging to the East India

Company in 1807 in the Indian Ocean.

2. Robert, who became the representative of the family.

3. Ann, who married Captain David Urquhart, of the

Fraser Fencibles and subsequently Paymaster of the 72nd

Highlanders, with issue. She died on the 5th of October,

1847.

4. Jane, who married Richard Annesley, of Ballysax

House, Kildare, Ireland.

5. Margaret, who married Captain Duncan Cameron, of

the Fraser Fencibles.

6. Mary, who first married a Mr Seely, and secondly

Dudley Joynt, a brother of her sister's second husband, who
had changed his name from Joynt to Annesley on suc-

ceeding to the Ballysax property.

Colonel James Fraser of Kincorth died at Kinsale in

1805, when he was succeeded as representative of the

family by his younger and only surviving son,

IV. Colonel Robert Fraser, K.H., who was born

in 1784, and joined his father in the Fraser Fencibles in

1797 as Ensign without pay. In January, 1801, he was

transferred as Ensign to the 72nd Highlanders, on bringing

50 volunteers to that regiment. He was present with the

72nd at the capture of Cape of Good Hope in 1805.

In 1808 he was promoted to a company in the 83rd, and

went through the chief battles and sieges of the Peninsular

War with that regiment. In 1825 he was appointed Fort

Major in Jersey, and in 1837 made a Knight of Hanover.

In 1838 he obtained his Lieutenant-Colonelcy. In 1846

he resigned his Staff appointment at Jersey, which he held

for nearly 22 years.
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He married in November, 1813, Sarah Forbes, daughter

of Dr James Macleod, descended from the family of Geanies,

by his wife, a daughter of William Duff of Muirtown (born

in 1707 and died in 1782), near Inverness, with issue

—

1. James, his heir, of whom presently.

2. Robert Walter Macleod, the present representative of

the family.

Colonel Robert died at Hounslow in 1847, when he was

succeeded as representative of the family by his elder son,

V. Sir James Fraser, K.C.B., who was born at Bath

on the 30th of September, 18 14. He entered the army

by joining the 35th Regiment in 1831, became its Com-
manding Officer, and Lieutenant-Colonel. In 1854 he

exchanged to the 72nd ; in 1856 he attained the rank

of full Colonel ; and shortly afterwards retired from the

service. In 1863 he was appointed Commissioner of Police

for the City of London, and continued to hold that im-

portant position until he resigned in 1890, having filled

it for the long period of 27 years. He married in April,

1849, Louisa, daughter of James Wilson, Chief Justice of

the Mauritius, with issue—two daughters, both of whom
predeceased him unmarried, Louisa, the eldest, in 188 1,

and Margaret in 1887. He was made a C.B. and after-

wards a K.C.B.

He died in London in April, 1892, aged 78 years, when

he was succeeded as representative of the Frasers of Castle

Leathers by his only brother,

VI. General Robert Walter Macleod Fraser,

now residing at 12 Norfolk Crescent, Hyde Park, London.

Born at Kensington on the 15th of December, 18 15, he

entered the army from Sandhurst in July, 1833, by joining

the 6th Regiment. He attained the rank of Lieutenant-

Colonel in 1857, having raised the 2nd Battalion of his

regiment; became full Colonel in 1862; exchanged from

the 6th Regiment in 1863 to a Depot Battalion which

he commanded until 1870. On reduction of the Depot

Battalion he was appointed Assistant-Adjutant-General in

Scotland, which office he held from October 1870 to April,
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1873; and he afterwards commanded the Brigade Depot

at Warwick until he was promoted to Major-General in

1875, subsequently anti-dated from 1868. He became a

Lieutenant-General in 1880; Honorary General in 1881,

and was appointed Colonel of the Royal Dublin Fusiliers

in 1 89 1, from which he was transferred to the Colonelcy

of the Royal Irish Regiment on the 8th of January, 1895.

He saw a good deal of active service both in India and

the Cape.

He married on the 10th of June, 1846, Martha Tinne,

fifth daughter of Samuel Sandbach of Hafodunas, county

of Denbigh, Wales, ex-Mayor of Liverpool, with issue

—

1. Robert Hugh, who was born at Bboterstown, near

Dublin, on the 20th of February, 1851, a Major in the

48th Regiment, still unmarried.

2. James Robertson, born in Liverpool on the 25th of

January, 1855, and died at Shorncliffe on the 25th of

December, 1867.

3. John Randal, born at Gibraltar on the 3rd of January,

1859, Major in the 47th Regiment. On the 12th of

March, 1895, he married Claribel Maud, daughter of Henry

George Meakin of Riverside, Kirkee, Bombay, with issue

—

a son, born at Poona, India, on the 12th of December, 1895.

4. Mary Macleod, unmarried.



THE FRASERS OF CULBOKIE AND
GUISACHAN.

I. WILLIAM FRASER, first of this family, was the second

son of Thomas, usually styled fourth Lord Lovat. He
was originally designed of " Tigh-a-Charsa," anglicised

" Teachors." He received the lands of Guisachan as his

patrimony from his father, and appears as William Fraser

"of Guisachan" as one of the witnesses to a contract of

excambion between John Mackenzie, IX. of Kintail, and

Dingwall of Kildin, dated the 20th of June, 1543. He
married, with issue, among several other sons

—

1. Hugh, his heir and successor.

2. James, who in a bond of manrent, dated in 1578, is

described as James Fraser "in Belladrum, brother german

to Hucheon Fraser of Guisachan." His son Hugh became

first of Belladrum, having received a charter of it from

Simon the eighth Lord on the 13th of June, 1598.

3. Agnes, who, in 1546 (marriage contract dated the istof

June in that year), as his third wife, married John Mor Grant

of Tomantoul, first of Glenmoriston, eldest son of John

Grant of Freuchie, usually styled the " Bard Ruadh," from

his being a poet and red-haired. She is designated in a

sasine of Culcabock, dated the 7th of August, 1546, "hon-

esta mulier Agnea Fraser, filia Gulielmus Fraser de Guis-

achan."

William was killed in 1554 at " Blar-nan-leine," when

he was succeeded by his eldest son,

II. Hugh Fraser, second of Guisachan, from whom the

family is called "Mac Uisdean." In 1556 he is served heir

to the following lands in the county of Ross :—Culbokie,

Kinkell-Clarsach, Dochcairn, Davochpollo, and Pitlundie.

In 1 561 he is found pursuing "John Tawachter vie Eachin,"

John Tuach Mhic Eachainn (third son of Hector Roy Mac-
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kenzie, I. of Gairloch), and Christina his wife, Alexander

Roy Mackenzie's daughter, for the wrongous and masterful

occupation of an oxgang and a half oxgang of the lands

of Davochpollo, and through his procurator, Sir James

Buchart, who appears for him in court, he gets a decree

in absence. On the 21st of March, in the same year, he

is defender in an action at the instance of John Robertson,

Treasurer of Ross, and pursuer in a suit against George

Dunbar, minister of Kilmuir. In 1562 he is fined for not

putting in an appearance at an assize for serving Hector

Mackenzie, III. of Gairloch, as heir to his father, John

Glassich Mackenzie, II. of Gairloch. In the same year

he is found pursuing his tenants in Culbokie for non-pay-

ment of their rents and warning them out of their holdings,

Rorie Allanson being one of the chief delinquents. On the

15th of October, 1563, Hugh Fraser of Guisachan served

as one of the jury at Inverness before James Earl of Moray,

Sheriff Principal of the county, in the service of John

Campbell of Cawdor in the barony of Strathnairn, there

being also present, among others, Kenneth Mackenzie, X.

of Kintail, Alexander Ross of Balnagown, Robert Munro

of Fowlis, Hugh Rose of Kilravock, William Fraser of

Struy, and Alexander Chisholm of Comar. In 1574 he

sold Davochcairn and Davochpollo to John Roy Mackenzie,

IV. of Gairloch, and in 1581-82 the lands of Kinkell-Clar-

sach and Pitlundie. " It is found from an old inventory

that there was a charter of alienation by Hugh Fraser of

Guisachan, dated the 29th of May, 1582, from which it

appears that John Roy, in 1574, acquired Davochcairn and

Davochpollo in Strathpeffer from this Hugh Fraser, and

that in the first-named year he obtained from him also the

lands of Kinkell-Clarsach and Pitlundie, in terms of a

contract of sale dated the 26th of January, 1581. The

charter is confirmed by James VI. in 1583."* In 1581 he

obtained a charter of Culbokie mill. On the 23rd of April,

1583, Hugh Fraser of Culbokie and William Fraser, IV.

of Foyers, were in trouble with Simon eighth Lord Lovat,

* History of the Mackenzies, new edition, p. 405.
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and they had to give his Lordship security not to interfere

with his woods of Strathglass, nor with the Water of Forne,

by killing red or black fish, or deer, and that they should

follow his standard. Reference is made in the bond to

Hugh's three sons, William, Alexander, and Hucheon.

Culbokie signs his name, but Foyers cannot write and has

to get the assistance of a Notary Public.

Hugh, between 1574 and 1584, alienated all the Ross-

shire lands (except Culbokie) which he inherited from his

uncle, James Fraser of Foyness, who, on the 7th of June,

1539, has a charter of the King's lands of Drumderfit in the

lordship of Redcastle, and on the 25th of October, 1542, two

years before his death at Kinlochlochy, another to himself

and his heirs-male, from James V., of the lands of Culbokie,

Kinkell-Clarsach, Davochcairn, Davochpollo, and Pitlundie,

all in the county of Ross. The destination being to heirs-

male, Foyness' only daughter, Agnes, did not succeed to

them on his death. They reverted to his nephew, Hugh,

II. of Guisachan.

There is an obligation by Hugh Fraser of Guisachan,

dated at Holyrood House on the 23rd of April, 1585, as

caution for William Fraser of Foyers and others, and also

by Foyers as cautioner for Guisachan and his three sons

—

" William, Allaster, and Hucheon Fraser," and others, that

they shall desist from trespassing on the feu lands and

living belonging to Simon Lord Lovat ; from his woods,

fishings, and deer ; from cutting the woods of Strathglass,

and various other practices in which they apparently in-

dulged to the loss and annoyance of his Lordship. The

document will be found quoted at greater length pp. 127-

128, under Simon, eighth Lord Lovat. There is another

caution in the same year by Hugh Fraser of Guisachan and

others in favour of William Fraser of Struy and all his

dependants.

On the 5th of May, 1585, Colin Cam Mackenzie, XI. of

Kintail, is denounced a rebel by the Privy Council on the

complaint of this Hugh Fraser of Guisachan under the

following circumstances. Hugh complains that a certain
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"John Dow Mac Allan was lawfully denounced his High-

ness' (the King's) rebel and put to the horn at the said

Hucheon's instance for not removing from the half davoch

land of Kilboky pertaining to him, conform to a decree

obtained by the said Hucheon against the said John Dow
Mac Allan." Upon this decree Hugh Fraser raised letters

of caption, by deliverance of the Lords of Session, to charge

the Sheriff of Inverness and other judges in the country

where the said John resorts, to take, apprehend, and keep

him conform to the order observed in such cases. In this

process, in order to obtain the decree with "letters in the

four forms, executions and denounciations thereof," and

then raising of the said letters of caption thereupon, the

complainer " has been put to great travel and expenses,

having his habitation by the space of eight score miles or

thereby distant from the burgh of Edinburgh." Neverthe-

less Colin Mackenzie, " to whom John Dow Mac Allan is

tenant, servant, and special depender, maintains and assists

him in his violent occupation of the complainer's lands,

keeps him in his company, receives him in his house, and

otherwise delates him that he cannot be apprehended," so

that all the proceedings of the complainer Fraser are frus-

trated. Colin was thereupon charged to present Mac Allan

before the Privy Council, under pain of rebellion, and failing

to appear, or to present John Dow, and the complainer

having appeared personally, an order was pronounced de-

nouncing Mackenzie a rebel.*

Hugh married Margaret Munro of Milntown who, on

the 29th of May, 1597, is as his widow served to her terce

in Culbokie. By her he had issue, at least three sons and

one daughter

—

1. William, named in the deed of security to Lord Simon

of Lovat in 1583, but he died, unmarried, before his father.

2. Alexander, his father's successor.

3. Hugh, who succeeded his brother Alexander.

4. Janet, who married, first, Thomas Chisholm, apparent

of Chisholm, afterwards XV. of Chisholm, without issue.

* History of the Mackenzies, second edition, pp. 168-69.
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On the 1 2th of April, 1578, on the occasion of her marriage,

she is infeft in the davoch and mill of Wester Invercannich.

Mr Fraser-Mackintosh says of her—"This marriage did not

long subsist, and Thomas Chisholm dying without issue,

Janet, with consent of her father Hugh, and designing

herself ' life-rentrix of Wester Invercannich,' enters into a

contract of marriage with Patrick Grant of Glenmoriston,

who therein bound himself to infeft her in his lands of

Culcabock, etc. The contract was not registered, so that

after Patrick's death it was found necessary to apply to the

Court of Session for that purpose. Steps were taken

against John Grant of Glenmoriston, son and heir of Patrick

Grant, John ' Reoch ' and James MacCulloch, his tutors and

curators; and upon 1st August, 1593, the Lords of Council

decerned that registration be made in their books. She

was served to her terce in Glenmoriston on 31st July, 1587.

Janet Fraser was left in peace in her jointure lands of Inver-

cannich by her brother-in-law, John Chisholm, and had

questions with some of the Glenmoriston tenants. As
regards Culcabock, however, as early as 22nd of April,

1583, she, with Lachlan Mackinnon, then her spouse, is

called on as pretended life rentrix of Culcabock in the

Court of Session to show her right." Janet's second and

third marriages followed upon each other very quickly, all

three within five years, between 1578 and 1583.

5. Agnes, said to have married Alexander Bayne of

Tulloch.

Hugh died in 1587, when he was succeeded by his second

and eldest surviving son,

III. Alexander Fraser, third of Guisachan, who is

served heir to his father in the lands of Guisachan on the

16th of April, 1588. On the following day, the 17th of

April, he placed himself under the care of friends as

guardians and interdictors, on the statement that he was

"facile" and therefore incompetent to manage his own

affairs. These guardians were Thomas Fraser, I. of

Knockie and Strichen, James Fraser, his uncle in Bella-

drum, Andrew Munro of Newmore, and others. He is
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retoured to Culbokie on the 10th of June, 1589, and infeft

on a precept from Chancery on the 23rd of May, 1590.

At Milntown, on the 2nd of June in the same year, nine days

after his retour, he granted a disposition of his whole estates

to his younger brother Hucheon Fraser, who afterwards,

on the 2nd of February, had his title confirmed by James

VI. Notwithstanding these transactions he continued to be

described as "Alexander Fraser of Guisachan." He is

certainly so designated in the service of John Chisholm,

XVI. of Chisholm, to his brother Thomas and his father

Alexander, on 19th of December, 1590. He is one of the

arbiters in a deed of submission between Simon Lord Lovat

and John Grant of Freuchie, dated the 13th of September,

1599. O n tne IItn °f October in the same year he enters

into a bond of caution for ^1000 for John Munro of Pit-

onoche (? Pittonachty, now Rosehaugh), and John Munro
of " Easter Half of Dauache " for 500 merks not to harm or

molest John Dunbar of Avoch. The bond is subscribed

at Kingillie, on the date named, in presence of Hucheon

Fraser, " apparent of Foir," William Fraser of Culmiln, and

Alexander Maclachlan in Drumchardiny, and is registered

in Edinburgh by Alexander Livingstone on the 17th of

the same month.*

Alexander married and had issue, among several others

—

i. A son, who married and also had a son,

ii. James Fraser, who settled at Kinmylies, parish of

Inverness, when his relative Colonel Hugh Fraser of Kin-

nerries acquired that barony from Hugh tenth Lord Lovat,

in 1648. He married and had at least,

iii. A son, who married and had a son,

iv. Alexander Fraser. He, like his forbears, lived on the

estate of Kinmylies, at Achnabodach, now Charleston. He
married, in 1694, Marie Monro, with issue—three sons, the

two elder of whom joined in the Rising of 171 5, were taken

prisoners, and transported to the American plantations.

They ultimately settled in South Carolina, where several of

their descendants thereafter occupied prominent positions as

* Records ofthe Privy Council, vol. vi., pp. 626-27.
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merchants in Charleston. This Alexander on the 28th of

September, 171 1, received from the Town Council of Inver-

ness for a money payment an acquittance for himself and

his posterity for ever of the payment of toll on the old

stone bridge of Inverness. His youngest son,

v. William Fraser, born 17 16, lived on the estate of

Dunain. Having, in 1760, married Mary Macrae, a native

of Kintail who came to reside in Kirkhill, he died on the

29th May, 1806, in the 90th year of his age, his wife sur-

viving him until the 31st of October the same year. They
left issue—one son,

vi. Alexander Fraser, born in 1764. He was extensively

engaged in salmon fishing and was well and popularly

known among Highlanders as "An t-Iasgar Ban." His

work on the " Natural History of the Salmon, with an

account of Greenland," published in 1833, in which he was

assisted by the late Dr Robert Carruthers, Inverness, was

well spoken of. He was tenant of Dochnalurg, on the Doch-

garroch estate, and married on the 22nd of December,

1820, Marjory, daughter of Captain Alexander Mackintosh,

of the family of Borlum, with issue— (1) and (2) Alexander

and William, both of whom died unmarried
; (3) Mary, who

married Daniel Macfarlan, Procurator-Fiscal for Renfrew-

shire, with issue, of whom only one son, Eneas Mackintosh,

survives, residing in the Province of Nova Scotia ; and (4)

Charles Fraser, of whom presently. Alexander died at

Dochnalurg on the 9th of February, 1834, his widow

surviving him until the 10th of November, 1865, when she

died at Inverness in her 80th year. They were succeeded

by their only surviving son,

vii. Charles Fraser-Mackintosh, born at Dochnalurg on

the 5th of June, 1828. He was bred to the law, and

admitted a Procurator at Inverness, on the 25th of May,

1853, where he very soon made for himself a name and a

good position at the head of a highly respectable firm having

an extensive and lucrative practice. In 1857, on the death

of his maternal uncle, Eneas Mackintosh, an officer in the

Royal Navy, he, in terms of his relative's settlement, assumed
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by Royal warrant the additional name of Mackintosh. In

the same year he entered the Town Council of Inverness,

and rendered excellent service to the community until he

retired in 1862. In i860 he was appointed Captain of the

4th Inverness Company of Rifle Volunteers and continued

to occupy that position until he resigned in 1870. In 1861

he was one of the four public-spirited men, who, from their

private resources, built that fine thoroughfare, Union Street,

Inverness. In 1863 he purchased the estate of Drummond,
and in 1864 that of Ballifeary, both now populous and

important suburbs of Inverness. In 1867 he retired from

the legal profession when he was entertained to a public

dinner by the citizens. In the spring of 1874 he was

elected as an Independent candidate Member of Parliament

for the Inverness Burghs, by a majority of 255 votes over

his opponent. He was continuously re-elected until 1885,

when he gave up his seat and stood for the County of

Inverness, again as an Independent candidate, when he

polled nearly as many votes as the two party candidates

against him put together. At the general election of 1886

he was returned unopposed, and he sat for the county until

the end of that Parliament in 1892. His labours on behalf

of his countrymen— their social amelioration, their language

and literature—inside and outside the House of Commons
would, to do it justice, require a volume. So much was this

appreciated that during his Parliamentary career he was

known as "The Member for the Highlands." But perhaps

the most important part of all his public services and the

most far-reaching in its results was the manner in which he

secured the appointment of the Royal Commission of 1883,

presided over by Lord Napier and Ettrick, to enquire into

the condition of the crofter and rural population of the High-

lands and Islands of Scotland and the unparalleled services

which he subsequently rendered to his countrymen as one

of its members.

But he has also been a diligent and successful student and

worker in another scarcely less important field. He is the

most erudite antiquarian in the North of Scotland, and he
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has been making very good use of his knowledge and

opportunities. His Antiquarian Notes, published in 1865,

is a valuable addition to the literature of the Highlands, and

it is in such demand by the book buyers, that it now sells at

five times its original cost. This work was followed in 1866

by Dunaehton Past and Present, now very high-priced and

difficult to procure; and in 1875 he issued Invernessiana, a

contribution towards a history of the town and parish of

Inverness, from 1160 to 1599. In 1890 Letters of Two
Centuries, which originally during a period of four years

passed through the Scottish HigJdander, were issued in

their present permanent form ; and the author of these

valuable volumes is at present engaged on another important

work connected with the county of Inverness, which is

passing through the columns of the same newspaper and will,

probably, in due time be published in a handsome volume.

Only last year appeared from his pen The Last Macdonalds

of Isla, an admirable and beautifully got-up contribution to

the history of that branch of the great Somerled race.

He married on the 12th of July, 1876, Eveline May, only

child of Richard David Holland of Brooklands, Surrey, and

of Kilvean, Inverness, by his late wife Helen, daughter of

John Macgregor, for many years of Charter House Square,

London, without issue.

Alexander of Guisachan was succeeded in the family estates

in terms of the transactions above detailed by his younger

brother,

IV. HUGH Fraser, fourth of Guisachan. On the 6th

of October, 1608, he was one of the jury in the special

service of Simon eighth Lord Lovat. He added consider-

ably to the family estates in Inverness-shire. Since 1524

the lairds of Mackintosh had been proprietors of the barony

of Drumchardiny in the parish of Kirkhill and of certain

parts of the barony of the Aird, including the half davoch of

Kinnerries, and the lands of Easter Eskadale in the parish of

Kiltarlity. In 1616, Sir Lachlan Mackintosh found himself

obliged, in consequence of his struggles with Huntly and

Lochiel, to sell his Aird estates, and Simon Lord Lovat,
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having- heard of his intention, instructed Hugh of Guisachan

and Hugh Fraser of Belladrum to come to terms with Sir

Lachlan for the property to be sold by him. But instead of

purchasing it for him they did so for themselves, a piece of

sharp practice which naturally very much annoyed his Lord-

ship. It was arranged that Hugh of Guisachan should take

Drumchardiny, of which he obtained a Crown charter

dated the 20th of December, 1616, while Hugh of Bella-

drum took Holm, now Lentran, and got a charter for it on

the same day. Hugh's name appears in 1621 in an agree-

ment entered into by several of the Inverness and Ross

proprietors for the protection of "deer, doe, and roe," but

he does not sign the document, while the signature of his

son and successor, William of Drumchardiny, though he is

not named in the body, is appended to it.* He is one of

the jury in the general service of Simon, eighth Lord Lovat,

to his great-great-grandfather Thomas, fourth Lord Fraser

of Lovat, on the 9th of July, 1629.

A recent writer, referring to the transaction by which

Hugh obtained possession of his brother's lands and later

on of the barony of Drumchardiny, says of the first tran-

saction that "a more cruel and barefaced impetration,

sanctioned by relatives, cannot be quoted," and of both that

" to Hugh's credit or discredit it has to be recorded of him

that he disinherited his brother and circumvented his chief."

He married Katherine, second daughter of John Roy
Mackenzie, IV. of Gairloch, with issue

—

1. William, his heir and successor.

2. Alexander, on record in 1636.

3. Colonel Hugh Fraser of Kinnerries, who married

Christian Baillie of Dunain, and whose descendants in the

male line have become extinct, as will be seen in the sequel.

He greatly distinguished himself in the Swedish army

;

and is on record as having accompanied the Master of Lovat

and his lady to Stratherrick in 1642.

4. A daughter, who married Patrick Grant, IV. of Glen-

moriston, with issue—John Donn, who carried on the

* This contract is printed at length in the History ofthe Ckisholms, pp. 52-54.

39
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succession of that family ; a daughter Lilias, who married

Alexander Grant of Shewglie ; and others.

Hugh was succeeded by his eldest son,

V. WILLIAM Frasek, variously designated of Guisachan,

Culbokie, and Drumchardiny. He has a charter from

Hugh, ninth Lord Lovat, of Guisachan, Kingillie, Kyllachy,

Groam, and others, on which he was infeft on the 23rd of

May, 1634, and three days after, on the 26th of the same

month, he is served heir to his father in the lands held by

him of the Crown—Culbokie, Drumchardiny, and others.

On the 26th of July, 1640, he is one of the jury in the

special service of Hugh, Master of Lovat, to his brother

Simon, Master of Lovat, who died on the 20th of March

in that year; and on the 30th of March, 1647, he acts a

similar part in the service of Hugh, tenth Lord Lovat, as

heir to his father Hugh, Master of Lovat, who died in

Edinburgh in 1643, and to his grandfather Hugh, ninth

Lord, who died on the 16th of February, 1646.

In 1636, Hugh, ninth Lord Lovat, disposes of the lands

of Comar-croy in favour of William of Guisachan, who was

duly infeft in the same and had a Crown charter of con-

firmation. He is witness to a contract of marriage dated

the 17th and 20th of October, 1640, between James Grant

of Freuchie and his sister Ann on the one part, and

Kenneth Mackenzie, VI. of Gairloch, on the other.

In the Valuation Roll of 1644 for the county of Inverness

William Fraser of Culbokie appears for lands in the parish

of Wardlaw, now Kirkhill, valued at £$6$ ; in Kiltarlity,

at £736 ; and in the parish of Urquhart, county of Ross, at

£2ig 3s 4d ; while his mother is entered in Logie-Wester,

also in Ross-shire, for a rental of £318 13s 4d, and Hugh
Fraser in Culbokie, probably his eldest son, for £50. The

"goodwife of Culbokie" appears under Kiltarlity for £88.

In 1646 he acquired additional rights to the lands of

Kingillie, which now form part of the estate of Newton,

belonging to Thomas Ramsay Biscoe, from Sir James

Fraser of Brea, then Tutor of Lovat.

In 1649, 1650, and 165 1, William represented the county
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of Inverness in the Scottish Parliament. He lived for

several years after this, but the date of his death has not

been accurately ascertained.

There is a contract of sale between Hugh, tenth Lord

Lovat, with consent of his Tutor, Sir James Fraser of Brea

and others, of Easter and Wester Kinmylies, Ballifeary,

Abriachan, the mill of Bught, the fishing of Freschott on

the Ness, and other subjects, and Colonel Hugh Fraser of

Kinnerries on the 20th of January, 1647, now described

"of Kinmylies," and he has a charter of confirmation on the

23rd of August following. He has also a charter under the

Great Seal of the same lands on the 24th of May, 1648.

He fought under Cromwell with the rank of Major and

highly distinguished himself at the head of his regiment

of Dragoons at the battle of Marsden Moor on the 2nd of

July, 1644. He is supposed to have made the money
during these wars which enabled him to buy so much landed

property. On the 3rd of May, 1645, the day before the

battle of Auldearn, the Colonel embarked with his wife,

Christian Baillie, at Inverness, for London in the largest

ship ever built in the Highland Capital.* It would seem

that he had then just married, for his son Hugh was still a

minor in 1665.

In the latter part of February, 1649, Colonel Hugh Fraser

of Kinneries, along with Thomas Mackenzie of Pluscardine,

Sir Thomas Urquhart of Cromarty, and Colonel John

Munro of Lemlair, at the head of a considerable force, took

possession of the town of Inverness, expelled the garrison,

and razed the walls and fortifications to the ground, in co-

operation with Montrose. The party was formed in Moray,

and in reference to it and the taking of Inverness, John

Cumming of Relugas, writing to James Grant of Grant

from that place on the 26th of February in the same year,

says
—" I doubt not but your honour has heard of the

intaking of Inverness by the Lairds of Cromarty, Plus-

cardine, Lemlair, Colonel Fraser, and their adherents, and

the flocking of men of all sorts to them."f

* Wardlaw Manuscript. f Chiefs of Granty
vol. ii. , p. 85.
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Hugh, second of Kinmylies, son of Colonel Hugh Fraser

of Kinnerries, who married Barbara, daughter of Alexander

Mackenzie, VI. of Gairloch, is retoured to these lands as

heir in special to his father on the 16th of April, 1650, and

on the 22nd of May following the same Hugh is served

heir to the lands of Kinnerries. On the 26th of May, 1676,

Hugh feued the mill of Bught to Thomas Chevis of Muir-

town. In 1678 the estates appear to have become much
encumbered, when Alexander Fraser, apparently a brother

of Hugh, is found in possession. He sold Kinmylies to

David Poison and others, the sasine to Poison bearing date

the nth of January, 1688. The Kirk Session of Inverness

on the 19th of November, 1689, confirms a disposition of

one of the two pews belonging to Alexander Fraser of Kin-

nerries in the New Kirk of Inverness in favour of David

Poison, residenter in the town. He had already dis-

posed of his other pew to Hugh Baillie, Sheriff-Clerk of

Ross.

It appears from a Notarial Instrument dated 12th of

June, 1696, that by letters of alienation of 10th June, 1695,

Alexander Fraser of Kinnerries, with consent of David

Poison of Kinmylies, resigned into the hands of the Lords

of her Majesty's Treasury and Exchequer in favour of

Ludovick Grant of Grant, his heirs male and assignees

whatsoever, heritably and irredeemably the town and lands

of Easter and Wester Abriachan with the grazings and

shielings thereof commonly called Corriefoness and Corrie-

hulachy and all other rights that the said Alexander Fraser,

Catherine Fraser his spouse, his deceased father and

brother, and Agnes and Christian Fraser, grandchildren

of the deceased Colonel Hugh Fraser, sometime of Kin-

nerries, possessed to these lands.* The marriage contract

between Alexander of Kinneries and Catherine Fraser is

dated the 19th of June, 1628, and is in possession of Colonel

Alexander Warrand of Bught and Ryefield.

William of Guisachan married Christina, daughter of

Alexander Chisholm, XVII. of Chisholm, by his wife,

* Chiefs of Grant, vol. iii., p. 484.
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Margaret, daughter of Alexander Mackenzie, V. of Gair-

loch, with issue

—

i. Hugh, his heir and successor.

2. Alexander, to whom and his wife his brother Hugh in

1672 granted a lease of Kyllachy, a detached piece of land

in Kiltarlity, for 1000 merks Scots for thirty or sixty years,

or so long as their heirs should please. Alexander married

Isobel, daughter of Alexander Fraser of Reelick with

issue—William, who married Katharine, eldest daughter of

Thomas Fraser, III. of Boblainy (marriage contract dated

the 7th of April, 1705), with issue—Hugh, who in January,

1742, disponed the lands to his first wife, Isobel, daughter

of William Fraser of Teanacoille, in life-rent and to his

children in fee, should he have any. His wife, however,

died without issue and he married, secondly, Grizel,

daughter of Hugh Fraser in Kiltarlity, nephew of Thomas
Fraser, III. of Boblainy, and disponed the lands to her on

the same conditions as to his first wife, on the 10th of

January, 1769. But having had no issue by Grizel Fraser

either he, on the 21st of June, 1774, disponed the lands to

her brother William, son of Hugh Fraser in Kiltarlity and

brother of Thomas Fraser, senior, of St. Vincent. Grizel

had also a sister Katharine, who married Alexander Fraser,

Inchrory. In 1797 Thomas Fraser, of St. Vincent, dis-

pones the same lands to William Fraser, X. of Guisachan.

3. Agnes, who married first, Kenneth Mackenzie, II. of

Inverlael, without male issue.* She married secondly,

Alexander Mackenzie, I. of Ballone (sasine on contract of

marriage in 1629), with issue—Alexander, his heir and

successor; Jean, who in 1663, married the Hon. Simon

Mackenzie of Lochslinn, brother of Sir George Mackenzie

of Rosehaugh, with issue—Simon, I. of Allangrange ; and

Margaret, who married first, Sir Roderick Mackenzie of

Findon, fourth son of Alexander Mackenzie, I. of Kilcoy,

with issue.f She married thirdly, as his second wife, the

Hon. Simon Mackenzie, of Lochslinn (marriage contract

* History ofthe Mackenzies, second edition, p. 523,

t Ibid, p. 573.
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dated at Kingillie the 12th of January, 1650), with issue

—

Kenneth Mor Mackenzie, I. of Dundonnel, and two

daughters—Isobel, who, in 1673, married Murdoch Mac-

kenzie, VI. of Fairburn, with issue—his heir and successor

and three other sons ; and Elizabeth, who married the Rev.

Roderick Mackenzie, Laird of Avoch, with issue.

4. Magdalen, who married Captain John Mackenzie, II.

of Ord, with issue—Thomas, his heir and successor, another

son Kenneth, and four daughters. The marriage contract

is dated the 21st of July, 1633, the tocher being 2500

merks Scots.*

5. Margaret, who married Thomas Fraser, II. of Eskadale

(marriage contract dated at Beauly, 6th of February, 1660),

with issue.

He was succeeded by his eldest son,

VI. Hugh Fraser, sixth of Guisachan, who in 1643

as "Younger of Culbokie" attended the funeral of Hugh
Fraser, Master of Lovat, who died in May of that year

in Edinburgh, and was buried in the Chapel of Holyrood.

He was served heir to his father in the lands held of the

Crown on the 12th of April, 1670. During his own and

his father's time the family became much involved in debt,

bonds of caution, and otherwise, with the result that all

their estates in the counties of Ross and Inverness were

adjudged by Sir Roderick Mackenzie of Findon (whose

wife, Margaret of Ballone, was Hugh's niece), and others,

and in 1672 Sir Roderick obtained possession of the Ross-

shire lands, his eldest daughter, Lilias, who married Sir

Kenneth Mackenzie, IV. of Scatwell in 1688, carrying

them to that family in 1693, on the death of her only

brother. In 1676 he is infeft in the lands formerly the

property of Mackintosh of Mackintosh, acquired by his

grandfather, as already shown, in 1616. In 1676 and 1677

Alexander Fraser of Kinnerries and James Fraser, first of

Dunballoch, adjudged the barony of Drumchardiny, the

lands of Kingillie, and others, belonging to Hugh, but he

retained possession of Guisachan until his death in the

* History of the Mdckemies, second edition, p. 529.
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following year. Alexander and James Fraser received

charters of adjudication of the lands of Kinnerries and

Dunballoch respectively, and like those of Culbokie they

passed away from the Frasers of Guisachan for ever.

Hugh married Agnes, daughter of Thomas Fraser, IV. of

Struy, with issue

—

1. William, his heir and successor, and at least two

other sons.

He died in June, 1678, and was succeeded by his son,

VII. William Fraser, seventh of Guisachan. He is

said to have had a most precarious hold of these lands, now
the only remaining portion of the once extensive family

estates. "Kinnerries and Dunballoch in 1669 transacted

their respective interests in the former Culbokie lands, and

Kinnerries raised a loan, whereupon, his heir being unable

to pay when the money was repayable, all the interests

were in 171 1 adjudged. A charter of adjudication follow-

ing was the foundation of the right whereby Thomas Fraser,

second of Dunballoch, sneeringly described by Culbokie in

a memorial dated 1790 as 'bred a vryter in Edinburgh,' and

by Simon Lord Lovat as ' a little knave of a Fraser,' entered

into possession of what is now known as the Newton Estate.

Had Culbokie been in a position to redeem or purge the

adjudication the amount would be a trifle compared to

the value of the share of the estate even at that period.

Alexander Fraser of Kinneries, who had then got into

difficulties himself, behaved well to Culbokie, for he dis-

poned Guisachan to William Fraser eldest lawful son of

William Fraser of Culbokie, to which he had right by

Charter of Resignation, on the narrative of 'the love and

favour I have and bear to William Fraser, son and heir

of William Fraser of Culbokie, as the apparent stock of

the family whereof I am descended and the vigorous

inclinations I have to raise and uphold that family,' by

disposition dated at Lovat on the 6th of April, 1706, in

presence of David Poison of Kinmylies, Hugh Fraser his

(own) son, and John Chisholm of Knockfin. There is a

curious reservation of half the woods so long as Kinnerries
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or his heirs male held any lands in the county, assignees,

however, being- excluded."* Hugh Fraser, the son here

referred to, and apparently the last heir male of Kinnerries,

married at Aberdeen on the 22nd of December, 1724,
" Lady Margaret Lesly, lawful daughter of the deceased

Count Lesly of Balquhyn " (marriage contract in possession

of Colonel Alexander Warrand of Bught and Ryefield).

William appears in the Valuation Roll of 1691 for

Guisachan alone, which is entered at a rental of £379 5s,

his mother as "the relict of Kilbokie" appearing in the

parish of Kiltarlity for £g6. At this date there is no trace

of any lands in Ross-shire. The decline of the family in

the space of forty-seven years, between the Rolls of 1644

and 1691, is most striking, the rental in the former being

£1888 16s 8d as compared with £475 S s m the latter.

William was involved in the outrage of 1696-97 by Simon

of the 'Forty-five on the Dowager Lady Lovat, and his

name appears as the third signature to the letter addressed

by the gentlemen of the clan to the Earl of Argyll touching

their position at that period in consequence of their mis-

conduct, Thomas of Beaufort signing himself " Lovat," and

Thomas of Struy alone coming before William ; and he is

one of those sentenced to death and forfeited in absence for

his share in that outrage by the Court of Justiciary on the

6th of September, 1698.

There is a letter among the Atholl papers, dated May,

1698, addressed to the Marquis and signed "S. Fraser"

regarding William of Guisachan, in which the writer says

—

" Since I wrote last to your Lordship, Culbokie has made applica-

tion to the Governor of Beaufort, and he, upon security of his

appearance at Dunkeld, or wherever your Lordship will be pleased

to call him to, has granted him protection. He seems to be very

sensible of his error, and faithfully promises in time coming to be

very steadfast to my Lady Lovat's interests. He gives a very dismal

account of his Highland friends."

He married, with issue

—

1. William, his heir and successor; and other children.

* Mr Fraser-Mackintosh in the Transactions of the Gaelic Society of

Inverness, vol. xviii., p. 316.
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He lived to a very old age, and was succeeded by his son,

VIII. William Fraser, eighth of Guisachan, who had

already when quite young received a charter of the lands

from Alexander Fraser of Kinnerries on the 6th of April,

1706, as formerly stated. He therefore naturally, though

his father lived for many years after this, took a most active

share in the management of what remained of the family

estates. He was one of the heads of families who in 1714

signed the well-known address from the Highlands to

George I. He redeemed a wadset which John Chisholm,

II. of Knockfin, had over Mid-Guisachan and which had

come by progress to Alexander Fraser of Kinnerries, from

whom he obtained his charter of the Guisachan and other

remaining family possessions, and he subsequently acquired

the lands of Fanellan, the property of the same Alex-

ander Fraser, who, as also his only son Hugh, was dead

by 1741, when the male line of Kinnerries became extinct.

William, who acted as judicial factor in the ranking and

sale of the remainder of the Kinnerries estates, is excused

from accounting for the rents of Fanellan and the quarter

lands of Kiltarlity for 1744 and 1745 on the plea that "the

multures of the miln of Fanellan were during the time of

the late rebellion for the said two years, as well as the haill

rents, carried off and destroyed."

His son William is included as "Younger of Culbokie"

in the list of insurgents to be prosecuted after the 'Forty-

five, the charge against him being that he served as

"Captain of the Frasers under Inverallochie" at the battle

of Culloden, but he was afterwards pardoned under the Act

of Indemnity (20 Geo. II., cap 52) passed on the 15th of

June, 1747. The mansion-house had, however, in the

meantime been set fire to and burnt by Cumberland's

troops, although its occupant, old Culbokie, had kept out

of the Rising, and both for a time became fugitives to save

their lives. .

He married Margaret, daughter of John Macdonell of

Ardnabi, by his wife Mary, a daughter of Glengarry. She

was well known for her poetical talents, her accurate
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knowledge of Gaelic and of Highland music, and made a

prominent figure in the Ossianic controversy of the time.

Bishop John Chisholm, a native of Strathglass, in reply to

queries addressed to him by Sir John Sinclair regarding

the Douay Gaelic MS., refers to her as follows :

—

" Mrs Fraser of Culbokie spoke of the manuscript to me on my
return to Scotland and told me she had taught Mr Farquharson (the

compiler of it) to read the Gaelic on his arrival in Scotland, in which

his progress in a short time exceeded her own. She likewise had

a large collection of which she read passages to him when he could

scarcely understand the Gaelic, and which escaped his memory since
;

the manuscript was in fine large Irish characters, written by Mr Peter

Macdonell, Chaplain to Lord Macdonell of Glengarry after the Re-

storation, who had taught Mrs Fraser and made such a good Gaelic

scholar of her ; she called this collection a Bolg Solair."

The Rev. Father Farquharson, who lived for thirty years

in Strathglass, scarcely knew any Gaelic when he went

there, but he was greatly assisted in acquiring a knowledge

of it by Mrs Fraser, who was accounted the best Gaelic

scholar in that part of the country. She taught him the

language grammatically, learnt him to read and write it;

and gave him a very high opinion of Gaelic poetry by the

many excellent compositions in that language with which

she made him acquainted. She came of a handsome race

and was herself a lady of extreme beauty, known in her

youth as " the pride of Glengarry." Her manuscript

collections of Gaelic poetry and music were carried away

to America in 1773, by her son, Captain Simon, who had

similar tastes to her own. He took part in the War of

Independence as a Loyalist, in the course of which his house

was wrecked and the manuscripts for ever lost.

William had issue, nine sons and five daughters

—

1. Hugh, who died, unmarried, before his father, in 1745.

2. William, who succeeded his father.

3. Captain Simon, described as "in Crochel in 1746,

and one of the witnesses of his sister Margaret's contract

of marriage in 175 1. He held a commission in the Glen-

garry Fencibles, and subsequently, in 1774, went to America,

settled near Bennington, and fought in the War of
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Independence as a Loyalist. He received a classical Educa-

tion, and cultivated the taste which he inherited from his

mother for Gaelic poetry and music. In course of the war

he was taken prisoner, had his house broken into and

wrecked, and the family manuscripts which he had taken

along- with him from his home in Strathglass were de-

stroyed. He was placed in a dungeon in Albany Jail where

he soon after died. Captain Simon married Isabella Grant,

daughter of " Daldreggan," and had several sons—William,

Angus, Simon, and another, and five daughters, with whom
their mother after their father's death crossed into Canada

and settled in the county of Glengarry. Many of their

descendants occupy good positions in the Dominion at the

present day. Simon, the youngest of the boys, who ulti-

mately gave his name to the Fraser River, became the

most distinguished of the family. He was sent to school

at Montreal, where he resided with his uncle, John, then

Chief Justice of that district. The following account of

his career is taken from the Clan Fraser in Canada,

recently issued by Alexander Fraser of the Toronto Mail:—
"In 1792, at the age of sixteen, he became an articled clerk

with Mactavish, Frobisher & Co., to the North-West Fur Trading

Co., which had its headquarters in Montreal. In 1802 he became
partner, and subsequently went out to the far North. In 1805

he came down from Fort Athabasca to Fort-William, and

was then nominated to cross the Rocky Mountains, to extend

outposts and form trading connections with the Indians. He re-

sponded at once to the call. He said he would undertake the

expedition provided they gave him a sufficient outfit. This the

Company were only too glad to do. It was a very hazardous under-

taking. He crossed the mountains with thirty men—clerks, guides,

and interpreters. He soon found himself in a wild and desolate

region. As he went on he built block-houses and took possession of

the country in name of the King. In 1806 he discovered the

river which takes its name from him. He discovered many rivers

and lakes which he named after different members of the Company.
He traced the Fraser River to its source, and met many different

tribes of Indians, some friendly, others hostile. At one time they

met different tribes who were very friendly and made a great feast

for them ; they killed their fattest dog for him, which of course he

feigned to eat ; but at the same feast the chiefs held a council and
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decided to put him to death, which the interpreter, who understood
their language, told him, and they stole quietly away. He first named
the river, now known as the Fraser River, the 'Great River,' and
called the place ' New Caledonia.' Here he left some of the party,

and crossed westerly into the open country, and built another house

near a lake which he called Fraser's Lake. He was now with four

men in the midst of Indians who had never before either seen or

heard of the ' pale face.' On the border of this lake he witnessed

an Indian ceremony. He was brought by the Indians to where they

had a large burying-ground, where one of the chiefs of their tribe was
being buried. An immense number of warriors were assembled, and
after a most solemn and impressive ceremony, Fraser was invited by
signs to approach the grave. He did so, and gave immense satisfac-

tion by engraving his name on a post which had been planted over

the remains of the departed warrior. In July, 1807, he received fresh

supplies from the North-West Company, who at the same time urged

him to trace with all possible speed the ' Great River' to the sea. Mr
Fraser built another trading house on the 'Great River' in 1807, and

reached the ocean in July, 1808. He remained but a short time there

on account of the hostility of the Indians. Returning, he again met

numerous and large bodies of Indians speaking several different

languages. They assembled to see the wonderful pale faces who had

come among them. An idea of how they regarded white men may
be formed from the fact that when hundreds of them were con-

gregated together, at the discharge of a single rifle they would fall

prostrate on the ground, so great was their astonishment. Had
it not been for Fraser's wonderful energy and enterprise there

would not be a railroad to-day from ocean to ocean over British

territory."

Simon Fraser the son, lived to the ripe old age of 86

years and died at St. Andrews, Canada, in August, 1862,

his wife dying a few hours after him. Both were buried in

the same grave. The Freeholder, a newspaper published in

Cornwall, Ontario, in a long article from which these par-

ticulars are taken, says—
" In Mr Fraser the country not only loses one of its most respec-

table and honoured residents, but one of the most illustrious men who

ever settled within its borders. One of the few survivors of the fine

old ' North -Westers,' Mr Fraser's name, as the discoverer and first

explorer of the golden stream which bears his name, will be remem-

bered with honour long after the most of his provincial contemporaries

have been forgotten. Mr Fraser was the youngest son of Simon

Fraser, who emigrated to the State of New York in 1773. He
purchased land near Bennington ; and upon the breaking out of the
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Revolutionary War, he attached himself to the Royal cause, and

served as Captain at the battle of Bennington, where he was captured

by the rebels. He died in Albany jail about thirteen months after-

wards, his end being hastened by the rigorous nature of his imprison-

ment. He was married to Isabella Grant, daughter of Daldreggan,

and had issue—four sons and five daughters. The widow with her

children came to Canada after the peace of 1783."

Simon, the younger, left a son and two daughters. The
son was a Colonel in the British army, and was Military

Secretary to the Duke of Manchester when his Grace was

Governor of Jamaica. He married a West India lady,

and died in Jamaica, leaving issue—a son, John, and two

daughters. John held the rank of Captain in the British

army, married and left a son, William.

4. John, described in the entail of 1774 as Captain John

Fraser, having served with that rank under Wolfe at the

capture of Quebec, and afterwards became and was for many
years Chief Justice of the Montreal district. He died

before 1797.

5. Alexander, who went to the West Indies, served in

General Caird's army, and perished in the Black Hole of

Calcutta in 1756.

6. Peter, a Physician, who died at Madras, also unmarried.

7. Roderick, a Lieutenant in the Austrian army. He
also died unmarried in Germany.

8. Donald, who was born in 1746, and was in his cradle

only a week old when, by the orders of the Duke of

Cumberland, Guisachan House was set fire to and razed

to the ground. His mother commemorates both events in

one of her beautiful Gaelic poems. He also was a Lieutenant

in the Austrian army, and was killed in battle in Germany,

when his mother composed a touching elegy on his death.

He died unmarried.

9. Archibald, a Lieutenant in the Fraser Highlanders,

who also served under Wolfe. He was subsequently a

Major in the Glengarry Fencibles, served in Ireland during

the rebellion of 1798, and died at Guisachan, unmarried.

10. Anne, who married Thomas Fraser of Achnacloich,

with issue, among others—Hugh Fraser, VIII. of Eskadale,
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who married Anne, only child of Captain Hugh Fraser,

VII. of Eskadale, with issue.

II. Margaret, who in 175 1 (marriage contract dated at

Guisachan the 23rd of August in that year) married Robert

Fraser, Younger of Muilzie and Aigais, among the witnesses

being Hugh Fraser his brother, son of Hugh Fraser of

Muilzie, and Simon Fraser son of Culbokie. In 1767

Robert was tenant of Wester Muilzie. But he had also

a wadset from James Fraser of Belladrum of Easter Muilzie

and Muilzie-reach, which had been redeemed in the previous

year. He perished in a great storm which occurred in Feb-

ruary, 1768. His effects when sold at a public sale fetched

£400 sterling, of which £1 17s went to the undertaker for

his funeral ! £6 16s 2d "in wine and other necessaries" ; and

;£i2 6s 8d for spirits, bread, and cheese. The interment took

place on the 18th of the month named. Robert's father was

Hugh Fraser of Muilzie, second son, and the eldest by the

second marriage, of Hugh Fraser of Aigais, known as " Old

Father Aigais," to a daughter of Fraser of Teanacoille.*

Three other daughters died young and unmarried.

William died before July, 1755, when he was succeeded

by his eldest son,

IX. William Fraser, ninth of Guisachan, who, as has

been already seen, took part in the Rising of 1745, but was

pardoned under the Indemnity Act of 1747. He was

served heir male of line and of provision in general to his

father William Fraser, late of Culbokie, eldest lawful son

of the deceased William Fraser of Culbokie, on the 1st of

July, 1755. On the 10th of December, 1756, he received

a Crown charter— his former superiors, the family of Lovat,

being now under forfeiture—of the lands of Guisachan, Lurg,

and Bridaig, in the Parish of Kiltarlity, upon which he was

enrolled as a freeholder. Between 1755 and 1760 he built

the very substantial mansion-house which preceded the

present modern residence at Guisachan, much admired at

the time, and the home for many years of a very large

and talented family.

* Old, Yet New, No, II,
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He is named in General Simon Fraser's entail in 1774

immediately after Alexander Fraser of Struy and his

brother Hugh.

William married Margaret, daughter of Stuart of Achnilly,

with issue

—

1. William, born 16th April, 1762, and died the same day.

2. William, his heir and successor.

3. Alexander, born 15th August, 1767. He went to the

West Indies, where he died on the 19th of October, 1794.

4. John, who was born on the 8th of January, 1771, and

was drowned at sea on his passage from London to Inver-

ness in 1804, unmarried.

5. Simon, born 9th December, 1775. He was Captain in

the Glengarry Fencibles, and died, unmarried, October, 1798.

6. Anne, celebrated for great beauty and personal accom-

plishments, who, born on the 25th of June, 1759, married

in 1788, ^neas Ranald Macdonell, VI. of Scotus, with

issue, among others—^neas Ranald, whose son, also ^Eneas

Ranald, became heir male and representative of the Mac-

donells of Glengarry on the extinction of the direct line in

1868. She died on the 13th of July, 18 18.

7. Margaret, who was born on the 2nd of March, 1761,

and died unmarried on the 9th of December, 1846, aged 85

years, her affianced Dr William Fraser, R.N., described "as

descended of the family of Culbokie," having perished in

the " Queen Charlotte," on board of which he was serving

when she blew up and was lost.

8. Jane, born on the nth of April, 1766, and on the 4th

of November, 1792, as his first wife, married John Chisholm,

V. of Knockfin, with issue—four sons and a daughter, and

died on the 15th of June, 1799.

9. Mary, who was born on the 8th of January, 1769, and

died unmarried in March, 1849, aged 80 years.

William, who had been for some years in failing health,

died at Guisachan on the 31st of July, 1797, at the age

of 74 years, his wife having predeceased him.

He was succeeded by his eldest son,

X. William Fraser, tenth of Guisachan, He was born
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on the 15th of October, 1763, entered the army, was after-

wards in business in the West Indies, and was on his way
back to St. Vincent when his father died. Writing on the

8th of June, 1798, from that place, he says—"You may be

sure I have the utmost anxiety to bid this part of the world

adieu. I have now every inducement to incline me to

return home, yet, I am sorry to say, I cannot make this out

so soon as I expected, without making a sacrifice which my
circumstances cannot afford, and which my best friends

might censure." A friend of his, Thomas Fraser of St.

Vincent, writing home to his cousin Simon Fraser, on the

24th of April, 1 80 1, says that Culbokie took about ;£i 0,000

out of the island when he left it. Mr Fraser- Mackintosh

says that " this Culbokie was, perhaps, the best known and

had the greatest influence of the family. He was a capital

man of business, of active and energetic habits, and I think

for some time Convener of the county." He then gives the

rental of Guisachan in 1800 at .£444, as compared with that

of 1892-93, which, without having a single tenant in the

ordinary sense of the term on the property, had risen in that

year to ;£ 1596 8s.

He succeeded in redeeming Kyllachy, a small portion

of the estate which, it will be remembered, Hugh Fraser,

VII. of Guisachan, gave a lease of to his brother Alexander,

on the 15th of March, 1672, in return for money lent

him. For an account of certain proceedings in connec-

tion with this redemption the reader is referred to the

Transactions of the Gaelic Society of Inverness, vol. xviii.,

pp. 322-23.

He married in 1797 (marriage contract dated at Guis-

achan and Belladrum on the 25th and 26th April of that

year) Sarah, third daughter of Colonel James Fraser, VII.

of Belladrum, with issue

—

I. William Fraser, W.S., who on the 25th of July, 1826,

married Margaret, daughter of David George Sandeman of

Springland, Perth, with issue—a son William, who suc-

ceeded his grandfather in the lands of Guisachan ; and a

daughter, Anna Jane, who, born on the 13th of March,
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1829, married on the 18th of September, 1862, Home John

Parker, with issue—Jane Hyde.

2. James Fraser, who entered the H.E.I.C.S. at Madras,

and died before his father, unmarried.

The elder son, William Fraser, W.S., having died sud-

denly, also before his father, at Brighton, on the 6th of

January, 1829, William, on his death in July, 1843, was

succeeded by his grandson,

XI. William Fraser, eleventh of Guisachan, only son

of William Fraser, W.S., who died as above in 1829. He
was still a minor. Born in 1827 he was brought up partly

abroad and partly in this country. In early life he went to

sea, and spent a good deal of his time in America. He
entered the army, attained the rank of Captain, and was

subsequently Colonel of the Highland Volunteer Artillery.

In 1854 he sold Guisachan to the late Dudley Coutts Mar-

joribanks, first Lord Tweedmouth, for £52,000. In 1855

he bought the estate of Kilmuir, Skye, for £85,000 from

the trustees of Lord Macdonald of Sleat and spent about

£40,000 in improvements upon it. He disposed of it

in September, 1888, for £110,000 to George Alexander

Baird, and now resides at Redheugh, near Nairn.

He married Janet Brown, only surviving daughter of the

late Andrew Brown Tosh of Torehouse, H.E.I.C.S., with

issue—

•...;. 1. William, born on the nth of March, 1871, unmarried.

2. Ethel Jessie.

3. Anna.

4. Margaret Chisholm, who on the 12th of July, 1893,

married Captain Ruari Chisholm Gooden, second son of

James Chisholm Gooden Chisholm—The Chisholm—33

Tavistock Square, London, with issue—a son, Uailean

Hamish MacUisdean, born on the 19th of April, 1894.

5. Janet Elizabeth.

6. Mary Jane.

40
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I. James Fraser, first of this family, was the second son

of William Fraser, I. of Guisachan, second son of Thomas,

fourth Lord Lovat. In a bond of manrent dated 1578, he

is described as "James Fraser in Belladrum, brother-german

to Hucheon Fraser of Guichachan." He is again on record

in 1588. He married Elizabeth, daughter of Alexander

Mackenzie, I. of Davochmaluag, with issue

—

1. Hugh, his heir and successor.

2. A daughter, who married Duncan Mackenzie, I. of

Sand, Gairloch, with issue.

He was succeeded by his son,

II. Hugh Fraser, second of Belladrum, who has a

charter of that place from Simon, eighth Lord Lovat, on

the 13th of June, 1598. He is one of the arbiters named in

a deed of submission between Simon Lord Lovat and John

Grant of Freuchie, dated the 13th of September, 1599.

There is a curious document, dated the same year, referred

to in an old inventory of titles of the Belladrum estate in

the following terms :
—

" Charter of confirmation by Robert

Williamson of Murieston in favour of Hugh Fraser of Bella-

drum and Janet Fraser his spouse, dated the 16th of July,

1614, confirming a charter granted to them and the longest

liver of them by Thomas Fraser alias Macintagart, of a

croft of land in Easter Dounie, which last charter is dated

the 15th day of December, 1599." He has a charter of

Holm, now Lentran, and Craggach in the parish of Kirkhill,

from Lachlan Mackintosh of Dunachton, dated the 1st of

November, 1616. The manner in which he secured these

last named lands from Mackintosh is detailed at pp.

149-150. He married Janet, daughter of Alexander Chis-

holm, XIV. of Chisholm, with issue

—

I. Hugh, his heir and successor.
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2. Margaret, who in March, 161 1, married Hugh Ross,

fourth Of Little Tarrell (sasine 27th of March, 161 1), with

issue.*

He was succeeded by his son,

III. HUGH Fraser, third of Belladrum, who was served

heir to his father Hugh in 1620. His name appears as

" Hucheon Fraser of Belladrum " in a bond entered into

by several of the Highland chiefs and heads of families in

1628, given at length in the History of the Chisholms, pp.

52-54. Hugh, ninth Lord Lovat, by charter dated at Lovat

the 26th of November, 1636, grants to Hugh Fraser of

Belladrum the town and lands of Bencharan, the town and

lands of Muilzie, the town and lands of Ochter, or " Uchter-

achie," mentioned in the contract of marriage of 14 16

between William Fenton of that Ilk and Hugh, first Lord

Lovat, and the easter half of the town and lands of Brewling,

extending to half a davoch, and an eighth part of old extent,

lying within the barony of Aigais, forestry of Brewling,

barony of Lovat, and sheriffdom of Inverness, and upon

the same day Lord Simon empowers Hugh of Belladrum

to redeem three wadsets then held over the lands in

question. His name appears in the Valuation Roll for the

county of Inverness in 1644 for a rental of £132 13s 4d in

the parish of Kiltarlity, in Kirkhill for £333 6s 8d, and

in Kilmorack for £468 Scots. Hugh purchased Lord

Lovat's quarter of Belladrum from Sir James Fraser of

Brea when that gentleman was Tutor of Lovat in 1646.

He married Katharine Og, daughter of John Roy Mac-

kenzie, IV. of Gairloch, who died in 1628 in his 80th year,

by his second wife, Isabel, daughter of Murdoch Mackenzie,

I. of Fairburn, with issue

—

1. Hugh, his heir and successor.

2. James, first of Achnagairn, of whom next.

3. Simon, first of the Frasers of Fingask.

4. George, Principal of one of the Aberdeen Colleges.

5. Margaret, who as his second wife married James

Fraser, first in Tomich, next in Dunballoch, and who after-

* Reid's Earls ofRoss, p. 38,
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wards bought Kingillie and Drumchardiny in the parish of

Kirkhill, with issue, for whom see THE FAMILY OF DUN-
BALLOCH.

6. A daughter, who married John Mackenzie, II. of

Applecross, who succeeded to the estates in 1646, and was

living in 1663, with issue—Alexander Mackenzie, III. of

Applecross, who, as his first wife, married Anne, only

daughter of Alexander Fraser, Tutor of Lovat, by Lady

Sibella or Elizabeth Mackenzie, daughter of Kenneth, first

Lord Mackenzie of Kintail. Alexander Mackenzie, III. of

Applecross, married secondly, Margaret, daughter of Rod-

erick Mackenzie, V. of Fairburn, with issue, and thirdly,

in 17 1 3, Christian, daughter of Hugh Fraser, IV. of Bella-

drum, with issue.

7. A daughter, who married Hector Mackenzie in Assynt,

brother of Roderick Mackenzie, I. of Applecross (sasine

to Hector in 1650).

8. Janet, who married Roderick Mackenzie, V. of Davoch-

maluag (who has a sasine in 1640), with issue—Kenneth,

his heir and successor, three other sons, and four daughters.

Hugh is said to have also married a daughter of Colonel

Patrick Grant, IV. of Glenmoriston, who died in 1643.

He was succeeded by his eldest son,

IV. Hugh Fraser, fourth of Belladrum. He, as " Hugh
Fraser, Younger of Belladrum," attended the Master of

Lovat's funeral in Edinburgh in 1643, and he appears in

the Valuation Roll for 1644 for a rental of £573 in the

parish of Wardlaw, now Kirkhill; in Kiltarlity, for £132
13s 4d ; and in Kilmorack for £468—a total of £1173 13s

4d Scots. On the 22nd of February, 1649, Thomas Mac-

kenzie of Pluscardine took possession of the town of

Inverness, and at a council of war held on the 26th of

the same month, there were present, among others,

Hugh Fraser of Belladrum and Simon Fraser of Craig-

house. His name appears again in 1652-1655.

On the 30th of June, 1656, Colin Mackenzie, II. of

Kincraig, gives a blench charter dated at Inverness of

Inchvuilt, Inchlochell, and Inchvallagan, as then possessed
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by himself and his tenants within the parish of Kilmorack,

earldom of Ross, and sheriffdom of Inverness, to Hugh
Fraser of Belladrum, the reddendo to the superior being

13s 4d, with an augmentation of 3s 46. In 1661 Hugh,

tenth Lord Lovat, with consent of his curators and others,

granted a precept of clare constat in favour of Hugh
Fraser of Belladrum in the lands contained in the charter

of 1636. He married his cousin, a daughter of Roderick

Mackenzie, V. of Davochmaluag, with issue

—

1. Hugh, his heir and successor.

2. Thomas, who is described in 1672 in the "Album
Studiosorum " of Aberdeen University as a "son of the

Laird of Belladrum," and again in the "Album Laureat-

orum " in 1676 as "Thomas Fraser, frater domini a

Belladrum." What afterwards became of him is not known.

3. Christian, who in 17 13, as his third wife, married her

cousin, Alexander Mackenzie, III. of Applecross.

4. A daughter who married the Rev. William Mackenzie,

Episcopal minister of Rosskeen, with issue. He was one

of the Mackenzies of Ardross family, and was admitted to

Rosskeen before the 9th of August, 1665. He died on the

14th of March, 1774.*

He was succeeded by his eldest son,

V. Hugh Fraser, fifth of Belladrum. He is a student

in Aberdeen .University in 1667. While "Younger of

Belladrum " he was a member of the Scottish Parliament

for the county of Inverness in 1678, and again in 1685-86.

He is entered in the Valuation Roll for 1691 in the parish

of Wardlaw for a rental of £288; in Kiltarlity for ,£100;

and in Kilmorack for lands in Glenstrathfarrar for ,£296, all

Scots, His name appears in the Act of the Scottish

Parliament passed on the 10th of July, 1695, as being the

author of a " Report under the hands of Hugh Fraser of

Belladrum and James Fraser of Reelick, Commissioners of

Supply, 3rd and 4th February, 1691, who had taken the de-

positions for the barony of Urquhart" in a claim by Sir

Ludovick Grant of Grant for losses sustained by him during

* History of the Mackenzies, new edition, p. 508.
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the Revolution.* It will be observed that his rentals are

very much reduced in the parishes of Wardlaw and Kiltarlity

since 1644, and the whole of the £468 disappears from the

parish of Kilmorack. Indeed, he has now only a total

rental of ,£388, as against £1174 13s 4d forty-seven years

earlier. He was one of the trustees of Hugh, eleventh

Lord Lovat, during his Lordship's minority, along with

Kenneth Mor Mackenzie, third Earl of Seaforth, and Sir

George Mackenzie of Tarbat ; and in 1677, young Lord

Lovat, then in his twelfth year, was removed to Belladrum's

house, where he was placed under " proper tutors," and

remained there until he went to the University (see pp.

203-204).

He married Janet, daughter of Alexander Chisholm,

XVII. of Chisholm, with issue

—

1. Alexander Fraser, who died before his father, but who
in 1680, then described as "Alexander Fraser, Younger

of Belladrum," married Margaret, daughter of Colin Mac-

kenzie, III. of Redcastle, with issue—James, who succeeded

his grandfather.

2. William, who is described as one of the students in

Aberdeen University in 1679, as "Gulielmus Fraser filius

domini de Belladrum."

3. Simon Fraser, designated in the same list as " Simon

Fraser, ejusdem frater."

4. Anne, who married William, fifth son of James Fraser,

I. of Dunballoch, without issue.

Hugh was succeeded by his grandson,

VI. James Fraser, sixth of Belladrum, who in 171 1 is

infeft as heir of his grandfather Hugh by Roderick Mac-

kenzie of Prestonhall, then nominal superior of all the Lovat

lands. Lord Lovat makes the following reference to him in

a letter to Ludovick Grant of Grant, dated Beaufort, the

13th day of April, 1737. "They (a party from Glen-

urquhart) went all drunk to your cousin Belladrum's house

about 12 o'clock at night, and Belladrum being sick in bed,

they insulted him and his lady and family, and gave un-

* Chiefs of Grant, vol. iii., p. 483.
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seeming names to his country and people." He is, however,

dead before the 22nd of May, 1739, for on that date Lord

Lovat writing to the same Ludovick Grant says—"The
little insolent fellow, Achmounie, continues to insult, abuse,

and maltreat the Lady Belladrum and her tenants and some

of mine ; and he has lately invented a very silly lie of you

against me. It is not worth the while to write you the lie

that he spreads up and down, but I'll tell you it at meeting.

In the meantime, at the earnest prayers and desire of the

poor widow lady, your cousin Belladrum's relict, I have sent

a Notary with a party to make legal interruption in putting

down a dike that he has built upon Belladrum's property

and mine that he has no more right to than the Rigs of

Lovat."*

James, married, with issue

—

1. James, his heir and successor.

2. Alexander, who was " in good business in Tobago

"

in 1 77 1, mentioned in General Fraser's entail in 1774, but

dead without issue before 1797.

3. Christian, who married William Fraser, who acquired

a wadset of Kingillie from his father, Thomas Fraser of

Dunballoch and Newton, Sheriff-Depute of the county of

Inverness in 1713, with issue—James, Thomas, Hugh,

Anna, and May.

4. Anne, who married Donald Fraser, second son of the

then deceased William Fraser of Belloan. The marriage

trustees are her brother, Captain James Fraser, VII. of

Belladrum, Alexander, her other brother, and Peter Fraser

of Fingask, the contract being signed at Belladrum on the

2nd of December, 1766.

He was succeeded by his elder son,

VII. Colonel James Fraser, seventh of Belladrum,

who, in 1756, made up titles to the lands of Kilmorack

as heir of his great-grandfather Hugh. He was known

by his Gaelic countrymen as " Seumas Eolach," or James

the Knowing One. In 1757 he was appointed Captain in

the Fraser Regiment of Highlanders raised in that year by

* Chiefs oj Grant\ vol. ii., p. 387.
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General Simon Fraser of Lovat, and accompanied the corps

to Canada, where he served with distinction during the

Seven Years War. In 1767, on the narrative that though

he was still fully assessed on the rental of 1691 he and his

predecessors had been really denuded of the whole lands in

Kilmorack in favour of the family of Lovat, except Easter

Muilzie and Muilzie-reach, which still belonged to him, at

least in mid-superiority, he petitioned the Commissioners

of Supply for the county for modification and corresponding

relief. He is one of the substitutes in General Simon

Fraser's entail of 1774. On the 30th of April, 1781, he,

described as "our former Collector," was appointed by the

Commissioners of Supply for the county of Inverness their

Collector " for this current year." His cautioners were

Alexander Chisholm of Chisholm and William Chisholm,

Provost of Inverness. On the 29th of November, 1794,

letters of service were issued to him for raising a Fencible

Regiment a thousand strong. By the following spring he

completed the corps, of which no fewer than three hundred

bore the name of Fraser, while the others were chiefly

from the Fraser country. On the 14th of June, 1795, they

were embodied and inspected at Inverness. In November,

l 797> ne resigned the command of the regiment, and

John Simon Frederick Fraser, Master of Lovat, the Hon.

Archibald Fraser's eldest son, was appointed Colonel in his

place. In the same year George III. directed a letter,

among others, to Colonel James Fraser of Belladrum con-

ferring powers upon him to receive the oaths of all the

Justices of the Peace for the county of Inverness.

He married Hannah (born in 1739), third daughter of

Hugh Baillie of Dochfour by Emilia, daughter of Alexander

Fraser, X. of Reelick (who married in 1734), with issue—

-

1. James, his heir and successor.

2. Simon, who, in 1790, purchased an estate in Demerara,

and married Fraulein Battenberg, with issue, among other

daughters but no sons—Hannah, who married Captain

Alexander Mackenzie, 25th Native Regiment, H.E.I.C.S.,

third son of Alexander Mackenzie, VI. of Ord, with issue.
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3. Emilia, who, born in 177 1, married in 1795 Major

Colin Mackenzie, IV. of Mountgerald, with issue—Colin,

Simon, and Alexander Fraser, all of whom succeeded each

other in Mountgerald ; and six daughters. She died on

the 14th of January, 1828.

4. Sarah, who in 1797 (marriage contract dated at

Guisachan and Belladrum the 25th and 26th of April of

that year) married William Fraser, X. of Guisachan, with

issue. She is described in the contract as the Colonel's

third daughter.

He died in 1797, and was succeeded by his eldest son,

VIII. James Fraser, eighth of Belladrum, known locally

as " Seumas Eolach Eolach," or the Knowing Knowing

James. He bought the superiority of the lands of Bella-

drum when sold by the Lovat Trustees on the 20th of

December, 1800, for which he has a sasine in the following

year ; and there is a contract of excambion between him

and Colonel Simon Fraser, Younger of Lovat, of certain

lands near Beaufort in 1801. He was served heir to his

father in 18 10. He subsequently engaged in business in

the West Indies, but was unsuccessful ; for as early as

1812 his affairs became much involved ; the estate is

advertised for sale on 26th of March and 13th of August,

18 1 3, and in 1827 it is finally sold for £80,000 to John

Stewart of Carnousie, who, on the 15th of December,

1 8 14, had married Jamesina, daughter of Lieutenant-Colonel

William Campbell of the 78th Regiment, widow of Captain

Simon Fraser of Fanellan, and who afterwards sold it to

James Merry, the well-known ironmaster.

James married Mary, elder daughter of John Fraser, VI.

of Achnagairn, without issue, and after the sale of his estate

he went to the West Indies, where he died a few years

later, the last male representative of his house. His widow

died at Windsor on the 5th of January, 1854, aged 72 years.



THE FRASERS OF ACHNAGAIRN.

I. James Fraser, first of Achnagairn, was the second son

of Hugh Fraser, III. of Belladrum, by his wife Katharine

Og, daughter of John Roy Mackenzie, IV. of Gairloch.

From an inventory of Achnagairn papers, dated the 8th of

March, 1755, we find that, on the 7th of April, 1670, Hugh,

tenth Lord Lovat, granted Fraser a tack " of the town and

lands of Auchnagairn and the miln~thereof, as also the town

and lands of Grome, etc., for the space of twenty times

nineteen years, commencing from Whitsunday, 1670."

Sasine followed on the 19th of June following, and it

was registered at Fortrose on the 30th of the same month.

The contract of tack itself was registered in the Books of

Council and Session on the 26th of May, 1735.

James must have died before 1691, for in the Valuation

Roll of that year for the County of Inverness there is the

following entry :
—

" The heir of Achnagairn for his own rent

and a part of Kilbokie's, .£325." He was succeeded by

his son,

II. James Fraser, second of Achnagairn. He is men-

tioned in 1700 as James Fraser "of Achnagairn," and there

is a disposition by Lord Prestonhall " to James Fraser of

Achnagairn of the quarter lands of Achnagairn arid per-

tinents, but excepting the miln thereof," dated the 16th of

January, 1710, and registered in the Books of Council, along

with his predecessor's contract of tack, on the 26th of May,

1735. He writes a letter to "his son Dr Fraser," on the

18th of April, 1735. In 1736 an action for libel is raised

against him at the instance of Fraser of Belloan and Lord

Lovat, but what subsequently became of it does not appear.

He married Isobel, daughter of Duncan Forbes of Cul-

loden, and sister of the Lord President, with issue

—

I. Duncan, his heir and successor,
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2. James, Provost of Inverness, mentioned in General

Simon Fraser's entail in 1774.

3. Anne, married Alexander Ross of Nether Pitkerrie.*

4. Katharine, who, .born in 1698, married in 1721, as his

second wife, Colin Mackenzie, I. of Mountgerald (marriage

contract in that year), with issue—James, II. of Mount-

gerald and others. She died on the 9th of March, 1777.

-James, who died before* 1750, was succeeded by his

elder son,

III. Dr Duncan Fraser, one of the substitutes in.

General Fraser's entail in 1774, and mentioned in the Act

of 1797, as being "since deceased without issue " male. He
is often referred to in Lord Simon's voluminous corres-

pondence as the " Dr." In the inventory already referred

to there is a reference to a memorial for him " upon talking

to lawyers and people of skill anent the neglecting to enter

a claim for Dr Fraser upon the estate of Lovat for the lands

of Achnagairn and Grome upon the foresaid long tack and

disposition. They seem to think it was unnecessary, as

the Doctor and his predecessors have been in the natural

possession of the lands for 80 years past for payment

of the tack duty mentioned in the tack, and more especially

as upon the survey and taking up the rental of the forfeited

estate of Lovat there is nothing else surveyed nor rentalled

but these very articles of tack duty, which has been always

paid since the date of it in the year 1670, and upon which

the Doctor himself deponed at the taking the said estate."

The date of this memorial, reckoning the 80 years therein

referred to from 1670, the date of the original tack, would

be 1750.

The Doctor married with issue, at least one daughter

—

Katharine, who married first, Andrew Ross, fourth of

Pitkerrie, Easter Ross, and secondly, on the 20th of Octo-

ber, 1 741, John, second son of Robert Gray, VII. of Skibo,

with issue.f

Dying without male issue, Dr Fraser was succeeded by

his brother,

* Reid's Earls of Ross, f Ibid,
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IV. James Fraser, fourth of Achnagairn, a merchant,

and Provost of Inverness from 1764 to 1767. He married

Isabel, daughter of George Mackenzie of Culbo, third son of

Alexander Mackenzie, II. of Belmaduthy, with issue

—

1. John, his heir and successor.

James was succeeded by his son,

V. John Fraser, fifth of Achnagairn, a merchant in

London, and is referred to in 1785 as having got seriously

embarrassed in his financial affairs there. William Ross

(formerly Gray), of Cromarty and Conduit Street, London,

in his will, dated in that year, says that he would have left

certain persons named by him larger legacies " were it not

for the great loss I lately sustained by the failure of my
relative, Mr John Fraser, merchant, London." John died

on the 29th of April, 1825, aged 80 years. He erected

a monument to his predecessor, Dr Duncan Fraser, in the

old Churchyard of Kirkhill.

He married in Edinburgh, on the 5th of August, 1778,

Jean Mackenzie, daughter of a son of Bernard Mackenzie of

Sandilands,* with issue

—

1. James, who succeeded his father.

2. John, who succeeded his brother James.

3. Henry, an Episcopalian clergyman, who died unmarried.

4. Mary, who married James Fraser, eighth and last of

Belladrum, without issue.

5. Justina, who married the Rev. George Bates, an

English clergyman, also without issue.

John was succeeded by his eldest son,

VI. James Fraser, sixth of Achnagairn, who married

Dora Macrae, of the family of Inverinate, with issue

—

1. Dora, who married Robert Reid, brewer, London,

without issue.

2. Jane, who married Eyre Lambert, without issue.

3. Helen, who married, first, Huntly George Gordon

Duff of Muirtown, with issue— (1) Emily Dora, who died

young
; (2) Georgina Huntly, who married Francis Darwin

of Elston, Notts, and of Muirtown, Inverness, without issue.

* Reid's Earls of Ross.
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Helen married, secondly, Charles Middleton of Middleton

Lodge, Ilkley, Yorkshire, with issue— (3) Charles Marma-
duke, now of Middieton

; (4) Reginald Charles, a Jesuit

priest
; (5) Lionel George, a settler in Australia ; and (6)

Hilda Mary, still unmarried.

James dying without male issue, was succeeded by his

brother,

VII. JOHN Fraser, seventh of Achnagairn, Official

Assignee for the City of Manchester. He married Caroline

Harriet Malton, with issue, four sons and nine daughters, of

whom the following survive, all the others having died

young or unmarried

—

1. Hugh, his heir and successor.

2. Margaret, unmarried.

3. Georgina, unmarried.

4. Caroline Emily, unmarried.

5. Louisa Maria, who on the 25th of August, 1864,

married William Alexander Grant Gordon, a cadet of the

Gordons of Croughly, born on the 30th of July, 1839,

residing at Drumdevan, near Inverness, with issue— (1) Ken-

neth Fraser, born on the 16th of September, 1865, now in

the London Office of the Hong Kong Bank
; (2) Neil

Fraser, born on the 5th of September, i860, a Lieutenant

in the Royal Artillery; (3) Alister Fraser, born on the 1st of

February, 1872, a Lieutenant in the Gordon Highlanders

;

(4) Ronald, who died young ; and (5) Cecilia, all unmarried.

6. Constance Isabella, unmarried.

John's wife died at Torquay on the 30th of January, 1854,

and he died in 1872, when he was succeeded by his only

surviving son,

VIII. Hugh Fraser, eighth and now of Achnagairn.

He married, in 1873, Florence, only child of Edward Finch-

Hatton, with issue—four daughters.



THE FRASERS OF STRUY.

I. ANDREW FRASER, afterwards called William, second son

of Hugh, fifth Lord Lovat, killed at Blar-nan-leine in 1544,

by his second wife, Janet, daughter of Walter Ross of

Balnagown, was the first of the Frasers of Struy. He was

Tutor for his nephew Hugh, seventh Lord Lovat. For

particulars of his services in this responsible position see

pages 104 to 107. His Tutory expired in 1567, when his

Lordship granted him an honourable discharge of all his

accounts. He claimed the Tutorship again against Thomas
of Knockie, his Lordship's uncle, when his grand-nephew

Simon, eighth Lord, succeeded in January, 1576-77.

Knockie, however, succeeded to the office. For particulars

of this dispute and its settlement see pages 121 to 123.

He was one of those in whose favour Simon, the eighth

Lord, inhibited himself in 1587 against disposing of any

part of his estates until he became of age. He is on record

as late as 1591.

On the 2 1st of September, 1570, he secured a wadset

from Mackintosh of Mackintosh of the lands of Eskadale,

and they continued on that footing until on the 10th of

March, 161 8, Mackintosh resigned the wadset to William's

grandson, Thomas Fraser, III. of Struy, and Elizabeth

Dunbar, his wife.

On the 19th of January, 1560, and again in November,

1561, William entered into a contract of marriage with

Elizabeth or Elspet, daughter of John Grant, X. of Freuchie,

but it is not known whether the marriage was celebrated or

not. If so, he must have divorced her soon after, for on

the 15th of February, 1564, another marriage contract is

entered into between her and John Leslie, Younger of
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Balquhain. She, in 1576, divorces Leslie, and enters into a

third contract of marriage, on the 21st of January,* 1580

—

this time with William Cumming of Inverallochy. The
contract with William Fraser of Struy is a peculiar one, for

oddly enough it anticipates a divorce and makes* certain

provision for it. It, as well as the contract with John

Leslie, is printed in The Chiefs of Grant, vol. iii., pp.

380-382, and reference to her proceedings for divorce from

the latter will be found at pp. 391-393 of the same volume.

By Elizabeth Grant, or another, William had issue

—

1. Hugh, his heir and successor.

2. Thomas, first of the Frasers of Eskadale, whom see.

3. Elizabeth, who, in 1594, married James Fraser, I. of

Phopachy, with issue, from whom sprung the Frasers of

Torbreck, Inchberry, and others, whom see.

He was succeeded by his eldest son,

II. Hugh Fraser, second of Struy, whose name appears

as such in 1616. He married Katharine, daughter of John

Roy Mackenzie, IV. of Gairloch, with issue

—

1. Thomas, his heir and successor.

He was succeeded by his son,

III. Thomas Fraser, third of Struy. His name appears

in an agreement between the Earl of Seaforth and the

leading men of the Clan Mackenzie on the one hand, and

Simon Lord Lovat and the principal men of the Frasers on

the other hand, in 1628, as " Thomas Fraser of Struy,"*

In the titles of the Urquharts of Cromarty there are two

renunciations by "Thomas Fraser of Struy" in favour of

Sir Thomas Urquhart of Cromarty, Knight, of the lands

of Davidston, dated in 1629, and registered at Chanonry

on the 31st of May in that year. He appears in the Valua-

tion Roll of 1644 for lands in the parish of Boleskine and

Abertarff to the value of ^"373 6s 8d ; in Kiltarlity to the

value of £104 3s 4d ; and in Kilmorack to the value of ^520
—a total of £997 10s Scots. He supplied, in 1652-53,

most of the Scotch fir from his woods of Struy used in the

erection of Cromwell's Fort at Inverness, for which he

* History ofthe Chisholms, pp. 52-54.
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received in payment the large sUm of thirty thousand merks.

He married Elizabeth Dunbar, dead before 1629, with

issue—

:

1. Alexander, described in 1629 as his eldest son and

apparent heir, in which year he seems to have died before

his father.

2. Hugh, who succeeded to the estate.

3. Agnes, who married John Maclean, son and apparent

heir of Alexander Maclean of Dochgarroch, with issue

(contract of marriage dated the 27th of July, 1629, in

possession of their descendant, Charles Fraser-Mackin-

tosh). She died in 1680. The contract is witnessed, among
others, in addition to the principals (Thomas of Struy being

named as the lady's father), by Hucheon Fraser of Culbokie,

James Fraser of Phopachy, William Fraser of Drumchardiny,

Thomas Fraser of Boblainy, Hugh Fraser, "apparent of

Struy," and Mr William Fraser, minister at Conventh.

Agnes Fraser's mother was dead at the date of the contract,

in which she is referred to as her "umquhile mother."

Hugh being "apparent of Struy" at this date shows that

his brother Alexander was then dead.

4. A daughter, who, as his second wife, married the Rev.

John Mackenzie of Tolly.

Thomas was succeeded by his second and only surviving

son,

IV. Hugh Fraser, fourth of Struy, whose name appears

in 1656, 1659, and again in 1665. In an inventory of the

moveable debts of James Dunbar, Baillie of Inverness, dated

the 8th of September, 1712, there is a "bond, Hugh Fraser

of Struy, to the deceased Alexander Dunbar, Provost of

Inverness, for the sum of twenty-six pounds, twelve shillings,

four pennies, Scots money, with penalties and annual rent,

dated the 1st of February, 1665 years." His name appears

in the proclamation of 1678 as "Hugh Fraser of Strowie,"

and he is again on record in 1683.

He married, with issue

—

1. John, who succeeded his father.

2. Thomas, who succeeded his brother John ; and others,
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3. Agnes, who married Hugh Fraser, VI. of Guisachan,

with issue ; and others.

He was succeeded by his eldest son,

V. Jomnt Fraser, fifth of Struy, whose name is entered

as "John Fraser of Struy" in the Valuation Roll for the

county of Inverness in 1691 for .£400. He was succeeded

by his brother,

VI. Thomas Fraser, sixth of Struy. In 1696 he signs,

immediately after his Lordship, the letter addressed by

Thomas, twelfth Lord Fraser of Lovat and the leading men
of the clan to the Earl of Argyle, given at length at pages

219 to 221. Described as "Major Thomas Fraser, Elder

of Struy," he was, on the 6th of September, 1698, along

with Simon of Lovat and others, found guilty of treason

and other crimes against the State, " ravishing persons of

distinguished ranks," to wit, the Dowager Lady Lovat, and

sentenced to death and forfeiture in absence.* His name
appears again in 1704, in a decree of constitution of the

debt already referred to as due to the late Bailie James

Dunbar of Inverness by his father, "against Thomas Fraser

of Struy, as representing his said deceased father, dated,

before the Sheriff of Inverness, the 17th of July, 1704

years." It was to him that Simon Lord Lovat, before he

left for France in 1702, granted the bond for 4000 merks

referred to at pages 253-254, and which continued an

irritating cause of dispute and litigation between the two

families for many years afterwards—until after Lord Simon's

death in 1747.

Thomas married, with issue

—

1. Hugh, his heir and successor.

2. Alexander, described as "a son of Struy" in 1706.

3. Agnes, who, as his second wife, married Simon Mac-

kenzie, I. of Allangrange, in 1718.

He was succeeded by his elder son,

VII. Hugh Fraser, seventh of Struy, who is found

guilty on the 6th of September, 1698—along with his father

and several others—under the designation of " Hugh Fraser,

* See pages 232 to 241 for the charges, trial, and sentence.

41
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son to Struy," of treasonable practices against the State,

sentenced to death, and forfeited in absence the same day.

His name also appears in 171 1 and 17 16. He married Lilias,

daughter of John Chisholm, XX. of Chisholm, with issue

—

1. Thomas, his heir and successor.

2. David, who married, with issue—Thomas, known
locally as "Tomas Mac Dhaibhidh," who married Janet,

daughter of Colin Chisholm, III. of Knockfin, and sister,

not daughter as stated at p. 159 of Mackenzie's History

of the Chisholms, of Valentine Chisholm, of Inchully, with

issue—John, generally called "Ian Mac Thomais," tacksman

of Mid-Guisachan, who married Jean, daughter of William

Chisholm, farmer, Moor of Comar, with issue—ten sons and

two daughters, namely, (1) William, subsequently known
for many years as the venerable Roman Catholic Bishop

William Fraser of Arichat, Nova Scotia. (2) Colin, who
married with issue—nine children, of whom three survive,

with nineteen grandchildren. Colin left no male issue.

(3) Hugh, or Huistean, who died in infancy. (4) another

Hugh, who married with issue—ten children, of whom five

still survive, with eight grandchildren. Hugh had several

sons, the eldest of whom was Johq, who died a few years

ago, leaving two sons—William and Austin or Hugh, the

said William being the present heir-male of the Frasers of

Struy. (5) Thomas, who married Catherine, daughter of

Duncan Chisholm, farmer, Invercannich, with issue—rfive

children, of whom two survive, with fourteen grandchildren.

(6) John, who married with issue—eleven children, of whom
ten survive, "with forty-nine grandchildren. (7) David, who
married, with issue—nine children, of whom six survive,

with fifty-one grandchildren. (8) Simon, who died un-

married, in Jamaica, where he was in charge of a coffee

plantation. (9) Angus, who married with issue—five children,

of whom two still survive, with eleven grandchildren. (10)

Alexander, a master mariner, who commanded a ship from

the port of Greenock, and was drowned off the West Coast

of Ireland in a great storm, when the ship was lost with all

hands, He married a Port-Glasgow lady, with issue—one
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son, William, who, according-

to the late Colin Chisholm,

Inverness, who remembered all the sons personally before

they emigrated in 1821, followed his grandfather and uncles

to Nova Scotia. (11) a daughter who died in infancy; and

(12) Jean, who married Donald Chisholm, Balnahaun,

Strathglass, who also emigrated, with issue—seven children,

of whom four survive, with thirty grandchildren, all, as well

as the surviving children and grandchildren of her several

brothers, now in Nova Scotia. Thomas, son of David, had

another son David Fraser, a farmer at Craskie, Glencannich,

who married Mary, daughter of Theodore Chisholm, tacks-

man of Comar, Strathglass, with issue—William Fraser, a

priest at St. Raphael's, Glengarry, Canada ; and Alexander,

who died unmarried in Strathglass.

All John Mac Thomais's surviving sons emigrated in 182

1

along with their father to Nova Scotia, where, as we have

just seen, so many of their descendants, male and female,

are still to be found, among them William Fraser, the

present heir-male of the family of Struy, the direct male

line in this country having become extinct on the death

of Hugh Fraser, XIII. of Struy, on the 27th of December,

1866.

Hugh was succeeded by his son,

VIII. Thomas Fraser, eighth of Struy, whose name
appears in 1740, and who in 1757 was appointed a Captain

in the 78th Fraser Highlanders, raised in that year by

General Simon Fraser of Lovat, and who in that dis-

tinguished corps took a part in the conquest of Canada

during the Seven Years' War.

He married, with issue— £jUJuo ,
A

1. Alexander, his heir and successor.

2. Hugh, who succeeded his brother Alexander.

He was succeeded by his elder son,

IX. Alexander Fraser, ninth of Struy, who is men-

tioned in General Fraser's entail in 1774 immediately after

the members of the Strichen family. He is on record in

1792, registered arms in 1796, and both he and his brother

Hugh were alive in 1797.
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He died without issue, and was succeeded by his brother,

X. Hugh Fraser, tenth of Struy, named next after his

brother Alexander in General Fraser's entail of 1774, coming

immediately after the family of Strichen, who since, in

1815, succeeded to the Lovat estates, and are now in

possession. Hugh married Jane, daughter of Alexander

Fraser of Torbreck, long known in Inverness as " Lady

Struy." She was born with other members of that family

in the mansion house of Merkinch, then "standing a

pleasant and open residence but now (1857) closely

hemmed in with buildings." By her Hugh had issue

—

1. Thomas, who succeeded his father.

2. Robert, who succeeded his brother Thomas.

3. Hugh, who succeeded his brother Robert.

4. Margaret Dunbar, who died unmarried.

5. Catherine Wedderburn, who also died unmarried in

1844.

Hugh died in 1805, when he was succeeded by his eldest

son,

XI. Thomas Fraser, eleventh of Struy, on record as

in minority in 1806, and again noticed in 1808 and 1820.

He died young, without issue, and was succeeded by his

next brother,

XII. Robert Fraser, twelfth of Struy, a merchant in

London, who sold the estate in 1826 to the late Thomas

Alexander Fraser, subsequently Lord Lovat, for ^21,000,

reserving to himself and after his death to his brother

Hugh the superiority of the lands, in order to retain their

voting qualification for the county of Inverness. He died

at Jersey unmarried on the 27th of March, 1830, aged

35 years, when he was succeeded by his only surviving

brother,

XIII. Hugh Fraser, thirteenth of Struy, who passed

W.S. on the 7th of February, 1822, and died at Edin-

burgh unmarried on the 2nd of December, 1866, when

the male line of Alexander and of his brother Hugh, both

named in General Fraser's entail of 1774, and the next heirs

of entail to the present family of Lovat, became extinct and
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the representation of Struy went to the Nova-Scotian branch

of the family as already shown.

It may, however, be well to point out that this branch

broke off from the main stem before the entail of 1774,

and that, the male heirs of the substitutes mentioned in

that instrument having died out, the Frasers of Ardachy

and Guisachan, both nearer than Struy, would succeed

under the old charter of 1539 before the representatives

of that family. But as matters stand at present, there is

little chance for any of these cadet families succeeding to

the estates, even should the existing Lovat line die out,

for they are all disentailed and held in fee-simple by

Simon Joseph Fraser, sixteenth and present Lord Lovat,

who has it in his power to alienate or sell them to any one

he pleases, male or female, stranger or clansman. The

Scottish title, however, goes to the nearest heir male.
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I. Thomas Fraser, the first of this family, was the second

son of William Fraser, I. of Struy, who was the eldest son

of Hugh, fifth Lord Lovat, by his second wife, Janet,

daughter of Walter Ross of Balnagown. Thomas is found

possessed of the lands of Eskadale from 1616 to 1620. In

161 8 he was one of a distinguished party who accompanied

Colin, first Earl of Seaforth, to a great hunt in the forest

of Monar (see p. 151).

He married, with issue, at least, one son

—

1. Thomas, his heir and successor.

2. A daughter, who married, first, James Mackintosh of

Termett, and secondly in 1702, William Grant of Ballemore,

Abernethy.

He was succeeded by his son,

II. Thomas Fraser, second of Eskadale. In 1641 he

bought Easter Aigais from Hugh, ninth Lord Lovat, as the

patrimony during his own life of his eldest son Hugh.

He was one of the principal members of the clan who
attended the funeral of Hugh, Master of Lovat, at Holyrood,

Edinburgh, in May, 1643, and he is entered in the Valua-

tion Roll for the county of Inverness in the following year

for lands in the parish of Kiltarlity valued at ^120 13s 4d,

and in Kilmorack valued at £520 Scots, per annum. He
is again on record in 1655.

He married Margaret, daughter of William Fraser, V.

of Culbokie (marriage contract dated at " Bewlie," the 6th

of February, 1660), with issue

—

III. Hugh Fraser, third of Eskadale, who appears in

the Valuation Roll of 1691 for ^36 in the parish of Kirk-

hill, for £50 in Kiltarlity, and £75 in Kilmorack including

his feu-duty payable to Lord Lovat. He grants a bond as

" Hugh Fraser of Escadel," dated the 30th of November,

1681, and he is on record again in 1689. In 1702 he was
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one of the Dowager Lady Lovat's bailies, when John

Fraser, younger brother of Lord Simon, then in France,

took him prisoner at the burning of Fanellan House, along

with Captain John Mackenzie, another of the Dowager's

bailies, Lieutenant Campbell, and others (see pp. 264-266),

and carried them in triumph to Stratherrick, where Hugh
was detained captive for a considerable time, the others

having in the meantime been set at liberty.

He married with issue

—

1. Thomas, his heir and successor.

2. Hugh, who acquired the lands of Aigais from his father,

as already stated, and subsequently known as "Old Father

Aigais." He married three times, first a daughter of the

Rev. Donald Fraser, minister of Kilmorack, with issue

—

(1) Thomas Fraser of Achnacloich, who married Anne,

fifth daughter of William Fraser, IX. of Guisachan, by his

wife Margaret Macdonald of Ardnabi, with issue—twelve

children

—

(a) William, born on the 5th of March, 1754, and

fell in action in India, without issue
;

(b) Simon, born on the

26th of February, 1757, a Captain in the 56th Regiment,

who died unmarried
;

{c) Andrew, who died without issue

;

(d) Hugh, who, born on the 12th of November, 1765,

married his cousin Anne, daughter of Captain Hugh Fraser,

VII. of Eskadale, in her right succeeded to that estate,

and at the same time, his elder brothers having died without

issue, carried on through his father and grandfather the

male representation of the old Eskadale family
;

(e) John,

born on the 30th of June, 1767, an officer in the 72nd

Regiment of Foot, killed in a duel in the Isle of France, in

1815 ; (/) Peter, born on the 4th of November, 1776, Major

in the Royal Scots. He served first in the West Indies,

and subsequently in the earlier stages of the Peninsular

War, where he had his horse shot under him. He fell in

command of his regiment in the assault on St. Sebastian,

"where no man outlived the attempt to gain the ridge."

He was mentioned in the Duke of Wellington's despatches

and in the reports of the enemy for the bravery displayed

by him on that occasion. One of the daughters, Hannah,
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married as his second wife John Chisholm, V. of Knockfin,

with issue—Thomas, a priest in Strathglass, born on the 6th

of July, 1807, and died on the 22nd of February, 1872 ; and

Alexander, born on the 19th of November, 1808. Alex-

ander emigrated to Australia, and died at Sydney in 1854.

Thomas of Achnacloich died about 1800. Hugh of Aigais

married secondly, a daughter of Fraser of Teanacoille, with

issue. (2) Hugh Fraser, who was settled by his father in

Muilzie, married and had issue

—

(a) Robert Fraser, who
succeeded to Easter Muilzie and Muilzie-Reach, and who
in 175 1 (marriage contract dated at Guisachan, 3rd August

in that year) married Margaret, daughter of William Fraser,

VIII. of Guisachan, with issue. It appears from the

Account of Charge and Discharge of Captain John Forbes,

factor on the forfeited estates of Lovat, appointed by the

Barons of Exchequer, that these two places were still in

Robert's possession in 1753 as a wadset from Captain James

Fraser of Belladrum—but redeemed in 1766— for which he

was up till then paying 84 merks, now raised to 300

merks Scots. In 1767 he was tenant also of Wester

Muilzie. (b) Hugh Fraser, a brother of Robert, and so

described as one of the witnesses to the above-named

marriage contract in 1751. (c) Mary, who married William

Fraser, III. of Boblainy, with issue. (3) Alexander Fraser,

settled by his father, as already stated, in and as VI. of

Eskadale, whom see. (4) James Fraser, settled in Polmon.

(5) another James, and (6) Simon, both settled in Inchblair.

Hugh Fraser of Aigais married thirdly, Magdalen, daughter

of Colonel Hugh Fraser, I. of Dunballoch, with issue

—

William, Andrew, Robert, Margaret, Isobel, Mary, and

Amelia. Most of these children—in all thirteen— married

and had issue. Having already provided for his sons by

the first and second marriages, Hugh was succeeded in

Aigais, first by William, his eldest son by the third marriage,

and next by Andrew, his second son by the same marriage,

but both William and Andrew dying unmarried, they were

in turn succeeded by Hugh of Muilzie, son of their younger

brother Robert, who predeceased them. Robert Fraser of
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Muilzie and Aigais married his cousin, a daughter of John

Chisholm, II. of Knockfin.

3. Alexander, mentioned as a son of Eskadale in 1716.

Hugh was succeeded by his eldest son,

IV. Thomas Fraser, fourth of Eskadale, who is men-

tioned several times from 17 13 to 17 18 under that

designation. He was one of the principal men who signed

the address to George I. on his accession to the Throne in

17 14, already repeatedly mentioned. In May 1723, with

consent of his eldest son John, he conveyed the lands of

Aigais to his next brother Hugh, afterwards known as "Old

Father Aigais," Hugh thus becoming the first heritable

proprietor of these lands. He married first, Janet Fraser,

as stated in his eldest son's marriage contract, referred to

below, with issue, by her and a second wife whose name

is now unknown, several children. He was succeeded by

his eldest son by his first wife,

V. John Fraser, fifth of Eskadale, who is described in

1726 as "John eldest son to Thomas of Escadale." He
married Janet (marriage contract dated at Inverness the

26th of January; 1694), eldest daughter of Captain John

Mackenzie of Colonel Hill's Regiment, and one of the

Dowager Lady Lovat's factors, whose name is already

known to the reader, brother of Kenneth Mackenzie, VI. of

Davochmaluag, apparently without surviving male issue,

for he was succeeded by his cousin,

VI. Alexander Fraser, sixth of Eskadale, second son

of John's uncle Hugh—"Old Father Aigais"—by his second

wife, a daughter of Fraser of Teanacoille—and described in

1743 as " Portioner of Eskadale." The other portioners

seem to have been bought out for him by his father, for

he is soon after found in possession of the whole estate.

After the battle of Culloden several of the arms of the

Frasers were buried at the foot of a rock fronting Eskadale

House, still known as " Creag-nan-arm," or the Rock of

the arms. He married, with issue

—

1. Hugh, his heir and successor.

2. A son, who was an officer in the army, fought through



65O HISTORY OF THE FRASERS.

the American War, and was killed in action, unmarried.

3. Alexander, drowned, unmarried, in the River Beauly.

4. A daughter, who married Archibald Chisholm, of Fas-

nakyle, son of Colin Chisholm, I. of Knockfin, with issue.

He was succeeded by his eldest son,

VII. Captain Hugh Fraser, seventh of Eskadale, who
is one of the substitutes in General Simon Fraser's entail in

1774. He served in General Blakeney's Regiment of Horse,

and was for forty years in the service. He fought at

Falkirk, Prestonpans, the siege of Stirling, and at Culloden

on the Hanoverian side against Prince Charles, and subse-

quently during the whole of the American War. He was

known as the " Fiery Captain," and many a story is told

of his successful duels and other feats of swordmanship.

He married Elizabeth Chisholm, with issue—an only

daughter, Anne, who inherited her father's estate and

carried it to her husband,

VIII. Hugh Fraser, her own cousin, fourth son of

Thomas Fraser of Achnacloich (eldest son of " Old Father

Aigais," by his first wife, a daughter of the Rev. Donald

Fraser of Kilmorack), by his wife Anne, fifth daughter of

William Fraser, IX. of Guisachan, by his wife, Margaret

Macdonell of Ardnabi. Hugh was born on the 12th of Nov-

ember, 1765. By Anne Fraser of Eskadale he had issue

—

1. Hugh, who died unmarried before his father, in Edin-

burgh, on the 24th of November, 1824.

2. Thomas, who succeeded his parents in Eskadale.

3. William, H.E.I.C.S. He died in India, unmarried.

4. Anne, who, as his first wife, in 1822, married John

Mackay, banker, Inverness, and Procurator-Fiscal for the

county, without issue. She died in 1825.

5. Eliza, who on the 12th of February, 1822, married

Lieutenant-Colonel Chisholm, of the Madras Horse Artil-

lery, H.E.I.C.S., late of Cheltenham, with issue—four sons

and two daughters, the only surviving son being Colonel

William Chisholm, late Major 40th Madras Native Infantry.

He was born on the 3rd of April, 1836, and resides at

Cheltenham, unmarried, along with his elder sister Anne



THE FRASERS OF ESKADALE. 65

1

Jane, also unmarried. His other sister, Julian Charlotte, is

a nun at Swansea, South Wales.

6. Barbara, who married Captain James Fraser of Ballin-

down and of the 79th Cameron Highlanders, who served

throughout the Peninsular War and received the Waterloo

medal, with issue, two daughters— (1) Isabella, who married

Lieutenant-Colonel Cumming Clarke, late 76th Regiment,

with issue—Josephine Alice Barbara, Ella Gertrude, Juliet

Annie, Beatrice Fraser, and Violet Hannah
; (2) Anne, who

married the late John Stuart, Inverness, without issue.

7. Sarah, who died unmarried in 183 1.

8. Hannah, who died in Inverness, unmarried, on the

23rd of January, 1893.

Hugh died on the 13th of January, 1841, aged 75 years,

his wife dying on the 23rd of the same month, when they

were succeeded by their second and only surviving son,

IX. Thomas Fraser, ninth of Eskadale. He was acting

as Paris correspondent for the Morning Chronicle at the time

of the accession of Louis Napoleon and wrote letters from

thence which appeared in that paper on account of which he

was ordered out of the French Capital, but he was subse-

quently permitted to remain, the order for his expulsion

having been countermanded on the representations of the

O'Gorman Mahon and other influential friends there at the

time.

In 1853 he sold his beautiful estate to Thomas Alexander

Fraser, Lord Lovat, whose lands adjoined it, for .£25,000.

In 1865, he married Jane Christina, second daughter of

his brother-in-law, John Mackay, banker and Procurator-

Fiscal, Inverness, by his second wife, Anne, daughter of

Charles Monro of Allan, with issue

—

1. Hugh Thomas, who was born on the 24th of May,

1866, and died unmarried on the J Oth of June, 1890.

2. Alice Henrietta, the present representative of the

family, still unmarried, and residing with her widowed

mother in London.

3. Marion Camilla, who died unmarried on the 1st of

April, 1889, aged 19 years.
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This family is descended from Alexander, sixth Lord

Lovat (see page 103), and, failing the present House of

Lovat, the heir-male of Ardachy would become heir-male

and chief of the whole clan and succeed to the Scot-

tish Peerage. Lord Alexander had three sons—Hugh,

his heir and successor; Thomas of Knockie and Strichen,

whose representative now possesses the Lovat estates and

honours ; and (3) the progenitor of Ardachy,

I. JAMES Fraser, first of this family, who is said to have

had a charter of the lands of Ardachy, near Fort-Augustus,

from his father Alexander, sixth Lord Lovat, in 1552.

He was succeeded by his son,

II. William Fraser, of Boblainy, where the first three

heads of the house of Ardachy held lands. He married

Katharine, daughter of Duncan Mackenzie, I. of Sand (fifth

son of John Roy Mackenzie, IV. of Gairloch, by his

(Duncan's) wife, a daughter of Hugh Fraser of Belladrum)

and widow of Allan, son and heir of Allan, son of Ranald

Gallda Macdonald of Moydart, who fell at Blar-nan-leine

in 1544,* with issue

—

1. Thomas, who succeeded his father.

2. William, who is probably the William to whom his

brother Thomas disponed his rights to Boblainy in 1652.

He was succeeded by his elder son,

III. Thomas Fraser, third of Ardachy, whose name

appears as a witness to a contract of marriage on the 27th

of July, 1629, between John Maclean, Younger of Doch-

garroch, and Agnes, daughter of Thomas Fraser, III. of

Struy, as "Thomas Fraser of Boblainie." He and his

spouse, now described as " in Boblainie," have a charter

of the lands of Ardachy on the 1st of June, 1637, followed

* History ofthe Mackenzies, new edition, p. 416.
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by a sasine thereon on the 6th of the same month and

recorded on the 10th of July following-

. There is a bond

by Hugh Lord Lovat in their favour in the same year.

Thomas Fraser of Boblainy appears in the Valuation Roll of

1644 for lands in Abertarff—no doubt those of Ardachy

—

valued at £41 6s 8d. He was infeft in the lands of Ardachy

in 1649, but still possessed and resided in Boblainy. In

1652 he dispones his tack of Boblainy to William Fraser

—

apparently his own brother—as appears from the decree of

a Baron Bailie's Court held on the 4th of August, 17 10, and

quoted later on under The FRASERS OF BOBLAINY.

He was succeeded by

IV. THOMAS FRASER, fourth of Ardachy, described as

"his eldest son." There is a contract of marriage entered

into in 1649, during the life of his father, between him and

Isobel Mackintosh as his second wife, and a disposition of

Ardachy by him in her favour and their heirs in 1657. ^ n

the same year he grants a charter to her in life-rent and

to the heirs mentioned therein—William, James, and Simon,

their three sons—followed by a sasine in her and their

favour dated the 30th December, 1657, and recorded on

the 24th of February, 1658. His name, designated " of

Ardachy," appears in the proclamation of chiefs and prin-

cipal men who are to appear at Inverlochy in 1678.

He married, first, a lady whose name has not come down

to us, but by whom he had at least female if not male issue,

as appears from a document to be quoted later on. The

male descendants of this marriage, however, if any, must,

from the transactions which followed and the succession of

the children of the second marriage to the estate, be held

to have become extinct.

By Isobel Mackintosh he had issue

—

1. William, who succeeded him.

2. James, who succeeded his brother William.

3. Simon, of whom nothing is known.

Thomas was succeeded by his eldest son by the second

marriage,

V. William Fraser, fifth of Ardachy, who seems to
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have died unmarried, certainly without male issue, for he

was succeeded by his next brother,

VI. James FRASER, sixth of Ardachy, who married and

had issue

—

i. Thomas, his heir and successor.

2. Hugh, who was Captain of an East Indiaman, and

died unmarried.

3. James, who left a son named Thomas Og, sometimes

called " Buidhe," of whom there were numerous descendants

in 1827 described as in reduced circumstances.

James was succeeded by his eldest son,

VII. THOMAS FRASER, seventh of Ardachy, Writer in

Edinburgh, as shown by an extract from a retour of the

General Charge of Thomas Fraser, " as nearest and lawful

heir" to "Thomas Fraser, his grandfather," expede on the

25th of March, 1729, in virtue of the contract of marriage

between the last-named and his second wife, Isobel Mac-

kintosh, dated 1649. This is further established by letters

of General Charge at the instance of this Thomas against

Thomas Fraser, great-grandson of the deceased Thomas

Fraser, IV. of Ardachy, by his first marriage, and dated the

7th of August, 1729, with execution thereon on the 22nd

and 23rd of the same month. This great-grandson must

have been through female descent. Thomas of Ardachy has

a precept of clare constat from "Hugh Lord Lovat" who,

at this date must have been Hugh Mackenzie of Fraserdale,

on the 2nd of August, 1726, and sasine followed thereon on

the 25th of the same month. On the 15th of July, 1730,

he obtains a decree in his favour on the passive titles.

He was married and had at least one son,

VIII. Thomas Fraser, eighth of Ardachy, Collector of

Customs at Campbelltown, Argyleshire, who on the 27th of

October, 1747, grants a disposition as "Thomas Fraser, son

of the said Writer " in Edinburgh, and who has a " retour

of the special service of the said Thomas Fraser as nearest

and lawful heir of provision of Thomas Fraser of Ardochie,

his great-grandfather" expede before the Sheriff of Inver-

ness-shire on the 26th of September, 1749. He has a
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precept from Chancery for infefting him in the lands of

Ardachy on the 4th of January, 1752, followed by an

instrument of sasine in his favour dated the 20th and re-

corded in the Particular Register of Sasines at Inverness

on the 29th of January in the same year. This Thomas

also acquired some property in Argyleshire, to which he

probably succeeded in right of his wife. He became in-

volved in a long and expensive litigation, which contributed

largely to bring him into financial embarrassment, and both

properties—first the one in Argyleshire, and then the one in

Inverness-shire—had to be sold. Proceedings for this pur-

pose, with the view of dividing the price realised among
his creditors, were taken in the Court of Session in 1759,

continued for several years afterwards, and in the process

it was found necessary to call upon his eldest son, General

Charles Fraser, then a minor, to make up titles to his

ancestors, so as to vest a right to the estate in him, and

in this way evidence was obtained of the names of the

members of the family who intervened between his father

Thomas, who succeeded to the estate in 1749, and Thomas

Fraser, who had been infeft in the lands of Ardachy in 1649.

In one of the papers produced in this action it was set forth

that "the said Charles Fraser and his curators lie furth and

will not enter him heir in special to the said deceased

Thomas Fraser, his father ; the deceased James Fraser, his

grandfather ; the deceased William Fraser, his granduncle
;

and the deceased Thomas Fraser, sometime in Boblainie,

thereafter in Ardochy, his great-grandfather ; in all and

sundry the lands, heritages, and others aforementioned,

viz.—all and haill the lands of Ardochy," etc.

Ultimately the estate was sold under a decree of sale

dated the 13th of February, 1770, in favour of William

Fraser of Balnain, W.S., and on the 2nd of August, 1771,

registered in the Books of Council and Session. On the

4th of November following, he has a disposition of Ardachy

from Lieutenant-General Simon Fraser, eldest son of Simon

Lord Lovat, beheaded on the 9th of April, 1747, although

how General Simon, who at that time had not the family
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estates restored to him, came to have the legal right to

dispose of Ardachy is not known. A sasine follows on the

26th of the same month, and it is recorded in the Particular

Register of Sasines at Inverness on the 18th of December,

all in 1 77 1. On the 6th of November in the same year,

only two days after registration, General Simon of Lovat

disposes of the estate to William Fraser of Balnain ; the

latter re-disposes of the same property to the same General

Simon Fraser ; sasine follows on this re-sale in favour of

General Fraser on the 25th of the same month ; and it is

registered in the Particular Register of Sasines at Inverness

on the 18th of December, the same day it will be observed

that the sale by General Fraser to Balnain was registered.

The proceeds of the sale were divided among the credi-

tors, according to a scheme of division dated Whitsunday,

1770, and William Fraser of Balnain, as Commissioner for

Lieutenant-General Simon Fraser, grants a tack of the lands

to Lieutenant John Fraser, dated the 10th of August and

23rd of September, 1771.

Thomas Fraser (who died at Campbelltown on the 3rd of

October, 1754*) married about 1735 Charlotte, daughter

of Colonel the Hon. Charles Campbell, third son of Archi-

bald, ninth Earl of Argyll, by his wife Lady Mary Stewart,

daughter of James Earl of Moray, with issue—several sons,

all of whom died young, except

1. Charles, his heir and successor.

2. Charlotte, who married Francis Farquharson of Fin-

zean.

3. Margaret, who married Dr Lachlan Campbell of

Lagganlochan, with issue.

Thomas was succeeded by his only surviving son,

IX. General Charles Fraser, ninth of Ardachy, who

served for six years in the Royal Marines, which he joined

on Tuesday, the 20th of May, 1755. On the 9th of August

the same year he embarked on board his Majesty's ship

" Essex," in which he was engaged in Sir Edward Hawke's

fleet when upwards of one hundred French merchantmen

* Scots Magazine,

I

t
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were captured and detained by the British. In 1762 he

joined the military service of the Hon. East India Company,

and proceeded the same year to Madras. Having- remained

there actively employed for the next five years, he returned

home on leave, and on the 16th of December, 1768, married

at Campbelltown, Argyleshire, Isabella, daughter of Colonel

Lionel Hook, and after a year's sojourn in this country they

both returned to Madras in 1769. On the 25th of August,

1771, at Vellore, their eldest son was born, and was named
Hastings in acknowledgment of several acts of kindness

rendered to the father by Warren Hastings, the future

famous Governor-General of India, who was at this period

a member of the Council at Madras. That great man
having been advised of the compliment paid to him, wrote

a letter acknowledging it a few days before he left the

Presidency of Madras to take up the higher and much more

responsible position of second in Council at Calcutta, to

Captain Charles, the boy's father, in the following terms :

—

"Fort St. George, 15th January, 1772.

"Dear Sir,— I learnt with pleasure from Mr Anderson some time

ago the honour which you had done me in making me one of the

sponsors to your son. I am much obliged to you and Mrs Fraser for

this distinction, though I cannot hope for some years to have the

pleasure of seeing my godson, or of being a witness to his growth and

improvements. I shall be glad, however, to be informed of the

progress which he makes in both, and of his health, and shall be

truly interested in his welfare. I take the liberty to send a piece of

shawl directed to you, which I request your permission to present as a

mere token of affection to my young namesake and to plead a right to

his acceptance of it from the relation that you have given me to him.

I beg you will present my compliments to Mrs Fraser, and believe me
to be, with esteem, yours very faithfully,

(Signed) " Warren Hastings."

On the 7th of September, 1776, General Simon Fraser of

Lovat, as the result of family arrangements following on the

litigation already referred to and which had been continued

for more than a generation, conveyed the estate of Ardachy

to Captain Charles Fraser of the H.E.I.C.S., designed by him

as heir-male and representative of Ardachy, on his paying

back certain sums of money which "had been advanced for

42
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the purchase of the lands from another member of the

family," apparently William Fraser of Balnain, W.S. The
deed is registered in the Books of Council and Session

on the 1 8th of September in the same year, and sasine

in favour of Captain Charles Fraser follows thereon on the

5th of July, recorded in the Particular Register of Sasines

at Inverness on the 6th of August, 1777.

After a further residence of ten years in India Captain

Fraser, accompanied by his wife and a family of five sons

and three daughters, returned home in 178 1 on a second

furlough. In 1783 he returned to the East, where in due

course he obtained the command of a Brigade, and sub-

sequently became a General of Division, a position which

he continued to hold until his death at Masulipatam

in 1795.

General Charles, as already stated, on the 16th of De-

cember, 1768, married Isabella, daughter of Colonel Lionel

Hook, with issue

—

1. Hastings, his heir and successor, born at Vellore on

the 25th of August, 1771.

2. Charles Campbell, who was born at Madras, on the

22nd of November, 1772, and died at Edinburgh on the

31st of May, 1784.

3. Thomas Fletcher Augustus, who was born on the 6th

of May, 1775. He was Aide-de-Camp to his father, Gen-

eral Charles Fraser, for some time, and died unmarried

while commanding a Brigade at Secunderabad on the 14th

of February, 1822.

4. Pasley Weir, who was born at Madras on the 19th of

February, 1778, and drowned at sea on his way out to

India to join his father as a cadet by falling overboard in

1795, unmarried.

5. James Stuart, who succeeded his brother Hastings in

the family estate.

6. George Dugald, who died at Paris, a youth of fifteen

years.

7. Harriet, who on the 17th of February, 1786, in her

seventeenth year married, without issue, Colonel Charles, son
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of Colonel Charles Campbell of Barbreck, by whom she

was divorced a few years afterwards.

8. Elizabeth Emilia, who on the 23rd of November, 1791,

when only fifteen years of age, married Colonel Francis

Capiper, and died without issue on the 29th of January,

1795, at Madras.

9. Isabella, who on the 23rd of May, 1805, married at

Mount Capper, Cuddalore, Charles Carpenter, of the Madras

Civil Service, who died in India on the 14th of June, 1818,

without issue. She died, in London, in August, 1862, aged

8^ years. A sister of Charles Carpenter, Charlotte Mar-

garet, married in 1797 Walter, afterwards Sir Walter Scott

of Waverley Novel celebrity.

10. Charlotte Catherine, who on the 18th of March, 18 16,

married Josia Heath, of the Madras Civil Service, with issue

—Josia Marshall, who died on the 4th of July, 1876; and

Isabella Amelia. Charlotte died at Bath on the 7th of

March, 1872.

General Charles Fraser died on the 27th of April, 1795,

his widow having outlived him until the 19th of October,

1821, when she died at Mount Capper, Cuddalore, India,

at an advanced age. He was succeeded by his eldest son,

X. General Hastings Fraser, C.B., tenth of Ardachy,

who was born on the 25th of August, 1771, entered the army

as Ensign on the 9th of April, 1788, and was appointed Lieu-

tenant on the 3rd of November, 1790. He served in the cam-

paigns of 1790, 1791, and 1792 in the East Indies, including

the siege and storming of Bangalore, the assault on Tippoo's

fortified camp, and the subsequent siege of Seringapatam.

In 1793 he was present at the siege and capture of Pondi-

cherry, and was at his father's death already a distinguished

young officer. He very soon rose to high rank in the army.

In 1797 he sailed on the projected Manilla expedition to

Penang, and was promoted to a Captaincy on the 29th of

March the same year. In 1799, when only in his twenty-

eighth year, he led his regiment into action against Tippoo,

and was present at the battle of Malavelly and at the siege

and storming of Seringapatam. He served also during the
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whole of the Polygar War in 1801, received his Majority on

the 28th of July the same year for services in that war, and

his Lieutenant-Colonelcy on the 7th of September, 1804.

He was present at the taking- of the Island of Bourbon in

18 10. In this expedition he was promoted to the command
of a Brigade on which afterwards " the brunt of the fighting

fell, and so delighted were those who served under him with

his fine qualities as a leader that his own corps presented

him with a valuable sword, and the native regiments with

a service of silver plate," which was in possession of his

late nephew and namesake, Lieutenant-General Hastings

Fraser, who only died a few years ago. The sword and the

service of plate were accompanied by the following letter,

dated the 10th of July, 18 10 :

—

"The officers of his Majesty's 86th Regiment, deeply impressed

with a sense of your gallant conduct in the action of 8th inst. and

its glorious results, and your kind humane attention to the wounded,

beg leave to request your acceptance of a sword of the value of one

hundred guineas which we [are deputed to present to you in the name
of the corps, as a trifling mark of their esteem, admiration, and

respect."

In 18 1
3 he was appointed Lieutenant-Colonel in the 86th

Regiment of Foot, the Royal County Downs, and Colonel

on the 4th of June. He was made a Major-General on the

1 2th of August, 1829, and Hon. Colonel of the 83rd Regi-

ment. He was appointed Lieutenant-General on the 10th

of January, 1837; General on the 9th of November, 1846;

and got the command of the 61st Regiment of Foot on the

1st of September, 1848.

General Fraser died in London, unmarried, on the 25th

of September, 1852, at the ripe old age of 8^ years, then

Colonel of his old regiment, the Royal County Downs, when

he was succeeded in the family estate by his younger and

only surviving brother,

XI. General James Stuart Fraser, eleventh of

Ardachy, who was born at Edinburgh, on the 1st of July,

1783. He was educated first at Ham, in Surrey, and

subsequently at the University of Glasgow until he was

sixteen years old, when in 1799, he went out to Madras
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as a cadet, and was immediately on his arrival posted to the

1 8th Regiment of Native Foot. His promotion for those

days, when advancement in the army was regulated almost

entirely by seniority, was remarkably rapid. On the 15th

of July, 1800, he obtained his Lieutenancy, and on the 16th

of November, 1809, he was appointed Captain. In 1819 he

became Major; Lieutenant-Colonel in 1824; full Colonel in

1829; appointed Colonel of the 36th Native Infantry on the

26th of September, 1835, and Major-General on the 28th of

June, 1838, all before he was fifty-five years of age. But his

rise in the line of special and select employment was even

more marked than his advance in the purely military grades

of the army, rapid as that was. As early as 1807 he was

appointed Assistant in the Political and Military Department

to Lieutenant-Colonel Marriott while that officer was en-

gaged in transporting the families of the Princes of Mysore,

descendants of Hyder Ali and Tippoo, from the Carnatic

to Bengal in that year by land. In 1808, Sir George

Barlow, who was at the time officiating at Calcutta as

Governor-General, waiting the arrival of Lord Minto, seems

to have taken particular notice of the character and ability

of this young officer, and when in that year Sir George

himself received the appointment of Governor of Madras he

selected Lieutenant James Stuart Fraser, a handsome young

officer six feet three inches in height, as his Aide-de-Camp

and private secretary pro tern. In May 1810 he joined the

force embarked for the invasion of the Mauritius as Deputy-

Commissary and served on the personal staff of Colonel

Keating, who commanded that expedition, in all the actions

which took place until the surrender of the island. From
181 1 to 18 14 he was Town Major of Fort St. George and

Military Secretary to the Governor; and in 18 15 he was

appointed Assistant Adjutant-General of the Army Reserve

under the personal command of the Commander-in-Chief,

who highly commended him for his conduct. On the

conclusion of these operations he was appointed Joint-

Commissioner with Colonel Caldwell, and afterwards sole

Commissioner for conducting the restitution of the French
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settlements on the coasts of Malabar and Coromandel under

the treaty concluded in Paris in 1814, and for restoring the

settlement at Tranquebar, under the Treaty of Kiel negoti-

ated in the same year, to the Danes. Next year he was

appointed Commandant of Pondicherry, but in 1815, after

the battle of Waterloo, he resumed his old post and con-

tinued to superintend the numerous "delicate and intricate

points, diplomatic, judicial, and administrative, consequent

on the interruption of French rule for twenty-five years,

which were eventually decided to the satisfaction of both

the English and French Governments by the judicious and

well-considered proceedings of Captain Fraser." The

Government of India repeatedly thanked and recommended

him for "the marked ability and the conciliatory disposition"

which had distinguished his conduct throughout every stage

of these delicate proceedings and laborious negotiations,

while at the same time it secured for him warm expressions

of gratitude and esteem from the representatives of the

Government of France. These negotiations were not

concluded by him until the end of 18 19, when in conse-

quence of his mastery of the French language and other

special qualifications he was appointed Special Agent for

conducting the correspondence of the Indian Government

with all the foreign settlements. In 1825, having, as we

have seen, in the previous year attained the rank of Lieu-

tenant-Colonel, he was selected as the Commissioner to take

possession of the Dutch settlements within the Presidency

of Madras ceded to Great Britain on the 17th of March,

1824, by the Treaty of London, and on the final transfer of

the Dutch establishments the Government of Fort St.

George wrote him a letter dated the 1st of February, 1828,

in which they expressed " the highest satisfaction and the

most perfect confidence in his performance" of the most

important and delicate duties which had been entrusted

to him. On the 5th of December, 1839, he was appointed

British Resident at the Court of the Nizam of Hyderabad,

at a salary of £6600 a year, where he showed great capacity

and uprightness of character, but having disagreed with the
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great Marquis of Dalhousie who, during General Fraser's

residence there, differed with his subordinate as to the

policy of annexing Berar—an important portion of the terri-

tory of the Nizam—which the Resident disapproved of,

General Fraser resigned his appointment on the 31st of

December, 1852, and returned to Great Britain early in the

following year. The Madras Spectator of the nth of

March, 1853, says that "he has long and ably filled some of

the highest political appointments in the Company's gifts,

with honour to himself and advantage to their Government.

His differences with his superiors however rendered his

Hyderabad services less fortunate and conspicuous than his

superior talents, experience, and unblemished character

might have led people to expect," but " he bears with him a

highly honourable name and the respect of all who knew
him." On the day of his resignation he received the

following address, signed by the whole East Indian com-

munity

—

"Sir—We, the undersigned East Indian community of Chudderghat,

impelled by a deep sense of our obligations to you, beg to wait upon

you with this address, which we hope will in some measure convey our

feelings on the occasion of your retirement and departure from India.

" We do not approach you for the mere ostentatious display of our

sentiments ; but with unfeigned respect for your many estimable

qualities, and a feeling of sincere sorrow for your departure.

" We view with much regret the close of your career at Hyderabad,

where for a period of upwards of fourteen years your efforts have been

directed not only to the improvements of the Government of the

country, but to the general welfare of the people.

" Independently of your attention to individual interests brought

more immediately to your notice, as a community we have received

favours during your Residency for which we cannot be too thankful.

" It would perhaps be needless to detail the instances of your

beneficence ; but we desire to record our sense of lasting gratitude for

the special benefits which we, as well as our children, now enjoy.

We allude to the school and the place of public worship founded

under your auspices, and mainly contributed to and supported by you.

" For these advantages we cannot be too grateful. They will

remind us of the lively interest you manifested for our welfare, and

the loss we sustain in your departure.

" In testimony of the high respect we entertain of your private and
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public worth, and as a small mark of our sense of gratitude, we
respectfully solicit your acceptance of a piece of plate, which Messrs

Phillips & Co. of Madras have been instructed to present to you on

your arrival at the Presidency.

" We now respectfully beg to bid you and your family farewell, with

a sincere prayer for your prosperous voyage to your native land,

where, by the blessing of a kind Providence, we trust you will enjoy

many years of uninterrupted health and happiness."

General Fraser left Madras on his way home, in the

Peninsular and Oriental steamer Bentinck, on the nth of

March 1853, under a salute of fifteen guns. He had been

appointed Lieutenant-General on the 9th of November,

1846. He went back to India on a visit to his friends, and

having- returned home spent the remainder of his life at

different places in this country.

General James Stuart Fraser, at the time British Commis-

sioner at Pondicherry, married at Cuddalore, on the 1 8th of

July 1826, Henrietta Jane, daughter of Edward Stevenson,

of the Admiralty-Agency on the Eastern Coast of India,

and niece of General Stevenson, who in command of the

Hyderabad Subsidiary Force of the Nizam's troops co-

operated with the Hon. General Arthur Wellesley, afterwards

the famous Duke of Wellington, in the campaign of Assaye

and Argaum. By this lady, General Fraser had issue

—

1. Hastings, his heir and successor, born on the 30th of

October, 1829.

2. Charles, born in India on the 16th of August, 183 1,

an officer in the Indian Cavalry, and died there, unmarried.

3. Henry, who was born in 1835 and married Kate,

daughter of Captain John Coghlan Fitzgerald, Royal Navy,

with issue—Charles, born on the 2nd of April, 1883, and

Agnes Mary.

4. Harriet, who, on the 6th of February 1849, married

James Duncan Sim, C.S.I., of the Madras Civil Service, son

of General Duncan Sim, Royal Engineers, Aberdeen, with

issue— (1) James Duncan Stuart, born on the 3rd of Novem-
ber, 1849, and married on the 22nd of September, 1887,

Frances Nora Prittie, daughter of Nathaniel Gore, with issue

—Bueth Vernon and Nora Gertrude
; (2) William Hastings,
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born on the 13th of July, 185 1, and died, unmarried, on the

26th of October, 1875 ; (3) Charles John, born on the 20th of

December, 1854; (4) Henry Alexander, born on the 16th

of February, 1856; (5) Arthur Fraser, born on the 2nd of

November, 1861, and died on the 29th of October, 1895,

while engaged in missionary work for the Universities Mission

in Nyasaland, British Central Africa
; (6) Hugh Macleod,

born on the 8th of July, 1866, and died at Madras in

the following October
; (7) Roderick, born on the 27th

of December, 1867; (8) Hugh, who died in infancy; (9)

Catherine Helen, who, on the 27th of February, 1875,

married Arundel Tagg Arundel, with issue—Arthur Duncan

Stuart, born on the 4th of October, 1882; Edith Mary,

who died in 1889; Violet Harriet, Marion Fraser, and

Margaret Ellen, the last of whom died in her fourth year

;

(10) Harriet Alice
; (11) Henrietta Margaret; (12) Ruth

Agnes, who, in 1887, married the Rev. John Wakefield

Willink, vicar of St. Helens, Lancashire, with issue—Arthur

James Wakefield, born on the 17th of May, 1890; Mary

Cecilia Wakefield; and Helen Dorothy Wakefield; (13)

Mary Esther, who died in infancy. James Duncan Sim

died on the 4th of January, 1888, his wife having prede-

ceased him on the 12th of April, 1882.

5 Agnes, who died unmarried in India.

6. Maria, who married Dr Thomas Lancaster Bell of

the Nizam's Hyderabad Irregular Cavalry, without issue.

She married, secondly, on the 15th of October, 1856,

General Charles Maxton Shakespear, H.E.I.C.S., also with-

out issue, and now resides in London.

7. Isabella, who on the 1st of July, 1868, married at

Torquay, Captain Henry Lome Holder, Royal Navy, with

issue—Henry John Voyle Shakespear, born on the 17th of

September, 1874; Isabel Fanny; Mary Julia; and Mabel

Harriet.

8. Matilda Flora, who married Colonel Robert Bullock,

Madras Staff Corps, without issue.

General Fraser's wife died at Newton, South Devon, on

the 5th of March, i860, at the age of fifty years, and he died
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at Twickenham, England, on the 22nd of August, 1869,

in the eighty-sixth year of his age, when he was succeeded

by his eldest son,

XII. General Hastings Fraser, C.B., twelfth of

Ardachy, who followed the example of his father by join-

ing the army of the Hon. East India Company. He was

born on the 30th of October, 1829, was educated at the

Kensington Grammar School, obtained his first commission

as Ensign on the 20th of January, 1847, and proceeded to

join his father at Hyderabad in that year. He joined the

37th Grenadiers at Secunderabad, but subsequently left it

for the 46th Madras Native Infantry, then at Jubbulpore.

On the 20th of April, 1853, he obtained the rank of Lieu-

tenant, and in the same year left the 46th and joined his

Highness the Nizam's Cavalry, then part of the Hyderabad

Contingent. In 1857 he was actively employed with his

regiment, and accompanied the Field Force under Colonel

W. Orr to Mhow in October of that year, where they had

some lively skirmishes with the Zemindars. In the same

month he joined the Bombay column before Dhar, and

was present with the 4th Cavalry Hyderabad Contingent at

Rawul on the 12th of November, when the Mahidpoor

mutineers were, after long forced marches, overtaken,

several hundreds of them slain, and a complete battery,

including siege guns and their accompaniments, captured.

Young Fraser was specially mentioned for conspicuous

gallantry on this occasion in a letter from the Resident,

dated the 28th of the same month. He was afterwards

present with the Field Force under Sir James Stuart,

K.C.B., at the battle of Mundisoor, and was specially

thanked for his services on the 21st, 22nd, 23rd, and 24th,

in Government General Orders by Colonel Orr, C.B., dated

the 29th of January, 1858. He was present at forcing the

Pass of Dhamonee under Colonel Orr, shortly afterwards

joined the Central Indian Field Force under Sir Hugh
Rose, G.C.B., and was at the action of Muddenpoor and in

the pursuit which followed, when a considerable number of

the mutineers were cut up, for which he received the thanks
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of Sir Hugh Rose, who commanded. He joined in the

operations against Tal Behat, was present before Jhansi

from the 20th of March to the 15th of April, and he com-
manded the 3rd Cavalry Hyderabad Contingent at the

battle of Betwah during the greater part of the day. He
was thanked for his conduct at these places, being specially

mentioned by Sir Hugh Rose as " Lieutenant Fraser, Staff

Officer of the Hyderabad Contingent," for "gallantly killing

three of the enemy at the general action of the Betwah,"

and subsequently by General Orr, C.B. for his conduct at

Koouch. He was at Kilowah in 1858, for which he was

thanked, was again specially noticed by Sir Hugh Rose

in General Orders in the following year "for unwearied

zeal and good service during the whole of the campaign

in Central India," and thanked by Colonel Orr for "his

gallantry before the enemy." He received the medal and

clasp for Central India, and on the 1 8th of February, i86r,

was promoted to the rank of Captain, with a recommenda-

tion that he should at the same time, in acknowledgment of

his conspicuous gallantry and distinguished services during

the campaign, receive a Brevet Majority, which recom-

mendation the Horse Guards, for some unexplained reason,

did not give effect to. On his return from Central India he

was on the recommendation of the British Resident at

Hyderabad, " with the cordial approval of the Nizam's

Durbar," transferred to that Residency as Second Assistant

Resident.

The foregoing particulars of the late General Hastings

are, with slight corrections as to dates, taken from an

account of his early career in India in the Bombay Gazette

on his departure from the country, and the leading Hyder-

abad newspaper in referring to it describes the stirring

narrative as " interesting details connected with the

illustrious and honourable career of the gallant officer who
forms the subject of this review," adding that previous to the

Mutiny Lieutenant Fraser " elicited the warm acknowledg-

ments of the Resident at Hyderabad for the rapid march

which he made with a squadron of cavalry, and the dash
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with which he captured some Arabs, who could only be got

at through a trap door, through which he entered at the

head of a dismounted party of his horsemen, and compelled

the Arabs to lay down their arms." The narrative from the

Bombay Gazette continues—"We are now told of an episode

which forms a part of the history of Hyderabad. It is one

which, but for the forethought and cool daring of Lieuten-

ant Fraser, might have led to disastrous results. The story

is this. At a durbar held in the Nizam's palace at which

Colonel Davidson, the Resident, was present, a Rohilla,

Jehangeer Khan, fired a shot in the courtyard by which one

of the Minister's attendants was hit in the leg. This was

followed by a tremendous hustling. Jehangeer Khan then

drew his sword. The staff, with the exception of Lieutenant

Hastings Fraser, withdrew towards the Nizam's garden.

Lieutenant Fraser at the sight of Jehangeer with the drawn

sword, unsheathed his weapon and bounded between the

parties, ready for action if the man attempted to proceed

further. Fortunately there was no need for this, as the man
did not relish a contest with the colossal figure before him,

and he was taken prisoner. Lieutenant Hastings Fraser

was highly commended for his judgment in not having cut

down the ruffian—not a difficult thing for one who is

accredited with having killed over fifty mutineers in the then

recent campaign, and with having a hand-to-hand encounter

with three of them at once at the battle of Betwah. Had
Lieutenant Fraser cut the man down, his friends or

co-religionists might have joined in the melee and raised

the ire of the whole Mohammedan population in sympathy

with the would-be assassin. From this period to 1866

Captain Fraser remained at Hyderabad, occasionally acting,

on Colonel Davidson's recommendation to Government, as

First Assistant Resident ; and we are glad to find that the

expectations the Resident had of the capabilities of the

gallant Captain were realised, and that on the lapse of a

year he was able to report that ' Captain Hastings Fraser

throughout the year had conducted the duties of First

Assistant Resident in a most efficient, industrious, and able
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manner.' We learn from Sir Richard Temple's commenda-

tion of the gallant Captain that he had not confined his

work as First Assistant Resident to the ordinary routine

of civil, military, and magisterial duties, but that he was the

first to introduce sanitary arrangements, accompanied with

such improvements in the roads and buildings at the place

that they elicited the praise of even Sir Richard Temple

while Resident at Hyderabad." Sir Richard, then Mr
Temple, referring to this matter says that he " cannot close

this minute without placing on record his own satisfaction

at the condition of the bazaars. In point of cleanliness and

general appearance they are not inferior to any that he has

seen in any part of India, and the signs of recent improve-

ments are everywhere apparent. This he believes to be

due, in the first instance, to the interest and attention which

Captain Hastings Fraser, the Assistant Resident, devoted to

the subject." Much more of the same kind might be re-

corded, but enough has been said to show the ability and

character of this fine Highlander. He founded a school for

native youths at Hyderabad, and had a hand in various other

works of lasting benefit to its inhabitants. During the

eight years he occupied the magisterial bench it is calculated

that he tried more than fifteen thousand cases, with only

three appeals during the whole of that period against his de-

cisions. After nearly twenty years of duty in India, says

the authority already quoted, Captain Fraser availed himself

of the leave he was entitled to, and proceeded to England.

Whilst here his opinion on the vexed question then before

Parliament of the non-payment to the Nizam's Government

of the surplus revenue of the Berars was invited, with the

happy result that the Nizam's Government has ever since

had the revenue paid to them.

In 1866 he published Our Faithful Ally the Nizam, a

work which at the time excited the attention of everyone

interested in Indian affairs. On the 20th of January,

1867, he received his Majority. In 1868 he returned to

Hyderabad, when he was appointed, not to his old post of

First Assistant Resident but to that of Military Secretary,
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a position which he continued to occupy for the next fifteen

years, until his health broke down in March, 1883, when on

medical advice he took a trip to Australia. He returned to

Hyderabad in the following- year. He was appointed

Lieutenant-Colonel on the 20th of January, 1873, and full

Colonel on the 20th of January, 1878. He finally left

India in 1884. and settled down at the family Highland

residence of Ardachy in the county of Inverness, from

which place, he, in 1885, sent forth his Memoir and Corres-

pondence of General James Stuart Fraser, his father, the

dedication to his second wife, " Charlotte Elizabeth Mac-

kenzie Fraser," being dated at Ardachy, in September, 1884.

He was promoted to the rank of Major- General on the 31st

of March, 1889, created a C.B. on the 25th of May, 1886,

and Lieutenant-General in 1892. He had a good service

pension and a medal and clasp for Central India.

General Hastings Fraser married first on the 3rd of

February, 1853, Catherine Jane, daughter of Hugh Davidson

of Cantray, with issue

—

1. Hastings Hugh, unmarried.

2. James Stuart Davidson, who when barely of age

proceeded to Burmah, where he received an appointment

as Inspector of Police. From thence he went to Papun,

and soon after was stricken down with malarial fever from

the effects of which he never quite recovered. He was

subsequently promoted to the more responsible post of

Superintendent of Police at Rangoon, and then to be

Town Magistrate of the same city. In all these situations

he proved himself a most devoted and capable official.

He was highly esteemed by all his colleagues and the

European residents in Burmah. In 1894 he came home on

sick leave, died in London unmarried on the 18th of

December of that year, and was interred in the family

burying-ground of the Davidsons, his mother's relatives, in

the Highlands, on the following Monday.

3. Cuthbert Anthony, who was born on the 26th of

November, 1859, and in 1879 appointed Assistant District

Superintendent of the Indian Police in the Hyderabad
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Assigned District and is now District Superintendent for the

same Province. He is still unmarried.

4. Charles Henry, who died young- and unmarried in

India in 1879.

5. Lovat George, who also died young.

6. Frank, in the Indian Postal Department, still unmarried.

The General's first wife died in March, 1869, and on the

23rd of October, 1876, he married, secondly, Charlotte

Elizabeth Mackenzie, daughter of David James Smeaton of

Abbey Park, St. Andrews, and Letham House, county of

Fife, with issue

—

7. David Pasley, born on the 29th of August, 1877.

8. D'Arcy Mackenzie, born on the 14th of October, 1878.

9. Robert Smeaton, born on the nth of March, i88r,

and died on the 19th of March, 1883.

Lieutenant-General Fraser died on the 19th of October,

1892, at Bedford, England, in his 63rd year, survived by his

second wife, who now resides at Richmond, Surrey.



THE FRASERS OF BOBLAINY.

This family seems to have been a younger branch of the

Frasers of Ardachy. All the evidence available points to

this, though we have not been able to fix the exact

connection. In fact, as stated in the account of that family

just given, Boblainy was the original possession of James

and William, first and second of Ardachy ; and Thomas
Fraser, the third of the family, is in 1629 described in a

marriage contract already quoted as "Thomas Fraser of

Boblainie," while he and his spouse have a charter of Ardachy

dated the 1st of June, 1637. This Thomas, III. of Ardachy,

has been shown to have lived and to have executed important

documents as late as 1658. He appears in the Valuation

Roll for the county of Inverness for 1644, as "Thomas
Fraser of Boblainie," for lands in Abertarff—no doubt those

of Ardachy—valued at £4.1 6s 8d. The Frasers of Ardachy,

had undoubtedly the lands of Boblainy on a long tack, and

this tack, which they had from Lord Lovat, was transferred

by Thomas in 1652 to William Fraser, apparently his own

brother. This transfer is proved by the decree of a Baron

Bailie's Court held by " William Fraser, son to Drumballoch,

Baillive speciallie constitute by Major Alexander Mackenzie

of Fraserdale" on the 4th of August, 1710. The decree

bears that Thomas Fraser, then of Boblainy, produced a

tack, dated as far back as 1652, from Thomas Fraser of

Ardachy to his (Boblainy's) predecessor, described as "ane

tack from my Lord Lovat to Thomas Fraser of Ardochie of

the lands of Boblainie and disponed from him (Ardachy)

to umquhill William Fraser, the said Boblainie's father,

dated 1652 years, whereby and be virtue of the which tack

he possessed the lands of Boblainie, with the haill graisings,"

etc. From this it is clear that the ancestor of the later

Frasers of Boblainy was

I. William Fraser, to whom his relative Thomas
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Fraser, III. of Ardachy, but still of Boblainy, disponed his

rights to these lands in 1652.

He was succeeded by his son,

II. Thomas Fkaser, second of Boblainy, who in 1695

received from Hugh, eleventh Lord Lovat, a wadset over

the " town and lands of Boblainie " in security for a loan of

;£rooo Scots, the contract being dated the 5th of March in

that year and registered on the 24th of May, 1749, He is

one of the principal heritors who signed the address to

George I. in 1714, signing it as "T. Fraser of Boblainie."

He married Anna Macbean, with issue

—

1. William, his heir and successor.

2. Thomas, who in 1727 (contract dated 7th of September)

married Jean, daughter of Matthew Paterson of Bught,

Inverness, with issue— (1) Simon, born in 1732, a merchant

in Inverness, to whom his uncle William transferred all his

rights to the lands of Boblainy in 1770. Simon also acquired

Barnhill in 1788 from Donald Cuthbert then residing in

London. He died unmarried in 1802 at the age of 70

years, leaving his property to his cousin Hugh, who thus

became IV. of Boblainy, and who erected a tablet to his

benefactor's memory in the High Church of Inverness.

(2) Jean, who married Captain John Petrie, H.E.I.C.S.

She died in i8or.

3 Hugh, who married Mary Fraser, Kiltarlity, who died

in 1791, with issue— (1) William, a planter in St. Vincent,

who died there unmarried
; (2) Thomas, also a planter in

St. Vincent, who on the 14th of July, 1793, married with

issue

—

(a) Simon, born in 1795 ;
(b) William, born in 1796;

(c) Thomas, born in 1797 ;
(d) Hugh, born in 1801 ; and (e)

Katharine, who died in infancy. Of their descendants, if

any exist, nothing is known
; (3) Grizel, who married her

cousin, Hugh Fraser, last of Killachy. He disponed the

lands of Killachy in her favour on the 10th of June, 1769.

She died in 1795. (4) Katharine, who married Alexander

Fraser, in Inchrory
; (5) Ann.

4. Katharine, who married William Fraser of Killachy

(marriage contract dated 7th of April, 1705), son of the

43
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Alexander Fraser to whom the lands of Killachy were

disponed in 1672 in perpetual voluntary tack by his brother

Hugh Fraser, VI. of Guisachan. Alexander by his wife,

Isobel, daughter of Alexander Fraser of Reelick, had issue

—

(1) Hugh, who married, first, Isobel, daughter of William

Fraser of Teanacoille, and secondly, Grizel, his own cousin,

as already mentioned, in both cases without issue. (2)

Alexander, who married, with issue—a son William, who
made an unsuccessful claim to the lands of Killachy in 1813.

Thomas was succeeded by his eldest son,

III. William Fraser, third of Boblainy, who married

Mary (who died in 1774), daughter of Hugh Fraser of

Muilzie, second son of Hugh Fraser, " Old Father Aigais."

On the 28th of March, 1755, he disponed the lands of

Boblainy "to his wife in liferent and in the event of her

entering into a second marriage restricted to an annuity of

50 merks." The sasine is witnessed by her brother, Robert

Fraser of Muilzie, who married Margaret, eldest daughter of

William Fraser, VIII. of Guisachan. The wadset was

redeemed by the Government Commissioners on the Lovat

estates before 1768, the greater part of the lands being

thereafter held under lease. The remainder was appro-

priated by Captain John Forbes, the Government factor, for

planting what subsequently became known as Boblainy

Park. William disposed of all his rights to the lands in

1770 to his nephew, Simon Fraser, merchant, Inverness

—

who had previously advanced him money—and died in the

following year. By his wife, Mary Fraser of Muilzie, he

had issue

—

1. Hugh, his heir.

2. Thomas, who died unmarried in St. Vincent in 1800.

3. Katharine, who married John Chisholm, Inverness.

4. Mary, who married John Cameron, Clachnaharry.

5. Ann, who married John Macdonald, Invercannich.

William was succeeded as representative of the family by

his eldest son,

IV. Hugh Fraser, who, on the death of his cousin

Simon unmarried in 1802, succeeded to Boblainy, as also
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to the lands of Barnhill, Inverness, the latter of which he

sold in 1 8 16 to the Hon. Mrs Fraser of Lovat for £3600.

He married Margaret Bayne, with issue

—

1. Margaret, born in 1784 and married William Fraser,

Beauly, with issue.

2. Isobel, born in 1788 and died unmarried in 1813.

3. Mary, born in 1790, and married in 1809 Donald

Fraser, brewer, Inverness, son of Donald Fraser, tacksman

of Holm, now Lentran, with issue—(1) Donald, M.A., born

in 18 18. He died in 1890 unmarried. (2) Hugh, M.A.,

born in 1820, and succeeded to his father in Balloch,

Culloden. He married on the 24th of June, 1852, Augusta

Mary, daughter of John Smith, Mus. Doc, and Professor

of Music in Trinity College, Dublin, with issue

—

(a) Donald

William, born in 1857, and now in the London and River

Plate Bank, Montevideo; (b) John Smith, M.A., solicitor,

Inverness, who, born in 1862, married in 1889 Constance

Millicent, youngest daughter of William Cooper, Dublin,

with issue; (c) Alexander, born in 1864, with his father at

Balloch
; (d) Mary, who in 1873 married John Rose,

Leanach, with issue
;

(e) Frances Catherine Smith, who in

1883 married William Cameron, engineer, Japanese Royal

Navy, who died in 1893, with issue; (/) Clara Jane Simp-

son ; and (g) Elizabeth Augusta, both still unmarried. (3)

Alexander, born in 1822. He was for more than thirty

years agent for the Commercial Bank of Scotland in Beauly

and Inverness, for twelve years member of the Town
Council and from 1880 to 1883 Provost of Inverness. He
married in 1864 Elizabeth, daughter of the Rev. John

Spray, M.A., Vicar of Kinneagh, County Kildare, Ireland,

with issue

—

(a) Alexander, born in 1865, solicitor, Inverness,

who in 1893 married Isabella, daughter of Colonel Duncan

Menzies, Blarich, Sutherlandshire, with issue
;

(b) John

Spray, who died in infancy; (c) Hugh Ernest, born in 1867,

M.A. and M. B., CM., practising his profession in Inver-

ness; (d) Henry William, born in 1870, now in the Hong
Kong and Shanghai Bank, Yokohama

;
(e) Arthur Forbes,

born in 1874; (/) Elizabeth Mary, who in 1891 married
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Theodore Charles Barclay, planter, Sumatra, with issue

;

(g) Augusta Clara Jane
;

(k) Emily Catherine ; and (i)

Emma Caroline, who died in infancy. (4) John, born in

1824, and died unmarried in Liverpool in 1876; (5) Ana-

bella
; (6) Isabel ; and (7) Mary, who all died young.

4. Katharine, born in 1792, and married Alexander

Cameron, Beauly, with issue—one son and several daughters.

5. Ann, born in 1796, and married Thomas Fraser, For-

trose, with issue, several sons and daughters.

6. Madeline, born in 1799, and married Theodore Mac-

donell, Beauly, with issue—a son and daughter.



THE WELSH (CLAIMANT) FRASERS.

I. Alexander Fraser, eldest son of Thomas Fraser of

Beaufort, twelfth Lord Lovat—said by John Fraser, who
claims the Lovat titles and estates as his direct male

descendant, to have fled to Wales about 1692, to escape

punishment for having killed a fiddler or, according to

others, a piper at a wedding near Beauly—is alleged to have

been the first of this family. The present Frasers of Lovat

deny this, and at the trial before the House of Lords in

1885 they produced what purported to be a certificate of

Alexander's death, on the 20th of November 1689. It

would be quite out of place here to enter into the merits

of the case. It is, however, only fair to state what that claim

is, especially as other good families as well as John Fraser

claim descent from Alexander. John Fraser, the claimant,

maintained before the House of Lords in 1885—not 1887 as

printed in error on page 244, to which and the page preced-

ing it the reader is referred for a fuller statement of the

case—that Alexander, eldest son of Thomas Fraser of

Beaufort, twelfth Lord Lovat, and elder brother of Simon,

thirteenth Lord Lovat, fled to Wales as already stated, and

there, on the 22nd of March, 1738, married at Llandulas,

county of Denbigh, Elizabeth Edwards, with issue

—

I. John, his eldest son ; 2. Simon
; 3. William.

4. Alexander, from whom a family of Frasers in Nova-

Scotia claim descent, and of whom presently.

Alexander Fraser, according to the claimant in 1885,

died in 1776, when he was succeeded, as representative of

the family, by his eldest son,

II. John Fraser, who, born in 1739, married on the
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3rd of October, 1773, in the parish of Penmynydd, Mary
Griffiths, with surviving issue

—

1. John, his eldest son ; 2. Simon
; 3. William.

John died at Cerigybleiddian in 1828, in his 88th year,

when he was succeeded by his eldest surviving son,

III. JOHN Fraser, who was baptised on the 6th of

August, 1780, and married on the 4th of August, 1801, Ann
Davies, in the parish of Llanwenllwyfo, County of Anglesey,

with issue

—

1. John, his eldest son ; 2. William
; 3. David.

John died in June, 1857, at Amlwch, Anglesey, when he

was succeeded by his eldest son,

IV. John Fraser, who was born at Holywell, Flint-

shire, in 1802, and married in 1824 at Llaneilian, Anglesey,

Elizabeth Williams, with issue

—

1. John, his eldest son.

2. William
; 3. Simon

; 4. David.

He was succeeded by his eldest son,

V. John Fraser, the present claimant to the Lovat

estates and honours. He was born on the 16th of April,

1825, and in 1845 married, first, Catherine Williams, with

issue

—

1. John, his eldest son, born in 1847, and married in

1874 Ellenor Edwards, with issue—John Alexander, born

in May, 1885 ; Ellenor, Catherine, and Annie.

2. Robert; 3. William; 4. Richard; 5. David; 6. Elizabeth.

John Fraser married secondly on the 29th of March,

1888, Augusta Cox, without issue.



THE WELSH-NOVA-SCOTIAN FRASERS.

I. Alexander Fraser, fourth son of Alexander Fraser,

eldest son of Thomas Fraser of Beaufort, twelfth Lord

Lovat, was, according to the Nova-Scotian representatives of

the family, their progenitor. (See preceding Family.) This

Alexander, who died in Inverness in 1815, married Miss

Cameron, said to be of the family of Lochiel, with issue

—

an only son,

II. The Hon. James Fraser, who was born in 1759,

and emigrated to Nova Scotia, where he became a prominent

public man, and was a member of the Executive Council

of that Province. He married at Windsor, Nova Scotia,

in 1802, Rachael Otis, daughter of Benjamin De Wolfe,

The Grove, Windsor, with issue

—

1. James De Wolfe, his heir.

2. Benjamin De Wolfe Fraser, who was born in 1812,

and married in 1843 Elizabeth, daughter of the Hon.

Joseph Allison, with issue— (1) Joseph Allison, born in

1845, now residing, unmarried, at Battleford, North West

Territory, Dominion of Canada
; (2) Benjamin de Wolfe,

who was born in 1847, ar>d married Harriet Cottle, New
South Wales. He died in 1883. (3) James De Wolfe,

born in 1848, and now residing, unmarried, in Colorado;

(4) Charles Frederick, who was born in 1850. He is

Superintendent of the School for the Blind in Halifax,

Nova Scotia, and President of the North British Saint

Andrew's Society in that city. He married in 1891, Ella J.,

daughter of James Hunter, St. John's, New Brunswick. (5)

Alexander Milne, born in 1864. He married Rose G.,

daughter of John Blanchard, of Kentville, Nova Scotia, and

resides in Halifax, in that Province
; (6) Mary Allison, who

in 1883 married Lewis Wilkins, of Windsor, Nova Scotia,

and now resides in Victoria, North British Columbia; (7)
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Rachael Otis, who, in 1879, married the Rev. Charles Church-

ward, Devonshire, England. She died in 1881. (8) Alina

De Gonville, who married Charles W. Bayzant, Windsor,

Nova Scotia, and died in 1877; and (9) Anna Hill, who, in

1890, married the Rev. James Simmonds. Benjamen De
Wolfe Fraser had several other children who died young.

He died in 1888.

3. Francis, born in 1809, and died unmarried in 1827.

4. Sarah Rachael, who, born in 1803, married in 1824,

General Sir Charles Gore, G.C.B. and K.H., Lieutenant-

Governor of Chelsea Hospital, third son of Arthur Saunders,

K.P., second Earl of Arran, by his third marriage, with

issue— (1) James Arthur, Major 71st Regiment, who on the

19th of July, 1854, married Catherine Louise, third daughter

of Colonel Bazalgette, with issue—Arthur, born on the 10th

of July, 1857 ; Edward John Mounsey, born in 1863 ; and a

daughter Catherine
; (2) Charles Clitherow, Colonel 83rd

Regiment, born on the 9th of September, 1839, and on the

27th of January, 1875, married Maria Harriet Elizabeth,

youngest daughter of Lady Louisa and the late Rev. Thomas

Cator, with issue—Charles Savile Lumley, born in 1876
;

(3) Frederick Augustus, Lieutenant-Colonel in the 84th

Regiment, born on the 8th of May, 1844, and married Alice,

daughter of E. W. S. Scheuley
; (4) Eliza Amelia, who, on

the 20th of September, 1848, married William Henry,

eighteenth Earl of Erroll, Hereditary Lord High Constable

and Knight Marischal of Scotland, with issue—the present

Earl of Erroll, and others
; (5) Adelaide Rachael, who, on

the 10th of March, 1864, married General George Whitworth

Talbot Rich, 71st Highlanders. The Hon. Sir Charles

Gore died on the 4th of September, 1869.

5. Harriet, who was born in 1806, and in 1826 married

Colonel Henry Dixon, with issue—along with five others

who died in infancy— (1) Thomas Fraser, who, born in

1832, married in 1856, Clara, daughter of Colonel Edward

Antrobus
; (2) Henry, who, born in 1842, married in 1872

Alicia Kate Chandler; (3) Charles Tempest, born in 1848;

(4) Arthur Noel, born in 1852, now residing in Liverpool;
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(5) Francis E. Maclean, born in 1850; (6) Catherine Town-

ley, who, born in 1827, married in 1845 Lewis George

Jones. She died in 1873. (7) Emily Georgiana, born in

1828, and married in 1853, the Rev. G. H. Philips; (8)

Harriet Rachael, born in 1830, and married in 1853, Richard

Hamilton
; (9) Charlotte Anne, born in 1835, now residing

in York; (10) Henrietta Maria, born in 1839, and married

in 1870 the Rev. Ernest C. Tollemache. Harriet Fraser

died in 1880.

6. Amelia, born in 1808 and died unmarried in 1837.

7. Catherine, born in 1813 and married in 1835 the

Rev. Dr Suther, Bishop of Aberdeen.

8. Mary, born in 1815 and died young in 1822.

The Hon. James Fraser died in 1822, when he was suc-

ceeded as representative of the family by his eldest son,

III. James De Wolfe Fraser, who was born in 1805

and married in Nova Scotia in 1839 Catherine, daughter

of the Hon. Charles R. Prescott, with issue

—

1. James, his eldest son, a Colonel in the British Army.

He was born in 1841, and highly distinguished himself in

the Maori War in New Zealand. He died unmarried

in 1870.

2. Charles Ralmage, who was born in 1843 and married

at Racine, Wisconsin, U.S.A., in 1866, Mary Elizabeth

Vande Mark, with issue— (1) James De Wolfe, born in

1867 ; (2) Arthur Gore, born in 1875, both residing with

their parents in Chicago ; and four other children, who died

in infancy.

3. Ann Elizabeth, born in 1842 and married in 1864

Maynard Bowman, of Windsor, Nova Scotia, with issue

—

(1) Charles, now of Lethbridge, North West Territory,

Dominion of Canada
; (2) Maynard

; (3) Benjamin ,Almon
;

(4) Annie Fraser ; and (5) Fredericka Christie, the last-

named four now residing with their parents in the City of

Halifax, Nova Scotia, unmarried.



THE FRASERS OF FAIRFIELD.

THE Frasers of Fairfield are descended from,

I. Thomas Roy Fraser, a natural son of Hugh, third

Lord Lovat, who succeeded in 1450, and who had another

and younger illegitimate son named Hugh, progenitor of

the Frasers of Foyers. This Thomas is by a slip of the pen

called "Hugh" at page 68, but the Gaelic name given in

the same line, " Tomas Roy Mac a Mhaighistir," is quite

correct, and it shows that Thomas was born while his father

was Master of Lovat. He appears to have had a son,

II. Donald Fraser, second of Fairfield, of whom, how-

ever, nothing is known except that his son,

III. Andrew Fraser, third of Fairfield, who is the first

of the family found on record designated of Fairfield, is

described in 1594 as "Andrew vie Coil vie Thomais Roy";

that is Andrew, son of Donald, son of Thomas Roy, who

was himself " Mac a Mhaighistir "—son of the Master of

Lovat. Andrew appears to have settled near Inverness

when Kinmylies was acquired by the Frasers of Lovat. In

1595 he is found possessed of a rood of land on the west

side of the river Ness, and in the same year he acquired

from William Paterson, burgess of Inverness, a rood adjoin-

ing it, described as bounded on the north by the lands of

Robert Neilson, on the west by the mill lade, and on the

south by the lands of which he was himself already in

possession. The lands were held of the Crown and the

reddendo was five pennies. He had a feu charter dated the

1st of June, 1605, of four oxgang of lands of the Merkinch,

with the usual commonty and common pasturage, granted

by the Magistrates and Town Council of Inverness. The

Provost and Bailies pronounced a decree on the 31st of
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July, 163 1, to the effect that the commonty of the Merkinch

was common to the whole burgh against Andrew's con-

tention that it was the exclusive property of the two owners

of that part of the town, then an island.

Andrew married and had at least one son,

IV. Finlay Fraser, fourth of Fairfield, who succeeded

him and acquired additional lands in Inverness and neigh-

bourhood. He also held the office of Provost. The right

to hold a special seat in the church was considered of great

importance in those days, and Finlay secured an Act of the

Session on the 20th of January, 1662, granting him a

particular pew in the old High Church. In the same year,

at the time a Bailie of Inverness, he rode and won in a great

horse race at Tomnahurich against Mackintosh of Mackin-

tosh and others, for a description of which see pp. 191-192.

In his time the dispute about the right to the commonty
of the Merkinch was revived. Mr Fraser-Mackintosh

says—" I find that he (Finlay), as heir served to his father,

Andrew, raised letters of suspension before the Lords of

Council and Session of the above-mentioned decree by the

Provost and Bailies of Inverness against his father, dated

nth September, 1678; and again in June, 1690. Alex-

ander Fraser complained to the Provost and Magistrates

that Finlay Fraser, late Provost of Inverness, had inter-

rupted Alexander's servants from casting, binding, or

leading fuel in the Carse on the west side of the Merkinch,

which is commonty to the town of Inverness, and assum-

ing the heritable right thereof to belong to him the said

Finlay Fraser. This question of commonty was disputed

all through the eighteenth century, but finally determined

in favour of the late Hugh Duff of Muirtown who had

become sole owner of Merkinch."* The same writer,

referring to this family in May 1885, in the article already

quoted, says that "about a year since, when certain

repairs were found to be necessary at the Chapel-Yard

of Inverness, the state of a once handsomely carved tomb,

at the north-east wall, was declared dangerous. It was

* Celtic Magazine, vol. x., p. 337.
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reported that not only did no one claim right to the ruined

tomb, but even its original owners were unknown, and after

some discussion the tomb was repaired and pointed at the

town's expense, but has only been partially restored. The
tomb was that of the once well-known and influential

burghal-county family, the Frasers of Fairfield, and the

above circumstance shows how completely they are for-

gotten." The tomb has above the door, inside the wall,

the following initials, F.F. I.R., and below them, D.F. CD.,
the first four being that of Provost Finlay Fraser and his

wife Isobel Robertson, to whom he was married in 1656,

with issue

—

1. Andrew, who died without male issue.

2. David, who ultimately succeeded his father.

3. John, whose name appears as a witness in 1745.

Provost Finlay Fraser was succeeded by his younger son,

V. David Fraser, fifth of Fairfield, a merchant in

Inverness, and one of the Bailies of the Burgh. In his

day the family reached the zenith of its prosperity. Old

Fairfield House, a prominent object in Slezer's view of

Inverness, and part of which remained until recently, was

built by David or his father. He obtained a new Act of

the Session in connection with the family pew in the High

Church, already referred to, on the 14th of October, 1703.

He married in July, 1693, Christian, eldest daughter of the

deceased John Dunbar of Bennetsfield, the second set of

initials above the door and inside the Fairfield tomb, D.F.

and CD., being his and hers respectively. One of his

cautioners under the marriage contract was his elder brother,

Andrew Fraser, burgess of Inverness, while for her obliga-

tions under the same document stood her mother, Christian

/WY Mackenzie or Dunbar ; her uncle, Sir Alexander Mackenzie,

II. of Coul ; and another uncle, Simon Mackenzie, I. of Tor-

ridon. By this marriage David had issue, at least one son,

VI. Alexander Fraser, sixth of Fairfield. He was

Provost of Inverness from 1723 to 1725, 1728-1729, and

from 1732 to 1735. He bought Kinmylies from David

Poison, and subsequently sold it to George Ross of Pitkerrie,
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a merchant in London.* In this Alexander's time the

family began to decline, and he sold a considerable portion

of the property acquired by his father. The first subject

that he disposed of was the pew in the High Church which

his father and grandfather valued so highly, and which had

cost them so much trouble to secure as one of the treasured

family possessions. But Alexander sold it to John Fraser,

merchant in Inverness, for .£10 sterling by deed dated and

signed by him "at the House of Kinmylies," on the 19th of

July, 1738. On the 17th of July, 1739, Alexander sold to

the same John Fraser two acres of his arable ten acres of

land on the Carse. By another deed, dated the 14th of

May, 1743, he sold to Duncan Fraser, merchant in Inver-

ness, son of the above-named John Fraser, the two roods of

land on the west side of the River Ness which had belonged

to his predecessors since 1596, as well as some acres and

roods in St. Thomas' Chapel. He also disposed of several

acres, roods, and rigs in the Carse called Lochnagaun,

Gairbread, Knockandow, the Little Carse, the Whinbush

Carse, and Sandy Acre. On the 1st of September the

same year he sold the lands of Wester Ballifeary to Robert

Fraser of Phopachy. By a disposition dated the 28th of

May, 1745, Alexander's mother, Christian Dunbar of Ben-

netsfield, renounced her life-rent of certain of the family

property, the witnesses to the deed being John Fraser, her

brother-in-law, and Alexander Fraser, her son. This Fair-

field also disposed of the family possessions on the Merkinch

before 1754, for in that year's list of "the burgage mails and

feu-duties of the burgh of Inverness," William Duff of

Muirtown is entered as owner of the Merkinch lands "from

Fairfield (and) from Bailie David his father," the feu then

payable being ,£1 6s 3d Scots. In the same list Alexander

still appears as a feuar of various properties in the town,

the "shop under the Tolbooth, the fourth from the east

from Bailie David his father," being one of them.

This is the same Alexander Fraser of Fairfield with whom
Simon Lord Lovat quarrelled so fiercely in 1741, because he

* Shaw's Prozince ofMoray, vol. ii., p. 333, 1882 edition.
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would not support Norman Macleod of Macleod as Parlia-

mentary candidate for the county of Inverness against Sir

James Grant of Grant, the particulars of which will be found

fully set forth at pages 371-374. Alexander took an active

part in the Rising of 1745, and to this the decline of the

family in his time has been attributed. In the accounts

of the disbursements of the Depute Governor and Treasurer

for Prince Charles, at Perth, there is an entry, under De-

cember the 3rd, 1745
—"To Mr Fraser of Fairfield, for

97 pair shoes at 2s 6d for the army—.£12 2s 66." On the

10th of the same month we have—"To Mr Fraser of Fair-

field, payment of other companies of Frasers as they came

up to December 4th—£14 17s. To Ditto as pay of all the

Frasers from December 4th to Wed. 12th

—

£61 15s 6d.

To Mr Fraser to pay the Frasers 3 days for Wed., Thursd.,

and Frid. ye 13th

—

£26 9s 6d ; " and on the 16th—"To
Fairfield, 6 days pay to ye Frasers from Sat. 14th inclusive

to Friday ye 20th

—

£$2 19s." On the 10th of January,

1746, Alexander is described as " Major Fraser of Fairfield,"

when he receives £10 "in part payment of his pay till

account," the Master of Lovat receiving his first payment,

being " four week' pay, £8 8s," on the same date.

Alexander married a daughter of William Fraser, V. of

Inverallochy, by Lady Elizabeth, daughter of Alexander,

third Earl of Kellie, with issue

—

1. Alexander, his heir and successor.

2. Elizabeth, who has a bond of provision in her favour

for £"206 12s 6d from her father, " upliftable furth of the

lands of Fairfield," and finally discharged by her brother

Simon in favour of her nephew, Andrew Fraser of Fairfield,

on the 6th of January, 1794, the year in which the latter

succeeded to the family estates.

He married, secondly, Elizabeth Maclean, with issue

—

3. Simon, a merchant in Inverness, described in an in-

strument of Sasine, dated the 6th of May, 1777, as "lawful

son to the said deceased Alexander Fraser of Fairfield, being

(then) the only surviving child procreate of the marriage

betwixt the said deceased Alexander Fraser of Fairfield
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and the also deceased Mrs Elizabeth Maclean, his second

spouse."

4. Katharine, described in the same document as " now
deceased"—that is in 1777.

He was succeeded by his elder son,

VII. Alexander Fraser, seventh of Fairfield, who on

the 30th of August, 1 75 5, as heir of his father, the deceased

Alexander Fraser, has a precept of clare constat from the

Provost and Magistrates of Inverness. In his day the

family continued to decline. He married, with issue

—

1. Andrew, who succeeded his father.

2. Eliza Dell, who in 178 r, married Colonel Allan Mac-

pherson of Blairgowrie,* with issue—William of Blairgowrie,

Allan and Harriet. William, who was born in 1784, mar-

ried in 181 5, Janet, daughter of William Chalmers of

Glenericht, with issue—an only child, Allan of Blairgowrie,

born in 18 18, and married in 1853, Emma, daughter of

C. H. Blake, with issue, among others—William Charles

Macpherson, Indian Civil Service, now of Blairgowrie. He
was born in 1855, and married in 1886, Isabella, daughter

of Colonel Kinloch of Gourdie.

3. Mary, who, in 1810, accompanied her brother, Captain

Andrew, to India.

Alexander was succeeded by his eldest son,

VIII. Andrew Fraser, eighth of Fairfield, a Captain

* Referring to this marriage James Macpherson of Ossianic fame writes to

Colonel Allan. The "young gentleman" mentioned was the lady's brother

Andrew, who afterwards succeeded as VIII. of Fairfield. James Macpherson

says—"In your letter of November 17th from Cassumbazar you mention

your intentions to marry, which gave me very sincere pleasure. I was myself

no stranger to the connections of Miss Fraser, now Mrs Macpherson, though I

had not the honour of being acquainted with her personally. I have seen and

congratulated several of the friends you mention on the occasion. I wrote to

Mrs Fraser of Fairfield, in every respect in terms of your letter, and I have

given directions relative to your young brother to Mr Fraser of Lovat, who
is just setting out for the North of Scotland. My intention is, to place the

young gentleman in an academy near London, and to send him out a cadet

by the first fleet of the ensuing season. I entreat that you will present my
most affectionate and respectful compliments to Mrs Macpherson, and assure

her that nothing will give me more pleasure than to show every attention to

her friends and commands in this country."
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in the 17th Native Infantry of Bengal. He succeeded his

father in the remaining- estates of the family in 1794. He,

however, went on selling, having disposed of the lands

known as the Hard Croft to Colin Monro, of Grenada, on

which that gentleman erected that large building known as

the Blue House. In 1809 he sold to Lachlan Mackintosh

of Raigmore, for £500, " all and whole these three roods

of burgh bigged land, with houses, biggings, garden, dove-

cot, and office houses, sometime pertaining to and possessed

by Alexander Fraser of Fairfield, his grandfather, with the

parts, pendicles, and pertinents of the same, lying on the

west side of the River Ness, bounded between the garden

sometime pertaining to the deceased Jaspard Cuthbert,

thereafter by progress to Alexander Duff of Drummuir, and

now to Colin Munro, at the west and north, by the road

leading to the River Ness at the east, the lands sometime

belonging to the deceased John Kerr, burgess of the said

burgh, thereafter by progress to Robert Robertson of Ship-

land, thereafter by progress to the deceased Alexander

Fraser, my grandfather, his now by the vennel at the south,

and the old waulk miln lade, now the King's high way, at

the west parts respectively." Early in 1809, he gave instruc-

tion to sell what seems to have been very nearly the last of

the family possessions. The sale did not, however, take

place at this time nor for several years afterwards.

Captain Andrew married, with issue—at least one son, and

several other children, who were minors at the date of his

death, before August 18 14, leaving them only "fragments"

of what was once a very considerable and valuable property.

His widow married again in India. What became of his

children we have not been able to ascertain.



THE FRASERS OF FOYERS.

I. HUGH FRASER, the first of this family, was an illegiti-

mate son of Hugh, commonly styled third Lord Lovat.

From a long residence in France he was known among the

Highlanders as " Uisdean Frangach," and his posterity as

" Sliochd Uisdean Fhrangaich." He was " the most

esteemed of all Lord Lovat's kin for his frank disposition

and love of manly sports." He received as his portion from

his father the lands of Easter and Wester Aberchalder, in

the barony of Abertarff, as will appear presently. He
married and had at least two sons

—

1. William, his heir and successor.

2. Hugh Fraser, named in a charter from the Bishop

of Moray in 1541 as William's " brother-german " Hugh
Fraser.

He was succeeded by his eldest son,

II. William Fraser, second of Foyers, who is the first

of the family on record in connection with Foyers, although

he succeeded to the two Aberchalders, in the barony of

Abertarff, and Little Ballichernock and Tirchurachan, in the

barony of Durris, on the death of his father. He was then

designated of "Over Callader," or Aberchalder. In 1537

an Apostolical warrant is issued, dated at St. Peter's the

4th day of the Ides of March and the 10th of his Pontificate,

by Pope Paul III. for granting in feu to William, described

as " Laici Moravien," the Church lands of Boleskine and

Foyers. Patrick, Bishop of Moray, with consent of the

Chapter, at Elgin, on the 12th of December 1541, grants

a feu charter to William Fraser of Over Callader and the

heirs-male of his body, whom failing, to his brother-german

Hugh Fraser and the heirs-male of his body, whom failing,

44
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to Hugh Lord Fraser of Lovat and the heirs-male of his

body, whom all failing, to the nearest heirs-male whomso-
ever of the said William Fraser, of the lands of Boleskine

and Foyers, described in the charter as lying
- within the

barony of Kinmylies, lordship of Spynie, and shire of

Inverness, at a feu of £8 14s 8d Scots. Mr Charles Fraser-

Mackintosh, to whom we are indebted for the main facts

relating to this family, says that " the document is in fine

preservation, has two splendid seals entire, with about twelve

signatures of Church dignitaries of Moray." William was

also proprietor of the lands of Mussady and Mellagie, worth

£3 and upwards of old extent, as well as those of Dunter-

chat and Garrogie, equal to a forty shilling land of old

extent, all held of Lord Lovat. Mr Anderson, as stated

elsewhere, says that this William of Foyers was the only

gentleman of the Clan Fraser who escaped the slaughter

of Blar-nan-leine on the 15th of July, 1544, but he must

have died from his wounds a few days after, as appears from

his son Hugh's service expede at Inverness on the 5th of

October, 1563. The author of the Old Statistical Account

of the parish, writing in 1798, says that he was carried from

the field of battle by one Norman Gow on his back to the

top of " Suidhe Chuimein " about eight miles from Loch-

lochy ; but Gow having an arrow in his side at the time,

found himself unable to proceed farther and there pulled

out the arrow and expired. " His descendants in commem-
oration of this amazing effort of attachment enjoyed a croft

of land rent free from the family of Foyers" till about 1738.

William married, with issue

—

1. Hugh, his heir and successor.

2. William, who succeeded his brother Hugh.

He died from wounds received at the battle of Kinloch-

lochy, in July, 1544, and was succeeded by his eldest son,

III. Hugh Fraser, third of Foyers, who has a precept

of clare constat from the Bishop of Moray, dated the 25th

of April, 1545, for infefting him as heir to his father

William in Foyers and Boleskine, upon which he was infeft

on the 10th of June, 1548, by Gilbert Hay, Notar of Moray.
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1

On the 10th of March, 1555, Lord Lovat granted a precept

for infefting him in the lands of Mussady and Mellagie, held

of his Lordship. On the 5th of October, 1563, he is served

heir to his father in Aberchalder, on which occasion he

is described as " Hucheon Frayeser as ayr to his omquhil

fadyr William Frayeser of Aberchallodour." Among those

who served on the inquest were Hugh Fraser of Guisachan,

Bean Clerk of " Blar-nan-leine " notoriety, and Thomas
Fraser, " portioner " of Moniack. It was found that William

died last vest and seised in all and singular the lands of

Little Balecharnock and Tirchurachan, with the pertinents

lying within the barony of Durris ; that Hugh was his son

and nearest lawful heir, and of full age ; that the lands were

worth £8 Scots, old extent, and in time of peace twenty

shillings yearly ; that they were held of Robert Dunbar of

Durris for the payment of a white rose yearly on the feast

day of St. John the Baptist, and that they had lain unen-

tered for nineteen years—since the death of William Fraser,

Hugh's father, in July, 1544. From this it is established

that William, second of Foyers, was killed at Kinlochlochy

or died during the same month from wounds received there.

From the rental of the Bishopric of Moray for 1565, it

appears that Boleskine and Foyers were held by the heirs

of William Fraser in feu.

Hugh married Margaret Urquhart, with issue—an only

daughter, Jean, who in 1573, as heiress of line, was served

heir to the portions of the estate not limited to heirs-male,

and on the 1st of June, 1575, she has a precept of clare

constat in Mussady and Mellagie, as the only daughter and

heir of her father Hugh Fraser, from the Countess of

Moray with consent of the Earl of Argyll. These lands,

however, afterwards reverted to or were re-acquired by the

heir-male of the family. Hugh, who died before 1570, was

succeeded in the remainder of the estates by his brother,

IV. William Fraser, fourth of Foyers, who in 1570
is retoured as heir to his brother Hugh in Aberchalder, and

on the 1st of August, 1584, is infeft in Foyers and Boleskine

on a precept dated the 14th of the preceding month, from
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the Bishop of Moray, and he had subsequently all his

charters confirmed by the Crown on the 16th of December,

1592. Designed as "William Fraser of Foir," he is, along

with " My Lord Lowett " absent from a meeting of the

Head Court of the Lordship of Spynie, held within the

Jewel House of the Cathedral Kirk of Moray by an honour-

able man John Innes, principal bailie thereof, on the 9th of

April, 1759, the suit called, the Court lawfully fenced and

affirmed, as use is.* He married with issue

—

1. Hugh, his heir and successor.

2. James, designated his " brother-german " as one of the

witnesses in Hugh's infeftment.

William, who died before 1606, was succeeded by his

elder son,

V. Hugh Fraser, fifth of Foyers, infeft in the lands of

Foyers and Boleskine on the 31st of May, 1607, on a pre-

cept by Alexander, Bishop of Moray, dated the 28th of

April in the previous year. Hugh is the Fraser of Foyers

who is said to have saved the notorious Allan of Lundie

from drowning in Loch Ness, which he was attempting

to swim across when hotly pursued by the Mackenzies after

he had set fire to the Church of Killiechriosd, near Beauly,

and burnt the whole congregation assembled in it in 1603.

He married Margaret, daughter of John Roy Mackenzie,

IV. of Gairloch. Her name appears in the rental of the

Bishopric of Moray in 1641 for the lands of Boleskine and

Foyers, the rental of these being £8 14s 8d. By her he

had issue—at least one son,

VI. William Fraser, sixth of Foyers, who succeeded

his father, and had titles made up to Aberchalder, but not

to Foyers and his other lands.

He married Janet, eldest daughter of John Macpherson

of Nuid, third son of Ewen Macpherson, XVI. of Cluny,|

with issue

—

1. Hugh, his heir and successor.

* Spalding Club Transactions, vol. ii , p 135.

f Glimpses of Church and Social Life in the Highlands, p. 491. She

married four husbands after him and had issue by ihem all.
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2. Bethia, who married Thomas Fraser, VII. of Farraline,

with issue—a son and successor.

He was succeeded by his only son,

VII. HUGH Fraser, seventh of Foyers. In May, 1643,

being- then designated as " Younger of Foyers," he attended

the funeral of Simon, Master of Lovat, who died in Edin-

burgh in that year and was buried in the Chapel of

Holyrood. In the Valuation Roll for the county of Inver-

ness in 1644, he appears as "Hugh Fraser of Foyers" for

lands in the barony of Abertarff entered at ^"965 6s 8d. He
is served heir to his father William, at Inverness, on the

20th of April, 1648, before Thomas Schives of Muirtown,

Sheriff of Inverness, and a jury, among whom are to be

found the names of Thomas Fraser of Struy, William Fraser

of Culbokie, and William Fraser of Abersky, in the two

davochs of Easter and Wester Aberchalder of old extent,

with the salmon fishings in Loch Oich pertaining thereto.

He received a charter of the lands of Foyers and Boleskine,

dated at Edinburgh, on the 15th of August in the same

year, which charter and the infeftment thereon were sub-

sequently confirmed to him by the Bishop of Moray in

1663. In 165 1 he is pursued for a debt by James Mac-

pherson of Ballachroan, and he appears to have got himself

involved in the same way with several others. On the 1st

of December, 1654, he grants a bond for £121 ; on the 8th

of August, 1657, one for ^289; and one on the 18th of

September, 1658, for £$$7, whereon, after due process,

followed horning and inhibition in 1666. In 1661 it was

arranged that he should receive a charter from Lord Lovat

of the lands of Mussady and Mellagie, as heir of his grand-

father Hugh, but the agreed upon deed was not executed.

Hugh married, first, Jean Gray, with issue

—

1. William, his heir and successor.

2. Hugh, mentioned in his sister's contract of marriage.

3. Elizabeth, who with both her brothers' consent, mar-

ried John Fraser of Little Garth, the contract of marriage

being dated at Mussady on the 7th of April, 1688.

He married, secondly, Catherine, daughter of Alexander
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Chisholm, XVII. of Chisholm, whose marriage contract is

dated at Erchless on the 31st of May, 1658, and in security

of her provision she was infeft in the half davoch of Boles-

kine, excluding Glenlia, and in the western third of Mellagie.

He was succeeded by his elder son,

VIII. WILLIAM FRASER, eighth of Foyers, who, since

the death of Hugh, eleventh Lord Lovat, in 1696, was on

the most friendly terms with Simon of the 'Forty-five. He
was one of the seven gentlemen of the clan who signed the

letter sent by Thomas of Beaufort to the Earl of Argyll in

1696-97 and given at length at pp. 219-221, in which they

state the determination of the clan to defend themselves, if

need be, from the troops sent against them, in consequence

of Simon's outrage on the Dowager Lady Lovat. Two
years after, Simon, who now assumed the title of Lord

Lovat, gave him the following written obligation :

—

" I, Simon Fraser Lord Lovat, do bind myself for service done me
and for mine by William Fraser of Foyers to give to the said William

Fraser of Foyers and his, the tenth part of the country of Stratherrick,

after I have fully conquested it and am in full possession of it, with-

out debate ; and this providing he continue true and faithful to me as

my kinsman and vassal all his life ; and for the more security, 1 consent

these presents be registered in the books of Council and Session or

any other books competent, and to that effect I constitute my
procurators that all sort of diligence pass hereon as accords. In

witness whereof I have written and subscribed these presents at Poran,

the 9th day of August, 1698 years. (Signed) , "Lovat."

Poran is at present known as " Phoran " or Forbeg, two or

three miles to the west of Foyers Mains, now a part of the

estate of Knockie, but then the property of Lord Lovat, and

at the time a populous place. It is said that it was Lord

Simon's intention to divide the lands of Stratherrick into ten

equal divisions, and give one to each of his leading clansmen

in the district, on condition that they should assist him to re-

cover the estates of the family, just as he had promised a

tenth to Foyers in terms of the foregoing quoted document.

It appears that before 171 5, William gave up the entire

management of his affairs to his eldest son,

Hugh Fraser, who, however, predeceased his father
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before 17 19. This Hugh, described as "Younger of

Foyers" in 171 1, had a charter in his own favour of Mus-
sady from Roderick Mackenzie of Prestonhall. He took the

side of the Government in 1715 at considerable trouble and

expense to himself and his family, as appears from a peti-

tion presented and a declaration made by him to the Hon.

David Poison of Kinmylies, and Alexander Clark and

George Cuthbert, two Justices of the Peace, Inverness, in

17 16, as follows :

—

" The petition of Hugh Fraser, younger of Foyers, one of the

Deputy-Lieutenants of the Northern Counties, humbly sheweth (that)

from the beginning of September (171 5) to the 1st of March (1716)

last past, I being moved by my affection to the Government, and in

obedience to Brigadier Alexander Grant and other friends of the

Government, their letters to me, as well as my own early engagement

to the Lieutenancy and friends of the Government, I did devote

myself and my men to the public service by going to the hills and

mountains of the country until such time as the said Lieutenancy

did gather some of their friends together, among which I and my men
were among the first, by which they were pleased to honour me with a

commission of being one of the Deputy-Lieutenants of the North,

whereby I and my men were pointed forth to the resentment of

the Rebels, and I and my tenants suffered considerable losses and

damages by depredations and robberies, besides the damages of

loss of time and the management of our affairs at home, with what I

paid for my own and my men, our charges to the month of November,

when my chief came to the North, all occasioned by our attendance on

the Government service. And I humbly conceive that the said

Brigadier and the other Lieutenants are in justice obliged, as well as

by their promises, to make up our losses by representing the same to the

Managers of the Government, so I believe that they will not make any

difficulty therein, if our damages and losses were ascertained by our

oaths. May it therefore please your worships to allow us to appear

before you and make affidavit upon the extent of the loss and damages

sustained, to the effect we may ascertain our claims as accords.

(Signed) "Hugh Fraser."

His request was conceded and, appearing before the

last-named two gentlemen, he declared on oath that during

the period stated in his petition

" He and about one hundred and sixty men were obliged to stay in

the hills and braes of the county and elsewhere as the Lieutenancy

did direct us upon our own proper charges and he had not any friends
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of the Government within twenty miles distant from him to any airt
;

by which, with his own personal charges, he did truly expend of his

own proper moneys and effects to the extent of the sum of three

thousand and forty pounds Scots money, and the rebels did violently

carry and rob away from his towns and'lands the number of seventy-

seven cows and oxen which he values at one thousand five hundred

and seventy pounds foresaid ; nine horses at two hundred and seventy

pounds foresaid ; fifteen wedders and sheep at thirty pounds fore-

said ; and plaids to the value of twenty -four pounds money foresaid

—

in all extending to the sum of four thousand nine hundred and four

pounds Scots money ; and that he and his men by their attendance on

his Majesty's service from the 1st of September to the first of March

last, when the regular forces came to Inverness, have sustained con-

siderable losses and damages in their affairs and labouring. But they

cannot declare the true extent thereof on oath and they submit the

same to discretion, which is truth as he shall answer to God.

—

(Signed) " Hugh Fraser."

He also addressed the following- memorial to the Right

Hon. Robert Walpole, First Lord of his Majesty's Treasury,

humbly showing,

" That the time of the late Ministry, when the pensions were to the

Highland clans, Alexander Mackenzie of Fraserdale who pretended

to represent the name of Fraser, was one of these pensioners, and

offered the memorialist a share of that pension to go into his

measures, which he absolutely refused because he understood the

design was to support the Pretender's interest, whereupon the

memorialist convened several gentlemen of the name of Fraser, and

acquainted them with the same, and he and they signed a letter to his

Grace the Duke of Argyll, giving full assurance of their resolution to

join with his Grace in defence of the Protestant succession as by law

established, and likewise sent two of their number to Sir Peter Fraser

of Doors to acquaint him of their resolution, who advised them to send

for my Lord Lovat to France, to strengthen them in their design.

And accordingly one of their number was sent to France to bring him

home. All which happened in the last two years of her late Majesty's

reign. That when Alexander Macdonald of Glengarry, and Colin

Campbell of Glendaruel were going about the Highlands to procure

subscriptions to an address to the Pretender, and had imposed upon

some of the name of Fraser to sign the same, the memoralist con-

vened the well affected gentlemen of that name and signed an address

to His Majesty King George, with an offer of their lives and fortune

to support His Majesty's just title to the Crown, which address was

presented to the Duke of Argyll. Agreeable to which address, when

the rebellion began in Scotland, the beginning of September last, the
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memorialist convened 160 men, though he was sixteen miles distant

from any of the King's friends and the Highland clans convening all

round him, and kept them in a body, though he was once attacked by

700 men of the Earl of Seaforth's whom he repulsed, and continued

these men upon his own proper charges till the middle of November

;

that my Lord Lovat came to the country, who then convened all the

rest of his name for His Majesty's service, in which the memorialist

continued till they were relieved by the regular forces in March last.

The memorialist was obliged to maintain these men on his own proper

charges, which, with the damage sustained by him and his lands by

the rebels, amount to six hundred pounds sterling, besides the loss of

his time conform to an affidavit made before the Justices of Peace of

Inverness county. Besides all what's above, the memorialist was sent,

when none other would undertake it, by my Lord Lovat to Stirling, by

way of Fort-William, to get intelligence from the Duke of Argyll,

which was a very expensive and dangerous journey, several of the

clans being in wait for seizing the memorialist which is known by

Sir Robert Pollock, Governor of Fort-William."

All these petitions and memorials proved unavailing ; for

Hugh received nothing, and the matter was again taken up

and the authorities approached by his successors some forty

years afterwards, apparently with no better result, as shall

presently be seen. Lord Simon speaks of him in quite

affectionate terms in his Letter of Advice from London to

the clan in 1718, when his Lordship believed he was dying.

Hugh, as already stated, died before 1719, during the life of

his father, who then appears to have again become person-

ally active in the management of the estate, for in 1721 he

is found entering into and signing a mutual bond or con-

federation between the Fraser families and Mactavishes in

Stratherrick, which is so remarkable at so recent a date

that it must be given entire. It is duly drawn up by a

Notary Public, and the original, of which the following is a

copy, was in possession of the late Alexander Mactavish,

Town Clerk of Inverness :

—

"At Bellaloin, the 5th day of April, 1721 years, it is contracted,

agreed, and finally determined, betwixt the parties following, viz. :—
William Fraser of Foyers, James Fraser, Younger thereof, Hugh
Fraser of Boleskine, William Fraser of Kinmonavie, John Fraser of

Drummond, William Fraser of Dalcraig, John and Thomas Fraser,

his sons ; Thomas Fraser of Kinbrylie, John Fraser, son to Dunichea
;
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John, Thomas, James, and Donald Fraser, sons to the deceased
Garthmore

; John and Alexander Fraser, Simon's sons in Dalchapel
;

John Donn Fraser, in Forbeg, Alexander Fraser, in Knockie, and
John Fraser, his son ; Thomas Fraser, son to Bunchegavie

; John
Fraser, now of Bunchegavie ; Alexander and Hugh Fraser, his sons

;

and Alexander Fraser, son to John Fraser in Bellaloin ; Alexander
Fraser in Mussadie, and William Fraser in Gortuleg, for themselves

and in name and behalf and as burdens taken on them for their

several friends and relations of the said family of Foyers, commonly
called Clan William, and their respective servants and followers,

on the one part ; and for John Mactavish of Little Garth, Tavish
Mactavish, his brother, John Mactavish, portioner of South Migavie,

Tavish Mactavish of North Migavie, Duncan Mactavish in Kenmore,
his brother, and Duncan Mactavish of Croachie, for themselves, and
in name and behalf and as taking hurden on themselves for the

several friends and relations, commonly called CLAN Tavish ; and
Ronald Macdonald of Achindich, John and Alexander Macdonald,
his brethren, for themselves, their friends and relations, and all of

them as undertakers for their several tenants, servants, dependers,

and followers, on the other part in manner following : That IS TO
say, forasmuch as for several years past frequent jealousies and

animosities were created and entertained on small causes, and some-

times without any grounds at all which oftimes ended in great

mischief, and sometimes in bloodshed on either side, to the scandal of

religion, and that harmony and good correspondence that should have

been maintained betwixt so near neighbours and friends, who are so

frequently bound to one another by the ties of consanguinity and affinity

;

therefore, and for the preventing the consequences of such jealousies

for the future, the said William and James Fraser, elder and younger, of

Foyers, and the said other persons of his family for themselves and in

name and behalf, and as taking burden on them as aforesaid, on

the one part, and the said other party as contractors for themselves,

etc., on the other part, faithfully engage, bind, and oblige themselves,

and promise their heirs and successors forever, to live in the strictest

amenity, friendship, and good neighbourhood, and to maintain, defend,

and assist one another in all actions, causes, pleas, and controversies,

of what nature and degree whatsoever, whether civil or military,

against all other clans, people or name, or quality soever, the King's

Majesty alone excepted ; and that with hearts and hands, lives, goods,

and estates, personal and real, and particularly, without prejudice

to the general obligements above written,—to maintain and assist

one another in all thefts, reiffs, and depredations that may be

attempted on either of the said parties, contractors, or their respective

followers or adherents, their goods or cattle, by whatsomever clan or

people. And if such theft, reiff or depredation be actually committed,
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to aid and assist one another with their full power and forces (how

soon ever required by the party injured), in receiving, retaking, and

returning the goods, cattle, and others carried away, and that were at

the hazard of their lives and goods. As also faithfully to engage,

promise, and oblige themselves, their heirs and successors on their

faith as Christians not to enter into any other contract or come under

any obligation to any other clan, or .persons, or people that may seem

to have the least tendency to the undoing of these presents, or that

may tend directly or indirectly towards the weakening or infringing

the least article thereof. And it is hereby declared that these presents

and the several articles and obligements therein contained shall

remain and continue obligatory and binding on the said parties,

their heirs and successors till the great and dreadful sound of the last

Trumpet— at least while two males are existing of each of the parties

contractors : And finally they bind and oblige themselves conjunctly

and severally to each other to implement, fulfil, and perform the

several heads, articles, and obligements of this contract in the most

strict manner under the penalty of four thousand pounds Scots to

be paid by the party failing to the party performing or willing to

perform their part thereof and that by attour performance, declaring

notwithstanding, that nothing in this contract is meant or shall be

interpreted to be in opposition to the laws and Acts of Parliament of

this Kingdom presently being or that shall happen to be for the time :

And both consent to the registration hereof in the books of Council

and Session, or others competent, that execution may pass hereon

as effeirs, and to that effect constitute Alexander Baillie, Notary

Public, and John Taylor, Notary Public, their procurators. In witness

whereof these presents, with the three preceding pages on stamped

paper, written by John Taylor, writer in Inverness, are subscribed by

both parties, place, and month, and year of God above-written before

these witnesses, Thomas Fraser of Gortuleg, Hugh Fraser in Mussadie,

Hugh Fraser, nephew of Gortuleg, Malcolm and Hector Fraser,

lawful sons to John Fraser of Errogie."

The document is subscribed by all the parties whose

names are mentioned therein and duly attested by the two

Notaries Public, Alexander Baillie and John Taylor. How the

agreement was adhered to and implemented among the re-

spective obligants it is now impossible to say, but the Rising

of 1745 is conclusive as to the manner in which the saving

clause in favour of the King and Parliament was forgotten.

William married Margaret, daughter of Alexander Mac-

kintosh of Connage, with issue

—

1. Hugh, who took an active part in managing the affairs
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of his family during the life of his father, but who died

before him, unmarried, prior to 1719.

2. James, who is described in 1719 as the only brother of

the deceased Hugh Fraser, Younger of Foyers. He is also

named immediately after his father in the Stratherrick bond

of agreement above given, and described in 1721, as "James

Fraser Younger thereof"—that is of Foyers.

3. Alexander, who married a daughter of Murdoch Mac-

kenzie, II. of Redcastle.

4. Katharine, who married Hugh Fraser, Uisdean Og, I.

of Leadclune, with issue.

William appears to have died shortly after the date of this

document, when he was succeeded by his second and only

surviving son,

IX. James Fraser, ninth of Foyers, who found the

affairs of his family very much embarrassed. He was much
assisted in this connection by Lord Simon of the 'Forty-five,

who on the 30th of September, 1725, made him Bailie over

all his Lordship's lands in Stratherrick. Shortly before this

an outrage was committed on Cuthbert of Castlehill, by the

slaughter of a hundred of his milch cows, and Lord Lovat

was charged with having been accessory to the crime. Let

the reader judge for himself, knowing Lord Simon as he

now does, from the following letter addressed to James

on that subject. His Lordship writes

—

" Bath, the 23rd of September, 1724.

" Dear Foyers,—How soon you receive this letter you are to come
immediately into Inverness, and find out the authors of the base

calumny (wrote of by you to me and Colonel Munro), that by your

direction the murdering villain Donald Dubh, ' Clessich,' killed and

destroyed Castlehill's cows. I know and believe in my soul you

are very innocent, but you deserve this misfortune for keeping that

rogue in your hands after my threatening letter to you that I would

never speak to you if you did not seize him and deliver him bound to

Culloden. This story, though false, will ruin for ever your reputation

if you do not find out the authors and get due and honourable satis-

faction. It may likewise do me hurt, so I desire for your own sake

and mine to trace out the story and behave like a gentleman ; and if

that villain can be had, seize him and deliver him to Culloden as I

desired you before. If you do not this I shall renounce you as my
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friend, relation, or acquaintance, and I shall never see your face when

I can shun it. If you can find no author, bring two or three honest

gentlemen with you to the Cross and to Cuthbert's Coffee House, and

tell aloud that any who were the authors or promoters of that

calumny are rogues and rascals. Call on my friend and doer at

Inverness, Commissary Munro, and he will advise you. I long to

know how you will behave, and of all friends, dear Foyers, your own,

(Signed) ' "Lovat."

In 1745 a dispute arose between Lord Simon and Lord

Fortrose at a Court of Freeholders held at Inverness for the

appointment of a Collector of the Land Tax in which

Foyers intervened in defence of his chief, jumping from the

gallery and presenting a loaded and cocked pistol at Mac-

kenzie's head, which would for a certainty have proved fatal

had not one of the gentlemen present thrown his plaid over

the muzzle and thus diverted its contents. The facts have

been already given at length at pp. 374-377.

James joined Prince Charles in 1745, but before doing

so he, in accordance with a common practice of that period,

disponed his estates to his elder son Hugh by deed dated

the 5th of November in that year, with the view of saving it

to his successors whatever might be the result of the Rising.

The affairs of the family were, however, so much embar-

rassed that Hugh some time afterwards had to make up

titles by a friendly adjudication, and by the assistance of

General Simon Fraser of Lovat, eldest son of Lord Simon.

The advisers of Prince Charles, Mr Fraser-Mackintosh says,

" thought no duty would be more agreeable to Lord Lovat

than to apprehend the President (Forbes). He hesitated,

however, to commit himself so openly, and the business was

entrusted to but not executed by Foyers, whose elder

brother, Hugh, had taken great credit for defending of Cul-

loden House in 171 5." In this connection James Fraser of

Foyers, had the following interesting document, still in good

preservation, addressed to him by command of the Prince :

—

" Charles, Prince of Wales, and Regent of Scotland, England,

France, and Ireland, and the Dominions thereunto belonging, To
James Fraser of Foyers—Whereas we gave a warrant some time ago
to the Lord Lovat to apprehend and secure the person of Duncan
Forbes of Culloden, which warrant, for sufficient reason, he could not
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put into execution : We now judge it necessary hereby to empower
you to seize upon the person of the above-named Duncan Forbes, and

when you have so seized and apprehended him, to carry him prisoner

to us at Edinburgh, or where we shall happen to be for the time, for

the doing of which this shall be your warrant. Given at His Majesty's

Palace of Holyroodhouse, the twenty-third day of September, 1745.

By his Highness' command. (Signed) "Jo. Murray."

He was specially excepted from the Act (20 George II.,

cap. 52) granting pardon for all treasons committed by most

of those engaged in the Rising prior to the 15th of June,

1747. Not having surrendered, he was outlawed but was

afterwards pardoned and had his estates restored to him.

James Fraser also received the following letter from

General Simon Fraser, dated "London, 4th January, 1757,"

the very day on which the first Fraser Fencibles were

ordered to be raised. It shows that he was still considered

and dealt with as head of the family, although the estates had

before the 'Forty-five been transferred to his son Hugh for

the prudential reasons already stated. General Fraser wrote

—

" Dear Sir,— I am sure it will give you pleasure to know that

His Majesty has been graciously pleased to signify his intention

of appointing me to the command of a regiment of Highlanders to be

forthwith raised for American service. And as the quickness that is

expected in raising them is a great inducement for the measure,

I flatter myself my friends will leave no stone unturned to have this

done with credit to me, whose honour and interest through life depend

on my success in this, and I am satisfied I may on every occasion as

well on this depend on you in what so nearly concerns me. As I

have not time to-night to write to everyone whose assistance I expect,

I must beg you will communicate this to such gentlemen as you think

proper. I shall endeavour to procure commissions for some young

gentlemen of the name, but these particulars must be the subject

of another letter. I thought it necessary to give you and the other

friends this early notice, that you may take measures in the meantime

for exerting yourselves with vigour on my behalf. I offer my compli-

ments to your lady, and all friends, and always am very sincerely, my
dear Foyers, yours, (Signed) " S. FRASER."

Some two years later Foyers renewed the claim made

by his father William and brother Hugh upon the Govern-

ment for compensation for the loss and outlay incurred

by the family in 17 15, when the following interesting

r
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statement was made by Major James Fraser of Castle

Leathers, who in the document declares that he was then,

1759, in his eighty-ninth year, having been born in 1670.

He says

—

"At Inchoch, the nineteenth day of February, one thousand seven

hundred and fifty nine years, in presence of Alexander Inglis, Esq.,

Sheriff-Substitute of the Shire of Nairn, compeared Major James
Fraser, of Castleleathers, aged eighty-eight, and going on eighty-nine,

who being solemnly sworn maketh oath, and says that he was

well acquainted with the deceased Hugh Fraser of Foyers, and that

he knows when, in the end of the late Queen Anne's reign, pensions

were distributed among the Highland clans, and that Alexander

Mackenzie of Fraserdale, who then possessed the estate of Lovat,

and was married to the eldest daughter of Hugh Lord Lovat, had one

of these pensions, and made an offer of part of it to the said Hugh
Fraser for coming into his measures, the said Hugh Fraser refused to

accept the same, as he understood it was to support the Pretender's

interests ; and that some time after, the said Hugh Fraser and

the deceased Hugh Fraser of Struy, and Alexander Fraser of Cul-

duthel, and he, the said James Fraser, met together and wrote a letter

to the late Duke of Argyll acquainting him of what had passed, and

that they were ready to raise the greatest part of the clan Fraser, and

join with his Grace in support of the Protestant succession. That the

said Hugh Fraser went afterwards to Edinburgh by advice of the well-

affected gentlemen of the name, of Fraser, and was by the deceased

Mr James Cuthbert, who was minister of Culross, and a relation of the

family of Lovat, introduced to such as were in concert at Edinburgh

to support the Protestant succession. That he likeways knows when

the late Alexander Macdonell of Glengarry and Colin Campbell of

Glendaruel were, after the death of the late Queen Anne, soliciting an

address among the Highland clans to the Pretender, the said Hugh
Fraser of Foyers refused to sign the same, and that he and the other

gentlemen of the name of Fraser who were above mentioned drew up

an address to his late Majesty, which they sent to the late Duke of

Argyll ; that he likeways knows when, after the succession of his late

Majesty, the Rebellion broke out in the year one thousand seven

hundred and fifteen, the said Hugh Fraser of Foyers (who had then

been appointed by his Majesty one of the Deputy-Lieutenants in the

north) did, at his own expense, raise a body of men for the King's

service when the other Highland clans were gathering around to go to

Perth, and that the body of men which he raised joined the Earl of

Sutherland and the late Lord Lovat when they got to the country and

raised their men for the King's service, and that, at the request of the

late Lord President Forbes and his brother, the late John Forbes of
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Culloden, the said Hugh Fraser put a garrison of his men in the

house of Culloden, and defended it against the rebels who were then

in possession of the town of Inverness, within two miles of the said

house, and when the Earl of Sutherland and the late Lord Lovat, after

they had come to the country and had raised so many men for his late

Majesty, and wanted to send some intelligence to the late Duke of

Argyll, when at Stirling with his Majesty's troops, the said Hugh
Fraser was the person singled out to go with their despatches, and

that he remembers he went and returned in the winter time from

Stirling to Perth, where the greatest part of the clan Fraser were with

Fraserdale then in the Rebellion, and by the said Hugh Fraser of

Foyers' connection with and influence on that part of the clan made
about three hundred of them desert in one night, who upon their

home-coming, joined the late Lord Lovat and the Earl of Sutherland,

who were then in arms for his Majesty King George, that he knows

the said Hugh Fraser was, during the said Rebellion at a considerable

expense in the service of the Government beyond what his small

estate could afford, and that he ran in debt on that account. That he

likeways knows he and his tenants did suffer damage in that time of

the rebels, tho' he does not at this distance of time remember the

particulars. That he likeways knows the said Hugh Fraser after the

Rebellion (was suppressed) made out a state of his case and an affi-

davit of his losses in order to be laid before Sir Robert Walpole ; and

further, that the said Hugh Fraser, told him, the deponent, then in

London that he was desired by the late General Cadogan, with whom
he was acquainted when that General was in the North of Scot-

land to come up to London, and that he should have his interest

with the Ministry to have his losses made up and a place or

pension given him for his loyalty and attachment. But upon his

telling Lord Lovat that he was to apply to General Cadogan for that

end he, Lord Lovat, absolutely discharged him, as it then happened

Lord Lovat and General Cadogan were of different parties ; and

Lord Lovat in the deponent's hearing at sundry times when they

were at London desired Hugh Fraser of Foyers to go home and that

he would take care of his interest both at London and home, and that

he would advance him money to pay all the losses he had sustained and

debt he had contracted in support of the Government ; and moreover

depones that Lord Lovat brought the said Hugh Fraser of Foyers to

wait of the late Duke of Argyll, who gave him his hand and assured him

as soon as it was in his power he should be provided for ; and further

depones that it consists with the deponent's knowledge that the said

Hugh Foyers by his dexterity and management in many particulars

was at that period very instrumental in quelling the then rebellion in

the North ; and siklike depones that the present James Fraser of

Foyers was the first man of four who had entered into a resolution to
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stand by the Government when the Rebellion of jm viic and forty-

five broke out, who signed a letter to the present Duke of Argyll for

that purpose, which deed being made known to the late Lord Lovat,

nothing but destruction was denounced against him by Lord Lovat for

entering into such without his knowledge, which the deponent believes

and had reason to know, as well as many others, was the sole cause of

the said James Fraser of Foyers his being induced by Lord Lovat to

go into the last rebellion, as Lovat kept a sum of money that was due

him by Foyers as a ferule over his head, and being a weak man,

though honest, was by him intimidated from putting his former

resolution into execution, which is truth as he shall answer to God, and

depones he cannot write by reason of a tremour in his hand.

(Signed) Alexander Inglis. Geo. Donaldson."

The foregoing statement by Castle Leathers was corrobo-

rated by another made on oath and signed by George

Drummond, Lord Provost of Edinburgh, who said that he

was acquainted with the deceased Hugh Fraser of Foyers
;

that it was consistent with his knowledge that he did come

to Edinburgh in the end of Queen Anne's reign ; that he

was then introduced to him and other gentlemen who were

acting in concert to support the Protestant succession in his

late Majesty's family in the event of the Queen's death
;

that Hus:h Fraser did treat and settle with him and the

other gentlemen in concert with him that he would under-

take for the greatest part of the clan Fraser to join with

them in support of the object they had in view, and that, if

they took the field, he would raise a body of men and

endeavour to join them. He remembered that after the

accession of his late Majesty, when in the winter of 1715 he

(the Lord Provost) was at Stirling with the late Duke of

Argyll, who then commanded the King's troops in Scotland,

to have seen the said Hugh Fraser of Foyers coming there

to the Duke, and that he brought him some important

intelligence from the King's friends, then assembled in the

North, and he particularly remembered that the paper

Fraser brought with him to Argyll was concealed "in the

heart of a stick he walked with in his hand"; that there was

at the time a great fall of snow upon the ground, and that

he returned with an answer from the Duke to the King's

friends in the North.

45



yo6 HISTORY OF THE FRASERS.

Nothing seems to have come of this second appeal any

more than of the preceding one, and the family was gradu-

ally sinking under the debts and difficulties which ultimately

ended in the estates being sequestrated and sold.

James married Katharine Fraser, with issue

—

i. Hugh, to whom, as already stated, the estates were

disponed in 1745.

2. Simon.

3. Anne.

Both James and his wife were alive in 1759, but seem to

have died soon after, when he was succeeded by his elder son,

X. Hugh Fraser, tenth of Foyers, as head of the

House. The estates were already his. In 1742 he had

married Christian, youngest daughter of Archibald Cameron

of Dungallon (marriage contract dated at Strontian, the 29th

of June in that year), with issue

—

1. John, who, on the 12th of March, 1774, received a

Commission in Lord Adam Gordon's Company, 1st Bat-

talion First Royals. He is mentioned in General Fraser's

entail, but he died before his father, without issue.

2. Hugh, also named in General Fraser's entail, but he

too died without issue before 1797.

3. Alexander, of whom the same is true as his brother

Hugh.

4. Simon, who succeeded his father.

5. Isabel, who in 1770 married George Cameron of

Letterfinlay.

6. Jean.

7. Katherine, who married the Rev. Alexander Fraser,

minister of Kilmallie. She is described in a post-nuptial

contract of marriage, dated the 1st and 6th of February,

1787, as the third lawful daughter of Hugh Fraser of

Foyers. The Rev. Alexander Stewart, LL.D., Nether-

Lochaber, recently wrote the following interesting particulars

of this pair's courtship, marriage, and descendants—The

Rev. Alexander Fraser, of Kilmallie "is said to have been a

very handsome man, and in his day one of the most popular

preachers in the West Highlands, Anne, daughter of
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Captain Duncan Cameron, Kinlochiel (Donacha' Mac Alas-

dair), who was a member of his congregation, fell in love

with him ; and it was believed he would have married her

had he not meanwhile come in contact with Foyers'

daughter, the lady who afterwards became his wife, under

circumstances so romantic that an engagement became

inevitable. On one occasion, whilst Mr Fraser was on a

visit to Foyers, a party from the house embarked on board

a boat with the view of crossing Loch Ness and calling

on the Grants of Glenmoriston. When nearing the Glen-

moriston shore, Katharine, Foyers' daughter, in moving

from one part of the boat to the other, chanced to fall

overboard. Mr Fraser instantly threw off his coat and hat

and leaping into the loch, swam to the drowning lady, and

held her head well above water until the people in the boat,

hurriedly pulling back, managed to take them both safely

on board again. Anne, the Lochaber sweetheart, had no

chance after such a bit of romance as that ; but she did not

in the least break her heart over the disappointment (ladies

of the right sort rarely do !), for within a few months of the

minister's marriage she too was happily married to a kins-

man of her own, who made her an excellent husband and

by whom she became the mother of a numerous family.

During their courting days Anne composed a Gaelic song to

Mr Fraser, which, on one occasion, many years ago, I heard

sung by the late Mr Kennedy, Tomachoillich, Ardgour. I

can only remember two verses and the chorus, which were

as follows :

—

'S efear mo g/iaoil, Alasdair,

Ar£ Anna, nigKn }Ic Alasdairj
,

S. efear mo chridhe Alasdair,

'S e Parson Chillamhaillie.

'Nuair chunnaic mi 'sa chrannaig thu,

Bu mhor an speis a ghabh mi dhiot
;

'Fhir a chuil dualaich, chamagaich,

Gur fearail fiamh do ghaire.

'S efear mo ghaoil, etc.

Gum b'fhearr learn thu ri d' phosadh,

Na fear a chruin, Righ Deorsa
;



708 HISTORY OF THE FRASERS.

La seachdainneach no Donach,

Gum be mo dheoin 'bhi laimh ruit !

'S efear mo ghaoil, etc.

Dr Stewart adds—" In 1848 or thereabouts, a Captain

William Fraser, a retired army officer, son of the said

Maighistir Alasdair of Kilmallie, was living on his half pay

in Oban ; and having become acquainted with him I can

recollect that when the estate of Foyers was sold he made a

claim in right of his mother on a share of the purchase

money. Whether his claim was allowed or rejected I can-

not say ; but I rather think his claim was disallowed, and

that although, having a large family of sons and daughters,

he very much needed it, he got nothing. In 1849 Captain

Fraser removed from Oban to Glasgow, where he died shortly

afterwards in the seventy-fourth year of his age. Two
sons of this Captain William Fraser, great-grandsons of

Hugh of Foyers, emigrated, and now are or lately were

prosperous squatters in Australia."

Hugh died in 1790, when he was succeeded by his only

surviving son,

XI. Simon Fraser, eleventh of Foyers, Deputy-Lieuten-

ant for Inverness-shire, the last proprietor of his race in

Foyers. He was born in 1760. He is one of the substi-

tutes in General Fraser's entail in 1774, and in 1778 he

received a Commission as Lieutenant in the Northern

Fencibles. In 1794 he is a Captain in the Strathspey

Fencibles. Early in the century a severe contest for the

Parliamentary representation of Inverness-shire was fought

between the Frasers and the Grants, when Foyers, no doubt

in consequence of his having married a daughter of Glen-

moriston, supported Charles Grant, who carried the day.

Colonel the Hon. Archibald Fraser of Lovat was mortally

offended at such conduct from a leading member of the clan,

and he proposed that Foyers should ever after be known,

not as Simon Fraser but as Simon Grant. And with the

view of placing himself in a position to annoy his unpatriotic

clansman the more effectually he succeeded in obtaining

possession by excambion of Boleskine glebe, in the heart of
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the Foyers estate, built Boleskine House upon it, resided

there a considerable portion of his time, and was a constant

source of trouble to Simon about fences, marches, and other

subjects of contention.

Mr Fraser-Mackintosh says that he " was most hospitable.

No one ever passed his door who had the remotest claim

upon him, and his house was a veritable hotel. Unfortun-

ately he was of an easy temper, readily cajoled. His own

debts at the beginning-

of the century did not exceed £2000,

but he became involved with Rothiemurchus, Letterfinlay,

Anderson of Gortuleg, and numerous others, so that in

1825, it had run up to .£10,000, and by 1836 to £14,000.

After his death on the 27th of April, 1842, the estate fell

under sequestration, but all the creditors were ultimately

paid, as the estate fetched a handsome price." Simon mar-

ried, in 1789 (post nuptial marriage contract dated the 20th

and 26th of March) Elizabeth, who died on the 28th of

November, 1823, third daughter of Patrick Grant of Glen-

moriston, with issue—an only child Jean, who, on the 20th

of March, 1817, married Captain Thomas Fraser, VI. of

Balnain, and died "much lamented the same year (on the

7th of July) in the flower of her age," without issue. He
died, as already stated, on the 27th of April, 1842, aged 83,

without any surviving issue, and left the estate of Foyers to

James Murray Grant of Glenmoriston, his wife's nephew,

but it was so much involved in debt that it was sequestrated

and sold to pay Simon's debts. Who the present heir-male

of the family is, if any such exists, we have not been able

to ascertain.
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I. HUGH or HUCHEON Ban Fraser, a natural son of

Thomas, fourth Lord Lovat, by a daughter of " Mac Dhugh-

ail" Macdonald of Morar, was the progenitor of this family.

He married with issue

—

II. Thomas Fraser, second of Reelick, some time of

Wester Aigais, who married Margaret, described in 155 1 as

"Nin Homais Mac Ian vie Ewen, Baroness of Moniack."

Her husband is described in a deed dated 9th October,

1578, as "Thomas Fraser Mac Hutcheon Bane," by which

time she was dead. He was succeeded by his son,

III. Thomas Fraser, third of Reelick, who has a charter

as "apparent heir" from his father dated the nth of Feb-

ruary, 1587. He married one of the Saltoun family. He
grants a charter in favour of his son and apparent heir,

IV. Alexander Fraser, fourth of Reelick, and Mar-

garet Douglas his spouse, daughter of William Douglas of

Earlsmill, dated the 15th of August, 1601. He is again on

record in 1609. He was succeeded by his son,

V. Alexander Fraser, fifth of Reelick, who is retoured

to his father, Alexander, before the Sheriff of Inverness

on the 20th of September, 1636. He married Catherine,

daughter of William Mackenzie of Shieldaig, sixth son of

John Roy Mackenzie, IV. of Gairloch (marriage contract

dated 1636). He was succeeded by his son,

VI. Alexander Fraser, sixth of Reelick, whose name
is entered in the Valuation Roll of 1644 for the county of

Inverness for £258 13s 4d. He has a charter under the Great

Seal, dated the 1st of March, 1665. He was succeeded by

VII. Alexander Fraser, seventh of Reelick, whose

name appears in the Valuation Roll for the same county in

1691 for £iyo. He married a daughter of Mackenzie of

Redcastle, and had at least two sons

—

1. James, described as "heir of Alexander" in 1684.
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2. Hugh of Moniack, who was Chamberlain to the

Dowager Lady Lovat in 1702. A petition to the Privy

Council shows that he was attacked in his house by John

Fraser, brother of Lord Simon, and that his party were

beaten by the intruders with the butt end of their guns, and

many of them killed.

Alexander was succeeded by his son,

VIII. James Fraser, of Reelick, who was retoured to his

father on the nth of December, 1694. The lands of Abri-

achan were under wadset for 10,000 merks to James and

Alexander Fraser, elder and younger, in 1704. He married

Katharine, daughter of Fraser of Achnagairn, with issue

—

IX. Alexander Fraser, ninth of Reelick, who was

born in 1680. In 1730 he conveyed the wadset of Abri-

achan held by his father and himself jointly in 170410 Evan,

younger son of Alexander Baillie, I. of Dochfour. He has

a charter under the Great Seal on the 12th of February,

1733. He married and had issue

—

1. Alexander, his heir and successor.

2. Hannah, who in 1709 married Alexander Baillie,

second of Dochfour, with issue, among others, Hugh Baillie,

third of Dochfour, who on the 10th of June, 1730, married

his cousin, Emilia, daughter of Alexander Fraser, X. of

Reelick.

3. Janet, who died in Gairloch, Ross-shire, on the 17th

of December, 1758, aged 73 years. He died in 1744, aged

64 years, and was succeeded by his son,

X. Alexander Fraser, tenth of Reelick, referred to as

" Younger of Reelick " in 1727. He is mentioned again in

the same capacity in 1743. He married Catherine, daughter

of Fraser of Belladrum, with issue

—

1. James, his son and successor.

2. Emilia, who on the 10th of June, 1730, married Hugh
Baillie, third of Dochfour, with issue—four sons and four

daughters.

He was succeeded by his son,

XI. James Fraser, eleventh of Reelick, who built the

new house at Easter Moniack, the present family residence.
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He resided for seventeen years in India, and acquired a

great knowledge of the Arabic, Persic, and Indian languages,

and he is said to have left a very large and valuable collec-

tion of manuscripts in the first named two. He married

Mary, only daughter of Edward Satchwell of Satchewell,

Warwickshire, with issue

—

1. Edward Satchwell, his heir and successor.

2. Mary, who was born at Surat, India, in 1746, and died

there young.

3. Catherine, born at Easter Moniack in 1752 and per-

ished at sea, unmarried, in 1783.

4. Ann, who died when only two years old.

He died at Moniack, on the 21st of June, 1754, at the

age of 42 years, when he was succeeded by his son,

XII. Edward Satchwell Fraser, twelfth of Reelick,

who was born at Easter Moniack on the 22nd of April,

175 1, and married on the nth of September, 1782, Jane,

third daughter of William Fraser, W.S., IV. of Balnain,

with issue

—

1. James Baillie, his heir and successor.

2. William Fraser, born at Easter Moniack on the 6th of

April, 1784. He was on the Bengal Establishment, and

served with great distinction as Chief Commissioner of

Revenue and Circuit at Delhi, where he was assassinated by

a native Indian Prince on the 25th of March, 1835, un-

married.

3. Edward Satchwell, who was born at Easter Moniack

on the 26th of April, 1786, and died at St. Helena, on the

25th of April, 1813.

4. Alexander Charles, of the East Indian Civil Service,

Assistant to the Resident at Delhi. He was born at Inver-

ness on the 10th of April, 1789 and died at Delhi, in

India, on the 4th of June, 1816.

5. George John, an officer in the H.E.I. Company's

Army. He was born on the 13th of May, 1800, and in

1832, married Wilhelmina Moore, without issue. He died

in India in August, 1842.

6. Mary, died young and unmarried, in September, 1806,
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7. Jane Catherine, who died in 1797, when only three

years old.

8. Jane Anne Catherine, who on the 10th of June, 18 16,

married Philip Affleck Fraser, IX. of Culduthel, with issue,

among several sons and daughters, John, X. of Culduthel,

whose son Philip Affleck Fraser succeeded to and is now
XI. of Culduthel and XVI. of Reelick.

Edward Satchwell (whose widow survived until the 20th

of December, 1847, at the age of 98 years) died in 1835,

when he was succeeded by his eldest son,

XIII. James Baillie Fraser, thirteenth of Reelick,

who was born at Edinburgh, on the nth of June, 1783.

In early life he went to the West Indies but he soon left it

and proceeded to the East, when he became a partner in

a well-known mercantile house in Calcutta. His tastes,

however, lay more in the direction of the fine arts and

adventure than in that of commerce. He travelled a great

deal, after which he returned home in 1822. In the

following year he married and returned to India, where he

was employed in a diplomatic mission in the performance

of which he rode all the way from Constantinople to

Ispahan, a feat the fatigues and hardships of which per-

manently undermined his naturally robust constitution.

When the Persian Princes visited Britain he was, in conse-

quence of his great knowledge of Eastern affairs and of

their language, appointed by the Government to accompany

the Royal strangers and take charge of them during their

visit ; and on their return journey he convoyed them as far

as Constantinople. He was the author of several important

works. In 1820 he published A Tour through the Snoivy

Range of the Himalaya Mountains ; in 1825 A Narrative

of a Journey into Khorassan in the years 1821 and 1822,

including an account of a journey to the North East of

Persia; in 1826 Travels and Adventures in the Persian

Provinces; and in 1828 a work of fiction entitled The

Kuzzilbash, a Tale of Khorassan, in which he described

Persian life and manners ; and to which he subsequently

wrote a continuation under the name of The Persian Adven*
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hirer. In 1838 he published A Winter Journey from
Constantinople to Teheran, with travels through various parts

of Persia. For the Cabinet Library of Oliver & Boyd he

wrote A History of Persia ; and he afterwards published

another work of fiction entitled The Highland Smugglers.

He finally gave to the world The Khan's Tales, a military

memoir of his friend Colonel Skinner, a distinguished Indian

officer, who died at Delhi in 1841. That he was an ex-

cellent writer is proved from a notice of his Kuzzilbash in

the Quarterly Review by Sir Walter Scott, in the course of

which that great man says—" Scenes of active life are

painted by the author with the same truth, accuracy, and

picturesque effect which he displays in landscape or single

figures. In war, especially he is at home, and gives the

attack, the retreat, the rally, the bloody and desperate close

combat, the flight, the pursuit and massacre, with all the

current of a heavy fight, as one who must have witnessed

such terrors " ; and it has been said that his description of

the return of his Kuzzilbash to his native village is one of

the finest efforts of the kind in modern romance.

But he was more than a good and prolific writer. He
was a very accomplished artist. He is described as an
" exquisite painter in water colours," and several of his

drawings of Eastern scenes have been engraved. "One
magnificent volume of coloured engravings from his draw-

ings in the East was published by him at great expense."

He took much pains with laying out his beautiful garden at

Easter Moniack. In his old age he used to point out to his

friends a clump of fine cedars planted the year he was born,

and he evidently resolved to follow up the example set him

by his predecessors by the planting of these and other trees

and shrubs from the East, and the visitor to the house in

which he died will see the result at the present day in the

picturesque and beautiful grounds, rich by nature and

embellished by art, by which it is surrounded.

He married on the 4th of September, 1823, Jane, third

and youngest daughter of Alexander Fraser-Tytler, Lord

Woodhouselee, Senator of the College of Justice, and
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afterwards of Aldourie, without issue. He died at Easter

Moniack on the 23rd of January, 1856, aged 72 years, when

the male representation of the family became extinct. He
left the estate of Reelick in life-rent to his widow, with a

destination after her death to his sister, Jane Anne Catherine.

On his death, he was succeeded as life-rent proprietrix by

his widow,

XIV. Jane Fraskr Tytler - Fraser, fourteenth of

Reelick. She died on the 23rd of October, 1861, aged

75 years, when she was succeeded by James Baillie Fraser's

sister, only surviving child of Edward Satchwell Fraser,

XII. of Reelick,

XV. Jane Anne Catherine Fraser,, fifteenth of

Reelick, who had on the 10th of June, 18 16, married

Philip Affleck Fraser, IX. of Culduthel, with issue—seven

sons, and six daughters, for whom, and Culduthel's grand-

children, see p. 593. Jane Catherine Fraser, in 1879, gave

over the estate of Reelick during her life to her grandson,

XVI. Philip Affleck Fraser, sixteenth and now of

Reelick, and XI. of Culduthel, Fellow of the Royal Geo-

graphical Society and member of the Institution of Civil

Engineers. He married in 1889, Augusta Zeila, eldest

daughter of William Frederick Webb of Newstead, Notts,

with issue, two daughters

—

1. Phyllis Mary. 2. Violet Mabel.



THE FRASERS OF DUNBALLOCH
AND NEWTON.

The Frasers of Fruid were a branch of the Frasers of

Drumelzier and they possessed a considerable estate in

Peebles-shire for several generations down to the reign of

James IV. of Scotland, when the property passed to an heir

female, Agnes Fraser, who had been betrothed to Malcolm

Fleming, brother of John Lord Fleming, ancestor of the

Earls of Wigtoun, but she was forcibly carried away and

married by John Tweedie, then of Drumelzier, acquired by

his family through an earlier Fraser alliance. This abduc-

tion and marriage caused a sanguinary feud between the

families of Fleming and Tweedie, in the course of which

John Lord Fleming was slain by John Tweedie of Drum-
elzier at Biggar on the ist of November, 1522. Lord

Fleming's death not only caused a great deal of bloodshed

at the time, but raised a flame which was never fully ex-

tinguished while the Tweedies of Drumelzier existed.

Although the Fruid estates had been carried into another

family by Agnes Fraser the heiress, there were still male

representatives of her house and name. In the reign of

James III. John, a younger son of Fraser of Fruid, was

bred to the Church, and in due course became Rector of

Douglas, subsequently Dean of the Royal Collegiate Church

of Restalrig, then Abbot of Melrose, and Lord Register, to

which he was promoted by James IV,, and was finally in

1485 appointed to the Episcopal See of Ross, of which he

continued Bishop until his death on the 5th of February,

1507, aged 78 years, when he was buried in Fortrose

Cathedral, which he finished before his death.

The Bishop had an elder brother,

JAMES, who married Anne, daughter of Wallace of

Craigie, with issue—eight sons and one daughter,

1. Andrew, who died without issue male before his father
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but left a daughter, Agnes, who became the heiress of

Fruid who was carried away and married by John Tweedie

of Drumelzier, as already stated.

2. Paul, who entered into holy orders, and was settled at

Rosskeen, county of Ross.

3. Almond, also in holy orders, and settled in Alness.

4. John Fraser, progenitor of the family of Dunballoch.

He was Chamberlain, alter oculus, for his uncle the Bishop,

at Nigg, and married Margaret, daughter of MacCulloch,

then proprietor of Cadboll, near Invergordon, with issue

—

an only son, Donald, of whom presently.

5. Alexander, from whom the Frasers of Phopachy, of

whom in their order.

6. James, ancestor of Provost Andrew Fraser of Inver-

ness ; Robert Fraser, advocate ; his brother, the Rev.

Michael Fraser, minister of Dores ; and several other pro-

minent men.

7. Duncan, progenitor of the Frasers of Munlochy and

Daltullich.

8. Robert, Chamberlain to the Abbot of Fearn, of whom
are descended many Frasers in Ross, Sutherland, and

Caithness.

9. Janet, who married Andrew Munro of Milntown,

county of Ross.

On the death of James, the Bishop's elder brother (his

three brothers, Andrew, Paul, and Almond, having died

unmarried), his male representation devolved upon

Donald Fraser, Archdean of Ross, famous for his

courage and valour. He held the Bishop's castle of

Chanonry in Ross, against the Lairds of Kintail, Balna-

gowan, Fowlis, and Cromarty, " the most powerful men of

the county, till the Bishop of Aberdeen, with other men of

distinction, came to accommodate matters between them."

He turned Protestant at the Reformation, and married

Elizabeth, daughter of John Rose, first of Bellivat, son of

Hugh Rose, VIII. of Kilravock, by his wife Margaret, sister

of George Earl of Huntly.

The Archdean, some time after this, while returning from
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Edinburgh, was shot by his own servant, at the Church

of Alford, "where he had appointed the servant to meet

him with his horses, he being bribed to do so (as is alleged)

by some of the Dean's enemies in Ross-shire. He was

buried in the Kirk of Alford by the care of George Earl of

Huntly, but his landed estate in Ross (Sligach and Drynie)

which was considerable, was seized and possessed by his

enemies (the Mackenzies), the then unhappy state of the

kingdom in general, joined with the minority of his children,

offering a favourable opportunity for committing such vio-

lence." By his wife, Elizabeth Rose, the Archdean had

issue

—

i. James, who, on the invitation of Hugh Lord Lovat,

settled at Tomich, near Beauly, and whose son, also James,

went to reside at Dunballoch and became progenitor of the

Erasers designated of that place.

2. John Fraser, of Inchrory, who married Barbara Lind-

say and had a son, Donald Fraser of Leys, who died without

issue.

3. Alexander Fraser of Waternish Moor, issue extinct.

4. Andrew Fraser of Bannans, whose descendants have

also died out.

Donald had six daughters—Anna, Helen, Janet, Mar-

garet, Katharine, and Mary.

He was succeeded by his eldest son,

JAMES FRASER, who was taken by his relative the Earl of

Huntly, with all his papers and rights to his father's estate in

Ross, to the Bog of Gight, now Castle Gordon, where he

was brought up and remained until the death of his Lord-

ship, when he was invited by Hugh Lord Lovat to the Aird.

The papers and rights to his father's property which he had

left at Gordon Castle, were afterwards, along with the

Marquis of Huntly 's charter chest, taken to the house of

Gordon of Strathloch, at the time Tutor of Huntly, where

they were all destroyed in an accidental fire. His enemies

"taking advantage of this misfortune, the minority of his

children, and the then unhappy state of the country, main-

tained themselves in possession of the lands they had
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violently seized." This James married Agnes, daughter of

Bannerman of Buttertown, with issue—an only son,

I. James Fraser, who left Tomich, went to Dunballoch

and purchased the baronies of Kingillie and Drumchardiny

in the parish of Kirkhill. He married first, Mary, daughter

of Alexander Fraser of Reelick, with issue

—

1. Alexander, who died before his father, without issue.

2. Isabella, who died on the 18th of March, 1675, without

issue.

3. Anna.

He married secondly, Margaret, eldest daughter of Hugh
Fraser, III. of Belladrum, with issue

—

4. Thomas, who succeeded him.

5. Andrew, who died without issue.

6. Hugh, Lieutenant-Colonel of the Foot Guards, who
purchased the lands of Kessock and Kilmuir Wester in the

county of Ross. He married Christian, daughter of William

Macnaughton of that Ilk, Collector of Customs at An-

struther, with issue—an only daughter Henrietta, who
married Sir Charles Erskine of Alva, with issue.

Colonel Hugh was a distinguished soldier, and was killed

in command of his regiment in 1745 at the battle of Fon-

tenoy at the great age for an officer on active service of

78 years.

7. William, who married Anna, daughter of Hugh Fraser,

V. of Belladrum, without issue.

8. Katharine, who married first, Andrew Fraser of

Bannans, and secondly, John Fraser of Dunchea.

9. Elizabeth, who died unmarried.

10. Magdalen, who as his third wife married Hugh
Fraser of Aigais, with issue—William, Robert, Andrew,

Margaret, Isobel, Mary, and Amelia.

11. Janet, who married Hector, brother to Hugh Fraser

of Reelick.

12. Mary.

He died on the 24th of June, 1705, aged 86 years, and

was buried at Beauly Priory.

He was succeeded by his eldest son by his second wife,
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II. Thomas Fraser, second of Dunballoch, and of

Newton, Sheriff-Depute of Inverness-shire in 171 3 by com-
mission under the Great Seal. He married Isobel (who

died on the 2nd of May, 1757), daughter of John Mac-
kintosh of Wester Drakies and Blervie, a merchant and

Bailie of Inverness, with issue—

1. Hugh, his heir and successor.

2. William, a Captain in the British army, who acquired

a wadset of Kingillie from his father. He is named after

his brother Hugh in the entail of 1774. He married

Christian, eldest daughter of James Fraser, V. of Belladrum,

with issue —James, Thomas, Hugh, Anna, and May.

3. Simon of Fanellan, a Captain in the service of

the United States of America. He is named after his

brother William in General Fraser's entail. He married

Mary Hutchinson, daughter of Thomas Fraser of St. Kitts,

with issue—John Hutchinson Fraser, barrister ; Thomas
Fraser, 71st Regiment; Simon Fraser of St. Kitts; Hugh,

Isabell, Anna, Joyce, Elizabeth Boyd, Willot Stanley,

Jamesina, who married first, Colonel Campbell of the 78th

Regiment, with issue—William, of the 4th Dragoon Guards,

who married Arnim Styleman Le Strange ; Simon, and

Mary, who married Thomas Stewart. Jamesina married,

secondly, John Stewart of Belladrum, with issue—John

Hugh Fraser of the 51st Regiment, who died without issue;

Charles, of the H.E.I.C.S., who also died without issue;

Ann, who married Edward Dawson, M.P. of Whatton,

Leicestershire ; and Jamesina Joyce Ellen, who married

first, Henry Styleman Le Strange of Hunstanton, Norfolk,

and secondly Charles Wynne Finch of Voelas, Denbigh-

shire.

4. Marjory, who married James Grant of Shewglie and

Redcastle, with issue—James, and others. She died at the

age of 10 1 years.

5. Emilia, who married the Rev. John Grant, minister of

Kilmore, Glenurquhart, with issue—one daughter, Isobella,

who married Major Alpin Grant, who lived at Borlum, in

that glen, fourth son of Patrick Grant, VIII. of Glen-
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moriston, with issue—three daughters, who married respec-

tively, Grant of Dalshangie, Fraser of Tor, and Alexander

Grant, factor for Glenmoriston.

6. Magdalen, who married Peter Fraser of Fingask, a

brother of Hugh Fraser of Belladrum, with issue—Hugh,

and others.

7. Margaret, who married first, Robert Cheviz of Muir-

town, with issue—an only daughter, Isobella Sutherland

Cheviz, who married William Inglis, a Bailie of Inverness.

She married secondly, John Clunas of Neilstoun, county of

Sutherland, with issue—John, and others.

Thomas died on the 29th of July, 1754, was buried in

Beauly Priory, and succeeded by his eldest son,

III. HUGH Fraser of Newton, educated at Leyden, and

served as a volunteer under his uncle at Fontenoy. He is

mentioned in General Simon Fraser's entail in 1774, as one

of the substitutes. He married Margaret, eldest daughter

of Alexander Chisholm, XXII. of Chisholm, by his wife

Elizabeth, only daughter of Roderick Mackenzie, IV. of

Applecross, by his wife Margaret, daughter of Sir Kenneth

Mackenzie, first Baronet and IV. of Scatwell, and by her

had issue

—

1. Thomas, his heir and successor.

2. Alexander of Balconie and Inchcoulter, who was born

on the 30th of July, 1759, and married Emilia, daughter of

Colonel Duff of the family of Muirtown, near Inverness,

with issue—Captain Evan Baillie of Balconie and Inchcoul-

ter, Ross-shire, who ultimately on the death of Alexander

Fraser, VI. of Newton, on the 7th of March, 1848, became

male heir and representative of the Frasers of Dunballoch.

3. Roderick, a General in the army, born on the 12th of

October, 1764. He married Miss Jerningham, with issue

—

a son Roderick ; a daughter who married Sir Joseph Need-

ham ; and another daughter, who married John Needham.

4. Archibald, who died without issue.

5. Adam, who died without issue.

6. Joseph, who died without issue.

7. Elizabeth, who died unmarried.

46
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8. Anna, died unmarried on the 2ist of February, 1823.

9. Margaret, who married David George Sandeman of

Springland, near Perth, with issue— (1) Hugh Fraser

Sandeman, who married Julia Burnand, with issue

—

(a)

Lewis, who died without issue; (b) Hugh Fraser Sande-

man, H.E.I.C.S.
;

(c) Theophilus Sandeman, who married

Miss Caldwell
;

(d) Fraser Sandeman, who married Miss

Wakefield
;

(e) Roderick Sandeman, married
; (/) Duncan

Sandeman, married
; (g) Antoinette, who married E. Budd

of Vale Lodge, Surrey
;
{h) Flora, who married Dr Cullum

;

(i) Julia Georgina Elizabeth, and (J) Wilhelmine, who
married first, MacNicol, and secondly, David George

Sandeman. (2) David Sandeman of Kirkwood, Dumfries-

shire, who married Julia, daughter of Robertson of Foveran,

Aberdeenshire, with issue

—

(a) David George Sandeman,

Colonel 1 6th Lancers, who married first, Celia, daughter of

Colonel Cockburn, and secondly, his cousin, Wilhelmine,

daughter of Hugh Fraser Sandeman by Julia Burnand.

(3) Anna, who died without issue
; (4) Jane, who died

without issue
; (5) Margaret, who married William Fraser,

W.S., father of William Fraser, XI. of Culbokie.

10. Katharine Bristow, who married William Landreth,

with issue—William, an officer in the 1st Royals, who died

without issue ; and several daughters—Margaret, Amelia,

and Eliza, the last two married.

ir. Isobel, who died without issue.

12. Elizabeth, who married Ross of Oakbank, Perth, with

issue—Thomas Ross, a Captain in the 73rd Regiment, born

in 1807, and married Amelia, daughter of W. Crawshay of

Caversham Park, Oxford, and Cyfarthfa Castle, Glamorgan-

shire, with issue

—

(a) William Ross, an officer in the 78th

Regiment
;

(b) Robert Ross
;

(c) Edward Ross
;
(d) Alastair

Graham Ross, and (e) Amelia.

13. Jane, who died unmarried ; and nine other children,

all of whom died young or unmarried.

Hugh died on the 13th of August, 1785, when he was

succeeded by his eldest son,

IV. Thomas Fraser of Newton, Major in the 1st Royal
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Scots. He was born on the 20th of March, 1758, and suc-

ceeded his father in 1785. He married Katharine (who

died on the 23rd of January, 1849), only daughter of Alex-

ander Mackintosh, of the family of Drakies and Provost of

Inverness, by his wife, Elizabeth, daughter of Hugh Inglis

of Kingsmills, with issue

—

1. Hugh, his heir and successor.

2. Alexander, who succeeded his brother Hugh.

3. Elizabeth, who died unmarried, 10th of January, 1867.

4. Margaret, who married Major Ludovick Stewart of

Pityvaich, county of Banff, 24th Regiment, and brother of

John Stewart of Belladrum, with issue—(1) Thomas Forbes

Stewart, who married Mary, daughter of Colonel William

Campbell of the 78th Regiment, with issue—Mary Fraser

Stewart, who died in 1894, and Margaret Annie Stewart.

She died in 1889 and he in 1892. (2) John Drummin
Stewart, who married Annie, daughter of Charles Mac-

kinnon, Corrie, Isle of Skye, without issue. He died in

1874. (3) Ludovick Charles Stewart, an officer in the 78th

Regiment, and Surgeon-General in the army, who married

Emma, daughter of D. Rae, with issue—Hugh Fraser

Stewart, a clergyman, and Margaret Clifford Stewart. (4)

Gordon Elliot Stewart, in the Bombay Army, who died

without issue. (5) The Rev. Hugh Alexander Stewart,

minister of the Free Church of Penicuik, who died in 1893.

(6) Alexander Fraser Stewart, a Major in the Indian army,

who died in 1894. (7) Katharine Stewart, who married the

Right Rev. Alexander Ewing Bishop of Argyll and the

Isles. She died in 1855, and he died in 1873, leaving

issue

—

(a) John Ewing, Colonel Madras Staff Corps, who
married Mary, daughter of General William Anson Mac-

Cleverty, Colonel of the 45th Regiment, Commander in

Chief at Madras, with issue—Alastair Ewing, born in 1872,

and John Ludovick Ewing, born in 1885 ;
(b) Alexander

Ewing, of the 78th and 80th Regiments, and subsequently

Vicar of Walmer, Kent, who married Cecilia Laura, daughter

of Adolphus Meetkerke of Julians, Herts, with issue

—

Katharine May Meetkerke Ewing ; and Florence Stewart
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Meetkerke Ewing, who in 1893, married Major Kenneth

Schalch Baynes, late of the 79th Cameron Highlanders,

and son of Sir William Baynes, Baronet. Alexander

Ewing died in 1877, and his widow, in 1879, mar-

ried, as her second husband, Thomas Ramsay Biscoe of

Newton. She died on the 12th of November, 1892.

(c) Samuel Ewing-

, born in 1848, Lieutenant, R.N. He
married Charlotte, daughter of Sir Charles des Vceux of

Indiville, Queen's County, Ireland, with issue—Arthur

Alexander Ewing, and Katharine, (d) Ludovick Stewart

Rudolph Ewing, C.E., who died without issue in 1885 ;
(e)

Margaret Clifford Ewing, who married Alexander Crum of

Thornliebank, M.P. for Renfrewshire, who died in 1893,

having had issue—Walter Ewing Crum, Stewart Crum, and

John Ludovick Crum
; (/) Katharine Louisa Elspeth Jane

Ewing, who married William Ingham Whitaker of Pylewell

Park, Hants. She died in 1876, and he died in 1893,

having had issue—Ingham William Whitaker, now of Pyle-

well Park, and Evelyn Sophia Whitaker, who died without

issue. (8) Clifford Melville Stewart, who married the Rev.

Charles Kirkby Robinson, Master of St. Catharine's College,

Cambridge, with issue—Ludovick Stewart Robinson, a

clergyman, who married Lilla, daughter of Charles Mort-

lock, without issue ; Charles Stewart Robinson, who died

young, and Mary Stewart Robinson. (9) Annie, who died

without issue. (10) Elizabeth Newton Stewart, who, on the

14th of February, 1759, married Henry Gordon, son of

Sir William Gordon Cumming, Baronet of Altyre and

Gordonstown, with issue—Henry William Gordon Cum-
ming, who married Evelyn, daughter of Mr and Lady Jane

Lindsay, and Ludovick Gordon Cumming, a Captain in the

45th Regiment, who married a daughter of Count de Morel.

(11) Jamesina, who died without issue.

5. Katharine, who married Benjamin Goldsmid Elliot, and

died at Inverness on the 7th of February, 1890, without issue.

6. Isabella, who married James Wilson, banker, Inver-

ness. She died on the 4th of March, 1863, having had

issue— (1) William Wilson, M.A. of St. Catherine's College,
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Cambridge, Rector of Stoke Bruerne, Northamptonshire,

who married Magdalen, daughter of Colonel Macfarlane, of

the 14th and 4th Regiments, son of Bishop Duff Mac-

farlane of Moray, by Helen, daughter of George Inglis of

Kingsmills, Inverness, by whom the Rev. William had

issue

—

(a) James Wilson, who died without issue
;
(b) Arthur

Forbes Macfarlane Wilson, who was born on the 1st of

September, 1866; (c) William Elliot Wilson, born on the

10th of June, 1868
;
(d) Helen Baillie Inglis Wilson, who

died without issue
;

(e) Isabella Fraser Wilson, who married

the Rev. Mr Kennaway ; and (f) Magdalen Duff Lennox

Wilson. (2) Thomas Fraser Wilson, who died without

issue. (3) Elliot Wilson, who died without issue. (4) Hugh
Fraser Wilson, Captain in the 105th Regiment, who died

without issue. (5) The Rev. James Wilson, M.A. of Jesus

College, Cambridge, Vicar of St. Stephens, Norwich. He
was born in 1837, and in 1861 married Ellen, daughter of

the Rev. S. Silver, Vicar of Fulbourne, Cambridge, with

issue

—

(a) James Clunas Wilson, born in 1862; (b) Hugh
Fraser Wilson, born in 1865 ;

(c) Frederick Maurice Wilson,

born in 1865 ;
(d) Elliot Wilson, born in 1870; (e) Francis

John Wilson, born in 1873 ; (/) Thomas Erskine Wilson,

born in 1874; (g) Mary Caroline Wilson
;
(h) Isabella Mar-

jory Wilson
;

(z) Ellen Blanche Wilson
; (/) Lucy Macleod

Campbell ; and (k) Amelia Dorothy. (6) The Rev. Alex-

ander Newton Wilson, an Indian Chaplain, and now Vicar

of Roade, Northamptonshire, born in 1840. (7) Katherine

Fraser Wilson, who died without issue. (8) Marjory Wilson,

who married the Rev. T. W. Cockshott, Vicar of Burwell,

Cambridge, and Canon of Ely, without issue. She died in

1855. (9) Amelia Robertson Wilson, who, on the 28th of

August, 185 1, married Major-General John Robert Mac-

kenzie, of the Portmore family, residing at Cheltenham,

where he died in 1894. For his issue and descendants see

the History of the Mackensies, second edition, pp. 465-466.

His wife died in 1893. (10) Ella Wilson, who as his first

wife married in 1857, Captain John Fraser, VII. of Balnain,

with issue.
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7. Emily Duff, who died, unmarried, on the 20th of

December, 189 1.

8. Wilhelmine, who on the 26th of November, 1844,

married Thomas Porter Bonell Biscoe, of the Hon. East

India Company's service, and who, in 1850 purchased the

estate of Newton from the trustees of his brother-in-law,

Alexander Fraser, then of Newton. By Thomas Porter

Bonell Biscoe (who died on the 20th of June, 188 1),

Wilhelmine Fraser, who died on the 27th of April, 1878,

had issue—(1) Thomas Ramsay Biscoe, born on the 19th

of October, 1850, now of Newton, who married Cecilia

Laura (who died on the 12th of November, 1892), daughter

of Adolphus Meetkerke of Julians, Herts, and widow of the

Rev. Alexander Ewing (son of the Right Rev. Alexander

Ewing, Bishop of Argyle and the Isles), by whom she had

two daughters—Katharine May Meetkerke Ewing ; and

Florence Stewart Meetkerke Ewing, who in 1893, married

Major Kenneth Schalch Baynes of the 79th Cameron

Highlanders. By this lady Thomas Ramsay Biscoe had

issue

—

(a) John Vincent Meetkerke, born on the 20th of

July, 1880; and Cecilia Benigna Meetkerke; (2) William

Fraser Biscoe, born on the 28th of April, 1855, now of

Kingillie, who on the 7th of December, 1882, married Mary

Alice, daughter of Francis Crozier of Delawarr, Lymington,

Hants, with issue—Francis Ramsay Fraser, born on the

24th of January, 1884; Frederick Crozier Fraser, born in

1894; and Laura Fraser; (3) Katharine Emma, who married

William Munro, Marchbank, Midlothian, without issue ; and

(4) Frances Anne Benigna, unmarried.

Thomas Fraser, who died on the 1st of June, 1838, and

was buried in the Priory of Beauly, was succeeded by his

eldest son,

V. Hugh Fraser of the H.E.I.C.S. and Newton. He
was born on the 27th of April, 1797, and died without issue

on the 7th of December, 1843, when he was succeeded by

his brother,

VI. Alexander Fraser of Newton and the H.E.I.C.S.

He was born on the 15th of June, 1807, and married
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Emilia (now residing in Hastings, Sussex), daughter of the

Rev. William Walker, an Indian missionary, with issue

—

Katharine and Margaret, both unmarried. He died on the

7th of March, 1848 and, as already stated, his trustees,

in 1850, sold the estate to Thomas Porter Bonell Biscoe,

of the H.E.I.C.S., who had married his sister Wilhelmine,

mother of Thomas Ramsay Biscoe now of Newton.

On the death of Alexander, he was succeeded as repre-

sentative of the family, by his kinsman,

VII. Major Evan Baillie Fraser of Balconie and

Inchcoulter, late of the 88th Regiment of Foot. He mar-

ried Jane, daughter of Dr John Inglis Nicol, Inverness,

with issue

—

1. Alexander Thomas, Colonel Royal Engineers, retired.

2. John James, a Lieutenant in the Bombay Army. He
died unmarried.

3. Evan Baillie, who married in New Zealand, Annie

Fenton, descended from an old Irish Family, without issue.

4. William Archibald, unmarried.

5. Elma Cumming Bruce, who died, unmarried.

6. Emilia Christian Duff, now at Redburn, unmarried.

7. Ann Robertson, who died unmarried.

Major Evan Baillie Fraser died at Redburn, Inverness, on

the 7th of August, 1891, when he was succeeded as male

representative of the family of Dunballoch by his eldest son,

VIII. Alexander Thomas Fraser, Colonel Royal

Engineers, Madras, now retired and unmarried.



THE FRASERS OF PHOPACHY AND TORBRECK.

I. JAMES Fraser, the first of this family, was the im-

mediate younger brother of John Fraser, progenitor of the

Frasers of Dunballoch and Newton, son of James, elder son

of Fraser of Fruid, and brother of John Fraser, Bishop of

Ross, who died in 1507. For detailed particulars of this

descent the reader is referred to the account already given

of The Frasers of Dunballoch.

James Fraser of Phopachy was in February, 1597, dis-

patched by Simon Lord Lovat to King James VI., then

at Falkirk, with a message in connection with a dispute

which had arisen between the Mackenzies on the one hand,

and the Baynes and Munros on the other, a full account of

which will be found at pp. 1 37-140. Shaw says that Simon

Lord Lovat mortgaged Phopachy in 1620 to Fraser of

Culbokie, an error apparently for Fraser of Phopachy who

was undoubtedly already in some form of possession of it.

"A branch of the Frasers had this land in mortgage," he

says, "near 150 years, but it was redeemed by the late

Lord Lovat "*—that is Lord Simon of the 'Forty-five.

James married in 1599, Elizabeth, daughter of William

Fraser, I. of Struy, with issue

—

II. James FRASER, second of Phopachy, who is described

as such in a contract of marriage, dated in 1629, between

Alexander Maclean, younger of Dochgarroch and Agnes,

daughter of Thomas Fraser, III. of Struy. He married

with issue

—

III. William Fraser, third of Phopachy, a Doctor of

Medicine. He appears in the Valuation Roll for the

county of Inverness in the parish of Kirkhill, in 1644, as

* Province ofMoray, new edition, vol ii., p. 373, written about 1760.
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"William Fraser of Phopachie," for £148 6s 8d. He
married, with issue, at least two sons—

1. James, who succeeded his father.

2. Andrew, who is a student at the University of Aber-

deen in 1672, described as "frater Magistri Jacobi a

Phoppachie," Inverness.

He was succeeded by his elder son,

IV. The Rev. James Fraser, fourth of Phopachy,

minister of Kirkhill, ordained in 1661. He married, with

issue, at least three sons

—

1. Robert, who predeceased his father.

2. Alexander, who succeeded to Phopachy.

3. Simon, of whom nothing further is known.

He died in October, 1705, about 75 years of age, and

was succeeded by his eldest surviving son,

V. Alexander Fraser, fifth of Phopachy. He was a

man of considerable consequence in the Fraser country of

the Aird, and was one of those who in 1714 planned the

return of Lord Simon from France. In 1716 his Lordship

appointed him as one of his Chamberlains. They, how-

ever, soon afterwards quarrelled and carried on a bitter feud

to the end of their lives, between themselves or members of

their respective families, a full account of which has been

already given, and to which the reader is referred, under

Simon, thirteenth Lord Fraser. He married, with issue, at

least, two sons

—

1. Robert, his heir and successor.

2. James, the London apothecary, of whom Lord Simon

writes so contemptuously and malignantly on several

occasions. He however sends for and becomes very

friendly with him while awaiting his doom in the Tower

of London. James bought Torbreck in 1758.

It would appear that Alexander died before 1737, for on

the 9th of December in that year Lord Simon writes to

Sir James Grant of Grant a letter in which he speaks of the

head of the house then as "Young Phopachy," and of

"a brother that he has in London, an apothecary"; and in

January 1738, he writes to Ludovick Grant, a letter in
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which he describes James the apothecary, as "a brother of

Phopachy." On the 26th of May, 1739, he speaks of

Alexander as " late of Phopachy," and of his son as " this

Phopachy," and as that " young- rogue Phopachy " who
" pursues me for money after his father plundered me of my
estate, and he and his mother of my effects, with his father's

concurrence and advice "
[pp. 460-461.]

He was succeeded by his elder son,

VI. ROBERT Fraser, sixth of Phopachy, in whose time

Lord Simon so far succeeded in his determination to ruin

the family by redeeming the wadset which had remained

on the lands of Phopachy for about 130 years. They,

however, still possessed three fourths of the lands of the

Merkinch of Inverness, and continued to do so until the

beginning of the nineteenth century. On the 1st of Sep-

tember, 1743, he purchased the lands of Wester Ballifeary

from Alexander Fraser of Fairfield and, described as

"Robert Fraser of Phopachie," he is entered in 1769 as

heritor of the three quarters of the lands of Merkinch and

Newlands, in the parish of Inverness, held from the Magis-

trates of the burgh. He seems to have died unmarried, or

without male issue, for he was on his death succeeded as

representative of the family by his brother,

VII. James Fraser, the London apothecary, who had,

in 1758, during his brother's life, purchased the lands of

Torbreck and Balrobert at a judicial sale at the instance of

the creditors of John Baillie, Sheriff-Depute of Inverness.

How he and Lord Simon became reconciled will be seen on

reference to pp. 482 and 484.

James married, with issue

—

1. Alexander, his heir and successor.

2. Hugh, who for some time resided at Stoneyfield,

near Inverness, and was on that account usually styled

" Stoneyfield." He subsequently lived at Ness-side, and

married* with issue—(1) Colonel Hugh Fraser of the Bengal

Engineers, C.B., a most distinguished officer. He was

* His widow, Elizabeth, died at Ness Cottage on the 4th of September,

1861, aged 85 years.
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1

Commanding Engineer in the Burmese War in 1851-52,

when he gained his Order of the Bath by an act of con-

spicuous gallantry in capturing the White House Stockade

at Rangoon. After the capture of the Great Pagoda on the

12th of April, 1852, General Godwin, who commanded,

wrote a despatch from which the following is an extract

referring to Fraser's gallant conduct. The General says

—

" On looking on the stockade whence the fire came, I per-

ceived it was a strong work, which used to be called in the

last war the 'White House' picquet, a very strong position

and just in the way of our advance. A battery of four guns

was immediately opened on it by Majors Reid and Oakes,

the whole being under the command of Lieutenant-Colonel

Foord, Commandant of this arm. The fire of these guns

was very effective. A storming party was formed of four

companies of the 51st Light Infantry under Lieutenant-

Colonel St. Maur, with the Madras Sappers under Major

Hugh Fraser, Commanding Engineer, and advanced under

cover of a jungle ; on getting through which the musketry

was so steady and effective from the stockade and adjoining

buildings, that a great many of our party were killed and

wounded, amongst whom were several officers. I have to

deplore the temporary loss of Lieutenant-Colonel Bogle, who

was very bravely attending the army to witness its opera-

tions. Major Fraser took the ladders to the stockade most

gallantly and alone mounted the defences of the enemy,

when his example soon brought around him the storming

party, which carried the stockade, but at very severe loss on

our part." General Godwin then adds—" I beg the Most

Noble the Governor-General's consideration of the services

of Major Fraser, Commanding Engineer of the force, who
not only distinguished himself most gallantly at the White

House stockade, but whose indefatigable exertions have

never for a moment ceased." In a notification published by

the Government of India on the 28th of April, 1852, it

is stated that " the conspicuous gallantry of Major Fraser,

Commanding the Engineers, and his indefatigable exertions

since the expedition was resolved upon, more especially in
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the field, command the highest praise and the best thanks of

the Supreme Government," and again, on the ist of May
following—" Major Fraser, Commanding Engineer, has

been indefatigable in his exertions in his own department

and indeed everywhere." In his Farewell Order to the

troops, dated the 26th of August, 1854, Major-General

Godwin says—"To Major Fraser, Commanding Engineer,

the Major-General and the whole army will ever owe a deep

debt of gratitude. His labour and ability, assisted by those

of his department, have accomplished that at Rangoon and

at Prome to which the army owes its exercise, health, and

shelter," etc. For his distinguished services in this war

Major Fraser was made a Lieutenant-Colonel and a Com-
panion of the Bath. While leading his men and mounting

the ladder at the " White House," he was exposed both to

the fire of the enemy and of his own men, and one of

his young Engineer officers, Lieutenant Donaldson, was

mortally wounded, following Major Fraser so closely that his

body was actually touching him when he fell. Colonel Fraser

was chief Engineer at Agra in 1857-58 during the Indian

Mutiny and when John Russell Colvin, the Lieutenant-

Governor, died in September, 1857, Colonel Fraser was

appointed to act in his place and carry on the Government

in the North Western Provinces, with supreme civil as

well as military command. But this position proved too

much for his reduced strength. He was worn out with

so many months of day and night labour and anxiety that

his health gave way, and he died, after a short illness, on

the 1 2th of August, 1858. For his distinguished services

during the Mutiny it was decided to create him a K.C.B.,

but he died before Her Majesty's commands reached the

Governor-General of India to that effect. Colonel Hugh
Fraser, C.B., married on the 4th of November, 1850,

Florence Charlotte (eldest daughter of William Penney,

Advocate, afterwards Lord Kinloch, one of the judges of

the Court of Session in Scotland), now of the Haven,

Inverness, with issue

—

(a) Hugh, born on the 2nd of

November, 1851. He is Collector at Bijnore, in the Civil
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Service of Bengal, and married on the 28th of September,

1886, Marion, daughter of Alexander Walker of Findynard,

Perthshire, with issue—Hugh, born on the 10th of March,

1890; and Alexander Angus, born on the 14th of October,

1894. (b) Charles Arthur, born on the 6th of April, 1857,

Provost- Marshal and Commandant of Police at Nassau in

the Bahamas, West Indies, (c) Lennox Robertson, born on

the 5th of June, 1858. He was a Cooper's Hill Engineer,

Bengal, and died unmarried at Paignton, South Devon, on

the 14th of December, 1895. (d) Florence, born on the

12th of May, 1855, and died unmarried on the nth of June,

1884. (2) John, an officer in the Bengal Engineers, who
died unmarried. (3) James, drowned while bathing at the age

of 16 years. (4) Mary, who married Captain Angus Mac-

pherson of the 91st Regiment of Foot, and died in 1844, leav-

ing surviving issue

—

(a) Hugh Fraser, who died at sea on

board the ship "Victoria" on his passage home from Valpa-

raiso, in the 23rd year of his age, in 1853 ;
(b) Angus James,

who was born on the 29th of August, 183 1. (5) Eliza, who
died unmarried

; (6) Matilda, who also died unmarried
; (7)

Alexandrina, who married John Dunbar, merchant, with

issue—two sons and five daughters.

James Fraser, who died in Edinburgh on the 15th of

December, 1770,* was succeeded by his elder son,

VIII. Alexander Fraser of Torbreck, who was born

in 1744, possessed the property for many years, managed it

with great prudence, was highly respected in Inverness and

district, and lived in very good style. He kept a coach,

which from its cumbersome construction and many divisions

was known among the natives as " Noah's Ark," and as it

rolled ponderously along the road it unfailingly attracted

the attention and general admiration of the young and

rising generation. He is one of the substitutes in General

Fraser's entail in 1774.

Alexander married Theresa, daughter of Russell of Ash-

esteil, with issue

—

1. Robert, his heir and successor.

* Scots Magazine,



734 HISTORY OF THE FRASERS.

2. Jane, who married Hugh Fraser, X. of Struy, with issue,

three sons—Thomas, Robert, and Hugh, who all became

heads of that family in succession and died unmarried

;

and two daughters— Margaret Dunbar, and Catherine Wed-
derburn, both of whom also died unmarried.

3. Anne Dewar, who married Captain John Macdonald,

of Springfield, near Forres, with issue—([) James, who died

unmarried
; (2) Eliza, who also died unmarried ; and (3) Ann

Dewar Russell, who married John Thomson, banker, Inver-

ness (she now resides at Barnstaple, Devonshire, and is in her

91st year), with issue—John, who died unmarried ; Anne,

and Elizabeth, both unmarried ; and Beatrice, who, in 1868,

married Major Charles Arthur Nicolson, late of the 25th

Bengal Native Infantry, with issue—a son, Theodore

Dewar.

Alexander, who died on the 20th of March, 1821, aged

77 years, was succeeded by his son,

IX. Robert Fraser, of whom Mr Fraser-Mackintosh

says, that he " was, in most respects, the reverse of his

father." His elopement in 1807 with Lady Anne, daughter

of the eighth Earl of Lauderdale, in the style and the

manner of young Lochinvar, is well known. The same

writer adds —"The present generation has no conception of

the effects produced in Scotland by the agitation preceding

the Reform Bill (of 1832). No question could, in these

times, by any possibility involve such commotion or stir up

such feeling. Among others in the North, Torbreck became

a violent reformer, and in the great contest for the Inverness

Burghs in 1832, he stood as a candidate, and incurred great

expense." The numbers polled for the respective can-

didates in this contest were, for Colonel Baillie of Redcastle,

250 ;
John Stewart of Belladrum, 243 ; and for Robert Fraser

of Torbreck, 6*

Robert and Lady Anne built Ness Castle, afterwards

bought, beautified, and long occupied, along with the lands

on which it was erected, by Marjory Lady Saltoun. He sold

Torbreck and Balrobert in 1834.

* Antiquarian Notes, pp. 180-181.
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By Lady Anne Maitland, who died in 1829, Torbreck

had issue

—

1. Alexander Robert, of whom presently.

2. Anne, who died unmarried.

3. Eleanor, who married Colonel Lancelot Rolleston of

Watnall Hall, Notts, with issue—(1) Lancelot, born on the

19th of August, 1847, now of Watnall Hall. He married

Lady Maud, daughter of the Hon. Colonel Robert Dalzell

and sister of the Earl of Carnwath, without issue. (2)

Robert Sidney, born on the 15th of September, 1849,

Captain R.N. (3) Eleanor Anne, who married John Robert

Tennant, without issue. Mrs Rolleston died in 1894.

Robert died in London, on the 3rd of October, 1844,

when he was succeeded as representative of the family by

his only son,

X. Major-General Alexander Robert Fraser,

now residing at Bath, in his 76th year. He was in the

Madras Cavalry and retired from the service in 1874. He
married first, Catherine Wilson, eldest daughter of General

Sandys of the Madras Cavalry, with issue

—

1. Eleanor Theresa, who, on the 3rd of September, 1867,

married Sir Gilbert Augustus Clayton East, Baronet of Hall

Place, Berks, with issue—Gilbert William, born on the 7th

of May, 1869; George Frederick Lancelot, born on the 3rd

of September, 1872 ; Eleanor Alexandra, and Agnes Emma.
2. Catherine Anne, still unmarried.

General Fraser, whose first wife died at Masulipatam on

the nth of June, 1857, married secondly Fanny Mary,

daughter of Captain William Squire, 2nd Life Guards and

of Barton Place, Maidenhall, Suffolk, with issue

—

3. Alexander Robert, born in 1875.

4. Simon William, born in 1876.

5. Mabel Anne.

6. Fanny Lillian.

7. Gertrude Eleanor.



THE FRASERS OF SWORDALE.

I. Andrew Fraser, tacksman of Swordale, county of

Ross, was—according" to family tradition for generations

—

descended from the family of Struy. He was more pro-

bably from Robert Fraser, Chamberlain to the Abbot of

Fearn, a younger brother of John and Alexander, the

progenitors respectively of the Frasers of Dunballoch and

Phopachy. (See p. 717). The connection with Struy may
have been through marriage with one of the ladies of that

family. Andrew married Ann, a younger daughter of

George Robertson, Balconie, by Christian, daughter of

Hector Douglas, V. of Muldearg, by his wife, a daughter

of the Rev. Thomas Mackenzie, III. of Inverlael. By this

lady Andrew had issue

—

1. George, of Ardgay, his heir.

2. Donald, who died in India in 1803.

3. James, in Novar, born in 1757 and died unmarried.

4. Colin, born in 1760.

5. Catherine. 6. Helen.

Andrew was succeeded as representative of the family

by his eldest son,

II. George Fraser, Ardgay, who in 1772 married

Helen, daughter of Angus Sutherland, Kincardine, by his

wife Janet, daughter of William Ross, VIII. of Invercarron

and his wife Helen Ross of Braelangwell. By her he had

issue

—

1. Angus, his heir, born in 1773.

2. William, born in 1775. He was Captain in the 59th

Regiment and married in Ireland, Eliza Trimble, with issue

—a son George, who emigrated to America and died there

unmarried.

3. Andrew, born in 1779, afterwards of Flemington,

Inverness. He entered the army as Ensign in 1796, in the
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Scotch Brigade (old 94th Regiment). He served at the

Cape and in the East Indies, was transferred to the Royal

Veteran Battalion in 18 10, appointed Fort Major at Fort

George, and afterwards officiating Governor there till his

death in 1846. He married in 18 16 Annabella Campbell,

daughter of Dr James Roy, Fort-George, and his wife

Isabella, daughter of Colonel John Campbell of Melfort and

his wife, Colina Campbell of Achaladder. By this lady he

had issue—(1) Leopold Saxe-Coburg, successively Ensign

in the 70th Regiment and Captain in the Ceylon Rifles.

He was born in 18 19 and died, unmarried, at Colombo, on

the 1st of December, 1846, while Aide-de-Camp to his

grand-uncle, Lieutenant-General Sir Colin Campbell, K.C.B.,

Governor of Ceylon. (2) James George of Merlewood,

Inverness, Surgeon-Major in the Bombay Medical Service.

He was born in 1820 and on the 10th of June, 1852, mar-

ried Eliza Munro, eldest daughter of Walter Angus Bethune

of Dunrobin, Tasmania. He died in 1878 without issue.

(3) Charles Ross of Heatherley, Inverness, appointed Ensign,

30th Madras Infantry, in 1839. He commanded success-

ively the 2nd and 4th Regiments Punjaub Irregular Cavalry,

and was afterwards Adjutant of the Inverness-shire Highland

Rifle Volunteers from i860 to 1873, when he retired with

the rank of Major. He was born in 1822, and in i860

married his sister-in-law, Julia Josephine Margaret, daughter

of Walter Angus Bethune of Dunrobin, Tasmania, and

grand-daughter of the Rev. John Bethune, D.D., Dornoch,

Sutherlandshire. She died in 1868. Major Charles Ross

Fraser died in 1889, leaving issue

—

(a) Charles James Roy
Fraser, now of Merlewood, Inverness, who was born in

1863, is a B.A. of Baliol College, Oxford, and Fellow of the

Royal Geographical Society. He married on the 14th of

November, 1895, Wilhelmina Mary, daughter of the late

Hector William Pope Smith of Olrig, Hawke's Bay, New
Zealand

;
(b) Walter Andrew, born in 1866, Lieutenant

Indian Staff Corps
;

(c) Annabella Roy ; and (d) Julia Char-

lotte. Major Andrew Fraser died at Fort-George on the

20th of December, 1846.

47
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4. George, born in 1781 and died in Demerara, un-

married.

5. Janet, married William Macpherson, Tain, with issue.

6. Ann, who died in infancy.

George Fraser, Ardgay, was succeeded as representative

of the family by his eldest son,

III. ANGUS Fraser, Dornoch, born in 1773, and in

1800 married Elizabeth, daughter of William Sutherland of

Sciberscross, with issue

—

1. William Sutherland, his heir.

2. George, born in 1804, went to Grenada, and married

Emily Jane Ker, with issue—(1) John Charles Ker, born in

1841 and died unmarried in 1879; (2) Angus, born in 1842,

and married in 1874 Blanche, daughter of Dr Charsley,

Ceylon, with issue—two daughters, Blanche and Eileen
; (3)

William Leopold, born in 1848, and died in 1875 unmar-

ried
; (4) Franklyn Stuart, M.B., CM., born in 1850, and

died unmarried in 1880. George Fraser died in 1855.

3. Andrew, W.S., Sheriff-Substitute of Fort-William from

1838 to 1873. He was born in 1805, and married in 1841,

Janet, daughter of Robert Brown, of Gilston, East Lothian,

with issue— (1) Robert Brown, of Leadenhall Street,

London, born in 1850. (2) Elizabeth Sutherland, who, in

1866, married David Harris, Edinburgh, with issue

—

(a)

David Fraser, born in 1867, B.Sc, London, M.B. and

CM., of Glasgow; (b) Andrew Fraser, born in 1868; (c)

Sutherland Fraser, born in 1873 ;
{d) Robert Fraser, born

in 1878 ; and (e) Janetta Susan.

4. John, who was born in 1808, and married in 1839, Mar-

garet Marrow, with issue—(1) William Marrow, married

with issue
; (2) Angus Llewellyn, born in 1843, married

with issue; and (3) John Laughlin Munro, born in 1845,

and married, with issue. John Fraser died in 1879.

5. Rose Dempster, born in 1809, and married in 1841, in

Bermuda, Lavinia Thomson, with issue—(1) Rose Dempster,

who married Mary Lewis Masters, with issue
; (2) William

Sutherland, born in 1850, and died in 1890, unmarried; (3)

Alexander Thomson, born in 1855, and married, with issue;
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(4) Elizabeth, who in 1866 married George E. Fug), Lieu-

tenant in the Danish Navy, with issue

—

(a) Rose Dempster

Fiigl, born in 1868 ; and (b) Lizzie. Elizabeth died in 1871.

(5) Lavinia Thomson, who married Ernest Adolphus Rich-

ards, with issue
; (6) Mary Laughlin, who married Edward

Henry Innes
; (7) Susan Foster, who married W. Lewis

Masters ; and (8) Janet Hoyes, who married Abdiel William

Campbell. Rose Dempster Fraser died at Glenrose, Ber-

muda, on the 30th of August, 1895.

6. Angus, who was born in 18 14, and died in India un-

married in 1848.

7. Helen, born in 1802, and died unmarried in 1883.

8. Janet, who, born in 1806, married in 1838, Lewis

Hoyes of Grenada, and Forres, county of Moray, with

issue— (1) Lewis, S.S.C., born in 1841 and died, unmarried,

at Dornoch, in 1888
; (2) Elizabeth, who, born in 1843,

married in 1879 the late Donald Taylor, Sheriff Clerk of

Sutherlandshire.

9. Mary, born in 181 1 and married first, in 1837, Dr
John Poyntz Munro, and secondly, John Macdonell,

Grenada.

10. Christina, unmarried.

Angus Fraser, of Dornoch, who died in 1833, was suc-

ceeded as representative of the family by his eldest son,

IV. William Sutherland Fraser, born in 1801. He
was Procurator-Fiscal for the county of Sutherland from

1833 until his death, unmarried, in 1889, when he was suc-

ceeded as representative of the family by his nephew,

V. ANGUS Fraser, of Earls Court Road, London,

banker, born in 1842, and married in 1874 Blanche, daugh-

ter of Dr Charsley, principal Civil Medical Officer, Ceylon

Service, with issue

—

1. Angus Sutherland Charsley, who died in infancy.

2. Blanche Laura Charsley.

3. Eileen Christina.
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Chisholm, Captain Ruari Chisholm Gooden, marriage and issue, 625

Chisholm, Thomas, IX. of Chisholm, his marriage and issue, 44
Churchward, Rev. Charles, his marriage, 680

Claimant (Welsh) Frasers, 677-8

Clarke, Lieutenant-Colonel Cumming, his marriage and issue, 651

Clunas, John, of Neilstoun, his marriage and issue, 721

Corrichie, battle of, 105

Culbokie and Guisachan, Frasers of, 600-25

Culduthel, Frasers of, 581-94

Culloden, battle of, 433, 486-8, 515-6

Cumming, Henry Gordon, his marriage and issue, 724

Crum, Alexander, of Thornliebank, his marriage and issue, 724

Dalcross Castle, 137, 154, 513

Darnaway Castle, 105

Darwin, Francis, of Elston, and Muirtown, his marriage, 636

Dingwall Castle, 21

Dixon, Colonel Henry, his marriage, 680, and issue, 680-1

Dominus, meaning of, 48-50

Dounie Castle, 20, 214, 215, 217, 368, 413, 422, 424, 426, 427, 428, 429,

433, 443, 463, 464, 465

Drumderfit, battle of, 39-40

Duff, Huntly George Gordon, of Muirtown, his marriage and issue, 636

Dunballoch and Newton, Frasers of, 716-27

Dunrobin Castle, 342

Dunstaffhage Castle, 34

Duplin, battle of, 31, 33

Durham, battle of, 38

East, Sir Gilbert Augustus Clayton, his marriage and issue, 735

Edinburgh Castle, taking of, 37-8

Elgin Castle, 21, 35

Erchitt, Frasers of, 549-51

Erroll, William Henry, Earl of, his marriage and issue, 680

Erskine, Sir Charles, of Alva, his marriage, 719

Eskadale, Frasers of, 646-51
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Evving, Right Rev. Bishop Alexander, his marriage, 723, and de-

scendants, 723-4

Fairfield, Frasers of, 682-8

Farraline, Frasers of, 344-8

Flodden, battle of, 67, 71

Fowlis Castle, 153

Foyers, Frasers of, 689-709

Fraser Fencibles, raising of, 505-6, their services, 506-7

Fraser Highlanders, raising of, 489-90, their services, 490-5, 498-500

FRASERS, origin of, 1-31, take part in the battle of Culloden, 486-8

Fraser, Gilbert de, 3, his descendants, 3-4

Fraser, Bernard, 4, 5-6, his marriage and issue, 6

Fraser, Oliver, 3, his death, 4

Fraser, Adam, 3, his issue, 4

Fraser, Laurence, his descendants, 4
Fraser, Simon, of Keth, 4, his marriage and descendants, 5

Fraser, Sir Gilbert, of Oliver Castle, his issue, 7

Fraser, Bishop William, 7, his career, 7-8, his death and burial, 9
Fraser, Sir Simon, the Elder, 7, his career, 9-1 1, his marriages and

issue, 11

Fraser, Sir Simon, " Filius," 11, his character, 1 1-3, text of order from

Edward I. 14, at the battle of Roslin, 15-9, his banishment, 21-

2, fights at Methven, 23, his execution, 23-5, his marriage, 25,

and issue, 26-7

Fraser, Sir Andrew, of Caithness, 7, acquires property in the High-

lands, 27-8, his career, 28-9, his marriage, 29, and descendants,

30-1, his death, 32

Fraser, Sir Alexander, his career, 30-1, his death and descendants, 31

Frasers of Achnagairn, 634-7

Fraser, James, I. of Achnagairn, 627, his ancestry, 634

Fraser, James, II. of Achnagairn, his marriage, 634, and descen-

dants, 634-5

Fraser, Dr Duncan, III. of Achnagairn, 634, marriage and issue, 635

Fraser, James, IV. of Achnagairn, 635, his marriage and issue, 636

Fraser, John, V. of Achnagairn, his marriage and issue, 636

Fraser, James, VI. of Achnagairn, his marriage, 636, and descen-

dants, 636-7

Fraser, John, VII. of Achnagairn, 636, marriage and descendants, 637

Fraser, Hugh, VIII. of Achnagairn, his marriage and issue, 637

Fraser-Tytlers of Aldourie, 571-4

Fraser, William, I. of Aldourie, 552, succeeds to Balnain and acquires

Aldourie, 557, 571, his marriage, 557, 571, and descendants,

557-8, 571
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Fraser, Anne, II. of Aldourie, marries Alexander Tytler, Lord Wood-
houselee, 557, 571, her descendants, 571-2

Fraser-Tytler, James Stuart, of Woodhouselee, his marriage and
descendants, 571-2

Fraser-Tytler, Patrick, F.R.S E., his marriages and descendants, 572
Fraser-Tytler, William, III. of Aldourie, 571, his legal appointments

and marriage, 572, and descendants, 572-3

Fraser-Tytler, Colonel William, IV. of Aldourie, military services, 573
Fraser-Tytler, Charles Edward, V. of Aldourie, his marriages and

descendants, 574

Fraser-Tytler, Edward Grant, VI. of Aldourie, marriage and issue, 574

Frasers of Ardachy, 652-71

Fraser, James, I. of Ardachy, 103, his ancestry, 652

Fraser, William, II. of Ardachy, his marriage and issue, 652

Fraser, Thomas, III. of Ardachy, 652-3

Fraser, Thomas, IV. of Ardachy, his marriages and issue, 653

Fraser, William, V. of Ardachy, 653-4

Fraser, William, VI. of Ardachy, 653, his marriage and issue, 654

Fraser, Thomas, VII. of Ardachy, his marriage and issue, 654

Fraser, Thomas, VIII. of Ardachy, 654, enters into litigation, 655, his

marriage and issue, 656

Fraser, General Charles, IX. of Ardachy, 656, his military career,

656-7, redeems the family estates, 657-8, his marriage, 657, 658,

and descendants, 658-9

Fraser, General Hastings, 658, distinguished military services, 659-60

Fraser, General James Stuart, 658, 660, his military and political

services, 660-4, his marriage, 664, and descendants, 664-5

Fraser, General Hastings, C.B., 664, his distinguished military record,

666-7, his political services, 668-9, his literary works, 669-70,

his first marriage, 670, and issue, 670-1, his second marriage

and issue, 671

Frasers of Balnain, 552-63

Fraser, Hugh, I. of Balnain, 550, 551, ancestry, marriage, and issue, 552

Fraser, Alexander, II. of Balnain, his first marriage, 552, and issue,

552-3, his second marriage, 553, and descendants, 553-6

Fraser, Dr Thomas, Antigua, marriage and descendants, 553, 558-60

Fraser, Brigadier-General Simon, fatally wounded at Saratoga, 553,

his distinguished military services, 554-5, his affecting funeral,

555-6, his marriage, 556.

Fraser, Hugh, III. of Balnain, 552, his marriage, issue, and untimely

death, 556

Fraser, William, IV. of Balnain, 552, acquires the estate of Aldourie,

557, his marriage, 557, and descendants, 557-8
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Fraser, William Mackinnon, V. of Balnain, 553, 558, his marriage,

560, and descendants, 561

Fraser, Hon. Sir John, K.C.M,G., his marriage and descendants, 561

Fraser, Colonel Thomas, VI. of Balnain, 561, marriages and issue, 562

Fraser, Captain John, VII. of Balnain, military services and first mar-

riage, 562, and descendants, 562-3, his second marriage and

descendants, 563

Fraser, Captain James Wilson, VIII. of Balnain, 562, his marriage

and issue, 563

Frasers of Belladrum, 626-33

Fraser, James, I. of Belladrum, 600, ancestry, marriage, and issue, 626

Fraser, Hugh, II. of Belladrum, 151, charters in his favour, 149, 626,

his marriage, 626, and issue, 626-7

Fraser, Hugh, III. of Belladrum, 626, charters in his favour, 627, his

first marriage, 627, and descendants, 627-8, second marriage, 628

Fraser, Hugh, IV. of Belladrum, 627, 628, his marriage and issue, 629

Fraser, Hugh, V. of Belladrum, 629, marriage and descendants, 630

Fraser, James, VI, of Belladrum, 630, marriage and descendants, 631

Fraser, Colonel James, VII. of Belladrum, 631, raises a Fencible

regiment, 632, his marriage, 632, and descendants, 632-3

Fraser, James, VIII. of Belladrum, 632, his marriage, 633, 636

Frasers of Boblainy, 672-6

Fraser, William, I. of Boblainy, 652, 653, his ancestry, 672

Fraser, Thomas, II. of Boblainy, his marriage, 673, descendants, 673-4

Fraser, William, III. of Boblainy, 673, marriage, 648, 674, issue, 674
Fraser, Hugh, IV. of Boblainy, succeeds his cousin, 673, 674, his

marriage, 675, and descendants, 675-6

Fraser, Hugh, Balloch of Culloden, his marriage and issue, 675

Fraser, ex-Provost Alexander, Inverness, marriage, 675, issue, 675-6

Frasers of Brea, 521-7

Fraser, Sir James, I. of Brea, 159, his ancestry, 521, knighted by

James VI., 521, his services during the Civil War, 169, 172, 181,

183, 521-2, his management of the Lovat estates, 182, 522, he is

made Governor of Inverness Castle, 185, 521, his marriage, 522,

and descendants, 522-3, death and luneral obsequies, 185-6, 523
Fraser, Rev. James, II. of Brea, 522, his character, 523, persecution,

524-5, marriage and descendants, 525, terms of the marriage

contract, 526, estates go to his grandson, James Rose, 525-7

Frasers of Castle Leathers, 595-9

Fraser, Major James, I. of Castle Leathers, 294, selected to go in

search of Simon Lord Lovat, 295, his journey to London, 295,
thence to Calais, 296-7, arrival at Paris, 297, meets the Duke of

Perth at St. Germains, 298-9, interview with the Queen Mother

47a
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at Chillon, 299-300, his hunt for the Chevalier, 300-1, amusing

interview, 301-3, adventure with a horse, 303-5, returns to

Simon at Saumur, 305-7, their escape to France, 309-11,

Simon's unfounded suspicions of him, 31 1-3, the Major's exer-

tions on Simon's behalf, 314-6, 318-20, 321-4, he is arrested in

London, 320-1, but afterwards released, 322, adventures on the

journey from London to Culloden, 324-34, gathers the clansmen

in Stratherrick, 334-5, arrangements for taking the town of

Inverness, 335-7, captures Sir John Mackenzie's cattle, 337, his

description of Simon's attack on Phopachy, 356-7, and of the

houghing of Cuthbert of Castlehill's cattle, 359-60, Simon's

abuse of the Major, 369-71, 455-6, 457-60, the Major receives a

commission from the Duke of Cumberland, 435-6, Simon tries

to over-reach him, 439-40, the Major's ancestry, 582, 595, his

examination regarding the Balnagown estates, 596, his mar-

riage and descendants, 596, his statement regarding the Foyers

estate, 703-5

Fraser, Robert, of Kinnudie, II., his marriage and issue, 596

Fraser, Colonel James, of Kincorth, III., 596, marriage and issue, 597

Fraser, Colonel Robert, K.H., IV., his military services, 597, his

marriage and issue, 598

Fraser, Sir James, K.C.B., V., his military and police services, mar-

riage and issue, 598.

Fraser, General Robert Walter Macleod, VI., his military career,

598-9, his marriage and descendants, 599

Frasers of Culbokie and Guisachan, 600-25

Fraser, William, I. of Guisachan, 73, marriage, issue, and death, 600

Fraser, Hugh, II. of Guisachan, appears in various documents, 600-3,

his marriage, 603, and issue, 603-4

Fraser, Alexander, III. of Guisachan, 603, places himself under the

care of guardians, 604, enters into various deeds, 605, his

marriage, 605, and descendants, 605-8

Fraser, Alexander, Dochnalurg, his marriage and descendants, 606-8

Fraser-Mackintosh, Charles, 606, his public and parliamentary career,

606-7, nis literary works, 607-8, his marriage, 608

Fraser, Hugh, IV. of Guisachan, 151, 603, adds to the family estates,

149-50, 608-9, his marriage, 609, and descendants, 609-10

Fraser, Colonel Hugh, of Kinneries, plans a fort at Kingillie, 169,

obtains the barony of Kinmylies, 182, 611, his marriage, 609,

611, his military career, 611, at the siege of Inverness, 611, his

sons alienate the estate, 612

Fraser, William, V. of Guisachan, builds a fort at Kingillie, 169,

obtains the lands of Kingillie, 182, and others, 610-1, represents

Inverness-shire in Parliament, 610-1, his marriage, 612, and

descendants, 613-4
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Fraser, Hugh, VI. of Guisachan, 613, becomes involved in debt, 614,

and loses most of his lands, 614-5, marriage and issue, 615, 641

Fraser, William, VII. of Guisachan, his difficulties with the estates,

615-6, involved in the outrage on the Dowager Lady Lovat,

616-7, his marriage and issue, 617

Fraser, William, VIII. of Guisachan, redeems Knockfin and acquires

Fanellan, 617, his marriage, 617, his wife's literary and poetical

talents, 617-8, his descendants, 618-22

Fraser, William, IX. of Guisachan, 618, involved in the Rising of

1745, 617, receives a charter of Guisachan, Lurg and Bridaig,

622, his marriage and descendants, 623

Fraser, Captain Simon, takes part in the war of Independence, 618-9,

his marriage, 619, and descendants, 619-21

Fraser, William, X. of Guisachan, 623, in business in the West Indies,

624, redeems the Kyllachy estate, 624, his marriage, 624, 633,

and descendants, 624-5

Fraser, William, XI. of Guisachan, his marriage and issue, 625

Frasers of Culduthel, 581-94

Fraser, James, I. of Culduthel. 544, his ancestry, 581

Fraser, Malcolm, II. of Culduthel, his marriage, 581

Fraser, James, III. of Culduthel, marriage, 581, and descendants, 581-2

Fraser, Malcolm, IV. of Culduthel, his marriage, 582, and issue, 582-3

Fraser, Alexander, V. of Culduthel, 582, friendship with Simon Lord

Lovat, 583, letter anent cattle-lifting, 583-4, marriage, 584, issue,

584-5

Fraser, Captain Malcolm, his military career, 584-5

Fraser, Colonel Alexander, VI. of Culduthel, 584, his marriage, 586,

and descendants, 586-90

Fraser, Robert, of Brackla, his marriage and descendants, 587

Fraser, Rev. Dr Alexander, Kirkhill, marriage, 587, descendants, 587-9

Fraser, Rev. Dr Donald, London, his marriage and issue, 588

Fraser, Captain James, VII. of Culduthel, 586, marriage, 590, issue, 591

Fraser, Colonel James, VIII. of Culduthel, his marriage, 591, and
descendants, 591-2

Fraser, Colonel James, C.B., his distinguished military career, 591-2

Fraser, Philip Affleck, IX. of Culduthel, 590, sells the estate, 592, his

marriage, descendants, and death, 593
Fraser, James, X., 593, his marriage and issue, 594
Fraser, Philip Affleck, XL, his engineering works, 594, his marriage

and issue, 594

Frasers of Dunballoch and Newton, 716-27

Fraser, John, Bishop of Ross, 716

Fraser, John, progenitor of the Dunballoch family, his ancestry, 716-7,

his marriage and issue, 717
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Fraser, Donald. Archdeacon of Ross, his marriage, 717, assassinated

at Alford, 717-8, his issue, 718

Fraser, James, I. of Dunballoch, his marriages and issue, 627-8, 719
Fraser, Thomas, II. of Dunballoch and Newton, his marriage, 720,

and descendants, 720-1

Fraser, Captain Simon, of Fanellan, marriage and descendants, 720

Fraser, Hugh, III. of Newton, 720, marriage, 721, descendants, 721-2

Fraser, Alexander, of Balconie and Inchcoulter, marriage and issue, 721

Fraser, Thomas IV. of Newton, 721, 722, his marriage, 723, and

descendants, 723-6

Fraser, Hugh, V. of Newton, 723, 726

Fraser, Alexander, VI. of Newton, 723, his marriage, 726-7, and issue,

727, his trustees sell the estate, 727

Fraser, Major Evan Baillie, of Balconie and Inchcoulter, VII., 721,

his marriage and issue, 727

Fraser, Colonel Alexander Thomas, VIII., 727

Frasers of Erchitt, 549-51

Fraser, Hugh, I. of Erchitt, 544, his ancestry, marriage, and issue, 549

Fraser, Hugh, II. of Erchitt, his marriages, 549, and issue, 550

Fraser, Alexander, III. of Erchitt, his marriages and issue, 550

Fraser, Donald, IV. of Erchitt, 550, his marriage and issue, 551

Fraser, William, V. of Erchitt, his marriage, 551

Frasers of Eskadale, 646-51

Fraser, Thomas, I. of Eskadale, 151, 639, his ancestry, marriage, and

issue, 646

Fraser, Thomas, II. of Eskadale, his marriage and issue, 646

Fraser, Hugh, III. of Eskadale, 265, 646, his marriage, 647, and

descendants, 647-9

Fraser, Hugh, " Old Father Aigais," his first marriage and descen-

dants, 647-8, second and third marriages and descendants, 648-9

Fraser, Thomas, IV. of Eskadale, 647, his marriages and issue, 649

Fraser, John, V. of Eskadale, his marriage, 649

Fraser, Alexander, VI. of Eskadale, 648, marriage, 649, issue, 649-50

Fraser, Captain Hugh, VII. of Eskadale, 647, 649, his military ser-

vices, marriage, and issue, 650

Fraser, Hugh, VIII. of Eskadale, 647, his marriage, 650, and descen-

dants, 650-1

Fraser, Captain James, of Ballindown, marriage and descendants, 651

Fraser, Thomas, IX. of Eskadale, 650, his marriage and issue, 651

Frasers of Fairfield, 682-8

Fraser, Thomas Roy, I. of Fairfield, 68, 682

Fraser, Donald, II. of Fairfield, 682

Fraser, Andrew, III. of Fairfield, his ancestry, 682-3
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Fraser, Finlay, IV. of Fairfield, competes at Inverness races, i8r-2,

683, dispute about the Merkinch commonty, 683, the family

tomb, 683-4, his marriage and issue, 684

Fraser, David, V. of Fairfield, his marriage and issue, 684

Fraser, Alexander, VI. of Fairfield, 684, sells various lands, 684-5,

dispute with Simon, Lord Lovat, 373-4 685-6, his part in the

Rising of 1745, 686, his marriages and issue, 686

Fraser, Alexander, VII. of Fairfield, 686, his marriage and issue, 687

Fraser, Andrew, VIII. of Fairfield, 686, 68.7-,- sells most of the

estate, 688

Frasers of Farraline, 544-8

Fraser, Alexander, I. of Farraline, 67, ancestry, marriage, and issue, 544

Fraser, John, II. of Farraline, marriage, issue, and death, 544

Fraser, Thomas, III. of Farraline, 544, his marriage and issue, 545

Fraser, Alexander, IV. of Farraline, his marriage and issue, 545

Fraser, Thomas, V. of Farraline, his marriage and issue, 545

Fraser, Alexander, VI. of Farraline, 545, his marriage and issue, 546

Fraser, Thomas, VII. of Farraline, his marriage and issue, 546

Fraser, Alexander, VIII. of Farraline, his marriage and issue, 546

Fraser, John, IX. of Farraline, his marriage and issue, 546

Fraser, Simon, X. of Farraline, appointed Sheriff of Inverness, 546,

his distinguished services in that capacity, 546-8, his marriage,

issue, and tragic death, 548

Fraser, John, XI. of Farraline, his marriage and issue, 548

Fraser, Simon, XII. of Farraline, dies without issue, 548

Frasers of Foyers, 689-709

Fraser, Hugh, I. of Foyers, 69, 682, his marriage and issue, 689

Fraser, William, II. of Foyers, charters in his favour, 689-90, his

marriage and issue, 690, mortally wounded at Kinlochlochy, 691

Fraser, Hugh, III. of Foyers, 690, his marriage and issue, 691

Fraser, William, IV. of Foyers, 690, 691, his marriage and issue, 692

Fraser, Hugh, V. of Foyers, saves Allan of Lundie, 692, his marriage

and issue, 692

Fraser, William, VI. of Foyers, marriage, 692, and issue, 692-3

Fraser, Hugh, VII. of Foyers, 692, his marriages and issue, 693

Fraser, William, VIII. of Foyers, 219, 221, 693, obligation by Simon
Lord Lovat in his favour, 694, gives up the management of the

estate to his son Hugh, 694, but re-enters upon it on Hugh's

death, 697, enters into a mutual bond with other families in

Stratherrick, 697-9, marriage, 699, and issue, 699-700

Fraser, James, IX. of Foyers, his friendship with Simon Lord Lovat,

700-1, his connection with the Rising of 1745, 701-2, claims

upon the Government, 702-6, marriage and issue, 706

Fraser, Hugh, X. of Foyers, his marriage, 706, and descendants, 706-



750 HISTORY OF THE FRASERS.

Fraser, Rev. Alexander, of Kilmallie, romantic courtship and mar-

riage, 706-7, his descendants, 708

Fraser, Simon, XI. of Foyers, 706, dispute with Colonel Archibald

Fraser of Lovat, 708-9, his marriage and issue, 709

Frasers of Gortuleg, 575-80

Fraser, John, I. of Gortuleg, 545, his marriage and issue, 575
Fraser, Thomas, II. of Gortuleg, 488, his marriage, 575
Fraser, Thomas, III. of Gortuleg, 575, his marriage and issue, 576

Fraser, James, W.S., IV. of Gortuleg, his marriage, 576, and descen-

dants, 576-9, his accidental death, 579
Fraser, Thomas, V. of Gortuleg, 576, 579
Fraser, James Bristow, W.S., VI. of Gortuleg, 576, 579
Fraser, James, VII., 576, his marriage, 579, and descendants, 579-80

Fraser, Edward Cleather, VIII., 579, his marriage and issue, 580

Frasers of Guisachan (See Frasers of Culbokie and Guisachan).

Frasers of Inverallochy, 512-20

Fraser, Sir Simon, I. of Inverallochy, 147, 150, 159, ancestry, 512,

his father grants a charter in his favour, 512, knighted by

James VI., 513, his marriage and issue, 513, his death and

burial, 155, 513

Fraser, Simon, II. of Inverallochy, 513, marriage and issue, 514

Fraser, Simon, III. of Inverallochy, his marriage and issue, 514

Fraser, Alexander, IV. of Inverallochy, 514

Fraser, William, V. of Inverallochy, marriage, 514, issue, 514-5

Fraser, William, VI. of Inverallochy, 514, succeeds to Castle Fraser, 5 1

5

Fraser, Charles, VII. of Inverallochy, 514, his intimacy with Simon

Lord Lovat, 371-2, 515, his marriage, 515, and issue, 515-6

Fraser, Charles, younger of Inverallochy, commands the Fraser

Regiment at Culloden, 486, 515, and is wounded and cruelly

murdered there, 515-6

Fraser, William, VIII. of Inverallochy, 516, assumes the name of

Udney of Udney, 517

Fraser, Martha, IX. of Inverallochy, 516, marriage, 516, 517, issue, 517

Mackenzie-Fraser, Lieutenant-General Alexander, X. of Inverallochy,

517, his political career, marriage and descendants, 518

Mackenzie-Fraser, Colonel Charles, XI. of Inverallochy, succeeds to

Castle Fraser, 517, 518, his military and political services, and

marriage, 518, and descendants, 518-9

Mackenzie-Fraser, Lieutenant-Colonel Frederick, XII. of Inverallochy,

his marriages, 519-20

Frasers of Leadclune, 564-70

Fraser, Hugh, I. of Leadclune, 552, ancestry, marriage, and issue, 564

Fraser, Alexander, II. of Leadclune, marriage, 564, and issue, 565
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Fraser, Hugh, III. of Leadclune, takes part in the Risings of 1715 and

1745, 565, his marriage, issue, and death, 565, inscription on his

tomb, 566

Fraser, Captain Thomas, IV. of Leadclune, marriage and issue, 566

Fraser, Sir William, first Baronet, his naval services, 567, his marriage

567, and descendants, 567-8

Fraser, Sir William, second Baronet, V. of Leadclune, 567, 568

Fraser, Sir James John, third Baronet, VI. of Leadclune, 567, his

military services, 568-9, marriage, 569, and descendants, 569-70

Fraser, Lieutenant-General James Keith, his distinguished military

career, 569, his marriage and issue, 570

Fraser, Sir William Augustus, fourth Baronet, VII. of Leadclune, 570

Frasers of Lovat, 32-511

Fraser, Simon, I. of Lovat, 30, 32, at the battles of Bannockburn and

Duplin, 33, 34, killed at Halidonhill, 33, receives grants of

lands in the Highlands, 34-5, marriage andissue, 36

Fraser, Simon, II. of Lovat, 36, fights at Perth, 36-7, at the taking of

Edinburgh Castle, 37-8, his death, 38

Fraser, Hugh, III. of Lovat, 36, 38, at the battle of Urumderfit, 3940,
at the battle of Bealach-nam-Brog, 40, at Blar-nan-Sgallag, 41,

his character, 43-4, 45, his marriage and descendants, 44, his

death and burial, 45

Fraser, Alexander, IV. of Lovat, 44, his character, 45, siege of Lovat

Castle, 46, his death, 47

Fraser, Lord Hugh, V. of Lovat, 44, terms of his marriage settlement,

47-8, order of precedence, 50-1, contract of marriage on behalf

of unborn children, 51-2, his actings, 52-3, his marriage, 47, 53,

and descendants, 53-4, his death, 54

Fraser, Thomas, Lord Fraser, VI. of Lovat, 53, 54, his death, 55

Fraser, Hugh, second Lord Fraser, VII. of Lovat, 53, 54, 55, ap-

pointed High Sheriff of Inverness, 56-7, charters in his favour,

57, his marriage, descendants, and death, 57
Fraser, Hugh, third Lord Fraser, VIII. of Lovat, 57, feud with Mac-

donald of the Isles, 58, made a peer of Parliament, 58-9, 60-4,

charters in his favour, 59-60, improves the estate, 64, at the

second battle of Bannockburn, 64-5, proposed union with the

Huntly family, 65-6, text of agreement, 66, his marriage, 66,

and descendants, 66-9, his death and burial, 69

Fraser, Thomas, fourth Lord Fraser, IX. of Lovat, 66, charters in his

favour, 69-71, 72, supports the Duke of Albany, 71, improves

the family seat, 72, first marriage, 73, descendants, 73-5, second
marriage, 74, descendants, 74-5, death and burial, 75

Fraser, James, of Phoineas, his marriage and issue, 7^
Fraser, Hugh, fifth Lord Fraser, X. of Lovat, 7% 75, charters in his
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favour, 76-8, fortifies the Castle of Lovat, 78, at Blar-nan-leine,

81-98, character, 98, first marriage, 98, and issue, 98-9, second

marriage, 99, and descendants, 99-100

Fraser, Alexander, sixth Lord Fraser, XI. of Lovat, 99, 100, charters

in his favour, 101-2, lawsuit with his mother, 102-3, his mar-

riage and death, 103, his issue, 103-4

Fraser, Hugh, seventh Lord Fraser, XII. of Lovat, 103, 104-5, visits

Edinburgh, 106, encourages archery, and athletics, 107, 113-4,

1 16-7, acquires various lands, 108-12, dispute with MacAngus of

Glengarry, 114, death and funeral, 117-8, marriage, 118, de-

scendants, 1 18-9, infamous character of his widow, 1 19-21

Fraser, Simon, eighth Lord Fraser, XIII. of Lovat, 118, 119, affairs

during his minority, 1 19-31, misbehaviour at college, 129,

appointed Commissioner for the Earl of Atholl, 132-4, obtains

high favour with James VI., 135, refuses the Earldom of Atholl,

135-6, disturbances with the Macleods of Raasay, 137-40, chosen

as ecclesiastical High Commissioner, 143-6, preserves the

family of Philorth, 148, bis character, 156-8, his first marriage

and issue, 158, his second marriage, 158, and issue, 159, his

third marriage, 159, his death and funeral, 159-60

Fraser, Hugh, ninth Lord Fraser, XIV. of Lovat, 158, 161, his

melancholy temperament, 161, 167, death of his eldest son,

162-4, rejoicings at the marriage of his second son, 164-6, his

second son's untimely death, 166-7, Lovat's cruelty to his ser-

vant, 175-6, his leavetaking of his family, 176-7, his character,

177, his marriage, 147, 177, and descendants, 178-9

Fraser, Hugh, tenth Lord Fraser, XV. of Lovat, 178, 179, competes

at Inverness races, 191-2, visits England, 192-4, interview with

Charles II., 193, his character, 196-7, 200-1, he goes abroad,

197, his last days, 197-200, his death 200, and funeral, 201-2,

his unhappy marriage, 190, 196, 202, his descendants, 202-3

Fraser, Hugh, eleventh Lord Fraser, XVI. of Lovat, 202, 203, his

education and early years, 204-5, his connection with Viscount

Dundee, 206-10, presented to the King, 210, his unfortunate

marriage, 205, 206, 212, his descendants, 212

Fraser, Thomas, twelfth Lord Fraser, XVII. of Lovat, 178, his

assumption of the title, 212, disputes with the Atholl family,

213-42, his death, 242, 246, inscription on his tombstone, 243,

his marriage, 243, and issue, 243-6

Fraser, Simon, thirteenth Lord Fraser, XVIII. of Lovat, 178, in-

trigues with the Atholl family, 207-9, visits London with his

brother, 211, his attempted abduction of the Lovat heiress,

213-5, captures Lords Saltoun and Mungo Murray, 215-8, his

treatment of the Dowager Lady Lovat, 218-22, and its results,

222-32, his trial, 232-7, the evidence, 237-41, verdict and sen-
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tence, 241-2, pardoned by the King, 247-9, charges the Marquis

of Atholl with falsely accusing him, 250- r, letters of fire and

sword granted against him, 252-3, binds his leading clansmen

to be loyal to him, 253-4, goes abroad, 255, obtains the favour

of Louis XIV. of France, 256, intrigues with the French Court,

256-61, returns to Scotland, 261, narrow escape at Northallerton,

261-4, his brother John's doings during his absence, 264-6, the

"Scottish Plot," 268-76, Simon goes abroad again, 275, his

intrigues betrayed, 277-82, 293-4, his perilous wanderings in

France and Holland, 283, arrest and imprisonment in France,

285, his letter to the Queen Dowager at St. Germains, 285-6,

description of his imprisonment, 287-90, the Lovat heiress and

estates during his absence, 290-3, a search for him organised,

294, Major Fraser of Castle Leathers deputed to go in search

of him, 295, description of the Major's journey, 295-7, his recep-

tion in France, 298-9, interview with the Queen Dowager,

299-300, his hunt for the Chevalier, 300-1, amusing interview,

301-3, adventure with a horse, 303-5, returns to Simon at

Saumur, 305-7, their escape from France, 309-11, Simon's un-

founded suspicions of the Major, 31 1-3, his correspondence

with Brigadier-General Grant, and the Earl of Sutherland,

314-6, an address presented to the King in his favour, 316-2.0,

arrested, along with his brother and Major Fraser, in London,

320-1, suborns the Frasers in the 3rd Regiment of Guards, 321,

letters to the Earl of Sutherland, 321-2, Simon is set at liberty,

322, but cannot get out of London, 322-3, at length manages to

escape, 324, adventures at Newcastle and Dumfries, 325-7,

created a free burgess of Lanark, 327, makes his peace with

the Duke of Argyll, 327-8, arrested, but immediately released

again, at Edinburgh, 329, takes ship for the north, 329, adven-

tures on the voyage, 329-30, narrow escape at Fraserburgh,

330-2, takes horse for Banff, 332, adventure at Rothiemay,

332-3, entertained at Ballindalloch and Kilravock, 333, and at

Culloden House, 334, arrangements for taking the town, of

Inverness, 3357, the town surrenders, 337-8, description of the

siege from the Kilravock Papers, 338-9, another account,

339-40, description in The Sutherland Book, 340-1, Simon's own
description of the affair, 341-2, bond of friendship with Lord
Strathnaver, 344, Simon pardoned by the King, 344-5, corres-

pondence with the Earl of Sutherland and Lord Strathnaver,

345-6, appointed Governor of Inverness, 346, how he requited

his friends, 346-7, 522-3, a duel arranged between him and Sir

William Gordon, 348, it is prevented by armed interference,

349, Simon obtains the life-rent escheat of Fraserdale, 349-50,
his endeavours to obtain full possession, 350-1, lawsuits with his

48
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creditors, 351, 355-6, letter to the Clan Fraser. 351-3, intrigues

against the Government, 353-4, attack on Fraser of Phopachy,

356-9, and on Cuthbert of CastlehilPs cattle, 359-60, Simon's

claim to the Lovat title, 360-2, correspondence with John

Forbes of Culloden, 362-3, appointed Sheriff of Inverness, 363,

extraordinary letter to his Edinburgh agent, 363-4, his quarrel

with Phopachy, 365, the abduction of Lady Grange, 365-6,

Simon obtains the lands of Abertarff, 367, erects an extra-

ordinary memorial to his father, 367-8, intrigues with Prince

Charles, 368, letter to the Earl of Islay, 368-70, the Earl

charges him with being a Jacobite, 370, letter to Charles Fraser

of Inverallochy, 371-2, 373-4, Simon takes part in a Parlia-

mentary election, 372-3, definitely takes sides with Prince

Charles, 374, personal encounter with Lord Fortrose, 375-7,

double-faced correspondence with Lord President Forbes,

Lochiel, Cluny, Prince Charles Edward, and others, 377-412,

414-6, Lord Loudon induces him to go to Inverness, 412-3, but

he escapes, 414, correspondence with the Master of Lovat,

416-21, evidence of his intrigues, 421-31, his meeting with

Prince Charles Edward at Gortuleg House, 431-2, meeting of

Jacobite leaders after Culloden, 433-4, Simon's wanderings and

capture after the battle, 434-5, his journey as a prisoner to

London, 436, meeting with Hogarth, 436, his impeachment and

trial, 436-8, found guilty and sentenced to death, 438-9, his

conduct towards his first wife, 439-41, his advances to Miss

Marion Dalrymple, 441-2, his cruelty to, and abuse of, his

second wife, 443-52, her true character, 453, Simon's abuse of

his friends, 454-63, his domestic habits and manner of life,

463-5, convivial meeting with Erskine of Grange, 465-7, Simon's

character described by a contemporary, 468-70, his demeanour

after his sentence and at his execution, 470-83, his first mar-

riage, 484, and issue, 485, his second marriage, 442-3, 485-6,

and issue, 4S6,

Fraser, General Simon, XIX. of Lovat, joins Prince Charles Edward,

383, 384, 388, 421, at the request of his father, 386, who denies it

to Lord-President Forbes, 388-90, 393, 395-7, 398-9, 400, 409-10,

and to Lord Loudon, 41 1-2, but writes to Prince Charles in-

forming him of the fact, 405-6, and also to Lochiel and others,

406-9 ; correspondence between General Fraser and his father

during the 'Forty-five, 416-21, evidence given at his father's

trial as to the circumstances of his joining Prince Charles,

421-31, his part in the Rising, 486-7, imprisoned in Edinburgh

Castle, but afterwards released, and ultimately pardoned, 488-9,

the estates annexed to the Crown, 488-9, General Fraser raises a

regiment for the Government, 489-90, his military services in
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Canada, 4905, elected M.P. for Inverness-shire, 495, and

restored to the family estates, 495-6, executes an entail, 496-7,

raises two more battalions, 497-9, is one of the originators of the

Highland Society of London, 500, seconds the motion for the

repeal of the Act prohibiting the wearing of the Highland

dress, 500-1, his marriage and death, 501

Fraser, Colonel the Hon. Archibald Campbell, XX. of Lovat, 486,

501, narrowly escapes capture at Culloden, 502, his public

services, 502-3, elected M.P. for Inverness-shire, 503, acquires

the estate of Abertarff, 503, and executes several deeds of

entail, 503-5, raising of the Fraser Fencibles, 505-6, Colonel

Fraser's character, 507-8, his marriage, 508, and descendants,

508-9, his death, 509

Fraser, Archibald Thomas Frederick, of Abertarff, 505, his marriage

and issue, 508

Fraser, Thomas Alexander, Lord Lovat, XXL, succeeds to the

estates under the entail, 509, created a peer, 509, his marriage

and descendants, 510

Fraser, Simon, Lord Lovat, XXII., 510, marriage and descendants, 511

Fraser, Simon Joseph, Lord Lovat, XXIII., disentails the estates, 511

Frasers of Newton (See Frasers of Dunballoch and Newton)

Frasers of Phopachy and Torbreck, 728-35

Fraser, James, I. of Phopachy, his ancestry, 717, 728, sent to Falkirk

by Lord Lovat, 137, 140, 728, his marriage and issue, 639, 728

Fraser, James, II. of Phopachy, his marriage and issue, 728

Fraser, Dr William, III. of Phopachy, 728, marriage and issue, 729

Fraser, Rev. James, IV. of Phopachy, his marriage and issue, 729

Fraser, Alexander, V. of Phopachy, disputes with Simon Lord Lovat,

355-6, 365, 458-63, 729, his house attacked, 356-9, his marriage

and issue, 729

Fraser, Robert, VI. of Phopachy, 729, purchases lands near Inverness,

73o

Fraser, James, VII., becomes reconciled to Lord Lovat, 482, 484, 729,

his marriage, 730, and descendants, 730-3

Fraser, Hugh, of Stoneyfield, marriage, 730, and descendants, 730-3

Fraser, Colonel Hugh, his gallant conduct in Burmah, 731-2, his

distinguished military and departmental career, 732, his

marriage, 732, and descendants, 732-3

Fraser, Alexander, of Torbreck, VIII., 730, his marriage, 733, and
descendants, 733-4

Fraser, Robert, IX., 7^ h' s elopement, 734, his descendants, 735
Fraser, General Alexander Robert, X., marriage and descendants, 735

Frasers of Reelick;, 710-5

Fraser, Hugh, I. of Reelick, 75, his ancestry, 710
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Fraser, Thomas, II. of Reelick, his marriage and issue, 710

Fraser, Thomas, III. of Reelick, his marriage and issue, 710

Fraser, Alexander, IV. of Reelick, his marriage and issue, 710

Fraser, Alexander, V. of Reelick, his marriage and issue, 710

Fraser, Alexander, VI. of Reelick, 710

Fraser, Alexander, VII. of Reelick, marriage, 710, and issue, 710-1

Fraser, James, VIII. of Reelick, 710, his marriage and issue, 711

Fraser, Alexander, IX. of Reelick, his marriage and issue, 71

1

Fraser, Alexander, X. of Reelick, his marriage and issue, 711

Fraser, James, XI. of Reelick, 711, his marriage and issue, 712

Fraser, Edward Satchwell, XII. of Reelick, his marriage, 712, and

descendants, 712-3

Fraser, James Baillie, XIII. of Reelick, 712, his travels, 713, and

literary works, 713-4, his marriage, 714

Fraser, Jane Fraser-Tytler, XIV. of Reelick, marriage, 714, death, 715

Fraser, Jane Anne Catherine, XV. of Reelick, her marriage and issue,

713,715

Fraser, Philip Affleck, XVI. of Reelick, his engineering works, 594,

marriage and issue, 594, 715

Frasers of Strichen, 528-43

Fraser, Thomas, I. of Knockie and Strichen, 103, his ancestry, 528,

dispute as to the Tutorship of Lovat, 121-3, 528, his manage-

ment of the Lovat estates, 123-33, 528-9, how he acquired

Strichen, 529-33, charters in his favour, 533, his marriage, 530,

and descendants, 533-4

Fraser, Thomas, II. of Strichen, 533, his marriage contract, 534-5,

writs in his favour, 535, appointed Sheriff of Inverness, 535-6,

his marriages and issue, 536

Fraser, Thomas, III. of Strichen, 536, his marriage contract and other

writs, 536-7, his services during the Civil War, 521, 537-8, his

marriage and issue, 538

Fraser, Thomas, IV. of Strichen, his marriage and issue, 538

Fraser, Alexander, V. of Strichen, 538, his marriages and issue, 539

Fraser, James, VI. of Strichen, 539

Fraser, Alexander, VII. of Strichen, his appointments, 539, his career

as a judge, 540, improvements on the estate, 540-1, his marriage

and issue, 541

Fraser, Alexander, VIII. of Strichen, 541, entertains Dr Johnson and

Boswell, 542, his marriage and issue, 542

Fraser, Alexander, IX. of Strichen, 542, marriage and issue, 543

Fraser, Thomas Alexander, Lord Lovat, X. of Strichen, succeeds to the

Lovat estates under the entail, 509, 543, created a peer, 509,

543, his marriage and descendants, 510

Frasers of Struy, 638-45

-\
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Fraser, Andrew, I. of Stray, 99, Tutor to Lord Lovat, 104-7, 638,

dispute with Thomas Fraser of Knockie, 12 1-3, 638, marriage

contract, 638-9, his issue, 639

Fraser, Hugh, II. of Stray, 151, his marriage and issue, 639

Fraser, Thomas, III. of Stray, 639, his marriage and issue, 640

Fraser, Hugh, IV. of Stray, his marriage, 640, and issue, 640-1

Fraser, John, V. of Stray, 640, 641

Fraser, Thomas, VI. of Stray, 640, his relations with Simon Lord

Lovat, 641, his marriage and issue, 641

Fraser, Hugh, VII. of Stray, 641, forfeited for treason, 641-2 his

marriage, 642, and descendants, 642-3

Fraser, John, " Ian MacThomais," marriage, 642, descendants, 642-3

Fraser, Thomas, VIII. of Stray, 642, his marriage and issue, 643

Fraser, Alexander, IX. of Stray, 643-4

Fraser, Hugh, X. of Stray, 643, marriage and issue, 644, 734

Fraser, Thomas, XL of Stray, 644

Fraser, Robert, XII. of Stray, 644

Fraser, Hugh, XIII. of Stray, 644

Fraser, William, present heir-male of Stray, 642, 643, 645

Frasers of Swordale, 736-9

Fraser, Andrew, I., his ancestry, 717, 736, marriage and issue, 736

Fraser, George, Ardgay, II., marriage, 736, descendants, 736-8

Fraser, Andrew, of Flemington, his military career, 736-7, marriage

and descendants, 737

Fraser, Major Charles Ross, of Heatherley, his military career, mar-

riage, and issue, 737

Fraser, Charles James Roy, of Merlewood, his marriage, 737

Fraser, Angus, Dornoch, III., 736, marriage, 738, descendants, 738-9

Fraser, William Sutherland, IV., 738, 739
Fraser, Angus, V., his marriage and issue, 739

Frasers of Torbreck (See Frasers of Phopachy and Torbreck.)

Frasers, Welsh (Claimant), 677-8

Fraser, Alexander, Master of Lovat, I., 243, kills a piper at Heauly

and escapes to Wales, 243-4, 677, marriage and issue, 677
Fraser, John, II., his marriage, 677-8, and issue, 678

Fraser, John, III., his marriage and issue, 678

Fraser, John, IV., his marriage and issue, 67S

Fraser, John, V., the Lovat Claimant, 244, marriage and issue, 67S

Frasers, Welsh-Nova-Scotian, 679-81

Fraser, Alexander, I., 677, his marriage and issue, 679
Fraser, Hon. James, II., emigrates to Nova-Scotia, 679, his marriage,

679, and descendants, 679-81

Fraser, Benjamin de Wolfe, his marriage} 679, descendants, 679-80
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Fraser, James de Wolfe, III., 679, marriage and descendants, 681

Gordon Castle, 718

Gordon, William Alexander Grant, marriage and issue, 637
Gore, General Sir Charles, marriage and descendants, 680

Gortuleg, Frasers of, 575-80

Glenelg, Charles Grant, Lord, 558, his death, 559
Glenlivet, battle of, 530

Grange, Lady, abduction of, 365-6

Grant, Major Alpin, Borlum, his marriage, 720, and issue, 721

Grant, Charles, M.P., his marriage, 558, and descendants, 558-9

Grant, James, of Shewglie and Redcastle, his marriage and issue, 720

Grant, Colonel James Augustus, C.B., his marriage and issue, 586

Grant, John Mor, I. of Glenmoriston, his marriages, 75, 600

Grant, Rev. John, Roseneath, his marriage and issue, 589

Grant, Field-Marshal Sir Patrick, his first marriage and issue, 573

Grant, Patrick, IV. of Glenmoriston, marriage, 609, and issue, 609-10

Grant, Patrick, of Redcastle, his marriage and descendants, 559

Grant, Sir Robert, Governor of Bombay, his marriage and descen-

dants, 559

Grove, John, Fern House, his marriage and issue, 568

Guisachan and Culbokie, Frasers of, 600-25

Halidonhill, battle of, 31, 33, 36

Harlaw, battle of, 47

Heath, Josia, his marriage and issue, 659

Holder, Captain Henry Lome, his marriage and issue, 665

Howard, Sir Ralph, Bart., his marriage, 570

Innes, Sir Walter, of Innes, his marriage, 54

Inshoch Castle, 596

Inverallochy, Frasers of, 512-20

Invergarry Castle, 432

Inverlochy, battle of, 172, 550

Inverness, taking of, 337-42

Inverness Castle, 21, 58, 104, 105, 112, 154, 168, 169, 181, 185, 333,

338, 521, 537

Inverness Citadel, 189, 191

Inverurie, battle of, 32, 34

James III., death of, 64-5

Keane, Colonel Hugh Edward, marriage and issue, 568

Keth, Church of, 5

Kildrummie Castle, 20

Kilravock Castle, 105, 333

Landreth, William, his marriage and issue, 722

Leadclune, Frasers of, 564-70



INDEX. 759

Leslie, William, IV. Baron of Balquhain, marriage and descendants, 54

Liddell, Rev. Edward Thomas, his marriage, 574

Lovat, Fort or Castle of, 21, 35, 46, 5 8 , 69, 78, 169, 181, 185

Lovat, Frasers of, 32-5 1

1

Lovibond, Alfred Horace, his marriage and issue, 588

Mamsha, battle of, 58

Maxwell, Hon. Bernard Constable, his marriage and issue, 511

Melrose Abbey, 9

Middleton, Charles, of Middleton Lodge, marriage and issue, 637

Morison, Rev. Roderick, Kintail, marriage, 589, descendants, 589-90

Mostyn, Sir Pyers, Bart, of Talacre, marriage and issue, 510

Murray, Charles Robert Scott, of Danesfield, marriage and issue, 510

MacCallum, James, Braco Castle, marriage and issue, 574

Macdonald, Allan, of the Leys, marriage and issue, 100

Macdonald, Allan, IV. of Clanranald, marriage and issue, 74, 79

Macdonald, Captain John, of Springfield, his marriage and descen-

dants, 734
Macdonell, ^Fneas Ranald, VI. of Scotus, marriage and issue, 623

Macdonell, Alastair Dubh, XI. of Glengarry, marriage and issue, 203

Mackenzie, Alexander, III. of Applecross, marriage and issue, 628, 629

Mackenzie, Alexander, I. of Ballone, marriage and descendants, 613

Mackenzie, Alexander, of Fraserdale, marries the Lovat heiress, 290,

his father executes a deed of entail in his favour, 291-3, Simon

Lord Lovat obtains his liferent escheat, 349-50, lawsuits with

Simon, 350-1, his heir renounces the succession, 361-4

Mackenzie, Alexander, V. of Kernsary, marriage and issue, 590

Mackenzie, Colin, VI. of Kilcoy, marriage, 516, 517, descendants, 517-20

Mackenzie, Sir Colin, VIII. of Kilcoy, claims the earldom of Buchan

and barony of Auchterhouse, 520

Mackenzie, Colin, I. of Mountgerald, second marriage and issue, 635

Mackenzie, Major Colin, IV. of Mountgerald, marriage and issue, 633
Mackenzie, Duncan, I. of Sand, his marriage and issue, 626

Mackenzie, John, II. of Applecross, marriage and descendants, 628

Mackenzie, Sir John, of Coul, Governor of Inverness Castle, 323, 335,

337, 338, 339, 34o, 34i

Mackenzie, John Glassich, II. of Gairloch, his marriage, 7^
Mackenzie, Captain John, II. of Ord, marriage and issue, 614

Mackenzie, Major-General John Robert, his marriage, 725

Mackenzie, Sir Kenneth a' Bhlair, VII. of Kintail, his strange court-

ship and marriage, 67-8

Mackenzie, Murdoch, VI. of Fairburn, his marriage and issue, 614
Mackenzie, Rev. Dr Peter, Ferintosh, his marriage, 586

Mackenzie, Roderick, V. of Davochmaluag, marriage and issue, 628

Mackenzie, Sir Roderick, of Findon, marriage and issue, 613
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Mackenzie, Simon, I. of Allangrange, his second marriage, 641

Mackenzie, Hon. Simon, of Lochslinn, marriage, 613, and issue, 614
Mackintosh, John, of Firhall, his marriage and issue, 587
Mackintosh, Lachlan, VIII. of Mackintosh, marriage and issue, 44
Mackintosh, William, of Kyllachy, his ancestry, 544 (n)

Macleod, Norman, XVIII. of Dunvegan and Harris, his marriage and
issue, 212

Macleod, William, IX. of Macleod, his marriage and issue, 99
Macpherson, Colonel Allan, of Blairgowrie, his marriage and descen-

dants, 687

Macraes in the Aird, 21, 56

Ness Castle, 734
Newton and Dunballoch, Frasers of, 716-27

Nicholson, Major Charles Arthur, his marriage and issue, 734
Nova-Scotian Frasers, 679-81

Ogilvie, Thomas of Corriemony, his marriage and issue, 573
Oliver Castle, 3, 4, 5, 10, 25, 42

Park, battle of, 60

Parker, Home John, his marriage and issue, 624-5

Peers of Parliament, mode of making, 61-2

Phopachy and Torbreck, Frasers of, 728-35

Quebec, siege of, 491-2

Reelick, Frasers of, 710-5

Rich, General George Whitworth Talbot, his marriage, 680

Robinson, Rev. Charles Kirkb}', his marriage and issue, 724

Rolleston, Colonel Lancelot, of Watnall Hall, marriage and issue, 735

Rose, Arthur, brother to Kilravock, his tragic end at Inverness, 2>37i

338, 339, 34i

Rose, Hugh, XII. of Kilravock, marriage and issue, 534

Rose, Hugh, XV. Baron of Kilravock, second marriage and issue, 525

Rose, Lieutenant-General Sir John, of Holme Rose, his marriage

and issue, 592

Rose, John, Leanach, his marriage, 675

Roslin, battle of, 13, 15-9

Ross of Oakbank, marriage and descendants, 722

Ross, Alexander, of Nether Pitkerrie, his marriage, 635

Ross, Andrew, IV. of Pitkerrie, his marriage, 635

Ross, David, XII. of Balnagown, his marriage and issue, 179

Ross, Hugh, IV. of Little Tarrell, his marriage and issue, 627

Sandeman, David George, his marriage and descendants, 722

Saratoga, battle of, 554-5

Sausse, Sir Matthew, his marriage, 510

Scott, Sir Walter, of Abbotsford, his marriage, 659
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Shakespear, General Charles Maxton, his marriage, 665

Sim, James Duncan, C.S.I., his marriage, 664, and descendants, 664-5

" Sliochd Ian Mhic Alastair," 67, 544-8

Sloan, Eupham, 3

Spynie Castle, 105

Standen, James Montressor, his marriage and issue, 568

Stewart, Henry, of St. Fort, his marriage and issue, 592

Stewart, Major Ludovick, of Pityvaich, his marriage, 723, and descen-

dants, 723-4

Stirling Castle, ^7

Strichen, Frasers of, 528-43

Struy, Frasers of, 638-45

Stuart Castle, 155, 513

Suther, Rev. Dr., Bishop of Aberdeen, his marriage, 681

Swinburne, Captain Thomas Anthony, R.N., marriage and issue, 577

Swordale, Frasers of, 736-9

Taylor, Rev. Canon Joseph Henry, his marriage and issue, 568

Thomas, Harry Dewdney, M.A., marriage and issue, 563

Tomlinson, Right Rev. George, Bishop of Gibraltar, his second mar-

riage and issue, 519

Torbreck and Phopachy, Frasers of, 728-35

Tytler, James, of Woodhouselee, his marriage and descendants, 571-2

Urquhart Castle, 20

Welsh (Claimant) Frasers, 677-8

Welsh-Nova-Scotian Frasers, 679-81

Whitaker, William Ingham, of Pylewell Park, marriage and issue, 724

White, Montague James, his marriage and issue, 593
Willink, Rev. John Wakefield, his marriage and issue, 665

Wilson, Rev. James, Norwich, his marriage and issue, 725

Wilson, Rev. William, Stoke-Bruerne, marriage and issue, 724-5

Wolfe, General, refuses to kill a wounded Highland officer at Cul-

loden, 516

Worcester, battle of, 1S8



OTHER WORKS BY THE SAME AUTHOR,
. . . PUBLISHED BY . . .

A. & W. MACKENZIE, 47 High Street, Inverness.

RECENTLY PUBLISHED.

A NEW EDITION, IMPROVED AND MUCH ENLARGED,
OF THE

HISTORY OF THE MAGKENZIES,
By ALEXANDER MACKENZIE, MJ.I.

The Volume contains several new Family Genealogies and extends to 648 pages as

against 463 in the First Edition, which has for years been out of print and selling at a
high premium when occasionally picked up second-hand.

Demy 8vo., handsomely bound £15
Demy 4to., large paper (only a few copies remaining) £2 2

OPINIONS OF THE PRESS :—
" This second edition of the History of his clan will be Mr Mackenzie's chef d'ceuvre,

his masterpiece as a clan historian. He has very evidently left nothing undone, no stone

unturned in order to make the work as exhaustive and complete as possible."—Bev.

Alexander Stewabt, LL.D., "Nether-Lochaber."

" The volume is one which shows on the part of the author immense industry and
great research. The manner in which this handsome book has been produced by the

publishers leaves nothing to be desired."—Scotsman.

" This is not so much a new edition as a new book, containing, as it does, 200 pages

more than the first issue. Mr Mackenzie has, in fact, almost entirely re-written the

history of his clan, which he now presents to the public with a not unjustified confidence

in its completeness as a family history. The book certainly bears traces of laborious

industry and wide research. . . . Few Highland families, indeed, have had their

ramifications followed out with the patience and exhaustiveness that are here displayed

by Mr Mackenzie."—Glasgow Herald.

" The work exhibits great industry, and is undoubtedly a valuable contribution to the

history of the Highlands. The clan is fortunate in having such a diligent, able, and con-

scientious historian. The volume contains a portrait of Mr Mackenzie and a beautifully

executed example of the clan tartan. It can be highly recommended as an excellent clan

history. "

—

Inverness Courier.

"So much altered, improved, and extended that it is almost like an original

work. . . . The genealogies and histories not only of the Seaforth, Gairloch,

Oromartie, and other leading families, but also many of the subordinate houses of the

surname are given in this book with great fulness and great accuracy. Mackenzies with

clannish feelings will find it a genuine mine of information, and it has considerable in-

terest too, from other points of view, for students of general history, "—Northern Chronicle.

" This massive and handsome volume is worthy in every respect of the powerful

Highland clan whose changeful fortunes it traces with such care and fidelity. Many
admirable features are introduced and the story of the clan is told with historical

accuracy and literary skill. The printing is a credit to our northern press, and the

binding is quite in keeping, being elegant as well as strong. The record of a powerful

race, this admirable history reflects the dignity and importance of its theme; full of

stirring incidents often brightened by deeds of heroic valour."—The North i>tar.



OTHER WORKS BY THE SAME AUTHOR,
. . . PUBLISHED BY . . .

A. & W. MACKENZIE, 47 High Street, Inverness.

— the —

HISTORY of the MACLEODS
Containing a full account and Genealogies of the MACLEODS

of DUNVEGAN and LEWIS, with an account of the branch

families of Gesto, Glendale, Luskintyre, Drynoch, Talisker,

Bernera, Hamer, Greshornish, Ullinish, Dalvey, Raasay,

Assynt, Geanies, Cadboll, and several others, extending to 463

pages.

Demy 8vo £i 5 o

Demy Quarto, Large Paper, with wide margin . 220
The issue was limited to 450 copies demy Svo,, and 75 copies quarto, with

rich margin.

ONLY A VERY PEW COPIES REMAIN UNSOLD.

OPINIONS OF THE PRESS:—

" The Hacleocls everywhere should welcome this account of them as a record in

concise form of the principal stems and branches of a family whose origin, whether

Norwegian or Celtic, took root far hack in Scottish History. The hook is characterised

by great industry in a by no means inviting field. It is beautifully printed, and hand-

somely bound.'
-—Scotsman.

11 The volume is a complete monograph of this famous Highland family, and

includes some very stirring minor episodes of Scottish history which will be read with

interest by many people who are unable to boast a drop of Celtic blood in their veins."

—

Scottish Leader.

" This is another valuable contribution by Mr Alexander Mackenzie to the history

and elucidation of the Highlands and Highland clans. The volume is well printed and

altogether creditable to the press of the Northern Capital."

—

Inverness Courier.

" All the Macleods in the world who have inherited any clannish feeling should find

much to interest them in this book, in which they will get all the notices of their race

scattered in public records and in histories gathered together."—Northern Chronicle

" This portly, well got-up volume contains the fifth clan history written by Mr
Mackenzie during the last ten years. The book is in its general scope reliable from the

true historical point of view ; and the genealogies of the principal families of the clan

have been traced with exceedingly great care."—The Highland Monthly.



OTHER WORKS BY THE SAME AUTHOR,
. . ., . . PUBLISHED BY . ... ,

A. & W. MACKENZIE, 47 High Street, Inverness.

— the —

HISTORY £ CHISHOLMS
WITH AUTHENTIC GENEALOGIES OF ALL THE FAMI-

LIES OF THE NAME NORTH AND SOUTH.

The work is published in One Volume of 232 pages, Demy 8vo.,

printed in clear, bold, old-faced type, on thick, toned paper, Roxburgh
Binding, top gilt, uniform with Mr Mackenzie's other Clan Histories.

PRICE— \$s.

75 Copies are printed on large paper, Demy Quarto, giving a rich

margin, at 21s.

ONE Y A VER Y FEW COPIES NOW REMAIN FOR SALE.
lll'll'llilllMli'lini/lli'lll'll'lllHli'hHlilllllliHulIki

OPINIONS OF THE PRESS:—
•

.
" Mr Alexander Mackenzie has made another welcome contribution to the literature

of the Highlands. Probably because of comparative scarcity of material of first-rate

public interest his History of the Chisholms is not so bulky as any of the other histories

of Highland families which have come from his pen ; but as regards the care and

industry which have clearly been bestowed upon it, and the mastery which every page

shows the writer has acquired over the mazes of genealogical details, this latest volume is

worthy of being placed alongside the history of the Mackenzies, the Macdonalds, the

Camerons, or the Macleods. As with other prominent Highland families, so, with the

Chisholms—their origin has been the subject of much controversy ; and Mr Mackenzie's

first task was to clear away the cloud of tradition by which it became enveloped. He
has approached the duty with vigour, and, most people will declare, with success."

—

The Scotsman.
" In his new book, the History of the Chisholms, Mr Alexander Mackenzie has done

for this good old family what he has clone for other notable houses. He has traced their

origin, so far as origins can be traced, and he has followed genealogically the fortunes of

the main stem and its various branches. It is in genealogies that Mr Mackenzie excels ;

and a competent student of history, with Mr Mackenzie's books in his hands, can

manage to repeople certain historical epochs with the actual personages who played a

part in them."

—

Inverness Courier.
11 It is thoroughly reliable and well-sustained by documentary evidence."

—

Northern

Chronicle.

Captain Archibald Macra Chisholm, Glassbum writes :—
" I received your History of the Chisholms, and am much pleased with it. We

Chisholms cannot do otherwise lhairexpress our sense of obligation to you for the pro-

duction of this valuable memorial of the Clan Chisholm, so full of research and reliable

authority upon many interesting and disputed points, which you have now settled

satisfactorily."

"The Rev. John J. Chisholm, Pictou, Nova-Scotia, writes:

—

" I am very much pleased indeed with the History. If it is not more extensive

it is no fault of yours ; for you have handled in a masterly manner the scanty materials

at your disposal for the work. The Chisholms owe you a debt of gratitude for your

faithful efforts to give them a reliable history of their Clan, and, I trust, their patronage

of the work may prove satisfactory to you."



OTHER WORKS BY THE SAME AUTHOR,
. . . PUBLISHED BY . . .

A. & W. MACKENZIE, 47 High Street, Inverness.

THE HISTORY OF THE MACDONALDS
AND LORDS OF THE ISLES.

Out of print. New Edition in preparation.

Demy 8vo. Roxburgh binding. To Subscribers ... £1 1 o

Large Paper (Quarto) ... ... ... 1 n 6

" The work is one which no future historian of Celtic Scotland will be in a position

to overlook."

—

Scotsman.

" This is beyond all question, Mr Mackenzie's chef d'wuvre—in every sense the coni-

pletest and best clan history that has ever been written. If Mr Mackenzie, instead of the

great deal that he has otherwise done for Celtic literature and the elucidation of folk-lore,

had done no more than give us this history of one of the best and bravest of Highland

clans, he would, by this work alone, have richly merited the gratitude and goodwill of

every generous and genuine Celt at home and abroad. If the reader has not already

supplied himself with a copy of this work we would take leave to hint that his library,

whatever else it may contain, is to be considered very largely incomplete until he has

added to it Mackenzie's History of the Macdonalds and Lords of the Isles."—"Nether-
Lochaber " in the Inverness Courier.

History of the Macdonalds of Glengarry.

A few copies remaining- at - - - 6s

History of the Macdonalds of Glanrana/d.

A few copies at - - - - 6s

THE HISTORY OF THE CAMERONS,
With Accounts and Genealogies of all the Families of the Name.

Demy 8vo. Roxburgh Binding - £1 5s

Only a few copies ofthe Demy Sz'o now remain.

"The record is remarkable for its completeness."—Author of "Literary Notes"

in the Daily Mail.



OTHER WORKS BY THE SAME AUTHOR,
. . . PUBLISHED BY . . .

A. & W. MACKENZIE, 47 High Street, Inverness.

Mackenzie's Shilling Guide to Inverness

and The Highlands.

THIS GUIDE, which has been universally praised by the Press and the Public as the best

of its kind ever issued, has had a phenomenal circulation from its first appearance.

Originally it was a Guide to Inverness and District, including Six Excursions, each
of which could be made from Inverness and back in one day.

Its marvellous success in the past, however, justified the Publishers in 1895 in

extending it so as to make it a Guide—with Inverness as its centre—to the whole High-

lands—to Wick and Thurso in the North; Strathpeffer, Loch Maree, Gairloch, the

Lewis, Outer Hebrides, Stromeferry, and Skye in the West ; Nairn, Forres, Elgin, Keith,

and Aberdeen in the East ; Loch Ness, Fort-William, and Oban in the South- West ; and
Grantown, Kingussie, Blair Atholl, Pitlochry, Dunkeld, Perth, Aberfeldy, and Loch Tay,

to Oban, in the South.

The Illustrations are admittedly the finest of their kind that ever appeared in any
similar work, and the Plans and Maps are. the most accurate and artistic that can be

produced. :o:

OPINIONS OF THE PRESS OF FORMER EDITIONS :—
" A handsome, well written, and finely illustrated Guide. The information is detailed

and accurate ; indeed the book may be justly described as the most complete Guide to the

town and district that we possess."

—

Inverness Courier.

" Contains almost everything that such a book ought to contain."

—

Northern Chronicle.

" The artistic and literary charms of this really excellent Guide shine forth from

every page of the finely printed volume. The illustrations vastly surpass anything

hitherto attempted in any publication of the kind. In every respect the Guide is a

marvellous shilling's worth. Author, artist, and publisher must be congratulated on

sterling good work."—North Star.

"•Mr Alexander Mackenzie, the well-known historian, has issued a pictorial Guide to

Inverness and the Highlands, which will be invaluable to visitors."

—

Dundee Advertiser.

" Under the intelligent guidance of Mr Mackenzie the tourist will return with a much
more vivid impression of the scenery and historical associations of these places than

would have been possible with the aid of the average tourist guide."

—

People's Journal.

" The Guide in all respects will prove a trustworthy and interesting companion."

—

Scotsman.
" No pains have been spared to make it accurate and interesting. It is beautifully

illustrated."

—

Glasgoiv Echo.

" It will take the foremost place among works of this kind."

—

Perthshire Constitutional

" This truly magnificent Guide. . . We have graphic descriptions of six excursions,

each of which can be made from Inverness and back in one day. Contains a score of full-

paged illustrations, produced in a style much superior to that of any other district guide

that we have seen."

—

Oban Times.

" A model guide-book in every respect. The illustrations are far above the usual

standard. The whole Guide shows the literary expert at his best—or rather in holiday

garb—and deserves to have, as we have no doubt it will have, a great circulation."

—

Oban

Express.

" Up till the present the Capital of the Highlands has practically been without a

handbook to its many attractions; but Mr Alexander Mackenzie, M.J.I., editor of the

Scottish Highlander, and the greatest clan historian of the age, has now stepped in and

provided a guide-book which by its outstanding excellence, at once takes up a premier

position,"

—

Oban Telegraph-



OTHER WORKS BY THE SAME AUTHOR,
. . . PUBLISHED BY . . .

A. & W. MACKENZIE, 47 High Street, Inverness.

The PROPHECIES OF THE BRAHAN SEER.
FIFTH EDITION, WITH THE

Rev. ALEXANDER MACGREGORS APPENDIX OF 66 PAGES
— ON —

HIGHLAND SUPERSTITION.
. . Price—2s 6d. . .

" Commended to the lovers of the marvellous as a sweet morsel."—Scotsman.

"Welcome with avidity this brochure."—Edinburgh Courant.

"Remarkable Prophecies. A curious and readable book."

—

Glasgow Herald.

" A weird prediction foretelling the downfall of the Seaforths."

—

Chambers's Journal.

"A clump of wonders."

—

Dundee Advertiser.

"Most wonderful fulfilment."

—

People's Friend.

" Very singular and interesting."

—

Northern Ensign.
11 Remarkable utterances—exact fulfilment—hard nuts to crack."—Greenock Telegraph.
11 If you wish to know all about the story of Seaforth, which is told with a terrible

realism, get this book."

—

People's Journal.

" It is certain that such a prediction was prevalent before its fulfilment. . . . The

coincidence was remarkable."

—

Inverness Courier.

WORK BY CHARLES FRASER-MACKINTOSH, F.S.A. SCOT.

Published by A. & W. MACKENZIE, Inverness.

LETTERS OF TWO CENTURIES,
Chiefly connected with Inverness and the Highlands, from 1616 to

181 5. Edited and each introduced with Explanatory and

Illustrative Remarks, by

CHARLES FRASER-MACKINTOSH, F.S.A., Scot.,

Author of " Antiquarian Notes," " Invernessiana," etc., etc. Demy Svo. Only 230

Copies printed.

ONLY A FEW COPIES FOR SALE AT £1 5s.

" Mr Fraser-Mackintosh introduces each letter by an interesting commentary from
which many recondite matters of Inverness-shire family history may be gathered. It will

be prized especially by Inverness men ; but all students of Scottish history will find it

worth while to look through its pages."

—

Scotsman.

" A handsome, well printed book of 400 pages, prepared with all the care which its

author brings to bear on antiquarian subjects, and furnished with a full and accurate

index. In every respect the work has been admirably performed. It is certainly the

most interesting of the antiquarian volumes issued by Mr Fraser-Mackintosh."

—

Inver-

ness Courier.

"Should find a place upon the book-shelves of everyone who desires to know any-
thing of the inner life of the Highlands during the seventeenth and eighteenth centuries.

It is bound to take a high place in Scottish antiquarian and historical literature,"—

Scottish Highlander.



WORK BY Mrs MACKENZIE,
. . . PUBLISHED BY . . .

A. &.W. MACKENZIE, 47 High Street, Inverness.

SECOND EDITION—CONSIDERABLY ENLARGED.

Price, 2s 6d ; By Post, 2s 9c!.

TALES or
thE HEATHER,

. . BY . .

EMMA ROSE MACKENZIE.

Opinions of the Press of the First Edition :

—

11 Gracefully and effectively told, and everyone who cherishes a special sympathy with

the Highland character will read the book with hearty enjoyment."

—

Scotsman.

" Mrs Mackenzie is embued with the spirit of the tradition and legends of the High-

lands, and she tells her story in a manner which is both interesting and attractive."

—

Glasgow Herald.

" These simple and charming sketches reflect the very life of the Highlands. . . .

Mrs Mackenzie has shown the most artistic reserve in narrating the Tales. Well autheni-

cated traditions have been utilised with much taste and skill."

—

Dundee Advertiser.

"•Constructed with skill and penned with considerable literary power." -Greenock

Telegraph.

" Mrs Mackenzie possesses a genuine literary touch, and the grace and charm of her

pen would carry the reader forward, even if he were otherwise unwilling to be interested."

—Inverness Courier.

" "Written in an easy, graceful style."

—

Northern Chronicle.

" Every page is entertaining, for the authoress wields a facile and picturesque pen.

. . . There is a judicious admixture of thrilling incident, pathos, and love, with here

and there a dash of humour."

—

Ross-shire Journal.

U A daintly bound volume of 252 pages, containing a succession of thrilling

Highland stories, well told."—Invergordon Times.

" Tastefully get up, and in this respect the elegance of the book vies with its literary

excellence. . . . Mrs Mackenzie writes in a style which combines raciness with dignity,

and she can work up a dramatic situation excellently."

—

Highland Monthly.

" Well told, full of romance and written with not a little dramatic power. Those who

like thrilling stories of long ago will find much to delight them."—Elgin Courant.

11 Each tale is told in a pleasing manner, and the interest is maintained throughout.

All are redolent of the heather."—Oban Times.

" Short studies displaying a sweetness in narrative positively charming. ... a

book faultless in type, paper, and binding."—Oban Express,
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